
 
 

BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 1777 Broadway 

Wednesday, April 16, 2014 
6 p.m. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
A. Science Tuesday Presentation by University of Colorado Physicist Steven Pollock, 

“Learning about Learning: Physics Education Research in Action” 
 

2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) Public may 
address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in the meeting (this 
includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public hearings have taken place; any 
remaining speakers will be allowed to address council.  All speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time.  

 
A. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 

an ordinance amending Title 11, “Utilities and Airport,” B.R.C. 1981, by the 
addition of a new Chapter 7, “Light and Power Utility;” and amending Chapter 2-3, 
“Boards and Commissions,” B.R.C. 1981, by the addition of a new section related to 
the creation of an electric utility board and setting forth related details 

 
B. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 

an ordinance amending Chapter 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and 
Chapter 6-16, “Recreational Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth related details 
 

C. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
an ordinance amending  Section 9-6-5, “Temporary Lodging, Dining Entertainment, 
and Cultural Uses,” B.R.C. 1981, by increasing the number of mobile food vehicles 
allowed on private property in designated zone districts and setting forth related 
details 
 

4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call- up of an item listed under agenda 
Item 8-A1.   
 

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   
 

A. Continuation of second reading, and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 
7967 amending Sections 4-20-60, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Fees,” 6-1-

Packet Page     1



 
 

16, “Dogs Running at Large Prohibited,” 6-13-2, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence 
Tag Required,” 6-13-4, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Requirements,” and 
6-13-5, “Suspension and Reinstatement of Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags 
Upon Violations,” and adding a new Section 6-13-4.5, “Terms of Voice and Sight 
Control Evidence Tag,” B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth related details 
 

B. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7968 amending 
Chapter 13-2, “Campaign Financing Disclosure,” B.R.C. 1981 including modifying 
the financial reporting requirements, adding additional reporting requirements for 
City Council members and setting forth reporting periods and setting forth related 
details 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   
 

None 
 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
  

None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

 
1. Three NPP Expansions (in East Ridge/Pennsylvania, Mapleton and Whittier 

Zones Information Packet Date: April 16 Last opportunity for call-up: April 16 
 

2. Vacation of a utility easement at 825 Circle Drive Information Packet Date: April 
16 Last opportunity for call-up: April 16 
 

3. Landmark Alteration Certificate for 1116 Maxwell Avenue Information Packet 
Date: April 16 Last opportunity for call-up: April 16 
 

4. Use Review Application for the Family Learning Center at 3164 34th Street 
Information Packet Date: April 16 Last opportunity for call-up: April 16 
 

5. Use Review Application for an 11-Space Parking Lot at 2360 Grove Street 
Information Packet Date: April 16 Last opportunity for call-up: April 16 
 

6. Amending Site and Use Review approvals of the Washington Village Project 
Information Packet Date: April 16 Last opportunity for call-up: April 16 

 
B. Discussion and consideration of a response to the letter to City Council from 

Jefferson County Commissioners expressing concerns over comments made at a recent 
meeting of the Denver Regional Council of Governments 

Packet Page     2



 
 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.) Public comment on any motions made 

under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 

11. DEBRIEF (5 Min.) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted. 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov/CityCouncil.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast at 6 
p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council meeting.  
DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.  Anyone requiring special 
packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded versions may contact the City 
Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.  48 hours notification 
prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED.  If you need Spanish 
interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, please call (303) 441-1905 at 
least three days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con 
relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 
días antes de la junta. Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at 
the time of sign up and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  
Electronic media must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive or emailed to 
darrowa@bouldercolorado.gov and no technical support is provided by staff. 
 
 
 

Packet Page     3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/CityCouncil
mailto:darrowa@bouldercolorado.gov


 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     4



 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE:  April 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only an ordinance amending Title 11, “Utilities and Airport,” B.R.C. 
1981, by the addition of a new Chapter 7, “Light and Power Utility;” and amending 
Chapter 2-3, “Boards And Commissions,” B.R.C. 1981 by the addition of a new section 
related to the creation of an electric utility board; and setting forth related details. 
 

 
 
 
PRESENTERS  

 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
Paul Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
David J. Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Heather Bailey, Executive Director, Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
Robert Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Kathleen E. Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Debra S. Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

The City Council is asked to adopt the attached ordinance that establishes the framework 
for the municipal electric utility.  The ordinance does the following: 
 

1. It creates the light and power utility by ordinance, as required by City Charter      
§ 180(i). 

2. It establishes the City Council as having the authority as the governing body of 
the utility.  It will serve this role, as well as the responsibilities of the advisory 
board, until board members are appointed. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page     5



 
 

3. It creates the utility advisory board with all of the powers that are enumerated in 
City Charter §§ 185 to 187.  It anticipates that the council will appoint the board 
after the utility has issued bonds and is receiving revenue that qualifies it as an 
enterprise under the Taxpayer Bill of Rights (TABOR). 
 

It is anticipated that this ordinance will be a starting point for local utility regulations.  
Over time, the chapter will be expanded and developed similar to the ordinances 
establishing and regulating the city’s water, wastewater, and storm water management 
and flood control utilities.  This initial ordinance is intended to enable the utility to use 
the revenue bonding authority that the voters approved in §180 and §181 of the City 
Charter. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to introduce, read, pass on first reading and adopt Ordinance No. ______ , as 
presented in Attachment A, amending Title 11, “Utilities and Airport,” B.R.C. 1981; by 
the addition of a new Chapter 7, “Light and Power Utility;” amending Chapter 2-3, 
“Boards And Commissions,” B.R.C. 1981; and by the addition of a new section related 
to the creation of an electric utility board. 
 

 

 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 

  
 Economic – A municipal utility should have a positive economic impact on our 

community.  The utility will provide employment and a wide range of 
opportunities to promote and support business in Boulder. 

 Environmental – Climate change resulting from increasing greenhouse gases is 
probably our society’s number one environmental challenge.  The largest 
contributor to greenhouse gases for Boulder are the facilities used to produce 
electricity. 

 Social – The social impacts of climate change are well-documented. 
 

 
OTHER IMPACTS: 
 

 Fiscal – There are no budget impacts from this proposed ordinance.    
 Staff time – Staff time required is part of the staff’s work plan. 

 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page     6



 
 

 
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK: 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

BACKGROUND: 

 
The city has been exploring the feasibility of creating a municipal utility for many years.  
The efforts date back to 2005, when the city hired R.W. Beck, Inc. and commissioned it 
to do an initial study to determine whether it was feasible for the city to create an electric 
utility.  Subsequently, Xcel Energy chose the city to demonstrate a smart grid project 
called SmartGridCity.  The demonstration was intended to enhance the company’s ability 
to manage its electric distribution system and customer capabilities to manage their own 
energy use by adding two-way communications between the utility and customers.   
 
The city suspended its municipalization efforts while Xcel installed the infrastructure.   
The SmartGridCity project did not operate as well as anticipated.   The city decided to 
not renew its franchise with Xcel in 2010.  The city voters approved a utility occupation 
tax to replace the revenue lost from the franchise fee by adopting Ordinance No. 7751.   
 
The city has continued to conduct more modeling, engineering, and feasibility analyses, 
all of which have shown the acquisition of the electric utility to be feasible.  In November 
2011, the voters approved an increase and extension of the utility occupation tax to 
explore municipalization as well as amendments to the City Charter that set the 
framework for the electrical utility, covering community goals, issues of organization, 
governance, financial requirements, and service standards by adopting Ordinance No. 
7808. 
 
City Charter §178 provides that the City Council will establish a light and power utility 
only if it can demonstrate, with verification by a third-party independent expert, that the 
utility can acquire the electrical distribution system in Boulder and charge rates that do 
not exceed those rates charged by Xcel Energy at the time of acquisition and that such 
rates will produce revenues sufficient to pay for operating expenses and debt payments, 
plus an amount equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the debt payments, and with 
reliability comparable to Xcel Energy and a plan for reduced greenhouse gas emissions 
and other pollutants and increased renewable energy. 
 
More recently, the City Council commissioned the third-party evaluation of the feasibility 
of the creation of the utility. On April 16, 2013, the council passed Ordinance No. 7898 
authorizing the city manager to complete the third-party evaluation described in City 
Charter §178.  In the summer of 2013, an independent third-party evaluator, 
PowerServices, Inc., completed this third-party evaluation and concluded that the city’s 
analysis was reasonable. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page     7



 
 

The City Council adopted the findings of the third-party evaluation by Ordinance 
No.7917 after final reading on August 20, 2013, concluding that the conditions precedent 
to the creation of a light and power utility in Charter § 178(a) have been satisfied. 
 
The City Council also passed Ordinance No. 7918, which authorizes the acquisition of 
property interests owned by Xcel Energy, by negotiation and purchase or through the 
power of eminent domain. 
 
In the November 2013 election, two measures related to a city electric utility were on the 
ballot.  The first measure was a citizen-initiated measure to place restrictive general 
limitations related to utility debt.  That measure failed.  (see Ordinance No. 7919) The 
other measure was a limitation on the amount of debt that could be issued by the utility 
for the purpose of acquiring the existing assets of the electric system and for paying 
stranded costs in one payment in an amount not-to-exceed $214,000,000 and charter 
amendments that were intended to require fair treatment of potential out-of-city utility 
customers.  That measure was approved by the voters adopting changes to the charter that 
are included in Ordinance No. 7920. 
 
The city continues to prepare for the creation of the electric utility.  The adoption of the 
attached ordinance will provide the framework for the new utility. 
 
 
ANALYSIS: 

 

The attached ordinance establishes the utility with the limitations as described in the 
charter.  While there is still work to be done, largely in the regulatory and legal arenas, 
establishing this utility now is an essential step in terms of future financing. To enter into 
the financial markets, the city will have to demonstrate that:  (1) the city has a utility, (2) 
the utility has the authority to issue bonds, and (3) the utility has the ratemaking authority 
that will allow it to cover the cost of operations, maintenance and debt service.  
 
The city is preparing for the creation of a city electric utility.  One of the components of 
that effort will be the acquisition of the local distribution system.   The city has done a 
great deal of work in anticipation of ultimately filing a petition for condemnation if it is 
unable to agree with Xcel on a negotiated purchase of the system.  In order to continue in 
these efforts, the city needs to be able to demonstrate that it can fund the purchase price.  
It is anticipated that this will be completed through utility revenue bonds or other 
obligations whether that price is negotiated or by condemnation.  In order to use the 
revenue raising approach that the voters approved in the charter, the city will need to 
create the utility. 
 
The City Council is asked to adopt the attached ordinance that establishes the framework 
for the municipal electric utility.  The ordinance does the following: 
 

1. It creates the light and power utility by ordinance, as required by City Charter  

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page     8



 
 

§ 180(i).  The utility is provided with all of the powers that are delegated to cities 
and utilities under the City Charter, the Colorado constitution, state law, and the 
ordinances of the City Council. 

2. It establishes the City Council as having the authority as the governing body of 
the utility.  It will serve this role, as well as the responsibilities of the advisory 
board, until the utility has issued bonds and has revenues to qualify as an 
enterprise under TABOR. 

3. It creates the utility advisory board with all of the powers that are enumerated in 
City Charter §§185 to 187.  It is anticipated that the council will appoint members 
to the board at a future date after it has gone through the bond issuance process 
and is operating the utility. When created, the board members will be drawn from 
city residents, utility customers, and employees of business or institutional 
customers of the utility. 
 

Given that the city will probably be involved in litigation in the near future over its 
acquisition efforts, it will be performing several acts needed to create a new utility, 
including issuing bonds and other one-time acts that will not be repeated as an ongoing 
utility.  Having the council serve as the utility advisory board for these initial actions will 
help the staff’s ability to work quickly and efficiently in its acquisition efforts..  Once the 
city is closer to actually operating the utility, it will be beneficial to have the advice of an 
appointed utility advisory board. 
 
It is anticipated that this will be a starting point for local utility regulations.  Over time, 
Chapter 11-7, “Light and Power Utility,” B.R.C. 1981, will be expanded and developed 
similar to the ordinances establishing and regulating the city’s water, wastewater, and 
storm water management and flood control utilities.  This initial ordinance is intended to 
enable the utility to use the revenue bonding authority that the voters approved in §180 
and §181 of the City Charter. 
 
This ordinance does not include the detailed regulatory requirements of the utility similar 
to what one would find in the city’s other utilities ordinances.   The thought is that, as the 
city moves forward on municipalization, it would continue to amend and build this 
section as the city gains more knowledge about the specific governance needs of an 
electric utility.   Also, while integrating the charter powers into the utility gives it rate 
making authority, it does not set rates; that will need to occur in the future by way of a 
separate process and rate ordinance. 
 
The ordinance does not include any of the climate action plan tax revenue or tax funded 
programs or any of the concepts of service utilities that were listed in the white paper 
titled, “Exploring Opportunities for Reaching Boulder’s Energy Future Goals” 
(December 2012).  This is intentional in that it is safer for the utility to operate those, at 
least for the present point in time, as government programs rather than utility programs.    
As general governmental programs operating through the use of taxes, the city can avoid 
the comingling of tax revenues and electric fees that could have adversely affected the 
city’s bonding power under TABOR, thus compromising the utility’s authority to issue 
revenue bonds without voter approval. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page     9



 
 

 
Feasibility of the creation of a utility continues to be evaluated as the city learns more 
about the system, its value, and operations and maintenance. The adoption of this 
ordinance does not require the acquisition of a system or equipment.  It simply enables 
the next step.  If, in the future, the council decides not to complete the municipalization 
process, it can repeal this ordinance.   
 
 
OPTIONS 

 
Approve, amend, delay, or not pass the attached ordinance. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 

Attachment A:  Proposed Ordinance 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page     10



 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 11, “UTILITIES AND 
AIRPORT,” B.R.C. 1981, BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW 
CHAPTER 7, “LIGHT AND POWER UTILITY”; AMENDING 
CHAPTER 2-3, “BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS,” B.R.C. 1981 
BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION RELATED TO THE 
CREATION OF AN ELECTRIC UTILITY BOARD; AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 
 

 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, FINDS AND 

RECITES THE FOLLOWING: 

A. City Charter § 178 provides that the city council will establish a light and power 
utility only if it can demonstrate, with verification by a third-party independent expert, that the 
utility can acquire the electrical distribution system in Boulder and charge rates that do not 
exceed those rates charged by Xcel Energy at the time of acquisition and that such rates will 
produce revenues sufficient to pay for operating expenses and debt payments, plus an amount 
equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the debt payments, and with reliability comparable to Xcel 
Energy and a plan for reduced greenhouse gas emissions and other pollutants and increased 
renewable energy. 

B. The city council passed, on final reading on April 16, 2013, Ordinance No. 7898 
authorizing the city manager to complete the third-party evaluation described in City Charter      
§ 178. 

C. The city council adopted the findings of the third-party evaluation by Ordinance 
No .7917 after final reading on August 20, 2013, concluding that the conditions precedent to the 
establishment of a light and power utility in Charter § 178(a) have been satisfied. 

D. The city council intends by this ordinance to establish the light and power utility 
by amending Title 11, Utilities and Airport,” B.R.C. 1981 by the addition of a new chapter 7. 

E. The city council intends that this ordinance will be amended from time to time as 
necessary to further implement the city light and power utility acquisition efforts. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Title 11, “Utilities and Airport,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended by the addition of a 

new Chapter 7, to read: 

 

Attachment A 
Light & Power Utility

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page     11



 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Chapter 11-7 Light and Power Utility 

 

11-7-1 Legislative Intent. 

(a) Purpose.  The purpose of this chapter is to establish and define the light and power utility 
of the city, to describe the responsibility of electric users, and to promote the public 
health, safety and welfare.  

(b) Legislative Intent.    The city council intends to: 
(1) Establish a light and power utility under the authority in the state constitution, the 

city charter, and all other laws applicable to the establishment of  light plants, 
power plants, and any other public utilities or works or ways local in use and 
extent for the provision of local electric and related energy services; 

(2) Operate the light and power utility in a manner that is consistent with Article XIII 
of the city charter generally and specifically, the purposes and intent in Article 
XIII,  § 178, including without limitation, delivering safe and reliable energy, 
operating in a fiscally responsible manner, using cleaner energy, establishing rate 
payer equity, and operating under principles of responsible environmental 
stewardship;  

(3) Serve  the duties and functions of the electric utilities board until board members 
are appointed after the utility has issued bonds and is receiving revenue that will 
qualify it as an enterprise under the  “Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights,” Article X, 
Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution. ; and 

(4) Provide electric services by means of an enterprise, as that term is defined by 
Colorado law. The city council further declares its intent that the city’s light and 
power utility enterprise be operated and maintained so as to exclude its activities 
from the application of the “Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights,” Article X, Section 20 of 
the Colorado Constitution.   

11-7-2 Powers of the Utility. 

(a) Powers of the Utility.  The light and power utility shall have all of the powers that it may 
have by virtue of any of the applicable provisions of the Colorado Constitution, state law, 
the city charter, this code, and any other applicable laws or rules.   

(b) Utility as an Enterprise.  The light and power utility shall conduct its affairs so as to 
continue to qualify as an “enterprise” within the meaning of Article X, Section 20 of the 
Colorado Constitution provided however that the governing body may take any action 
that would cause the utility to not qualify as an enterprise in a  given year if it determines 
such action would benefit its customers or the city.  

11-7-3 Governing Body. 

(a) City Council as Governing Body.  For all purposes under the city charter and this 
code, the governing body of the light and power utility enterprise shall be the city 
council. The governing body shall be subject to all of the applicable laws, rules, and 

Attachment A 
Light & Power Utility

Agenda Item 3A     Page 8Packet Page     12



 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

regulations pertaining to the city council. Whenever the city council is in session, the 
governing body shall also be deemed to be in session. It shall not be necessary for 
the governing body to meet separately from the regular and special meetings of the 
city council, nor shall it be necessary for the governing body to specifically 
announce or acknowledge that actions taken thereby are taken by the governing body 
of the light and power utility enterprise. The governing body may conduct its affairs 
in the same manner and subject to the same laws which apply to the city council for 
the same or similar matters. 

(b) City Council as Advisory Board.  Until such time as the city council appoints an 
electric utility board as anticipated by City Charter § 185(g) the city council shall be 
responsible for fulfilling the responsibilities of the electric utilities board. 

  
Section 2.  Chapter 2-3, “Boards and Commissions,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended by the 

addition of a new Section 2-3-23, to read: 

2-3-23 Electric Utility Board. 

(a) Electric Utility Board.  The City of Boulder electric utility board consists of nine 
members not all of the same gender.  The members of the board shall not hold any 
other office in the city and shall serve without pay. 
 

(b) Chair and Secretary. The board shall choose a chair and a secretary from among its 
members. The director of electric utilities may be designated as secretary by the 
board. 

(c) Regular and special meetings. The board shall have regular meetings once a month. 
Special meetings may be called at any time by the city manager, the chair, or four 
members of the board upon the giving of at least 24 hours notice of said special 
meeting to the board members. 

(d) Quorum. Five members of the board shall constitute a quorum. An affirmative vote 
of a majority of the members present shall be necessary to authorize any action by 
the board, except as otherwise expressly provided herein. 

(e) Record of meetings. The board shall keep minutes and records of its meetings, 
recommendations, and decisions. 

(f) Rules of order. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the board shall have 
power to make rules for the conduct of its business. 

(g) Board member qualifications. Board members shall be qualified to serve on an 
advisory commission pursuant to Section 130 of the city charter, customers of the 
electric utility, or the owners or employees of a business or governmental entity that 
is a customer of the electric utility, provided, however, that a majority of the board 
shall be qualified to serve on an advisory commission pursuant to Section 130. 

Attachment A 
Light & Power Utility

Agenda Item 3A     Page 9Packet Page     13



 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Board members shall be well known for their ability, probity, public spirit, and 
particular fitness to serve on the electric utilities board. At least three board members 
shall be owners or employees of a business or governmental entity that is a customer 
of the electric utility.  

(h) Board member duties and functions. The duty of each member shall be to represent 
the entire utility customer base without discrimination between customer class or 
location and without regard to the location or class of customer or the member. The 
duties and functions of the electric utilities board are those established in the charter, 
this code and other ordinances of the city, including without limitation:  

(1) Advice. To advise the city council on policy matters pertaining to the municipal 
electric and utility systems, including without limitation such policies as the board 
determines are necessary or prudent to carry out its fiduciary duties and the 
requirement of the charter; 

(2) Sounding Board. To act as a sounding board to the city council, city manager, and 
the electric utility director for the purpose of identifying the ratepayers' service 
delivery expectations; 

(3) Rulemaking. To adopt rules and regulations with respect to any matter within its 
jurisdiction as it may be permitted by the council; 

(4) Meeting Rules. To adopt bylaws governing its meeting and agenda procedures 
and other pertinent matters; 

(5) Budget and Appropriations. To review and make recommendations to the city 
council on the city manager’s proposed budget and appropriation as it relates to 
the utility; 

(6) Revenue Bonds. To review and make recommendations to the city council 
concerning the issuance of revenue bonds or other obligations payable from 
revenues of the electric utilities enterprise; 

(7) Other Recommendations. To review and make recommendations on any other 
matter relating to the electric utilities program, and may request and obtain from 
the electric utilities department and the city manager information relating thereto. 

(i) Public Hearings.  Prior to making any recommendation to the council or the city 
manager, the board shall hold a public hearing. 

(j) No subpoenas.  The board is not authorized to issue subpoenas. 

(k) Electric utility board member appointments. The council will appoint the electric 
utility board prior to or concurrent with the point in time that the utility has issued 
bonds and is receiving revenue that will qualify it as an enterprise under Article X, 
Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution.  Until such time as the board is appointed, 
the city council shall be responsible for fulfilling the responsibilities of the electric 
utility board. 

Attachment A 
Light & Power Utility

Agenda Item 3A     Page 10Packet Page     14



 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of April, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of May, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A 
Light & Power Utility

Agenda Item 3A     Page 11Packet Page     15



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 12Packet Page     16



 

 
 

 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE: April 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only an ordinance amending Chapter 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” 
B.R.C. 1981, and Chapter 6-16,  “Recreational Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth 
related details. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Mishawn Cook, Tax and License Manager  
Beverley Bookout, Police Officer 
Dale Goetz, Building Code Compliance Specialist 
Dave Thacker, Chief Building Official 
David Lowrey, Chief Fire Marshall 
Jeff Kessler, Police Sergeant 
Mike Whitney, Assistant City Attorney 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 
On January 2, 2014, the City of Boulder’s Tax and License Division of the Finance 
Department (“Tax and License Division” or “Licensing”), in conjunction with the 
Boulder Police Department, the Boulder Fire Department, the Planning and Development 
Services area, and the City Attorney’s Office, began a staggered processing of 100% 
Conversions to Recreational Marijuana Business (RMB), Co-locations Inside of Licensed 
Business Footprint to allow both Medical Marijuana Business (MMB) and RMB 
operations in separately licensed premises, and Co-locations in Expanded Square Footage 
to allow both MMB and RMB operations in separately licensed and expanded premises.  
After this initial period when only existing MMBs can convert to or co-locate with 
recreational marijuana, all applications for new businesses of either type will be accepted 
starting June 1, 2014.    
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page     17



 

 
The marijuana city staff team requests amendments to Chapters 6-14 and 6-16 of the code 
in order to implement lessons learned during the conversion and co-location processes, 
questions asked by applicants, and drafting errors between the two codes.  These changes 
should be effective before new applications are accepted June 1, 2014 so there is clarity 
for applicants and staff as to the requirements for new applications. The state Marijuana 
Enforcement Division (state MED) will not again begin taking new MMB and RMB 
license applications until one month after the city, on July 1, 2014.  None of the state 
licenses can be effective until October 1, 2014. 
 
Thus far, the Tax and License Division has received 29 RMB conversion and co-location 
applications from the existing 71 licensed MMBs, with 19 RMB applications processed 
and 10 RMB applications still pending.  Additionally, Licensing has been processing all 
of the renewals, requests for ownership changes and requests for business manager 
changes that are necessary for the existing businesses to keep operating.   
The ordinance to amend both codes is included as Attachment A to this memo.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
an ordinance amending Chapter 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and Chapter 6-
16, “Recreational Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
  

 Economic:  It is not clear yet what economic impact the production and sale of 
marijuana for recreational use will have because very few of the tax returns for 
new RMBs are due or have been filed with the city.   Medical marijuana 
businesses paid $938,328.24 in sales tax in 2013. We do expect that MMB sales 
tax will be diluted as more RMB licensed locations come on-line.  However, the 
voters also approved additional separate taxes on recreational marijuana 
consisting of an excise tax of 5 percent and a sales and use tax of 3.5 percent        

 Environmental:  The most significant impacts are associated with cultivation 
facilities and marijuana infused product manufacturers (MIPs).  The state now 
allows for testing facilities which will have similar impacts. Boulder’s code 
currently requires that medical marijuana cultivation facilities use only pesticides 
deemed safe for food production.  Marijuana businesses face a challenge to 
control the odor associated with growing, processing and possessing marijuana.  
Council recently increased the requirements for MIPs as their processes can 
produce flammable and noxious gases.    

 Social:  It remains to be seen whether the federal government will continue their 
hands-off approach when it comes to recreational use, but indications are that they 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page     18



 

will not separately enforce if the federal priorities are upheld, mainly keeping 
marijuana products out of the hands of those persons under 21 years of age.  
There is insufficient data to address the social impacts of the availability of 
marijuana without legal constraints, but there is an increasing body of research 
that suggests a link between reduction in IQ and use of marijuana by those 
persons under 21. At the earlier direction of city council, additional local RMB 
excise tax will be used for education and treatment concerning substance abuse 
and associated enforcement. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS:  
 

 Fiscal: The city received $938,328.84 in sales and use tax revenue from medical 
marijuana businesses, used to calculate total sales of $27,516,975.00 in 2013. As 
RMBs file their excise and sales and use tax returns, we will be able to provide 
council information on sales of recreational marijuana.  Amendment 64 limited 
the amount of the application fee for conversions, so to date the application fees 
have not covered the city’s expenses incurred in processing the applications.  
With the new applications, the city’s combined application, license and operating 
fees of $6,575 each for new MMB and RMB license applications starting on June 
1, 2014 are expected to fully defray city costs for these new applications.  

 Staff time: Two new staff members have been added to the Tax and License 
Division staff and are focused on processing more administrative license 
applications, such as license renewals and business manager changes. This has 
freed up time for the Division Manager and the Division Administrator to devote 
approximately 50 percent of their time to RMB conversion and co-location 
processing since January 2. At the council meeting on January 21, 2014, other 
departments’ on-going staff impacts, staff time and overall program costs were 
collected and presented in a more holistic manner to council as a supplemental 
budget item.  This additional material is available at: 
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124473/Electronic.aspx  

 
 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK AND REQUESTS:  

 
Meetings with Existing Marijuana Businesses: 
City staff held a meeting on December 13, 2013 to review 100% conversion 
requirements, co-location requirements and layouts, and to answer questions from the 
existing marijuana businesses about upcoming processes. From this meeting and other 
contacts with business owners and their attorneys, the MJ city staff team suggests the 
following detailed amendments to clarify our local law, city licensing requirements, and 
local enforcement.  These suggested amendments are outlined in the “Analysis” section, 
below. 
The businesses also made the following requests which are not recommended by staff: 
 
Timeline for conversions and co-locations filing: Our business licensees asked for 12 
months or 18 months (January 2, 2015 or July 2, 2015, respectively) as the end point for 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page     19



 

conversions or co-location processes at our meeting on December 13, 2013. Staff 
recommends that RMB conversion and co-location application filings cease on May 31, 
2014.  The benefit of those applications was that they did not need to comply with the 
distance requirements that go into effect on June 1.  It will be confusing to the applicants 
and to the departments reviewing applications if the new requirements go into effect for 
some applications on June 1, and for other applicants several months later.  Licensing 
plans to make sure all of the existing businesses are aware of the time frame so that they 
submit any applications they want considered under the old distances by May 31.   
“University” property defined:  Existing businesses and their attorneys asked that only 
those university properties where classes are held be included in the use of “university” 
for measurement of distance limitations. Staff recommends a definition that includes 
student living facilities and locations where student services are offered as well as 
classrooms. 
Greenhouse/grow locations orderly and aisles for MMB and RMB locations: Business 
owners suggested that the maximum plant number for MMB grow locations be 
exclusively governed by the allowable patient count. Staff recommends the marijuana 
codes be reconciled to require a minimum width and orderly aisles in MMBs as well as in 
RMBs.  
The following changes are responsive to individual questions received by staff: 
Medical marijuana businesses at street level in downtown Boulder Improvement District 
(BID):  A few existing businesses and their attorneys have requested that the city consider 
as a co-location moving an existing MMB in the downtown area from the basement to the 
street level so that a new RMB can be located in the basement to avoid the new limitation 
on RMB on the street level downtown.  The question pointed out what we believe is a 
staff drafting error in that the street level prohibition was not included in Chapter 6-14 as 
well as in Chapter 6-16.  That error has been corrected in Attachment A.    
Signs on marijuana centers: Some businesses have wanted to include more information 
on their signs than the name and address, such as “get your recreational marijuana here” 
or “good prices.”  The code states that signs at the location of the marijuana center can be 
“solely for the purpose of identifying the location” of the business.  We suggest defining 
that as including only the name and address of the business to reduce the questions staff 
receives for creative wording on signs that is more than the name and address. 
Packaging at marijuana centers.  All packaging and labeling of marijuana is required to 
be at the MIP or at the grow.  There is an exception that allows packaging at marijuana 
centers to allow a customer to select a certain amount of bud from a glass jar, but not buy 
the whole jar, and allows the businesses to keep bud in jars rather than having to package 
it at the grow or the MIP in individual amounts.  However, some businesses have argued 
that the existing language lets them do any packaging at the center.  While the language 
does not allow such broad interpretation, a requirement that the sale be for a customer in 
the center at the time of the packaging will remove any ambiguity.   
Penalties:  The enhanced penalty section is intended to apply to anyone violating the 
marijuana laws, but its present language could be construed to apply only to licensed 
businesses.  The recommended change removes that argument.    
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page     20



 

At a training provided by the Police Department on April 4, several other issues were 
raised and the attached ordinance includes the revisions to: 
 

1. Add the requirement for a city manifest that is in the RM code to the MM 
code;  

2. Add indicia of impairment to 6-14-13(b) and 6-16-13(b); 
3. Add the prohibition from honoring coupons or selling or giving away 

products, which is in 6-14-8(p) and 6-16-8(p), to the prohibited acts to prevent 
confusion; and 

4. Add the violation of 6-14-8(q) and 6-16-8(q) to the prohibited acts. 
 
The businesses also asked that the city provide an exception to the prohibition against 
distributing any consumable product to except water from a water cooler.  While that 
makes sense and staff agreed with the concept, because it is a state regulation, we cannot 
say it is legal without businesses being in jeopardy of violation of state law. 
 
BACKGROUND:    

 

From August 2, 2010 until November 1, 2010, the City of Boulder accepted 127 MMB 
license applications which resulted in 75 issued MMB licenses (some licenses have since 
been surrendered). We currently have 71 issued license locations as follows: 6 RMB 
dispensaries, 8 RMB grows, 21 MMB wellness centers, 31 MMB grows, and 5 MIP 
licenses for both MMB and RMB products. 
On November 12, 2013, the city council adopted Chapter 6-16 for RMB licensing and 
made a few changes to the existing MMB local law to reconcile requirements for the two 
different types of marijuana businesses. While in this interim the city has not been 
accepting applications for new marijuana businesses, Licensing began a staggered 
acceptance of 100% conversion and co-location applications on January 2, 2014 from 
owners of existing medical marijuana businesses properly licensed on October 22, 2013 
or who had made application by October 22, 2013. Thus far, we have received 29 RMB 
applications, processed 19 of the applications, and 10 applications remain pending. We 
have also received on average a call or e-mail three days each week for additional 
information on MMB or RMB licensing from customers other than current Boulder 
businesses, in anticipation of the June 1, 2014 new application start date. 
In addition to the phone and e-mail traffic and in addition to the filed applications for 
RMBs since January 2, 2014, Licensing has processed over 88 applications for change of 
business managers or owners, processed another 14 renewal applications and had to 
revoke 3 licenses for violations.  We have 3 applications from existing MMBs for 
modifications to their premises that we can restart processing as training responsibilities 
ease up.  (The same Licensing staff also handles licenses for liquor, mobile food vendors, 
second hand dealers, special events and dogs.) 
Our city MJ staff team has had roughly the same membership since 2010 when this new 
licensing and inspection process began. It is a multi-disciplinary team with bi-monthly 
meetings to discuss topics and improvements to our local procedures. We have been 
asked individually to make presentations to other municipalities and to serve on 
governance boards and task forces due to our experience with this new license type. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page     21



 

What is presented today is staff’s best effort to continue to improve the way that we 
license and regulate medical marijuana and recreational marijuana.   
State Enforcement 
We are pleased to report that the MJ city staff team has recently had improved 
communications with the state MED administrative staff. Staff at the state MED 
continues to change frequently, but we have come to recent understandings about 
conference calls, order of application filing, and timing for licensure that are extremely 
useful to our local businesses. 
 
ANALYSIS:  
 
Attachment A includes changes to make the requirements for MMBs consistent with 
those for RMBs.  We believe the following two changes were drafting errors by staff in 
the myriad of changes when the new recreational marijuana code was adopted and are 
corrected in the amendments to Chapter 6-14 as follows: 

1.  The omission of the prohibition of “street level” MJ businesses in the 
downtown BID area was only included in the RM code.  Attachment A adds 
that prohibition and the definition of terms to the MM code.   

2. In RMB grows, plants are required to be organized in orderly rows with 3 foot 
minimum aisles. This RMB requirement is helpful for city inspectors and 
enforcement departments.  Attachment A adds the same requirement to MMB 
grows. 

3. The manifest from the Boulder Police Department is required to be consistent 
with the RM code. 

Changes to Chapter 6-16 are as follows: 
4. Remove the word “possess” in paragraph (a)(1) of the prohibited acts (Section 

6-16-13) of the RMB code as Amendment 64 allows possession of less than 
one ounce of marijuana, even in public.. 

5. Cease acceptance of the co-location and conversion applications which are 
evaluated on pre-November 2013 requirements as of May 31, 2014, so that all 
applicants are treated equally as of June 1.       

6. Clarify that a business that has applied as a co-located MMB and RMB under 
the preferences granted to existing businesses must remain under common 
ownership of both the MMB half of the business and the RMB half of the 
business and neither can be transferred separately from the other.  If the 
businesses ever want to separate in the future, they would have to apply for 
new licenses. 
 

Changes to both Chapter 6-14 and Chapter 6-16 are: 
7. Despite the requirement in Section 6-14-5 that all entities named in an 

application have to disclose the individuals that are behind the entities in the 
application, we have recently had applicants that do not want to do so for the 
financiers.  Placing the addition in the definition of “financier” will help make 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 6Packet Page     22



 

clear that this requirement applies to all entities named in any part of the 
application. 
 

8. Clarify in Subsection 6-14-7(f) that “university” includes property where 
student classes are held, student services are offered, and students are housed, 
but does not include properties that may be owned by a university that do not 
provide living space or services to students. Therefore, university property 
that is used only for non-student office space or maintenance facilities that do 
not provide services to students are not included in the required distance 
measurements. 
 

9. Specify that signs which exist “solely for the purpose of identifying the 
location” of the business refer to only the name and address of the business.  
 

10. Clarify that packaging at a center is permitted only for an individual customer 
while the customer is there. 
 

11. Clarify that those penalties for violation of either marijuana code apply to any 
person whether or not licensed as a business. 

 
12. Add violations of subsections (p) and (q) of Section 8 to the MMB and the 

RMB prohibited acts sections. 
 

13. Add factors to the indicia of impairment. 
    

ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 7Packet Page     23



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 8Packet Page     24



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6-14, “MEDICAL 
MARIJUANA,” B.R.C. 1981, AND CHAPTER 6-16, 
“RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA,” B.R.C. 1981, AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 6-14-2 “Definitions,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

 
6-14-2. Definitions.  

The following words and phrases used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 

… 

"Financier" means any person who lends money or otherwise provides assets to any 
person applying for a license or who has been issued a license under this chapter.  If a 
financier is an entity rather than an individual, the same disclosure shall be required for 
each entity with an ownership interest until a managing member that is a natural person is 
identified.   "Financier" shall not include a bank, savings and loan association, credit 
union, or industrial bank supervised and regulated by an agency of the state or federal 
government. 

… 

"Mall" means the downtown Boulder Business Improvement District boundaries set forth 
in Appendix 8-B of Title 8 of this code, including the downtown pedestrian mall 
established by Ordinance No. 4022, adopted February 18, 1975. 

… 

"University Hill commercial area" means the area described as the University Hill 
General Improvement District in Appendix 8-A of Title 8 of this code. 

… 

 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 9Packet Page     25



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 2.  Section 6-14-7, “Locations of Medical Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, 

is amended by the addition of a new paragraph 6-14-7(f)(4) and a new subsection (i) to read: 

 

6-14-7. Locations of Medical Marijuana Businesses.  

. . .  

 (f) Separation from Schools, Day Care Centers, Addiction Recovery Facilities, or Other 
Medical Marijuana Uses: 

          . . .  

 (4) For purposes of this paragraph, “school,” “college,” or “university” shall include 
properties owned by such entities only if they are used to provide services, teaching 
facilities, or living facilities to students.  No distance is required between a marijuana 
business and properties owned by a “school,” “college,” or “university” that are not 
used to provide teaching facilities, living facilities, or services to students . 

. . .  

(i) Limitations at Street Level.  No marijuana business license shall be issued for a medical 
marijuana center at a location on the street level of the mall or the University Hill 
commercial area. 

 
 
Section 3. Subsections (p) and (t) of Section 6-14-8, “Requirements Related to Operation 

of Medical Marijuana Businesses," B.R.C. 1981, are amended, and new paragraph (m)(5) and 

subsection (u) are added to read: 

 
6-14-8. Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana Businesses.  

(m)  Delivery Between Medical Marijuana Businesses  

. . . 

(5)  The recreational marijuana must be accompanied by the e-mail receipt confirmation from 
the Boulder Police Department in accordance with the rules therefore established by the 
police department; 

. . .  

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 10Packet Page     26



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 (p) Advertisement. A medical marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
inconsistent with the medicinal use of medical marijuana. A medical marijuana business may 
not advertise in a manner that is misleading, deceptive, false, or is designed to appeal to 
minors. Advertisement that promotes medical marijuana for recreational or any use other 
than for medicinal purposes shall be a violation of this code. The following conditions shall 
apply: 

. . .  

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any person 
licensed under this article or any other person to advertise any medical marijuana or 
medical marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where the advertisement is in 
plain view of or in a place open to the general public, including advertising utilizing any 
of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor general advertising device as 
defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a vehicle; any hand-held or other 
portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet, or flier directly handed to any person in a public 
place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any public or private property. The 
prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

(A) Any sign located on the same zone lot as a medical marijuana center which exists 
solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the medical marijuana center and 
which otherwise complies with this code and any other applicable city laws and 
regulations, which sign includes only the name and address of the center; 

… 

(t) Packaging at a Medical Marijuana Center. Provided that medical marijuana has been 
delivered to a medical marijuana center from its cultivation facility packaged and labeled as 
provided in this chapter, employees at a medical marijuana center may package and label any 
marijuana that results from the sale of medical marijuana in amounts less than as packaged 
for delivery to the center.  Such packaging may occur only while the customer paying for the 
marijuana being packaged is in the center.   

(u)  Organization of Cultivation Facilities. All cultivation facilities shall be organized in 
orderly rows with aisles at least three feet wide, and no more than eight feet between an aisle 
and the next aisle or an aisle and a wall, and with clear access to all exits, unless the city 
manager determines that the business has provided a dimensioned floor plan that provides 
equivalent access and separation between plants and to exits. 

 

Section 4. Paragraph (a)(29) and subsection (b) of Section 6-14-13, “Prohibited Acts,” 

B.R.C. 1981, are amended, and a new paragraph (a)(35) is added to read: 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 11Packet Page     27



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

6-14-13. Prohibited Acts.  

(a) Prohibited Acts. It shall be unlawful for any person to: 

… 

(29)  Advertise or publish materials, honor coupons, sell or give away products, or display 
signs that are in violation of this code;  

. . .  

(35)  Fail to respond by phone or e-mail as required by Section 6-14-8(q). 

(b)  Prima Facie Evidence. Prima facie indicia of impairment or being under the influence of 
marijuana includes bloodshot eyes, watery eyes, eyelid tremors, green particulate on 
tongue, dilated pupils, mental confusion, slowed responses, rigid muscles, body tremors,  
or dry mouth, or any other indicators of impairment. 

 
Section 5. Section 6-14-14, “Suspension or Revocation of Licenses; Imposition of Fines,” 

B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-14-14. Suspension or Revocation of License; Imposition of Fines.  

…   

 (c) Fines for violations of this chapter may be imposed by the City against the 
personbusiness or any licensee up to $5,000.00 per person and any licensee per occurrence. 

… 
 
 

Section 6.  Section 6-16-2, “Definitions,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

 
6-16-2. Definitions.  

The following words and phrases used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 

. . .  

"Co-located marijuana business" means a medical marijuana wellness center or 
cultivation facility that held a license from the city on October 22, 2013, and applied for 
co-location by May 31, 2014, that is permitted by the owner of the building and all 
applicable laws, to divide the licensed medical marijuana business to allow for both a 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 12Packet Page     28



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

medical and a recreational marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility as separate 
business premises with separate licenses from the city within the same footprint and 
owned by the same person as the medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility.  The licensees with an ownership or financial interest of either part of a co-
located marijuana business may not be changed to be different from the other.   

… 

"Financier" means any person who lends money or otherwise provides assets to any 
person applying for a license or who has been issued a license under this chapter. If a 
financier is an entity rather than an individual, the same disclosure shall be required for 
each entity with an ownership interest until a managing member that is a natural person is 
identified.  "Financier" shall not include a bank, savings and loan association, credit 
union, or industrial bank supervised and regulated by an agency of the state or federal 
government. 

… 

"Mall" means the downtown Boulder business Business improvement Improvement 
district District boundaries set forth in Appendix 8-B of Title 8 of this code, including the 
downtown pedestrian mall established by Ordinance No. 4022 adopted February 18, 
1975. 

… 
 
Section 7.  Subsections (f), (g) and (h) of Section 6-16-3, “License Required,” B.R.C. 

1981, are amended to read: 

 
6-16-3. License Required.  

… 

 (f) Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business. A license for a marijuana 
establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business. A license 
for a medical marijuana business that was licensed, open, and operating on October 22, 2013, 
or that had submitted a complete application for a medical marijuana business on October 22, 
2013, may be converted to the same type of marijuana establishment by complying with the 
requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a marijuana license and paying the application 
fee specified in Section 4-20-67, "Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981, if it 
makes application for the conversion by May 31, 2014. The license for the medical marijuana 
business must be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana business license 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 13Packet Page     29



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

will be issued. The term of the license shall be the same as the existing medical marijuana 
business license. 

(g) Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business Within the Footprint of the Medical 
Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility 
may apply for a co-located marijuana business license before May 31, 2014, by submitting an 
application for a co-located marijuana business on forms approved by the city. At a 
minimum, the application form shall include a modification of the existing medical 
marijuana business to conform to the new footprint of the medical marijuana portion of the 
co-located marijuana business and all components of the application described in Section 6-
16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981, determined applicable by the city manager for the 
recreational marijuana portion of the co-located marijuana business, and paying the 
modification of premises fee and operating fee specified in Section 4-20-67, "Recreational 
Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981. The license for the medical marijuana business must 
be surrendered to the city before the co-located marijuana business license will be issued. 
The term of the co-located marijuana business license shall be the same as the existing 
medical marijuana business license. For purposes of separation from other marijuana 
businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this chapter, the co-located medical and recreational 
marijuana business shall be considered one marijuana business.  No co-located medical and 
recreational marijuana business may be sold separately from the other and must maintain 
identical ownership at all times. 

(h) Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business in an Expansion of the Existing Footprint 
of the Medical Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or 
cultivation facility may apply for a co-located marijuana business license within a footprint 
that is an expansion of its existing medical marijuana business before May 31, 2014, by 
submitting an application for modification of the existing medical marijuana business, and an 
application for co-location of a medical and recreational business within the modified 
premises on forms approved by the city by March 1, 2014. At a minimum, the application 
shall include (i) the same owners and financiers of the existing medical marijuana businesses, 
(ii) the proposed modification of the existing and expanded area of the existing medical 
marijuana business to depict the two new businesses separated as required by this code, (iii) 
all components of the application described in Section 6-16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981, 
determined applicable by the city manager for the recreational marijuana portion of the co-
located marijuana business, and (iv) the modification of premises fee, conversion fee, and 
operating fee specified in Section 6-16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981. The license for the 
medical marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the co-located marijuana 
business license will be issued. The term of the co-located marijuana business license shall 
be the same as the existing medical marijuana business license. For purposes of separation 
from other marijuana businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this chapter, the co-located 
medical and recreational marijuana business shall be considered one marijuana business. No 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 14Packet Page     30



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

co-located medical and recreational marijuana business may be sold separately from the other 
and must maintain identical ownership at all times. 

… 

 
 

Section 8.  Subsection (e) of Section 6-16-7, “Locations of Recreational Marijuana 

Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended by the addition of a new paragraph (8) to read: 

 
6-16-7. Locations of Recreational Marijuana Businesses.  

. . .  

 (e) Separation From Schools and Other Facilities. 

. . .  

(8) For purposes of this paragraph, “school,” “college,” or “university” shall include 
properties owned by such entities only if they are used to provide services, teaching 
facilities, or living facilities to students.  No distance is required between a marijuana 
businesses and properties owned by a “school,” “college,” or “university” that are not 
used to provide teaching facilities, living facilities, or services to students. 

… 
 
Section 9. Subsections (p) and (t) of Section 6-16-8, “Requirements Related to Operation 

of Recreational Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, are amended to read: 

6-16-8. Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses.  

. . .  

 (p) Advertisement. A recreational marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
misleading, deceptive, false, or is designed to appeal to minors. The following conditions 
shall apply: 

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any person 
licensed under this article or any other person to advertise any recreational marijuana or 
recreational marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where the advertisement is in 
plain view of, or in, a place open to the general public, including advertising utilizing any 
of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor general advertising device as 
defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a vehicle; any hand-held or other 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 15Packet Page     31



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet or flier directly handed to any person in a public 
place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any public or private property. The 
prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

(A) Any sign located on the same zone lot as a recreational marijuana center which 
exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the recreational marijuana 
center and which otherwise complies with this code and any other applicable city 
laws and regulations, which sign includes only the name and address of the center; 

. . .  

 (t) Packaging at a Recreational Marijuana Center. Provided that recreational marijuana has 
been delivered to a recreational marijuana center from a cultivation facility packaged and 
labeled as provided in this chapter, employees at a recreational marijuana center may 
package and label any marijuana that results from the sale of recreational marijuana in 
amounts less than as packaged for delivery to the center. Such packaging may occur only 
while the customer paying for the marijuana being packaged is in the center.   

… 

 
Section 10. Paragraph (a)(1) and (27) and subsection (b) of Section 6-16-13, “Prohibited 

Acts,” B.R.C. 1981, are amended and a new paragraph (a)(35) is added to read: 

6-16-13. Prohibited Acts.  

(a) Prohibited Acts. It shall be unlawful for any person to: 

(1) Cultivate, distribute, possess, produce, smoke, use, or ingest marijuana openly or 

publicly in a place open to the general public; 

… 

(27)  Advertise or publish materials, honor coupons, sell or give away products, or display 
signs that are in violation of this code;  

. . .  

(35)  Fail to respond by phone or e-mail as required by Section 6-16-8(q). 

(b)  Prima Facie Evidence. Prima facie indicia of impairment or being under the influence of 
marijuana includes bloodshot eyes, watery eyes, eyelid tremors, green particulate on 
tongue, dilated pupils, mental confusion, slowed responses, rigid muscles, body tremors,  
or dry mouth, or any other indicators of impairment. 
 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 16Packet Page     32



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 11. Subsection (c) of Section 6-16-14, “Suspension or Revocation of License; 

Imposition of Fines,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

 
6-16-14. Suspension or Revocation of License; Imposition of Fines.  

. . .  

 (c) Civil penalties for violations of this chapter may be imposed by the city against the 
personbusiness or any licensee up to $5,000 per person and any licensee per occurrence. 

… 

 
Section 12.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 
Section 13.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of April, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 17Packet Page     33



 

K:\CMAD\o- Ch 6-14 MM & Ch 6-16 RM-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of May, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A 
Marijuana

Agenda Item 3B     Page 18Packet Page     34



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  April 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only, an ordinance amending Section 9-6-5, “Temporary Lodging, 
Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural Uses,” B.R.C. 1981, by increasing the number of 
mobile food vehicles allowed on private property in designated zone districts and setting 
forth related details.  
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Molly M. Winter, Director, Downtown & University Hill Management 
Division/Parking Services 
Jeff Dillon, Director, Parks & Recreation Department 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Sandra Llanes, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Mishawn Cook, Tax and License Manager, Finance Department 
Sarah DeSouza, Senior Manager for Community Outreach, Parks & Recreation 
Lane Landrith, Business Coordinator, Downtown & University Hill Management 
Division/Parking Services 
Chandler VanSchaack, Associate Planner, P&DS 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this council agenda item is to update City Council on results from the 
2013 summer pilot program for Mobile Food Vehicles and propose a modification to the 
ordinance. In response to interest expressed by the City Council and licensed operators of 
Mobile Food Vehicles (MFV) in expanded citywide opportunities (including the 
downtown), staff developed a pilot program for implementation during the summer of 
2013. The proposed pilot program did not include any changes to current regulations 
prohibiting Mobile Food Vehicles within the downtown core area. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page     35



 

The pilot program included: 
 Mobile Food Vehicles adjacent to several city parks 
 Mobile Food Vehicle Sunday afternoon gathering, or “podding,” in the 

Municipal Campus (west of Broadway, south of Canyon Blvd.) parking lot 
June 2-August 25, 2013, 11:00AM – 4:00 PM  

 Mobile Food Vehicle late night “podding” in Park Central parking lot, 
northwest corner of Broadway and Arapahoe, June 1-September 30, 2013, 
Thursday through Saturday nights, 11:00 PM – 3:00 AM  

 Administrative changes regarding MFV permitting via the Tax and License 
Manager  

 The MFV pilot programs were monitored for compliance and participation 
 
Staff is recommending an increase to the maximum number of MFV’s permitted on 
private property from two to four within the existing approved zones including 
downtown.  See Attachment B for potential downtown private property parking lot 
locations that would qualify, as seen circled in red.    
 
Allowing MFV’s in the stated city parks will continue as well as the option for podding 
in the Park Central parking lot as a Special Event, should there be interest. 
 
The Downtown Management Division and the Parks and Recreation Board supported 
staff’s recommendation. Planning Board supported the staff recommendation and in 
addition, recommended allowing MFVs in the MU4 zoning district, and considering 
extending MFVs operating beyond the existing limit of 9pm, allowing MFVs to operate 
within 150 feet of restaurants when they are closed, and identifying other sites and zones 
for MFV operation.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only, an ordinance 
amending Section 9-6-5, “Temporary Lodging, Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural 
Uses,” B.R.C. 1981, by increasing the number of mobile food vehicles allowed on private 
property in designated zone districts and setting forth related details. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: Mobile Food Vehicles collect and remit required sales tax in 
accordance with the city’s standard operating procedure.  

 Environmental: Availability of food in city park locations would provide options 
that dissuade community members from driving out to purchase meal selections, 
then returning.  

 Social: Mobile Food Vehicles providing goods and services at city owned 
facilities may lead to a greater sense of community, offering options for neighbors 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page     36



 

to gather inclusively and with fewer economic barriers to entry.  
 

OTHER IMPACTS 
Fiscal - Budgetary impacts to the city organization: 
Parks and Recreation Department and Licensing Department spent monies on signage, 
web-based IT expense, and staff hours, none of which were reimbursed by the 
participating MFV vendors. 
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

 Downtown Management Commission (DMC) voted unanimously to support the 
staff recommendation to amend the city ordinance as proposed.   

 Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (PRAB) voted unanimously to support the 
staff recommendation to amend the city ordinance as proposed. 
 

Planning Board voted unanimously in support of the staff recommendation.  In addition, 
Planning Board recommended: allowing MFVs in the MU4 zoning district (Boulder 
Junction), considering later hours of operation, considering allowing food trucks to 
operate within 150 feet of restaurants when those restaurants are closed, and 
recommending that staff identify opportunity sites and zones where food trucks may be 
an appropriate use.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Downtown Boulder Inc. (DBI) voted unanimously to remain neutral on the proposed 
ordinance change.  
 
Staff conducted a survey of the MFV’s and their feedback can be found in Attachment 
C.  
 
ANALYSIS 
Throughout the eleven week pilot program, MFVs were able to park during daylight 
hours in five of the city’s most popular parks (Tom Watson Park, Foothills Community 
Park, North Boulder Park, Harlow Platts Park and East Boulder Community Park); on 
Sunday afternoons in the Municipal Campus parking lot; and as a special event in the 
city-owned Park Central parking lot on Thursday through Saturday late nights.  
Additionally, during the summer months, MFVs were invited to participate in various 
Parks and Recreation Department-sponsored events such as Flick and Float, the Concert 
in the Park series and at the Library Summer Festival.  
 
There was one MFV that regularly conducted business in city parks, while two others 
visited on two occasions during the eleven week pilot program.  Participation in the 
parks-based MFV pilot program was free for licensed food trucks, and required only that 
vendors “check in” via email to indicate their arrival and departure times.     
 
No changes to the code are needed to provide the additional park opportunities provided 
to MFV’s in the pilot program because that authority currently exists in Section 9-6-
5(d)(1)(C).  See code cite below.   Over 90% of MFV vendors indicated a desire to park 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page     37



 

adjacent to City of Boulder parks and 100% want to continue operating inside high 
profile parks. Currently mobile food vehicles and carts may be located at Tom Watson 
Park, Foothills Community Park, North Boulder Park, Harlow Platts Park and East 
Boulder Community Park.  However, MFV’s will still need to check in with the parks 
department to confirm available locations and hours. 
 

B.R.C. 9-6-5(d)(1)(C)  No person shall operate a mobile food vehicle in a 
residential zone district except with prior approval by the city manager in the 
parking lot or the public right of way adjacent to North Boulder Park or in any 
other park as approved by the city manager. 

 
Based on feedback from the MFV owners citing inadequate sales, the Sunday “podding” 
program in the Canyon Boulevard parking lot was discontinued after six weeks.  
 
The Park Central parking lot was selected for the late-night podding based on its location 
between downtown and the Hill and the distance from the residences at 11th and 
Arapahoe.  The timing was determined based on the operational hours of the existing, 
adjacent bricks and mortar food establishments (Alfalfa’s and Mustard’s Last Stand) and 
the late night pedestrian traffic from downtown to the hill. There was very limited 
participation in the late night pilot program, starting with week three, no MFV’s 
participated, citing that they did not feel safe due to poor lighting and lack of passing or 
participating customers.  No parked cars were relocated in the Park Central lot to make 
space for the MFV trucks in order to keep costs down.  It is estimated that three trucks 
could locate in the lot, either on an assigned schedule or a first come, first served basis, in 
the future provided there were no cars parked in the lot at the time of MFV arrival. 
 
Licensing staff did receive some comments about the late night location, indicating a 
wish for a city owned location closer to Pearl Street. Some vendors indicated a desire to 
have better lighting for safety (that was slated to occur in 2014 due to prior bond funding) 
and operators wished to have an earlier start time (which likely could occur, provided it 
does not begin prior to 10:15 PM so as not to compete with Mustard’s Last Stand or 
Alfalfa’s).  
 
At the conclusion of the pilot program, MFV’s were surveyed to assess their opinions 
about future options for MFV’s in Boulder.  The survey had an over 80% response rate 
and yielded the following results: 

 Over 90% of vendors indicated a desire to park adjacent to City of Boulder parks 
and 100% want to continue operating inside high profile parks. 

 Over 45% of vendors would like to participate in another late night podding 
program in the Park Central parking lot or another high profile downtown 
location. 

 100% of vendors support increasing the mobile food truck limit currently allowed 
by code in private downtown lots (with owner’s permission) from the current two, 
to four. 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page     38



 

Finally, the attached ordinance includes a correction to subparagraph (d)(1)(A)(iii) of 
Section 9-6-5, B.R.C. 1981 which erroneously listed use modules instead of zoning 
districts.  This clean-up item does not substantively change the code. 
 
Planning Board Feedback 
In addition to supporting the staff recommendation, the Planning Board recommended 
other options for MFV’s.  The first is allowing MFV presence in the MU4 zoning area 
which currently only exists in Boulder Junction.  The area is currently in varying stages 
of development – projects about to open (3100 Pearl), under construction (Depot Square), 
in planning review (properties north of Goose Creek), in concept review (S’Park or 
Sutherland’s site) and parcels currently occupied by a car dealership without any 
immediate plans for redevelopment (the city property). Staff recommends proceeding 
cautiously with introducing MFV’s in the MU4 zone as the area has yet to get established 
and no commercial spaces have been leased.  Staff will  seek feedback from the Boulder 
Junction Access District (BJAD) Commission and the MU4 property owners and 
developers at their meeting on April 3rd.  
 
Currently, MFV’s have a 150 foot restriction from all restaurants regardless of where 
they are located unless the use is in connection with a special event.  In 2011, when the 
MFV ordinance was being developed, there was a clear concern expressed by owners and 
operators of “brick and mortar” establishments about unfair competition from MFV’s.  
“Brick and mortar” establishments pay yearly rent, triple net, parking district taxes and in 
the downtown, Business Improvement District taxes.  Having the ability of a MFV to 
arrive during prime hours in the downtown and hill, and have the ability to leave when 
business slows without paying the ongoing costs of a brick and mortar restaurant creates 
an inequitable situation.  Given the density of restaurants within both the hill and 
downtown, it would be difficult to meet the 150 foot separation restriction since many 
downtown and hill establishments remain in operation until later in the evening.  (See 
Attachment D)  Enforcement of the proposal to allow MFV’s to be in front of closed 
restaurants would be challenging for the police as evening hours in the downtown and hill 
are already a busy time.  Access to on-street parking spaces is also a consideration either 
MFV’s occupying spaces for customer parking or MFV’s not having access to the on-
street spaces which would already be filled.  Downtown Boulder Inc. strongly opposes 
allowing MFV’s within the downtown.  
 
The ending time of MFV operations at 9 pm was based on impacts to surrounding 
properties and businesses, including noise and trash.  If a MFV is part of a special event 
the time of operation would coincide with the approved time of the permit.   
 
Staff supports exploring appropriate additional zoning districts for MFVs since they can 
easily energize an area with activity and provide a valuable service in areas without many 
brick and mortar restaurants. This would need to be added to the work program. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
Based on the outcome of last summer’s eleven week pilot program and feedback from 
MFV’s, staff recommends making minor changes to the existing city code related to 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page     39



 

Mobile Food Trucks in order to be in place for the summer season.  The proposed change 
would allow four instead of two MFVs per private property under BRC 9-6-
5(d)(1)(A)(iii) in the previously approved downtown area (Attachment A).  This meets 
with approval from currently licensed MFV’s as a means to attract clients to a pod of 
vehicles offering a variety of products in one location.   
 
Staff also recommends that spaces in the city’s high profile parks, as identified by the 
Parks and Recreation Department, continue to be made available to licensed MFV’s on a 
first come first served basis during designated times and that MFV’s be allowed to park 
and conduct business on streets adjacent to those approved city parks where public, on-
street parking is available.   
 
Lastly, staff recommends a correction to subparagraph (d)(1)(A)(iii) of Section 9-6-5, 
B.R.C. 1981 which erroneously listed use modules instead of zoning districts.  This 
clean-up item does not substantively change the code  
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A:   Proposed Ordinance Change Regarding Mobile Food Vehicle Sales  
B:   Downtown Commercial Areas Where Mobile Food Vehicles Could Potentially   
       Operate on Private Property      
C:   Mobile Food Truck Vendor Survey Summary 
D:  Operational hours of Downtown and Hill Restaurants 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page     40



ATTACHMENT A:   Proposed Ordinance Change Regarding Mobile Food Vehicle Sales 

S:\CMO\DUHMDPS\Mobile Truck Vending\Ord Section 9 6 5 Temporary Lodging changes-1091.docK:\CMAD\Ord Section 9 6 5 Temporary 
Lodging changes-1091.Doc   

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE REGARDING MOBILE FOOD VEHICLE 
SALES, AMENDING SECTION 9-6-5, “TEMPORARY 
LODGING, DINING, ENTERTAINMENT, AND CULTURAL 
USES,” B.R.C. 1981, BY INCREASING THE NUMBER OF 
MOBILE FOOD VEHICLES ALLOWED ON PRIVATE 
PROPERTY IN DESIGNATED ZONE DISTRICTS, AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 9-6-5(d), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-6-5 Temporary Lodging, Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural Uses.  
… 
  
(d)  Mobile Food Vehicle Sales. The following criteria apply to any mobile food vehicle 

sales use: 
(1)  Standards: The city manager will permit mobile food vehicle sales on private 

property, public property, or in the public right of way if the use is permitted in 
the applicable zoning district and meets the following standards and conditions: 
(A)  The use shall be located at least: 

(i)  one hundred fifty feet from any residential zone districts, except as 
provided in subsection (d)(1)(C) below; 

(ii)  one hundred fifty feet from any existing restaurant; and 
(iii)  two hundred feet from any other mobile food vehicle with regard 

to public right of way sales, no more than two four mobile food 
vehicles per private property in the MU-1, MU-2, MU-3, BT-1, 
BT-2, BMS, BC-1, BC-2, BCS, BR-1, BR-2, DT-1, DT-2, DT-3, 
DT-4, DT-5 M1, M2, M3, B1, B2, B3, B4, B5, D1, D2, D3 zone 
districts, and no limitation on the number of mobile food vehicles 
per private property with owner’s permission in the Iindustrial 
zone districts. 
Distances shall be measured by the City on official maps as the 
radius from the closest points on the perimeter of the applicant's 
mobile food vehicle to the closest point of the designated 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page     41



ATTACHMENT A:   Proposed Ordinance Change Regarding Mobile Food Vehicle Sales 

S:\CMO\DUHMDPS\Mobile Truck Vending\Ord Section 9 6 5 Temporary Lodging changes-1091.docK:\CMAD\Ord Section 9 6 5 Temporary 
Lodging changes-1091.Doc   

residential zone or property of the restaurant. For purposes of this 
section, the term “restaurant” shall include "eating places” and 
“retail bakeries” as defined by the Standard Industrial 
Classification Manual, the edition of which shall be determined by 
the city manager. With regard to measurement between two or 
more mobile food vehicles in the public right of way, measurement 
shall be in the form of standard measuring devices including and 
not limited to a tape measure. 

 
Section      This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section      The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page     42



ATTACHMENT A:   Proposed Ordinance Change Regarding Mobile Food Vehicle Sales 

S:\CMO\DUHMDPS\Mobile Truck Vending\Ord Section 9 6 5 Temporary Lodging changes-1091.docK:\CMAD\Ord Section 9 6 5 Temporary 
Lodging changes-1091.Doc   

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this ____ day of __________, 20__. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 20__. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Field Cod

Agenda Item 3C     Page 9Packet Page     43



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 10Packet Page     44



Broadway

17th St

19
th 

St

16th St

Arapahoe Av

13th St

Pearl StPine St

Lincoln Pl

20th St

Spruce St

14th St

11th St

9th St

8th St 10th St

15th St

Goss St

Athens St

Grove St

Canyon Bv

7th
 St

Walnut St

Marine St

18th St

Commercial Areas Where Mobile Food Vehicles Could Potentially Operate on Private Property

Legend
Mobile Food Vehicle - Potential Parking Lot Location Sites
 Sites Meeting the Code for 150’ from Existing Restaurant or Residential Zone
Properties Pontentially Containing an Eating Place or Retail Bakery
Within 150 Feet of a Residential Zone
Ownership Parcel
Residential Zones
Commercial Zone Districts
Industrial Zone Districts

0 600300 Feet

The maps provided are intended to be used as a
reference but shall not be relied upon as legal
advice or used as a defense to a violation.  By
way of example and not of  limitation, there may
be changes to restaurant locations that may not
be reflected in the maps.  Therefore, it is the
MFV operator's responsibility to ensure that they
are operating pursuant to the law.  Refer to
sections 4-18-2; 9-16-1; 9-6-5(d); 9-6-1(d),
B.R.C. - Map Printed: 3/7/2014

Attachment B

Agenda Item 3C     Page 11Packet Page     45



Agenda Item 3C     Page 12Packet Page     46



Mobile Food Truck Follow Up Survey 

1. Please indicate your interest in conducting business in the following areas:

 
Response 

Percent

Response 

Count

In mobile food vendor parking 

spots in designated CIty of 

Boulder parks

100.0% 13

On street parking adjacent to City 
of Boulder parks

92.3% 12

Late night podding in Park Central 
Parking Lot (behind Mustard's Last 

Stand)
38.5% 5

Other (please specify) 
 

4

 answered question 13

 skipped question 1

2. If the late night podding pilot program at the Park Central Parking Lot (behind Mustard's 

Last Stand) was reinstated (nightly from 10:00 p.m. to 3:00 a.m.), would you be interested in 

participating on a first come, first served basis through the end of April/middle of May?

 
Response 

Percent

Response 

Count

Yes 46.2% 6

No 53.8% 7

Other (please specify) 
 

6

 answered question 13

 skipped question 1

ATTACHMENT C:  Mobile Food Truck Vendor Survey Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 13Packet Page     47



3. Are you in support of increasing the mobile food truck limit currently allowed by code in 

private downtown lots (with owner's permission) from the current two, to four?

 
Response 

Percent

Response 

Count

Yes 100.0% 14

No  0.0% 0

Other (please specify) 
 

2

 answered question 14

 skipped question 0

4. Please feel free to provide us your comments.

 
Response 

Count

  8

 answered question 8

 skipped question 6

ATTACHMENT C:  Mobile Food Truck Vendor Survey Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 14Packet Page     48



Q1.  Please indicate your interest in conducting business in the following areas:

1 Food truck night in a busy park (North Boulder Park), with music. Same idea as
Prospect Eats.

Oct 30, 2013 8:39 PM

2 Designated street parking spots on downtown streets, everyday of the week.  I
think it would be great to have the food trucks integrated into the downtown
scene through on street parking.  However, I realize that an all out free for all
would not be feasible, given the limited parking and opposition from established
restaurants.  If there were a dozen selected parking spots that the trucks could
sign up for, then it could be easily regulated and managed.  It would be a very
nice addition to the downtown Boulder scene.

Oct 29, 2013 7:53 PM

3 A late night spot with more visibility, ie where farmers market is set up Oct 29, 2013 8:18 AM

4 Late night downtown locations. Oct 26, 2013 10:19 AM

Q2.  If the late night podding pilot program at the Park Central Parking Lot (behind Mustard's Last Stand) was
reinstated (nightly from 10:00 p.m. to 3:00 a.m.), would you be interested in participating on a first come, first
served basis through the end of April/middle of May?

1 only if it actually works and others get involved Nov 8, 2013 4:33 PM

2 Bad location Oct 30, 2013 8:39 PM

3 Once the weather warms and the students are still in session.  This could be a
big draw.

Oct 30, 2013 5:53 PM

4 Is it possible to start vending earlier than 10:00? Oct 29, 2013 7:53 PM

5 This location is dark and has little to not visibility especially at night, we need to
be in the hill where almost no one serves food after 10pm of near pearl st

Oct 29, 2013 8:18 AM

6 Downrown, this is not a good location. Oct 26, 2013 10:19 AM

Q3.  Are you in support of increasing the mobile food truck limit currently allowed by code in private downtown
lots (with owner's permission)  from the current two, to four?

1 Pods are huge attractions and draw tourism, generate revenue.  I think we need
a bi weekly, monthly pod downtown.

Oct 30, 2013 5:53 PM

2 One of the attractions of food trucks is the variety you get with a gathering of
trucks.  I think you should not set any limits on the number of trucks allowed in
private lots, as long as the owner has given his permission.  Why have a limit?
Let the land owner and the trucks determine the best ratio for whatever event
they try to execute.

Oct 29, 2013 7:53 PM

ATTACHMENT C:  Mobile Food Truck Vendor Survey Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 15Packet Page     49



Q4.  Please feel free to provide us your comments.

1 I think the downtown late night idea with trucks would be great but the current
location behind mustards last stand has no visibility to customers, is dark late
and night and creates a security hazard, and is too far away from the pearl street
mall to attract any customers.   With regard to increasing the number of trucks
per private property with owner permission from 2 to 4 is a wonderful idea! I've
done events with churches and other downtown businesses that wanted to have
trucks come as a service to their customers and were not able to host an event
on their own private property because of the existing rules. That's just crazy in
my opinion.

Nov 16, 2013 5:04 PM

2 i would support the city of boulder as they try to expand the mobile food truck
zones

Nov 8, 2013 4:33 PM

3 Constructive meetings need to be made with food truck owners early this winter
to organize next season and make it a success for everybody (trucks, City and
customers).

Oct 30, 2013 8:39 PM

4 Food trucks in Boulder have the potential to be a big boost to Boulder.  They
spur innovation and attract an array of people.  I think having pods (groupings of
trucks) on a weekly, bi weekly or monthly basis and allowing trucks to serve
during off hours could really benefit the downtown/hill areas.

Oct 30, 2013 5:53 PM

5 I believe Boulder is a perfect town to have a vibrant food truck scene.  However,
the regulations in place are very restricting and have stifled the growth that
similar cities have seen in this industry.  It has been shown across the country
that cities with a healthy food truck scene have increased foot traffic in their
downtown areas, which helps all businesses and the city as a whole.  With
thoughtful regulation, I believe we can develop a great plan that allows food
trucks to grow and be successful, while bringing a new vitality to the Boulder
food scene, and giving our community another option for getting out and
exploring our awesom town.  Thanks for listening!

Oct 29, 2013 7:53 PM

6 Thanks for your efforts! Oct 29, 2013 11:20 AM

7 Food truck need the ability to be in town where people are, we need to have
designated areas for food trucks, not 150ft laws where there is not 150ft
availability. We need to specify a spot downtown a spot on the hill, and a spot on
CU campus where trucks can operate freely. If trucks have to pay the near
business's than I'm sure that could be done to have no hard feelings. Food
Trucks are the most local a business can be and the trucks are all being pushed
say from town.

Oct 29, 2013 8:18 AM

8 Suggest the city of Boulder really discover the nature of the food truck
business...you have never asked us, just presented what YOU thought would be
cool. I would only be interested in an event that completely highlighted food
trucks, not as an afterthought. Only interested in a DOWNTOWN (e.g., Pearl St
or mall) location. After the restaurants close but bars are still open.

Oct 26, 2013 10:19 AM

ATTACHMENT C:  Mobile Food Truck Vendor Survey Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 16Packet Page     50



ATTACHMENT D – OPERATIONAL HOURS OF DOWNTOWN AND HILL RESTAURANTS 
 

LATE NIGHT FOOD OPTIONS - DOWNTOWN 
 

Name Late Night Kitchen Hours Food Specials 

The Attic Bar & Bistro 

Monday: Midnight 
Tuesday-Sunday: 11 p.m. 

Upscale Pub 

Boulder Baked  Tuesday-Sunday: 4 p.m.-Midnight 
Baked to order cookies, brownie 
sundaes, delicious soups and a variety 
of grilled cheese sandwiches 

Boulder Cafe Friday-Saturday: 11 p.m. 
Boulder Café features fondues, a raw oyster 
bar and Rocky Mountain cuisine. Happy Hour 
3 p.m. till close every day.

Bramble & Hare  Daily: 1:30 a.m. A variety of farm-to-table a-la-carte 
specialties. 

Brasserie Ten Ten Friday-Saturday: 11 p.m. Full Menu 

Corner Bar 

Saturday-Sunday: 11:45 p.m. 
Monday-Friday: 10:00 p.m. 

A variety of small plates, appetizers, 
burgers and sandwiches. Full menu 
served all day 

George's Food and Drink 

Tuesday-Sunday & Every Boulder 
Theater Show Night  

A variety of pizzas and small 
appetizers  

Hapa Sushi Thursday-Saturday: 10 p.m.to Midnight
1/2 off of all starters, $3.50 sake 
cocktails, $3.00 hot sake, $2.50 Hapa 
beer, and $3.00 fruit infused sake 

Illegal Pete's 

Thursday-Saturday: 2:30 a.m. 
Friday-Saturday: 10:30 p.m. 

Giant burritos, fish tacos, nachos, a 
variety of vegetarian items and 
delicious sopapillas 

Japango  Friday-Saturday: Midnight 
Late night happy hour Friday - 
Saturday 10 – 11 p.m. Happy hour 
drinks & $3 off of special rolls. 

Lindseys Deli 

Friday-Saturday: Midnight 
Sunday-Thursday: 11 p.m. 

Full menu 

Lolita's Market  Open 24 Hours a Day Full service market and deli open all 
day 

Moongate Asian Bistro Friday-Saturday: 11 p.m. Full menu 

Mountain Sun Monday-Sunday: 1 a.m. 
Full food menu with drink specials. 
Make sure to try out the homemade 
brews. You can even get them to-go! 

Oak at Fourteenth  Thursday-Saturday: 10 pm to Midnight.

Offers a gourmet, late-night menu that 
includes: fried pickles, a root beer float, 
homemade potato chips and braised 
short-rib tacos. 

Old Chicago Every day: 2 a.m. 
Bar food, bar food, bar food and 
yummy salads. Late night happy hour 
Sunday -Thursday 10 p.m. till Midnight

Pasta Jays  Every day: 11 p.m. 
Since pasta is heavy on the belly, 
prepare yourself before indulging on 
this late night meal. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 17Packet Page     51



ATTACHMENT D – OPERATIONAL HOURS OF DOWNTOWN AND HILL RESTAURANTS 
 

LATE NIGHT FOOD OPTIONS - DOWNTOWN 
 

 

Pasta Vino Every day: 10 p.m. Late night menu 10 p.m. till Midnight 

Pearl St. Pub Sunday-Sunday: 1:30 a.m. Mouth-watering hamburgers, fried mac 
'n cheese, wings & sliders... 

Pita Pit 

Sunday-Thursday: Midnight 
Friday-Saturday: 3 a.m. 

White or whole wheat pita your choice 
of toppings, sauces and a cheese. 

Pizza Colore Thursday-Saturday: 2:30 a.m. 
N.Y. style pizza by the slice, fresh 
calzones, sandwiches, salads and 
homemade desserts.  

Shine Friday-Saturday: 1 a.m. 
Desserts, spirits and great late night 
happy hour specials many of which are 
gluten-free and vegan friendly! 

Smooch Frozen Yogurt & Mochi Friday-Saturday: 11 p.m. A variety of frozen yogurt and mochi! 
Sushi Zanmai Saturday: 10 p.m. Full menu 
Ted's Montana Grill  Friday-Saturday: 11 p.m. Full menu 

Trident Booksellers and Cafe  Every day: 11 p.m. Serving a variety of drinks and 
pastries. 

Two Spoons Friday-Saturday: 9 p.m. (winter hours) A variety of gelato and frozen yogurt. 

Walnut Brewery 

Monday-Sunday: 10 p.m. (full kitchen) 
11:15 p.m. (happy hour)  

Late night happy hour: Monday - 
Friday 10 p.m. till Midnight. 

West End Tavern Sunday-Saturday: 10:00 p.m.-Close 

Food ranging from $3-$7: Deviled 
eggs, yam chips, Hummus, Fries, 
Wings and sliders. Late night happy 
hour: Friday -Saturday 10 p.m. -11 
p.m. 

West Flanders Brewing Company Every day: 10 p.m. Full menu 
Wok Eat Every day: 10 p.m. Full Menu 

Yellow Deli 

Sunday 12:00 p.m. to Friday 3:00 p.m.
24 hours a day 

You can order anything on the menu, 
anytime of the day. 

Zoe Ma Ma Friday-Saturday: 11 p.m. Full menu 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 18Packet Page     52



ATTACHMENT D – OPERATIONAL HOURS OF DOWNTOWN AND HILL RESTAURANTS 
LATE NIGHT FOOD OPTIONS - HILL                            

Name Late Night Kitchen Hours 
 
Food Offering 

Café Aion  Thursday-Saturday till 11:00PM Farm to table upscale dining 

Bova’s Pantry Everyday till 3:00AM Market & Deli sandwiches 

Cheba Hut TH-SA till 11:00PM Toasted sub sandwiches 

Cosmo’s Pizza Everyday till 2:30AM Pizza 

Fatty J’s Pizza at The 
Goose TH-SA till 3:30AM; SU-WE till 12:00AM Pizza 

Five Guys Burgers & Fries TH-SA till 12:00AM; SU-WE till 11:00PM Burgers, fries and peanuts 

Half Fast Subs TH-SA till 1:00AM; SU-WE till 11:00PM Sub sandwiches 

Illegal Pete’s TH-SA till 2:30AM; SU-WE till 12:00AM Burritos 

K’s China Everyday till 12:00AM Chinese fare 

Mamacita’s Mexican TH-SA till 12:00AM Mexican dining 

Papa Romano’s TH-SA till 3:00AM; MO-WE till 2:00AM Pizza & calzones 
 

Qdoba TH-FR till 12:00AM; SA-WE till 11:00PM Mexican fare 

7-Eleven Everyday 24-hours a day Convenience store prepared and 
packaged food 

Tra Lings TH-SA till 2:30AM; SU-WE till 12:00AM Chinese fare 

University Hill Market & Deli Everyday till 4:00AM Convenience mart & deli 
sandwiches 

 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 19Packet Page     53



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 20Packet Page     54



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:   
Introduction, second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only, an ordinance amending Sections 4-20-60, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag 
Fees,” 6-13-2, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Required,” and 6-13-4, “Voice 
and Sight Control Evidence Tag Requirements;” repealing Section 6-13-5, “Revocation 
And Reinstatement of Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags upon Violations,” and 
replacing it with a new Section 6-13-5, “Terms of Voice And Sight Control Evidence 
Tag,” B.R.C. 1981; amending Section 6-1-16, “Dogs Running at Large Prohibited,” 
Section 6-1-20, “Aggressive Dogs Prohibited,” and Section 8-3-5, “Wildlife Protection,” 
B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth related details. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Michael D. Patton, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Stephen B. Armstead, Environmental Planner 
Janet T. Michels, Sr. Assistant City Attorney 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
At the April 1, 2014 meeting, City Council concluded the public hearing and initial discussion of 
enhancements to the Voice and Sight Program by giving staff direction and continuing the 
meeting until April 16, 2014.  City Council identified modifications to several of the staff’s 
recommendations (Attachment B) and directed staff to draft language to amend several voice and 
sight related ordinances to convey council’s intent to provide a range of penalties in addition to 
fines already in effect. 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page     55



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motions: 
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7967 amending Sections 4-20-60, “Voice and Sight Control 
Evidence Tag Fees,” 6-13-2, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Required,” and 6-
13-4, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Requirements;” repealing Section 6-13-5, 
“Revocation And Reinstatement of Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags upon 
Violations,” and replacing it with a new Section 6-13-5, “Terms of Voice And Sight 
Control Evidence Tag,” B.R.C. 1981; amending Section 6-1-16, “Dogs Running at Large 
Prohibited,” Section 6-1-20, “Aggressive Dogs Prohibited,” and Section 8-3-5, “Wildlife 
Protection,” B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth related details. 
 
and; 
 
Motion to direct staff to implement Items 1-5 of Attachment C regarding changes to the 
Voice and Sight Program.  
  
 
COUNCIL DIRECTION FROM FIRST PART OF SECOND READING (April 1, 2014) 
The second reading for proposed modifications to the Voice and Sight Program was held on 
April 1, 2014. At that meeting, ten specific staff recommended enhancements were presented to 
City Council with public comment taken. Council directed staff to make the following specific 
changes to the original proposal: 
 
1) Make changes to the staff recommended actions (see Attachment C; Items 1 and 4).  

a. Item 1 (Education and Outreach Strategies) now includes: 
• Increase focus on education at  major trailheads 
• More focused ranger patrol 
• Explore more strategic placement of signs and waste cans 

b. Modify Item 4 (Information Session) to reflect council’s direction to change the 
nature of the refresher course to an on-line refresher with an on-line test. 

2) Remove the elements of the staff recommendation dealing with the process by which a 
guardian’s voice and sight privileges would be automatically suspended for violations of 
voice and sight related ordinances (see Attachment C; Items 6-10). 

3) Remove the pre-existing ordinance language that resulted in automatic suspension of voice 
and sight privileges (see Attachment A). 

4) Add language to the voice and sight related ordinances that provided guidance to the 
municipal court about the types of penalties for voice and sight related convictions (see 
Attachment C Item 6 and Attachment A). 
 

No changes were requested by Council to Items 2 and 3 (Proof of Rabies Vaccination and 
Registration and Annual Renewal Fees).   
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page     56



The changes to the amount of fines in Item 5 (Fines) were also discussed.  Council agreed with 
staff’s recommended fine amounts.  

 
NEXT STEPS 
Based upon the substantive changes on second reading, the ordinance will return to council for a 
third reading.  It is anticipated that the third reading could appear on the consent agenda based on 
council direction.   
 
The proposed effective date for the new program requirements contained in the ordinance is 
Jan. 1, 2015.  This date will allow for the completion of pre-change compliance monitoring and 
to ensure that components for implementing program enhancements are in place prior to 
implementation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A. Ordinance No. 7967 
B. Original  Recommendations from April 1, 2014 City Council memorandum 
C. Staff’s revision to Recommendations from April 1, 2014 (red-line/strike-thru) 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page     57



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page     58



 

K:\OMOM\o - 7967 Voice and Sight(staff second reading proposed changes)-1678.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 7967 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 4-20-60, “VOICE 
AND SIGHT CONTROL EVIDENCE TAG FEES,” 6-13-2, 
“VOICE AND SIGHT CONTROL EVIDENCE TAG 
REQUIRED,” AND 6-13-4, “VOICE AND SIGHT CONTROL 
EVIDENCE TAG REQUIREMENTS;” AND REPEALING 
SECTION 6-13-5, “SUSPENSION REVOCATION AND 
REINSTATEMENT OF VOICE AND SIGHT CONTROL 
EVIDENCE TAGS UPON VIOLATIONS,” AND ADDING A  
REPLACING IT WITH A NEW SECTION 6-13-4.5, “TERMS 
OF VOICE AND SIGHT CONTROL EVIDENCE TAG,” B.R.C. 
1981; AMENDING SECTION 6-1-16, “DOGS RUNNING AT 
LARGE PROHIBITED,” SECTION 6-1-20, “AGGRESSIVE 
DOGS PROHIBITED,” AND SECTION 8-3-5 “WILDLIFE 
PROTECTION,” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 4-20-60, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

4-20-60. Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Fees. 

(a)An applicant for a Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag shall pay the fee established by 
the city manager rule pursuant to section 8-3-3, “City Manager May Issue Rules,” B.R.C. 
1981. who is a resident of the City of Boulder shall pay an application fee of $15.00, and a 
nonresident shall pay an application fee of $18.75. Additional Voice and Sight Control 
Evidence Tags may be provided to persons who reside in the same household as the applicant 
upon payment of a duplicate tag fee of $5.00. 

(db) The supplemental fee pursuant to Section 6-13-5, "Suspension and Reinstatement of 
Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags Upon Violations," B.R.C. 1981, shall be $50.00, 
regardless of residency. 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A - V&S

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page     59



 

K:\OMOM\o - 7967 Voice and Sight(staff second reading proposed changes)-1678.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

Section 2.  Section 6-13-2, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-13-2.  Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Required. 

(a) In addition to and in conjunction with the requirements of Section 6-1-16, "Dogs Running at 
Large Prohibited," B.R.C. 1981, any dog guardian who desires to accompany a dog without a 
leash held by a person shall apply for and obtain a Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag 
pursuant to the procedures and requirements established by this chapter. 

(b) Any dog guardian who accompanies a dog without a leash held by a person shall cause such 
dog to wear and visibly display a current, lawfully obtained and displayed Voice and Sight 
Control Evidence Tag at all times when the dog is present on open space and mountain 
parksCity of Boulder lands where voice and sight control is permitted under Section 6-1-16, 
"Dogs Running at Large Prohibited," B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) The city manager may promulgate guidelines, forms, or informational materials that are 
necessary or desirable to assist with implementation of this chapter or its legislative intent. 

(d) The maximum penalty for a first conviction is a fine of $50.00100.00. For a second 
conviction within two years, based upon the date of the first violation, the maximum penalty 
shall be a fine of $100.00200.00. For a third and each subsequent conviction, within two 
years based upon the date of the first violation, the maximum minimum penalty shall be a 
fine of not less than $200.00.300.00.  The municipal court may impose any of the 
conditions reasonably related to the violation for a suspended sentence or probation as 
provided in Section 2-6-37, “Sentence, Execution and Writ of Commitment, Suspension, 
Probation, or Default,” B.R.C. 1981.  The court may impose conditions that include 
without limitation attendance at classes related to the voice and sight control 
regulations of the city, evaluation or training of the dog to ensure that it is capable of 
complying with voice and sight control requirements, or the temporary suspension or 
permanent revocation of voice and sight control privileges.  

(e) It is an affirmative defense to a charge of violating this Section that the dog and guardian 
were currently registered participants in the Voice and Sight Control program and this charge 
was the guardian’s first violation for not displaying a Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag. 

 
Section 3.  Section 6-13-4, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-13-4.  Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Requirements. 

(a) Before a Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag shall be issued, the applicant shall certify, 
under penalty of perjury, the following facts: 

(1) Provide a valid City of Boulder dog license, or if the applicant is not a City of 
Boulder resident, provide proof of current rabies vaccination as provided in Section 
6-1-3, “Rabies Vaccinations,” B.R.C. 1981, for each dog being registered;  

 

ATTACHMENT A - V&S

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page     60



 

K:\OMOM\o - 7967 Voice and Sight(staff second reading proposed changes)-1678.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

(2) The applicant has watched (or listened to if visually impaired) a videoProvide proof 
of attendance, within the preceding five years, of a presentation on voice and sight 
control of a dog, prepared by the city and provided to the applicant by the city or its 
designated agents; and 

(32) Agree The applicant agrees to control any dog accompanying the applicant without a 
leash held by a person on certain open space and mountain parksCity of Boulder 
lands where voice and sight control is permitted under Section 6-1-16, “Dogs 
Running at Large Prohibited,” B.R.C. 1981, in the manner described in the video 
presentation on voice and sight control of a dog and consistent with the requirements 
of the Boulder Revised Code. 

 
Section 4. Chapter 6-13, B.R.C. 1981, is amended by the repeal of Section 6-13-5, as 

follows: 

6-13-5.  Revocation and Reinstatement of Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags Upon 
Violations.  

 
(a)  Upon a third conviction for violation of Section 6-1-16, "Dogs Running at Large 

Prohibited," B.R.C. 1981, occurring on land owned by the city and constituting 
park land or open space land within two years of the date of the first violation, 
the right to display any Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag shall be revoked 
automatically, but may be reinstated through the following procedures: 

 
(1)  Payment of a supplemental fee established in Subsection 4-20-60(b), B.R.C. 

1981, in addition to the fees established by Section 6-13-3, "Voice and Sight 
Control Evidence Tag Application," B.R.C. 1981, and prescribed by Subsection 
4-20-60(a), B.R.C. 1981, for an initial application (and in addition to any fines 
imposed under Section 6-1-16, "Dogs Running at Large Prohibited," or 
Subsection 6-13-2(d), B.R.C. 1981; 

 
(2)  Providing written proof of attendance at a City of Boulder sanctioned and 

monitored showing of the video presentation on voice and sight control of a dog; 

 
(3)  Providing written proof of attendance at and successful completion of a voice 

and sight control certification course approved by the City of Boulder; and 

 
(4)  Certification by the applicant for reinstatement that he or she agrees to control 

any dog accompanying the guardian without a leash held by a person on certain 

ATTACHMENT A - V&S

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page     61



 

K:\OMOM\o - 7967 Voice and Sight(staff second reading proposed changes)-1678.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

open space and mountain parks lands in the manner described in the video 
presentation on voice and sight control of a dog. 

 
Section 5. Chapter 6-13, B.R.C. 1981, is amended by the addition of a new section 6-13-5 

to read: 

6-13-5.  Terms of Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag.  

The voice and sight control evidence tag issued under Section 6-13-4 shall be valid for a term of 
one calendar year and expire on December 31.  Renewal of Voice and Sight Control Evidence 
Tags is subject to the fees established under Section 4-20-60, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence 
Tag Fees” B.R.C. 1981.  The applicant shall apply for renewal of the Voice and Sight Control 
Evidence Tag no later than February 1 of the year immediately succeeding the year in which the 
license expired.  Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags issued prior to December 31, 2014 shall 
expire on December 31, 2014.  

 
Section 6.  Section 6-1-16, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-1-16.  Dogs Running at Large Prohibited.  

(a) No person owning or keeping any dog shall fail to keep the dog on the premises of the 
guardian or keeper unless the dog is: 

(1) On a leash held by a person; or 

(2) Within a vehicle or similarly physically confined and without access to passers-by. 
(b) No person owning or keeping any dog shall fail to keep the dog on a leash held by a person 

within any area where a rule enacted by the city manager for the protection of wildlife 
prohibits dogs off leash. 

 
(c) No person owning or keeping any dog shall fail to keep that dog from entering any area 

where a rule enacted by the city manager for the protection of wildlife or natural resources 
prohibits dogs. 

 
(bd) The maximum penalty for a first conviction of this section is a fine of $100. For a or second 

conviction within two years, based on date of violation, the maximum penalty shall be is a 
fine of $2500.00. For a third and each subsequent conviction within two years based upon the 
date of the first violation, the minimum penalty shall be a fine of not less than $300.00. The 
minimum fine for a conviction under this ordinance for a guardian who has their Voice 
and Sight Tag suspended under Section 6-13-5, “Suspension and Reinstatement of 
Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags Upon Violations, B.R.C. 1981 shall be $300.00. 
the general penalty provisions of section 5-2-4, "General Penalties," B.R.C. 1981, shall 
apply. The maximum penalty for a first conviction occurring on land owned by the city and 

ATTACHMENT A - V&S

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page     62



 

K:\OMOM\o - 7967 Voice and Sight(staff second reading proposed changes)-1678.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

constituting park land or open space land is a fine of $50.00. For a second conviction within 
two years, based upon the date of violation, the maximum penalty shall be a fine of $100.00. 
For a third and each subsequent conviction, the maximum penalty shall be a fine of not less 
than $200.00. The municipal court may impose any of the conditions reasonably related 
to the violation for a suspended sentence or probation as provided in Section 2-6-37, 
“Sentence, Execution and Writ of Commitment, Suspension, Probation, or Default,” 
B.R.C. 1981.  For violations that occur on land owned by the city and constituting open 
space or other city property where voice and sight control is permitted under Section 6-
1-16, “Dogs Running at Large Prohibited,” B.R.C. 1981, the court may impose 
conditions that include without limitation attendance at classes related to the voice and 
sight control regulations of the city, evaluation or training of the dog to ensure that it is 
capable of complying with voice and sight control requirements, or the temporary 
suspension or permanent revocation of voice and sight control privileges. 

(ec) It is an affirmative defense to a charge of violation of this section that the dog was: 

… 

 
Section 7.  Section 6-1-20, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-1-20. Aggressive Animals Prohibited.  

(a)  No person shall own or keep any aggressive animal. An aggressive animal is one that 
bites, claws, or attempts to bite or claw any person; bites, injures, or attacks another 
animal; or in a vicious or terrorizing manner approaches any person or domestic 
animal in an apparent attitude of attack, whether or not the attack is consummated or 
capable of being consummated. 

(b)  It is a specific defense to the charge of owning or keeping an aggressive animal that the 
person who was bitten, clawed, injured, or approached by the aggressive animal was: 

(1)  Attacking the aggressive animal or intentionally provoking the aggressive 
animal; 

(2)  Unlawfully engaging in entry into or upon a fenced or enclosed portion of the 
premises upon which the aggressive animal was lawfully kept or upon a portion 
of the premises where the aggressive animal was lawfully tethered; 

(3)  Engaging in unlawful entry into or unlawfully in or upon a vehicle in which the 
aggressive animal was confined; 

(4)  Attempting to assault another person; 

(5)  Attempting to stop a fight between the aggressive animal and any other animal; 
or 

(6)  Attempting to aid the aggressive animal when it was injured. 

ATTACHMENT A - V&S

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page     63



 

K:\OMOM\o - 7967 Voice and Sight(staff second reading proposed changes)-1678.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

(c)  The following specific defenses apply to the charge of owning or keeping an aggressive 
animal: 

(1)  The aggressive animal was defending itself, its young, or its guardian or keeper 
from an attack by another animal or a person. 

(2)  The animal that was bitten, injured, or attacked: 

(A)  had entered onto the premises of the aggressive animal; or 

(B)  had entered into a vehicle in which the aggressive animal was confined. 

(d)  Nothing in this section shall entitle a person charged with violating this section to 
present evidence of previous incidents involving the bitten, injured, or attacked animal. 

(e)  It shall not be a defense to owning or keeping an aggressive animal that the person who 
was attacked, bitten, injured, or approached in a vicious or terrorizing manner was a 
peace officer. 

(f)  For the purposes of this section, a person is lawfully upon the premises of a guardian or 
keeper when such person is on said premises in the performance of any duty imposed 
by law or by the express or implied invitation of the owner of such premises or the 
owner's agent. 

(g) Penalties for violations of this section shall be based on the general penalties provisions 
of Section 5-2-4, “General Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981.  The municipal court may impose 
any of the conditions reasonably related to the violation for a suspended sentence or 
probation as provided in Section 2-6-37, “Sentence, Execution and Writ of 
Commitment, Suspension, Probation, or Default,” B.R.C. 1981, including, without 
limitation attendance at classes related to the voice and sight control regulations of the 
city, evaluation or training of the dog to ensure that it is capable of complying with 
voice and sight control requirements, or the temporary suspension or permanent 
revocation of voice and sight control privileges.  

 
Section 8.  Section 8-3-5, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

8-3-5.  Wildlife Protection.  

(a)  No person shall hunt, trap, net, impede, harass, molest, chase, kill, or remove any 
wildlife or livestock or damage, destroy, or remove any nest, burrow, or animal 
dwelling from any park, recreation area, or open space or other property of the city, 
including, without limitation, any street or other right of way controlled or maintained 
by the city, except pursuant to a written permit from the city manager for scientific 
purposes, or pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 6-1, "Animals," B.R.C. 1981, or 
when necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare or except for hunting 
and trapping allowed by the city manager in designated areas for game management. 

ATTACHMENT A - V&S

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page     64



 

K:\OMOM\o - 7967 Voice and Sight(staff second reading proposed changes)-1678.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

As to livestock, this prohibition does not apply to any lessee of such property managing 
its livestock on the leasehold, nor to any person driving herds of livestock along streets. 

(b)  No owner or keeper of a dog shall negligently allow or direct such dog to harass wildlife 
or livestock, whether or not the wildlife is actually injured by such dog, within any 
park, recreation area, or open space, or other property of the city, including, without 
limitation, any street or other right of way controlled or maintained by the city. This 
prohibition does not apply to any lessee of such property using a working dog to control 
livestock on the leasehold. 

(c)  The provisions of this section do not apply to the felonious hunting or taking or 
soliciting the same, of big game, eagles, or endangered species or to detaching or, 
removing trophy or other selected parts with the intent to abandon the carcass 

(d) Penalties for violations of this section shall be based on the general penalties provisions 
of Section 5-2-4, “General Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981.  The municipal court may impose 
any of the conditions reasonably related to the violation for a suspended sentence or 
probation as provided in Section 2-6-37, “Sentences, Execution and Writ of 
Commitment, Suspension, Probation, or Default,” B.R.C. 1981, including, without 
limitation attendance at classes related to the voice and sight control regulations of the 
city, evaluation or training of the dog to ensure that it is capable of complying with 
voice and sight control requirements, or the temporary suspension or permanent 
revocation of voice and sight control privileges.  

 
Section 9.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 10. This ordinance shall be effective January 1, 2015. This effective date will 

allow for the completion of baseline monitoring of pre-change compliance and ensure that 

components for implementing the ordinance are in place prior to implementation. 

Section 11.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

ATTACHMENT A - V&S

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page     65



 

K:\OMOM\o - 7967 Voice and Sight(staff second reading proposed changes)-1678.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 4th day of March, 2014. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of April, 2014. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this ___ of _____, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 

ATTACHMENT A - V&S

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page     66



                                      ATTACHMENT B – V&S 
 

Original Voice and Sight Tag Program Recommendations 
                                                                         

# Recommendation 

1 

Implement the following education and outreach strategies: 
a) Increase outreach and education about training opportunities 
b) Support stakeholder efforts 
c) Create refresher videos on requirements, etiquette or issues that will be phased in based on 

time and cost 
d) Use traditional and social media to provide instructive educational information to participants 
e) Provide educational walks for dogs and dog guardians on a trial basis 
f) Improve clarity and information on signs 
g) Distribute palm cards explaining the Tag Program 
h) Increase outreach and education to visitors without dogs about voice and sight control and 

what to expect 
i) Consider under specific conditions and on well-suited OSMP properties, opportunities for 

special voice and sight control training events 
j) Encourage dog guardians to become volunteer Trail Guides and provide additional training for 

outreach with a dog 
k) Participate in more dog-related outreach events; consider organizing another “Tag Wag” type 

event 
l) Promote information on dog-prohibited trails and add this information on the OSMP Website 
m) Train all staff on the new regulations for informal educational opportunities 

2 

Require proof of current rabies vaccination for all dogs to be registered in the program.  City of 
Boulder residents are required to provide a valid City of Boulder dog license as proof of current 
rabies vaccination. 
 
Require that all dogs on OSMP lands display a valid rabies vaccination tag. 

3 

The program registration and annual renewal fees will include a graduated fee structure for residents 
of the City of Boulder, residents of Boulder County outside the City of Boulder, and noncounty 
residents.  
 
Program registration fees: 
• City of Boulder Residents ($13), 
• Boulder County residents outside the City of Boulder ($33), 
• Non-Boulder County residents ($75), and 
• The registration fee includes one guardian and one dog; the fee for each additional guardian in a 

household is ($5) and the fee for each additional dog in a household is ($10). 
 
Annual household renewal fee: 
• City of Boulder Residents ($5), 
• Boulder County residents outside the City of Boulder ($20), and 
• Non-Boulder County residents ($30). 

 
The additional guardian and dog registration fees will be waived for City of Boulder households who 
meet income criteria consistent with the City of Boulder Food Tax Rebate Program or the Parks and 
Recreation Reduced Rate Program.   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page     67



                                      ATTACHMENT B – V&S 
 

Original Voice and Sight Tag Program Recommendations 
                                                                         

# Recommendation 

4 

Require all program participants attend an information session.  Program participants must attend a 
session before they can register in the program.  The information session will include as part of the 
content a revised and updated the voice and sight video.  The information session must be repeated 
every five years.  
 

5 

Increase fines for Voice and Sight Evidence Tag Required (B.R.C. 6-13-2) and  Dog at Large 
violations (B.R.C. 6-1-16) to $100 (maximum), $200 (maximum), and $300 (minimum) for first, 
second and third or more convictions respectively. Provide mechanism for dismissal of tickets for 
lawful participants who inadvertently failed to display tag. 
 
The bond amount for dog-related City Manager’s Rule violations (B.R.C. 8-3-3) will be increased to 
$100. 
 
Encourage courts to order such additions to fines as watching the voice and sight video, attending the 
voice and sight information session, dog training, and/or demonstration testing for egregious or repeat 
dog-related violations consistent with the nature of the violation.  Community service for dog waste 
violations may be particularly appropriate. 

6 

Revocation of program privileges will occur after one conviction of the following violations 
involving a dog: 

•  Aggressive Animal Prohibited (B.R.C. 6-1-20), 
•  Failure to Protect Wildlife (or livestock) (B.R.C. 8-3-5), and 

 
Convictions of Aggressive Animal Prohibited and Failure to Protect Wildlife violations on OSMP and 
other lands under the jurisdiction of the City of Boulder will be cause for revocation. 

7 

Revocation of program privileges will occur after two convictions in two years by a single guardian.  
The following violations apply: 

• Dog at Large (B.R.C. 6-1-16) except for voice and sight control violations where the guardian 
doesn’t possess a leash.   

• Violations of City Manager’s Rule (B.R.C. 8-3-3) involving wildlife protection and a dog 
being off leash. 
 

Revocation of program privileges applies to the preceding violations on all OSMP lands and other 
City of Boulder properties where voice and sight privileges are recognized. 

8 
A guardian with two revocations in three years or three revocations will lose privileges for a period of 
time determined by the courts and may thereafter apply for reinstatement. 

9 Require a minimum fine of $300 and a minimum one-year revocation period for a guardian with 
revoked privileges having a dog off leash. 

10 

Program privileges may be reinstated after successful completion of a reinstatement process.   
Reinstatement from revocation must include successful completion of the voice and sight evaluation 
test by the revoked guardian and dog and the retaking of the information session by the revoked 
guardian.  Reinstatement will include payment of fees for the voice and sight evaluation test and 
payment of a reinstatement fee. 

    

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page     68



                                                                                    ATTACHMENT C – V&S 
 

Revised Voice and Sight Tag Program Recommendations 
                                                                         

# Recommendation 

1 

Implement the following education and outreach strategies: 
a) Increase outreach and education about training opportunities 
b) Support stakeholder efforts 
c) Create refresher videos on requirements, etiquette or issues that will be phased in 

based on time and cost 
d) Use traditional and social media to provide instructive educational information to 

participants 
e) Provide educational walks for dogs and dog guardians on a trial basis 
f) Improve clarity and information on signs 
g) Distribute palm cards explaining the Tag Program 
h) Increase outreach and education to visitors without dogs about voice and sight control 

and what to expect 
i) Consider under specific conditions and on well-suited OSMP properties, 

opportunities for special voice and sight control training events 
j) Encourage dog guardians to become volunteer Trail Guides and provide additional 

training for outreach with a dog 
k) Participate in more dog-related outreach events; consider organizing another “Tag 

Wag” type event 
l) Promote information on dog-prohibited trails and add this information on the OSMP 

Website 
m) Train all staff on the new regulations for informal educational opportunities 
n) Increase focus on major trailheads 
o) Provide more focused Ranger patrol 
p) Consider more strategic placement of signs and waste cans 

2 

Require proof of current rabies vaccination for all dogs to be registered in the program.  City 
of Boulder residents are required to provide a valid City of Boulder dog license as proof of 
current rabies vaccination. 
 
Require that all dogs on OSMP lands display a valid rabies vaccination tag. 

3 

The program registration and annual renewal fees will include a graduated fee structure for 
residents of the City of Boulder, residents of Boulder County outside the City of Boulder, 
and noncounty residents.  
 
Program registration fees: 
• City of Boulder Residents ($13), 
• Boulder County residents outside the City of Boulder ($33), 
• Non-Boulder County residents ($75), and 
• The registration fee includes one guardian and one dog; the fee for each additional 

guardian in a household is ($5) and the fee for each additional dog in a household is 
($10). 

 
Annual household renewal fee: 
• City of Boulder Residents ($5), 
• Boulder County residents outside the City of Boulder ($20), and 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page     69



                                                                                    ATTACHMENT C – V&S 
 

Revised Voice and Sight Tag Program Recommendations 
                                                                         

# Recommendation 

• Non-Boulder County residents ($30). 
 
The additional guardian and dog registration fees will be waived for City of Boulder 
households who meet income criteria consistent with the City of Boulder Food Tax Rebate 
Program or the Parks and Recreation Reduced Rate Program.   

4 

Require all program participants attend an information session.  Program participants must 
attend a session before they can register in the program.  The information session will 
include as part of the content a revised and updated voice and sight video.  The information 
session must be repeated Program participants must complete an online refresher education 
course at least every five years. The refresher will include an on-line test to establish that 
participants understand the Voice and Sight Tag Program requirements. 
 

5 

Increase fines for Voice and Sight Evidence Tag Required (B.R.C. 6-13-2) and  Dog at Large 
violations (B.R.C. 6-1-16) to $100 (maximum), $200 (maximum), and $300 (minimum) for 
first, second and third or more convictions respectively. Provide mechanism for dismissal of 
tickets for lawful participants who inadvertently failed to display tag. 
 
Recommend to the municipal court that Tthe bond amount for dog-related City Manager’s 
Rule violations (B.R.C. 8-3-3) will be increased to $100. 
 
Encourage courts to order such additions to fines as watching the voice and sight video, 
attending the voice and sight information session, dog training, and/or demonstration testing 
for egregious or repeat dog-related violations consistent with the nature of the violation.  
Community service for dog waste violations may be particularly appropriate. 

6 

Encourage courts to order such additions to fines for Revocation of program privileges will 
occur after one conviction of the following violations involving a dog of the following 
ordinances: 

• Voice and Sight Evidence Tag Required (B.R.C. 6-13-2)  
• Dog at Large violations (B.R.C. 6-1-16)  
• Aggressive Animal Prohibited (B.R.C. 6-1-20), and 
•  Failure to Protect Wildlife (or livestock) (B.R.C. 8-3-5), and 

 
Convictions of Aggressive Animal Prohibited and Failure to Protect Wildlife violations on 
OSMP and other lands under the jurisdiction of the City of Boulder will be cause for 
revocation.as described in Attachment A. 

7 

Revocation of program privileges will occur after two convictions in two years by a single 
guardian.  The following violations apply: 

• Dog at Large (B.R.C. 6-1-16) except for voice and sight control violations where the 
guardian doesn’t possess a leash.   

• Violations of City Manager’s Rule (B.R.C. 8-3-3) involving wildlife protection and a 
dog being off leash. 
 

Revocation of program privileges applies to the preceding violations on all OSMP lands and 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page     70



                                                                                    ATTACHMENT C – V&S 
 

Revised Voice and Sight Tag Program Recommendations 
                                                                         

# Recommendation 

other City of Boulder properties where voice and sight privileges are recognized. 

8 
A guardian with two revocations in three years or three revocations will lose privileges for a 
period of time determined by the courts and may thereafter apply for reinstatement. 

9 Require a minimum fine of $300 and a minimum one-year revocation period for a guardian 
with revoked privileges having a dog off leash. 

10 

Program privileges may be reinstated after successful completion of a reinstatement process.   
Reinstatement from revocation must include successful completion of the voice and sight 
evaluation test by the revoked guardian and dog and the retaking of the information session 
by the revoked guardian.  Reinstatement will include payment of fees for the voice and sight 
evaluation test and payment of a reinstatement fee. 

    

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17Packet Page     71



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 18Packet Page     72



 
 

 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of Ordinance No. 7968 amending 
Chapter 13-2, “Campaign Financing Disclosure,” B.R.C. 1981 including modifying the 
financial reporting requirements, adding additional reporting requirements for City 
Council members, setting forth reporting periods and setting forth related details. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On February 20, 2014, council held a study session on financial reporting.  Council 
scheduled this study session to provide a forum for discussion of potential clarifications 
to the city’s financial disclosure requirements.  Council discussed several proposed 
changes and agreed on several that would strengthen and clarify the financial disclosure 
requirements. 
 
Staff requests that City Council adopt the proposed revisions to the financial disclosure 
requirements.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
Motion to pass on second reading Ordinance No. 7968 amending Chapter 13-2, 
“Campaign Financing Disclosure,” B.R.C. 1981 including modifying the financial 
reporting requirements, adding additional reporting requirements for City Council 
members, setting forth reporting periods and setting forth related details. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page     73



 
 

BACKGROUND: Additional background information can be found in the summary of 
the February 20 study session.  The purpose of this agenda item is to improve the city’s 
financial reporting requirements by clarifying ambiguities in the current code.  The 
important interest of government transparency is served by clear requirements for 
disclosure by elected officials. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic:  

None identified 

• Environmental: 
None identified 

• Social: 
Boulder’s community values support an honest, ethical and transparent local 
government.  The intent of the proposed ordinance is to revise the city’s financial 
disclosure requirements to be clearer to avoid ambiguity.   

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal: 

None identified. 

• Staff Time: 
None identified. 

 
Analysis: 
 
 The proposed changes to the financial disclosure provisions in Chapter 13-2, 
B.R.C. 1981 were summarized in the first reading memorandum.  Much of that 
discussion is repeated below for the ease of reference: 
 

Definitions 
 
 The proposed ordinance would clarify that a person is no longer a candidate after 
the election.  This change is necessary because the proposed ordinance would impose a 
duty upon candidates to update financial reports to reflect material changes.  The change 
in the definition of “candidate” would clarify that this obligation would end once the 
election is over.  Successful candidates would be required to file a report on April 15, 
which would be roughly in line with the new requirement that incumbents update reports 
quarterly.   
 
 The proposed ordinance also would define “controlling interest” as an interest in 
excess of 50 percent ownership in a corporation or partnership.  Examples of other 
jurisdictions definitions of “controlling interest” were attached to the first reading 
memorandum.  
 
 The proposed ordinance includes a definition of “Excepted investment fund.”  
The definition follows a federal definition that excludes mutual funds, common stock 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page     74



 
 

funds, pension, deferred compensation plans or other investment funds.  Such funds are 
excluded if they are widely held, publically traded or widely diversified and the investor 
does not exercise control over the financial interests held by the fund. 
 
 The proposed ordinance defines “Material change” to mean any change in 
employment, business investments in the area covered by the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan or ownership of real property in Boulder County.  It does not 
include changes in sources of other income in excess of $1,000. 
 
 The proposed ordinance would define “Other household income” to be any 
income earned by a spouse, domestic partner or partner in a civil union, who resides in 
the same household and that is reportable by the candidate or incumbent for federal or 
state income tax purposes.  Such income is only relevant if it exceeded $1000 in the 
previous calendar year. 
 
Financial Disclosure Statement 
 
 The proposed ordinance would change the title of section 13-2-3 “Candidate’s 
Financial Disclosure Statement” to “Financial Disclosure Statement” to clarify that the 
same requirements apply to candidates and incumbents. 
 
 There is a new proposed subsection (a) which is intended to clarify that the 
reporting requirements are only intended to impose a duty to disclose interests held by 
third parties about which the person reporting has actual knowledge.  This is to avoid a 
situation in which a person has an interest in an out-of-state corporation that may start 
doing business in Boulder without the person’s knowledge.  This is reasonable because a 
decision maker cannot be influenced by a relationship about which he or she was not 
aware. 
 
 Paragraph 13-2-3(b)(2) as amended would clarify that both other household 
income and retirement accounts must be reported if the person reporting received income 
in excess of $1000 from either source.  
 
 The proposed paragraph 13-2-3(b)(3) would exclude any requirement to report an 
investment in an excepted investment fund. 
 
Filing Dates and Disclosure Periods 
  
 The proposed ordinance would change the title of section 13-2-4 “Incumbent’s 
Financial Disclosure Statement” to “Filing Dates and Disclosure Periods.”   
 
 The revised section would require candidates to file disclosure statements by 
September 10.  Current code requires the candidate to file the report within three days of 
acceptance of a nominating petition.  Nominating petitions can be filed between 91 and 
71 days before the election.  Election Day is the first Tuesday in November.  September 
10 is between 52 and 58 days before the election.  This provides a longer time for 
candidates to prepare financial disclosure statements, but also provides clarity on when 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page     75



 
 

they are due.  There also is a requirement that candidates report any material change 
within fifteen days after the material change. 
 
 The proposal would require council members to file financial disclosure 
statements on April 15.  Incumbents also would be required to file reports including any 
material changes within 15 days of the end of the quarter in which the change occurred.   
 
 Finally the section makes clear that the identity of sources of income in excess of 
$1,000 should be reported for the previous calendar year.  All other information would be 
reported as of the day of the report. 
 
First Reading Questions 
 
 Two council members requested information about the reporting requirements 
imposed by state law or by other local jurisdictions.   Staff has prepared the following 
chart comparing those requirements to the proposed ordinance.  County Commissioners 
have no regular financial disclosure requirements.  They are required to report under the 
campaign finance law and to disclose gifts and loans received while in office. 
  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page     76



 
 

Requirement State Officers Boulder 
Proposed 

Fort Collins Colorado 
Springs 

Louisville 

Source of 
income 

All income Employment 
and income 
over $1000 

All income All income Employment 
and income 
over $1000 

Other 
household 

Spouse and 
minor children 

Income 
reportable for 
tax purposes 

Includes 
spouse 

Includes 
spouse 

Only the 
reporting 
person 

Business or 
insurance 
policy or trust 

Over $1000 Any business 
owning real 
property on 
doing business 
in the area 
covered by the 
BVCP 

Any interest 
over $10,000 

Any interest 
over $5000 

Any business 
owning real 
property on 
doing business 
in Boulder 
County 

Real property Legal 
description of 
any property 
with any 
interest direct 
or indirect in 
excess of 
$5000 

Any real 
property in 
Boulder county 
or any business 
owning real 
property if the 
person holds a 
“controlling 
interest.” 

Legal 
description of 
any interest in 
real property 
including 
spouse’s 
interest 

If in the city 
and the 
person’s 
interest is in 
excess of 
$5000 

Any real 
property in 
Boulder county 
or any business 
owning real 
property if the 
person holds a 
“controlling 
interest.” 

All offices,  
directorships, 
fellowships 

Any such 
office held by 
the person, 
spouse or 
minor children 

Only if source 
of income in 
excess of 
$1,000 

Any such 
office held by 
the person or 
spouse. 

Any such 
office held by 
the person or 
spouse 

Only if source 
of income in 
excess of 
$1,000 

Lobbying 
income 

Must be 
reported 

Only if in 
excess of 
$1,000 

All income 
reported 

Must be 
reported 

Only if in 
excess of 
$1,000 

Debts Must be 
reported if in 
excess of 
$1,000 

Not Reported Must be 
reported if 
person or 
spouse owe 
more than 
$10,000 

Not reported. Not reported. 

Mutual Funds 
Exempt 

No Yes No No No 

 
 
 One council member asked four specific first reading questions, which were as 
follows: 
 

13-2-3 (b)(2): maybe it’s implicit, but might it be helpful to specify 
“realized” capital gains so that it’s clear that increases in value of some 
asset don’t count unless the asset is sold? (Actually, an increase in value 
could be important, I suppose, but there is often no way to quantify it, and 
us ordinary folks don’t track it anyway). 
   
Also (b)(2): this would seem to require reporting of income even from 
excepted funds, which the feds don’t require. Why bother? Could be a lot 
of work that tells you absolutely nothing useful. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page     77



 
 

  
Also (b)(2) and in the definition of “excepted funds”: it’s not clear to me if 
something very simple like interest from a bank account is “excepted” 
(unless this is a “common trust fund of a bank”). And, again, why report 
income of >$1000 from a bank account? 
  
(b)(3): Why limit this to “for profit” companies? If I work for, or am on 
the board of, a non-profit that owns real property in Boulder, that sure 
seems to me to be something that should be disclosed… 

 
The first three questions address the scope of income to be reported.  Staff has prepared a 
proposed amendment that would add a definition of income and exclude the subjects 
addressed in the questions quoted above.  The fourth question relates to language that is 
in the existing office.  It is not clear why reporting was limited to “for profit” enterprises.  
Staff has prepared a second proposed amendment that would strike this requirement.  
Both proposed amendments are included in attachment B. 
 
Another council member asked a series of questions on the council “hotline.”  The 
questions and answers were as follows: 
 

1. Would the proposed definition for "excepted investment fund" 
include the following types of investments: Delaware LLCs, revocable 
living trusts, land trusts, asset protection trusts and private instruments 
such as private placement contracts? 

 
The definition of excepted investment fund is as follows:  “’Excepted investment fund’ 
means a mutual fund, common trust fund of a bank, pension or deferred compensation 
plan, or any other investment fund, which is widely held; publicly traded (or available) or 
widely diversified; and under circumstances where the investor neither exercises control 
over nor has the ability to exercise control over the financial interests held by the fund. A 
fund is widely diversified when it holds no more than five percent of the value of its 
portfolio in the securities of any one issuer (other than the U.S. Government.)”   
 
It is unlikely that any of the investments identified in your question would qualify as an 
excepted investment fund.   None of these investments would be likely to meet the 
requirement be “widely held, publicly trade or widely diversified.”  Even if one met one 
of these criteria, the investment would only qualify if the investor neither exercised 
control nor has the ability to exercise control over the financial interests held by the fund. 
 

2. Would "financial dealings" include disclosure of the names of 
members/owners/partners that participate in such dealings? 

 
Council’s consensus appeared to be that names of other participants in investments not be 
subject to disclosure.  This is a policy question for council. 
 

3. How will the public to access the disclosure information? Does this 
differ from the status quo? 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page     78



 
 

 
The disclosure forms are available through the city’s website.   There is nothing in the 
ordinance that addresses public access.   
 
 
Attachments 
 
Attachment A   Proposed Ordinance No. 7968 
Attachment B   Potential Amendments   
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page     79



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page     80



 

K:\CCCO\o-Chapter 13-2 Revisions-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 7968     
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 13-2, “CAMPAIGN 
FINANCING DISCLOSURE,” B.R.C. 1981 INCLUDING 
MODIFYING A CANDIDATE’S FINANCIAL REPORTING 
REQUIREMENTS, ADDING ADDITIONAL REPORTING 
REQUIREMENTS FOR CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS, SETTING 
FORTH REPORTING PERIODS AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section 1.  Section 13-2-2, B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

13-2-2  Definitions. 
 
The following terms used in this chapter and chapter 13-3, "Campaign Activities," B.R.C. 1981, 
have the following meanings unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 
     
"Ballot proposition" means any amendment to the city charter, and any initiative, referendum, or 
recall for which petitions have been properly certified by the city clerk for submission to the city 
council, or any ordinance or issue put to a vote of the electors of the City of Boulder under the 
provisions of the city charter. Such term does not include any ballot issue placed on the ballot by 
the United States, the State of Colorado or any political subdivision thereof other than the city. 
 
"Candidate" means any person whose petition of nomination for city council, whether at a 
regular, special, or recall election, has been certified as sufficient by the city clerk pursuant to 
charter section 26.  A person is no longer a “candidate” after the date of the election for which 
the person filed a petition. 
 
"Candidate committee" means a person, including the candidate, or persons with the common 
purpose of receiving contributions or making expenditures under the authority of a candidate. 
The term "official candidate committee" is synonymous with "candidate committee." 
 
"Committee" means a candidate committee, an unofficial candidate committee, and an issue 
committee, unless the context indicates that it can mean only one or two of these types of 
committees. 
 
"Contribution" means: 
 
(a) Any payment, loan, pledge, or advance of money, including, without limitation, checks 
received but not deposited or payments made by credit card, or guarantee of a loan, made to or 
for the benefit of any candidate or committee; 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page     81



  

K:\CCCO\o-Chapter 13-2 Revisions-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
(b) Any payment made to a third party for the benefit of any candidate or committee, including, 
without limitation, the use of a credit card to secure such benefit; 
 
(c) Anything of value given, directly or indirectly, to a candidate for the purpose of promoting 
the candidate's election, including, without limitation, commercial services such as banking, 
printing, and mailing services; or 
 
(d) With regard to a contribution for which the contributor receives compensation or 
consideration of less than equivalent value to such contribution, including, without limitation, 
items of perishable or non-permanent value, goods, supplies, services, or participation in a 
campaign-related event, an amount equal to the value in excess of such compensation or 
consideration. 
 
"Contribution" does not include services provided without compensation by individuals 
volunteering their time on behalf of a candidate or committee. 
 
"Contribution in kind" means the fair market value of a gift or loan of any item of real or 
personal property, other than money, made to or for any candidate or committee for the purpose 
of influencing the passage or defeat of any issue or the election or defeat of any candidate. 
Personal services are a contribution in kind by the person paying compensation therefor. In 
determining the value to be placed on contributions in kind, a reasonable estimate of fair market 
value shall be used by the candidate or committee. "Contribution in kind" does not include an 
endorsement of a candidate or an issue by any person, nor does it include the payment of 
compensation for legal or accounting services rendered to a candidate if the person paying for 
the services is the regular employer of the individual rendering the services and the services are 
solely for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the provisions of this title. 
 
“Controlling interest" means:  
 

(a) In the case of a corporation, either more than 50 percent of the total combined voting 
power of all classes of stock of the corporation entitled to vote, or more than 50 percent 
of the capital, profits, or beneficial interest in the voting stock of the corporation; and  
(b) In the case of a partnership, association, trust, or other entity, more than 50 percent of 
the capital, profits, or beneficial interest in such partnership, association, trust, or other 
entity. 

 
“Excepted investment fund” means a mutual fund, common trust fund of a bank, pension or 
deferred compensation plan, or any other investment fund, which is widely held; publicly traded 
(or available) or widely diversified; and under circumstances where the investor neither exercises 
control over nor has the ability to exercise control over the financial interests held by 
the fund. A fund is widely diversified when it holds no more than five percent of the value of its 
portfolio in the securities of any one issuer (other than the U.S. Government.) 
 
"Expenditure" means the payment, distribution, loan, or advance of any money by any candidate 
or committee, whether in cash, by check, as a credit card charge, or otherwise. "Expenditure" 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page     82



  

K:\CCCO\o-Chapter 13-2 Revisions-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

also includes the payment, distribution, loan, or advance of any money by a person for the 
benefit of a candidate or committee that is made with the prior knowledge and consent of an 
agent of the candidate or committee. An expenditure occurs when the actual payment is made or 
when a contract is agreed upon, whichever comes first. Consent may be implied from 
collaboration and need not be express. 
 
"Independent expenditure" means an expenditure by any person for the purpose of expressly 
advocating the election or defeat of a candidate or candidates, which expenditure is not 
controlled by, coordinated with, or made upon consultation with any candidate or candidate 
committee or any agent of such candidate or committee. "Independent expenditure" does not 
include expenditures made by persons, other than political parties and political committees, in 
the regular course and scope of their business, including political messages sent solely to 
members. 
 
"Issue" is synonymous with ballot proposition. 
 
"Issue committee" means any two or more natural persons who collaborate together, or any 
corporation, partnership, commission, association, or any other organization or group of persons, 
that accepts contributions or makes expenditures for the purpose of opposing or supporting a 
ballot proposition at a city election, regardless of whether or not it has obtained the consent of 
the sponsors of the ballot proposition. 
 
“Material change”  shall mean any change in information required to be reported pursuant to 
paragraphs13-2-3(b)(1), (3) or (4). 
 
"Official candidate committee" - see definition of "candidate committee." 
 
“Other household income” means any income earned by a spouse, domestic partner, or partner in 
a civil union who resides in the same household as the reporting person that is reportable by a 
candidate or incumbent for federal or state income tax purposes. 
 
"Political committee" means any two or more natural persons who collaborate together, or any 
corporation, partnership, commission, association, or any other organization or group of persons, 
that accepts contributions or makes expenditures for the purpose of opposing or supporting a 
candidate for city council, or a city ballot proposition, and which, because of campaign activities 
concerning other candidates, other ballot measures, or both, is required under the Fair Campaign 
Practices Act found in state law to file statements and reports with the secretary of state or the 
county clerk and recorder. It is the intention of this chapter to reduce the burden on such 
committees of following two separate sets of filing and reporting requirements, while still 
protecting the public purposes served by filing and reporting. However, no candidate committee 
or other committee, the expenditures of which are in any way, directly or indirectly, controlled 
by, coordinated with, or made upon consultation with any candidate or candidate committee or 
agent thereof shall be deemed a political committee eligible for these different requirements. 
 
"Unofficial candidate committee" means any two or more natural persons who collaborate 
together, or any corporation, partnership, commission, association, or any other organization or 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page     83



  

K:\CCCO\o-Chapter 13-2 Revisions-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

group of persons, that accepts contributions or makes expenditures for the purpose of expressly 
advocating the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate for city council. An unofficial 
candidate committee ceases to be independent if its expenditures are in any way, directly or 
indirectly, controlled by, coordinated with, or made upon consultation with any candidate or 
candidate committee or agent thereof. 
 
 Section 2.  Section 13-2-3, B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

13-2-3 Candidate's  Financial Disclosure Statement. 
 
(a)  The purpose of this section is to provide members of the public and other council members 

with information regarding financial dealings of candidates and council members that might 
affect their ability to make impartial decisions.  When reporting information regarding the 
activities of a third party, a reporting person is required to report only information about 
which he or she has actual knowledge. 

 
(b) Any person required to file a financial disclosure statement required by this chapter shall file 

a statement on a form provided by the city clerk as follows: No more than three days after a 
candidate's petition of nomination for city council has been certified as sufficient by the city 
clerk pursuant to charter section 26, the candidate shall file a statement of financial 
disclosure that contains: 

 
(1a) The reporting candidate'sperson’s employer and occupation and the nature; 

 
(2)  The  and source of any other income in excess of $1,000.00 per year, including, without 

limitation, other  household income, capital gains, whether or not taxable, dividends, 
interest, wages, salaries, rents, and profits, and retirement accounts; 

 
(3b) The name, location, and nature of activity of any business entities or enterprises for 

profit, with holdings of real or personal property or with business dealings in the area 
encompassed by the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, in which the 
candidatereporting person has any financial interest or is actively engaged as an officer, 
director, or partner and the nature of the reporting personcandidate's interest or activity.   
A reporting person is not required to report any financial interest in any business entity 
in which the reporting person’s only interest is through an investment in an excepted 
investment fund; 

 
(4c) The location of any real property within Boulder County in which the candidatereporting 

person has an interest or, if the reporting personcandidate has a controlling interest in an 
entity or enterprise disclosed pursuant to subsection paragraph(b)(3) of this section, in 
which the controlled entity or enterprise has any interest and the nature of such interest; 

 
(5d) Any other information that the reporting personcandidate feels would be helpful or 

should be disclosed; and 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page     84



  

K:\CCCO\o-Chapter 13-2 Revisions-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(e6) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, no reporting personcandidate is 
required to disclose any confidential relationship protected by law. 

  
 Section 3.  Section 13-2-4, B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

13-2-4 Incumbent's Financial Disclosure Statement.Filing Dates and Disclosure Periods. 

On April 15 of each calendar year, each incumbent council member shall file an amended 
statement for the previous calendar year concerning the financial disclosures in Section 13-2-3, 
"Candidate's Financial Disclosure Statement," B.R.C. 1981, with the city manager or notify the 
manager in writing that the council member has no change of financial condition regarding the 
disclosed items since previously filing a disclosure statement.   
 
(a)  On or before September 10, any candidate having filed a petition of nomination shall file a 

statement of financial disclosure as set forth in section 13-2-3, “Financial Disclosure 
Statement.” B.R.C. 1981. The candidate shall file a supplemental report if there is any 
material change in the information reported after the date of filing within 15 days after the 
material change. 

 
(b)  On or before April 15 of each year, every member of the city council shall file a statement of 

financial disclosure as set forth in section 13-2-3, “Financial Disclosure Statement.” B.R.C. 
1981. Council members shall report any material changes to the information reported, except 
information reported pursuant to paragraph 13-2-3(b)(2), within 15 days of the end of the 
calendar quarter in which the material change occurred. 

 
(c) Each Financial Disclosure Statement shall include all information current of the date of filing, 

except information required by 13-2-3(b)(2) shall be reported as of the end of the previous 
calendar year. 

 
 Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 Section 5.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page     85



  

K:\CCCO\o-Chapter 13-2 Revisions-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 1st day of April, 2014. 

 
       Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk  
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this ___ day of _________ 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this ___ day of _________ 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page     86



 
 

Attachment B 
 

Possible Amendment A 
 
Add a definition of “income” as follows. 
 
“Income” means money received for the provision of goods or services, not including the 
unrealized appreciation of any asset, income from any excepted fund or interest earned 
from any commercial bank, savings and loan or credit union.   
 
Possible Amendment B 
 
Amend proposed section 13-2-3(b)(3) as follows: 
 
(3) The name, location, and nature of activity of any business entities or enterprises for 
profit, with holdings of real or personal property or with business dealings in the area 
encompassed by the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, in which the reporting person 
has any financial interest or is actively engaged as an officer, director, or partner and the 
nature of the reporting person's interest or activity.   A reporting person is not required to 
report any financial interest in any business entity in which the reporting person’s only 
interest is through an investment in an excepted investment fund; 
 
 
 

Attachment B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page     87



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page     88



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Discussion and consideration of a response to the letter to City  
Council from the Jefferson County Commissioners expressing concerns over comments 
made at a recent meeting of the Denver Regional Council of Governments 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Thomas Carr, City Attorney 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
In 2011, the city entered into an intergovernmental agreement with the counties of 
Boulder and Jefferson (Attachment A, the “IGA”). The terms of the IGA resulted in the 
acquisition of the surface rights to Section 16, a 640-acre parcel located in Jefferson 
County on Highway 93, just south of the entrance to the former Rocky Flats nuclear 
weapons plant, and its subsequent inclusion into the boundaries of the Rocky Flats 
National Wildlife Refuge. In return for Jefferson County’s support for this land deal, the 
city agreed, with stated qualifications, to drop its opposition to the construction of the 
Jefferson Parkway, a proposed 10-mile toll road that would connect State Highway 128 
(“SH 128”) to SH 93 in Jefferson County about one mile north of West 64th Avenue. 
 
City Council recently received a letter from the Jefferson County Commissioners 
(Attachment B) expressing concern over comments made by the city’s representative at 
a March 5, 2014 meeting of the Denver Regional Council of Governments (“DRCOG”). 
The commissioners suggested that these comments were inconsistent with the terms of 
the IGA. 
  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page     89



This agenda item is an opportunity for council to receive an update on the DRCOG 
discussions of concern, to discuss the obligations contained in the IGA and to consider a 
response to the Jefferson County Commissioners.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and approval of the following motion: 
 
Motion to authorize the mayor to sign a letter to the Jefferson County Commissioners in a 
format substantially similar to the language provided in Attachment C.  
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The city’s concerns over transportation solutions in the northwest quadrant of Jefferson 
County span back more than a decade to a time when a previous version of the Jefferson 
Parkway, the “Northwest Corridor” was under consideration. From 2003 to 2008, that 
highway project was subject to an Environmental Impact Statement (“EIS”) process that 
was never completed. At the conclusion of the EIS process, the Jefferson Highway Public 
Highway Authority (“JPPHA”) was established to finance, construct, operate, and/or 
maintain the Jefferson Parkway. The JPPHA’s members are the city of Arvada, Jefferson 
County and the city and county of Broomfield. 
 
City representatives spent a considerable amount of time opposing the Jefferson Parkway.  
In 2009, the city along with the City of Golden and Boulder County opposed JPPHA’s 
application under CDOT’s Interchange Approval Process (“1601 Process”) for 
interchanges of the proposed Jefferson Parkway with State Highways 93, 72 and 128. 
That application was eventually approved. Also beginning in 2009, with the same 
partners, the city actively opposed JPPHA’s application to include the Jefferson Parkway 
in DRCOG’s 2035 Metro Vision Regional Transportation Plan. That application was also 
approved. The city then actively opposed JPPHA’s application to the USFWS to have a 
300’ ROW transferred to them. In 2011, after achieving only temporary success in its 
opposition efforts, the City of Boulder, Boulder County and Jefferson County entered 
into an IGA regarding the development of the Jefferson Parkway and the acquisition of a 
parcel of land known as Section 16 (Attachment A). 
 
On March 5, 2014, Council Member Jones participated in a DRCOG Metro Vision Issues 
Committee (“MVIC”) meeting. During that meeting, she and Denver’s and Boulder’s 
DRCOG representatives spoke in favor of excluding non-existent roads, including the 
Jefferson Parkway, from a “Strategic Corridors” map that was to be used for scoring 
purposes in DRCOG’s Transportation Improvement Program (“TIP”). The consequence 
of removing such roads from the TIP was to reduce the points available for construction 
projects and thereby decrease its chances of qualifying for public funds. This vote passed 
with three no votes. This issue was revisited at the April 2, 2014 MVIC meeting where 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page     90



the committee accepted a DRCOG staff recommendation to delete the entire strategic 
corridor designation from the 2040 plan. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The IGA includes two primary components: 1) Each party agreed to contribute funds to 
and support the purchase of open space in and around the Jefferson Parkway corridor, 
and; 2) the City of Boulder and Boulder County agreed to withdraw their opposition to 
the construction of the Jefferson Parkway. The latter agreement, however, was 
specifically limited as described on page 2, section 3 of the IGA: 
 

The City and Boulder County will not oppose construction of the Parkway 
as proposed in the Authority’s application for inclusion of the Parkway 
in the Denver Regional Council of Governments Fiscally Constrained 
Regional Transportation Plan (“Parkway Plan”).  By agreeing not to 
oppose the conveyance of the Right-of-Way to the Authority and not 
oppose construction of the Parkway as provided above, neither the City 
nor Boulder County are giving up their right to advocate for maintenance, 
operational or capital enhancements of SH 93 or to object to future 
changes in the Parkway Plan that would require a new approval from 
Denver Regional Council of Governments. [Emphasis Added] 

  
The JPPHA’s July 2009 application to DRCOG to include the Jefferson Parkway in the 
Regional Transportation Plan (The “Parkway Plan,” Attachment D), made multiple 
references indicating that the proposed road was not to receive any state or federal funds, 
specifically: 

• Page 5 of the Parkway Plan states that “[g]iven their reasonable prospects for 
funding of the Jefferson Parkway through a private partner, it is now appropriate 
that his project be placed in the fiscally constrained transportation plan.” 
 

• Page 6 of the Parkway Plan states that “[t]he Project is being procured using an 
innovative “concession” approach that will not require federal or state funding 
and will not impose a debt burden on jurisdictions party to the JPPHA.” 
 

• Page 10 of the Parkway Plan states that “[t]he Project is expected to be procured 
in a design-build/concession format.  The JPPHA expects to enter into an 
agreement with a private entity which will develop, finance, design, build, operate 
and maintain the project for a predetermined time period allowing a fair return 
prior to handing the asset back to the JPPHA. . . No public funding (state or 
federal) is currently anticipated to be dedicated for the construction of the 
facility.  Concession returns and debt repayment will be provided through toll 
revenue collection from the Parkway.” [Emphasis added] 
 

• Appendix A to the Parkway Plan is a memo from Public Financial Management, 
Inc. which gave a preliminary financial feasibility assessment.  The assumption of 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page     91



this assessment was that the Parkway would be funded entirely with taxable bonds 
and private equity, not public financing. 

• Appendix D to Parkway Plan was the Colorado Department of Transportation 
Commission’s signed resolution in favor of the Parkway Plan, premised upon the 
fact that it would be privately financed:  “WHEREAS, the proposed interchanges 
will be funded through local funds or private investors and the Colorado 
Department of Transportation is not participating in the funding of the proposed 
improvements.” 
 

• Appendix C to the Parkway Plan is 1601 System Level Study Report, which was 
prepared for JPPHA by PB Americas and Stantec Consulting in July 2009.  Page 
18 of the Executive Summary and Section 5.2 repeat that “[n]o public funding 
(state or federal) is currently anticipated to be dedicated for the construction, 
operation, or maintenance of the facility during the development or concession 
periods.” 

Based upon each of these references, it is clear that the Parkway Plan provided that the 
Jefferson Parkway would be completed without state or federal funding.  The City of 
Boulder’s and Boulder County’s support for the IGA was predicated on the Parkway as it 
was defined during the time of the IGA. The parties expressly reserved the right to 
oppose any approvals by DRCOG required by a change in the Parkway Plan. It was a fair 
assumption by the city’s DRCOG representative that such opposition would be 
appropriate under the IGA. Nevertheless, considering that the IGA was approved by a 
prior council after significant debate and public process, it could be appropriate in the 
future for city representatives to provide council an opportunity to weigh in before taking 
any positions that could be interpreted as contrary to council’s intent.  
 
ATTACHMENTS  
 
Attachment A – Intergovernmental Agreement regarding the development of the 
Jefferson Parkway and the acquisition of Section 16 
 
Attachment B – Letter dated April 1, 2014 from the Jefferson County Commissioners to 
the Boulder City Council 
 
Attachment C – Proposed response from city to the Jefferson County Commissioners 
 
Attachment D – JPPHA Application to Include Jefferson Parkway in DRCOG RTP 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page     92



Attachment A 
IGA  May 3, 2011

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page     93



Attachment A 
IGA  May 3, 2011

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page     94



Attachment A 
IGA  May 3, 2011

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page     95



Attachment A 
IGA  May 3, 2011

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page     96



Attachment A 
IGA  May 3, 2011

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page     97



Attachment A 
IGA  May 3, 2011

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page     98



crTl'Tüff[Ito#!of'T'"

?0lr{ }tAR 3h A}t l0: 06

Board of County Gommissioners

Faye Griffin
District No. 1

Gasey Tighe
District No. 2

Donald Rosier
District No. 3

April 1 ,2014

Boulder City Council
1777 Broadway Street
Boulder, Colorado 80302

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The Board of County Commissioners is concerned regarding the recent discussion at
the Metro Vision lssues Committee ('MVIC') on March 5,2014. Commissioner Rosier,
Jefferson County's MVIC and DRCOG representative, was at the annual National Association of
County Officials ('NACO') Legislative Conference and was therefore not in attendance, but the
comments were called to his attention and we listened to the tape. On the tape, the City of
Boulder's representative spoke out against the Jefferson Parkway, arguing that it was not a
Strategic Corridor on the TlP, thereby reducing the points available for construction projects
along the defined corridor, The Jefferson Parkway Corridor has been in the strategic corridor
plan since 2010 and as such the argument made by the City of Boulder's representative and
supported by the Boulder County representative conflicts with an agreement with Jefferson
County.

I'm sure you are all aware of the lntergovernmental Agreement between Jefferson
County, Boulder County, and the City of Boulder regarding the Jefferson Parkway and
Acquisition of Section 16 (the IGA). ln the lGA, the parties agreed to a historic land acquisition,
which subsequently came to fruition. ln the lGA, the parties also agreed that the City of Boulder
and the County of Boulder would "not oppose construction of the Parkway as proposed in the
Authority's application for inclusion of the Parkway in the Denver Regional Council of
Governments Fiscally Constrained Regional Transportation Plan ('Parkway Plan'). "

We are writing now to remind Boulder's elected officials to honor the agreement we all
worked so hard to reach, and not to undermine construction of the Parkway in contravention of
the lGA.

100 Jefferson County Parkway, Golden, Colorado 80419
(303) 279-6s1 1

http://ieffco.us

Attachment B - JeffCO Ltr re MVIC Concerns

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page     99



Boulder City Council
April 1,2014
Page 2

We appreciate the achievements we have made together so far, and hope to continue to
respect the mutual promises we have made.

Sincerely,

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

Attachment B - JeffCO Ltr re MVIC Concerns

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page     100



 

CITY OF BOULDER  
OFFICE OF THE CITY COUNCIL      

 
Mayor Matthew Appelbaum 
Mayor ProTem George Karakehian 

 
Council Members:  Macon Cowles, Suzanne Jones, Lisa Morzel, Tim 
Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver, Mary Young 

 
 
April 16, 2014 
 
Board of County Commissioners 
Jefferson County 
100 Jefferson County Parkway 
Golden, Colorado 80419 
 
Dear Commissioners Griffin, Tighe and Rosier: 
 
Boulder’s City Council is in receipt of your letter dated April 1, 2014 expressing concerns over a 
discussion that took place at DRCOG’s March 5, 2014 Metro Vision Issues Committee meeting. 
At that meeting, Council Member Suzanne Jones, Boulder’s representative to DRCOG, 
encouraged the committee to remove non-existent roads, including the Jefferson Parkway, from a 
“Strategic Corridors Map” that was to be used for scoring purposes in DRCOG’s Transportation 
Improvement Program.  It was her understanding that such a map when used in conjunction with 
the TIP would allow road projects to qualify for public funds. Her comments were made with a 
goal of assuring that improvements to existing roads continue to be the priority for public 
funding. 
 
We appreciate that these comments were viewed as conflicting with the promise the city made in 
its 2011 intergovernmental agreement with Jefferson and Boulder counties in which the city 
agreed to drop its opposition to the Jefferson Parkway so long as it was consistent with the 
Parkway Plan submitted to DRCOG. It is important to note, however, that the Parkway Plan 
states that Jefferson Parkway was to be exclusively funded through a combination of private and 
local funds, with no state or federal funds. It is for this reason that the city expressly included 
language in the agreement to preserve its ability to object to deviations from the original 
Parkway Plan that would necessitate a new approval from DRCOG. This funding structure was 
fundamental to DRCOG’s eventual inclusion of the road into its fiscally constrained RTP and 
was a basic assumption in the city’s agreement with Jefferson County. Accordingly, the city does 
not believe that it is precluded by its agreement from opposing efforts to seek state or federal 
funds for the Jefferson Parkway. The ability to oppose future efforts to divert public funds to the 
Jefferson Parkway was integral to the city’s decision to enter into the intergovernmental 
agreement.  
 
Nevertheless, we certainly understand that the position expressed by the Boulder representative, 
without further explanation, may have caught you off guard and regret that this occurred. In the 
future, we will strive to communicate with one of the commissioners before taking any public  

 
 
 
 

Attachment C 
Proposed Boulder Response to JeffCO

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page     101



 
 
 
 
positions that could be interpreted as opposing the Jefferson Parkway and also attempt to error 
on the side of caution so that we will not be seen as violating either the letter or spirit of the 
agreement we entered into with your county. The city puts tremendous value in its relationship 
with you and entirely agrees on the importance of the achievements we have made together so 
far.  
 
We look forward to opportunities to speak further with each of you about this matter.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Matthew Appelbaum 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

Attachment C 
Proposed Boulder Response to JeffCO

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page     102



 
 

Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB 
Americas - Stantec Consulting 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Denver Regional Council of Governments 
 
 

2035 Metro Vision Regional Transportation Plan, 
Fiscally – Constrained Plan 

 
 
 
 
 

July 2009 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page     103



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     i  
    

Table of Contents 

A.  GENERAL INFORMATION .................................................................................................... 1 
1.  SUBMITTING AGENCY ................................................................................................................. 1 
2.  CONTACT ...................................................................................................................................... 1 
3.  PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO: .................................................................................................... 1 
4.  DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT ................................................................... 1 
5.  BENEFITS OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT .......................................................................... 6 
6.  WHY THE AMENDMENT MUST BE MADE NOW ........................................................................ 6 
7.  EFFECTS ON OTHER DRCOG PLANS ........................................................................................ 7 
8.  IMPACTS TO PLAN POLICY ........................................................................................................ 7 

 

B. GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT ........................................................................................... 7 
 

C.  ADDITIONAL PROJECT INFORMATION .............................................................................. 8 
1.  PROJECT COST AND PHASING .................................................................................................. 8 
2.  PROJECT FUNDING ................................................................................................................... 10 
3.  ENDORCEMENTS FROM OTHER IMPACTED ENTITIES ......................................................... 11 
4.  CDOT SYSTEM LEVEL (1601) REPORT .................................................................................... 11 
5.  COLORADO TOLLING ENTERPRISE INVOLVEMENT ............................................................. 12 
6.  TRAVEL DEMAND MODEL REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................... 12 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 
APPENDIX A   FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY ANALYSIS 
 
APPENDIX B   LETTERS OF ENDORSEMENT FROM JEFFERSON COUNTY,  
   BROOMFIELD, AND ARVADA 
 
APPENDIX C   JEFFERSON PARKWAY 1601 SYSTEM LEVEL REPORT  
   (CD OF THE REPORT IS ENCLOSED) 
 
APPENDIX D   COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION RESOLUTION  
 
APPENDIX E   MEMORANDUM DATED JULY 27, 2009 FROM STANTEC CONSULTING

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page     104



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     1  
    

A. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Jefferson County, the City and County of Broomfield, and the City of Arvada established the 
Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority (JPPHA) in May 2008.1 The mission of the JPPHA 
is to fulfill transportation needs in the area by completing a portion of the last remaining un-built 
section of the Denver metropolitan beltway system.   
 
The proposed Jefferson Parkway project (the Project) is being studied and procured through an 
innovative process whereby the JPPHA will solicit private entities to design, finance, build, 
operate, and maintain the highway under the provisions of the Colorado Public Highway 
Authority Act.  In order to proceed with the procurement, the JPPHA must follow standard 
guidelines for the development of new highway infrastructure set out by the Colorado 
Transportation Commission (CTC), the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT), and the 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG), including the admission of the project to 
the 2035 Metro Vision Regional Transportation Plan, Fiscally-Constrained Element (the 2035 
Plan).  The JPPHA’s amendment request to the 2035 Plan is contained within this document.   

 

1. SUBMITTING AGENCY  

The Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 

2. CONTACT 

Richard D. Bauman, Parsons Brinckerhoff 
555 17th Street, Suite 500 
Denver, Colorado 80202 

303-588-3894 

3. PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO: 

The 2035 Metro Vision Regional Transportation Plan, Fiscally-Constrained Element 

4. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

The Project proposed to be included in the 2035 Metro Vision Regional Transportation Plan, 
Fiscally-Constrained Plan (the 2035 Plan) is to be a toll facility from SH 128 near Interlocken 
Loop to SH 93 north of 64th Avenue, located predominately in unincorporated Jefferson County.  
The Project is nearly identical to the toll way portion or central section of the Combined 
Alternative (Recommended Alternative) that was studied at length by the Colorado Department 
of Transportation (CDOT) and documented in the Northwest Corridor Transportation and 

                                                 
1 In 2003, Arvada, Broomfield and Jefferson County initiated a local effort to complete the beltway’s remaining 20 miles but 
postponed that effort at CDOT’s request. CDOT then initiated the Northwest Corridor Study and put forth extensive effort to gain 
consensus from local governments. However, due to lack of funds to construct the project and the inability to reach consensus, 
CDOT officially dropped the project on June 2, 2008. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 17Packet Page     105



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway Study   
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     2 
 

Environmental Planning Study (TEPS).2  The Project’s initial phase is expected to be completed 
in 2015, including the main highway span from SH 128 to SH 93 and partial interchanges in 
certain locations.  The first Project’s initial phase is shown in Exhibit 1. 

Exhibit 1: Jefferson Parkway Initial Phase    

 

                                                 
2 The complete TEPS is available on-line at 
http://www.dot.state.co.us/NorthwestCorridorEIS/finalreport.cfm. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 18Packet Page     106



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     3  
    

The Ultimate Project will be constructed incrementally between 2015 and 2035, including full 
interchanges and certain capacity enhancements as described further below.  The CDOT 
Northwest Corridor Study Area or TEPS Study Area was retained for the Parkway analysis.  It 
represents a broad area that extends west of SH 93, north of US 36, east of SHS 121 and south 
to I-70 and C-470.   

The Ultimate Project contains similar elements of the Combined Alternative (Recommended 
Alternative) from the TEPS as noted above: the regional arterial, northern section and the toll 
way, central section.  The Ultimate Project does not include the 7.5 mile principal arterial 
alignment improvements on Indiana Street and McIntyre Street that were a part of the TEPS 
Recommended Alternative.    Elimination of this arterial segment greatly reduces project 
impacts to adjacent properties along these streets. 

Because the jurisdiction of the JPPHA only extends south to 64th Avenue, the Ultimate Project 
also does not include the regional arterial, southern section of the project described in the 
TEPS.  This section would run south of the 64th Avenue Parkway to C-470. These 
improvements are assumed to be the responsibility of CDOT and/or area governments, and no 
funding or project commitment is available at this time.  

The Ultimate Project is a merged and packaged alternative bringing together two different 
roadway classifications: toll way and major regional arterial. From the Northwest Parkway to SH 
128, the facility is classified as a major regional arterial. (This would be an extension of the 
Northwest Parkway.) From SH 128 to just north of the 64th Avenue Parkway, the facility is 
classified as a toll way. (This is the proposed Jefferson Parkway project.) From this point south 
to C-470, no improvements are committed at this time.   

The alignment between Northwest Parkway and SH 93 is a mixture of a high-speed toll way 
facility (55–70 mph posted speed) that is fully access controlled with the use of interchanges 
and a lower-speed major regional arterial facility (45–55 mph posted speed) that is access-
controlled with the use of interchanges and intersections. Spacing between interchanges is 
generally one mile or greater. The alignment between Northwest Parkway and SH 93 consists 
of four to six through lanes with an overall width ranging from 122 feet to 144 feet as measured 
from edge of outside shoulder to edge of outside shoulder. The Ultimate Project is shown in 
Exhibit 2.   

Agenda Item 5B     Page 19Packet Page     107



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway Study   
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     4 
 

Exhibit 2: The Jefferson Parkway Ultimate Project 

 

The purpose of the proposed Jefferson Parkway project is to provide a new transportation 
facility between SH 128 and SH 93 to be financed, designed, built, operated, and maintained as 
a toll road through a public-private partnership with associated separately committed and 
funded improvements to the connection between the Northwest Parkway and SH 128.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 20Packet Page     108



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     5  
    

Implementation of this project provides a significant contribution to the completion of the beltway 
around the Denver metropolitan region. The general alignment of the Jefferson Parkway has 
been on DRCOG regional transportation plans since 1987 as a part of the 2010 Regional 
Transportation Plan. Given their reasonable prospects for funding of the Jefferson Parkway 
through a private partner, it is now appropriate that this project be placed in the fiscally 
constrained transportation plan. 

The proposed project will fulfill the following objectives in the region: 

1. Meet transportation goals and objectives for improved regional connectivity - Completion of 
the Ultimate Project will be a significant step toward completion of the northwest portion of 
the urban beltway.  Completing the beltway will result in removal of through traffic from local 
streets onto the beltway and will provide a more efficient, less congested travel corridor for 
traffic traveling to and from the west and northeast portions of the state.  It will attract trips 
from congested I-25, I-76, I-70, and more local routes such as SH 121 or SH 93. 

 
2. Improve transportation safety - Jefferson Parkway will provide a reliable non-congested 

alternative to travel in the corridor.  Portions of SH 93 from 64th Avenue north have accident 
rates more than double the state average (CDOT Traffic Engineering Branch, 2008).  
Jefferson Parkway may improve traffic safety along SH 93 through a reduction in future 
traffic on SH 93 north of the Parkway interchange. 

 
3. Serve local land use, economic development, or growth objectives - Jefferson County, City 

and County of Broomfield and the City of Arvada have planned around and for this project 
for over 20 years.  For example, the City of Arvada has carried this circumferential highway 
in their transportation plans since as early as 1965.  With the most recent Metro Vision Plan 
update, Broomfield received an urban center recognition for the Flatiron 
Crossing/Interlocken area and Arvada has asked for an additional urban center recognition 
on the DRCOG Metro Vision 2035 Plan for a development project within this corridor.   This 
project will provide the capacity for these approved and proposed activity centers to serve 
their regional role and accommodate the compact, contiguous growth envisioned in the 
regional plan.  

 
4. Fulfill multi-modal transportation objectives - The project will provide opportunity for future 

transit corridor development through the preservation of right-of-way. 
 
5. Provide enhanced connectivity, functionality and capacity within Jefferson County, City and 

County of Broomfield and the City of Arvada.  Completion of the project is expected to re-
focus traffic onto the proposed project from the local street system.   This will also lessen the 
need for the future expansion of the local street systems solely because of increases in 
future regional traffic. 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 21Packet Page     109



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway Study   
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     6 
 

5. BENEFITS OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

Completion of the Ultimate Project will be a significant step toward completion of the northwest 
portion of the urban beltway. Completing the beltway will result in removal of through traffic from  
local streets onto the beltway and will provide a travel corridor for traffic traveling to and from the 
west and northeast portions of the state.  
 
It is clear that the Jefferson Parkway and associated Northwest Parkway extension are needed 
to provide transportation links that will enable Jefferson County, the City and County of 
Broomfield, and the City of Arvada to facilitate already approved planned development for the 
Flatiron Crossing/Interlocken, the Candelas Urban Centers, the Rocky Mountain Metro Airport 
area, and other associated development within the Northwest Corridor Study Area. In addition, 
the site recently acquired by Conoco-Phillips, and planned as an alternative energy research 
and corporate training site for over 7,000 employees and international users is at the northern 
end of the proposed project. 
 
By 2015, under the most conservative of forecasts, Jefferson Parkway will carry 18,000 to 
24,000 trips per day. Conservatively, by 2035, Jefferson Parkway and extended Northwest 
Parkway will carry 23,000 to 39,000 trips per day.  
 
The 2035 Ultimate Project model run based on a completed regional arterial link in the Southern  
Section and updated employment forecasts showed Jefferson Parkway traffic more than double 
what is shown without Southern Section improvements. Daily traffic numbers were forecasted in 
the 70,000+ range. Completion of this link resulted in reductions to parallel arterials such as SH 
121 (Wadsworth, Simms and Indiana Streets) and increased demands for trips along SH 58.  
Significant reductions in traffic on I-25, I-76 and I-70 in the northwest quadrant of the Denver 
metropolitan area are expected to occur upon completion of the entire beltway as motorists find 
the less congested, more reliable route provided in part through this project. 
 
The Jefferson Economic Council (JEC) noted that the positive economic and fiscal Impacts on 
Jefferson County of development in the Northwest Corridor area with construction of the 
roadway is nearly double the impact without the roadway even though the projections for future 
residential growth are virtually identical in either scenario (JEC, 2007). This project also offers 
the opportunity for significant job generation during the construction phase of the project. 
 
The traffic analysis indicates that there are regional congestion and traffic safety needs that are 
addressed by the project. Once improvements are made to SH 93, including the section through 
Golden, an improved alternate route for trips moving in the northwest portion of the region will 
be available. This route will facilitate overall travel in the metro area and relieve congestion on 
both local and arterial streets in the study area. 
 

6. WHY THE AMENDMENT MUST BE MADE NOW   

The Project is being procured using an innovative “concession” approach that will not require 
federal or state funding and will not impose a debt burden on jurisdictions party to the JPPHA.  
While the concession approach requires no capital or operating funds from any public entity, it 
does require some risk allocation between the public and private parties, such that private 
entities interested in partnering with the JPPHA on the project can earn a reasonable rate of 
return.  That said, the private sector does not take the lead in resolving certain up-front 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 22Packet Page     110



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     7  
    

environmental, regulatory, and land acquisition issues.  For instance, most private entities will 
not invest in a project proposal without assurances that it has received the required approvals 
from all government units that are party to the project.  As required by DRCOG and the CTC, 
the Project must be included in the 2035 Plan prior to approval for implementation.  This is one 
of several regulatory achievements the JPPHA will work through in order to successfully partner 
with private sector entities in a procurement process.   
 
The JPPHA procurement schedule proposes that all the major regulatory issues to be solved or 
well in process prior to the release of a formal request for proposals (RFP) by the JPPHA to its 
pre-qualified list of potential bidders.  The Project’s inclusion in the 2035 Plan is one item the 
JPPHA has indicated to the pre-qualified parties would be submitted prior to RFP release, 
scheduled for the fall of 2009.  As such it is imperative that the Project become part of the 2035 
Plan in this cycle.  

 

7. EFFECTS ON OTHER DRCOG PLANS   

The Project is currently incorporated into the 2035 Plan, Unconstrained “Vision” element 
therefore the proposed amendment simply represents the progression of the project to the 
implementation stage.  No impacts to the 2035 Plan are expected.   

8. IMPACTS TO PLAN POLICY 

To the best of our knowledge the Project has no policy impacts. 
 

B. GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT 

While the Jefferson Parkway project itself does not propose a new urban center, the tolling 
analysis supporting its preliminary toll revenue forecast incorporates land use assumptions that 
were developed by surrounding jurisdictions, one of which is proposing a new urban center. The 
City of Arvada is in the process of proposing a new urban center at Candelas (near the 
intersection of Indiana Avenue and Colorado Route 72).The City and County of Broomfield has 
recently received approval from DRCOG to add and urban center at Flatiron 
Crossing/Interlocken (near the interchange between the Northwest Parkway and US Highway 
36).  Jefferson County is submitting a request to add a new development site west of the Rocky 
Mountain Airport which will be planned for airport related development.  
The most recent DRCOG forecast available at the time JPPHA began to analyze the traffic and 
potential revenue from the Parkway was the 2008 ‘Cycle 2’ data set (2008-C2).  This data was 
used as a base from which to develop more refined Parkway corridor forecasts to be used for 
traffic and revenue projecting purposes. This data did not include any of the development 
discussed above.   
 
Using the 2008-C2 data as a starting point, the JPPHA met with planners from the City and 
County of Broomfield, the City of Arvada, and Jefferson County to discuss the DRCOG data in 
light of the most recent development trends in Arvada, Broomfield, and Jefferson County.  The 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 23Packet Page     111



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway Study   
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     8 
 

planning staffs provided TAZ-level revisions to the areas of the JPPHA Study Area within their 
jurisdiction that resulted in changes to over 150 TAZs, both upward and downward.  These 
revisions to the base 2008-C2 dataset were adopted to establish the Revised 2009 Parkway 
dataset that was input to the traffic and revenue forecasting model and used to assess traffic 
impacts on the existing roadway system.   
 
Table 1 compares the two datasets for the Study Area.  Overall the Revised 2009 Parkway 
dataset has a slightly higher number of households in 2015 and 2030 than the 2008-C2 dataset 
but approximately the same amount of household growth between 2015 and 2035.  The 
Revised 2009 Parkway data has about the same number of jobs in 2015 but considerably more 
job growth between 2015 and 2035, adding roughly 31,000 more jobs than the 2008-C2 
dataset.   
 

Table 1: Forecast Comparison, 2015 & 2035 
 

JPPHA Study Area Annual Annual Annual Annual 
2015 2035 Growth CAGR 2015 2035 Growth CAGR

2008-C2 Data 112,300     148,200     1,800    1.4% 192,800     242,400     2,480    1.2%
Revised 2009 115,300     151,100     1,790    1.4% 193,300     273,800     4,030    1.8%

Difference 3,000         2,900         500            31,400       
% Difference 2.7% 2.0% 0.3% 13.0%

Source: DRCOG, Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield, City of Arvada, PB Analysis

Households Jobs

 
 
The Revised 2009 Parkway forecast assumes growth of approximately 35,800 households in 
the Study Area between 2015 and 2035, totaling 151,100 in 2035.  Total jobs are expected to 
grow from 193,300 in 2015 to 273,800 in 2035, an increment of 80,500.  In 2015, there are 
expected to be approximately 1.7 jobs per household in the Study Area, higher than the metro 
area average of about 1.3.  This ratio is expected to rise slightly in the Study Area by 2035 to 
1.8, as the area continues to grow its job centers faster than residential stock, notably in areas 
along the US 36 corridor and Jefferson Parkway alignment.  A TAZ comparison of the 2008-C2 
data set and the Revised 2009 Parkway dataset is attached as Attachment A in spreadsheet 
format.   
 

C. ADDITIONAL PROJECT INFORMATION  

1. PROJECT COST AND PHASING 

Due to potential funding constraints, the Jefferson Parkway has been preliminarily planned as 
improvements plus new construction that will provide basic links to the existing State highway 
system and arterial roadways. It will be expanded and improved over time to accommodate 
larger traffic volumes and achieve better efficiency. The initial phase construction cost estimate 
shown in Exhibit 3 is $204 million (year of expenditure dollar terms (YOE)). This cost includes 
construction of the mainline facility, half interchanges leading to and from the north at SH 72 
and Cimarron/Park/Vauxmont, and intersection improvements to SH 128 and SH 93, totaling 
$128 million. Adding soft costs, utility work, right of way, and tolling equipment costs, brings the 
total to approximately $204 million. The initial construction is expected to take place under a 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 24Packet Page     112



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     9  
    

design-build contract beginning at the end of 2010 and lasting approximately three years. 

As noted above in section A.4., the Ultimate Project consists of additional capacity 
improvements and enhanced access.  This will be completed in increments between 2015 and 
2035.  Additional capacity improvements after 2035 are planned, adding a cost of approximately 
$354 million to the initial phase project, as noted in Exhibit 4.  

Exhibit 3: Initial Construction Cost Estimate (YOE) 

Items  Percentage Dollar Total 
Construction Bid Items NA $127,694,700 

 Contingencies 10.00% $  12,769,500 
 ITS 1.00% $    1,404,600 
  Drainage 2.00% $    2,809,300 
  Signing and Striping 2.00% $    2,893,600 
  Construction Signing & Traffic  Control 4.00 % $    5,902,900 
  Mobilization 4.00% $    6,139,000 
Total Construction Bid Items  $159,613,600 
  Utilities 4.00% $    6,384,500 
Subtotal Construction Costs  $165,998,100 

  Construction Engineering 4.00% $    6,639,900 
  Materials Testing 4.00% $    6,639,900 
  Design Engineering 5.00% $    8,299,900 
  Right-of-Way NA $    6,000,000 
  Tolling Equipment  $  10,000,000 
TOTAL PROJECT COST  $203,577,800 

Source: PB Americas, April 2009 

 

Exhibit 4: Capacity Enhancement Projects (YOE) 

Year YOE Cost Improvement 

2020  $    2,959,000 Finish Indiana Blvd Connection 

2027 $  39,966,000 SH 93/Jefferson Parkway Interchange 

2030 $  34,431,000 SH 128/Jefferson Parkway Interchange 

2033 $    3,708,000 Finish SH 72 Interchange 

2035 $  48,695,000 Capacity Expansion 

2040 $  77,131,000 Upgrade SH 128 Interchange 

2045 $  62,334,000 Capacity Expansion 

2050 $  84,630,000 Capacity Expansion 

TOTAL $353,854,000  

Source: PB Americas, April 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 25Packet Page     113



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway Study   
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     10 
 

 

2. PROJECT FUNDING 

The Project is expected to be procured in a design-build / concession format. The JPPHA 
expects to enter into an agreement with a private entity which will develop, finance, design, 
build, operate and maintain the project for a predetermined time period allowing a fair return 
prior to handing the asset back to the JPPHA. 
Ownership of the facility will remain with the JPPHA. 
The agreement will provide all requirements for initial 
construction as well as ongoing operations and 
maintenance. No public funding (state or federal) is 
currently anticipated to be dedicated for the 
construction of the facility. Concession returns and 
debt repayment will be provided through toll revenue 
collection from the Parkway.   

A preliminary toll revenue forecast has been 
performed which considers the land use inputs and 
network changes described above. The revenue 
forecast is shown in Exhibit 5. 

The gross revenue forecast shown was used as a 
starting point to calculate Net Revenues available for 
debt service and equity contribution amounts. A 
preliminary funding plan was developed using this 
revenue stream, operations and maintenance 
expense estimates, periodic major rehabilitation, and 
expansion costs.  

The preliminary financial plan consists of about 70% 
of taxable debt and 30% equity contribution. Standard 
market based assumptions for debt issuance 
including interest rates, issuance costs, debt service 
coverage ratios, and reserve accounts are 
incorporated into the analysis. Given a stable political 
environment and financial markets, an investment 
grade traffic and revenue study, and a feasible 
construction approach, the project is considered 
financially feasible in that the project revenues are 
expected to cover all initial and ongoing project costs 
while generating a reasonable return to the private 
partner. The full financial feasibility analysis is 
included in Appendix A. 

Exhibit 5: Parkway Traffic and 
Revenue Forecast 

Year Annual  
Transactions 

Annual 
Revenue 

2013   3,861,000 $   7,444,000 
2014   4,542,000 $   9,339,000 
2015   5,263,000 $ 11,496,000 
2016   5,735,000 $ 13,098,000 
2017   5,931,000 $ 14,135,000 
2018   6,127,000 $ 15,211,000 
2019   6,323,000 $ 16,327,000 
2020   6,519,000 $ 17,481,000 
2021   6,715,000 $ 18,676,000 
2022   6,910,000 $ 19,910,000 
2023   7,106,000 $ 21,183,000 
2024   7,302,000 $ 22,495,000 
2025   7,498,000 $ 23,847,000 
2026   7,694,000 $ 25,239,000 
2027   7,890,000 $ 26,670,000 
2028   8,086,000 $ 28,140,000 
2029   8,281,000 $ 29,650,000 
2030 17,141,000 $ 62,528,000 
2031 19,065,000 $ 71,691,000 
2032 21,059,000 $ 81,517,000 
2033 22,302,000 $ 88,611,000 
2034 22,748,000 $ 92,547,000 
2035 23,203,000 $ 96,605,000 
2036 23,667,000 $ 99,522,000 
2037 24,141,000 $102,498,000 
2038 24,623,000 $105,564,000 
2039 25,116,000 $108,721,000 
2040 25,618,000 $111,974,000 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 26Packet Page     114



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     11  
    

3. ENDORCEMENTS FROM OTHER IMPACTED ENTITIES 

The following four public entities’ jurisdictions have submitted their concurrence with the 
submission: 
 

1. Jefferson County 
2. The City and County of Broomfield 
3. The City of Arvada 
4. The City of Westminster 

 
The Jefferson Parkway alignment is within or immediately adjoins these local jurisdictions.  All 
four of these jurisdictions recognize the local and regional benefits the Parkway will bring and 
have endorsed the project in its current scope and implementation approach.  Letters of 
endorsement from each of these entities are attached as part of Appendix B. 
 

4. CDOT SYSTEM LEVEL (1601) REPORT 

The Parkway 1601 System Level Report dated July 20, 2009 analyzed the needs, impacts, and 
benefits of proposed improvements and requested approval for connections to state facilities, 
through CDOT 1601 Policy and Procedure (1601 Report).  This is a required step prior to any 
project being included in the fiscally constrained RTP.  The 1601 Report Executive Summary is 
included as Appendix C.  
 
The 1601 Report was approved by the CDOT Chief Engineer and the Colorado Transportation 
Commission as noted in the CDOT Resolution included in Appendix D.   
 
The 1601 Report concluded that the JPPHA project offers a significant transportation 
infrastructure public-private funding opportunity of more than $400 million to the Northwest 
Corridor Study area with very few community and environmental impacts. In addition to funding 
and minimal impacts, the following opportunities are associated with this project: 
 

• Complete an additional portion of the beltway around the Denver metro area, leading to 
future attraction of trips from interstate facilities (I-25, I-70, I-76) upon completion of the 
entire beltway. 

• Improve local and regional transportation system connectivity and functionality providing 
an improved connection between Northwest Parkway in Broomfield County and SH93 in 
Jefferson County. 

• Expand capacity to support land use planning and meet population and employment 
growth forecasts for Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield, and City of 
Arvada. 

• Specifically to provide transportation links for the Interlocken and Candelas Urban 
Centers and other existing and new development. 

• Provide opportunities to reduce travel time and improve reliability of travel in a corridor.  
Support opportunities for transit mode choices by providing space within the project  
cross section for future options. 

• Utilize CDOT identified route location based on five years of public and agency input 
with minimal impacts to community and natural environment. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 27Packet Page     115



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway Study   
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request     12 
 

• Improve safety at connections and by providing a reliable travel route in a corridor where 
heavy congestion is forecasted. 

 

5. COLORADO TOLLING ENTERPRISE INVOLVEMENT 

The Colorado Tolling Enterprise has no involvement in the JPPHA or the Project.   
 

6. TRAVEL DEMAND MODEL REQUIREMENTS 

Several travel demand model adjustments were made to accommodate the Parkway in the 
regional travel demand model currently in use by DRCOG.  Appendix E contains a 
Memorandum dated July 27, 2009 from Stantec Consulting which outlines network changes 
made to the 2015 and 2035 model years.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 28Packet Page     116



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request       
     

 
APPENDIX A 

 
FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY ANALYSIS

Agenda Item 5B     Page 29Packet Page     117



 

Public Financial Management, Inc. 
PFM Asset Management LLC 
PFM Advisors 

Lincoln Plaza 
Suite 1170 
300 S. Orange Avenue 
Orlando, FL 
32801-3470 

407 648-2208 
407-648-1323 fax 
www.pfm.com 

Proprietary April 8, 2009 

Memorandum 

To: Richard Bauman, PB 
Ed Icenogle, Icenogle Norton Smith Gilida Pogue 

From: David C. Miller, PFM 
CC: Peter Shellenberger, PFM 
Re: Jefferson Parkway Preliminary Financial Feasibility Assessment 

 
Public Financial Management, Inc. (“PFM”), upon request by Jefferson Parkway Public Highway 
Authority (the “Authority” or “JPPHA”), has prepared the following financial analysis for the 
Jefferson Parkway (the “Parkway” or the “Project”).  Our analysis is based on capital cost data, 
traffic and revenue estimates, and other data provided by the Authority and its project management 
team.  PFM has made some assumptions described herein as a means to make the project toll 
revenue bonds feasible and acceptable to credit markets and investors as well as the potential parties 
of the overall financing plan.  Our preliminary analysis - summarized below - sets forth a financing 
plan which we believe to be financially feasible from a market perspective.   
 
The financial plan presented below is a public-private partnership between the Authority and a 
potential private firm.  This plan envisions the issuance of taxable debt alongside of an equity 
component provided by the private partner in order to fully fund the initial costs of the Parkway.  
Based on the assumptions outlined below, this plan successfully meets all funding requirements and 
provides a return on equity for the private partner of roughly 10%. 
 
Global Assumptions 
Our financial analysis (the “Plan of Finance”) is based upon projections dated March 17, 2009, of 
toll revenues, operating expenses, renewal and replacement costs, and project construction costs, 
which were provided to us by Parsons Brinckerhoff (“PB”), retained by the Authority in order to 
provide planning and engineering services.  Based on this initial data, we have assumed that the 
financing for the project will be executed in July, 2010, that there will be no other sources of 
revenues other than toll revenues and that the initial construction will be fully funded by the $206 
million in construction draws from 2010 to 2012.  Please note that these studies do not qualify as 
investment grade, and that further analysis would need to be conducted before outside investment 
would be possible.  Our analysis, which is fundamentally dependent upon this data for its basic 
assumptions, is thus subject to these same limitations. 
 
We have additionally assumed that the Authority and its partner will be able to achieve an 
investment grade credit quality for Project financing.  There are a number of to-be-
determined factors that must successfully come together to achieve a “BBB” credit rating 
(e.g. an investment grade traffic and revenue study, finalized construction plans, etc.).  
Furthermore, while we have assumed an average of historical taxable bond interest rates, 
interest rates are subject to economic conditions and will change in the future.  Any adverse 
changes in credit and/or market conditions that materially increase interest rates will also 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 30Packet Page     118



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 2 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
have an adverse impact on the financial plans and could create project funding gaps or 
significantly reduce expected private return on equity. 
 
Description of Assumed Plan of Finance 
Approximately 67% of Project funding needs are assumed to be met through the issuance of taxable 
bonds, and the bonds are structured to provide an upward-sloping debt service structure.  Notably, 
though, the debt issued here is assumed to be taxable bonds, rather than bank debt.  If bank debt 
were used, it would be a shorter term and would be ‘rolled’; therefore, we believe our long term 
bond assumption is a reasonable one.   
 
U.S. Treasury bond rates have been volatile and subject to international trends, so we chose to start 
with a baseline municipal bond index and then add tax status and credit spreads.  We have assumed 
a 40-year financing horizon with debt amortizing over 36 years from 2014 through 2050.  Interest 
rates on the bonds are based on the ten-year historical average of the MMD index for high quality 
municipal interest rates, plus an estimated historical spread over the last ten years associated with 
Colorado BBB-rated taxable revenue bonds to reflect credit and tax status.  The average yield spread 
to MMD baseline is 2.28% for current interest bonds and 3.03% for the deferred interest bonds.  
The final results for the debt included an approximately 28-year weighted average life and 7.9% 
weighted average interest cost.   
 
We structured the bonds to provide average debt service coverage of 2.19 times, with a minimum 
coverage of 1.90 times gradually increasing over time.  For further detail on debt service and 
coverage, please see Table II near the end of this memorandum. 
 
Our financing structure assumes a capitalized interest fund to pay interest on the bonds through 
April 1, 2014 which protects debt investors against delays in commencement of operations.  A debt 
service reserve fund is incorporated to provide debt holders with liquidity and a temporary source of 
payment in the event that toll receipts are inadequate to make timely payments.  PFM has 
additionally assumed that an Operations & Maintenance reserve would be maintained equal to three 
months of operations and maintenance expenses.  Of the funds included in our models, we have 
assumed a conservative average reinvestment rate of 2.00% on all except for the debt service reserve 
fund, which we have estimated will earn returns at 4.00% due to being invested in longer-maturity 
securities, both conservative estimates. 
 
In addition to a debt component, this plan of finance assumes that a private partner provides the 
necessary equity to complete the initial Parkway construction funding.  The required equity is 
approximately 33% of the total funding need, and based on this equity contribution and the 
projected cash flows, the private partner could achieve a return on equity of 10.56% over 60 years. 
 
In order to calculate the private partner’s return on equity, we have analyzed all available funds and 
tax benefits that the partner would receive.  We have incorporated an estimation of property taxes 
based on Jefferson County millage rates.  We’ve also included income taxes associated with 
Colorado’s 4.63% statewide corporate income tax and the 35% Federal corporate income tax.  
Taxable income cash flows have been adjusted to factor tax benefits derived from 1) asset 
depreciation on the Parkway utilizing a 10 year straight-line depreciation method and 2) deduction of 
interest paid on debt.  Utilizing these cash-flows, as well as the net toll revenues remaining at the end 
of the flow of funds, we are able to create a projection of the private partner’s net receipts.  For 
further detail on the calculation of private partner return on equity, please see Table III. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 31Packet Page     119



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 3 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
This plan of finance is subject to change related to a number of variables that could greatly affect the 
results of the financial analyses.  These variables include but are not limited to:  fluctuations in 
market interest rates, specific negotiated needs of private partners, changes to traffic & revenue 
estimates, changes in construction and operating cost estimates, and changes to the order of cash 
flows and reserve fund requirements.   
 
A table summarizing the sources & uses of funds is shown below.  A complete Project flow of funds 
and aggregate cash flow follows. 
 
 

Plan of Finance: P3 with Taxable Bonds & Equity 
Sources   

    
Par Amount of Current Interest Bonds $65,170,000 
Par Amount of Capital Appreciation Bonds $107,403,984 
Total Par Amount of Bonds $172,573,984 
+Premium/-Discount $0 
Total Bond Proceeds $172,573,984 
Private Equity Contribution @ 32.2% 10.56% $66,295,604 
  % of Capital IRR   
Total Sources     $238,869,588 

Uses   
    
Net Construction Deposit (1) $137,246,642 
Net Equity Construction Deposit $66,295,604 
Debt Service Reserve Fund $17,257,398 
Capitalized Interest Fund Deposit $14,074,544 
Underwriters' Discount $1,595,400 
Total Costs of Issuance $2,400,000 
   
Total Uses $238,869,588 
    
(1)  Net of Construction Fund Earnings equal to: $2,457,755 

Results   
Average Annual Debt Service $26,344,804 
Maximum Annual Debt Service $65,943,054 
Total Debt Service $1,201,663,811 
Life of Issue 40.25 yrs
Weighted Average Life 27.85 yrs
Weighted Average Interest Cost of Debt 7.891%
Average / Minimum Debt service Coverage  2.19x / 1.90x

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 32Packet Page     120



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 4 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
Flow of Funds Explanation 
 
As described, our financial model incorporates a long term bond issue approach for the debt 
financing component.  As an example, after initial bank loan financing, the Chicago Skyway debt 
was converted to long term taxable toll revenue bonds.  Undoubtedly the bond covenants and 
reserves ultimately required for the Jefferson Parkway will differ from PFM’s assumptions.  The 
more important point is that in aggregate we believe the project maintains adequate cumulative debt 
service coverage and reserve balances which PFM believes will warrant an investment grade rating if 
the traffic & revenue study and construction feasibility assessment are well received.  The flow of 
funds, that is the priority of toll revenues to repay the bonds and provide investment returns to the 
equity partner, is described below.  Projected cash flow results are found in Table I. 
 

• Pledged Revenues is equal to Gross Toll Revenues less total operating expenses, i.e. net 
operating revenues.  Total operating expenses includes toll collection costs, 
administration expenses, and other Jefferson Parkway O&M.   

 
• Pledged Revenues cover Net Debt Service which is gross annual debt service on the 

bonds less capitalized interest and less interest earnings on the debt service fund. 
 
• PFM’s plan of finance includes an initial deposit to a debt service reserve fund (“DSRF”) 

followed by additional funding over time from toll revenues as annual debt retirement 
increases.  The DSRF will create a stronger liquidity position and security for investors. 

 
• The renewal & replacement and expansion fund is structured to accrue toll revenues 

over several years in advance of expected disbursements in order to provide a more level 
funding need.  After each disbursement, all monies in the fund are exhausted. 

 
• PFM cash flow incorporates an operations and maintenance reserve to be funded from 

toll revenues at three months worth of O&M expenditures.  O&M Reserve balances 
would be restricted in use to O&M expenditures and to debt service on the bonds in the 
event annual cash flow was insufficient for such purposes. 

 
• The final stage in the flow of funds would be the private partner, who would receive any 

remaining toll revenues in order to provide a return on their upfront equity investment. 
 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 33Packet Page     121



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 5 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
Potential Investor Interest 
 
As we are sure you are aware, the global economy is in recession and financial markets are in general 
disarray.  That said, we are seeing that significant appetite remains for debt and equity investment in 
well-conceived projects and finance plans.  Based upon the preliminary cost and revenue data we’ve 
seen, PFM believes the Jefferson Parkway will meet market and investor criteria. 
 
Many of the largest banks took positions related directly or indirectly to mortgage backed debt, and 
they have had much financial distress.  However, the mid-market sized U.S. banks as well as some 
larger foreign banks often had relatively little or no exposure to subprime mortgages.  We have seen 
banks still willing to lend to good projects as well as solid businesses and concessions.  Much the 
same can be said for institutional bond investors.  As described, our plan of finance incorporates 
strong debt coverage and liquidity reserves, and a relatively modest 2:1 debt-to-equity ratio.  The size 
of the Project on a global infrastructure scale is also relatively small.  Whether bank loan or bond 
financing, we believe credit markets should be available for the Project. 
 
Many infrastructure funds have had to take right downs on previously acquired assets, as has been 
reported in the Wall Street Journal and other media sources.  Nonetheless, billions of dollars in 
potential equity investment was raised by infrastructure funds, and many funds are still looking for 
suitable projects in which to invest.  Perhaps more importantly, many infrastructure investors are 
affiliated with international construction and/or operating companies.  These participant investors 
are looking for opportunities such as the Parkway as part of their core business strategies.  Again, 
the size of the Project and the required equity investment on a global infrastructure scale is relatively 
small.  We believe there should be adequate infrastructure fund and strategic equity investor interest 
in the Parkway. 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 34Packet Page     122



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 6 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
I. Flow of Funds  
 

Flow of Funds (in Thousands of Dollars) 
      Less:  Less: R & R        
  Net   Ongoing = Excess & Expansion = Net Plus: = Net Less: O&M Net 
  Pledged Less: Net DSRF Project Reserve Available O&M Reserve Surplus Reserve = Residual Equity

Period Revenues Debt Service Deposit Revenues Deposits Revenues Withdraw / Deficit (Deposit) Cash Flow Cash flow
7/1/2010     
10/1/2011     
10/1/2012     
10/1/2013 4,532  4,532 4,532 4,532 (780) 3,751 3,751 
10/1/2014 6,217  (2,014) 4,203 4,203 4,203 (58) 4,146 7,897 
10/1/2015 8,144  (4,282) 3,862 3,862 3,862 (33) 3,829 11,726 
10/1/2016 9,553  (4,280) 5,273 5,273 5,273 (11) 5,262 16,988 
10/1/2017 10,478  (4,553) 5,925 5,925 5,925 (20) 5,905 22,893 
10/1/2018 11,401  (5,007) 6,394 6,394 6,394 (21) 6,373 29,266 
10/1/2019 12,359  (5,483) 6,876 6,876 6,876 (22) 6,854 36,120 
10/1/2020 13,350  (5,971) 7,379 (6,708) 671 671 (22) 649 36,769 
10/1/2021 14,375  (6,481) 7,894 (6,633) 1,261 1,261 (23) 1,239 38,008 
10/1/2022 15,434  (7,007) 8,427 (6,499) 1,928 1,928 (23) 1,905 39,913 
10/1/2023 16,526  (7,545) 8,981 (6,579) 2,402 2,402 (24) 2,378 42,291 
10/1/2024 17,652  (8,104) 9,548 (6,445) 3,103 3,103 (24) 3,079 45,369 
10/1/2025 18,811  (8,674) (10,325) (188) (6,311) (6,499) 1,284  (5,215) (1,309) (6,524) 38,845 
10/1/2026 20,003  (8,851) (4,233) 6,919 (6,177) 742 742 (26) 716 39,562 
10/1/2027 21,228  (9,289) (4,542) 7,398 (6,043) 1,355 1,355 (26) 1,329 40,890 
10/1/2028 22,486  (9,728) (3,255) 9,503 (12,602) (3,100) 1,441  (1,659) (1,468) (3,127) 37,764 
10/1/2029 23,777  (10,240) (1,773) 11,764 (12,350) (587) 587  (948) (948) 36,815 
10/1/2030 55,092  (25,670) (1,821) 27,601 (12,098) 15,503 15,503 (142) 15,360 52,175 
10/1/2031 63,566  (29,787) (1,253) 32,525 (12,535) 19,990 19,990 (147) 19,843 72,018 
10/1/2032 72,651  (34,233) (1,280) 37,138 (12,283) 24,855 24,855 (105) 24,750 96,768 
10/1/2033 79,160  (37,404) (1,316) 40,440 (12,212) 28,229 28,229 (54) 28,175 124,943 
10/1/2034 82,699  (39,107) (1,352) 42,241 (12,034) 30,207 30,207 (55) 30,152 155,095 
10/1/2035 86,343  (40,855) (1,392) 44,096 (11,880) 32,216 32,216 (51) 32,165 187,260 
10/1/2036 88,856  (42,039) (1,431) 45,386 (14,335) 31,051 31,051 (53) 30,998 218,257 
10/1/2037 91,410  (43,249) (1,331) 46,831 (14,048) 32,783 32,783 (54) 32,729 250,986 
10/1/2038 94,044  (44,498) (1,508) 48,038 (13,762) 34,277 34,277 (56) 34,220 285,207 
10/1/2039 96,750  (45,775) (2,314) 48,661 (13,475) 35,186 35,186 (59) 35,127 320,333 
10/1/2040 99,531  (47,060) (2,420) 50,052 (13,188) 36,864 36,864 (62) 36,802 357,135 
10/1/2041 102,389  (48,379) (2,519) 51,491 (14,444) 37,047 37,047 (132) 36,915 394,050 
10/1/2042 105,057  (49,594) (2,627) 52,836 (14,158) 38,679 38,679 (70) 38,608 432,658 
10/1/2043 108,067  (50,981) (2,734) 54,352 (14,102) 40,250 40,250 (56) 40,194 472,852 
10/1/2044 112,702  (53,162) (2,854) 56,686 (13,816) 42,870 42,870 (58) 42,813 515,665 
10/1/2045 117,534  (55,442) (2,978) 59,114 (13,529) 45,585 45,585 (60) 45,525 561,190 
10/1/2046 122,572  (57,815) 64,757 (14,489) 50,268 50,268 (62) 50,205 611,395 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 35Packet Page     123



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 7 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
Flow of Funds (in Thousands of Dollars) 

      Less:  Less: R & R        
  Net   Ongoing = Excess & Expansion = Net Plus: = Net Less: O&M Net 
  Pledged Less: Net DSRF Project Reserve Available O&M Reserve Surplus Reserve = Residual Equity

Period Revenues Debt Service Deposit Revenues Deposits Revenues Withdraw / Deficit (Deposit) Cash Flow Cash flow
10/1/2047 127,824  (60,414) 67,410 (21,157) 46,252 46,252 (65) 46,187 657,583 
10/1/2048 133,299  (63,119) 70,180 (20,734) 49,446 49,446 (67) 49,379 706,961 
10/1/2049 139,007  (65,943) 73,064 (20,311) 52,753 52,753 (70) 52,683 759,645 
10/1/2050 144,958  1,414  146,372 (19,888) 126,484 126,484 (73) 126,411 886,056 
10/1/2051 151,162  151,162 (7,410) 143,753 143,753 (75) 143,677 1,029,733 
10/1/2052 157,630  157,630 (7,261) 150,368 150,368 (78) 150,290 1,180,023 
10/1/2053 164,372  164,372 (2,791) 161,581 161,581 (81) 161,500 1,341,523 
10/1/2054 171,401  171,401 (2,735) 168,666 168,666 (85) 168,581 1,510,105 
10/1/2055 178,728  178,728 (2,679) 176,049 176,049 (88) 175,961 1,686,066 
10/1/2056 186,367  186,367 (2,623) 183,744 183,744 (91) 183,652 1,869,718 
10/1/2057 194,330  194,330 (2,567) 191,762 191,762 (95) 191,667 2,061,386 
10/1/2058 202,631  202,631 (2,512) 200,119 200,119 (99) 200,021 2,261,407 
10/1/2059 211,284  211,284 (2,634) 208,650 208,650 (103) 208,547 2,469,954 
10/1/2060 220,305  220,305 (2,579) 217,727 217,727 (107) 217,620 2,687,574 
10/1/2061 229,709  229,709 (2,523) 227,186 227,186 (111) 227,075 2,914,649 
10/1/2062 239,512  239,512 (2,467) 237,045 237,045 (115) 236,929 3,151,578 
10/1/2063 249,730  249,730 (3,630) 246,100 246,100 (120) 245,980 3,397,558 
10/1/2064 260,382  260,382 (3,558) 256,825 256,825 (125) 256,700 3,654,259 
10/1/2065 271,486  271,486 (3,485) 268,001 268,001 (129) 267,872 3,922,130 
10/1/2066 283,061  283,061 (3,412) 279,649 279,649 (135) 279,514 4,201,645 
10/1/2067 295,127  295,127 (3,340) 291,787 291,787 (140) 291,647 4,493,292 
10/1/2068 307,704  307,704 (3,267) 304,437 304,437 (145) 304,291 4,797,583 
10/1/2069 320,814  320,814 (3,195) 317,620 317,620 (151) 317,469 5,115,052 
10/1/2070 334,481  334,481 (3,122) 331,359 331,359 (157) 331,202 5,446,253 
10/1/2071 348,726  348,726 (3,290) 345,436 345,436 (163) 345,273 5,791,526 
10/1/2072 363,575  363,575 (3,217) 360,358 360,358 (170) 360,188 6,151,714 
10/1/2073 379,054  379,054 (4,725) 374,329 374,329 (177) 374,152 6,525,867 
10/1/2074 395,188  395,188 (4,630) 390,557 390,557 (184) 390,374 6,916,240 
10/1/2075 412,005  412,005 (4,536) 407,470 407,470 (191) 407,279 7,323,519 
10/1/2076 429,535  429,535 (4,441) 425,094 425,094 (198) 424,896 7,748,415 
10/1/2077 447,808  447,808 (4,347) 443,461 443,461 (206) 443,255 8,191,670 
10/1/2078 466,854  466,854 (4,252) 462,602 462,602 (215) 462,387 8,654,057 
10/1/2079 486,707  486,707 (4,158) 482,549 482,549 (223) 482,326 9,136,383 
10/1/2080 507,401  507,401 (4,063) 503,337 503,337 (232) 503,105 9,639,488 
10/1/2081 528,970  528,970 (3,969) 525,001 525,001 (241) 524,760 10,164,248 
10/1/2082 551,453  551,453 (3,874) 547,578 547,578 (251) 547,328 10,711,576 
10/1/2083 574,887  574,887 (5,127) 569,760 569,760 (261) 569,499 11,281,075 
10/1/2084 599,313  599,313 (5,025) 594,288 594,288 (271) 594,017 11,875,091 
10/1/2085 624,773  624,773 (4,922) 619,850 619,850 (282) 619,568 12,494,660 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 36Packet Page     124



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 8 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
Flow of Funds (in Thousands of Dollars) 

      Less:  Less: R & R        
  Net   Ongoing = Excess & Expansion = Net Plus: = Net Less: O&M Net 
  Pledged Less: Net DSRF Project Reserve Available O&M Reserve Surplus Reserve = Residual Equity

Period Revenues Debt Service Deposit Revenues Deposits Revenues Withdraw / Deficit (Deposit) Cash Flow Cash flow
10/1/2086 651,310  651,310 (4,820) 646,490 646,490 (293) 646,197 13,140,856 
10/1/2087 678,970  678,970 (4,717) 674,252 674,252 (305) 673,947 13,814,804 
10/1/2088 707,800  707,800 (4,615) 703,185 703,185 (317) 702,868 14,517,672 
10/1/2089 737,849  737,849 (4,512) 733,337 733,337 (330) 733,007 15,250,679 
10/1/2090 769,170  769,170 (4,410) 764,761 764,761 (343) 764,418 16,015,097 
10/1/2091 801,816  801,816 (4,307) 797,509 797,509 (357) 797,152 16,812,249 
10/1/2092 835,842  835,842 (4,204) 831,637 831,637 (371) 831,266 17,643,515 
10/1/2093 871,307  871,307 (4,898) 866,409 866,409 (386) 866,023 18,509,539 
10/1/2094 908,272  908,272 (4,795) 903,476 903,476 (401) 903,075 19,412,614 
10/1/2095 946,799  946,799 (6,367) 940,432 940,432 (417) 940,015 20,352,629 
10/1/2096 986,956  986,956 (6,239) 980,716 980,716 (434) 980,282 21,332,911 
10/1/2097 1,028,810  1,028,810 (6,112) 1,022,698 1,022,698 (451) 1,022,246 22,355,158 
10/1/2098 1,072,433  1,072,433 (5,985) 1,066,448 1,066,448 (469) 1,065,979 23,421,137 
10/1/2099 1,117,900  1,117,900 (5,857) 1,112,043 1,112,043 (488) 1,111,555 24,532,691 
10/1/2100 1,165,289  1,165,289 (5,730) 1,159,559 1,159,559 (508) 1,159,051 25,691,742 
10/1/2101 1,214,681  1,214,681 (5,603) 1,209,078 1,209,078 (528) 1,208,550 26,900,292 
10/1/2102 1,266,159  1,266,159 (5,475) 1,260,684 1,260,684 (549) 1,260,134 28,160,426 
10/1/2103 1,319,813  1,319,813 1,319,813 1,319,813 (571) 1,319,242 29,479,668 
10/1/2104 1,375,734  1,375,734 1,375,734 1,375,734 (594) 1,375,140 30,854,808 
10/1/2105 1,434,018  1,434,018 1,434,018 1,434,018 (618) 1,433,400 32,288,208 
10/1/2106 1,494,764  1,494,764 1,494,764 1,494,764 (643) 1,494,121 33,782,328 
10/1/2107 1,558,076  1,558,076 1,558,076 1,558,076 (669) 1,557,407 35,339,735 
10/1/2108 1,624,062  1,624,062 1,624,062 1,624,062 (696) 1,623,366 36,963,101 
10/1/2109 1,692,835      1,692,835 1,692,835   1,692,835   1,692,835 38,655,937 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 37Packet Page     125



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 9 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
II. Debt Service Coverage  
 

Debt Service Coverage 
   Less: Equals:   Net 
  Toll Operations Pledged Net Debt Debt Svc 

Date Revenues (1) Expense Revenues Service (2) Coverage 
7/1/2010           

10/1/2011           
10/1/2012           
10/1/2013 7,443,990 (2,912,434) 4,531,556     
10/1/2014 9,338,833 (3,121,796) 6,217,036 2,014,712 3.09x 
10/1/2015 11,495,912 (3,351,804) 8,144,108 4,283,390 1.90x 
10/1/2016 13,098,231 (3,544,910) 9,553,322 4,281,480 2.23x 
10/1/2017 14,134,920 (3,656,492) 10,478,428 4,519,820 2.32x 
10/1/2018 15,211,026 (3,809,634) 11,401,392 4,973,510 2.29x 
10/1/2019 16,326,549 (3,968,023) 12,358,526 5,449,405 2.27x 
10/1/2020 17,481,491 (4,131,797) 13,349,694 5,937,360 2.25x 
10/1/2021 18,675,849 (4,301,096) 14,374,753 6,446,942 2.23x 
10/1/2022 19,909,625 (4,476,067) 15,433,558 6,968,213 2.21x 
10/1/2023 21,182,819 (4,656,860) 16,525,959 7,511,098 2.20x 
10/1/2024 22,495,430 (4,843,630) 17,651,800 8,065,003 2.19x 
10/1/2025 23,847,459 (5,036,535) 18,810,923 8,640,055 2.18x 
10/1/2026 25,238,905 (5,235,741) 20,003,164 8,818,371 2.27x 
10/1/2027 26,669,768 (5,441,416) 21,228,352 9,255,370 2.29x 
10/1/2028 28,140,050 (5,653,735) 22,486,315 9,695,199 2.32x 
10/1/2029 29,649,748 (5,872,876) 23,776,872 10,201,569 2.33x 
10/1/2030 62,527,704 (7,435,524) 55,092,180 25,632,201 2.15x 
10/1/2031 71,690,761 (8,125,048) 63,565,714 29,754,159 2.14x 
10/1/2032 81,516,809 (8,866,141) 72,650,668 34,199,814 2.12x 
10/1/2033 88,610,803 (9,450,371) 79,160,432 37,370,854 2.12x 
10/1/2034 92,546,753 (9,847,280) 82,699,473 39,068,383 2.12x 
10/1/2035 96,604,696 (10,261,731) 86,342,966 40,816,692 2.12x 
10/1/2036 99,522,158 (10,665,964) 88,856,194 42,006,111 2.12x 
10/1/2037 102,498,409 (11,087,953) 91,410,456 43,215,714 2.12x 
10/1/2038 105,563,956 (11,520,006) 94,043,951 44,464,605 2.12x 
10/1/2039 108,721,485 (11,971,251) 96,750,234 45,741,958 2.12x 
10/1/2040 111,973,761 (12,442,577) 99,531,184 47,026,357 2.12x 
10/1/2041 115,323,634 (12,934,998) 102,388,636 48,340,687 2.12x 
10/1/2042 118,774,038 (13,716,900) 105,057,138 49,561,351 2.12x 
10/1/2043 122,327,997 (14,261,253) 108,066,743 50,943,080 2.12x 
10/1/2044 127,465,650 (14,763,966) 112,701,684 53,128,491 2.12x 
10/1/2045 132,819,080 (15,285,225) 117,533,855 55,403,587 2.12x 
10/1/2046 138,397,348 (15,825,738) 122,571,610 57,776,842 2.12x 
10/1/2047 144,209,899 (16,386,242) 127,823,657 60,375,881 2.12x 
10/1/2048 150,266,570 (16,967,500) 133,299,071 63,085,812 2.11x 
10/1/2049 156,577,616 (17,570,307) 139,007,309 65,909,804 2.11x 
10/1/2050 163,153,719 (18,195,490) 144,958,230 (1,412,328)   

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 38Packet Page     126



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 10 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
III. Private Partner Cashflows  
 

Private Partner Cashflows 

Date 

Net 
Operating 
Revenues 

(before taxes 
& 

deprecation) 
Interest 

Payments 

Net Income 
Before Taxes 

& 
Depreciation 

Property 
Taxes 

Asset 
Depreciation 

Taxable 
Income 

Tax Loss 
Carry 

Forward 
Income 
Taxes 

Net Debt 
Service 

Deposits to 
Reserve 

Accounts 
Property 

Taxes 

Net 
Operating 
Cash Flow 
Available 
for Equity 

Plus: 
Transferred 

Value of 
Asset 

Depreciation 

Plus: 
Transferred 

Value of 
Tax Loss 

Carry 
Forward 

Less: Equity 
Investment 

towards 
Construction 

Equals: Net 
Equity Cash 

Flow 
7/1/2010 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - (23,814,926) (23,814,926) 

10/1/2011 - (5,699,297) (5,699,297) (1,454,430) (2,896,409) (10,050,136) (10,050,136) - - - (1,454,430) (1,454,430) 1,013,743) 3,517,547) (28,964,099) (25,887,238) 
10/1/2012 - (4,559,437) (4,559,437) (1,512,607) (4,248,066) (10,320,110) (20,370,246) - - - (1,512,607) (1,512,607) 1,486,823) 3,612,039) (13,516,579) (9,930,325) 
10/1/2013 4,531,556) (4,559,437) (27,881) (1,573,112) (4,248,066) (5,849,059) (26,219,305) - - (780,449) (1,573,112) 2,177,996) 1,486,823) 2,047,170) - 5,711,989) 
10/1/2014 6,217,036) (4,559,437) 1,657,599) (1,636,036) (4,248,066) (4,226,503) (30,445,807) - (2,014,712) (57,502) (1,636,036) 2,508,786) 1,486,823) 1,479,276) - 5,474,885) 
10/1/2015 8,144,108) (4,534,923) 3,609,185) (1,701,477) (4,248,066) (2,340,359) (32,786,166) - (4,283,390) (32,667) (1,701,477) 2,126,573) 1,486,823) 819,126) - 4,432,521) 
10/1/2016 9,553,322) (4,508,129) 5,045,193) (1,769,537) (4,248,066) (972,409) (33,758,575) - (4,281,480) (10,824) (1,769,537) 3,491,481) 1,486,823) 340,343) - 5,318,647) 
10/1/2017 10,478,428) (4,571,442) 5,906,986) (1,840,318) (4,248,066) (181,398) (33,939,973) - (4,519,820) (20,220) (1,840,318) 4,098,071) 1,486,823) 63,489) - 5,648,383) 
10/1/2018 11,401,392) (4,749,203) 6,652,189) (1,913,931) (4,248,066) 490,192) (33,449,781) - (4,973,510) (20,954) (1,913,931) 4,492,998) 1,486,823) - - 5,979,821) 
10/1/2019 12,358,526) (4,972,393) 7,386,133) (1,990,488) (4,248,066) 1,147,579) (32,302,202) - (5,449,405) (21,522) (1,990,488) 4,897,110) 1,486,823) - - 6,383,933) 
10/1/2020 13,349,694) (5,234,469) 8,115,225) (2,070,107) (4,543,940) 1,501,177) (30,801,025) - (5,937,360) (6,730,048) (2,070,107) (1,387,822) 1,590,379) - - 202,558) 
10/1/2021 14,374,753) (5,541,044) 8,833,709) (2,152,912) (1,647,531) 5,033,266) (25,767,759) - (6,446,942) (6,655,647) (2,152,912) (880,747) 576,636) - - (304,111) 
10/1/2022 15,433,558) (5,884,185) 9,549,373) (2,239,028) (1,369,734) 5,940,612) (19,827,148) - (6,968,213) (6,522,080) (2,239,028) (295,763) 479,407) - - 183,644) 
10/1/2023 16,525,959) (6,262,776) 10,263,183) (2,328,589) (1,369,734) 6,564,860) (13,262,287) - (7,511,098) (6,603,295) (2,328,589) 82,976) 479,407) - - 562,383) 
10/1/2024 17,651,800) (6,667,823) 10,983,977) (2,421,733) (1,369,734) 7,192,511) (6,069,777) - (8,065,003) (6,469,748) (2,421,733) 695,317) 479,407) - - 1,174,724) 
10/1/2025 18,810,923) (7,108,198) 11,702,725) (2,518,602) (1,369,734) 7,814,389) - (3,096,842) (8,640,055) (17,932,243) (2,518,602) (13,376,820) 479,407) - - (12,897,413) 
10/1/2026 20,003,164) (7,580,928) 12,422,236) (2,619,346) (1,369,734) 8,433,156) - (3,342,060) (8,818,371) (10,440,278) (2,619,346) (5,216,890) 479,407) - - (4,737,484) 
10/1/2027 21,228,352) (8,076,661) 13,151,691) (2,724,120) (5,366,358) 5,061,213) - (2,005,759) (9,255,370) (10,611,017) (2,724,120) (3,367,914) 1,878,225) - - (1,489,688) 
10/1/2028 22,486,315) (8,597,423) 13,888,892) (2,833,085) (5,366,358) 5,689,449) - (2,254,729) (9,695,199) (17,325,827) (2,833,085) (9,622,525) 1,878,225) - - (7,744,300) 
10/1/2029 23,776,872) (9,138,970) 14,637,902) (2,946,408) (5,366,358) 6,325,135) - (2,506,651) (10,201,569) (15,023,852) (2,946,408) (6,901,609) 1,878,225) - - (5,023,384) 
10/1/2030 55,092,180) (21,415,091) 33,677,088) (3,064,265) (8,513,625) 22,099,198) - (8,757,912) (25,632,201) (14,061,818) (3,064,265) 3,575,984) 2,979,769) - - 6,555,753) 
10/1/2031 63,565,714) (25,088,491) 38,477,223) (3,186,835) (8,513,625) 26,776,762) - (10,611,631) (29,754,159) (13,940,583) (3,186,835) 6,072,506) 2,979,769) - - 9,052,275) 
10/1/2032 72,650,668) (29,113,448) 43,537,220) (3,314,309) (8,344,128) 31,878,783) - (12,633,562) (34,199,814) (13,667,524) (3,314,309) 8,835,460) 2,920,445) - - 11,755,905) 
10/1/2033 79,160,432) (32,163,633) 46,996,799) (3,446,881) (8,714,916) 34,835,002) - (13,805,111) (37,370,854) (13,581,824) (3,446,881) 10,955,762) 3,050,221) - - 14,005,983) 
10/1/2034 82,699,473) (34,006,889) 48,692,583) (3,584,756) (9,208,991) 35,898,836) - (14,226,709) (39,068,383) (13,440,872) (3,584,756) 12,378,753) 3,223,147) - - 15,601,900) 
10/1/2035 86,342,966) (35,887,857) 50,455,109) (3,728,147) (14,078,490) 32,648,472) - (12,938,589) (40,816,692) (13,323,194) (3,728,147) 15,536,344) 4,927,472) - - 20,463,815) 
10/1/2036 88,856,194) (37,281,284) 51,574,909) (3,877,272) (14,078,490) 33,619,147) - (13,323,268) (42,006,111) (15,814,319) (3,877,272) 13,835,223) 4,927,472) - - 18,762,695) 
10/1/2037 91,410,456) (38,679,347) 52,731,109) (4,032,363) (10,081,866) 38,616,880) - (15,303,870) (43,215,714) (15,437,746) (4,032,363) 13,420,763) 3,528,653) - - 16,949,416) 
10/1/2038 94,043,951) (40,081,624) 53,962,327) (4,193,658) (10,081,866) 39,686,803) - (15,727,880) (44,464,605) (15,320,804) (4,193,658) 14,337,003) 3,528,653) - - 17,865,656) 
10/1/2039 96,750,234) (41,507,997) 55,242,237) (4,361,404) (10,081,866) 40,798,967) - (16,168,631) (45,741,958) (15,853,316) (4,361,404) 14,624,924) 3,528,653) - - 18,153,577) 
10/1/2040 99,531,184) (42,948,704) 56,582,480) (4,535,860) (14,351,872) 37,694,747) - (14,938,428) (47,026,357) (15,664,911) (4,535,860) 17,365,627) 5,023,155) - - 22,388,783) 
10/1/2041 102,388,636) (44,594,499) 57,794,137) (4,717,295) (14,351,872) 38,724,970) - (15,346,706) (48,340,687) (17,095,056) (4,717,295) 16,888,893) 5,023,155) - - 21,912,048) 
10/1/2042 105,057,138) (45,946,086) 59,111,052) (4,905,987) (14,605,170) 39,599,895) - (15,693,438) (49,561,351) (16,854,274) (4,905,987) 18,042,088) 5,111,810) - - 23,153,898) 
10/1/2043 108,066,743) (47,435,437) 60,631,306) (5,102,226) (14,234,382) 41,294,698) - (16,365,089) (50,943,080) (16,896,836) (5,102,226) 18,759,513) 4,982,034) - - 23,741,547) 
10/1/2044 112,701,684) (49,664,328) 63,037,356) (5,306,315) (13,740,307) 43,990,734) - (17,433,528) (53,128,491) (16,727,281) (5,306,315) 20,106,069) 4,809,108) - - 24,915,176) 
10/1/2045 117,533,855) (51,970,963) 65,562,891) (5,518,568) (15,104,179) 44,940,144) - (17,809,779) (55,403,587) (16,567,061) (5,518,568) 22,234,860) 5,286,463) - - 27,521,322) 
10/1/2046 122,571,610) (54,359,177) 68,212,433) (5,739,310) (15,768,656) 46,704,467) - (18,508,980) (57,776,842) (14,551,147) (5,739,310) 25,995,330) 5,519,029) - - 31,514,360) 
10/1/2047 127,823,657) (56,841,924) 70,981,733) (5,968,883) (15,768,656) 49,244,195) - (19,515,474) (60,375,881) (21,222,091) (5,968,883) 20,741,328) 5,519,029) - - 26,260,357) 
10/1/2048 133,299,071) (59,409,362) 73,889,709) (6,207,638) (15,768,656) 51,913,415) - (20,573,286) (63,085,812) (20,801,472) (6,207,638) 22,630,863) 5,519,029) - - 28,149,892) 
10/1/2049 139,007,309) (62,074,159) 76,933,150) (6,455,944) (15,768,656) 54,708,551) - (21,680,999) (65,909,804) (20,380,953) (6,455,944) 24,579,610) 5,519,029) - - 30,098,640) 
10/1/2050 144,958,230) (64,840,309) 80,117,920) (6,714,181) (16,518,492) 56,885,247) - (22,543,623) 1,412,328) (19,960,538) (6,714,181) 97,152,214) 5,781,472) - - 102,933,686) 
10/1/2051 151,162,106) - 151,162,106) (6,982,749) (16,518,492) 127,660,866) - (50,592,001) - (7,484,887) (6,982,749) 86,102,470) 5,781,472) - - 91,883,942) 
10/1/2052 157,629,647) - 157,629,647) (7,262,059) (16,842,735) 133,524,854) - (52,915,900) - (7,339,653) (7,262,059) 90,112,036) 5,894,957) - - 96,006,993) 
10/1/2053 164,372,012) - 164,372,012) (7,552,541) (16,842,735) 139,976,736) - (55,472,781) - (2,872,009) (7,552,541) 98,474,681) 5,894,957) - - 104,369,638) 
10/1/2054 171,400,832) - 171,400,832) (7,854,643) (16,842,735) 146,703,454) - (58,138,579) - (2,819,395) (7,854,643) 102,588,215) 5,894,957) - - 108,483,172) 
10/1/2055 178,728,229) - 178,728,229) (8,168,828) (10,609,364) 159,950,036) - (63,388,199) - (2,766,908) (8,168,828) 104,404,293) 3,713,277) - - 108,117,570) 
10/1/2056 186,366,837) - 186,366,837) (8,495,581) (9,944,888) 167,926,368) - (66,549,219) - (2,714,554) (8,495,581) 108,607,482) 3,480,711) - - 112,088,193) 
10/1/2057 194,329,823) - 194,329,823) (8,835,405) (9,944,888) 175,549,531) - (69,570,279) - (2,662,337) (8,835,405) 113,261,802) 3,480,711) - - 116,742,513) 
10/1/2058 202,630,911) - 202,630,911) (9,188,821) (10,838,535) 182,603,556) - (72,365,789) - (2,610,265) (9,188,821) 118,466,037) 3,793,487) - - 122,259,524) 
10/1/2059 211,284,404) - 211,284,404) (9,556,374) (10,838,535) 190,889,495) - (75,649,507) - (2,737,071) (9,556,374) 123,341,452) 3,793,487) - - 127,134,939) 
10/1/2060 220,305,206) - 220,305,206) (9,938,629) (2,375,550) 207,991,027) - (82,426,844) - (2,685,303) (9,938,629) 125,254,430) 831,443) - - 126,085,873) 
10/1/2061 229,708,854) - 229,708,854) (10,336,174) (2,375,550) 216,997,130) - (85,995,963) - (2,633,697) (10,336,174) 130,743,021) 831,443) - - 131,574,463) 
10/1/2062 239,511,538) - 239,511,538) (10,749,621) (2,790,609) 225,971,309) - (89,552,430) - (2,582,259) (10,749,621) 136,627,229) 976,713) - - 137,603,942) 
10/1/2063 249,730,133) - 249,730,133) (11,179,606) (2,790,609) 235,759,919) - (93,431,656) - (3,749,907) (11,179,606) 141,368,965) 976,713) - - 142,345,678) 
10/1/2064 260,382,225) - 260,382,225) (11,626,790) (2,790,609) 245,964,827) - (97,475,861) - (3,682,036) (11,626,790) 147,597,539) 976,713) - - 148,574,252) 
10/1/2065 271,486,143) - 271,486,143) (12,091,861) (2,790,609) 256,603,672) - (101,692,035) - (3,614,354) (12,091,861) 154,087,892) 976,713) - - 155,064,605) 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 39Packet Page     127



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 
Page 11 of 11 
April 8, 2009 

 
Private Partner Cashflows 

Date 

Net 
Operating 
Revenues 

(before taxes 
& 

deprecation) 
Interest 

Payments 

Net Income 
Before Taxes 

& 
Depreciation 

Property 
Taxes 

Asset 
Depreciation 

Taxable 
Income 

Tax Loss 
Carry 

Forward 
Income 
Taxes 

Net Debt 
Service 

Deposits to 
Reserve 

Accounts 
Property 

Taxes 

Net 
Operating 
Cash Flow 
Available 
for Equity 

Plus: 
Transferred 

Value of 
Asset 

Depreciation 

Plus: 
Transferred 

Value of 
Tax Loss 

Carry 
Forward 

Less: Equity 
Investment 

towards 
Construction 

Equals: Net 
Equity Cash 

Flow 
10/1/2066 283,060,987) - 283,060,987) (12,575,536) (2,790,609) 267,694,842) - (106,087,466) - (3,546,868) (12,575,536) 160,851,117) 976,713) - - 161,827,830) 
10/1/2067 295,126,666) - 295,126,666) (13,078,557) (2,790,609) 279,257,500) - (110,669,747) - (3,479,588) (13,078,557) 167,898,773) 976,713) - - 168,875,487) 
10/1/2068 307,703,928) - 307,703,928) (13,601,700) (1,896,961) 292,205,267) - (115,800,947) - (3,412,521) (13,601,700) 174,888,760) 663,937) - - 175,552,697) 
10/1/2069 320,814,396) - 320,814,396) (14,145,767) (1,896,961) 304,771,667) - (120,781,012) - (3,345,676) (14,145,767) 182,541,941) 663,937) - - 183,205,877) 
10/1/2070 334,480,605) - 334,480,605) (14,711,598) (3,098,818) 316,670,188) - (125,496,396) - (3,279,062) (14,711,598) 190,993,549) 1,084,586) - - 192,078,135) 
10/1/2071 348,726,040) - 348,726,040) (15,300,062) (3,098,818) 330,327,160) - (130,908,654) - (3,453,059) (15,300,062) 199,064,265) 1,084,586) - - 200,148,852) 
10/1/2072 363,575,180) - 363,575,180) (15,912,065) (3,630,128) 344,032,987) - (136,340,273) - (3,386,935) (15,912,065) 207,935,907) 1,270,545) - - 209,206,452) 
10/1/2073 379,053,532) - 379,053,532) (16,548,547) (3,630,128) 358,874,857) - (142,222,106) - (4,901,354) (16,548,547) 215,381,525) 1,270,545) - - 216,652,070) 
10/1/2074 395,187,682) - 395,187,682) (17,210,489) (3,630,128) 374,347,065) - (148,353,742) - (4,813,867) (17,210,489) 224,809,583) 1,270,545) - - 226,080,128) 
10/1/2075 412,005,336) - 412,005,336) (17,898,909) (3,630,128) 390,476,300) - (154,745,758) - (4,726,662) (17,898,909) 234,634,008) 1,270,545) - - 235,904,552) 
10/1/2076 429,535,370) - 429,535,370) (18,614,865) (3,630,128) 407,290,377) - (161,409,177) - (4,639,750) (18,614,865) 244,871,578) 1,270,545) - - 246,142,123) 
10/1/2077 447,807,876) - 447,807,876) (19,359,460) (3,630,128) 424,818,289) - (168,355,488) - (4,553,143) (19,359,460) 255,539,786) 1,270,545) - - 256,810,331) 
10/1/2078 466,854,217) - 466,854,217) (20,133,838) (3,630,128) 443,090,251) - (175,596,666) - (4,466,852) (20,133,838) 266,656,860) 1,270,545) - - 267,927,405) 
10/1/2079 486,707,076) - 486,707,076) (20,939,191) (3,630,128) 462,137,757) - (183,145,193) - (4,380,891) (20,939,191) 278,241,800) 1,270,545) - - 279,512,345) 
10/1/2080 507,400,517) - 507,400,517) (21,776,759) (2,428,271) 483,195,486) - (191,490,371) - (4,295,274) (21,776,759) 289,838,113) 849,895) - - 290,688,008) 
10/1/2081 528,970,038) - 528,970,038) (22,647,830) (2,428,271) 503,893,937) - (199,693,167) - (4,210,013) (22,647,830) 302,419,028) 849,895) - - 303,268,923) 
10/1/2082 551,452,636) - 551,452,636) (23,553,743) (4,724,758) 523,174,135) - (207,333,910) - (4,125,124) (23,553,743) 316,439,859) 1,653,665) - - 318,093,524) 
10/1/2083 574,886,866) - 574,886,866) (24,495,892) (4,724,758) 545,666,216) - (216,247,522) - (5,388,179) (24,495,892) 328,755,273) 1,653,665) - - 330,408,938) 
10/1/2084 599,312,911) - 599,312,911) (25,475,728) (4,724,758) 569,112,425) - (225,539,254) - (5,296,027) (25,475,728) 343,001,902) 1,653,665) - - 344,655,567) 
10/1/2085 624,772,646) - 624,772,646) (26,494,757) (4,724,758) 593,553,131) - (235,225,106) - (5,204,293) (26,494,757) 357,848,490) 1,653,665) - - 359,502,155) 
10/1/2086 651,309,712) - 651,309,712) (27,554,547) (4,724,758) 619,030,407) - (245,321,750) - (5,112,995) (27,554,547) 373,320,420) 1,653,665) - - 374,974,085) 
10/1/2087 678,969,590) - 678,969,590) (28,656,729) (4,724,758) 645,588,103) - (255,846,565) - (5,022,149) (28,656,729) 389,444,146) 1,653,665) - - 391,097,811) 
10/1/2088 707,799,679) - 707,799,679) (29,802,999) (4,724,758) 673,271,923) - (266,817,663) - (4,931,775) (29,802,999) 406,247,242) 1,653,665) - - 407,900,907) 
10/1/2089 737,849,375) - 737,849,375) (30,995,119) (4,724,758) 702,129,498) - (278,253,920) - (4,841,892) (30,995,119) 423,758,444) 1,653,665) - - 425,412,109) 
10/1/2090 769,170,156) - 769,170,156) (32,234,923) (4,724,758) 732,210,475) - (290,175,011) - (4,752,519) (32,234,923) 442,007,702) 1,653,665) - - 443,661,368) 
10/1/2091 801,815,673) - 801,815,673) (33,524,320) (4,724,758) 763,566,595) - (302,601,442) - (4,663,678) (33,524,320) 461,026,233) 1,653,665) - - 462,679,898) 
10/1/2092 835,841,834) - 835,841,834) (34,865,293) (3,979,006) 796,997,535) - (315,850,123) - (4,575,389) (34,865,293) 480,551,029) 1,392,652) - - 481,943,681) 
10/1/2093 871,306,907) - 871,306,907) (36,259,905) (3,979,006) 831,067,996) - (329,352,247) - (5,283,477) (36,259,905) 500,411,278) 1,392,652) - - 501,803,930) 
10/1/2094 908,271,613) - 908,271,613) (37,710,301) (6,152,836) 864,408,476) - (342,565,079) - (5,196,362) (37,710,301) 522,799,871) 2,153,493) - - 524,953,364) 
10/1/2095 946,799,236) - 946,799,236) (39,218,713) (6,152,836) 901,427,687) - (357,235,792) - (6,784,102) (39,218,713) 543,560,628) 2,153,493) - - 545,714,121) 
10/1/2096 986,955,723) - 986,955,723) (40,787,461) (6,152,836) 940,015,426) - (372,528,113) - (6,673,469) (40,787,461) 566,966,679) 2,153,493) - - 569,120,172) 
10/1/2097 1,028,809,804) - 1,028,809,804) (42,418,960) (6,152,836) 980,238,008) - (388,468,322) - (6,563,510) (42,418,960) 591,359,011) 2,153,493) - - 593,512,504) 
10/1/2098 1,072,433,102) - 1,072,433,102) (44,115,718) (6,152,836) 1,022,164,548) - (405,083,810) - (6,454,253) (44,115,718) 616,779,321) 2,153,493) - - 618,932,813) 
10/1/2099 1,117,900,262) - 1,117,900,262) (45,880,347) (6,152,836) 1,065,867,079) - (422,403,123) - (6,345,726) (45,880,347) 643,271,066) 2,153,493) - - 645,424,558) 
10/1/2100 1,165,289,071) - 1,165,289,071) (47,715,561) (6,152,836) 1,111,420,675) - (440,456,013) - (6,237,959) (47,715,561) 670,879,539) 2,153,493) - - 673,033,031) 
10/1/2101 1,214,680,598) - 1,214,680,598) (49,624,183) (6,152,836) 1,158,903,578) - (459,273,488) - (6,130,982) (49,624,183) 699,651,944) 2,153,493) - - 701,805,436) 
10/1/2102 1,266,159,323) - 1,266,159,323) (51,609,151) (2,173,830) 1,212,376,343) - (480,464,745) - (6,024,829) (51,609,151) 728,060,599) 760,840) - - 728,821,439) 
10/1/2103 1,319,813,291) - 1,319,813,291) (53,673,517) (2,173,830) 1,263,965,944) - (500,909,704) - (571,394) (53,673,517) 764,658,677) 760,840) - - 765,419,517) 
10/1/2104 1,375,734,253) - 1,375,734,253) (55,820,457) - 1,319,913,795) - (523,081,837) - (594,324) (55,820,457) 796,237,634) - - - 796,237,634) 
10/1/2105 1,434,017,827) - 1,434,017,827) (58,053,276) - 1,375,964,552) - (545,294,752) - (618,183) (58,053,276) 830,051,617) - - - 830,051,617) 
10/1/2106 1,494,763,662) - 1,494,763,662) (60,375,407) - 1,434,388,255) - (568,448,066) - (643,006) (60,375,407) 865,297,184) - - - 865,297,184) 
10/1/2107 1,558,075,602) - 1,558,075,602) (62,790,423) - 1,495,285,179) - (592,581,516) - (668,834) (62,790,423) 902,034,829) - - - 902,034,829) 
10/1/2108 1,624,061,868) - 1,624,061,868) (65,302,040) - 1,558,759,828) - (617,736,520) - (695,706) (65,302,040) 940,327,602) - - - 940,327,602) 
10/1/2109 1,692,835,240) - 1,692,835,240) (67,914,121) - 1,624,921,119) - (643,956,239) - 0) (67,914,121) 980,964,879) - - - 980,964,879) 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 40Packet Page     128



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request       
     

APPENDIX B 
 

LETTERS OF ENDORSEMENT FROM JEFFERSON COUNTY,  

BROOMFIELD, AND ARVADA

Agenda Item 5B     Page 41Packet Page     129



Agenda Item 5B     Page 42Packet Page     130



Agenda Item 5B     Page 43Packet Page     131



Agenda Item 5B     Page 44Packet Page     132



Agenda Item 5B     Page 45Packet Page     133



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request       
     

APPENDIX C 
 

JEFFERSON PARKWAY 1601 SYSTEM LEVEL REPORT 

(CD OF THE REPORT IS ENCLOSED)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 46Packet Page     134



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request       
     

APPENDIX D 
 

COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION RESOLUTION

Agenda Item 5B     Page 47Packet Page     135



Resolution Number TC-1752 
 
WHEREAS, the Transportation Commission approved revisions to Policy 
Directive 1601 concerning the state highway interchange approval process; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority has completed the 
System Level Study for the proposed intersections/interchanges of the Jefferson 
Parkway with SH128, SH72, and SH93 that has been reviewed by staff of the 
Department and found to be consistent with the steps contained in Policy 
Directive Number 1601; and 
 
WHEREAS, the System Level Study documents the need for the intersections/ 
interchanges to facilitate regional continuity and connectivity in the region; and 
 
WHEREAS, the recommended connection with SH 128 is an intersection by 2015 
and an interchange by 2035 but will be further studied in the Project Level 
Study; and 
 
WHEREAS, the recommended connection with SH 72 is an intersection by 2015 
and an interchange by 2035 but will be further studied in the Project Level 
Study; and 
 
WHEREAS, the recommended connection with SH93 is an intersection by 2015 
and an interchange by 2035 but will be further studied in the Project Level 
Study; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed improvements will accommodate all projected 2015 and 
2035 traffic volumes at and through the interchanges at acceptable levels of 
service (D) during the morning and evening peak hours; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority will be requesting 
the proposed interchange improvements be amended into the DRCOG 2035 
Regional Transportation Plan and the Transportation Improvement Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, Environmental documents for the three connections will be 
completed to address details and environmental issues related to the project; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Transportation Commission recognizes that this approval is 
not the final approval step, and recognizes that, should the environmental 
document identify a preferred alternative different from the alternatives 
identified in the System Level Study, the Transportation Commission will 
reconsider the System Level Study; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed interchanges will be funded through local funds or 
private investors and the Colorado Department of Transportation is not 
participating in the funding of the proposed improvements; and  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 48Packet Page     136



WHEREAS, the responsibility for routine and long-term costs of ramps, traffic 
signals and bridges associated with the interchanges will be addressed in a 
subsequent Operations and Maintenance Intergovernmental Agreement 
between the Department and the Jefferson Parkway Public Highway 
Authority; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Transportation Commission recognizes that this approval does 
not ensure incorporation of the proposed interchanges in the constrained 
regional transportation plan by the corresponding Metropolitan Planning 
Organization/Transportation Planning Region; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant must demonstrate significant progress towards 
implementation of the project within 3 years of the date of approval this 
resolution. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, 
  
1. The Transportation Commission approves the System Level Study for the 

proposed intersections/ interchanges of the Jefferson Parkway with SH128, 
SH72, and SH93 as meeting the standards set forth in Policy Directive 
Number 1601, adopted by the Transportation Commission. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT, 
 
2. The approval is contingent on: 
 

• Inclusion of the proposed improvements in the fiscally constrained 
regional transportation plan and state transportation improvement 
program; and 
 

• The understanding that a more detailed traffic impact study will be 
conducted at least at those intersections that appear to have unacceptable 
levels of service (SH 93/Washington, SH 93/SH 72, SH 72/64th, and SH 
72/86th) 
 

• Completion and approval of the appropriate National Environmental 
Protection Act (NEPA) decision document with meaningful public 
involvement consistent with the CDOT Environmental Stewardship Guide 
and CDOT NEPA Manual; and 

 
• Approval of applicable interchange access, design and environmental 

permitting documents by the appropriate agencies; and  
 

• Approval by the Chief Engineer of an IGA for the financing, construction, 
maintenance and operations of the facilities associated with the 
construction of the proposed improvements consistent with the System 
Level Study, Project level Study, and future NEPA decision documents. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 49Packet Page     137



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
JULY, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway Study  
2035 Metro Vision Plan Amendment Request       
     

APPENDIX E 
 

MEMORANDUM DATED JULY 27, 2009 FROM STANTEC CONSULTING 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 50Packet Page     138



Memo 
Jefferson Parkway 2015 and 2035 Model Details 

 
To: Nicholas Amrhein 

Dick Bauman   
PB - Denver 

From: Rich Garcia 
Stantec - Denver    

CC: Joanna Morsicato 
Chuck Huffine 

  

  Date: July 27, 2009 
 
Nick, 

Below details the changes made to the DRCOG Cycle 2, 2008 network for the purposes 
of the traffic model forecasting for Jefferson Parkway.  I can also submit the TransCAD 
files if DRCOG needs them.  Let me know if you have any questions. 

STANTEC INC. 

Rich Garcia, GISP 
Senior Planner/GIS Specialist 
 
 
March 2009 - 2035 Build Alternative 
 
Facility Type Changes throughout the Network: 
 

• JPWY - From terminus of Northwest Parkway to SH 93: Facility Type – Freeway, Lanes 
- 4, tolled facility 

 
• Interlocken (96th St) - From terminus of Northwest Parkway to SH 128  - Facility Type – 

Principal Arterial, Lanes-6, toll free 
 

• Simms St (future El Dorado) - From SH128 to W 112th Ave – Facility Type – Minor 
Arterial, Lanes-6, toll free, Speed 35-40mph 

 
• Simms St (future El Dorado) - From W 112th Ave south – Facility Type – Minor Arterial, 

Lanes-4, toll free, Speed 30-35mph 
 

• Indiana St - From SH 128 to W96th Ave  - Facility Type – Principal Arterial, Lanes-2, toll 
free, Speed 30mph 

 
• Indiana St - From W96th Ave to SH58 – Facility Type – Principal Arterial, Lanes-4, toll 

free 
 

• McIntyre St - From SH58 south  - Facility Type – Minor Arterial, Lanes-2, toll free 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 51Packet Page     139



July 27, 2009 
Page 2 of 3  

 
 
Added Roadways/Changes to the Build Alignment: 
 

• Full Diamond at SH 128 and Jefferson Co Pkwy(JPWY) 
 
• Full Diamond Interchange with the future El Dorado Boulevard extended south of SH 

128 (this actually is Simms St shifted westward) with:  
o On/Off ramps from/to NB JPWY  
o On/Off ramps from/to SB JPWY  

 
• Interchange with Indiana St with two ramps:  

o Ramp from SB Indiana St. to SB JPW 
o Ramp from NB JPW to NB Indiana St. also can serve movements from NB 

JPWY to SB Indiana St. as per the new design with a roundabout. 

• Full Diamond Interchange at the Connection to Indiana St  
o On/Off ramps from/to NB JPWY 
o On/Off ramps from/to SB JPWY  

• Full Diamond Interchange at SH 72  
o On/Off ramps from/to NB JPWY 
o On/Off ramps from/to SB JPWY 

  
• Interchange with SH93 with two ramps:  

o NB JPWY off ramp to NB SH93 
o SB JPWY on ramp from SB SH 93 
 

• Full Diamond Interchange at W66th Ave  
o On/Off ramps from/to NB JPWY 
o On/Off ramps from/to SB JPWY 

 
• Merge with SH 93  

 
South of  64th Parkway: 

• SH 93 to SH 58 - 6 lane, major regional arterial. (DRCOG 2035, Cycle 2, 2008 – 2 lane 
major regional arterial) 

• SH 58 to C-470 - 6 lane, major regional arterial, ((DRCOG 2035, Cycle 2, 2008 – 4 lane 
major regional arterial) 

 
 
 
 
March 2009 - 2015 Build Alternative 
 
Facility Type Changes throughout the Network: 
 

• From terminus of Northwest Parkway to SH 128  - Facility Type – Principal Arterial, 
Lanes-4, toll free (DRCOG 2015 – 4 lane) 

• Simms from 112th to 100th - 2-lane minor arterial (DRCOG 2015 – 2-4 lanes major 
arterial.) 

• Indiana from SH 128 to 96th – 2-lane minor arterial (DRCOG 2015 – 2-lane major 
arterial) 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 52Packet Page     140



July 27, 2009 
Page 3 of 3  

 
 
Added Roadways/Changes to the Build Alignment: 
 

Interchange with Indiana St. with two ramps: 
• Ramp from SB Indiana St. to SB JPW 
• Ramp from NB JPW to NB Indiana St. 
• Ramp from NB JPW to NB Indiana St. also can serve movements from NB JPWY to SB 

Indiana St. as per the new design with a roundabout. 
 
Interchange with Connection to Indiana St. with two ramps: 
• Ramp from connection with Indiana St. to NB JPW 
• Ramp from SB JPW to connection with Indiana St. 
 
Interchange with SH 72 with two ramps: 
• Ramp from connection SB JPW to SH 72 
• Ramp from SH 72 to NB JPW  
 
• Overpass at 82nd Ave. 
 
• Merge with SH 93 
 

 
South of  64th Parkway: 

• SH 93 to SH 58 - 2 lane, major regional arterial. (DRCOG 2015, Cycle 2, 2008) 
• SH 58 to C-470 - 4 lane, major regional arterial, (DRCOG 2015, Cycle 2, 2008) 

 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 53Packet Page     141



APPENDIX C JEFFERSON PARKWAY 1601 SYSTEM LEVEL REPORT 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 54Packet Page     142



 

 

JEFFERSON PARKWAY 

SYSTEM LEVEL STUDY 

 

Prepared for: 

Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 

Arvada, Colorado 

Kevin McCasky, Jefferson County, Chairman 
Robert Frie, City of Arvada, Vice Chairman 

Patrick Quinn, City and County of Broomfield,Treasurer 
Wally Pulliam, RTD (non-voting member) 

Mark Johnson, RAQA (non-voting member 
Bill Ray, Interim Executive Director 

 

Prepared by: 

PB Americas 

Denver, Colorado 

Richard Bauman, Project Manager 

and 

Stantec Consulting 

Denver, Colorado 

Joanna Morsicato, Project Task Leader 

 

 

 

July 20, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 55Packet Page     143



This page intentionally left blank. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 56Packet Page     144



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study i 
Table of Contents 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION ........................................................................................1 

PROJECT PURPOSE AND NEED ........................................................................................................2 

ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS.................................................................................................................3 
2015 Phased Project........................................................................................................................4 
2035 Ultimate Project.......................................................................................................................6 

LAND USE, DEVELOPMENT NEEDS AND CHALLENGES................................................................6 
Land Use And Development Patterns Along Project Corridor .........................................................6 
Future Land Use Forecasts – Updates To 2035..............................................................................7 
Urban Center Updates – 2 Urban Centers To Be Added To Northwest Corridor............................8 
Small Area Land Use Updates – Additional Employment Forecast ................................................8 
Land Use And Development Conclusions .......................................................................................9 

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM LEVEL IMPACTS ................................................................................9 
Existing Traffic And Safety...............................................................................................................9 
Drcog 2015 And 2035 Traffic And Operations.................................................................................9 
Jefferson Parkway Toll Road And Northwest Parkway Arterial Benefits.......................................12 
Completion Of The Southern Section Would Provide Further Benefits.........................................12 

PROJECT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS AND MITIGATION............................................................13 

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT PROCESS...................................................................................................17 

PHASING AND FUNDING...................................................................................................................18 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS.......................................................................................................19 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION - PURPOSE AND NEED  

1.1 PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION .............................................................................1-1 
1.1.1 TEPS Status and Project Comparison ..............................................................................1-2 
1.1.2 Northern Section................................................................................................................1-3 
1.1.3 Central Section ..................................................................................................................1-5 
1.1.4 Southern Section - No Committed Improvements.............................................................1-6 
1.1.5 2015 Phased Project .........................................................................................................1-6 

1.2 PROJECT HISTORY AND CONTEXT........................................................................................1-8 

1.3 PROJECT PURPOSE AND NEED .............................................................................................1-9 
1.3.1 Jefferson Parkway Project Purpose and Need..................................................................1-9 
1.3.2 Correlation with TEPS Purpose and Need ......................................................................1-10 

1.4 SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS................................................................................................1-11 

1.5 STUDY PROCESS ....................................................................................................................1-12 

1.6 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT ..........................................................................................................1-12 
1.6.1 Public Involvement Program Activity Summary...............................................................1-12 
1.6.2 Public Comment Trends (from TEPS Chapter 7.1.12) ....................................................1-14 
1.6.3 Transitions from CDOT TEPS Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) to 

Jefferson Parkway ...................................................................................................1-14 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 57Packet Page     145



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study ii 
Table of Contents 

2.0 ALTERNATIVES 

2.0 ALTERNATIVES .........................................................................................................................2-1 

2.1 OBJECTIVES ..............................................................................................................................2-1 

2.2 ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS ......................................................................................................2-1 
2.2.1 TEPS Alternatives Summary .............................................................................................2-1 
2.2.2 JPPHA Ultimate Project.....................................................................................................2-3 

2.3 DESCRIPTION OF 2015 PHASED PROJECT...........................................................................2-4 
2.3.1 Proposed Cross Section - 2015 Phased Project ...............................................................2-4 
2.3.2 Connections to Northwest Parkway...................................................................................2-4 
2.3.3 Intersection at SH 128 .......................................................................................................2-4 
2.3.4 Local Access at Simms......................................................................................................2-5 
2.3.5 Local Access at Indiana.....................................................................................................2-5 
2.3.6 Local Connections at Cimarron Parkway ..........................................................................2-5 
2.3.7 Connections at SH 72........................................................................................................2-5 
2.3.8 Intersection at SH 93 .........................................................................................................2-5 

2.4 DESCRIPTION OF 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT......................................................................2-13 
2.4.1 Proposed Cross Section - 2035 Ultimate Project ............................................................2-13 
2.4.2 Connections to Northwest Parkway.................................................................................2-13 
2.4.3 Interchange at SH 128.....................................................................................................2-13 
2.4.4 Local Access at Simms Street.........................................................................................2-13 
2.4.5 Local Access at Indiana Street ........................................................................................2-13 
2.4.6 Local Access at Cimarron Parkway.................................................................................2-14 
2.4.7 Interchange at SH 72.......................................................................................................2-14 
2.4.8 Interchange at SH 93.......................................................................................................2-14 

 

3.0 TRANSPORTATION 

3.1 EXISTING CONDITIONS - LAND USE, DEVELOPMENT NEEDS AND CHALLENGES.........3-1 
3.1.1 Land Use and Development Patterns along Project Corridor ...........................................3-1 
3.1.2 Existing Transportation Network........................................................................................3-5 
3.1.3 Traffic Volumes..................................................................................................................3-6 
3.1.4 Traffic Operations ..............................................................................................................3-8 
3.1.5 Accident History...............................................................................................................3-10 
3.1.6 Opportunities and Constraints .........................................................................................3-10 

3.2 FORECASTED CONDITIONS ..................................................................................................3-11 
3.2.1 Future Land Use Forecasts – Updates to 2035 ..............................................................3-11 
3.2.2 Urban Center Updates – 2 Urban Centers to be Added to Corridor ...............................3-12 
3.2.3 Small Area Land Use Updates – Additional Employment Forecast ................................3-13 
3.2.4 Land Use and Development Conclusions .......................................................................3-13 
3.2.5 Future Transportation Network - Traffic Volumes ...........................................................3-14 
3.2.6 Future Transportation Network - Traffic Operations........................................................3-23 
3.2.7 Northwest Corridor Study Area Transportation Needs and Mitigation ............................3-24 
3.2.8 Phased Project System Failure Dates.............................................................................3-25 
3.2.9 Jefferson Parkway Toll Road and Northwest Parkway Arterial Benefits.........................3-27 
3.2.10 Completion of the Southern Section Would Provide Further Benefits ............................3-28 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 58Packet Page     146



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study iii 
Table of Contents 

4.0 AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT, ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES 
AND MITIGATION 

4.1 AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT......................................................................................................4-1 
4.1.1 AIR QUALITY ....................................................................................................................4-2 
4.1.2 NOISE................................................................................................................................4-5 
4.1.3 WATER QUALITY .............................................................................................................4-7 
4.1.4 WETLANDS.......................................................................................................................4-9 
4.1.5 VEGETATION, WILDLIFE AND T&E ..............................................................................4-10 
4.1.6 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS.............................................................................................4-14 
4.1.7 PARKS AND RECREATION AREAS..............................................................................4-19 
4.1.8 HISTORIC PROPERTIES ...............................................................................................4-21 

4.2 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES AND MITIGATION SUMMARY.................................4-23 
4.2.1 AIR QUALITY ..................................................................................................................4-28 
4.2.2 NOISE..............................................................................................................................4-29 
4.2.3 WATER QUALITY ...........................................................................................................4-30 
4.2.4 WETLANDS.....................................................................................................................4-33 
4.2.5 VEGETATION, WILDLIFE AND T&E ..............................................................................4-35 
4.2.6 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS.............................................................................................4-43 
4.2.7 PARKS AND RECREATION AREAS..............................................................................4-51 
4.2.8 HISTORIC PROPERTIES ...............................................................................................4-54 
4.2.9 ROCKY FLATS WILDLIFE REFUGE..............................................................................4-55 
4.2.10 CUMULATIVE IMPACT SUMMARY ...............................................................................4-57 
4.2.11 ULTIMATE PROJECT SUMMARY OF IMPACTS AND MITIGATION............................4-60 

 

5.0 FUNDING AND PHASING  

5.1 PROJECT COST AND PHASING...............................................................................................5-1 

5.2 PROJECT FUNDING ..................................................................................................................5-2 

 

6.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 59Packet Page     147



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study iv 
Table of Contents 

 LIST OF FIGURES 

FIGURE ES-1. NORTHWEST CORRIDOR STUDY AREA ......................................................ES-2 
FIGURE ES-2. CDOT TEPS RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE..............................................ES-4 
FIGURE ES-3. 2015 PHASED PROJECT.................................................................................ES-5 
FIGURE ES-4. 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT..............................................................................ES-5 

 
 

FIGURE 1-1. ULTIMATE PROJECT.............................................................................................1-4 
FIGURE 1-2. 2015 PHASED PROJECT.......................................................................................1-7 
 

 
FIGURE 2-1. CDOT TEPS RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE....................................................2-3 
FIGURE 2-2. 2015 CROSS SECTION FOR JEFFERSON PARKWAY .......................................2-4 
FIGURE 2-3. 2015 SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION AT SH 128 ...................................................2-7 
FIGURE 2-4. 2015 PARTIAL INTERCHANGE AT SH 72 ............................................................2-9 
FIGURE 2-5. 2015 SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION AT SH 93 ...................................................2-11 
FIGURE 2-6. 2035 CROSS SECTION FOR JEFFERSON PARKWAY .....................................2-13 
FIGURE 2-7. 2035 INTERCHANGE AT SH 128 ........................................................................2-15 
FIGURE 2-8. 2035 FULL INTERCHANGE AT SH 72 ................................................................2-17 
FIGURE 2-9. 2035 INTERCHANGE AT SH 93 ..........................................................................2-19 
 

 
FIGURE 3-1. NORTHWEST CORRIDOR STUDY AREA ............................................................3-2 
FIGURE 3-2. CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD LAND USE .............................................3-3 
FIGURE 3-3. CITY OF ARVADA LAND USE ...............................................................................3-3 
FIGURE 3-4. EXISTING TRAFFIC DATA (2004) .........................................................................3-7 
FIGURE 3-5. EXISTING INTERSECTION LEVELS OF SERVICE (2004) ..................................3-9 
FIGURE 3-6. 2015 NO BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES - PART A.................................................3-15 
FIGURE 3-7. 2015 NO BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES - PART B.................................................3-16 
FIGURE 3-8. 2015 PHASED PROJECT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - PART A .................................3-17 
FIGURE 3-9. 2015 PHASED PROJECT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - PART B .................................3-18 
FIGURE 3-10. 2035 NO BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES - PART A...............................................3-19 
FIGURE 3-11. 2035 NO BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES - PART B...............................................3-20 
FIGURE 3-12. 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - PART A ............................3-21 
FIGURE 3-13. 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - PART B ............................3-22 
FIGURE 3-14. 2015 NO BUILD LEVELS OF SERVICE.............................................................3-29 
FIGURE 3-15. 2015 PHASED PROJECT LEVELS OF SERVICE.............................................3-30 
FIGURE 3-16. 2035 NO BUILD LEVELS OF SERVICE.............................................................3-31 
FIGURE 3-17. 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT LEVELS OF SERVICE..........................................3-32 

 
 

FIGURE 4-1. NORTHWEST CORRIDOR STUDY AREA ............................................................4-3 
FIGURE 4-2. PLUTONIUM ISOCONTOURS IN THE STUDY AREA ........................................4-17 
FIGURE 4-3. AMERICIUM ISOCONTOURS IN THE STUDY AREA.........................................4-18 
FIGURE 4-4. NOISE IMPACT AREAS .......................................................................................4-29 
FIGURE 4-5. SITES OF CONCERN AND SITES  WITH RECOGNIZED ENVIRONMENTAL 

CONDITIONS – NORTHERN PORTION................................................................4-44 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 60Packet Page     148



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study v 
Table of Contents 

LIST OF TABLES 

TABLE ES-1.  2015 SYSTEM LEVEL NEEDS AND MITIGATION CONCEPTS....................ES-10 
TABLE ES-2. ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES AND MITIGATION SUMMARY.........ES-14 

 
 

TABLE 1-1. AGENCY AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT SUMMARY ...........................................1-13 

 
 

TABLE 3-1. 2015 SYSTEM LEVEL NEEDS AND MITIGATION CONCEPTS ..........................3-25 
TABLE 3-2. 2035 SYSTEM LEVEL NEEDS AND MITIGATION CONCEPTS ..........................3-25 
TABLE 3-3. LEVEL OF SERVICE “CHOKE POINT” FAILURE ASSESSMENT YEARS ..........3-27 
 
TABLE 4-1. NOISE MEASUREMENT RESULTS........................................................................4-6 
TABLE 4-2. WATER RESOURCES SUMMARY FOR ULTIMATE PROJECT............................4-9 
TABLE 4-3. AREA OF WETLANDS IN EACH FUNCTIONAL CATEGORY..............................4-10 
TABLE 4-4. ULTIMATE PROJECT PARK AND RECREATIONAL RESOURCES....................4-19 
TABLE 4-5. ULTIMATE PROJECT ............................................................................................4-23 
TABLE 4-6. ULTIMATE PROJECT ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES ............................4-24 
TABLE 4-7. FUNCTIONAL VALUES OF ULTIMATE PROJECT WETLAND IMPACTS...........4-34 
TABLE 4-8. SUMMARY OF SITES OF CONCERN  AND SITES WITH RECOGNIZED 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS..........................................................................4-46 
TABLE 4-9. ROCKY FLATS WILDLIFE REFUGE  POTENTIAL RESOURCE IMPACTS  

WITHIN 300-FOOT RIGHT-OF-WAY WIDTH.........................................................4-56 
TABLE 4-10. ULTIMATE PROJECT IMPACT AND MITIGATION SUMMARY .........................4-60 

 
 

TABLE 5-1. INITIAL CONSTRUCTION COST  
(YOE, YEAR OF EXPENDITURE DOLLAR TERMS)...............................................5-1 

TABLE 5-2. JEFFERSON PARKWAY EXPECTED CAPACITY  
ENHANCEMENT PROJECTS (YOE) .......................................................................5-2 

TABLE 5-3. 2009 SMALL AREA UPDATES ................................................................................5-3 
TABLE 5-4. JEFFERSON PARKWAY TOLL REVENUE FORECAST ........................................5-4 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 61Packet Page     149



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study vi 
Table of Contents 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 62Packet Page     150



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-1 
Executive Summary 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

The Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority (JPPHA) proposes roadway improvements in 
the northwest Denver metropolitan region to fulfill long-time local and regional needs.  The 
JPPHA proposes to bring over $400 million of needed investment to the region’s transportation 
system through a public-private partnership for this project. This System Level Study analyzes 
the need, impacts, and benefits of proposed improvements and requests approval for 
connections to state facilities, through Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) 1601 
Policy and Procedure, so the project may be included in the fiscally constrained Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP).  This is the first of a multi-step effort. Upon approval of this 
document by the CDOT Chief Engineer and review by the Colorado Transportation 
Commission, the project will be submitted to the Denver Regional Council of Governments 
(DRCOG) for inclusion in the RTP and for air quality conformity analysis. Subsequent analyses 
will include appropriate detailed environmental studies and public involvement opportunities for 
state highway access at SH 128, SH 72 and SH 93 for the Ultimate Project. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION 

Jefferson County, the City and County of Broomfield, and the City of Arvada established the 
Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority (JPPHA) in May 2008.1 The mission of the JPPHA 
is to fulfill transportation needs in the area by completing a portion of the last remaining unbuilt 
section of the Denver metropolitan beltway system.  The Jefferson Parkway is proposed to be a 
toll facility from SH 128 near Interlocken Loop to SH 93 near 64th Avenue Parkway, located 
predominately in unincorporated Jefferson County. This project is nearly identical to the tollway 
portion of the Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) that was studied at length by 
the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) and documented in the Northwest Corridor 
Transportation and Environmental Planning Study (TEPS). 

This system analysis includes a Northwest 
Parkway Regional Arterial Extension, proposed 
improvements that would connect the western 
terminus of the Northwest Parkway at 96th Street 
with the northern terminus of the proposed 
Jefferson Parkway at SH 128.  These 
improvements are within the jurisdiction of the 
Northwest Parkway Public Highway Authority.  
This separate and foreseeably fundable project is  

                                                 
1 In 2003, Arvada, Broomfield and Jefferson County initiated a local effort to complete the beltway’s remaining 20 miles but 
postponed that effort at CDOT’s request. CDOT then initiated the Northwest Corridor Study and put forth extensive effort to gain 
consensus from local governments. However, due to lack of funds to construct the project and the inability to reach consensus, 
CDOT officially dropped the project on June 2, 2008. 

The Ultimate project includes two different 

roadway classifications: tollway and major 

regional arterial. From the Northwest Parkway to 

SH 128, the facility is classified as a major 

regional arterial. From SH 128 to just north of the 

64th Avenue Parkway, the facility is classified as 

a tollway.  This portion is the Jefferson Parkway. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 63Packet Page     151



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-2 
Executive Summary 
 

essentially the regional arterial, 
northern section of the Combined 
Alternative (Recommended 
Alternative) from the TEPS.  

The proposed action is presented with 
two levels of improvements: a general 
opening day 2015 Phased Project and 
a 2035 Ultimate Project. 

The CDOT Northwest Corridor Study 
Area or TEPS Study Area, divided the 
area into three sections: northern, 
central and southern, and represents 
a broad area that extends west of SH 
93, north of US 36, east of SH 121 
and south to I-70 and C-470.  The 
Ultimate Project is physically located 
within the northern and central 
sections of the Northwest Corridor 
Study Area.  The Northwest Parkway 
Regional Arterial Extension is located 
in the Northern Section. The Jefferson 
Parkway is located within the Central 
Section of the Northwest Corridor 
Study Area.  Figure ES-1 illustrates 
the study area and sections.  
The intent of the JPPHA is to 
implement the Jefferson Parkway 
project as a green project utilizing 
sustainable design and construction 
practices, including but not limited to 
the use of LED lighting, ITS programs, 
and non-stop tolling such as license 
plate tolls, as well as solar and wind 
power sources as appropriate.   

 

PROJECT PURPOSE AND NEED 

The purpose of the proposed 
Jefferson Parkway project is to 
provide a new transportation facility between SH 128 and SH 93 to be financed, designed, built, 
operated, and maintained as a toll road through a public-private partnership with associated 
separately committed and funded improvements to the connection between the Northwest 
Parkway and SH 128.  Implementation of this project provides a significant contribution to the 

FIGURE ES-1.  NORTHWEST CORRIDOR STUDY AREA 

 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 64Packet Page     152



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-3 
Executive Summary 
 

completion of the “470” beltway around the Denver metropolitan region. The Northwest Corridor 
alignment has been included on regional plans since 1987 when the W-470 project became a 
part of the 2010 Regional Transportation Plan, even though this project has not yet appeared in 
a fiscally constrained transportation plan. 

The proposed project will fulfill the following project needs: 

 Transportation goals and objectives for enhanced connectivity, functionality and capacity 
within Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield and the City of Arvada - Completion 
of the project is expected to re-focus traffic from a congested local system. 

 Transportation goals and objectives for improved regional connectivity - Completion of the 
Ultimate Project will be a significant step toward completion of the northwest portion of the 
urban beltway.  Completing the beltway will result in removal of through traffic off of local 
streets onto the beltway and will provide a travel corridor for traffic traveling to and from the 
west and northeast portions of the state attracting trips away from congested I-25, I-76, I-70, 
and more local routes such as SH 121 or SH 93. 

 Local land use, economic development, or growth objectives - Jefferson County, City and 
County of Broomfield and the City of Arvada have planned around and for this project for 
over 20 years.  For example, the City of Arvada has carried this circumferential highway in 
their transportation plans since as early as 1965.  Both Broomfield and Arvada have asked 
for additional urban center recognition on the DRCOG Metro Vision 2035 Plan for 
development projects within this corridor. 

 Improve transportation safety - Jefferson Parkway will provide a reliable non-congested 
alternative to travel in the corridor.  Also portions of SH 93 from 64th Avenue Parkway north 
have accident rates more than double the state average (CDOT Traffic Engineering Branch, 
2008).  Jefferson Parkway may improve traffic safety along SH 93 through a reduction in 
future traffic on SH 93 north of the Parkway interchange.   

 Multi-modal transportation objectives - Opportunity for future transit corridor development 
within the project right-of-way will be created. 

 Funding and revenue requirements - The toll revenues will provide a funding source 
(approximately $400 million) in lieu of federal, state and local funding resources, which are 
not available for this corridor. 

 

ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS  

The alignment and general design concepts associated with the Jefferson Parkway and 
connection to the north reflect the result of the robust CDOT agency and public involvement 
process that led to the Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative).  In keeping with 
goals of the CDOT Procedural Directive 1601.1, the system level study presented in this 
document relies on the previous extensive, in-depth, and generously funded Northwest Corridor 
studies and minimizes duplicative alternative and environmental analyses and public outreach 
processes. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 65Packet Page     153



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-4 
Executive Summary 
 

Seventy-three build alternatives were identified 
in the CDOT TEPS process.  The Combined 
Alternative (Recommended Alternative) 
resulting from that process is the basis for the 
Ultimate Project identified in this 1601 System 
Level Study. Figure ES-2 illustrates the CDOT 
recommended alternative. The Ultimate Project 
differs from the TEPS Recommended 
Alternative by not including: 

1. Regional Arterial (Southern Section).  The 
Ultimate Project does not include 
improvements on SH 93 and US 6 through 
Golden because this section is outside the 
JPPHA jurisdiction. Also, these improvements 
are assumed to be the responsibility of CDOT 
and/or area governments, and no funding or 
project commitment is available at this time.   

2. Principal Arterial (Indiana Street/McIntyre 

Street).  The Ultimate Project does not include 
the 7.5 mile principal arterial alignment 
improvements on Indiana Street and McIntyre 
Street due to lack of local support.  Elimination 
of this arterial segment also greatly reduces 
project impacts to adjacent properties. 

The general opening day 2015 Phased Project 
and 2035 Ultimate Project are described as 
follows.  Figures ES-3 and ES-4 illustrate each 
scenario. 

2015 Phased Project 

In order to make the Ultimate Project financially 
feasible, the project is planned to be 
constructed in phases.  The Jefferson Parkway 
initial project will be built as a four-lane toll road 
and is planned to be open by 2015.  Sufficient 
right-of-way will be obtained to ensure future 
expansion and support multi-modal  

FIGURE ES-2. CDOT TEPS  RECOMMENDED 
ALTERNATIVE 

 

Source: Compiled by FHU, 2007.  Originally TEPS Figure 2.4-24. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 66Packet Page     154



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-5 
Executive Summary 
 

FIGURE ES-3.  2015 PHASED PROJECT 

 

 

FIGURE ES-4.  2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT 

 

The Jefferson Parkway initial project 
will be built as a four-lane toll road. 
Sufficient right-of-way will be obtained 
to ensure future expansion and 
support multi-modal opportunities 
initiated as separate projects. 

 
The Jefferson Parkway Ultimate Project will be 
built as a six-lane toll road. Sufficient right-of-
way will be maintained to support multi-modal 
opportunities.  The Northwest Parkway will be 
extended as a six-lane arterial to Jefferson 
Parkway. 

               Source: Stantec,2009

               Source: Stantec,2009

Agenda Item 5B     Page 67Packet Page     155



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-6 
Executive Summary 
 

opportunities initiated as separate projects.  The 2015 Phased Project is for construction of an 
affordable functional facility with at-grade intersections at project termini (SH 128 and a new 
signal north of 64th Avenue Parkway at SH 93). One additional state highway access is 
proposed as a half interchange leading to and from the north at SH 72.   

Local access is also proposed as part of the phased project for the north end of Indiana Street, 
and at Cimarron Parkway (Candelas development area).   Local traffic on Indiana Street will 
continue to operate independent of the tollway but at a slower speed due to traffic calming. Also, 
Simms Street will be relocated to the west over the Jefferson Parkway to be constructed in 
association with the future improvements to the Rocky Mountain Metropolitan Airport by 
Jefferson County. Future exit and entrance ramps are planned as the need arises. 

The Northwest Parkway arterial extension improvements were not included in the 2015 model 
run because the Northwest Parkway Public Highway Authority (NWPPHA) plans to fund these 
improvements in the 2017 time frame.  The contract with Brisa2 has incentives for the Northwest 
Parkway if the Jefferson Parkway connection is completed by 2017. 

2035 Ultimate Project 

The Jefferson Parkway Ultimate Project will be constructed as a six-lane toll road.  Sufficient 
right-of-way will be maintained to support future multi-modal opportunities. Full interchanges will 
be implemented for all three state highway connections: SH 128, SH 72 and SH 93 as well as 
the local access at Cimarron Parkway.   

The connection between SH 128 and the Northwest Parkway will be implemented by 2035.  
This connection will include a six-lane regional arterial with signals at select locations, will utilize 
the existing interchange at US 36 and will support a full interchange at SH 128.  Funding of this 
Northern Section of the project is within the jurisdiction of the NWPPHA.  The NWPPHA 
contract with Brisa requires upgrades in this area when the level of service is worse than D. 

LAND USE, DEVELOPMENT NEEDS AND CHALLENGES  

Land Use and Development Patterns along Project Corridor 

The Northwest Corridor Study Area includes portions of Boulder County, the City and County of 
Broomfield, Jefferson County, and seven incorporated municipalities. Based on extensive public 
and agency involvement during the TEPS process all agencies except Golden generally support 
or are neutral about the project including: Arvada, Lafayette, Lakewood, Louisville, Superior, 
Westminster, and Wheat Ridge.  The City of Golden has consistently opposed improvements 
that would extend south through that community.  Within the 157 square miles of land that make 
up the Northwest Corridor Study Area, almost every type of land use and zoning designation is 
represented. Land uses vary from agriculture and open space to commercial and industrial 

                                                 
2 Brisa Auto-Estradas de Portugal, S.A./Companhia de Concessoes Rodoviarais private partner with the NWPPHA for the Northwest 
Parkway toll road. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 68Packet Page     156



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-7 
Executive Summary 
 

developments. Approximately 6,200 acres comprise the Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge 
with over 400 acres of wetlands. Because zoning varies among the 11 jurisdictions, there are 
over 100 distinct zoning categories within the study area. All jurisdictions include zoning 
designations for residential, mixed use, commercial, industrial, agricultural, public, open space, 
and planned development. 

Northern Section.  The Northern Section of proposed regional arterial roadway passes 
through Louisville and Broomfield from the Northwest Parkway terminus to approximately SH 
128 and is bisected by US 36. North of US 36, land consists of open space, agricultural, public, 
and commercial uses with many of the parcels undeveloped. The recently acquired Conoco 
Phillips Campus (formerly StorageTek), in Louisville is expected to employ 7000 workers and is 
located north of US 36 along the Northwest Parkway in the vicinity of 96th Street.  South of US 
36 the most prominent land use is the employment/commercial area associated with the 
Interlocken Technology Park and Flatiron Crossing Mall, a retail center.   City and County of 
Broomfield has identified this as an urban activity center.  The current DRCOG model does not 
include this urban center.  

Central Section.  The Central Section begins at SH 128.  South of SH 128 there is a large 
parcel of public land owned by Jefferson County that is used for the Rocky Mountain 
Metropolitan Airport (formerly the Jefferson County Airport) as well as the future Great Western 
Business Park (a business/industrial development) to the southeast of the airport. 

The proposed Jefferson Parkway continues south parallel to Indiana Street. Land use on both 
sides of Indiana Street consists of parks/open space. Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge 
occupies the west side of Indiana Street, while parks/open space owned by Broomfield and 
Westminster, including Broomfield’s Great Western Reservoir, and Westminster’s Colorado Hills 
Open Space, occupy the east side of Indiana Street. 

Next, the Jefferson Parkway is proposed to pass through Arvada and unincorporated Jefferson 
County. In this portion of the study area, the proposed alignment  would turn southwest from 
Indiana Street at 96th Avenue passing through undeveloped land to SH 72 just west of Welton 
Reservoir. While much of this area is characterized by undeveloped land within unincorporated 
Jefferson County, the Arvada Comprehensive Plan identifies industrial/office, low density 
residential, and open space and parks as future land uses in the area south of SH 72 in addition 
to the development plans already approved north of SH 72. The Candelas development to the 
north of SH 72 has been identified by the City of Arvada as an urban activity center. The current 
DRCOG model does not include this urban center.  The new alignment would continue to the 
southwest to SH 93. 

Future Land Use Forecasts – Updates to 2035 

DRCOG provides information on forecasted 2035 land uses for the entire metropolitan area and 
the COMPASS_2.0_Version 95, Cycle 2 2008 (2008-C2) was used to forecast land use as well 
as traffic for this System Level study.  As a part of this analysis, the 2030 TEPS data was 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 69Packet Page     157



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-8 
Executive Summary 
 

updated to 2035 for land use and transportation modeling purposes.  Growth and development 
is projected to continue within the study area through 2035. According to the area land use 
plans, there is very little undeveloped land remaining in the study area, other than areas 
described below (urban center and small area updates).  

A 5.5 percent increase in population and a 6.1 percent increase in employment totals were 
forecasted between 2030 and 2035 for the TEPS area by DRCOG. Figure ES-1 illustrates the 
jurisdictions found within the study area as well as the Northwest Corridor Study Area. These 
growth rates are shown as slightly less than the metro area as a whole. The metro area totals 
show an average population increase of 8.8 percent and an employment increase of 7.1 percent 
from 2030 to 2035.  City and County of Broomfield adjustments between 2030 and 2035 show a 
12 percent population increase and a 10 percent employment increase. 

Urban Center Updates – 2 Urban Centers to be Added to Northwest Corridor 

Urban Centers are concentrated areas of high-density, pedestrian-oriented mixed-use 
development.  They accommodate new population growth within the urban area, create 
opportunities for people to live near where they 
work, support transit use and more efficiently 
use existing infrastructure.  The DRCOG Metro 
Vision 2035 currently recognizes 88 urban 
centers within the region.   Downtown Golden is 
identified as an Urban Center in the 2008-C2 model.  Subsequent to that model cycle, the City 
and County of Broomfield requested that the US 36 and Interlocken Loop Activity Center be 
recognized as an Urban Center.  The City of Arvada has also requested recognition of the 
Candelas Activity near SH 72 and SH 93 as an Urban Center.  These mixed use centers will 
stimulate and attract more trips.  Absence of two key urban centers in the 2008 Cycle 2 model 
meant that fewer trips were focused in these areas adjacent to the Proposed Jefferson 
Parkway, while Downtown Golden would have attracted more trips under this designation.  This 
data is not reflected in the JPPHA Model.    

Small Area Land Use Updates – Additional Employment Forecast  

Although the DRCOG has updated land use 
information for the 2035 Metro Vision planning 
purposes, the JPPHA Program Management 
Team met with planners from the City and 
County of Broomfield, the City of Arvada, and 
Jefferson County to fine tune land use data for 
over 150 traffic analysis zones.  Household information remained reasonably consistent with the 
DRCOG model with an increase of 2.7% in 2015 and 2.0% in 2035.  The more significant 
change was shown for 2035 employment with an increase of 13% over the DRCOG numbers.  
(No measurable change was identified for 2015 employment over the DRCOG numbers.) 

The addition of two urban centers to the DRCOG 

model will result in more trips in the Northwest 

Corridor Study Area regardless of construction of 

the Jefferson Parkway’s Ultimate Project. 

Small Area land use development will also result in 

more trips in the Northwest Corridor Study Area 

regardless of construction of the Jefferson 

Parkway’s Ultimate Project. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 70Packet Page     158



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-9 
Executive Summary 
 

The 2035 No Build model run with the updated local government employment data, resulted in 
average daily traffic trip increases of as much as 17,000 on Interlocken Loop, 8,000 on SH 93 
north of 64th Avenue Parkway, and 4,000 trips on SH 93 south of 64th Avenue Parkway.  This 
information was not used as the basis for the general traffic and operations forecasting used in 
this study; however, this was used to generate future toll road revenue estimates. 

Land Use and Development Conclusions 

Development in the Northwest Corridor Study area is planned to occur regardless of the 
proposed project, and roadway improvements in the area will ultimately be required.  Earlier 
transportation improvements, however, would allow for more employment opportunities, for local 
and regional residents.  Land use plans support the need for the completion of the Jefferson 
Parkway with the associated Northwest Parkway arterial extension to meet travel demand for 
the two new urban centers, and area employment needs by 2035.   

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM LEVEL IMPACTS  

Existing Traffic and Safety 

Volume data (2004 TEPS data) show that the fully access-controlled freeway facilities of the 
National Highway System carry the largest volumes of traffic, including I-70, US 36, US 6 east 
of C-470, and C-470, with weekday traffic volumes ranging from 85,500 vehicles on US 6 west 
of C-470 to 176,900 vehicles on I-70 near Wadsworth Boulevard.  

Among surface arterial streets, the highest daily traffic volumes are found on Wadsworth 
Boulevard (more than 52,000 vehicles per day), US 6 west of its transition between a freeway 
and regional arterial (more than 44,000 vehicles per day), and Ward Road north of I-70 (over 
39,000 vehicles per day).  

Level of service (LOS) is described by letter designations ranging from A to F, with LOS A 
representing essentially uninterrupted flow, and LOS F representing a breakdown of traffic flow 
with excessive congestion and delay.  TEPS 2004 data for LOS were calculated for select 
intersections within the Northwest Corridor Study Area; however, none operated at LOS F at 
that time; LOS D and E were identified along SH 93. 

Crash data was identified for SH 93 between west 58th and SH 128 for 2000 through 2006.  
Nine fatalities and 175 injury accidents were identified for that time period.  Portions of this 
highway have accident rates more than twice the state average (CDOT Traffic Engineering 
Branch, 2008). 

DRCOG 2015 AND 2035 Traffic and Operations  

In order to assess how the highway network within the study will function with the addition of the 
Jefferson Parkway project, it was necessary to prepare a set of reasonable travel forecasts. The 
DRCOG 2008-C2 model was used to generate daily, weekday AM peak hour and PM peak hour 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 71Packet Page     159



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-10 
Executive Summary 
 

link volume forecasts for the following scenarios: 2015 No Build, 2015 with Phased Project, 
2035 No Build, and 2035 Ultimate Project. 

While the use of the DRCOG model without adjustment reveals the most conservative forecast 
information, it still portrays a network where the No Build for both 2015 and 2035 reveal 
congested roadways with failing levels of service throughout the Northwest Corridor Study Area.   

With no corridor upgrades by 2035 or with only the Northwest Parkway upgrades and Jefferson 
Parkway, levels of service on adjacent roads are at the point of failure for both the No Build and 
Build options.  System operation improvements will occur only after the entire corridor is 
upgraded.  Note that the Ultimate Project itself will function well through 2035 forecasted years.   

Table ES-1 illustrates 2015 operations needs throughout the corridor to maintain LOS D or E.  
Some of these needs pertain to opening day for the Parkway connections.  Congestion related 
improvements will be examined during Parkway design and included as appropriate to ensure 
that the Parkway operations are acceptable in 2015.  Detailed assessment of project 
transportation impacts will be made during forthcoming final design activities at which time, 
needed congestion related improvements for the opening day scenario(s) will be determined. 

Table ES-1. 2015 SYSTEM LEVEL NEEDS AND MITIGATION CONCEPTS 

Intersection    No Build  Phased 
Project  

Mitigation Jurisdiction Build with 
Mitigation  

 AM/PM LOS   AM/PM LOS 

US 36/Interlocken 
(North Ramp) 

E/E F/F WB 2nd right turn lane 
NB 2nd left turn lane 
NB 3rd thru lane 

NWPPHA 
NWPPHA  
NWPPHA 

D/C 

US 36/Interlocken 
(South Ramp) 

F/C F/F EB 2nd turn lane 
NB/SB 3rd thru lane 

NWPPHA 
NWPPHA 

E/E 

SH 128/Interlocken F/D F/F NB/SB 3rd thru lanes 
WB 2nd left turn lane  

NWPPHA 
JPPHA 

C/D 

SH 93/SH 72 F/E E/F NB/SB 2nd thru lanes Out of 
Jurisdiction 

D/D 

SH 93/64th 
Avenue 

A/A E/D WB 2nd right turn lane (+ NB 
receiving lane) 

JPPHA B/D 

SH 93/Washington C/C F/E EB left turn lane 
WB right turn lane 

Out of 
Jurisdiction 

D/D 

SH 72/64th 
Avenue 

C/D E/F EB 2nd left turn lane Out of 
Jurisdiction 

D/C 

SH 72/86th 
Avenue 

E/E F/F NB/SB 2nd thru lanes 
EB/WB/NB 2nd left turn lanes 

Out of 
Jurisdiction 

D/D 

64th Avenue/Ward  D/C E/E WB 2nd left turn lane Out of 
Jurisdiction 

D/D 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 72Packet Page     160



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-11 
Executive Summary 
 

Discussion that follows focuses on select locations of Interlocken Loop, SH 128, Indiana Street, 
SH 72, and portions of SH 93.  These discussions are based on the 2015 and 2035 traffic and 
operations data included in this report. 

Interlocken Loop.  Using DRCOG data, Interlocken Loop will run 22,700 trips a day in 2015 
without the project and 35,300 trips with the project.  The intersection at SH 128 will operate at 
approximately Level of Service F, until portions of the interchange are built.  The results for 
2035 are also for a poor level of service in the area north of SH 128, regardless of the project. 
Long term solutions for this location include additional grade-separated movements from SH 
128 north to 96th St which will need to be built by the Northwest Parkway. 

SH 128.  SH 128 will run 15,000 trips a day in 2015 west of Jefferson Parkway regardless of 
the project.  By 2035, travel will increase to 19,000 with the No Build and remain at 15,000 with 
the construction of the Parkway.  Parkway LOS at SH 128 is shown as F in 2015 improving to B 
by 2035 with completion of the regional arterial connection with Northwest Parkway. 

Indiana Street.  Indiana Street daily traffic volumes will decrease by 12,000 in 2015 with the 
construction of Jefferson Parkway and decrease by 20,000 along the portions parallel to the 
Jefferson Parkway.  The intersection of Indiana and SH 128 (where the Parkway is not adjacent 
to Indiana) will operate at an improved level of service in 2015 with the implementation of the 
project, but by 2035 operations will be poor regardless of the Parkway.  LOS at Indiana and SH 
72 will decrease from E to F in 2015 with the implementation of the Ultimate Project.  LOS F is 
forecasted for both scenarios for 2035. 

SH 72.  Traffic on SH 72 west of Jefferson Parkway to SH 93 will run at approximately 10,000 
trips in 2015, increasing by 1,000 trips with the construction of the Parkway.  By 2035, SH 72 
will carry just under 15,000 trips with a reduction of 3,000 trips shown with construction of the 
Ultimate Project.  Parkway LOS at SH 72 will be B in 2015 and C by 2035. 

SH 93.  SH 93 traffic (north of 64th Avenue Parkway) will generally flow at 23,000+ trips per day 
in 2015 without the project. The 2035 No Build continues with this trend at 24,000 to 30,000 
trips per day.   

 The SH 128 intersection with SH 93 will operate at LOS D in 2015 and worsening to LOS E 
by 2035 without the project.  With implementation of the project, LOS B occurs in 2015, but 
by 2035 LOS F will occur at SH 128 and SH 93.   

 SH 72 and SH 93 will operate at LOS E and F regardless of the project.   
 Further to the south, LOS at SH 93 is not influenced by the Parkway to the extent that LOS 

F is anticipated at SH 58 and US 6 locations by 2015 with or without the project.   
 The Jefferson Parkway connection with SH 93 would operate at LOS E-F in 2015 without 

congestion related improvements, but upon completion of the interchange will be a freeflow 
connection by 2035. 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 73Packet Page     161



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-12 
Executive Summary 
 

Jefferson Parkway Toll Road and Northwest Parkway Arterial Benefits 

Completion of the Ultimate Project will be a significant step toward completion of the northwest 
portion of the urban beltway.  Completing the beltway will result in removal of through traffic off 
of local streets onto the beltway and will provide a travel corridor for traffic traveling to and from 
the west and northeast portions of the state. 

It is clear that the Jefferson Parkway and associated Northwest Parkway extension are needed 
to provide transportation links that will enable Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield,  
and Arvada to complete planned development for the Interlocken and Candelas Urban Centers 
and other associated development within the Northwest Corridor Study Area.  By 2015, under 
the most conservative of forecasts, Jefferson Parkway will carry 18-24,000 trips per day that 
won’t be going on other streets.  Conservatively, by 2035, Jefferson Parkway and extended 
Northwest Parkway will carry 23–39,000 trips per day.  With completion of improvements to the 
Southern Section, the Jefferson Parkway could approach 70,000+ trips that would not use 
parallel roadways. 

The Jefferson Economic Council (JEC) noted that the economic and fiscal Impacts on Jefferson 
County of development in the Northwest Corridor area with construction of the roadway is nearly 
double the impact without the roadway (JEC, 2007).  Recognizing the current economic decline 
nationally and the continued dedication of developers and businesses within the Northwest 
Corridor Study Area, it remains likely that a beneficial level of economic and fiscal impacts will 
occur. 

Completion of the Southern Section Would Provide Further Benefits 

The traffic analysis indicates that there are both congestion and traffic safety needs for the 
project. Once improvements are made to SH 93, including the section through Golden, an 
improved alternate route for trips moving in the northwest portion of the region will be available. 
This route will facilitate travel and relieve congestion on both local and arterial streets in the 
study area. 

The 2035 Ultimate Project model run based on a completed regional arterial link in the Southern 
Section and updated small area employment 
showed Jefferson Parkway traffic more than 
double what is shown without Southern Section 
improvements.  Daily traffic numbers were 
forecasted in the 70,000+ range.  Completion of 
this link resulted in reductions to parallel arterials such as SH 121 (Wadsworth, Simms and 
Indiana Streets) and increased demands for trips along SH 58. 

Significant reductions in traffic on I-25, I-76 and I-70 in the northwest quadrant of the Denver 
metropolitan area are expected to occur upon completion of the entire beltway. 

Completion of the entire beltway connection, 

including the Southern Section, will dramatically 

increase Parkway use and reduce trips on 

parallel streets. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 74Packet Page     162



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-13 
Executive Summary 
 

PROJECT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS AND MITIGATION  

All environmental impacts identified are based on the worse case scenario and larger project 
footprint that was identified in the TEPS.  Note that elimination of the Southern Section, regional 
and principal arterial improvements, significantly reduced environmental impacts.  As the 
Jefferson Parkway Ultimate Project design is refined, the direct impacts are expected to 
decrease. 

To the extent applicable environmental impacts, best management construction practices and 
mitigation described for the 2035 Ultimate Project also apply to the 2015 Phased Project.  
Future agency involvement with the JPPHA and Jefferson Parkway will occur specifically in 
relationship to the following activities: 

 Environmental Analysis for the Phased and Ultimate Access to SH 128 - to accommodate 
CDOT access requirements and provide public involvement opportunities as appropriate 

 Environmental Analysis for the Phased and Ultimate Access to SH 72 - to accommodate 
CDOT access requirements and provide public involvement opportunities as appropriate 

 Environmental Analysis for the Phased and Ultimate Access to SH 93 - to accommodate 
CDOT access requirements and provide public involvement opportunities as appropriate 

 Potential coordination of impact details and mitigation with the USFWS for impacts to the 
Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge as identified in the CCP/EIS. 

 Coordination project-wide with appropriate federal, state and local agencies regarding 
compliance with but not limited to the Clean Water Act, the Endangered Species Act, and 
the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. 

Cumulative impacts assessed in the TEPS process did not identify large impacts in proportion to 
activities underway regardless of the proposed project.  Many area jurisdictions anticipate full 
buildout within the next 20 to 30 years resulting in a number of development and infrastructure 
projects in the Northwest Corridor Study Area.  These reasonably foreseeable future projects 
would result in associated cumulative impacts of a larger magnitude than the direct impacts 
associated with the implementation of the proposed Ultimate Project.   

The following environmental consequences and mitigation table summarizes the worse case 
impacts associated with the Ultimate Project (combined Northern and Central Sections) for all 
project resources. 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 75Packet Page     163



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-14 
Executive Summary 
 

Table ES-2. ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES AND MITIGATION SUMMARY 

 
Resource 

Area 
No Build Ultimate Project

1
 

Land Use Continued population and employment 
growth are expected in the area without 
the proposed improvements. It is 
possible that the rate of development 
may occur at a slower rate if no 
improvements are made.  The No Build 
is not consistent with Jefferson County, 
City and County of Broomfield or City of 
Arvada land use and transportation 
plans. 

Land would be converted from an existing use to a 
transportation use along the Ultimate Project Route. 
Up to 802 of these acres may be acquired from Rocky 
Flats Wildlife Refuge. This acquisition is consistent with 
Refuge plans.  These effected areas are compatible 
with future development and land use within the 
corridor.   

Social Conditions Potential direct and indirect impacts on 
communities caused by traffic 
congestion and impaired mobility (i.e., 
increased air pollution and noise, longer 
travel times, neighborhood traffic 
intrusion, deteriorating safety 
conditions, and lengthened emergency 
response time). 

Improved traffic operations (level of service) will reduce 
congestion and improve mobility.  Local traffic patterns 
will be refocused as a result of the implementation of 
the Ultimate Project. 

Environmental 
Justice 

Potential impacts from unmitigated 
noise and congestion to all populations. 

No evidence of disproportionately high and adverse 
effects to low-income or minority populations along the 
Ultimate Project alignment. 

Economic The No Build is not consistent with 
Jefferson County, City and County of 
Broomfield or City of Arvada land use 
and transportation plans and as such 
will not support economic development 
already approved or planned. 

Jobs created from construction include direct and 
indirect employment. One business relocation is 
anticipated. There is a potential loss of annual tax base 
related to right-of-way acquisition. The Ultimate Project 
will also provide improvement to commercial and 
regional activity center access. 

Right of Way No Right of Way is required if no 
improvements are made. 

The Ultimate Project would require three residential 
relocations and one business relocations.  Right-of-
way acquisition and dedications for the Jefferson 
Parkway are in progress by the JPPHA and associated 
entities. 

Air Regardless of which alternative is selected, no alternative will result in exceeding air quality 
standards. Due to cleaner vehicles, future daily air pollutant levels for most pollutants are 
predicted to be lower than current levels, even with more vehicles on the roads. Total particulate 
matter levels may increase in the future because of more vehicles, but the preliminary analysis 
indicates the concentrations would meet the NAAQS. 

Noise The number of predicted impacted 
receivers in the Northwest Corridor 
Study Area for all three corridor sections 
(may represent more than one 
residence) in 2030 is: 56 residential and 
no commercial. There are currently 39 
residential properties and no 
commercial properties impacted under 
existing conditions. 

Two apartment buildings and one single family 
residential site will be impacted for the Ultimate Project 
under the 2030 model. (2035 update was not done for 
this level of analysis.)  The CDOT TEPS recommended 
noise mitigation for one apartment building location 
(Camden Interlocken). 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 76Packet Page     164



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-15 
Executive Summary 
 

Resource 
Area 

No Build Ultimate Project
1
 

Water Quality Continued growth in the area will result 
in increased impervious surface area 
with no roadway Best Management 
Practices (BMPs) except for minor 
improvements. 

Approximately 125 additional acres of impervious 
surface area will contribute to  potential water quality 
impacts. BMPs and coordination with local, county and 
state jurisdictions MS4 permit requirements for storm 
water management mitigation are necessary. 

Wetlands and 
Waters of the US 

No impacts will occur except for those 
associated with future growth within the 
study area. 

Based on the larger TEPS study footprint, the Ultimate 
project will directly affect 2.45 acres of wetlands; 1.13 
acres are jurisdictional.   
Avoidance and minimization during design and 
construction and compensatory mitigation are required 
by the USACE and CDOT.  Appropriate 404 Permits 
will be acquired. 

Floodplains No impacts will occur except for impacts 
associated with future growth within the 
study area. 

The Ultimate Project crosses the 100 year flood plain 
at Rock Creek, Woman Creek, Upper Big Dry Creek, 
Barbara Gulch, and Leyden Gulch and Ralston Creek. 
CLOMR /LOMR  are required during design. 

Vegetation, 
Wildlife, T&E 

No impacts are associated with this 
except for those associated with future 
growth within the study area. 

Loss of habitat will occur within the construction 
footprint. Noxious weed management will be 
necessary. Re-seed as appropriate, noxious weed 
management plan will be developed and implemented. 
Loss of xeric tallgrass prairie will occur.  Coordination 
with Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge will occur to minimize 
harm and identify mitigation as appropriate. 
Elk and deer movement corridors will be disrupted. 
Additional wildlife and birds could be disrupted. 
Mitigation may include improved crossing for small 
mammals, fencing and/or controlled crossings for deer 
and elk when desired. 
Fifteen acres of Preble’s meadow jumping mouse 
habitat will be impacted. Coordination with USFWS will 
occur to identify mitigation commitments. 
Bald eagle winter range and prairie dog habitat will be 
impacted, including 12 acres of the Broomfield Great 
Western Reservoir prairie dog relocation area. Prairie 
dog mitigation will be implemented as appropriate.  
Minimization of bald eagle activity disruption will be 
coordinated with CDOW 
MBTA compliance and appropriate nest survey 
Loss of riparian habitat (SB 40) will be identified during 
design and associated mitigation coordinated with 
CDOW. 
Ute ladies’-tresses orchid and burrowing owl surveys 
and mitigation as needed 

Visual No additional visual impacts if no 
proposed improvements are made. 

The combination of regional arterial and tollway has 
some degree of visual impact. Coordination with 
associated communities and keeping design consistent 
with the corridor is recommended to minimize visual 
impacts. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 77Packet Page     165



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-16 
Executive Summary 
 

Resource 
Area 

No Build Ultimate Project
1
 

Historic The No Build would leave historic and 
archaeological resources in their 
present state for the short term. 

Two historic properties will be affected by the Ultimate 
Project. The State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) 
has concurred with findings of No Adverse Effect these 
properties.   One archaeological site has been 
identified for which a finding of No Historic Properties 
Affected has been made. 
 
Recommendations are to update the SHPO as the 
project progresses to ensure continued status of no 
impacts. 

Paleontological All alternatives have the potential to adversely impact paleontological resources.  Monitoring may 
be required during initial construction excavation activities. 

Hazardous 
Materials 

No Impacts. Right-of-way concerns:  
 4  parcels with recognized environmental 

conditions  
 23 parcels with sites of concern 

A site-specific risk assessment may be needed to 
document that the project would not pose an 
unacceptable risk to human health and the 
environment during and after construction at  Rocky 
Flats Wildlife Refuge (RFETS). 
Additional studies, remediation, and site specific health 
and safety plans are recommended. 

Utilities No impacts are expected except for 
impacts associated with future growth 
within the study area. 

Utility impacts related to the Ultimate Project will be 
identified during design and coordinated with 
appropriate utility companies. 

Parks and 
Recreation 

No impacts will occur except for those 
associated with future growth within the 
study area. 

6.48 acres of direct impacts to parks, recreation areas, 
open space and trails may occur. The following 
resources will be impacted by the Ultimate Project: 
 Omni Interlocken Golf Course  
 StorageTek Drive Trail  
 Interlocken Loop Bike Trails  
 Little Dry Creek-SH 72 Trail 
 Big Dry Creek-Upper Twin Lakes Trail  
 Leyden Gulch Trail 

Coordination with owner agencies regarding 
minimization of resource disruptions and mitigation will 
occur. Landscaping as appropriate, preservation of trail 
crossings, and replacement of paved trails in a similar 
location are recommended mitigation actions. 

Farmland No impacts will occur, except for 
impacts associated with future growth 
within the study area. 

Farmland Impacts will be identified to the extent 
applicable in future EAs, since areas included in urban 
land use plan areas are not subject to the Farmland 
Protection Act. 

Geology No impacts will occur, except for those 
associated with future growth within the 
study area. 

Alignment locations through expansive soils and 
known faults will be clarified during design related 
geotechnical analyses and future EAs as applicable. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 78Packet Page     166



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-17 
Executive Summary 
 

Resource 
Area 

No Build Ultimate Project
1
 

Construction No impacts will occur. Impacts from construction activities include traffic 
disruption, air and noise.  Water quality and wildlife 
impacts are detailed above.  BMPs will be employed to 
minimize construction impacts as appropriate. 

Energy Least amount of impacts occur with the 
No Build. 

TEPS shows 4.3% more energy consumed for the 
Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) 
than the No Build alternative.  No additional analyses 
have been conducted at this time. 

Section 4(f) (only 
relevant 
regarding federal 
transportation 
involvement) 

No impacts will occur. Historic Properties - potential de minimis use of both 
properties noted under Historic above. 
Parks and Trails - potential de minimis use of all public 
parks and trails noted under Parks and Recreation 
above. 
Wildlife and Waterfowl Refuge - potential de minimis 
use of Great Western Reservoir noted under 
Vegetation, Wildlife and T&E 
 
Impacts to resources will be minimized and 
coordination with appropriate agencies will occur as 
identified for specific resources above.   

Rocky Flats 
National Wildlife 
Refuge 

No impacts will occur. Should right-of-way be acquired, coordination with the 
USFWS will occur as appropriate. 

 
1 Impacts of both the Northern and Central Sections are combined as the Ultimate Project for this table. 
2 The Rocky Flats Final CCP & EIS identifies up to 99 acres along the entire east side of the Refuge. 
Source: Originally TEPS Table 4.26-1. Modified by Stantec for Ultimate Project 

 

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT PROCESS 

CDOT conducted an extensive agency and public outreach process during the five years of the 
TEPS study process.  The Ultimate Project described in this System Level Study is based on 
that outcome. 

The TEPS Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) was the result of modifications to 
better fit community context.  It was also intended to integrate water quality ponds and wildlife 
corridor crossings, minimize impacts to parks and recreation areas, eligible historic features and 
archaeological resources.  The northern portion was modified to improve local access to the 
Interlocken/Flatiron Crossing area.  This alternative was designed largely as a result of the 
intense agency and public involvement process.   

Governmental entities and regional stakeholders were included throughout the robust outreach 
and public involvement process.  The Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) was 
supported by most jurisdictions; however, full consensus was not achieved.  The JPPHA will 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 79Packet Page     167



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-18 
Executive Summary 
 

facilitate public and agency involvement as appropriate to future project actions including but not 
limited to continuing application for access permits to SH 128, SH 72 and SH 93. 

PHASING AND FUNDING  

Due to potential funding constraints, the Jefferson Parkway has been preliminarily planned as 
improvements plus new construction that will provide basic links to the existing State Highway 
system and arterial roadways, but will be expanded and improved over time to accommodate 
larger traffic volumes and achieve better efficiency. The initial construction cost estimate is $204 
million (year of expenditure dollar terms). This cost includes construction of the mainline facility, 
half interchanges leading to and from the north at SH 72 and Cimarron Parkway, access to 
Indiana Street, and intersection improvements to SH 128 and SH 93, totaling $128 million. 
Adding soft costs, utility work, right of way, and tolling equipment costs, brings the total to 
approximately $204 million.  

The initial construction is expected to take place under a design-build contract beginning at the 
end of 2010 and lasting approximately three years. Enhancements to the facility totaling 
approximately $354 million will take place over time between 2020 and 2050.   

Based on system needs analyses performed by comparing the 2035 DRCOG land use with the 
2015 transportation network, the trigger for improvement would be a policy to maintain LOS D or 
better at each state highway intersection. If the area develops at the rate expected by DRCOG, 
some improvements may be required prior to 2035.  Identification of dates is tentative and 
would need to be adjusted based on economic conditions, land use changes, and other 
transportation network improvements within the corridor that would generate traffic operational 
needs that support the implementation of the interchange improvements. 

The intent of this project is to build and improve the road to the level required in order to 
maintain unrestricted traffic flow along the facility but not to spend funds on improvements that 
are not needed. This process of staging improvements over the life of the facility will be followed 
by the Parkway Authority. The Jefferson Parkway is committed to a policy to improve and 
expand our project over time in a manner that maintains traffic flow at a level of service D or 
better at the key study area intersections. 

The project is expected to be procured in a 
design-build / concession format. The Jefferson 
Parkway Public Highway Authority (JPPHA) 
expects to enter into an agreement with a private 
entity which will develop, finance, design, build, 
operate and maintain the project for a 
predetermined time period allowing a fair return prior to handing the asset back to the JPPHA. 
Ownership of the facility will remain with the JPPHA. The agreement will provide all 
requirements for initial construction as well as ongoing operations and maintenance. No public 
funding (state or federal) is currently anticipated to be dedicated for the construction, operation, 

The Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 

expects to enter into an agreement with a private 

entity which will develop, finance, design, build, 

operate and maintain the project. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 80Packet Page     168



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-19 
Executive Summary 
 

or maintenance of the facility during the development or concession periods. Concession 
returns and debt repayment will be provided through toll revenue collection on the Parkway.   

The preliminary financial plan consists of about 70% of taxable debt and 30% equity 
contribution. Standard market based assumptions for debt issuance including interest rates, 
issuance costs, debt service coverage ratios, and reserve accounts are incorporated into the 
analysis. Given a stable political environment and stable financial markets, an investment grade 
traffic and revenue study, and a feasible construction approach, the project is considered 
financially feasible in that the project revenues are expected to cover all initial and ongoing 
project costs while generating a reasonable return to the private partner.  

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

The JPPHA project offers a significant transportation infrastructure public-private funding 
opportunity of as much as $400 million to the Northwest Corridor Study area with very few 
community and environmental impacts.  In addition to funding and minimal impacts, the 
following opportunities are associated with this project: 

 Complete an additional portion of the beltway around the Denver metro area, leading to 
future attraction of trips from interstate facilities (I-25, I-70, I-76) upon completion of the 
entire beltway. 

 Improve local and regional transportation system connectivity and functionality providing an 
improved connection between Northwest Parkway in Broomfield County and SH93 in 
Jefferson County. 

 Expand capacity to support land use planning and meet population and employment growth 
forecasts for Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield, and City of Arvada. 

 Specifically to provide transportation links for the Interlocken and Candelas Urban Centers 
and other existing and new development. 

 Provide opportunities to reduce travel time and improve reliability of travel in a corridor  
 Support opportunities for transit mode choices by providing space within the project cross-

section for future options. 
 Utilize CDOT identified route location based on five years of public and agency input with 

minimal impacts to community and natural environment 
 Improve safety at connections and by providing a reliable travel route in a corridor where 

heavy congestion is forecasted. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 81Packet Page     169



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                ES-20 
Executive Summary 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 82Packet Page     170



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-1 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

1.0 INTRODUCTION - PURPOSE AND NEED 

The Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority (JPPHA) proposes roadway improvements in 
the northwest Denver metropolitan region to fulfill long-time local and regional needs.  The 
JPPHA proposes to bring over $400 million of needed investment to the region’s transportation 
system through a public-private partnership for this project. This System Level Study analyzes 
the need, impacts, and benefits of proposed improvements and requests approval for 
connections to state facilities, through Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) 1601 
Policy and Procedure, so the project may be included in the fiscally constrained Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP).  This is the first of a multi-step effort. Upon approval of this 
document by the CDOT Chief Engineer and review by the Colorado Transportation 
Commission, the project will be submitted to the Denver Regional Council of Governments 
(DRCOG) for inclusion in the RTP and for air quality conformity analysis. Subsequent analyses 
will include appropriate detailed environmental studies and public involvement opportunities for 
state highway access at SH 128, SH 72 and SH 93 for the Ultimate Project. 

1.1 PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION 

Jefferson County, the City and County of Broomfield, and the City of Arvada established the 
Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority (JPPHA) in May 2008.1 The mission of the JPPHA 
is to fulfill transportation needs in the area by completing a portion of the last remaining unbuilt 
section of the Denver metropolitan beltway system.  The Jefferson Parkway is proposed to be a  
toll facility from SH 128 near Interlocken Loop to SH 93 near 64th Avenue Parkway,located 
predominately in unincorporated Jefferson County.  This project is nearly identical to the tollway 
portion or central section of the Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) that was 
studied at length by the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) and documented in the 
Northewest Corridor Transportation and Environmental Planning Study (TEPS).  In keeping with 
the mission of the JPPHA, this System Level Study is submitted to CDOT. 

This system analysis also includes a Northwest Parkway Regional Arterial Extension, proposed 
improvements that would connect the western terminus of the Northwest Parkway at 96th Street 
with the northern terminus of the proposed Jefferson Parkway at SH 128.  These improvements 
are within the jurisdiction of the Northwest Parkway Public Highway Authority.  This separate 
and foreseeably fundable project is essentially the regional arterial, northern section of the 
Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) from the TEPS.  

                                                 
 
1 In 2003, Arvada, Broomfield and Jefferson County initiated a local effort to complete the beltway’s remaining 20 miles but 
postponed that effort at CDOT’s request. CDOT then initiated the Northwest Corridor Study and put forth extensive effort to gain 
consensus from local governments. However, due to lack of funds to construct the project and the inability to reach consensus, 
CDOT officially dropped the project on June 2, 2008. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 83Packet Page     171



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-2 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

The proposed action is presented with two levels of improvements: a general opening day 2015 
Phased Project and a 2035 Ultimate Project. 

The CDOT Northwest Corridor Study Area or TEPS Study Area, divided into three sections: 
northern, central and southern, represents a broad area that extends west of SH 93, north of US 
36, east of SHS 121 and south to I-70 and C-470.  The Ultimate Project is physically located 
within the northern and central sections of the Northwest Corridor Study Area.  The Northwest 
Parkway Regional Arterial Extension is location in the northern section. The Jefferson Parkway 
is located within the central section of the Northwest Corridor Study Area. 

1.1.1 TEPS Status and Project Comparison 

Due to declining funding and a lack of community consensus, CDOT decided not to complete 
the Northwest Corridor Environmental Impact Statement, a federally-required study necessary 
to identify impacts of transportation improvements funded by federal dollars. Instead, data 
collected was used to create a new Northwest Corridor Transportation and Environmental 
Planning Study (TEPS) that was made 
available to the public in July 2008 for use by 
other governmental agencies or the private 
sector should an entity decide to move 
forward with a future project that does not 
involve federal funding. The TEPS is hereby 
incorporated by reference as a part of the current Jefferson Parkway System Level Study as 
applicable.  The TEPS contains in-depth analyses of northwest corridor alternatives, 
environmental impacts and mitigation options, and a record of public involvement activities that 
are relevant to the current project.   The complete TEPS is available on-line at 
http://www.dot.state.co.us/NorthwestCorridorEIS/finalreport.cfm (also see attached CD). 

The Ultimate Project contains similar elements of the Combined Alternative (Recommended 
Alternative) from the TEPS as noted above: the regional arterial, northern section and the 
tollway, central section.   

The Ultimate Project does not include the 7.5 mile principal arterial alignment improvements on 
Indiana Street and McIntyre Street that were a part of the TEPS Recommended Alternative.  
These improvements have been eliminated due to lack of local support.  Also elimination of this 
arterial segment greatly reduces project impacts to adjacent properties. 

Because the jurisdiction of the JPPHA only extends south to 64th Avenue, the Ultimate Project 
also does not include the regional arterial, southern section of the project described in the 
TEPS.  This section would run south of the 64th Avenue Parkway to C-470. These 
improvements are assumed to be the responsibility of CDOT and/or area governments, and no 
funding or project commitment is available at this time.  Some discussion on this section of the 
corridor is included due to the potential for the proposed Ultimate Project to result in indirect and 
cumulative impacts to this section of the corridor.  

The Northwest Corridor Transportation and 
Environmental Planning Study (TEPS) is hereby 

incorporated by reference as a part of the current 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 84Packet Page     172



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-3 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

Northern Section 

The Ultimate Project is a merged and packaged alternative bringing together two different 
roadway classifications: tollway and major regional arterial. From the Northwest Parkway to SH 
128, the facility is classified as a major regional arterial. (This would be an extension of the 
Northwest Parkway.) From SH 128 to just north of the 64th Avenue Parkway, the facility is 
classified as a tollway. (This is the proposed Jefferson Parkway project.) From this point south 
to C-470, no improvements are committed at this time.  The total length to connect the existing 
Northwest Parkway with C-470 is 20.1 miles.  

The alignment between Northwest Parkway and 
SH 93 is a mixture of a high-speed tollway facility 
(55–70 mph posted speed) that is fully access 
controlled with the use of interchanges and a 
lower-speed major regional arterial facility (45–55 
mph posted speed) that is access-controlled with 
the use of interchanges and intersections. 
Spacing between interchanges is generally one 
mile or greater (see Figure 1-1). The alignment 
between Northwest Parkway and SH 93 consists of four to six through lanes with an overall 
width ranging from 122 feet to 144 feet as measured from edge of outside shoulder to edge of 
outside shoulder. A regional bike trail was proposed along the alignment of the Combined 
Alternative. The Ultimate Project will take this commitment into consideration.   
The intent of the JPPHA is to implement the Jefferson Parkway project as a green project 
utilizing sustainable design and construction practices, including but not limited to the use of 
LED lighting, ITS programs, and non-stop tolling such as license plate tolls, as well as solar and 
wind power sources as appropriate.   

 

1.1.2 Northern Section 

The northern section is proposed as a regional arterial by 2035 and extends between SH 128 
and 96th Street on the north (Interlocken area). The Northwest Parkway Public Highway 
Authority has responsibility for maintenance and improvements to this section of roadway 
contingent on the construction of the Central Section described below.  

The northern section of the 
alignment begins at the 
intersection of Northwest 
Parkway and 96th Street 
and follows the existing 
alignment of 96th Street 
and Interlocken Loop to SH 
128. Improvements to both 
96th Street and Interlocken 
Loop will include widening to six through lanes and adding on-street bike lanes in each 
direction. Existing access to and from US 36 and commercial and residential areas, including  

The Ultimate Project includes two different 

roadway classifications: tollway and major 

regional arterial. From the Northwest Parkway to 

SH 128, the facility is classified as a major 

regional arterial. From SH 128 to just north of the 

64
th

 Avenue Parkway, the facility is classified as a 

tollway. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 85Packet Page     173



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-4 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

Figure 1-1. ULTIMATE PROJECT 

 

 
Source: Compiled by Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 86Packet Page     174



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-5 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

Central Section
(4-lane 2015 Phased Project) 

the Flatiron Crossing Mall, along this section of the alignment will be maintained much as it is 
today. This is consistent with the US 36 Corridor DEIS (US 36 Corridor Draft Environmental 
Impact Statement/Draft Section 4(f) Evaluation, July 2007). At the SH 128 interchange, the 
major regional arterial will transition to a tollway. Southbound travelers will be required to pay 
tolls after they pass through this interchange. 

The northern section consists of curb and gutter and three 11-foot through lanes in each 
direction, no inside shoulders, 10-foot outside shoulders, 6-foot on-street bike lanes, and a 
28-foot raised landscaped median. This is consistent with the typical roadway configuration of 
the Northwest Parkway for at-grade facilities. 

1.1.3 Central Section 

The tollway section extending from the SH 128 interchange to north of the 64th Avenue Parkway 
interchange is within the jurisdiction of the Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority (JPPHA) 
and is called the Jefferson Parkway.  

The central section 
begins at the SH 128 
interchange and 
follows an alignment 
south to the 64th 
Avenue Parkway 
interchange. This 
section is primarily 
located in 
undeveloped rural 
areas. From the SH 128 interchange, the alignment heads southwest through open ground 
where a local interchange with the future Eldorado Boulevard will be constructed. This 
interchange will serve planned future development in the area.  Plans for this area include the 
future relocation of Simms Street proposed in association with the future improvements to the 
Rocky Mountain Metropolitan Airport.  Future exit and entrance ramps are planned as the need 
arises. 

Jefferson Parkway crosses to the west side of Indiana Street near Walnut Creek.  Ramps will be 
designed for the northbound exit and southbound entrance movements from Jefferson Parkway 
to Indiana Street in this area. Local traffic on Indiana Street will continue to operate independent 
of the tollway but at a slower speed due to traffic calming. The Jefferson Parkway alignment 
then parallels Indiana Street, potentially to the west along the eastern boundary of the Rocky 
Flats Wildlife Refuge. 

The alignment continues south along the west side of Indiana Street beyond 96th Avenue and 
turns southwest where a local access to Cimarron Parkway (Candelas access) will be 
constructed.  The initial construction will include two ramps providing Jefferson Parkway access 
to and from the north at Cimarron Parkway with the ultimate construction including completion of 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 87Packet Page     175



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-6 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

the two remaining ramps. The alignment continues southwest through undeveloped land to SH 
72 where a new interchange will be constructed. Planned future development in this area will be 
served by this interchange.  

The new alignment will bridge across Leyden Road and interchange with SH 93. This 
interchange will provide access to Boulder from SH 93 to the north. From this interchange to the 
south, SH 93 will remain uninterrupted by the tollway lanes. The Ultimate Project tollway 
alignment parallels SH 93 on the west to a point north of the 64th Avenue Parkway interchange 
that will serve as a connection to community facilities within the area such as the Jefferson 
County North Athletic Complex. Just north of this interchange, the tollway transitions to the 
existing facility and follows the alignment of SH 93.  

The tollway alignment from SH 128 to the transition contains four lanes with 12-foot through 
lanes, 8 foot inside shoulders, 12-foot outside shoulders, and a 56-foot depressed grass 
median. Adequate median width is provided in order to ensure that future transportation 
improvements are not precluded. The existing SH 93 facility has a two lane section with 12-foot 
through lanes and generally substandard shoulders. 

1.1.4 Southern Section - No Committed Improvements 

This section utilizes the existing facility through 2035 and runs south of the 64th Avenue 
Parkway to C-470. At this time no improvements are assumed, and no funding commitments 
have been identified by CDOT and or other area governments.  

Continuing south, the alignment remains on existing SH 93.  The US 6/SH 58 interchange 
provides a regional connection to westbound US 6 to the west and SH 58 to the east. 
Westbound US 6 continues to provide access through Clear Creek Canyon to Blackhawk and 
Central City and SH 58  provide access to downtown Golden and I-70. Regional traffic will 
connect to C-470 utilizing the existing ramps that connect to US 6.  

1.1.5 2015 Phased Project 

In order to make the Ultimate Project financially 
feasible, the project is planned to be constructed 
in phases.  The initial phase, planned to be open 
by 2015, will involve construction of an affordable 
functional facility with at-grade intersections at 
project termini (SH 128 and a new signal north of 
64th Avenue Parkway at SH 93) and half 
interchanges leading to and from the north at SH 72, at the north end of Indiana Street, and at 
Cimarron Parkway (see Chapter 2.3 for more details). The phased project is illustrated on 
Figure 1-2.  

The initial phase of the Jefferson Parkway 

Tollway will provide an affordable functional 

facility with at-grade intersections at project 

termini (SH 128 and a new signal north of 64
th

 

Avenue Parkway at SH 93) and half interchanges 

leading to and from the north at SH 72, at the 

north end of Indiana Street,  and at Cimarron 

Parkway. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 88Packet Page     176



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-7 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

Figure 1-2. 2015 PHASED PROJECT  

 

 
Source: Compiled by Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 89Packet Page     177



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-8 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

1.2 PROJECT HISTORY AND CONTEXT 

The proposed Ultimate Project will fill a significant section of the remaining gap in the “470” 
circumferential beltway around the Denver metropolitan area. The other sections are identified 
as follows: 

 C-470. The 26 mile C-470 Parkway was completed from I-70 near 6th Avenue on the 
northwest to I-25 near County Line Road to the southeast in 1990 by the Colorado 
Department of Transportation. 

  E-470. The 47-mile E-470 was completed in 2002 from I-25 near 160th Avenue on the 
north, south and east joining C-470 at I-25 near County Line Road. E-470 was developed as 
a toll facility by the E-470 Public Highway Authority, formed under Colorado statutes by the 
governmental jurisdictions of Adams, Arapahoe, and Douglas Counties and the City of 
Aurora in 1985. DRCOG included all portions of E-470 in the 2010 Regional Transportation 
Plan, adopted in 1987. 

 W-470. To provide connectivity for the remaining portion of this circumferential highway, the 
W-470 Public Highway Authority was created by the Counties of Adams and Jefferson, and 
the Cities of Arvada, Broomfield, Golden, Lafayette, Louisville, Superior and Westminster in 
1987. The W-470 Authority pursued the development of a toll facility from I-25/E-470 near 
160th Avenue to I-70/C-470. The proposed alignment generally followed the current 
Northwest Parkway alignment from I-25 to US 36 and 88th Avenue then followed Indiana 
Street, SH 72, SH 93, and US 6. DRCOG conducted the W-470 study with participation from 
most communities in the project study area. In 1987, DRCOG officially designated W-470 as 
part of the 2010 Regional Transportation Plan with the notation that the alignment and 
interchanges were under study and subject to change. The W-470 Public Highway Authority 
pursued a special election for a vehicle registration fee to fund the development process. 
The ballot issue was defeated, and the authority discontinued the study.  

 SH 93. During the period from 1987 to 1989, CDOT, the City of Golden, Jefferson County, 
and affected property owners collaborated on the planning, funding, and dedication of right-
of-way for the construction of the SH 93 Bypass to the west of Golden. This facility was 
constructed in 1992 and extended SH 93 from Washington Avenue to the intersection of 
US 6 and SH 58.  

 C-470 extension. In January 1995, the City of Golden proposed to extend C-470 to US 6 
from I-70 which was consistent with the DRCOG 2015 Interim Regional Transportation Plan. 
CDOT, Jefferson County, and the City of Golden entered into Intergovernmental 
Agreements in 1997 to fund and construct this extension. CDOT completed Phase I in 1999 
and Phase II in 2005. This provides access to westbound I-70 from southbound C-470 and 
also provides access to northbound C-470 from eastbound I-70.  

 Northwest Parkway. The Northwest Parkway Public Highway Authority was formed by 
Broomfield County, Weld County, and the City of Lafayette in June 1999 as a result of the 
Colorado Public Highway Authority Act. The Northwest Parkway tollway opened on 
November 24, 2003. It extends 10 miles from E-470 at I-25 to the north and west, circling 
southward to just north of US 36 at the current 96th Street/US 36 interchange.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 90Packet Page     178



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-9 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

In addition to the TEPS, studies on the remaining link (between the Northwest Parkway 
terminus at 96th Street and the C-470 extension) include: 

o Northwest Quadrant Feasibility Study (January 2001) commissioned by Jefferson County 
and the Cities of Arvada, Golden, Lakewood, Westminster, and Wheat Ridge. 

o Golden’s Plan for the Highway 6 & 93 Corridor (commonly referred to as the Muller Study, 
August 2002) commissioned by the City of Golden. 

o In November 2003, CDOT began a formal EIS process to study transportation 
improvements that would provide a connection between the Northwest Parkway and C-470. 

o In June 2004, the City of Arvada conducted a separate analysis titled Tollway Corridor 
Investigation Study to assess the feasibility of a tolled roadway between SH 128 and SH 93 
at 64th Avenue Parkway. This was a limited analysis that studied only a portion of the 
corridor and was not associated with the EIS.  

o In November 2004, RTD’s FasTracks initiative was passed to fund several transit corridors 
throughout the Denver metropolitan area. Transit corridors along US 36 and US 6 will 
connect the Denver central business district with the project study area. These planned 
transit corridors are part of the Northwest 
Corridor “No Action” scenario.  

 Jefferson Parkway.  In 2008, Jefferson County, 
the City and County of Broomfield, and the City of 
Arvada created the Jefferson Parkway Public 
Highway Authority (JPPHA). The mission of the 
JPPHA is to complete a portion of the last 
remaining unbuilt section of the Denver 
metropolitan beltway system as a toll facility from 
SH 128 near Interlocken Loop to SH 93 near 64th 
Avenue Parkway. 

 

1.3 PROJECT PURPOSE AND NEED 

1.3.1 Jefferson Parkway Project Purpose and Need 

The purpose of the proposed Jefferson Parkway project is to provide a new transportation 
facility between SH 128 and SH 93 to be financed, designed, built, operated, and maintained as 
a toll road through a public-private partnership with associated separately committed and 
funded improvements to the connection between the Northwest Parkway and SH 128.  
Implementation of this project provides a significant contribution to the completion of the “470” 
beltway around the Denver metropolitan region. The Northwest Corridor alignment has been 
included on regional plans since 1987 when the W-470 project became a part of the 2010 
Regional Transportation Plan, even thought this project has not yet appeared in a fiscally 
constrained transportation plan. 

Mission: The Jefferson Parkway Public 

Highway Authority (JPPHA) will complete 

a portion of  the last remaining  unbuilt 

section of the Denver metropolitan 

beltway, the Jefferson Parkway, through a 

public-private partnership to finance, 

design, build, operate, and maintain the 

Parkway. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 91Packet Page     179



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-10 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

The proposed project will fulfill the following project needs: 

 Transportation goals and objectives for enhanced connectivity, functionality and capacity 
within Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield and the City of Arvada - Completion 
of the project is expected to re-focus traffic from the local street system. 

 Transportation goals and objectives for improved regional connectivity - Completion of the 
Ultimate Project will be a significant step toward completion of the northwest portion of the 
urban beltway.  Completing the beltway will result in removal of through traffic off of local 
streets onto the beltway and will provide a travel corridor for traffic traveling to and from the 
west and northeast portions of the state attracting trips away from congested I-25, I-76, I-70, 
and more local routes such as SH 121 or SH 93. 

 Local land use, economic development, or growth objectives - Jefferson County, City and 
County of Broomfield and the City of Arvada have planned around and for this project for 
over 20 years.  For example, the City of Arvada has carried this circumferential highway in 
their transportation plans since as early as 1965.  Both Broomfield and Arvada have asked 
for additional urban center recognition on the DRCOG Metro Vision 2035 Plan for 
development projects within this corridor. 

 Improve transportation safety - Jefferson Parkway will provide a reliable non-congested 
alternative to travel in the corridor.  Also portions of SH 93 from 64th Avenue Parkway north 
have accident rates more than double the state average (CDOT Traffic Engineering Branch, 
2008).  Jefferson Parkway may improve traffic safety along SH 93 through a reduction in 
future traffic on SH 93 north of the Parkway interchange.   

 Multi-modal transportation objectives - Opportunity for future transit corridor development 
within the project right-of-way will be created. 

 Funding and revenue requirements - The toll revenues will provide a funding source 
(approximately $400 million) in lieu of federal, state and local funding resources, which are 
not available for this corridor. 

1.3.2 Correlation with TEPS Purpose and Need 

The proposed project purpose and needs are consistent with the purpose and needs as 
identified in the TEPS.  The key difference is that the current project does not include a southern 
section (neither the regional arterial not the principle arterial segments). 

The purpose of transportation improvements identified for the Northwest Corridor in the TEPS 
is to enhance the connectivity, functionality, and capacity of the inter-regional and regional 
system from the vicinity of US 36 and the Northwest Parkway to the vicinity of SH 58, I-70, or C-
470. This enhanced system will better accommodate the movement of people, goods, and 
services.  

Deficiencies in the current roadway system create the need for better system connectivity, 
capacity, reliability, and intermodal connections. The TEPS identified the following details on 
need:  

 System Connectivity and Functionality - Enhance the corridor's inter-regional and regional 
system for a more direct, well connected, and functional roadway system.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 92Packet Page     180



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-11 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

 Travel Demand and Capacity - Expand and enhance the system capacity to respond to 
future demand increases and improve inter-regional and regional movements of people, 
goods, and services.  

 Travel Reliability - Reduce the variability of travel times and improve driver expectancy.  
 Modal Inter-Relationships - Expand highway systems to provide enhanced access to transit 

choices to improve mobility through intermodal connections.  

1.4 SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

An Inter-Governmental Agreement (IGA) has been developed between the applicant, JPPHA, 
and CDOT, and this System Level Study is required under CDOT Policy Directive 1601.  An IGA 
has been signed between CDOT and JPPHA. This policy directive dictates that all requests for 
new interchanges and major improvement to existing interchanges be reviewed and evaluated 
in a fair and consistent manner and that sufficient information be available to make an informed 
decision.  

The purpose of this System Level Study is to identify the short and long-term environmental, 
community, safety and operation impacts of the proposed project intersections with existing 
state highways. Type 2 Improvements associated with the proposed Jefferson Parkway tollway 
project, are for new interchanges/intersections that are not on the interstate system or freeway 
system and are modifications or reconfigurations to existing interchanges. Type 2 system 
interchange requests may combine the System Level Study with the NEPA document prepared 
in compliance with the CDOT Environmental Stewardship Guide and submitted for approval by 
the Chief Engineer. Due to the complexity of this project and at the request of the Chief 
Engineer, this system level study will be presented to the Highway Commission.2  

The Policy Directive also recognizes that each request has unique circumstances and strives to 
reduce duplication in analyses.  To this end, it is recognized that the proposed project is not a 
single interchange request.  This project consists of three separate phased intersection (2015) 
to interchange (2035) connections to three state highways: SH 128, SH 72, and SH 93, the 
interconnecting roadway between as well as the future connection from SH 128 to the 
Northwest Parkway (not a state highway).   

Because no federal or state funding will be used for this project, and because an extensive 
environmental study has already been completed in the form of the TEPS, a separate (or 
duplicative) environmental analysis was not conducted for this project for the system level 
analysis. However, updated impact and mitigation plans for all sensitive environmental 
resources will be prepared prior to construction, based on the findings from review of the TEPS. 
Any changes in project footprint or impact area will also be identified. Additional environmental 
compliance and documentation is found in Chapter 4. 

                                                 
 
2 CDOT and JPPHA 1601 Process Pre-Application meeting on November 7, 2008. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 93Packet Page     181



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-12 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

The project funding plan will be a major component of the IGA, identifying responsibilities for the 
construction of the proposed project, ownership of the project and on-going maintenance.  
Chapter 5 contains a summary of the appropriate funding information. 

1.5 STUDY PROCESS 

All phases of the TEPS process are incorporated into this study by reference. The TEPS 
process included analysis of all relevant planning material and baseline data for an 
understanding of current conditions and future 2030 plans. The JPPHA Program Management 
Team has taken that information and developed updates to the long term 2030 traffic forecasts 
to 2035 for conditions in the area.  General population growth of 5.1 percent and employment 
increases of 6.1 percent are reflected in the 2035 forecast.  Identification of alternatives and 
associated impact and screening analysis has all been accomplished within the TEPS based on 
the 2030 traffic modeling where applicable. The TEPS alignment footprint for the Northern and 
Central Sections represents a worse case scenario for potential project impacts.  The current 
project definition reflects the elimination of the Southern Section regional arterial and the 
Indiana/McIntyre principal arterial improvements.  Additional project definition details are found 
in Chapter 2 and network assumptions and transportation forecasts comparing No Build and the 
Build project are detailed in Chapter 3. 

1.6 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 

1.6.1 Public Involvement Program Activity Summary 

Northwest Corridor project coordination began through CDOT with the publication of a notice of 
intent, in the Federal Register on July 21, 2003, advising the public that an EIS would be 
prepared for a proposed transportation improvement project in Boulder, Broomfield, and 
Jefferson Counties. The stakeholder mailing list exceeded 11,000. A project website was 
maintained throughout, newsletters were issued, meetings were held with agencies and 
interested public. Focus group meetings were held on key sensitive environmental resources, 
scoping meetings were held, corridor consensus and technical support committees were formed 
and meetings were held between 2004 and 2008. 

The CDOT and consultant study team hosted four rounds of public meetings in January, April 
and October 2004 and May/June 2005. Thirteen meetings were hosted at locations in Golden, 
Arvada, Westminster, Louisville, and Broomfield. Attendance ranged from approximately 40 to 
1,000 per meeting. A citizens’ working group was also formed during this time period and 
special outreach activities were also promoted. Public and agency coordination are summarized 
in detail in Chapter 6: Agency and Public Involvement and Chapter 7: Public Coordination of the 
TEPS. Table 1-1 provides a listing of all agency and public outreach conducted during the TEPS 
studies. 

While the proposed project elements have been the subject of detailed public involvement 
through the TEPS process, additional outreach is not a required separate element for the 
system level study documentation process since the focus of this analysis is compatibility with 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 94Packet Page     182



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-13 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

the existing and planned state and federal-aid transportation system.  Nonetheless, the JPPHA 
holds regular meetings that are open to the public, and includes meeting minutes and other 
project information on their website at www.JPPHA.org. Subsequent Environmental 
Assessment processes associated with each State Highway access will include full public 
involvement. 

The JPPHA and the JPPHA Program Management Team have full access to public process 
summaries and concerns for the currently proposed project.  Additional public involvement and 
outreach will be facilitated in association with the environmental assessment activities outlined 
in Chapter 4 for the interchanges with the state highway system at SH 128, SH 72 and SH 93. 

 

Table 1-1. AGENCY AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT SUMMARY 

Type of Activity Meeting Date Approximate Attendance 

Focus Groups: 
Noise 
Environ Justice 
Wildlife (TES) 
Water Quality 
Wetlands 
Hazardous Waste 
Cultural Resources 
Air Quality 
Geology and Soils 
Land Use 

 
03-16-04,05-26-05 
03-19-04  
03-31-04,06-30-05 
04-02-04,06-14-05,06-16-05 
04-15-04,06-30-05 
04-20-04 
04-23-04,07-12-05 
05-04-04,06-14-05 
05-17-04 
08-15-04,08-15-05 

These were small group meetings with 
agency and government experts on 
these topics. 

Scoping Meetings: 12-11-03 
01-21-04 

CDOT and FHWA 
Agency Meeting 

Corridor Consensus 
Committee (CCC): 

2004: 7 meeting (Feb-Nov) 
2005: 6 meetings (Jan - Oct) 
2006: 1 meeting (05-01-06) 
2008: 1 meeting (06-09-08) 

Local government, agencies, non-profit 
groups 

Technical Support Committee 
(TSC): 

2004: 7 meetings, 1 workshop  
2005: 7 meetings, 2 workshops 

Technical and professional staff 
appointed by CCC 

Public Meetings: 
 
Scoping: Purpose & Need 
Early Alternatives Comparison 
Various Topics 
 
Various Topics 

4 rounds, 13 meetings: 
2004:  
1st Qtr  Jan 27,28 & 29 
2nd Qtr Apr 14,15 & 21 
4th Qtr  Oct 19,25,26 & 28 
2005: 
May 24,26 & Jun 2 

 
 
  478 attendees 
  788 attendees 
1,482 attendees 
 
   798 attendees 

Citizen Working Group (CWG): 
Aesthetics 
Air Quality 
Traffic/Land Use/Cumulative 
Water Quality 
Wildlife/Open Space/Wetlands 

2004: May 
2005: July/August  

78 attendees 
124 attendees 
 

Small Group Presentations: 2004: 4 
2005: 14 
2007: 1 

Various groups 

Source: Compiled from TEPS by Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 95Packet Page     183



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-14 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

1.6.2 Public Comment Trends (from TEPS Chapter 7.1.12) 

The type and degree of concerns evolved from the first public scoping meeting in January 2004 
to the last public meeting in May 2005. Both the public and study team became better informed 
about alternatives, transportation concerns, and environmental concerns. As expected, the team 
received a greater quantity of comments during meetings. Criteria and screening of alternatives 
were important throughout the process as well as environmental concerns, especially air quality, 
noise, community cohesion, and wildlife. Transportation safety and analysis became more 
important in the middle of the process. During 2004, the project team hosted a series of three 
public meetings with approximately 2,750 people in attendance. Viewpoints were consistently 
expressed throughout the study regarding the criteria and screening process of alternatives. 

One series of meetings was hosted during 2005. The public voiced opinions regarding the 
screening process of the alternatives. They express their views of the remaining alternatives 
that will be further analyzed in the study. Environmental concerns, particularly air quality, noise, 
and community cohesion were high in the first two quarters, but dropped dramatically during the 
second half of the year. The quantity of comments plunged as the study team began to draft the 
document. Most public involvement comments were inquiries of Citizen Working Groups or the 
status of the study. As the study team continued to draft the document, very few comments 
were received in 2006, 2007, and 2008. 

1.6.3 Transitions from CDOT TEPS Combined Alternative (Recommended 
Alternative) to Jefferson Parkway 

CDOT’s Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) represents the balance of future 
transportation needs to the 2030 horizon with community and environmental impacts better than 
any of the other alternatives considered.  Governmental entities and regional stakeholders were 
included throughout the robust outreach and public involvement process just described.  The 
Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) was supported by most jurisdictions; 
however, full consensus was not achieved.   

The Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) was the result of modifications to better 
fit community context.  It was also intended to integrate water quality ponds and wildlife corridor 
crossings, minimize impacts to parks and recreation areas, eligible historic features and 
archaeological resources.  The northern portion was modified to improve local access to the 
Interlocken/Flatiron Crossing area.  This alternative was designed largely as a result of the 
intense agency and public involvement process.   

The Jefferson Parkway System Level Study focuses on two sections of the CDOT Combined 
Alternative (Recommended Alternative), the northern section (where funding commitments are 
identified to connect the planned Jefferson Parkway from SH 128 to the north to the existing 
Northwest Parkway, toll road) and the central section (the Jefferson Parkway itself that will 
connect SH 128 with SH 93).  The southern section of the CDOT Combined Alternative 
(Recommended Alternative) is outside the jurisdiction of the JPPHA and does not have 
committed funding from any source or a consensus on design from the City of Golden. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 96Packet Page     184



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-15 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

The alignment and general design concepts associated with the Jefferson Parkway and 
connection to the north reflect the result of the robust CDOT agency and public involvement 
process that led to the Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative).  In keeping with 
goals of the CDOT Procedural Directive 1601.1, the system level study presented in this 
document relies on the previous extensive, in-depth, and generously funded Northwest Corridor 
studies and minimizes duplicative alternative and environmental analyses and public outreach 
processes. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 97Packet Page     185



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 1-16 
1.0 Introduction - Purpose and Need 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 98Packet Page     186



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                2-1 
2.0 Alternatives 

2.0 ALTERNATIVES 

The JPPHA Ultimate Project was developed subsequent to the CDOT TEPS study.  Of benefit 
to the current JPPHA study is the alternatives process that has already been completed through 
the TEPS process.  There is no need to duplicate that analysis.   Alternatives were created and 
evaluated through an extensive process during the TEPS analysis and are described in depth in 
Chapter 2 of the TEPS document. The TEPS process extended five years including agency and 
public involvement with several levels of screening.  

2.1 OBJECTIVES 

The following steps were included in the TEPS study: 

 Development of Purpose and Need and Project Goals and Objectives 
 Development of Evaluation Criteria 
 Development, Evaluation, and Screening of Range of Alternatives 
 Identification of Alternatives 
 Refinement of Alternatives 
 Identification of a Recommended Alternative 

TEPS project goals and objectives are to meet the purpose and need to: 

Enhance system connectivity, respond to travel demand, provide travel reliability and 
enhance modal inter-relationships. Alternatives analysis also responded to the desire for 
practicality and feasibility while minimizing impacts to human and/or natural environment. 

JPPHA project goals and objectives complement the TEPS study as described in Chapter 1 of 
the current analysis.  The JPPHA project includes local as well as regional transportation and 
land use objectives.  TEPS alternatives that overlap the JPPHA project include: Tollway, 
Regional Arterial, and Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative).   

2.2 ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS 

2.2.1 TEPS Alternatives Summary 

The TEPS analysis process is summarized here to illustrate the magnitude of analyses that 
have been conducted.  A wide range of possible alternatives was pre-screened for fatal flaws, 
eliminating alternatives that would have bisected important natural resource areas (wildlife 
refuge, major lakes or reservoirs), high population areas (east of Wadsworth Boulevard) or 
rugged terrain (west into the foothills, or North and South Table Mountains). 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 99Packet Page     187



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                2-2 
2.0 Alternatives 

Five transportation types were generally matched with six general alignment concepts, resulting 
in 73 build alternatives. The five transportation types identified were: freeway, tollway, major 
regional arterials, principal arterials, and transit systems. Sixty-seven alternatives were 
eliminated based on three primary factors: 
 Engineering or construction feasibility and costs 
 Ability to meet the project purpose and need 
 Environmental impacts 

The remaining six alternatives were re-examined and two additional combination alternatives 
were formed into alternatives. Of these eight, four (three aligned along Indiana Street/McIntyre 
Street and one combination alternative) resulted in greater environmental impacts without 
providing additional purpose and need benefits than the other four. These were eliminated.  

Four build alternatives were carried forward for detailed environmental analyses. Some 
refinements were made to maintain a balance of environmental and community impacts. The 
final alternatives included: 

No Action (or No Build) Alternative – included recently completed and committed projects only. 

Freeway Alternative – a 20.3 - mile high-speed facility (55-65 mph posted speed) to connect 
the Northwest Parkway in Broomfield with C-470 in Golden, included 11 new or improved 
interchanges and four to six through lanes. 

Tollway Alternative – a 20.3 - mile high-speed facility (55-65 mph posted speed) to connect 
the Northwest Parkway in Broomfield with C-470 in Golden, included seven new or improved 
interchanges and four tolled lanes throughout. 

Regional Arterial Alternative – a 22.4 – mile facility (45-55 mph posted speed) to connect the 
Northwest Parkway in Broomfield with C-470 in Golden, included six new or improved 
interchanges and numerous new or improved intersections with four to six through lanes 
throughout. 

Combined Alternative – The Combined Alternative was a merged and packaged alternative 
bringing together three different roadway classifications: tollway, major regional arterial, and 
principal arterial. From the Northwest Parkway to SH 128, the facility was classified as a major 
regional arterial. From SH 128 to the 64th Avenue Parkway, the facility was classified as a 
tollway. From this point south to C-470, the facility is again classified as a major regional 
arterial. The total length of this alignment is 20.1 miles. This alignment was packaged with a 
7.5-mile principal arterial alignment on Indiana Street and McIntyre Street.  

The alignment between Northwest Parkway and C-470 is a mixture of a high-speed tollway 
facility (55–65 mph posted speed) that is fully access controlled with the use of interchanges 
and a lower-speed major regional arterial facility (45–55 mph posted speed) that is access 
controlled with the use of interchanges and intersections. Spacing between interchanges is 
generally one mile or greater. The Indiana Street/McIntyre Street alignment is a principal arterial  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 100Packet Page     188



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                2-3 
2.0 Alternatives 

that is a lower-speed facility (40–50 mph 
posted speed) and is access controlled with 
the use of intersections and driveways. 
Figure 2-1 illustrates the CDOT TEPS 
Combined Alternative (Recommended 
Alternative). 

The alignment and general design concepts 
associated with the Jefferson Parkway and 
connection to the north reflect the result of 
the robust CDOT agency and public 
involvement process that led to the 
Combined Alternative (Recommended 
Alternative).  In keeping with goals of the 
CDOT Procedural Directive 1601.1, the 
system level study presented in this 
document relies on the previous extensive, 
in-depth, and generously funded Northwest 
Corridor studies and minimizes duplicative 
alternative and environmental analyses and 
public outreach processes. 

2.2.2  JPPHA Ultimate Project  

The TEPS recommended alternative was the 
Combined Alternative described above. 
Generally, the regional arterial (northern 
section only) and tollway portion (central 
section) of this alternative have been carried 
forward in the current System Level Study as 
the Ultimate Project. 

TEPS alternatives analysis summarized 
above led to the Recommended Alternative 
on which the Ultimate Project is based.  The 
Ultimate Project differs from the 
Recommended Alternative by not including: 

1. Regional Arterial (Southern Section).  
The Ultimate Project does not include 
improvements on SH 93 and US 6 through 
Golden because this section is outside the 
JPPHA jurisdiction. Also, these 
improvements are assumed to be the 

Figure 2-1. CDOT TEPS RECOMMENDED 
ALTERNATIVE 

 

Source: Compiled by FHU, 2007.  Originally TEPS Figure 2.4-24. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 101Packet Page     189



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                2-4 
2.0 Alternatives 

responsibility of CDOT and/or area governments, and no funding or project commitment is 
available at this time.   

2. Principal Arterial (Indiana Street/McIntyre Street).  The Ultimate Project does not include 
the 7.5 mile principal arterial alignment improvements on Indiana Street and McIntyre Street due 
to lack of local support.  Elimination of this arterial segment also greatly reduces project impacts 
to adjacent properties. 

Details of the 2015 Phased Project and the Ultimate Project are described in the sections that 
follow. 

2.3 DESCRIPTION OF 2015 PHASED PROJECT 

2.3.1 Proposed Cross Section - 2015 Phased Project 

The proposed cross section for the 2015 phased project for the Jefferson Parkway is shown in 
Figure 2-2.  

2.3.2 Connections to Northwest Parkway 

Existing connections to the Northwest Parkway will be retained in 2015 with an anticipation of 
improvements to the Northern Section being funded as early as 2017. The Northwest Parkway 
Public Highway Authority contract with Brisa1 includes incentives for the Northwest Parkway of 
the Jefferson Parkway connection is completed by 2017. 

Figure 2-2. 2015 CROSS SECTION FOR JEFFERSON PARKWAY 

 
Source: PB Americas, 2009 

2.3.3 Intersection at SH 128 

Figure 2-3 illustrates the 2015 signalized intersection layout for SH 128 at Jefferson Parkway 
and Interlocken Loop.   

                                                 
 
1 Brisa Auto-Estradas de Portugal, S.A./Companhia de Concessoes Rodoviarais private partner with the NWPPHA for the 
Northwest Parkway toll road. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 102Packet Page     190



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                2-5 
2.0 Alternatives 

2.3.4 Local Access at Simms  

Simms Street will be relocated to the west over the Jefferson Parkway to be planned in 
association with the future improvements to the Rocky Mountain Metropolitan Airport by 
Jefferson County. Future exit and entrance ramps are planned as the need arises. 

2.3.5 Local Access at Indiana 

Jefferson Parkway will cross Indiana near Walnut Creek.  Access to Indiana Street will provide 
for a northbound Parkway exit and southbound entrance movements from the Parkway to 
Indiana Street.  Local traffic on Indiana Street will continue to operate independent of the tollway 
but at a slower speed due to traffic calming. 

2.3.6 Local Connections at Cimarron Parkway 

Initial construction includes the two ramps to the north of Cimarron Parkway,  that will provide 
Jefferson Parkway access to and from the north.   

2.3.7 Connections at SH 72 

Figure 2-4 illustrates the 2015 partial interchange layout proposed for SH 72 at Jefferson 
Parkway.  This includes structures across Barbara Gulch, Union Pacific Railroad and a 
proposed extension of the Welton Reservoir.  

2.3.8 Intersection at SH 93 

Figure 2-5 illustrates the 2015 signalized intersection layout for SH 93 north of 64th Avenue 
Parkway.  This design includes the relocation of an existing Pioneer Sand and Gravel access.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 103Packet Page     191



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                2-6 
2.0 Alternatives 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 104Packet Page     192



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20,  2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                 2-7 
2.0 Alternatives 

 

 

 Figure 2-3.  2015 SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION AT SH 128 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 105Packet Page     193



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20,  2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                 2-8 
2.0 Alternatives 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 106Packet Page     194



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20,  2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                 2-9 
2.0 Alternatives 

 

  
 

 Figure 2-4.  2015 PARTIAL INTERCHANGE AT SH 72 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 107Packet Page     195



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20,  2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                 2-10 
2.0 Alternatives 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 108Packet Page     196



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20,  2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                 2-11 
2.0 Alternatives 

 

 

Figure 2-5.  2015 SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION AT SH 93 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 109Packet Page     197



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20,  2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                 2-12 
2.0 Alternatives 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 110Packet Page     198



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                2-13 
2.0 Alternatives 

2.4 DESCRIPTION OF 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT 

2.4.1 Proposed Cross Section - 2035 Ultimate Project 

The proposed cross section for the 2035 Ultimate Project for the Jefferson Parkway is shown in 
Figure 2-6.  

 
Figure 2-6. 2035 CROSS SECTION FOR JEFFERSON PARKWAY 

 

 
Source: PB Americas, 2009 
 

2.4.2 Connections to Northwest Parkway 

The connection between SH 128 and the Northwest Parkway will be implemented by 2035.  
This connection will include a six-lane regional arterial with signals at select  locations,  will 
utilize the existing interchange at US 36 and will support a full interchange at SH 128.  The 
NWPPHA contract with Brisa requires upgrades when the level of service is worse than LOS D. 

2.4.3 Interchange at SH 128 

Figure 2-7 illustrates the full interchange connection proposed at SH 128 for Jefferson Parkway 
and Interlocken Loop.  Access to Simms will be relocated by Jefferson County prior to 
implementation of this improvement. 

2.4.4 Local Access at Simms Street 

Future exit and entrance ramps are planned as the need arises for the Simms access to 
Jefferson Parkway. 

2.4.5 Local Access at Indiana Street 

Access at Indiana Street continue as designed for the 2015 Phased project. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 111Packet Page     199



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                2-14 
2.0 Alternatives 

2.4.6 Local Access at Cimarron Parkway 

Full interchange access is anticipated for Cimarron Parkway and Jefferson Parkway by 2035. 

2.4.7 Interchange at SH 72 

Figure 2-8 illustrates the completed interchange connection proposed at SH 72 for Jefferson 
Parkway. 

2.4.8 Interchange at SH 93 

Figure 2-9 illustrates the full interchange connection proposed at SH 93 for Jefferson Parkway.  
This design includes structures over SH 93. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 112Packet Page     200



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                               2-
2.0 Alternatives 

 

15 

 
 

 Figure 2-7.  2035 INTERCHANGE AT SH 128 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 113Packet Page     201



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                               2-
2.0 Alternatives 

 

16 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 114Packet Page     202



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                               2-
2.0 Alternatives 

 

17 

 
 

 Figure 2-8.  2035 FULL INTERCHANGE AT SH 72 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 115Packet Page     203



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                               2-
2.0 Alternatives 

 

18 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 116Packet Page     204



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                               2-
2.0 Alternatives 

 

19 

 
 

 Figure 2-9.  2035 INTERCHANGE AT SH 93 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 117Packet Page     205



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting  
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                               2-
2.0 Alternatives 

 

20 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 118Packet Page     206



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-1 
3.0 Transportation 

3.0  TRANSPORTATION  

3.1 EXISTING CONDITIONS - LAND USE, DEVELOPMENT NEEDS AND 
CHALLENGES  

3.1.1 Land Use and Development Patterns along Project Corridor 

The Northwest Corridor Study Area includes portions of Boulder County, the City and County of 
Broomfield, Jefferson County, and seven incorporated municipalities. Based on extensive public 
and agency involvement during the TEPS process all agencies except Golden generally support 
or are neutral about the project including: Arvada, Lafayette, Lakewood, Louisville, Superior, 
Westminster, and Wheat Ridge.  The City of Golden has consistently opposed improvements 
that would extend south through that community.  Figure 3-1 identifies the Northwest Corridor 
Study Area and municipalities. Within the 157 square miles of land that make up the Northwest 
Corridor Study Area, almost every type of land use and zoning designation is represented. Land 
uses vary from agriculture and open space to commercial and industrial developments. 
Approximately 6,200 acres comprise the Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge with over 400 
acres of wetlands. Because zoning varies among the 11 jurisdictions, there are over 100 distinct 
zoning categories within the study area. All jurisdictions include zoning designations for 
residential, mixed use, commercial, industrial, agricultural, public, open space, and planned 
development. Figures 3-2 and 3-3 illustrate land use plans for City and County of Broomfield 
and City of Arvada showing their relationship with the proposed project.  

Northern Section.  The Northern Section of proposed regional arterial roadway passes 
through Louisville and Broomfield from the Northwest Parkway terminus to approximately 
SH 128 and is bisected by US 36. North of US 36, land consists of open space, agricultural, 
public, and commercial uses with many of the parcels undeveloped. The recently acquired 
Conoco Phillips Campus (formerly StorageTek), in Louisville is expected to employ 7000 
workers and is located north of US 36 along the Northwest Parkway in the vicinity of 96th Street.  
South of US 36 the most prominent land use is the employment/commercial area associated 
with the Interlocken Technology Park and Flatiron Crossing Mall, a retail center.   City and 
County of Broomfield has identified this as an urban activity center.  The current DRCOG model 
(COMPASS_2.0_Version 95, cycle 2 2008 or 2008-C2) does not include this urban center.  

 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 119Packet Page     207



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-2 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-1.  NORTHWEST CORRIDOR STUDY AREA  

 

Source: Compiled by Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 120Packet Page     208



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-3 
3.0 Transportation 

 

Figure 3-3 CITY OF ARVADA LAND USE 

  

Source: Arvada Comprehensive Plan,  
Land Use Map, June 2008 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Source: Broomfield Comprehensive Plan,     
Land Use Map, October 2005 

Figure 3-2  CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD LAND USE 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 121Packet Page     209



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-4 
3.0 Transportation 

Central Section.  The Central Section begins at SH 128 and extends south from SH 128 at 
Interlocken Loop. South of SH 128 there is a large parcel of public land owned by Jefferson 
County that is used for the Rocky Mountain Metropolitan Airport (formerly the Jefferson County 
Airport) as well as the future Great Western Business Park (a business/industrial development) 
to the southeast of the airport.  Jefferson Parkway passes through publicly owned land in 
Broomfield, including a prairie dog relocation area. The public land is currently in use as 
theBroomfield Police Department, Detention Center, and Training Facility. The proposed 
Jefferson Parkway continues south parallel to Indiana Street. 

Jefferson Parkway is proposed to follow along Indiana Street. Land use on both sides of Indiana 
Street consists of parks/open space. Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge occupies the west 
side of Indiana Street, while parks/open space owned by Broomfield and Westminster, including 
Broomfield’s Great Western Reservoir, and Westminster’s Colorado Hills Open Space, occupy 
the east side of Indiana Street. To the southeast is Standley Lake, which is surrounded by the 
Standley Lake Regional Park and also owned by Westminster. This site is the location of the 
Woman Creek Reservoir/Standley Lake Protection Project. Generally, this segment of roadway 
is characterized by open space with some agricultural operations near 96th Avenue. 

Next, the Jefferson Parkway is proposed to pass through Arvada and unincorporated Jefferson 
County. In this portion of the study area, the proposed alignment turns southwest from Indiana 
Street at 96th Avenue passing through undeveloped land to SH 72 just west of Welton 
Reservoir. While much of this area is characterized by undeveloped land within unincorporated 
Jefferson County, the Arvada Comprehensive Plan identifies industrial/office, low density 
residential, and open space and parks as future land uses in the area south of SH 72 in addition 
to the development plans already approved north of SH 72. The Candalas development to the 
north of SH 72 has been identified by the City of Arvada as an urban activity center. The current 
DRCOG 2008-C2 model does not include this urban center.  The new alignment would continue 
to the southwest to SH 93. 

Denver Water Department property lies along the west side of SH 93 extending from SH 72 to 
64th Avenue. The proposed Jefferson Parkway improvement extends to just north of the 64th 
Avenue Parkway.  

Southern Section. The Southern Section of the corridor includes an additional stretch of SH 
93 and passes through unincorporated Jefferson County, Arvada, and Golden. Features along 
this portion of the study area are open space including the Arvada-Blunn Reservoir Recreation 
Area, North Table Mountain Park (a classified conservation site by the Colorado Natural 
Heritage Program), and White Ranch Park (recreational open space). The Pioneer Sand 
Company has a gravel pit immediately south of the Arvada-Blunn Reservoir.  The area 
approaching Golden includes low density residential developments transition to higher densities 
with some commercial uses. The Canyon Point Commercial Center marks the transition from a 
rural landscape to a more urban landscape. Near C-470, there is a large parcel of public land 
upon which the Jefferson County Administration Building is located. Zoning along SH 93 
includes open space/parks, mixed use, rural/low-density residential, office, retail and industrial. 
Downtown Golden is identified as an Urban Center in the DRCOG 2008-C2 model. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 122Packet Page     210



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-5 
3.0 Transportation 

3.1.2 Existing Transportation Network   

The existing transportation network in the study area includes the roadway network, 
pedestrian/bicycle facilities, transit routes, railroads, and aviation facilities. 

3.1.2.1 Roadway Network 

The Northwest Corridor Study Area is generally defined by SH 93 on the west, Wadsworth 
Boulevard (SH 121) on the east, US 6 on the south, and US 36 and Northwest Parkway on the 
north. Major roadways in the study area fall into the three general categories described in this 
section: National Highway System, other US and state highways, and other local government 
arterial streets. 

FHWA has designated a National Highway System consisting of roads between and within 
urbanized areas that form the backbone of the nation’s roadways. The routes designated as 
part of the National Highway System are identified. The US Congress designated these routes 
for the critical and efficient movement of goods and people. Connectivity with these facilities is 
important to increase effectiveness of this system. The roads within the study area that are 
designated as parts of the National Highway System are listed here with their current number of 
through lanes: 

 Interstate 70 (I-70)–six lanes 
 US Highway 6 (US 6)–four to six lanes 
 US Highway 36 (US 36)–four lanes 
 State Highway 93 (SH 93)–two to three lanes 
 State Highway 121 (SH 121 or Wadsworth Boulevard)–four to six lanes 
 Northwest Parkway–four lanes 
 C-470–four lanes 

One US highway and three state highway routes within the study area are not part of the 
National Highway System: 

 US Highway 40 (US 40 or Colfax Avenue)–four lanes 
 State Highway 58 (SH 58)–four lanes 
 State Highway 72 (SH 72)–two- and four-lane portions of Ward Road, 64th Avenue, Indiana 

Street, and the east-west SH 72 segment between SH 93 and Indiana Street 
 State Highway 128 (SH 128)–two lanes 

There are also numerous principal and minor arterial streets maintained by counties or 
municipalities.  

3.1.2.2 Pedestrian/Bicycle Mobility 

There are presently pedestrian and bicycle facilities throughout the study area: 

 Bicycle/pedestrian trail along the east side of US 6 from C-470 to 19th Street (much of which 
is within the existing CDOT right-of-way) 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 123Packet Page     211



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-6 
3.0 Transportation 

 Trail segments located near 64th Avenue 
 Bicycle/pedestrian trails along either side of Interlocken Loop between SH 128 and US 36 

3.1.2.3 Transit Routes 

The Denver RTD operates a network of regional, express, and local bus routes that serve the 
study area. Regional bus route G travels SH 93 along the western edge of the study area. 
Additional north-south bus connections are provided via routes 76 (Wadsworth), 100 (Kipling), 
and east-west routes include 72 (72nd Avenue), 52 (52nd-Pearl), and CC (SH 72). There are 
twelve park-n-Ride facilities in and around the study area, including six in the US 36 corridor. 

The RTD is currently implementing the FasTracks plan, a twelve-year comprehensive plan to 
build and operate high-speed rail lines and expand and improve bus service and park-n-Ride 
facilities throughout the region. The FasTracks plan includes two light rail corridors that will 
connect downtown Denver with the study area: the West Corridor, which will terminate at the 
Jefferson County Government Center at US 6/Johnson Road in Golden, and the Gold Line, 
which will terminate at I-70/SH 58 in Wheat Ridge. Two other rapid transit corridors are included 
in the US 36 corridor, with specific characteristics of those corridors being refined through the 
current US 36 FEIS process. Additionally, suburb-to-suburb bus service enhancements are 
planned along SH 93 from Golden to Boulder, as well as routes using SH 72, Wadsworth 
Boulevard, Kipling Street, and other study area streets. 

3.1.2.4 Rail 

The Union Pacific Railroad currently operates an east-west line along the south side of SH 72. 
This line crosses beneath SH 93 and over Indiana Street. The Burlington Northern Santa Fe 
Railroad operates another east-west line located farther south, extending along SH 58. This line 
has its western terminus in Golden and crosses SH 58, Table Mountain Parkway, McIntyre 
Street and Ward Road (SH 72) at grade. 

3.1.2.5 Aviation 

The Rocky Mountain Metropolitan Airport (formerly the Jefferson County Airport) is a 
corporate/general aviation airport located southwest of the SH 128/Wadsworth Boulevard 
intersection. According to the Jeffco Airport Master Plan Update, prepared in 2000, the number 
of annual aircraft operations is forecast to increase from 164,000 in 1998 to approximately 
241,000 in 2020.  

3.1.3 Traffic Volumes 

Daily traffic volumes were compiled from available data from several sources. All daily traffic 
volumes are related to typical weekdays. Traffic volumes were collected from CDOT, the 
Northwest Parkway Public Highway Authority, and the US 36 EIS project. Additional traffic 
volumes were recorded during May 2004 to fill identified gaps (see Figure 3-4).  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 124Packet Page     212



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-7 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-4. EXISTING TRAFFIC DATA (2004) 

 
Source: Originally TEPS Figure 3.1-4, modified by Stantec 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 125Packet Page     213



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-8 
3.0 Transportation 

Weekday AM and PM peak hours are typically the most congested periods on urbanized area 
roads, and thus weekday volume data are generally used to assess levels of congestion or 
levels of service. Since some study area roadways carry substantial volumes of recreation- 
oriented traffic, Saturday and Sunday traffic counts were performed. Comparison of weekend 
traffic to weekday traffic volumes confirmed that weekday volumes are higher on study area 
roads; therefore, evaluation of typical weekday AM and PM peak periods is appropriate for this 
study.  

Volume data show that the fully access-controlled freeway facilities of the National Highway 
System carry the largest volumes of traffic, including I-70, US 36, US 6 east of C-470, and 
C-470, with weekday traffic volumes ranging from 85,500 vehicles on US 6 west of C-470 to 
176,900 vehicles on I-70 near Wadsworth Boulevard.  

Among surface arterial streets, the highest daily traffic volumes are found on Wadsworth 
Boulevard (more than 52,000 vehicles per day), US 6 west of its transition between a freeway 
and regional arterial (more than 44,000 vehicles per day), and Ward Road north of I-70 (over 
39,000 vehicles per day).  

3.1.4 Traffic Operations 

3.1.4.1 Capacity Analysis 

This section discusses the methodology and the existing levels of service for the study area. 
Level of service is described by letter designations ranging from A to F, with LOS A representing 
essentially uninterrupted flow, and LOS F representing a breakdown of traffic flow with 
excessive congestion and delay.  

For analysis of a signalized intersection, a LOS rating is calculated for an intersection as a 
whole. Level of service analysis of an unsignalized intersection yields a LOS rating for each 
critical vehicle movement. The Synchro© software analysis package and methodology (Albeck 
and Husch, 2003) was utilized to calculate LOS ratings for signalized and unsignalized 
intersections throughout the study area. According to the software documentation, Synchro’s© 
HCM signalized analysis provides a full implementation of the HCM (Transportation Research 
Board, 2000) Signalized Operations method. However, the Synchro© implementation does 
calculate the effects of signal progression and actuated signal green times differently than the 
HCM.  

As stated in the TEPS, level of service analyses were conducted for AM and PM peak hours of 
vehicle travel, and are documented (see Figure 3-5). LOS calculations were prepared for 
thirteen key intersections within the study area, as required by CDOT, using the existing traffic 
volumes, intersection geometry, and signal phasing.  All of the intersections are currently 
controlled by traffic signals. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 126Packet Page     214



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-9 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-5. EXISTING INTERSECTION LEVELS OF SERVICE (2004) 

 
Source: Originally TEPS Figure 3.1-5, modified by Stantec using data from TEPS Traffic Analysis 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 127Packet Page     215



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-10 
3.0 Transportation 

3.1.5  Accident History  

3.1.5.1 SH 93 Crash Data 

In preparation for this study, the JPPHA Program Management Team collected crash data for 
just under nine miles of SH 93 between West 58th Avenue and SH 128. This portion of SH 93 is 
generally an older road with numerous roadside obstructions. In the period between Jan 1, 2000 
and August 31, 2006, there were 9 fatalities, 175 person injury accidents, and 378 property 
damage accidents (Traffic Engineering Branch, September 29, 2008). Portions of SH 93 have 
an accident rate that is more than twice the state average (4.93 v 1.48). 

3.1.5.2 Safety Forecasts SH 93 from TEPS 

Safety performance of alternatives has been used as another indicator of travel reliability, since 
traffic operations can be greatly influenced by the frequency of traffic accidents and the ability to 
clear and allow traffic to bypass accidents and incidents.  

For the TEPS, accident statistics for the most recent available 5-year period (January 1, 1999, 
through December 31, 2003) were compiled for all state highways in the study area. CDOT 
used a procedure known as the Safety Performance Function (SPF), directly relating accidents 
per year per mile to the traffic volumes experienced on many types of facilities and applied it to 
2030 forecasts. 

Using the measure of number of predicted accidents, the No Build Alternative along SH 93 is 
expected to have more than twice as many accidents as the Ultimate Project between SH 58 
and SH 72 (149 v 69) and approximately the same number of accidents between SH 72 and SH 
128 ( 46 v 49) for 2030. 

Results in the TEPS note that the new tollway portion of the Combined Alternative 
(Recommended Alternative), the Jefferson Parkway portion of the Ultimate Project, would have 
a more favorable accident experience than the arterial portions since tollways have higher 
design standards and fewer access points resulting in a better overall safety expectation. 

The proposed project also provides an opportunity for context sensitive safety improvements to 
mitigate known wind and winter blowing snow issues along portions of the project corridor. 

3.1.6 Opportunities and Constraints  

From the standpoint of transportation, there are a mix of opportunities and constraints for this 
study area. Details of these bulleted items are found elsewhere in this study. 

Opportunities (See Chapter 1 for additional discussion on project purpose and need): 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 128Packet Page     216



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-11 
3.0 Transportation 

 Complete an additional portion of the beltway around the Denver metro area, leading to 
future attraction of trips from interstate facilities (I-25, I-70, I-76) upon completion of the 
entire beltway 

 Improve local and regional transportation system connectivity and functionality providing an 
improved connection between Northwest Parkway in Broomfield County and SH93 in 
Jefferson County 

 Expand capacity to support land use planning and meet population and employment growth 
forecasts for Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield, and City of Arvada 

 Specifically to provide transportation links for the Interlocken and Candelas Urban Centers 
and other existing and new development including but not limited to the Conoco Phillips 
Campus 

 Provide opportunities to reduce travel time and improve reliability of travel in a corridor 
where competition for future transportation infrastructure funding is high 

 Support opportunities for transit mode choices by providing space within the project cross-
section for future options 

 Utilize CDOT identified route location based on five years of public and agency input with 
minimal impacts to community and natural environment 

 Improve safety at connections and by providing a reliable travel route in a corridor where 
heavy congestion is forecasted 

Constraints and Challenges  (See Chapter 4 for  additional discussion on project environmental 
impacts and mitigation): 

 Avoidance when possible, then minimization of and mitigation of impacts to sensitive 
resources (wetlands, wildlife habitats, parks/trails) 

 Provide additional analyses, remediation, site specific health and safety plans for hazardous 
conditions (hazardous materials, geology) 

 Address community concerns  
 Location of Southern Section outside of JPPHA jurisdiction, leaving uncertain planning and 

funding commitment status for future transportation needs 
 

3.2 FORECASTED CONDITIONS 

3.2.1 Future Land Use Forecasts – Updates to 2035 

All of the incorporated jurisdictions have adopted comprehensive land use plans to guide growth 
and development in their communities. In accordance with Colorado Revised Statute 30-28-106 
(C.R.S. 30-28¬106), Jefferson County, Boulder County, and City and County of Broomfield have 
adopted comprehensive plans to guide the physical development of unincorporated areas within 
their respective counties. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 129Packet Page     217



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-12 
3.0 Transportation 

Growth and development is projected to continue within the study area through 2035. According 
to the area land use plans, there is very little undeveloped land remaining in the study area, 
other than areas described below (urban center and small area updates).  

 As area plans are updated, the jurisdictions are calculating what amount of land is available for 
development and determining what types of development they would like to see based on a 
desired mix by build out. There is also a greater focus on redevelopment at higher densities, 
infill and more mixed use and higher density developments. 

In addition to roadway improvements, jurisdictions have addressed the development needs 
associated with transit improvements, particularly FasTracks. FasTracks includes 119 miles of 
rail, 18 miles of Bus Rapid Transit (BRT), and approximately 57 additional rapid transit stations. 
Within the study area are portions of the Gold Line, West Corridor, and the US 36 Corridor. 

The Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) provides information on forecasted 
2035 land uses for the entire metropolitan area. The most recent DRCOG forecast, finalized in 
late 2008, is referred to as the COMPASS_2.0_ Version 95, Cycle 2 2008 (2008-C2). DRCOG’s 
land use forecasts include household and employment forecasts by traffic analysis zone (TAZ). 
The metropolitan area includes a total of 2,664 TAZs of which 281 are included in the TEPS 
study area.  

A 5.5 percent increase in population and a 6.1 percent increase in employment totals were 
forecasted between 2030 and 2035 for the TEPS TAZs. Figure 3-1 illustrates the jurisdictions 
found within the study area as well as the general TAZ study area. These growth rates are 
shown as slightly less than the metro area as a whole. The metro area totals show an average 
population increase of 8.8 percent and an employment increase of 7.1 percent from 2030 to 
2035. 

Individual TAZs in the TEPS study area in the DRCOG 2008-C2 data include a wide variety of 
changes between 2030 and 2035, some due to fine tuning of data, while others show large 
percent changes due to small initial 2030 numbers for small area TAZs. Summarizing changes 
by location presents some noticeable growth or build out patterns. City and County of 
Broomfield TAZ adjustments between 2030 and 2035 show a 12 percent population increase 
and a 10 percent employment increase. The Westminster, Lakewood and Golden areas show 
increases that generally mirror the metro area average, while Arvada and Wheat Ridge 
numbers are conservatively less than the metro area patterns. These 2035 forecasts reflect in-
fill of areas not previously developed, or redevelopment.  

3.2.2 Urban Center Updates – 2 Urban Centers to be Added to Corridor 

Urban Centers are concentrated areas of high-
density, pedestrian-oriented mixed-use 
development.  They accommodate new 
population growth within the urban area, create 

The addition of two urban centers to the DRCOG 

model will result in more trips in the Northwest 

Corridor Study Area regardless of construction of 

the Jefferson Parkway’s Ultimate Project. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 130Packet Page     218



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-13 
3.0 Transportation 

opportunities for people to live near where they work, support transit use and more efficiently 
use existing infrastructure.  The DRCOG Metro Vision 2035 currently recognizes 88 urban 
centers within the region.   Downtown Golden is identified as an Urban Center in the 2008 C2 
model.  Subsequent to that model cycle, the City and County of Broomfield requested that the 
US 36 and Interlocken Loop Activity Center be recognized as an Urban Center.  The City of 
Arvada has also requested recognition of the Candelas Activity near SH 72 and SH 93 as an 
Urban Center.  These mixed use centers will stimulate and attract more trips.  Absence of two 
key urban centers in the 2008 Cycle 2 model meant that fewer trips were focused in these areas 
adjacent to the Proposed Jefferson Parkway, while Downtown Golden would have attracted 
more trips under this designation.  This data is not reflected in the JPPHA Model.    

3.2.3 Small Area Land Use Updates – Additional Employment Forecast  

Although the DRCOG has updated land use 
information for the 2035 Metro Vision planning 
purposes, the JPPHA Program Management 
Team met with planners from the City and 
County of Broomfield, the City of Arvada, and 
Jefferson County to fine tune land use data for 
over 150 traffic analysis zones.  Household information remained reasonably consistent with the 
DRCOG model with an increase of 2.7% in 2015 and 2.0% in 2035.  The more significant 
change was shown for 2035 employment with an increase of 13% over the DRCOG numbers.  
(No measurable change was identified for 2015 employment over the DRCOG numbers.) 

The 2035 No Build model run with the updated local government employment data, resulted in 
average daily traffic trip increases of as much as 17,000 on Interlocken Loop, 8,000 on SH 93 
north of 64th Avenue Parkway, and 4,000 trips on SH 93 south of 64th Avenue Parkway.  This 
information was not used as the basis for the general traffic and operations forecasting used in 
this study.  Additional discussion on this Revised 2009 Scenario is found in the Chapter 5, 
Section 5.2 Project Funding. 

3.2.4 Land Use and Development Conclusions 

Development in the Northwest Corridor Study area is planned to occur regardless of the 
proposed project, and roadway improvements in the area will ultimately be required.  Earlier 
transportation improvements, however, would allow for more employment opportunities, for local 
and regional residents.  Land use plans support the need for the completion of the Jefferson 
Parkway with the associated Northwest Parkway arterial extension to meet travel demand for 
the two new urban centers, and area employment needs by 2035.   

Small Area land use development will also result in 

more trips in the Northwest Corridor Study Area 

regardless of construction of the Jefferson 

Parkway’s Ultimate Project. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 131Packet Page     219



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-14 
3.0 Transportation 

3.2.5 Future Transportation Network - Traffic Volumes 

In order to assess how the highway network within the study will function with the addition of the 
Jefferson Parkway project, it was first necessary to prepare a set of reasonable travel forecasts. 
The DRCOG 2008-C2 model was used to generate daily, weekday AM peak hour and PM peak 
hour link volume forecasts for the following scenarios: 2015 No Build, 2015 with Phased Project, 
2035 No Build, and 2035 Ultimate Project. An initial estimated toll rate of $0.29 per mile (in 1996 
dollars – a requirement for the DRCOG model) was used for the modeling of the tollway portion 
for the traffic forecasting only. 

The AM and PM peak hour link volumes needed to be converted to turning movement volumes 
in order to be able to analyze intersection operations. Stantec employed a linear programming 
model to make this conversion to turning movement volumes, which are illustrated on Figures 3-
6 through 3-13. 

3.2.5.1 Comparison with TEPS Traffic Data 

The CDOT TEPS traffic data forecasts were for 2030 and not 2035. Comparison of TEPS 2030 
No Build Alternative with TEPS Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) 2030 
information yields similar results to the current study. Under the No Build, Levels of Service 
(LOS) for intersections within the corridor ranged between LOS D and F. The same can be true 
for other intersections within the study area.  

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 132Packet Page     220



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-15 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-6. 2015 NO BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES - Part A 

 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 133Packet Page     221



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-16 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-7. 2015 NO BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES - Part B  

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 134Packet Page     222



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-17 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-8. 2015 PHASED PROJECT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - Part A 

 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 135Packet Page     223



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-18 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-9. 2015 PHASED PROJECT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - Part B 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 136Packet Page     224



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-19 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-10. 2035 NO BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES - Part A 

 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 137Packet Page     225



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-20 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-11. 2035 NO BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES - Part B 

 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 138Packet Page     226



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-21 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-12. 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - Part A 

 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 139Packet Page     227



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-22 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-13. 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - Part B 

 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 140Packet Page     228



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-23 
3.0 Transportation 

 

3.2.6 Future Transportation Network - Traffic Operations 

Traffic operations at the study area intersections 
were analyzed using methodologies in the 
Transportation Research Board’s Highway 
Capacity Manual 2000 and the software Synchro 
(Version 7). Levels of Service at key study area 
intersections are illustrated below in Figures 3-14 
through Figure 3 - 17. Note that for the Phased 
Project and Ultimate Project scenarios, auxiliary 
lanes and traffic control upgrades were included at 
Parkway intersections and interchanges.   

While the use of the DRCOG model without adjustment reveals the most conservative forecast 
information, it still portrays a network where the No Build for both 2015 and 2035 reveal 
congested roadways with failing levels of service throughout the Northwest Corridor Study Area.   

With no corridor upgrades by 2035 or with only the Northwest Parkway upgrades and Jefferson 
Parkway, levels of service on adjacent roads are at the point of failure for both the No Build and 
Build options.  LOS D is typically the acceptable level of service for system operations; however, 
in come urban areas, LOS E can be accepted. 2   System operation improvements will occur 
only after the entire corridor is upgraded.   

Note that the Ultimate Project itself will function well through 2035 forecasted years.  Table 3-1 
illustrates 2015 operations needs throughout the corridor to maintain LOS D or E.  Some of 
these needs pertain to opening day for the Parkway connections.  Congestion related 
improvements will be examined during Parkway design and included as appropriate to ensure 
that the Parkway operations are acceptable in 2015.  Discussion that follows focuses on select 
locations of Interlocken Loop, SH 128, Indiana Street, SH 72, and portions of SH 93.  These 
discussions are based on the 2015 and 2035 traffic and operations data included in this report. 

Interlocken Loop.  Using DRCOG data, Interlocken Loop will run 22,700 trips a day in 2015 
without the project and 35,300 trips with the project.  The intersection at SH 128 will operate at 
approximately Level of Service F, until portions of the interchange are built.  The results for 
2035 are also for a poor level of service in the area north of SH 128, regardless of the project. 
Long term solutions for this location include additional grade-separated movements from SH 
128 north to 96th St which will need to be built by the Northwest Parkway. 

                                                 
2 The Rural and Urban Arterial category from the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 
(AASHTO) design guide recommends that urban arterials and their auxiliary facilities (turning lanes, intersections, 
and interchanges) should generally be designed for LOS C. Although LOS C is optimal for urban settings, heavily 
developed areas may use LOS D as an appropriate standard (AASHTO Green Book, A Policy on Geometric Design 
of Highways and Streets, fourth edition). 

The Phased Jefferson Parkway will open by 
2015 with signalized intersections at SH 128 
and SH 93 north of 64

th
 Avenue Parkway and 

partial  interchanges at Indiana Street,  SH 72, 
and Cimarron Parkway.  
 
The Jefferson Parkway portion of the 2035 
Ultimate Project is envisioned with 
interchanges at SH 128, SH 72 and SH 93.  
Additional completed local interchanges would 
be at Simms Street, and Cimarron Parkway. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 141Packet Page     229



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-24 
3.0 Transportation 

SH 128.  SH 128 will run 15,000 trips a day in 2015 west of Jefferson Parkway regardless of the 
project.  By 2035, travel will increase to 19,000 with the No Build and remain at 15,000 with the 
construction of the Parkway.  Parkway LOS at SH 128 is shown as F in 2015 without congestion 
related upgrades,  improving to B by 2035 with completion of the regional arterial connection 
with Northwest Parkway. 

Indiana Street.  Indiana Street daily traffic volumes will decrease by 12,000 in 2015 with the 
construction of Jefferson Parkway and decrease by 20,000 along the portions parallel to the 
Jefferson Parkway.  The intersection of Indiana and SH 128 (where the Parkway is not adjacent 
to Indiana) will operate at an improved level of service in 2015 with the implementation of the 
project, but by 2035 operations will be poor regardless of the Parkway.  LOS at Indiana and SH 
72 will decrease from E to F in 2015 with the implementation of the Ultimate Project.  LOS F is 
forecasted for both scenarios for 2035. 

SH 72.  Traffic on SH 72 west of Jefferson Parkway to SH 93 will run at approximately 10,000 
trips in 2015, increasing by 1,000 trips with the construction of the Parkway.  By 2035, SH 72 
will carry just under 15,000 trips with a reduction of 3,000 trips shown with construction of the 
Ultimate Project.  Parkway LOS at SH 72 will be B in 2015 and C by 2035. 

SH 93.  SH 93 traffic (north of 64th Avenue Parkway) will generally flow at 23,000+ trips per day 
in 2015 without the project. The 2035 No Build continues with this trend at 24,000 to 30,000 
trips per day.   

 The SH 128 intersection with SH 93 will operate at LOS D in 2015 and worsening to LOS E 
by 2035 without the project.  With implementation of the project, LOS B occurs in 2015, but 
by 2035 LOS F will occur at SH 128 and SH 93.   

 SH 72 and SH 93 will operate at LOS E and F regardless of the project.   
 Further to the south, LOS at SH 93 is not influenced by the Parkway to the extent that LOS 

F is anticipated at SH 58 and US 6 locations by 2015 with or without the project.   
 The Jefferson Parkway connection with SH 93 would operate at LOS E-F in 2015 without 

congestion related improvements, but upon completion of the interchange will be a freeflow 
connection by 2035. 

3.2.7 Northwest Corridor Study Area Transportation Needs and Mitigation  

Table 3-1 provides a comparison of No Build to Build results for key congested areas in 2015 
and Table 3-2 provides similar information for 2035, identifying system level needs and 
mitigation concepts. Information for 2035 is less accurate due to the potential for changes in 
economic conditions, land use changes, and other transportation network improvements.  
Identification of jurisdiction does not imply a commitment to implement the mitigation.  The 
JPPHA is expected to provide congestion related mitigation as appropriate to ensure the 
operation of the Jefferson Parkway in 2015 (or opening day) as indicated. Detailed assessment 
of project transportation impacts will be made during forthcoming final design activities at which 
time, needed congestion related improvements for the opening day scenario(s) will be 
determined. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 142Packet Page     230



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-25 
3.0 Transportation 

Table 3-1.  2015 System Level Needs and Mitigation Concepts 

Intersection 2015      
No Build  

2015 Phased 
Project  

Mitigation Jurisdiction Build with 
Mitigation  

 AM/PM LOS   AM/PM LOS 

US 36/Interlocken 
(North Ramp) 

E/E F/F WB 2nd right turn lane 
NB 2nd left turn lane 
NB 3rd thru lane 

NWPPHA 
NWPPHA  
NWPPHA 

D/C 

US 36/Interlocken 
(South Ramp) 

F/C F/F EB 2nd turn lane 
NB/SB 3rd thru lane 

NWPPHA 
NWPPHA 

E/E 

SH 128/Interlocken F/D F/F NB/SB 3rd thru lanes 
WB 2nd left turn lane  

NWPPHA 
JPPHA 

C/D 

SH 93/SH 72 F/E E/F NB/SB 2nd thru lanes Out of Jurisdiction D/D 
SH 93/64th 
Avenue 

A/A E/D WB 2nd right turn lane 
(+ NB receiving lane) 

JPPHA B/D 

SH 93/Washington C/C F/E EB left turn lane 
WB right turn lane 

Out of Jurisdiction D/D 

SH 72/64th 
Avenue 

C/D E/F EB 2nd left turn lane Out of Jurisdiction D/C 

SH 72/86th 
Avenue 

E/E F/F NB/SB 2nd thru lanes 
EB/WB/NB 2nd left turn 
lanes 

Out of Jurisdiction 
 

D/D 

64th Avenue/Ward 
Road 

D/C E/E WB 2nd left turn lane Out of Jurisdiction D/D 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

 

Table 3-2.   2035 System Level Needs and Mitigation Concepts 

Intersection 2035 No 
Build  

2035 Ultimate 
Project  

Mitigation Jurisdiction 2035 Build with 
Mitigation  

 AM/PM LOS   AM/PM LOS 

SH 128/SH 93 E/D F/F NB 2nd thru lane Out of Jurisdiction D/D 
SH 128/Indiana F/D F/E NB 2nd thru lane Out of Jurisdiction C/C 
SH 72/SH 93 E/F F/F NB/SB 2nd thru lanes 

NB 2nd left turn lane 
Out of Jurisdiction D/D 

SH 72/64th 
Avenue 

D/D F/F EB 2nd and 3rd left 
turn lanes 
SB 2nd right turn lane 

Out of Jurisdiction D/D 

Source: Stantec, 2009 

 

3.2.8 Phased Project System Failure Dates 

The Phased Project, planned to be opened by 2015, includes construction of Jefferson Parkway 
with at-grade signalized intersections at project termini (SH 128 and SH 93 north of 64th Avenue 
Parkway) and half interchanges leading to and from the north at SH 72 and Cimarron Parkway. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 143Packet Page     231



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-26 
3.0 Transportation 

An analysis was conducted to identify when these intersections and those adjacent to the 
proposed Jefferson Parkway would require significant improvement to the 2015 interim road 
network in order to function at a Level of Service D or better.  

Failure “choke points” will occur along the SH93 corridor regardless of whether or not the 
Jefferson Parkway is built. The SH 93 corridor is in need of improvements to handle the existing 
and the expected traffic. If the Parkway is built before other improvements are made in the 
corridor, choke points will occur sooner along the unimproved sections of SH 93 because the 
existence of the Jefferson Parkway will attract through trips off of local streets in the surrounding 
network. The analysis indicates that attracting through trips onto a road that is designed to 
accommodate the trips, the Parkway, will relieve congestion and improve safety on local 
adjacent streets. 

The LOS of an intersection ranges from A to F, characterizing the operational conditions of the 
traffic flow. Intersection LOS is based on vehicle seconds of delay. LOS A represents the best, 
free-flow conditions where vehicles experience delays of 10 seconds or less. LOS F indicates 
the worst-case “failing” scenario with high congestion, a complete breakdown of traffic flow and 
high vehicular delays exceeding 80 seconds for signalized intersections. For the purposes of 
this assessment, LOS F, representing the worst condition, was considered the point where 
traffic delays are unacceptable and significant improvements would be required.  

The assessment began with an analysis of the proposed 2015 Phased Project facility using 
2015 land use assumptions. Some intersections would already operate at LOS F by 2015 with 
the opening of the Phased Project. (See Table 3-1 above.) A second analysis was conducted 
using the DRCOG 2035 land use assumptions with the 2015 Phased Project facility. Additional 
intersections dropped to LOS F with the 2035 land use, while some intersections that were 
“fixed” with improvements under the 2015 land use assumptions would fail again with the 2035 
land use assumptions.  

To determine the failure “choke point” year for key intersections for the Phased Project, the 
JPPHA Program Management Team interpolated between the delay calculated for 2015 land 
use and 2035 land use, to determine the year when 80 seconds of average delay would be 
reached. Table 3-3 provides information on failure years.  The reader is strongly cautioned that 
these dates are tentative and will be adjusted based on economic conditions, land use changes, 
and other transportation network improvements within the corridor that would generate traffic 
operational needs that support the implementation of the interchange improvements. 

Jefferson Parkway data is highlighted in yellow.  The upgrade dates are tentative and will be 
adjusted as the project planning progresses, the project is implemented and actual conditions 
occur. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 144Packet Page     232



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-27 
3.0 Transportation 

Table 3-3.  Level of Service “Choke Point” Failure Assessment Years  

Based on PM Peak Hour Level of Service 

Intersection 
2015 
LOS 

2015 
Delay 
(Seconds) Improvement (to LOS D) 

2035 
LOS+ 

2035 
Delay+ 

Failure 
Year

1
 

Interlocken / US 36 NB 
Ramps 

F 121 WB 2nd right turn lane, NB 2nd 
left turn lane, NB 3rd thru lane 

E 70 - 

Interlocken / US 36 SB 
Ramps 

F 191 EB 2nd right turn lane, NB/SB 
3rd 

2

F 85 2031 

Interlocken / SH 
128/Jefferson Parkway 

F 177 NB/SB 3rd thru lanes, WB 2nd 
left turn lane 

F 201 2019 

SH 128 / Indiana C 24 - F 126 2026 
SH 128 / SH 93 B 16 - F 109 2029 
SH 72 / SH 93 F 99 NB/SB 2nd thru lanes F 87 2032 
SH 72 / Jefferson Pkwy B 11 - F 134 2026 
SH 72 / Indiana F 151 NB/SB 2nd thru lanes, 

EB/WB/NB 2nd left turn lanes 
F 106 2027 

SH 93 / Jefferson Pkwy F 398 NB/SB 2nd thru lanes, WB 2nd 
left turn lane2 

F 169 2019 

SH 93 / 64th Avenue D 40 WB 2nd right turn lane (AM 
mitigation) 

F 108 2026 

SH 72 (Indiana) / 64th F 81 EB 2nd left turn lane F 90 2032 
SH 72 (Ward) / 64th E 66 WB 2nd left turn lane F 84 2033 
SH 93 / Golden Gate C 32 - D 45 - 
SH 93 / Washington E 63 EB separate left turn lane, WB 

separate right turn lane 
E 79 - 

SH 93 / Iowa A 7 - A 8 - 
SH 93 / SH 58 / US 6 F 224 WB 3rd left turn lane, NB/EB 2nd 

right turn lanes 
F 140 2021 

US 6 / C-470 F 122 NB 2nd left turn lane, SB 
separate right turn lane 

F 216 2020 

1These dates are tentative and will be adjusted based on economic conditions, land use changes, and other transportation network 
improvements within the corridor that would generate traffic operational needs that support the implementation of the interchange 
improvements.    
2 Improvement to LOS E  
+ Includes 2015 improvements 
Source: Stantec, 2009 

 

3.2.9 Jefferson Parkway Toll Road and Northwest Parkway Arterial Benefits 

Completion of the Ultimate Project will be a significant step toward completion of the northwest 
portion of the urban beltway.  Completing the beltway will result in removal of through traffic off 
of local streets onto the beltway and will provide a travel corridor for traffic traveling to and from 
the west and northeast portions of the state. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 145Packet Page     233



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-28 
3.0 Transportation 

It is clear that the Jefferson Parkway and associated Northwest Parkway extension are needed 
to provide transportation links that will enable Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield,  
and Arvada to complete planned development for the Interlocken and Candelas Urban Centers 
and other associated development within the Northwest Corridor Study Area.  By 2015, under 
the most conservative of forecasts, Jefferson Parkway will carry 18-24,000 trips per day that 
won’t be going on other streets.  Conservatively, by 2035, Jefferson Parkway and extended 
Northwest Parkway will carry 23–39,000 trips per day.  With completion of improvements to the 
Southern Section, the Jefferson Parkway could approach 70,000+ trips that would not use 
parallel roadways. 

The Jefferson Economic Council (JEC) noted that the economic and fiscal Impacts on Jefferson 
County of development in the Northwest Corridor area with construction of the roadway is nearly 
double the impact without the roadway (JEC, 2007).  Recognizing the current economic decline 
nationally and the continued dedication of developers and businesses  within the Northwest 
Corridor Study Area, it remains likely that a beneficial level of economic and fiscal impacts will 
occur. 

3.2.10 Completion of the Southern Section Would Provide Further Benefits 

The traffic analysis indicates that there are both congestion and traffic safety needs for the 
project. Once improvements are made to SH 93, including the section through Golden, an 
improved alternate route for trips moving in the northwest portion of the region will be available. 
This route will facilitate travel and relieve congestion on both local and arterial streets in the 
study area.  

The 2035 Ultimate Project model run based on a completed regional arterial link in the Southern 
Section and updated small area employment showed Jefferson Parkway traffic more than 
double what is shown without Southern Section 
improvements.  Daily traffic numbers ranged in 
the 70,000+ range.  Completion of this link 
resulted in reductions to parallel arterials such as 
SH 121 (Wadsworth, Simms and Indiana Streets) 
and increased demands for trips along SH 58. 

Significant reductions in traffic on I-25, I-76 and I-70 in the northwest quadrant of the Denver 
metropolitan area are expected to occur upon completion of the entire beltway. 

 

 

 

 

Completion of the entire beltway connection, 

including the Southern Section, would 

dramatically increase Parkway use and reduce 

trips on parallel streets. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 146Packet Page     234



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-29 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-14  2015 NO BUILD LEVELS OF SERVICE 

 
Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 147Packet Page     235



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-30 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-15. 2015 PHASED PROJECT LEVELS OF SERVICE 

 
Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 148Packet Page     236



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-31 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-16 2035 NO BUILD LEVELS OF SERVICE 

 
Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 149Packet Page     237



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20,2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 3-32 
3.0 Transportation 

Figure 3-17. 2035 ULTIMATE PROJECT LEVELS OF SERVICE 

   Source: Stantec, 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 150Packet Page     238



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-1 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

4.0 AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT, ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSEQUENCES AND MITIGATION  

4.1 AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT  

The CDOT Northwest Corridor Transportation Planning and Environmental Study (TEPS) made 
available to the public in July 2008 contains full disclosure environmental analysis for a series of 
alternatives, including the No Build (or No Action) and the Combined Alternative 
(Recommended Alternative) which includes the Ultimate Project identified for this study.  

Based on the results of the TEPS, there are a number of environmental resources that will 
require additional evaluation as this project moves forward. As the project footprint and design 
are refined, additional or updated studies are anticipated. The additional evaluations will be 
included in site specific environmental assessments as appropriate. Prior to construction of the 
transportation improvements, various permits and approvals from federal and state agencies will 
be required. Best Management Practices (BMPs) will be applied.  

The US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge Final 
Comprehensive Conservation Plan & EIS, (September 2004) and Record of Decision (February 
2005) included a general analysis of impacts to the Refuge from the potential transportation 
improvements associated with the up to 300 feet of right-of-way to be made available along the 
west edge of Indiana Street as identified in the Refuge Act (Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge 
Act of 2001 S. 1438).  The Department of Energy (DOE) transferred the Refuge property to the 
Department of Interior USFWS in the summer of 2007. The TEPS study identified similar details 
for the entire corridor and is the basis for the discussion in this chapter. As relevant, acreages of 
specific resources within the 300 feet of right-of-way are identified in the discussions that follow. 

The objective of the current discussion is to identify sensitive resources within the Ultimate 
Project study area that will require updated and/or additional analysis.  The following resources 
have been identified based on review of TEPS resource analyses: 

 Air Quality 
 Noise 
 Water Quality 
 Wetlands 

 Vegetation, Wildlife and T&E 
 Hazardous Materials 
 Parks and Recreation Areas 
 Historic Properties 

Each of these resources is summarized below.  The TEPS and associated technical studies 
include detailed analyses on each of these resources.  The Affected Environment description for 
each of these eight resources is defined within the Northwest Corridor or TEPS Study Area and 
also a smaller 2035 Ultimate Project Study Area when appropriate. The 2015 Phased Project 
footprint is treated as the same as the 2035 Ultimate Project for consideration in this analysis.  
The TEPS study area is the same area on which traffic analysis has been based in Chapter 3. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 151Packet Page     239



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-2 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Where appropriate, the larger study area is discussed in three sections.  Figure 4-1 illustrates 
theses study areas and sections. 

Northern Section. The northern section 
includes the Flatiron Crossing  
Mall/Interlocken Area, Superior, and 
Broomfield, and extends from the 
western terminus of Northwest Parkway 
near 96th Street to the northeast corner of the Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge1 south of 
the intersection of SH 128 and Indiana Street.  This area generally includes the proposed 
improvements associated with the connection of the Northwest Parkway at 96th Street to the 
Jefferson Parkway at SH 128.  This regional arterial connection is part of the 2035 Ultimate 
Project. 

Central Section. The central portion consists of the Rocky Flats area, Westminster, and Arvada 
and includes the area between Indiana Street and SH 93 from and including SH 128 south to 
64th Avenue Parkway. SH 72 and 82nd Avenue (Leyden Road) extend east-west from Indiana 
Street to SH 93.  This area includes all of the proposed improvements associated with the 
Jefferson Parkway and is part of the 2015 Phased Project and the 2035 Ultimate Project. 

Southern Section.  The southern portion includes the Golden Area and extends from 64th 
Avenue Parkway south to C-470.  This area is a part of the original TEPS study area, and the 
current system level study Chapter 3 Transportation analyses.  It is also included in the current 
affected environment section due to the potential for system level transportation and/or 
cumulative environmental impacts.   

4.1.1 Air Quality 

The study area for the Air Quality includes the entire Northwest Corridor.   

4.1.1.1 National Ambient Air Quality Standards 

The Clean Air Act and its amendments led to the creation of National Ambient Air Quality 
Standards (NAAQS) by United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) for criteria air 
pollutants: carbon monoxide (CO), sulfur dioxide, ozone (O3), suspended particulate matter 
(PM10), nitrogen dioxide, and lead. Most of the NAAQS have been in force for several decades, 
but in 1997 EPA modified the O3 standard from 1 hour to 8 hours and added a standard for very 
fine particulate matter (PM2.5). Implementation of the two newest NAAQS began in 2004.  

The Denver metropolitan region has been in attainment of the sulfur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide, 
and lead NAAQS since monitoring began. The Denver metropolitan region had been a 
nonattainment area for CO, O3 (1-hour), and PM10 since the early 1970s, so those pollutants  

                                                 
1 The TEPS study and some resources contained in the current study refer to what is now the Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge 
as the Rocky Flats Environmental Technology Site (RFETS).   

The Affected Environment is defined within the 
Northwest Corridor or TEPS Study Area and also a 
smaller 2035 Ultimate Project Study Area when 
appropriate.  The larger study area is divided into three 
sections: northern, central and southern. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 152Packet Page     240



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-3 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

FIGURE 4-1. NORTHWEST CORRIDOR STUDY AREA  

 

   Source: Stantec, 2009

Agenda Item 5B     Page 153Packet Page     241



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-4 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

have historically been concerns in the study area. EPA reclassified the Denver metropolitan 
region as an attainment/maintenance area in 2001 and 2002 for CO, O3 (1-hour), and PM10, and 
regional maintenance plans are now in effect for all of these pollutants.  

Several air quality monitoring stations, including two within the study area (Rocky Flats and the 
National Renewable Energy Laboratory), have measured exceedences of the 8-hour O3 

NAAQS.  Often some of the highest O3 concentrations in the Denver metropolitan region each 
year are measured in the study area.  

From this monitoring data, the Denver area air quality agencies learned that there would be an 
O3 problem under the 8-hour NAAQS and created an Early Action Compact with EPA in 2002 to 
begin reducing O3 concentrations. Despite efforts in an Early Action Compact for Ozone (EAC 
2002), the Denver and North Front Range areas failed to achieve the 8-hour ozone standard 
due to high readings in 2007. The area is now considered a non-attainment area for ozone and 
the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE) is required to revise the 
SIP based on current air quality data. In response, the CDPHE developed the Denver Metro 
Area and North Front Range Ozone Action Plan in 2008 (CDPHE 2008b). Implementation of 
this plan would include a proposed revision to the SIP. The plan was approved by the Regional 
Air Quality Council and the North Front Range Transportation and Air Quality Planning Council 
in September 2008. A public hearing and SIP approval took place on December 11, 2008, 
through the Colorado Air Quality Control Commission.  

4.1.1.2 Air Toxics 

In addition to the criteria air pollutants for which there are NAAQS, EPA also regulates air toxics. 
FHWA has also issued interim guidance for air toxics analysis (FHWA, 2006a). Most air toxics 
originate from human-made sources, including on-road mobile sources, non-road mobile 
sources (e.g., airplanes), area sources (e.g., dry cleaners), and stationary sources (e.g., 
factories or refineries).  

4.1.1.3 Monitoring Issues 

Some questions were raised by the public about project-specific air quality monitoring. The Air 
Pollution Control Division (APCD) is responsible for air quality monitoring in the Denver 
metropolitan area; CDOT and FHWA do not perform ambient air quality monitoring.  

4.1.1.4 Rocky Flats Air Quality 

 Another potential localized air quality concern raised was the RFETS. Because of the nature of 
the site, radionuclides could be transported off-site through the air or become airborne from soil 
disturbance during construction. APCD conducted a multi-year air monitoring program around 
Rocky Flats through December 2005 (APCD, 2006). These data did not show evidence of 
airborne radionuclides exiting Rocky Flats.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 154Packet Page     242



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-5 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

4.1.1.5 Conformity Requirements 

 In nonattainment and attainment/ 
maintenance areas, the Clean Air Act 
requires that fiscally constrained long-
range regional transportation plans 
(RTPs), transportation improvement programs (TIPs), and individual projects cannot: cause new 
violations of the NAAQS, increase the frequency or severity of existing violations of the NAAQS, 
or delay attainment of the NAAQS. 

Although included in the Regional Transportation Plan for over 20 years, neither the Ultimate 
Project nor the CDOT Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) have been included in 
either the fiscally constrained RTP or TIP. The proposed project must be included in a 
conforming and fiscally constrained RTP before regional conformity can be demonstrated. The 
completion of this System Level Study is part of the process leading to the inclusion of the 
proposed project in the fiscally constrained RTP.  The proposed project supports inclusion of the 
northern and central project elements only in the RTP. 

4.1.2 Noise 

The study area for Noise includes the entire Northwest Corridor for identification of noise 
receivers; however the focus for the current analysis is the area in proximity to the Ultimate 
Project. 

4.1.2.1 Noise Measurements 

4.1.2.2  

Measurements were taken at a number of locations in the study area to document existing 
ambient conditions. These locations included residential, park, commercial, and undeveloped 
areas along the alternative alignments that were under consideration during the TEPS 
screening of alternatives. Actual traffic counts, including the number of large trucks, were 
collected when traffic was visible during the noise measurement periods (see Northwest 
Corridor Supporting Document-Noise Impact Assessment). 

Table 4-1 identifies noise measurement 
locations in proximity to the Ultimate 
Project as well as the southern section of 
the Northwest Corridor.  The 
measurements indicate that the existing traffic noise environment exceeded the applicable 
CDOT Noise Abatement Criteria (NAC) at select locations in the Northwest Corridor Study Area, 
but none within the Ultimate Project (Northern and Central Sections). 

The completion of this System Level Study is part of the 
process leading to the inclusion of the Ultimate Project 
in the fiscally constrained RTP needed to demonstrate 
regional air quality conformity. 

Areas where existing traffic noise exceeds the standard 
are outside the Ultimate Project Study Area in the 
Southern Section of the Northwest Corridor Study Area. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 155Packet Page     243



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-6 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Table 4-1.  NOISE MEASUREMENT RESULTS 

Number
*
 

Project 
Section Location 

Measured 
Leq 

(dBA) 
Land Use 
Category 

CDOT 
NAC 
(dBA) 

4  Southern North Table Mountain Open Space  52 D none 

7  Southern 1800 block Parfet Estates  66 B 66 

8  Southern 400 block Snowberry Court  59 D none 

9  Southern 300 block Lily Lane  57 B 66 

10  Southern Lily Lane at SH 58  62 B 66 

15  Central Indiana Street at Woman Creek  68 D none 

16  Southern 100 Jefferson County Parkway  70 C 71 

17  Central Arvada Reservoir Open Space  46 D none 

28  Northern Near Camden Apartments  64 B 66 

29  Northern Omni Interlocken golf course  65 B 66 

30  Northern StorageTek Drive  61 D none 

33  Southern Near 16700 block W. 1st Avenue  76 D none 

35  Southern Mitchell Elementary School, Rubey Drive  63 B 66 

Land Use Category B - exterior for residences, motels, schools, churches 
Land Use Category C - exterior for developed lands not in categories A or B 
Land Use Category D - undeveloped lands  
* Numbers are from original TEPS table and were part of a larger sample area. 
Source: FHU field data, 2004-2006, taken from original TEPS Table 4.7-2 

 

4.1.2.3 Noise Model  

A noise model was constructed to evaluate existing conditions on a broader basis than allowed 
by the measurements alone. The traffic model used the major existing roads that could be 
affected by the build alternative, with existing (2004) traffic volumes and road layouts. 
Approximately 980 noise receivers were modeled within the Northwest Corridor. Although there 
are model receivers that were calculated to have existing traffic noise above the respective NAC 
during either the AM or PM peak hours, none of these were identified along the Ultimate Project. 
All were in the southern section and all were Category B properties (homes and parks).  No 
commercial receivers were estimated to exceed the CDOT Category C NAC. The existing 
conditions model results agree with the measurement results in that several Category B areas 
currently meet or exceed the CDOT NAC and were therefore impacted. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 156Packet Page     244



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-7 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

4.1.3 Water Quality 

Water resources within the Northwest Corridor Study Area, including surface water, 
groundwater, and the drainage system are described briefly in this section (also see Northwest 
Corridor Supporting Technical Document-Water Resources). Water resources specifically 
relevant to the Ultimate Project are also identified. The federal Clean Water Act and CDOT’s 
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) permit require the analysis and management of 
water quality for this project. The primary regulation that manages and specifies water quality is 
the federal Clean Water Act.  

4.1.3.1 Surface Water  

The Northwest Corridor Study Area lies within the middle portion of the South Platte River 
Basin. The major tributaries of the South Platte River that either are in or receive water from the 
study area are Boulder Creek, Big Dry Creek, and Clear Creek. Six smaller watersheds are in 
the larger Clear Creek Watershed: 

 Leyden Creek 
 Ralston Creek 
 Van Bibber Creek 
 Clear Creek (Beaver Brook to South Table Mountain) 
 Clear Creek (South Table Mountain to Denver) 
 Clear Creek (Denver to Mouth) 

Numerous streams and rivers are contained within these watersheds. Reservoirs include 
drinking water supplies for the City of Arvada and the City and County of Denver. 

4.1.3.2 Groundwater 

Within the study area, groundwater is typically found in both shallow aquifers and in deeper 
bedrock aquifers. The shallow aquifers consist of one or more of the following: largely 
unconsolidated alluvium, weathered fractured bedrock at or near the ground surface, and other 
permeable surficial deposits such as colluvium or landslide deposits, all of which may be 
hydraulically connected. In general, groundwater in the study area flows from west to east. 

Bedrock aquifers in the study area are sedimentary units, including the Tertiary/Cretaceous 
Denver Formation, the Cretaceous Arapahoe Formation, the lower part of the Cretaceous 
Laramie Formation, and the Cretaceous Fox Hills Sandstone. 

4.1.3.3 Uses 

While only a few of the streams in the study area have surface flows year-round, all of the 
streams, including ephemeral and intermittent streams, have designated uses that the stream 
must attain. Clear Creek is an exception to this general description because it receives 
substantial flows throughout the year making it the only true perennial stream in the study area. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 157Packet Page     245



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-8 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

The only other perennial stream in the study area is a segment of Ralston Creek that crosses 
Indiana Street.  

All of the major lakes and reservoirs in the study area are man-made. The largest of the lakes 
and reservoirs in the study area are used for municipal drinking water sources (Standley Lake, 
Arvada Reservoir, Ralston Reservoir, Upper and Lower Long Lake, and Welton Reservoir). The 
designated uses for the lakes and reservoirs vary within the study area.  

One of the unique surface water characteristics of the study area is the abundance of irrigation 
canals in the southern section. The three main canals (Church Ditch, Croke Canal, and Farmers 
Highline Canal) divert water from Clear Creek and convey the water throughout the study area, 
providing water for drinking water supplies, other reservoirs, and agricultural purposes outside 
of the study area.  

The 6,240-acre Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge is located in the central section of the 
study area. The site is operated by the USFWS (also see Northwest Corridor Supporting 
Technical Document-Modified Environmental Site Assessment). The surface waterbodies that 
occur on the Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge are Rock Creek, Walnut Creek, Woman 
Creek, and a series of man-made ditches with holding ponds along their length.  

4.1.3.4 Impaired Streams 

There are three stream segments in the study area that do not meet their designated uses and 
have been identified as requiring Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) analysis. A TMDL is an 
analysis and allotment of loads to sources of water discharge in a watershed that will assist in 
improving the water quality of a stream so that the designated uses can be met. Two segments 
are portions of Clear Creek and one is for Ralston Creek below the Arvada Reservoir. None of 
the impaired streams are within the study area for the Ultimate Project. 

4.1.3.5 Drinking Water Sources 

The water supply for the City of Arvada (Arvada Reservoir and Ralston Reservoir) is located in 
the west central portion of the study area. Clear Creek supplies the City of Golden’s drinking 
water. Water is taken out of Clear Creek approximately one mile upstream (west) from the 
intersection of US 6/SH 93/SH 58 and is piped underground into two holding ponds. The water 
from Standley Lake Reservoir is used as a municipal water supply for the Cities of Westminster, 
Northglenn, and Thornton. Clear Creek supplies 96 percent of the reservoir’s water via three 
irrigation ditches (Church Ditch, Croke Canal, or Farmers Highline Canal). Denver Water has 
water storage and distribution lines within the study area, most notably Ralston Reservoir. 

4.1.3.6 Non-potable Water Supplies 

Great Western Reservoir is the largest non-potable reservoir in the study area. Non-potable 
water is used for watering golf courses, parks, and so on, but is not used for drinking water or 
household uses. The City and County of Broomfield is currently considering the expansion of 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 158Packet Page     246



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-9 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Great Western Reservoir to address the growing population in the area and their non-potable 
water needs. 

Table 4-2 illustrates water resources located in proximity to the Ultimate Project by project 
section. 

Table 4-2. WATER RESOURCES SUMMARY FOR ULTIMATE PROJECT  

 

4.1.4 Wetlands 

TEPS wetland scientists conducted preliminary wetland determinations for the entire Northwest 
Corridor Study Area. They identified approximately 2,142 acres of wetlands and 3,263 acres of 
waterbodies.  Wetland scientists conducted more detailed wetland determinations within 100 
feet of the proposed right-of-way (reduced wetland assessment area) of the Northwest Corridor 
(all three sections) including the Ultimate Project. 

Based on the detailed wetland determination studies, 173 wetland sites totaling approximately 
61 acres are present within this reduced wetland assessment area. Wetlands are located 
throughout the landscape in association with natural drainages, seep areas, ponded sites, and 
irrigation and roadside ditches. The Rocky Flats Final CCP & EIS identified approximately 3.5 
acres of wetlands within 99 acres of potential transportation right-of-way. 

The wetlands are distributed among five groupings of Colorado Natural Heritage Program 
wetland plant associations, although some wetlands encompass several associations. From 
most to least common, the wetland plant associations are sandbar willow, cattail/bulrush, grass, 
sedge/rush, and peach-leaved willow. All of the wetland plant associations are in the Cowardin 
palustrine system (non-tidal wetlands dominated by trees, shrubs, and emergent vegetation). 
Wetland classes within the palustrine system include emergent (cattail/bulrush, grass, 
sedge/rush) and scrub-shrub (sandbar willow, peach-leaved willow). Some wetlands have areas 
of aquatic bed vegetation (algae, duckweed).  

Investigations also noted bodies of open water such as lakes, waterways, and ponds, which are 
non-wetland open waters, some of which fall under the jurisdiction of U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers (USACE). From north to south, natural waterways with flows or bed and bank 
characteristics crossed by the proposed Northwest Corridor Study Area defined for the CDOT 

Location Water Resource 

Northern Section Boulder Creek Watershed Streams: Rock Creek 
Central Section Big Dry Creek Watershed Streams: Walnut Creek, Woman Creek, Upper Big Dry 

Creek. 
 Big Dry Creek Watershed Reservoirs: Great Western Reservoir, Welton Reservoir, 

Woman Creek Reservoir, and Standley Lake 
 Clear Creek Watershed Streams: Leyden Creek and Ralston Creek 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 159Packet Page     247



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-10 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) which includes the Ultimate Project are:  
Rock Creek, Walnut Creek, Woman Creek, Big Dry Creek, Leyden Gulch, Van Bibber Creek, 
Tucker Gulch, Chimney Gulch, and Clear Creek as well as several unnamed drainages with an 
apparent connection to a known water of the United States (U.S.). Seventeen ponds, including 
nine apparently without wetlands, are present in the study area; some ponds may be waters of 
the U.S.  

For the purposes of the Northwest Corridor study, scientists used the Montana Wetland Field 
Evaluation Form and Instructions to evaluate functions of wetlands in the study area. It is a rapid 
functional assessment process designed primarily to address wetland resources associated with 
highways and other linear projects.  

For each evaluated wetland, the method scores each function on a scale of 0.1 (lowest) to 1.0 
(highest) “functional points.” Typically, wetlands that are larger and more diverse receive more 
points. Table 4-3 summarizes wetlands 
by functional category in proximity to the 
Combined Alternative (Recommended 
Alternative) that includes the Ultimate Project.  This table provides order of magnitude 
information, showing very few acres that are Category I or II wetlands. 

TABLE 4-3. AREA OF WETLANDS IN EACH FUNCTIONAL CATEGORY  

WITHIN THE REDUCED WETLAND ASSESSMENT AREA 

Functional Category Area 
Combined Alternative 

(Recommended Alternative)* 

Category I - exceptionally high quality 1.49 acres 0.65 acres 

Category II - common diverse habitat 6.81 acres 0.21 acres 

Category III - common less diverse habitat 46.54 acres  15.94 acres 

Category IV - small, isolated, lack diversity  5.84 acres 2.21 acres 

*This includes all three corridor sections. 
Source: Compiled by FHU and ERO Resources, 2007, Originally TEPS Table 4.9-2.  

 

Riparian areas are present and located adjacent to most streams and many of the larger 
ditches. Typical trees and shrubs include native plains cottonwood, box elder, hawthorn, and 
chokecherry as well as non-native Russian-olive (noxious weed), elm, and green ash. There are 
about 36 riparian areas within the reduced wetland assessment areas.  

4.1.5 Vegetation, Wildlife and T&E 

Plant and animal resources in the study area have been categorized as Vegetation; Wildlife; 
and Threatened, Endangered, and State Sensitive Species.  The descriptions that follow are for 
the entire Northwest Corridor Study Area. 

Most of the wetlands in the Northwest Corridor Study 
Area are common less diverse habitats, Category III. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 160Packet Page     248



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-11 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

The Colorado Wildlife Commission and Colorado Division of Wildlife (a division of the 
Department of Natural Resources) regulate non-endangered wildlife at the state level. Federal 
protection also occurs for non-endangered wildlife under the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act 
of 1934 and the Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918.  

The Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act requires consultation with the USFWS and the state 
wildlife agency to prevent loss of and damage to wildlife resources from projects that may 
impound, divert, control, or otherwise modify the waters of any stream or water body. The 
Migratory Bird Treaty Act provides for protection of all native migratory game and non-game 
birds with exceptions for the control of species that cause damage to agricultural or other 
interests. Similar protections and prohibited activities are included in the Bald and Golden Eagle 
Protection Act. 

Executive Order 13112 directs federal agencies whose activities may affect the status of 
invasive species to control populations of such species in a cost-effective and environmentally 
sound manner, monitor invasive species populations, and provide for restoration of native 
species and habitat conditions in ecosystems that have been invaded. Although, this project is 
not federally funded, JPPHA has decided to follow the intent the Executive Order. 

At the state level, the Colorado Noxious Weed Act was enacted to control and eradicate noxious 
weeds on public and private lands (35-5.5-101, et seq., CRS). Executive Order D 006 99 (1999) 
by the Governor of Colorado directed state departments to reduce the spread of noxious weeds 
resulting from their activities, to develop integrated weed management plans, and to cooperate 
with the state weed coordinator and the weed control efforts of local governments.  

Plant and animal species whose populations have declined to a point where extinction is 
imminent are afforded legal protection under federal and state laws. Federally listed threatened 
and endangered species and designated critical habitat are regulated by the Endangered 
Species Act of 1973. The US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) is authorized to identify 
species in danger of extinction and provide for their management and protection. USFWS also 
maintains a list of species of special concern. Colorado also has enacted laws and adopted 
regulations to protect state-designated threatened and endangered species, in addition to the 
federally listed species. Under Colorado’s Nongame, Endangered, or Threatened Species 
Conservation Act, state-designated threatened or endangered species are protected.  

4.1.5.1 Vegetation 

Overall, natural vegetation communities dominate the landscape in the west and north portions 
of the study area, and developed urban lands are most common in the east and south portions. 
Developed urban lands with landscaped lawns, forbs, shrubs, and trees are present in 
residential and commercial areas. Developed urban lands also contain some disturbed sites. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 161Packet Page     249



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-12 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Portions of the tallgrass prairie 
community are located on Rocky Flats 
National Wildlife Refuge. The Rocky 
Flats Final CCP & EIS identified 
approximately 9 acres of xeric tallgrass prairie within the 99 acres of potential transportation 
right-of-way. Mixed grass prairie is the most common vegetation type of the study area. Most of 
the open grasslands, as well as the flat summits of North and South Table Mountains, are mixed 
grass prairie communities. Agricultural and pasturelands are generally located in the central and 
northern portions of the study area. Riparian areas are scattered along most of the major 
streams and ditches. Dry (xeric) upland shrublands are mainly located in the southwest portion 
of the study area on the sideslopes of North and South Table mountains and the lower slopes of 
the Front Range foothills. 

4.1.5.2 Wildlife 

The study area provides habitat that supports seasonal and year-round elk and deer use. Elk 
are increasingly common in the foothills on the western edge of the study area, with most areas 
serving as winter range. Mule deer are common throughout the study area and are known to 
occur within almost all available habitat types, although they are most often found in upland or 
riparian shrublands. East-west movement of deer, elk, and other wildlife through the study area 
typically occurs along riparian corridors, but may also occur in open grassland areas.  Wildlife 
connections within the Northwest Corridor include:  

 Rock Creek  
 Walnut Creek  
 Woman Creek  
 Upper Big Dry Creek  
 Leyden Gulch  

 Ralston Creek 
 Van Bibber Creek 
 North Table Mountain 
 Area between the foothills and the Fossil 

Trace Golf Course along US 6.   

 
 Avian, reptilian, amphibian and aquatic species are also found within the study area. 

4.1.5.3 Threatened and Endangered 

Federally threatened and endangered species are protected under the Endangered Species Act 
(ESA) of 1973 as amended (16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq.). A potential effect on a federally listed 
species or its habitat resulting from a project with a federal action requires consultation with the 
USFWS under Section 7 of the ESA. Several federally listed threatened and endangered 
species potentially occur in the study area: 

 Colorado butterfly plant (Gaura neomexicana coloradensis) - Threatened  
 Ute ladies’-tresses orchid (Spiranthes diluvialis) - Threatened  
 Bald eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus) - Threatened2 

                                                 
2 The bald eagle was officially delisted from protection under the ESA on June 28, 2007. It is still offered some protection under the 
Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act of 1940 as amended in 1978 and under the Migratory bird Treat Act.  

The xeric tallgrass community in and around Rocky 
Flats is believed to be the largest example remaining in 
Colorado and perhaps in North America. TEPS p. 4.11-7 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 162Packet Page     250



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-13 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

 Black-footed ferret (Mustela nigripes) - Endangered  
 Preble’s meadow jumping mouse (Zapus hudsonius preblei) - Threatened  

Although not federally listed, wildlife species of particular interest that are known to occur or 
potentially occurring in the study area and have been listed by the Colorado Division of Wildlife  

 (CDOW) as threatened, endangered, or 
of special concern (SC) in the state of 
Colorado, or have been described as 
rare, vulnerable, or imperiled in the state by the Colorado Natural Heritage Program (CNHP) are 
described below: 

 Black-tailed prairie dog 
 Burrowing owl 
 Plains sharp-tailed grouse 

 Butterflies (various) 
 Amphibians (various) 
 Fish (various) 

The Rocky Flats Final CCP & EIS identified approximately 2 acres prairie dog colonies and 77 
acres of suitable habitat, as well as 8.5 acres of Preble’s mouse habitat within the 99 acres of 
potential transportation right-of-way. 

4.1.5.4 Wildlife Refuges and Conservation Areas 

The Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge is located in the central portion of the study area.  
Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge encompasses about 6,200 acre of predominantly 
undisturbed grassland and shrubland habitat similar to those described for other undeveloped 
lands in the study area. Refuge vegetation communities of particular interest include the rare 
xeric tallgrass and tall upland shrubland communities.  

Two Ponds National Wildlife Refuge is the smallest urban unit in the National Wildlife Refuge 
System, Two Ponds is located in Arvada, southeast of the intersection of Kipling Street and 80th 
Avenue. Two Ponds covers 72.2 acres and is managed for the benefit of vanishing wetlands 
and native wildlife species.  

Standley Lake Regional Park is located east of Indiana Street, south of the intersection of 
100th Avenue and Simms Street in the central portion of the study area. It was designated as a 
regional park in 1998 and is owned and managed by the City of Westminster. Standley Lake is 
an artificial reservoir created in the middle of the short grass prairie, and includes prairie, lake, 
and wetland ecosystems that attract a variety of birds and mammals.  

Prairie Dog Relocation Areas. The Cities of Broomfield and Westminster have designated 
areas within their open space lands for prairie dog relocations. Relocation areas within 
Westminster include Colorado Hills Open Space and Standley Lake Regional Park. Broomfield 
has created an actively managed wildlife refuge area for prairie dog habitat at Great Western 
Reservoir.  

Preble’s meadow jumping mouse and prairie dog 
habitats are found within the Ultimate Project Study 
Area. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 163Packet Page     251



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-14 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

4.1.6 Hazardous Materials 

A Modified Phase I Environmental Site 
Assessment (MESA) was performed to 
evaluate whether properties within the study 
area had potential or known soil, 
groundwater, or surface water 
contamination. Sites within the Northwest 
Corridor Study Area were assessed for 
recognized environmental conditions and potential environmental conditions. Sites with 
recognized environmental conditions and sites of concern within the study area are discussed 
below.  

4.1.6.1 Northern Section 

This area has historically been used for ranching purposes. Abandoned coalmines are located 
to the east of the western terminus of Northwest Parkway. At the northern extent of this portion, 
the Burlington Northern and Santa Fe (BNSF) railroad tracks cross the Northwest Parkway. No 
evidence of potential soil and groundwater impacts associated with the railroad tracks and 
crossings were identified during the site reconnaissance. However, impacts to soil and 
groundwater along the railroad corridor may exist due to undocumented events and an 
accumulation of drips, leaks, spills, and hydrocarbon exhaust residue over time. Based on the 
unknown conditions along the railroad corridor, the railroad right-of-way is a site of concern.  

Several areas of known contaminated soil and groundwater have been identified in the northern 
portion of the study area. Lead-contaminated soils, associated with a former pistol and rifle 
shooting range, are located to the west of Interlocken Loop. Although remediated, soils 
containing low levels of lead from this site were used as fill in nearby road construction. Leaking 
Underground Storage Tank (LUST) sites are present in the northern portion that may impact soil 
or groundwater quality in the study area. More recently, the area in general has developed as 
commercial and retail use, which includes nearby gasoline stations and other service related 
businesses. No substantial areas of contaminated soil or groundwater were identified along the 
proposed alternative alignment footprints.  

4.1.6.2 Central Portion 

A number of landfills are located in this portion. The BFI Foothills landfill is an active solid waste 
site located at SH 93 and Leyden Road. No identified groundwater or methane concerns are 
identified with this site. Historical landfills with known methane are located in the Leyden Road 
and Indiana Street area in addition to 68th Avenue and Joyce Street.  

The Union Pacific railroad parallels the south side of SH 72 and is located between SH 72 and 
Barbara Gulch. The railroad track crosses Indiana Street just south of the intersection of Indiana 
Street and SH 72 to the east, and crosses SH 93 just south of the intersection of SH 93 and SH 
72 to the west. No evidence of soil and groundwater impacts were identified as associated with 

Sites have been identified in the Northwest Corridor 
Study Area: 
• Recognized environmental conditions (presence or 

likely presence of any hazardous substances or 
petroleum products based on existing or past 
release data)  

• Sites of concern (conditions that may be present but 
are not confirmed without additional study)  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 164Packet Page     252



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-15 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

the railroad tracks during the site reconnaissance. However, impacts to soil and groundwater 
along the railroad corridor may exist due to undocumented events and an accumulation of drips, 
leaks, spills, and hydrocarbon exhaust residue over time. Based on the unknown conditions 
along the railroad corridor, this is a site of concern.  

This area also has a mining history that includes coal, uranium, aggregate, and clay prospecting 
and development.  

Rocky Flats Environmental Technology Site (RFETS). RFETS consists of approximately 
6,200 acres between SH 128 and SH 72, and between SH 93 and Indiana Street. Former U.S. 
Department of Energy (DOE) operations at RFETS included the production of nuclear weapons 
parts (1951 to 1989) and fabrication of stainless steel components (1951 to 1992). 
Approximately 384 acres near the center of the site are referred to as the former Industrial Area 
where many of the on-site structures and operations were located. The Industrial Area is 
approximately 1.5 miles west of Indiana Street and north of SH 72. The remaining acreage 
surrounding the Industrial Area is referred to as the former Buffer Zone. The Buffer Zone 
borders Indiana Street to the west and is located approximately 0.5 mile north of SH 72.  

Remediation of historical site operations, 
which includes activities with hazardous 
substances such as uranium, plutonium, 
other metals and chlorinated hydrocarbons, has been ongoing at this site since 1992. The site 
has undergone an Independent Validation and Verification process to ensure that on-site 
contaminants and cleanup actions have met standards and action levels set forth in the Rocky 
Flats Cleanup Agreement (RFCA). After remediation efforts were physically completed in 
October of 2005, the DOE transferred management of the site from the Environmental 
Management unit to the Legacy unit. Upon the finalized site closure in July 2007, the jurisdiction 
and control over most of the land was transferred to USFWS to be operated as the Rocky Flats 
National Wildlife Refuge as set forth in the Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge Act of 2001. 
DOE will maintain authority of certain parts of the Industrial Area where contaminants still exist 
and are undergoing long-term remediation. This area is closed to the public. 

Both the CDPHE and the EPA monitor and evaluate air, surface water, groundwater, and soil 
conditions at RFETS, in addition to implementing remedial actions. Remedial investigations 
have indicated that elevated levels of hazardous substances, including radionuclides, metals, 
and chlorinated hydrocarbons have been released to the environment.  

Historical on-site structure fires and material releases have resulted in radionuclide 
contamination of surface soils within the Industrial Area, Buffer Zone, and properties to the east 
of Indiana Street. Plutonium-239/240 and americium 241 have been identified as the primary 
contaminants in surface soil in the vicinity of the Northwest Corridor study area (DOE, 1997b) 
(see Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-3). Plutonium concentrations in surface soil in the vicinity of 
Indiana Street range from less than 0.2 picoCuries per gram (pCi/g) to 10 pCi/g (DOE, EPA, and 

Remediation of the Rocky Flats Environmental 
Technology Site (RFETS) has been ongoing since 1992. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 165Packet Page     253



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-16 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

CDPHE, 1996). Americium concentrations range from 0.04 pCi/g to 0.9 pCi/g (DOE, EPA, and 
CDPHE, 1996). These concentrations are above background levels found in the environment. 
Plutonium environmental background levels in the Rocky Flats Area have been determined as 
0.09 pCi/g (DOE, 1997a; DOE 1997b). Although above background, these levels are below the 
Rocky Flats Clean-up Agreement (RFCA) action levels for plutonium and americium in surface 
soil, which are 50 pCi/g and 74 pCi/g, respectively (DOE, EPA, and CDPHE, 2003). The action 
levels were calculated to be protective of a wildlife refuge worker, a rural resident in the event 
the land use was not restricted to a wildlife refuge, and ecological resources (DOE, EPA, and 
CDPHE, 2003).  

Extensive sampling programs over the years developed considerable data on radionuclides in 
soil at Rocky Flats and showed that plutonium and americium concentrations in surface soil 
along both sides of Indiana Street that might be disturbed by road construction. This area 
comprises the only off-site Operable Unit (OU) 3. These soils were investigated as part of the 
OU 3 RCRA Facility Investigation/Remedial Investigation (RFI/RI) and the OU 3 Corrective 
Action Decision/Record of Decision (CAD/ROD) (DOE, 1997b).  

The highest concentration of plutonium, which was approximately 6.5 pCi/g, occurred in a 
surface soil sample located approximately 0.3 mile east of the intersection of the east access 
road and Indiana Street. The concentration of americium, which was 0.5 pCi/g, was identified in 
a surface soil sample immediately east of the same intersection (DOE, 1997b).  

These concentrations were well below 
the site action level of 50 picocuries per 
gram for plutonium and 74 picocuries per 
gram from americium (DOE, 2005) and 
were considered protective of human health and the environment and a no action determination 
was made. The First Five-Year Review for this OU in 2002 concluded that these concentrations 
are still protective of human health and the environment (DOE, 2002b).  

Other affected media within RFETS includes groundwater, surface water, and sediment. 
Groundwater plumes containing volatile organic compounds (VOCs), nitrates, and uranium do 
not extend to any of the property boundaries and are not expected to impact the proposed build 
alternatives (DOE, 2004b). Recent sampling data (March 2005) indicates radionuclide 
exceedences have occurred in surface water and sediment samples along Woman Creek and 
Walnut Creek drainages in close proximity to Indiana Street (DOE, 2005a). A system of  

Plutonium and americium concentrations in surface soil 
along Indiana are considered protective of human health 
and the environment. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 166Packet Page     254



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-17 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

FIGURE 4-2. PLUTONIUM ISOCONTOURS IN THE STUDY AREA 

 
Polygons were created from isocontours, which were created in Dynamic Graphics using kriged 
data from M. Iggy Litaor, EG&G Geosciences January 1995, as mapped in the 1996 Final RFI/RI 
report. In order to close the polygon shapefiles, the open-ended isocontours were closed by 
connecting their end points. ERM made no attempt to extrapolate or interpret data other than 
what was provided in the original figure in the Final RFI/RI report. Information obtained from 
Water Quality Control Commission Regulations #93 and #94.  

Source: US Department of Energy. June 1996. Final RFI/RI Report OU 3 (OU 3 Offsite 
Areas); Figure 4-6A. Originally TEPS Figure 4.15-3 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 167Packet Page     255



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-18 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

FIGURE 4-3. AMERICIUM ISOCONTOURS IN THE STUDY AREA 

 
Polygons were created from isocontours, which were created in Dynamic Graphics using kriged 
data from M. Iggy Litaor, EG&G Geosciences January 1995, as mapped in the 1996 Final RFI/RI 
report. In order to close the polygon shape files, the open-ended isocontours were closed by 
connecting their end points. ERM made no attempt to extrapolate or interpret data other than what 
was provided in the original figure in the Final RFI/RI report. Information obtained from Water 
Quality Control Commission Regulations #93 and #94.  

Sources: US Department of Energy, June 1996. Final RFI/RI Report OU3 (OU 3 Offsite Areas) 
Figure 4-6B. Originally TEPS Figure 4.15-4 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 168Packet Page     256



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-19 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

continuous air monitoring stations is located along the RFETS property perimeter. Since at least 
1998, no radionuclide exceedences have occurred. 

Rocky Flats Industrial Park. Additional industrial property uses in the central portion of the 
study area, known as the Rocky Flats Industrial Park, have been concentrated along SH 72 
between SH 93 and Indiana Street. Known VOC and metal contaminated soil and groundwater 
are present in the vicinity of the Rocky Flats Industrial Park. Contaminated groundwater has 
migrated off-site and onto property on the north side of SH 72. Industrial use and petroleum 
tanks have led to contaminated soils and groundwater on properties to the west of Rocky Flats 
Industrial Park and the section along Indiana Street south to 64th Avenue. 

4.1.6.3 Southern Portion 

Former mining and industrial properties were located along SH 93 immediately north of Golden. 
Several of the mined areas were subsequently used for waste disposal and became landfill sites 
resulting in contaminated soil and groundwater and methane gas generation. Waste rock from 
historical mining was observed along this route. Industrial properties were located in the vicinity 
of Pine Ridge Road and SH 93, which has lead to localized areas of soil and groundwater 
contamination.  

4.1.7  Parks and Recreation Areas 

There are 240 existing parks and recreational 
areas in the Northwest Corridor Study Area. 
Parks range from regional, multi-use facilities 
to neighborhood pocket parks. There also are open space parcels that function as recreational 
areas because they are publicly accessible and provide recreational opportunities, mostly in the 
form of trails. Trails provide access as well as an opportunity for recreational activity. Generally, 
trails are public, multi-purpose areas that are used for non-motorized recreational purposes, 
such as hiking, biking, jogging, strolling, skating, mountain biking, walking, and horseback 
riding. A list of the existing parks and recreational areas in proximity to the Ultimate Project is 
provided on Table 4-4.  

TABLE 4-4. ULTIMATE PROJECT PARK AND RECREATIONAL RESOURCES 

Name Description 

Arvada - Central Section 

41 Russell Park  Neighborhood park  

54 Arvada/Blunn Reservoir Open Space  Multiuse open space for recreational trails, fishing, and public utility 
purposes.  

55 School Stadium Complex  Sports complex  

61 Mountain Shadows Open Space  Open space trail property  

Fifteen parks and recreation areas and 45 trails are 
identified in proximity to the Ultimate Project.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 169Packet Page     257



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-20 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Name Description 

62 Pattridge Open Space  Multi-use open space for recreational trails, non-recreational public and 
utility purposes  

Broomfield - Northern Section 

86 Varra Park  Neighborhood park  

91 Parkway Circle Open Space  Open space trail property  

94 Miner's Park  Neighborhood park  

Private - Northern Section 

178 Omni Interlocken Golf Course  Regional recreational facility - Northern Section 

180 Sun Microsystems Recreation Area  Community recreational facility  - Northern Section 

Superior - Northern Section 

190 Coyote Ridge Open Space  Open space with recreational opportunities  

191 Rock Creek Open Space  Open space with recreational opportunities  

Westminster - Central Section 

211 Colorado Hills Open Space  Open space with recreational opportunities  

220 Stanley Lake Park   Regional park  

221 Stoney Creek Golf Course  Regional recreational facility  

Source: Originally TEPS Table 4.17-1. Modified by Stantec. 

 

4.1.7.1 Regional Parks and Recreational Facilities 

 The study area has several parks and recreational parcels that are important regional 
amenities. Regional parks typically involve jurisdictional partnerships that contribute to the 
development and maintenance of the park. These areas serve residents throughout the Front 
Range and are regionally recognized. Also, privately and publicly owned and managed golf 
courses in the study area qualify as regional resources.  

4.1.7.2 Community Parks and Recreational Facilities 

 While generally smaller than regional parks, community parks and recreational resources 
provide opportunities for community activities and facilities. Community parks often have a 
diverse selection of amenities that serve residents within three miles of the park.  

4.1.7.3 Neighborhood Parks and Recreational Facilities 

These parks are smaller parcels that generally serve residents within 0.5 mile of the park. They 
often include playgrounds, picnic facilities, paved trails, tennis courts, basketball courts, large 
grass areas, and landscaping. Neighborhood parks are commonly dispersed throughout a city 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 170Packet Page     258



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-21 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

according to a typical 0.5-mile radius and feature easy access for residents in the surrounding 
area.  

4.1.7.4 Sports Complexes 

 The study area contains several publicly owned parcels with facilities and fields dedicated to 
sporting events. Tennis courts and baseball, softball, soccer, and football fields constitute 
parcels that qualify as sports complexes.  

4.1.7.5 Open Space 

 Open space areas include land and water parcels that remain in a predominantly natural or 
undeveloped state. The intention of open space acquisition varies from growth management to 
habitat protection and/or passive recreation. However, it must be noted that not all open space 
allows public access or use. Many areas defined as open space are used as conservation 
easements or agricultural lands. Smaller open space parcels are often coordinated with 
neighboring open space acquisitions to create buffers or corridors. Jurisdictional authority 
belongs to either the county open space department or municipal parks and recreation 
departments. Open space properties are publicly accessible and offer one or more recreational 
opportunities, usually in the form of trails. 

4.1.7.6 Trails 

Over 64 recreational trails have been built or are planned by various public and private entities 
and compose the regional and local pedestrian, bicycle and equestrian recreational network 
within the Northwest Corridor Study Area. Forty-five of these are in proximity to the Ultimate 
Project.  Many trails are located on recreational properties and are not identified separately. 
Future trails (including those planned for the Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge) are often conceptual 
in location and are also not identified.   

4.1.8 Historic Properties 

Historic and archaeological resources are tangible remains of past human activity and include 
archaeological artifacts, features, and sites, as well as historical buildings, structures, districts, 
and features, at least 45 years old. Generally, a 50-year age threshold is applied to properties to 
qualify them for consideration in environmental studies. Section 106 of the National Historic 
Preservation Act (NHPA) directs federal agencies to consider the effects of proposed federally 
sponsored or assisted undertakings on historic properties. 

4.1.8.1 Overview 

The Northwest Corridor Study Area occupies portions of Boulder County, Broomfield County, 
and Jefferson County, and extends from Broomfield south to Golden, and extends from the 
Front Range foothills east to the ridges and valleys of the South Platte River watershed. The 
area is drained by a series of perennial streams, all reliable water sources potentially utilized 
initially by Native Americans, followed by Euro-Americans. Based on archaeological data for the 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 171Packet Page     259



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-22 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Platte River Basin summarized by Gilmore et al. (1999), the South Platte River watershed is 
known to have been occupied by prehistoric aboriginal groups extending back to the earliest 
(Clovis) stage of the Paleoindian period. The prehistory of the project area is detailed in an 
archaeological survey report prepared by Centennial Archaeology, Inc. (Centennial) for the 
Northwest Corridor (Painter et. al., 2005).  

Historical use of the study area commenced in the mid nineteenth century and is primarily 
associated with themes of settlement, agriculture, irrigation, and community development. Other 
relevant themes include transportation system development and coal and clay mining. These 
historical themes are discussed in existing narrative context documents, including the Colorado 
Plains Historic Context (Mehls, 1984), and the Colorado Engineering Context (King, 1984). The 
history of the study area is detailed in the historic architectural survey report prepared by 
Felsburg Holt & Ullevig (Marmor, 2005). 

4.1.8.2  Resources in Study Area - Based on Combined Alternative (Recommended 

Alternative) Alignment 

The Northwest Corridor Area of Potential Effects (APE) combines a 60-foot-wide archaeological 
survey corridor within which direct impacts could be expected to occur, and the parcel 
boundaries of properties containing features at least 45 years old as determined through field 
reconnaissance and review of County Assessor’s property records for the Combined Alternative 
(Recommended Alternative) that includes the Ultimate Project. A total of eight National Register 
of Historic Places (NRHP)-eligible historic and archaeological sites were identified within the 
APE.  

Of the eight NRHP-eligible sites, only one prehistoric archaeological site was identified. 
The seven eligible historic sites reflect the predominant agricultural character of the area. One 
of these is a late nineteenth to early twentieth-century ranch. Three sites are segments of two 
separate historic irrigation canals, the Welch Ditch and Church Ditch. One specialized building, 
a church once serving the needs of this low-
density agricultural community is also among 
the sites identified. Non-agricultural sites 
identified include the Golden Fire Brick Company Historic District (5JF3854), located near 
Golden, north of Golden Gate Canyon Road and west of SH 93, as well as one historic Denver 
& Rio Grande Western Railroad segment. Only three of these sites are found in proximity to the 
Ultimate Project and are shown on Table 4-5. 

 

 

Three NRHP eligible properties have been 

identified in proximity to the Ultimate Project. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 172Packet Page     260



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-23 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

TABLE 4-5. ULTIMATE PROJECT  

NRHP-ELIGIBLE HISTORIC AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

Site Name/Address Location Site Number Site Type 

Denver & Rio Grande Western 
Railroad segment  

Central Section 5JF2346.6  Historic Linear- Railroad  

Church/McKay Ranch 9600 
Indiana Street  

Central Section 5JF2779 Historic Farm/Ranch  

Brookes Stone Circle Site  Not Disclosed 5JF3195 Prehistoric Occupation Site  

 Source: Originally TEPS Table 4.13-1. Modified by Stantec, 2009 

 

4.2 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES AND MITIGATION SUMMARY 

For the purposes of this system level study, environmental impacts and mitigation associated 
with the Ultimate Project are summarized in the table below. Table 4-6 excludes impacts 
associated with the Southern Section and the principal arterial portion (Indiana Street to 
McIntyre Street) of the TEPS Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative). The 
elimination of these elements results in a significant reduction in environmental consequences 
due to the close proximity of existing 
development to the southern portion and 
the principal arterial portion. All 
environmental impacts identified are 
based on the worse case scenario and larger project footprint that was identified in the TEPS.  
As the Jefferson Parkway Ultimate Project design is refined, the direct impacts are expected to 
decrease. 

To the extent applicable environmental impacts, best management construction practices and 
mitigation described for the 2035 Ultimate Project also apply to the 2015 Phased Project.  
Future agency involvement with the JPPHA and Jefferson Parkway will occur specifically in 
relationship to the following activities: 

 Environmental Analysis for the Phased and Ultimate Access to SH 128 - to accommodate 
CDOT access requirements and provide public involvement opportunities as appropriate 

 Environmental Analysis for the Phased and Ultimate Access to SH 72 - to accommodate 
CDOT access requirements and provide public involvement opportunities as appropriate 

 Environmental Analysis for the Phased and Ultimate Access to SH 93 - to accommodate 
CDOT access requirements as appropriate 

 Potential coordination of impact details and mitigation with the USFWS for impacts to the 
Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge as identified in the CCP/EIS. 

Impacts are based on the worse case scenario and are 
expected to decrease as the Ultimate Project design is 
refined. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 173Packet Page     261



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-24 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

 Coordination project-wide with appropriate federal, state and local agencies regarding 
compliance with but not limited to the Clean Water Act, the Endangered Species Act, and 
the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. 

Additional coordination and compliance with state and/or local agencies will be as required and 
as provided for by the JPPHA and its contractors in the spirit of environmental stewardship and 
best management practices. 

TABLE 4-6. ULTIMATE PROJECT ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES  

AND MITIGATION SUMMARY FOR ALL TEPS RESOURCES 

Resource 
Area 

No Build Ultimate Project
1
 

Land Use Continued population and employment 
growth are expected in the area without 
the proposed improvements. It is 
possible that the rate of development 
may occur at a slower rate if no 
improvements are made.  The No Build 
is not consistent with Jefferson County, 
City and County of Broomfield or City of 
Arvada land use and transportation 
plans. 

Land would be converted from an existing use to a 
transportation use along the Ultimate Project Route. 
Up to 802 of these acres will be acquired from Rocky 
Flats Wildlife Refuge. This acquisition is consistent with 
Refuge plans.  These effected areas are compatible 
with future development and land use within the 
corridor.   

Social Conditions Potential direct and indirect impacts on 
communities caused by traffic 
congestion and impaired mobility (i.e., 
increased air pollution and noise, longer 
travel times, neighborhood traffic 
intrusion, deteriorating safety 
conditions, and lengthened emergency 
response time). 

Improved traffic operations (level of service) will reduce 
congestion and improve mobility.  Local traffic patterns 
will be refocused as a result of the implementation of 
the Ultimate Project. 

Environmental 
Justice 

Potential impacts from unmitigated 
noise and congestion to all populations. 

No evidence of disproportionately high and adverse 
effects to low-income or minority populations along the 
Ultimate Project alignment. 

Economic The No Build is not consistent with 
Jefferson County, City and County of 
Broomfield or City of Arvada land use 
and transportation plans and as such 
will not support economic development 
already approved or planned. 

Jobs created from construction include direct and 
indirect employment. One business relocation is 
anticipated. There is a potential loss of annual tax base 
related to right-of-way acquisition. The Ultimate Project 
will also provide improvement to commercial center 
access. 

Right of Way No Right of Way is required if no 
improvements are made. 

The Ultimate Project would require three residential 
relocations and one business relocations.  Right-of-
way acquisition and dedications for the Jefferson 
Parkway are in progress by the JPPHA and associated 
entities. 

Air Regardless of which alternative is selected, no alternative will result in exceeding air quality 
standards. Due to cleaner vehicles, future daily air pollutant levels for most pollutants are 
predicted to be lower than current levels, even with more vehicles on the roads. Total particulate 
matter levels may increase in the future because of more vehicles, but the preliminary analysis 
indicates the concentrations would meet the NAAQS. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 174Packet Page     262



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-25 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Resource 
Area 

No Build Ultimate Project
1
 

Noise The number of predicted impacted 
receivers in the Northwest Corridor 
Study Area for all three corridor sections 
(may represent more than one 
residence) in 2030 is: 56 residential and 
no commercial. There are currently 39 
residential properties and no 
commercial properties impacted under 
existing conditions. 

Two apartment buildings and one single family 
residential site will be impacted for the Ultimate Project 
under the 2030 model. (2035 update was not done for 
this level of analysis.)  The CDOT TEPS recommended 
noise mitigation for one apartment building location 
(Camden Interlocken). 
 

Water Quality Continued growth in the area will result 
in increased impervious surface area 
with no roadway Best Management 
Practices (BMPs) except for minor 
improvements. 

Approximately 125 additional acres of impervious 
surface area will contribute to potential water quality 
impacts. BMPs and coordination with local, county and 
state jurisdictions MS4 permit requirements for storm 
water management mitigation are necessary. 

Wetlands and 
Waters of the US 

No impacts will occur except for those 
associated with future growth within the 
study area. 

Based on the larger TEPS study footprint, the Ultimate 
project will directly affect 2.45 acres of wetlands; 1.13 
acres are jurisdictional.  
Avoidance and minimization during design and 
construction and compensatory mitigation are required 
by the USACE and CDOT.  Appropriate 404 Permits 
will be acquired. 

Floodplains No impacts will occur except for impacts 
associated with future growth within the 
study area. 

The Ultimate Project crosses the 100 year flood plain 
at Rock Creek, Woman Creek, Upper Big Dry Creek, 
Barbara Gulch, and Leyden Gulch and Ralston Creek.  
CLOMR /LOMR  are required during design. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 175Packet Page     263



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-26 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Resource 
Area 

No Build Ultimate Project
1
 

Vegetation, 
Wildlife, T&E 

No impacts are associated with this 
except for those associated with future 
growth within the study area. 

Loss of habitat will occur within the construction 
footprint. Noxious weed management will be 
necessary. Re-seed as appropriate, noxious weed 
management plan will be developed and implemented. 
Loss of xeric tallgrass prairie will occur.  Coordination 
with Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge will occur to minimize 
harm and identify mitigation as appropriate. 
Elk and deer movement corridors will be disrupted. 
Additional wildlife and birds could be disrupted. 
Mitigation may include improved crossing for small 
mammals, fencing and/or controlled crossings for deer 
and elk when desired. 
Fifteen acres of Preble’s meadow jumping mouse 
habitat will be impacted. Coordination with USFWS will 
occur to identify mitigation commitments. 
Bald eagle winter range and prairie dog habitat will be 
impacted, including 12 acres of the Broomfield Great 
Western Reservoir prairie dog relocation area. Prairie 
dog mitigation will be implemented as appropriate.  
Minimization of bald eagle activity disruption will be 
coordinated with CDOW 
MBTA compliance and appropriate nest survey 
Loss of riparian habitat (SB 40) will be identified during 
design and associated mitigation coordinated with 
CDOW. 
Ute ladies’-tresses orchid and burrowing owl surveys 
and mitigation as needed 

Visual No additional visual impacts if no 
proposed improvements are made. 

The combination of regional arterial and tollway has 
some degree of visual impact.  Coordination with 
associated communities and keeping design consistent 
with the corridor is recommended to minimize visual 
impacts. 

Historic The No Build would leave historic and 
archaeological resources in their 
present state for the short term. 

Two historic properties will be affected by the Ultimate 
Project. The SHPO has concurred with findings of No 
Adverse Effect these properties.   One archaeological 
site has been identified for which a finding of No 
Historic Properties Affected has been made. 
Recommendations are to update the SHPO as the 
project progresses to ensure continued status of no 
impacts. 

Paleontological All alternatives have the potential to adversely impact paleontological resources.  Monitoring may 
be required during initial construction excavation activities. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 176Packet Page     264



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-27 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Resource 
Area 

No Build Ultimate Project
1
 

Hazardous 
Materials 

No Impacts. Right-of-way concerns:  
 4  parcels with recognized environmental 

conditions  
 23 parcels with sites of concern 

A site-specific risk assessment may be needed to 
document that the project would not pose an 
unacceptable risk to human health and the 
environment during and after construction at Rocky 
Flats Wildlife Refuge (RFETS). 
Additional studies, remediation, and site specific health 
and safety plans are recommended. 

Utilities No impacts are expected except for 
impacts associated with future growth 
within the study area. 

Utility impacts related to the Ultimate Project will be 
identified during design and coordinated with 
appropriate utility companies. 

Parks and 
Recreation 

No impacts will occur except for those 
associated with future growth within the 
study area. 

6.48 acres of direct impacts to parks, recreation areas, 
open space and trails may occur. The following 
resources will be impacted by the Ultimate Project: 
 Omni Interlocken Golf Course  
 StorageTek Drive Trail  
 Interlocken Loop Bike Trails  
 Little Dry Creek-SH 72 Trail 
 Big Dry Creek-Upper Twin Lakes Trail  
 Leyden Gulch Trail 

Coordination with owner agencies regarding 
minimization of resource disruptions and mitigation will 
occur. Landscaping as appropriate, preservation of trail 
crossings, and replacement of paved trails in a similar 
location are recommended mitigation actions. 

Farmland No impacts will occur, except for 
impacts associated with future growth 
within the study area. 

Farmland Impacts will be identified to the extent 
applicable in future EAs, since areas included in urban 
land use plan areas are not subject to the Farmland 
Protection Act. 

Geology No impacts will occur, except for those 
associated with future growth within the 
study area. 

Alignment locations through expansive soils and 
known faults will be clarified during design related 
geotechnical analyses and future EAs as applicable. 

Construction No impacts will occur. Impacts from construction activities include traffic 
disruption, air and noise.  Water quality and wildlife 
impacts are detailed above.  BMPs will be employed to 
minimize construction impacts as appropriate. 

Energy Least amount of impacts occur with the 
No Build. 

TEPS shows 4.3% more energy consumed for the 
Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative)  
than the No Build alternative.  No additional analyses 
have been conducted at this time. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 177Packet Page     265



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-28 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Resource 
Area 

No Build Ultimate Project
1
 

Section 4(f) (only 
relevant 
regarding federal 
transportation 
involvement) 

No impacts will occur. Historic Properties - potential de minimis use of both 
properties noted under Historic above. 
Parks and Trails - potential de minimis use of all public 
parks and trails noted under Parks and Recreation 
above. 
Wildlife and Waterfowl Refuge - potential de minimis 
use of Great Western Reservoir noted under 
Vegetation, Wildlife and T&E 
Impacts to resources will be minimized and 
coordination with appropriate agencies will occur as 
identified for specific resources above.   

Rocky Flats 
National Wildlife 
Refuge 

No impacts will occur. Should right-of-way be acquired, coordination with the 
USFWS will occur as appropriate. 

1 Impacts of both the Northern and Central Sections are combined as the Ultimate Project for this table. 
2 The Rocky Flats Final CCP & EIS identifies up to 99 acres along the entire east side of the Refuge. 
Source: Originally TEPS Table 4.26-1. Modified by Stantec for Ultimate Project 

 

Environmental consequences to sensitive environmental resources outlined in Section 4.1 are 
described below for the Ultimate Project (northern and central sections of the Northwest 
Corridor Study Area described in Section 4.1). 

Potential mitigation opportunities for the Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge, based on the assumption 
of project right-of-way acquisition from the Refuge, are summarized in a separate discussion at 
the end of this chapter. Impacts associated with the 300 foot right-of-way for the Ultimate 
Project are identified throughout the analysis.  

A cumulative impacts discussion summary based on the TEPS and the Ultimate Project has 
been included as a separate section. 

4.2.1 Air Quality 

The Ultimate Project (Northern and/or 
Central Sections) is not anticipated to 
exceed air quality standards. Due to 
cleaner vehicles, future daily air pollutant levels for most pollutants are predicted to be lower 
than current levels, even with more vehicles on the roads. Total particulate matter levels may 
increase in the future because of more vehicles, but the preliminary analysis indicates the 
concentrations would meet the NAAQS.  

A regional air quality conformity analysis has not been provided for this project at this time. The 
proposed project must be included in a conforming and fiscally constrained RTP before regional 
conformity can be demonstrated. This action is expected in the summer of 2009. 

The Ultimate Project is not anticipated to exceed air 
quality standards.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 178Packet Page     266



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-29 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

4.2.2 Noise 

4.2.2.1 Impacts 

For the Ultimate Project, noise impact results are 
based on the 2030 traffic model used in the TEPS 
analysis. Three residential areas are impacted 
based on this information: 

 One apartment building along SH 128 - 
Camden Interlocken (Northern Section) 

 One apartment building in Broomfield - Stone 
Gate (Central Section) 

 One residential property at SH 93 and 96th 
Avenue (Central Section) 

 

4.2.2.2 Mitigation 

To permit the evaluation of potential noise barriers, 
computer models of barriers protecting the 
impacted areas were developed and the models 
were re-run to assess barrier effectiveness (see 
Northwest Corridor Supporting Document-Noise 
Impact Assessment). Results from the traffic noise 
mitigation evaluations for barriers located on project right-of-way are summarized below.  

CDOT guidelines state that for a traffic 
noise mitigation action to be reasonable, 
the cost-benefit should be no more than 
$4,000/receiver/decibel of noise reduction (CDOT 2002). Values higher than that are deemed 
unreasonable; however, cost-benefit is not the only consideration for reasonableness (CDOT 
2002). Isolated receivers (e.g., dispersed homes) are a special case worth noting in this context. 
For a wall protecting a single receiver to be reasonable, the barrier could be no more than about 
670 square feet if it reduces noise by 5 dBA or no more than about 1,300 square feet if it 
reduces noise by 10 dBA, assuming $30/square foot of barrier. It is a rare situation where 
barriers of those small sizes provide that much noise reduction. Therefore, it is usually not 
reasonable to construct barriers for isolated receivers. The traffic noise barriers that were 
evaluated for this study were assessed for feasibility and reasonableness at both the Camden 
Interlocken and Stonegate Apartment complexes.  The required 5 dBA noise reduction could not 
be obtained Stonegate.   

Noise barriers currently recommended for the Ultimate Project are only at Camden Interlocken 
in the northern section.  Recommended barriers are located within the proposed right-of-way. 
The barriers evaluated may require adjustments based on Ultimate Project final design. 

FIGURE 4-4. NOISE IMPACT AREAS 

 

Source: Compiled by FHU, 2006,  

Modified from TEPS Figure 4.7-10  

Noise barriers are recommended for one apartment 
building for the Ultimate Project. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 179Packet Page     267



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-30 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Additional information on noise barriers is found in the technical report (Northwest Corridor 
Supporting Document - Noise Impact Assessment). 

The recommended mitigation actions would not eliminate all of the calculated traffic noise 
impacts; some residual impacts would remain and receivers for which no noise mitigation is 
proposed would continue to be subject to noise impacts.   

4.2.3 Water Quality 

4.2.3.1 Impacts 

The types of impacts described are generally common to both the Northern and Central 
Sections unless indicated. 

Surface Water. Generally, physical impacts to water resources associated with roadways occur 
as the result of the addition of impervious surfaces. Impervious surface areas, such as 
roadways, accelerate runoff that normally would be detained by vegetated soils. The associated 
increase in water velocity can cause erosion to occur by scouring the banks of receiving waters. 
Downcutting of exposed soil around discharge pipes would occur if water velocities were 
dramatically increased. Both of these conditions would add to the amount of sediment that 
comes from the roadway to the receiving water and exacerbate the impacts from sedimentation 

Increasing impervious surfaces cause increases in runoff and cause impacts to water quality. 
Currently all of the stormwater runoff is being collected and distributed, which concentrates 
stormwater flows. This concentration of runoff combined with the increases in impervious 
surfaces would produce an increase in runoff volumes, which would worsen the impacts of the 
increased runoff velocity. The Ultimate Project will increase impervious surface by 
approximately 125 acres over existing conditions.  

The impacts associated with runoff velocities and volumes are expected to be the greatest in 
the northern developed areas of the corridor where a portion of the adjacent land cover is 
already impervious surfaces. Rainfall runoff from the impervious surfaces of the roadways would 
be added to the runoff generated from the developed areas. The undeveloped part of the study 
area, mainly in the central portion, is not anticipated to have major impacts associated with 
runoff velocities and volumes due to its large areas of pervious land where rainfall is absorbed 
by the soil.  

The Ultimate Project has a large increase in constituent loading the Big Dry Creek Watershed. 
In the Big Dry Creek and Leyden Creek Watersheds, the alignment is located along currently 
undeveloped land where no roadway currently exists, thus creating a new source of constituent 
loading.  

The expected probable range of pollutant removals for extended detention ponds extends to 55, 
60, and 75 percent of total phosphorus, total zinc, and total suspended solids, respectively. This 
means that an extended detention pond will be able to bring the Ultimate Project constituent 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 180Packet Page     268



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-31 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

loads down to the No Build levels for total suspended solids and total zinc in all watersheds, and 
for total phosphorus in all except the Big Dry Creek Watershed.  

Based on the LRR (literature reported range) and the EPR (expected probable range), total 
phosphorus can be reduced to the No Build levels with retention ponds in the Big Dry Creek 
Watershed.  

Groundwater. Groundwater impacts associated with shallow, or alluvial, aquifers could include 
the alteration of recharge areas; disrupting, enhancing, or redirecting groundwater discharge; 
and changing hydraulic connectivity within or between aquifers.  

Altering groundwater recharge areas by adding fill over shallow aquifers, cutting into shallow 
aquifers, removing aquifer material, increasing impervious surfaces, or redirecting runoff 
through detention ponds causes effects to shallow aquifers. These impacts can include 
exposing the surface area of the aquifer, changing the surface gradient across the aquifer, 
changing infiltration rates, and the quantity and distribution of groundwater flows. Each of these 
affects the ability of the aquifer to recharge according to historic conditions.  

Impacts associated with groundwater discharge could be caused by cutting into, adding fill, or 
altering natural discharge paths, such as seeps or wetlands. These conditions affect the 
leakage within and between aquifers, affect surface seeps, alter evaporation and transpiration 
rates, and thus alter water tables. These impacts would be anticipated to occur in shallow 
aquifers. 

Drainage System. The major impact of the Ultimate Project would be to existing drainage 
systems. The increased runoff would require some of the existing systems to be enlarged. Any 
future development that occurs adjacent to the roadway has potential to affect the drainage 
system, but generally will have very little impact on the Ultimate Project. For state highways 
impacts to the drainage system are limited by CDOT’s access permit process. Development 
plans directly adjacent or discharging to the CDOT right-of-way are reviewed by CDOT to 
ensure that release rates do not have any adverse impacts. The flow release rate of additional 
discharges must meet historical channel conditions. As appropriate, the JPPHA Program 
Management Team will coordinate with CDOT, Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield 
and the City of Arvada to minimize impacts to drainage systems adjacent to the Jefferson 
Parkway. Regional arterial improvements in the northern section will be the responsibility of the 
Northwest Parkway Public Highway Authority and associated entities. 

Temporary Construction Impacts. Construction has the ability to impact water quality in the 
study area. Of primary concern is the exposure of large areas of open ground and soil to rainfall, 
which can result in severe erosion, and consequently sedimentation in receiving waters. The 
large areas of open ground occur from cuts for the roadway, stockpiling soil for fill, and grading 
activities. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 181Packet Page     269



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-32 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

The demolition and construction of bridges in and near stream channels would have the 
potential to add sediments and other debris directly into streams. Construction of caissons for 
bridge piers may require dewatering activities that may release contaminated water into a 
stream.  

During construction, areas are needed for washing out concrete trucks. The runoff water from 
these activities is extremely caustic and will cause impacts if released to adjacent streams or 
waterbodies. Groundwater impacts from construction activities would be similar to those of 
surface water. For instance, the construction of bridges, including caissons, could result in the 
dewatering of shallow groundwater. Dewatering activities near groundwater recharge zones 
could also potentially introduce contaminants into shallow groundwater. BMPs could be utilized 
to minimize impacts associated with construction activities.  

During construction activities, the drainage system would need to be protected from erosion 
sediment. Both the ditches and outfalls would need to be protected to prevent erosion. Any 
connections made to existing storm sewer systems may require the upsizing of the downstream 
pipes to handle added capacity.  

The existing storm sewer system in the Interlocken Technology Park would need to be further 
investigated to assess the potential impacts as a result of the Ultimate Project northern section 
improvements. This area has a storm sewer system and appears to use common detention. 
Both roadway detention and development detention are used as water features on development 
property or the Omni Interlocken Golf Course. The capacity of these facilities has not been 
analyzed, and the potential use of these ponds for additional runoff is unknown at this time. 

4.2.3.2 Mitigation 

Outfall protection should be provided and energy dissipaters should be implemented where 
needed. Special attention to detention would be required in Interlocken to account for highway 
improvements and future development. There is potential for coordinated use of detention 
ponds that needs to be investigated.  

Any runoff during construction and after completion located adjacent to Rock Flats National 
Wildlife Refuge, along Indiana Street, must follow the existing drainage patterns. Great Western 
Reservoir and the containment reservoir should ultimately receive the runoff to prevent any 
possible contamination associated with contaminated soils.  

Any construction near or within delineated floodplains should comply with federal requirements 
set forth by Executive Order 11988, Floodplain Management, and applicable FHWA and FEMA 
requirements. Conditional Letters of Map Revision or Letter of Map Revision (LOMR or LOMR) 
will be coordinated during design as appropriate. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 182Packet Page     270



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-33 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

The study area complies with CDOT’s MS4 permit. Coordination with adjacent municipalities to 
meet the MS4 permit requirements of those communities will be required during the final design 
of the Ultimate Project. 

The alignment for the Ultimate Project crosses a tributary at the western end of Welton 
Reservoir.  Plans at the reservoir include increasing water surface in the vicinity of Jefferson 
Parkway.  The JPPHA Program Management Staff will coordinate with reservoir planners to 
ensure that any project associated water quality ponds for treatment of highway runoff, would be 
designed as retention/infiltration ponds, with no discharge to the reservoir.  

Best management practices and storm water management planning together in coordination 
with local, county and state jurisdictions in addition to the wildlife refuge is expected to minimize 
water quality impacts. 

4.2.4 Wetlands 

4.2.4.1 Impacts 

Impacts to wetlands, open water, and 
riparian areas were based on impacts 
within 100 feet of the proposed right-of-
way. Total Ultimate Project direct impacts 
to wetlands are 2.45 acres. In addition, there are impacts to minor areas of open water (0.09 
acre) that are likely waters of the United States, for example, stream crossings. Major areas of 
open water that are likely waters of the United States are tabulated separately. Wetland impacts 
for the Ultimate Project include a number of stream crossings. Since USACE requires a Clean 
Water Act Section 404 Individual Permit for impacts to waters of the United States and adjacent 
wetlands greater than 0.5 acre, the Ultimate project would require an Individual Permit.  
 
Assessing wetlands impacts using only the acreage of direct impacts does not take into account 
differences in the functional quality of the impacted wetlands. Using direct impacts means that 
impacts to high quality (Category I) wetlands are considered the same as impacts to low quality 
(Category IV) wetlands. A second way to assess wetland impacts is to consider impacts to 
reflect functional differences between wetlands. For the weighted impact assessment, a 
functional assessment was done for each wetland that would be impacted by the Ultimate 
Project as shown on Table 4-7 below. 

The Ultimate Project would directly impact 
approximately 2.45 acres of wetlands, and 1.13 acres 
are expected to be jurisdictional. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 183Packet Page     271



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-34 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

TABLE 4-7. FUNCTIONAL VALUES OF ULTIMATE PROJECT WETLAND IMPACTS 

Functional Category 
Ultimate Project 

Impacts 

Category I - exceptionally high quality   .47 acre 

Category II - common diverse habitat none 

Category III - common less diverse habitat 1.69 acre 

Category IV - small, isolated, lack diversity    .29 acre 

 

Direct Impacts. The Ultimate Project would cause direct impacts to wetlands and bodies of 
open water within the alternative footprint as a result of fill placement caused by construction of 
transportation improvements such as roadway widening and realignment, new alignments, and 
intersection improvements. Roadside ditches, wet meadows, creeks, and ditches, and their 
associated wetlands would be impacted.  The Jefferson Parkway portion of the Ultimate Project 
will impact at total of 2.34 acres of wetlands, 1.13 of which are jurisdictional. The northern 
section, regional arterial will impact a total of  0.113 acres of wetlands. 

From north to south, the following major irrigation ditches and streams would be directly 
impacted: Goodhue Ditch, Rock Creek, Walnut Creek, and Woman Creek. 

Senate Bill 40 (33-5-101-107, CRS 1973 as amended) requires any agency of the state to 
obtain wildlife certification from the Colorado Division of Wildlife (DOW) when the agency plans 
construction in “...any stream or its bank or tributaries...”.  To the extent applicable the project 
will comply with Senate Bill 40. 

The Ultimate Project would impact less than .09 acre of open water, an insignificant amount in 
relation to the 3,263 acres of open water estimated to be present in the entire Northwest 
Corridor Study Area.  

Indirect Effects. The Ultimate Project would cause indirect effects to wetlands located within 
and adjacent to areas of construction. The most general indirect effect would result from the 
increase in impervious surfaces caused by additional lanes or added roadway shoulders.  

Other indirect effects to wetlands would include the decrease or elimination of upland tree 
and/or shrub buffers between the proposed roadway and wetlands adjacent to Walnut Creek, 
and Woman Creek. Buffers filter pollutants before they reach wetlands, streams, and lakes as 
well as provide upland areas for wildlife.  

Because the Ultimate Project, primarily follows existing roadways, many adjacent wetlands 
currently receive indirect effects from roadway activity and maintenance practices. Nonetheless, 
the magnitude of indirect effects would increase with an increased area of roadway.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 184Packet Page     272



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-35 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

4.2.4.2 Mitigation 

Since USACE requires a Clean Water Act Section 404 Individual Permit for impacts to waters of 
the U.S. and adjacent wetlands greater than 0.5 acre, the Ultimate Project may require an 
Individual Permit, depending on the project phasing.   Appropriate Wetlands Delineation and 
Findings Reports will be provided with future NEPA documentation. 

Avoidance and Minimization Measures. Impacts to wetlands and stream crossings should 
continue to be avoided and minimized as much as practical during the final design process, and 
the design should comply with the policy of Executive Order 11990 regarding impacts to 
wetlands to the extent applicable. 

Best Management Practices from the Erosion Control and Storm Water Quality Guide (CDOT, 
2002) should be implemented during construction to reduce the potential for wetlands to be 
indirectly affected by sedimentation from accelerated erosion or by hazardous materials (e.g., 
fuel, equipment lubricants). 

Compensatory Mitigation. Although efforts would be made during Ultimate Project 
development to avoid and minimize impacts to wetlands and streams, impacts would result from 
the construction. Section 404 of the Clean Water Act would require compensatory mitigation for 
permanent, direct impacts to wetlands under the jurisdiction of USACE and to other waters of 
the U.S. Additionally, at the direction of Executive Order 11990 and Department of 
Transportation Order 5660.1A, FHWA and CDOT should also mitigate for permanent, direct 
impacts to non-jurisdictional wetlands. Mitigation of non-jurisdictional wetlands outside the 
purview of CDOT will be at the discretion of the JPPHA and/or appropriate area government. In 
Colorado, all compensatory wetland mitigation would be implemented on a 1:1 basis based on 
acres of direct impacts.  

Wetland mitigation could be implemented either onsite or offsite through wetland restoration or 
creation, or offsite through the purchase of mitigation credits from an USACE-approved wetland 
mitigation bank. Onsite mitigation could maintain the existing level of functions of impacted 
wetlands.  

4.2.5 Vegetation, Wildlife and T&E 

4.2.5.1 Impacts 

Impacts are generally common to both the Northern and Central Sections unless specified.  Due 
to the higher level of development in the Northern Section, there are generally fewer impacts to 
these resources. 

Vegetation 

The Ultimate Project would result in the direct loss of habitat, both permanent and temporary; 
within the construction footprint. In addition to herbaceous vegetation, trees and shrubs likely 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 185Packet Page     273



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-36 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

would be removed during construction. The mixed grass vegetation community would be the 
most affected by road construction, followed by agricultural and pasture lands. With the 
exception of wetlands, riparian, and xeric tallgrass habitat types, the vegetation communities 
affected are commonly found along the Colorado Front Range.  

The introduction of noxious weeds could occur in areas disturbed during construction. The new 
roadway alignments and more paved areas are likely to accelerate introduction of weed species 
into adjacent vegetation communities. 

Wildlife 

 Mammals. Movement of elk and deer between foothills habitat and habitat areas to the east 
would likely be disrupted by proposed Ultimate Project transportation improvements at a 
number of elk and deer movement corridors including:  

 Northern Section - Rock Creek  
 Central Section - Walnut Creek, Woman Creek, Upper Big Dry Creek, and Leyden Gulch  

Nevertheless, specific design elements can be incorporated at some of these locations to 
support elk and deer movement. The generally broad movement patterns of elk and deer would 
be redirected to funnel animals to proposed crossing structures. Depending on the nature of 
development adjacent to the Ultimate Project, it may be preferable not to support large animal 
wildlife movement through certain areas. 

In order to better accommodate wildlife movement, the TEPS includes design recommendations 
for elk and deer crossing structures (see Northwest Corridor Supporting Technical Document-
Vegetation and Wildlife). These recommendations include using bridges where possible, 
maximizing culvert sizes, and providing a dry area or ledge in crossings shared with drainages. 
Potential crossings and structure recommendations will be reevaluated during project design 
and will also be coordinated with the Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge as appropriate.   

Although much of the Ultimate Project corridor is currently disrupted by existing roads, the 
Ultimate Project would result in higher traffic volumes and speeds, resulting in a potential for 
increased in elk and deer mortality from collisions with vehicles.  

Potential direct impacts of the Ultimate Project on other smaller mammals includes loss of 
habitat, especially wetlands, riparian, and grassland habitat; disruption of migration, dispersal, 
and other movement patterns, especially along riparian corridors, and increased mortality from 
collisions with automobiles. The installation of new crossings at Woman Creek and Walnut 
Creek, would benefit these other mammals.  

Birds. Raptors requiring large trees for nesting could be affected where the Ultimate Alternative 
would cross major drainages such Leyden Gulch, which support large cottonwoods. Raptors 
would be affected where nest trees would be cut or where transportation improvements would 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 186Packet Page     274



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-37 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

be so close to nests that the raptors would abandon them. The Ultimate Project would result in 
losses of habitat supporting prey species such as prairie dogs and other small mammals.  

Songbirds associated with mixed grassland, wetland, and riparian habitat types would be 
directly affected through the loss of nesting, migratory, winter, and year-round habitat. Because 
grassland is the habitat most likely to be affected, ground-nesting birds such as vesper 
sparrows, western meadowlarks, and horned larks would be particularly vulnerable to impacts.  

Reptiles and Amphibians. Reptiles and amphibians would be directly impacted by the Ultimate 
Project through the loss and fragmentation of wetlands, open water, grassland, and shrubland 
habitat. However, measures designed to mitigate effects to wetlands, Ute ladies’-tresses orchid, 
and Preble’s meadow jumping mouse would also benefit reptiles and amphibians through the 
restoration and enhancement of wetland habitat and the replacement of existing culverts with 
larger or more numerous culverts or with bridges. In addition, reptiles and amphibians 
occupying wetlands and riparian areas could be impacted by contaminants in runoff that enters 
streams or other water bodies.  

Aquatic Resources. Disturbance of habitat during the construction phase of the Ultimate 
Project could temporarily impact aquatic species potentially present in the area. In many places, 
such as at Walnut Creek, Woman Creek, and Upper Big Dry Creek, stream habitat would be 
modified, and potentially improved, through the replacement of existing culverts with larger or 
more numerous culverts or bridges or through construction of storm water quality facilities.  

De-icing chemicals in roadway runoff could affect aquatic species if the effectiveness of water 
quality measures is compromised by structural failure or inadequate maintenance. Runoff during 
unusual periods of high precipitation that exceed storm water detention capacities could scour 
the streambed or deposit sediment and physically impact habitat for aquatic species.  

Threatened and Endangered Species 

Construction of an Ultimate Project could potentially impact threatened and endangered species 
within the study area. The potential impacts to these species are summarized as follows: 

Colorado Butterfly Plant. Given that no known populations occur in or near the study area and 
that the nearest population is introduced, the proposed project is unlikely to adversely affect the 
Colorado butterfly plant. However, based on the quality of potential habitat present, final 
presence/absence surveys are recommended prior to construction at Leyden Gulch east of SH 
93, and Ralston Creek.  

Ute ladies’-tresses Orchid.   During the 
TEPS, surveys were conducted 
throughout the Northwest Corridor 
(Walnut Creek, Woman Creek, big Dry 
Creek, Leyden Gulch, Ralston Creek, and Van Bibber Creek) and no populations of the orchid 

Jefferson Parkway (Central Section) intersects the 
following drainages: Walnut Creek, Woman Creek, Upper 
Big Dry Creek, Leyden Gulch and Ralston Creek. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 187Packet Page     275



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-38 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

All environmental impacts identified are based on the worse case scenario and larger project 
footprint that was identified in the TEPS.   

As the Jefferson Parkway Ultimate Project design is refined, the direct impacts are expected to 
decrease were documented.  Previously known populations are present in the Clear Creek 
floodplain and as a result, within one year prior to construction, final presence/absence surveys 
for Ute ladies’-tresses orchid will be performed at Leyden Gulch east of SH 93 and  Ralston 
Creek (both within the Clear Creek drainage). Assuming that populations of Ute ladies’-tresses 
orchid observed during preconstruction surveys are protected during construction as a No Work 
Zone, the Ultimate Project would have no direct impacts on Ute ladies’-tresses orchid. If 
preconstruction surveys for the species identify a population immediately downstream of 
construction, the Ultimate Project could have an adverse indirect effect on the species. There 
would be an indirect effect if construction permanently changed groundwater conditions 
supporting the population and the area became too dry to support the species. A downstream 
population would also be indirectly effected if flows in the creek were altered by construction 
and downstream scouring occurred that removed all or part of the population.  

Black-footed Ferret. The Northwest Corridor study area is included in the block clearance 
area, where the black-footed ferret is assumed to be absent. Thus, the Ultimate Project would 
have no effect on the black-footed ferret.  

Preble’s Meadow Jumping Mouse. The Ultimate Project would impact habitat occupied by 
Preble’s at Walnut Creek and Woman Creek. Approximately 15 acres of known Preble’s habitat 
would be impacted (up to 8.5 acres along Refuge right-of-way). A portion of the impacted areas 
would be revegetated and restored. Although disturbed during the construction phase, existing 
movement corridors (culverts) at Walnut Creek and Woman Creek would be enlarged, to 
provide increased opportunities for dispersal by Preble’s. In addition to direct impacts to their 
habitat, the Ultimate Project could result in mortality of individual Preble’s during construction. 
The Ultimate Project would likely have an adverse effect on the species in the short term due to 
habitat disturbance and possible mortality, but in the long term, improved movement corridors 
may have a beneficial effect.  

Bald Eagle.3 The Ultimate Project would not encroach upon the established nest or winter roost 
buffers for the bald eagle. The project alignment is over one mile from the Standley Lake nest, 
which is well beyond the one-half-mile disturbance buffer.  

The Ultimate Project would directly impact 272 acres of bald eagle winter range and 35 acres of 
prairie dog habitat within three miles of the Standley Lake bald eagle range spread between 
Great Western Reservoir and Standley Lake. The Ultimate Project would also result in the 

                                                 
3 The bald eagle was officially delisted from protection under the ESA on June 28, 2007. It is still offered some protection under the 
Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act of 1940 as amended in 1978 and under the Migratory bird Treat Act and is protected in 
Colorado under House Bill 1304. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 188Packet Page     276



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-39 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

disturbance, degradation, or elimination of prairie dog colonies that provide an important food 
source for both nesting and overwintering bald eagles.  

Platte River Species. Given the absence of suitable habitat, the Ultimate Project would have 
no direct impact on the whooping crane, least tern, Eskimo curlew, piping plover, pallid 
sturgeon, or western prairie fringed orchid.  

Species of State Concern  

Black-tailed Prairie Dog. Prairie dogs are found throughout the northern half of the study area 
where suitable habitat exists. The Ultimate Project would result in both temporary and 
permanent losses to prairie dog habitat, directly impacting approximately 116 acres of overall 
prairie dog habitat. The majority of impacts on prairie dogs would occur east of Indiana Street 
and south of SH 128. The Ultimate Project would result in direct impacts to approximately 12 
acres of Broomfield’s Great Western Reservoir prairie dog relocation area, causing both 
permanent and temporary losses, as well as fragmentation of habitat.  

Burrowing Owl. Potential habitat for the burrowing owl in the study area essentially overlaps 
with prairie dog habitat; thus, the owl could be directly affected by the loss of habitat associated 
with the build alternatives. Burrowing owl surveys would be conducted prior to construction to 
determine their presence in potentially affected habitat. Mitigation measures would be 
developed for any nesting burrowing owls found in the surveys.  

Plains Sharp-tailed Grouse. The sharp-tailed grouse is considered extirpated from the area. 
No further reintroduction efforts are planned in Boulder or Jefferson counties before 2010; 
therefore, no direct impacts to sharp-tailed grouse are anticipated.  

Butterflies. State-listed butterflies could be affected, through loss and fragmentation of 
tallgrass, mixed grass, shrubland, and riparian habitat, where host plants and nectar sources 
occur. In addition, increased traffic volumes and speeds from the proposed alternatives could 
result in increased mortality of these butterflies. 

Reptiles and Amphibians. The common garter snake, the midget faded rattlesnake, and the 
northern leopard frog could be impacted through loss or fragmentation of habitat resulting from 
construction and increased mortality from traffic. However, stream habitat potentially occupied 
by the garter snake and the northern leopard frog would be improved in some places through 
the replacement of existing culverts with larger or more numerous culverts or free-spanning 
bridges. Measures designed to mitigate effects to wetlands, Ute ladies’-tresses orchid, and 
Preble’s would also benefit reptiles and amphibians through the restoration and enhancement of 
wetland habitat.  

Aquatic Resources. Rock Creek below Lindsey Pond is beyond the target area for the northern 
redbelly dace and the common shiner reintroductions. Since these species are probably not 
present in Rock Creek downstream of Lindsey Pond, the Ultimate Project would not be likely to 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 189Packet Page     277



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-40 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

affect the northern redbelly dace and common shiner. Although habitat for the Iowa darter does 
not occur within the construction footprint, increased siltation of stream habitat resulting from 
construction activities could temporarily affect downstream habitat. Runoff could also result in 
reduced water quality and altered stream hydrology, which could degrade habitat for the Iowa 
darter downstream of the construction zone.  

Wildlife Refuges 

The Ultimate Project (Central Section – Jefferson Parkway) would be located within the 
proposed 300-foot transportation right-of-way corridor along the eastern boundary of the Rocky 
Flats National Wildlife Refuge. In the Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge Comprehensive 
Conservation Plan and Environmental Impact Statement (USFWS, 2004), the USFWS 
determined that the transfer of a 300-foot-wide corridor designated for transportation 
improvements would not adversely affect the management of the refuge.  For additional 
discussion see section 4.2.9. 

Broomfield’s Great Western Reservoir Open Space would be affected. As previously described, 
about 12 acres of black-tailed prairie dog colonies in the area would be impacted by 
construction of the new stretch of roadway. These impacts would reduce the acreage available 
for relocating prairie dogs, but the remaining area would remain capable of supporting viable 
prairie dog colonies and would not be affected. Broomfield would continue to manage the site as 
a black-tailed prairie dog relocation area.  

The Ultimate Project would have no direct impact on Two Ponds National Wildlife Refuge, 
Standley Lake Regional Park, or Colorado Hills Open Space. 

4.2.5.2 Mitigation 

Vegetation 

To mitigate for direct impacts to vegetation, all disturbed areas not permanently impacted by the 
Ultimate Project should be replanted as soon as possible following construction with drought 
tolerant, native grasses and wildflowers appropriate for replacement of the impacted vegetation 
type.  Minimization and avoidance of impacts to xeric tallgrass vegetation is recommended 
where possible in the Central Section (Jefferson Parkway). 

Prior to construction, all appropriate weed surveys of the project area should be conducted and 
a Noxious Weed Management Plan should be implemented.  

Wildlife 

Mammals.  A combination of fencing, channelization methods and the construction of crossing 
structures designed to maintain or improve wildlife movement corridors would minimize impacts. 
Specific designs for improved wildlife crossings should be developed during final design. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 190Packet Page     278



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-41 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Birds. Migratory birds and their eggs and nests are protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty 
Act (MBTA). With the exception of house sparrow, rock dove (common or feral pigeon), and 
European starling, all wild birds commonly found in the United States are protected by the 
MBTA, even species such as magpie and great horned owl that tend to be present throughout 
the year. All active nests are protected, including those in the trunks of trees, on the ground, and 
underground. To avoid impacting active migratory bird nests, construction activities and 
vegetation removal should be conducted outside of the breeding season (April 1 to August 31), 
whenever possible. A nest survey should be conducted prior to construction. 

A raptor nest survey should be conducted prior to construction to identify those near the 
Ultimate Project. Specific mitigation measures for impacts to nesting raptors should be 
developed in coordination with the CDOW and the USFWS prior to construction. 

For unavoidable impacts to bald eagle foraging areas in black-tailed prairie dog colonies, 
individual prairie dogs should be relocated when possible. An alternative to relocating prairie 
dogs from impacted areas to non-impacted habitat could be to enhance habitat for alternative 
bald eagle prey species such as rabbits, waterfowl, and fish. Given the difficulty in finding 
available prairie dog relocation sites, and the effect of plague on the reliability of prairie dogs as 
a prey source, this approach may be more beneficial to bald eagles in the long term.  

Lighting plans should be developed during final design to reduce the impacts of roadway lighting 
on nests and, where practical, berms would be used to screen the roadway.  

Reptiles/Amphibians. Mitigation measures described for wetlands and small mammals, such 
as mitigating wetland impacts on site when possible and accommodating small mammal 
movement with culverts and bridges would also benefit reptiles and amphibians. Additionally, 
mesh fencing overlaying the lower portions of the wildlife fencing would minimize the number of 
reptiles and amphibians crossing roadways. Measures should be implemented to minimize and 
avoid impacts to water quality, which would reduce potential impacts to amphibians.  

Aquatic Resources. To offset temporary impacts to aquatic species from habitat disturbance, 
aquatic habitats would be restored following construction. 

Threatened and Endangered Species 

Colorado Butterfly Plant. Potential Colorado butterfly plant habitat within the construction 
footprint, including Leyden Gulch east of SH 93 and Ralston Creek should be surveyed during 
the flowering season just prior to construction. In the unlikely event Colorado butterfly plant is 
found within the construction footprint, specific conservation measures should be developed in 
coordination with the USFWS. Conservation measures could include avoiding impacts by 
establishing a No Work Zone or, in the event of unavoidable impacts, enhancing adjacent or off-
site habitat.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 191Packet Page     279



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-42 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Ute ladies’-tresses Orchid. Potential Ute ladies’-tresses orchid habitat within the construction 
footprint including Leyden Gulch and  Ralston Creek should be surveyed according to USFWS 
protocol during the flowering season just prior to construction. If Ute ladies’-tresses orchid is 
found within the footprint, specific conservation measures should be developed in coordination 
with the USFWS. Conservation measures could include avoiding impacts by establishing a No 
Work Zone or, in the event of unavoidable impacts, enhancing an adjacent or off-site habitat. 
Potential indirect effects to downstream populations should be avoided by designing project 
elements to maintain existing groundwater and stream flow conditions.  

Preble’s Meadow Jumping Mouse. A number of conservation measures should be 
implemented during final design to minimize impacts to Preble’s and to enhance or create 
habitat. Design measures to minimize impacts include developing a lighting plan to avoid and 
minimize lighting glare and illumination beyond the right-of-way in Preble’s habitat, designing 
drainage crossings with the smallest footprint of disturbance possible, and accommodating 
Preble’s movement in drainage crossing designs in known occupied and high-potential habitats.  

Measures to minimize impacts to known occupied habitat during construction should be 
included such as stockpiling construction materials in bare areas where possible, rather than on 
top of existing vegetation; informing construction workers why it is important to limit impacts to 
vegetated habitat outside of the work area; and supervising work on a daily basis to ensure 
compliance with mitigation.  

Specifics of the conservation measures should be developed in coordination with the USFWS 
during final design and prior to construction. Documentation of the final conservation measures 
should include plans and specifications for creation/enhancement of Preble’s habitat.  

Species of State Concern 

Black-tailed Prairie Dog. In areas where avoidance of prairie dog colonies is not possible, 
suitable prairie dog relocation sites should be identified and/or approved removal methods 
should be coordinated with CDOW. To help determine adequate mitigation measures, an 
assessment of habitat quality and number of individual prairie dogs should be conducted for 
prairie dog colonies that would be directly impacted by construction. Prairie dogs would only be 
removed in areas where they might be directly impacted. Prairie dogs would likely recolonize 
some areas temporarily disturbed during construction.  In lieu of relocation, prairie dogs can be 
donated to appropriate ferret and raptor rehabilitation programs.  Due to proximity to the Great 
Western Reservoir prairie dog relocation area, coordination with the City and County of 
Broomfield will be required. 

Burrowing Owl. Prairie dog colonies should be surveyed for burrowing owls prior to any work 
that would disturb them between March 1 and October 31. Prairie dog removal and construction 
should be scheduled to occur outside the burrowing owl breeding season. If burrowing owls 
were found within the construction footprint, nests should be left undisturbed during 
construction.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 192Packet Page     280



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-43 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Butterflies. No mitigation measures are specifically recommended for state-listed butterflies; 
however, implementing BMPs such as using native seed mixes including grasses and forbs 
commonly occurring in butterfly habitat to revegetate areas disturbed as a result of construction 
would help minimize impacts to these butterflies. 

4.2.6 Hazardous Materials 

4.2.6.1 Impacts 

Impacts for both Northern and Central Sections are described and site details include section 
location. To determine the environmental consequences of the Ultimate Project, sites of concern 
and sites with recognized environmental conditions were evaluated based upon the potential or 
recognized release, past release, or 
material threat of a release of any 
hazardous substances or petroleum 
products into the soil, groundwater, or 
surface water. Impacts were evaluated to 
determine whether they directly or indirectly impact the Ultimate Project. Direct impacts are 
associated with potential right-of-way acquisition sites that have potential or recognized (current 
or historic) environmental conditions. Indirect impacts are associated with sites of concern and 
sites with recognized environmental conditions within the study area that have potential or 
recognized environmental conditions that are not associated with right-of-way acquisition but 
may lead to potential impacts associated with materials management, worker health and safety, 
or final engineering design. Therefore, areas of contaminated soil and groundwater must be 
identified for planning efforts related to properties (sites) within the study area so that avoidance 
or mitigation measures can be implemented when reasonably possible.  

TEPS recommendations were made regarding sites of concerns and sites with recognized 
environmental conditions. Recommendations include conducting an Initial Site Assessment 
(ISA), a Preliminary Site Investigation (PSI), or preparing a Materials Management/Health & 
Safety (MM/H&S) plan. 

 

 

The Ultimate Project could require the acquisition of all 
or portions of 4 parcels designated as sites with 
recognized environmental conditions, and 23 parcels 
designated as sites of concern. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 193Packet Page     281



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-44 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

FIGURE 4-5. SITES OF CONCERN AND SITES 
 WITH RECOGNIZED ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS – NORTHERN PORTION 

 
Source: Compiled by FHU, 2006, Modified from TEPS Figure 4.15-1 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 194Packet Page     282



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-45 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Figure  4-1. SITES OF CONCERN AND SITES  

WITH RECOGNIZED ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS – CENTRAL PORTION 

 
Source: Compiled by FHU, 2006, Modified from TEPS Figure 4.15-2 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 195Packet Page     283



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-46 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

TABLE 4-8. SUMMARY OF SITES OF CONCERN  
AND SITES WITH RECOGNIZED ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 

Mitigation
2
 

Site 
Identification 

Number 

Environmental 
Conditions

1
 

Acquisitions 
P=Partial 

F=Full 

Description 

ISA PSI 

MMP 
and 
H&S 

Northern Section 

84 Concern P RCROS-SQG    

90,94,115 Recognized P UST. LUST. RCIRS-SQG    

H13, R001  
 

Concern  
 

4 parcels, P & F Rocky Mountain Metropolitan Airport 
runways (formerly Jefferson County 
Airport). Unknown petroleum and chemical 
use, storage, or disposal practices.  

X   

114,121 Concern P AST. UST. No leaks or spills reported. 
Unknown site conditions. X   

141 Concern P AST. No leaks or spills reported. Unknown 
site conditions. X   

Central Section 

177 Recognized P ERNS.   X 

196 Recognized P Historical Landfill.  X X 

202 Concern P UST. No leaks or spills reported. Unknown 
site conditions. X   

H31 Concern 2 parcels, P  
 

General land disturbance; unknown site 
conditions.  
West of Welton Reservoir 

X   

R023 Concern F Large partially buried AST observed at the 
northwest corner of the reservoir X  X 

R014  
 

Concern  
 

F Manufacturers of plastic injected molded 
telephone components. Unknown site 
conditions. Proto-Tel property. 

X  X 

R002, H14  
 

Concern 3 parcels, P Former Leyden Mine. Historic underground 
coal mine until 1950 and natural gas 
storage. Potential methane concerns. 
General land disturbance; potential 
dumpsites. 

X X X 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 196Packet Page     284



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-47 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Mitigation
2
 

Site 
Identification 

Number 

Environmental 
Conditions

1
 

Acquisitions 
P=Partial 

F=Full 

Description 

ISA PSI 

MMP 
and 
H&S 

H25, R036  

 

Concern  

 

P  

 

Historic quarry (Pioneer Sand & Gravel 
Quarry). Large disturbed excavated and 

filled area. Settling ponds/northeast corner 
of mined area. Dump located northwest of 
ponds. An operations area consisting of 

equipment storage, ASTs, 55-gallon drums 
and debris is located at the northwest 

corner of the site.  

X  X 

282, 287 Recognized P Landfill, UST, AST. Multiple structures; 
unknown site conditions; Ralston sludge 
drying beds located to south of structures. 
North Table Mountain Water & Sanitation 
property. Ralston Sludge Drying Bed 
Facility/Ralston Reservoir. 

X X X 

R004 Concern P Ranch/Farm. Multiple structures; 
equipment storage; unknown hazardous 
material or petroleum use, storage, or 
disposal practices. 

X   

R005 Concern  

 

P  

 

Nursery. Large equipment storage; 
unknown herbicide/pesticide and 
petroleum use, storage or disposal 
practices.  

X   

R071, H17 Concern  

 

P  

 

Farm. Multiple structures; equipment 
storage; unknown hazardous material or 
petroleum use, storage or disposal 
practices. Unknown site conditions.  
 
Numerous sites along Highway 93. 
Potential dumpsites. Potential methane 
concerns.  

X X X 

H17  

 

Concern 3 parcels , F & 
P 

Numerous sites along Highway 93. 
Potential dumpsites. Potential methane 
concerns. 

X X X 

1 Recognized Environmental Conditions – Sites within the study area with the presence or likely presence of any hazardous 
substances or petroleum products under conditions that indicate an existing release, a past release, or a material threat of a release 
of any hazardous substances or petroleum products into structures on the property or into the ground, groundwater, or surface 
water of the property.  
Sites of Concern – Sites within the study area with environmental conditions that may be present but could not be confirmed without 
additional inspection or investigation.  
2 ISA - Initial Site Assessment, PSI - Preliminary Site Investigation, MM/H&S plan - Materials Management/Heath& Safety plan.  
Source: Originally TEPS Table 4.15-1. Modified by Stantec, 2009. 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 197Packet Page     285



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-48 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

The Ultimate Project could require the acquisition of all or portions of 4 parcels designated as 
sites with recognized environmental conditions, and 23 parcels designated as sites of concern. 
Figure 4-5 and Figure 4-6 illustrate the locations of these parcels and Table 4-8 describes the 
sites. Additional information concerning these sites and other less important sites with 
recognized environmental conditions and sites of concern including a detailed discussion of 
these sites are available in the Northwest Corridor Supporting Technical Document-Modified 
Environmental Site Assessment. Hazardous materials concerns associated with the project are 
discussed.  

Indirect impacts are not associated with right-of-way acquisition but they could lead to potential 
impacts associated with materials management and worker health and safety. The Ultimate 
Project would require excavation during construction in the vicinity of the Rocky Flats Industrial 
Park. Known heavy metal soil contamination and VOC soil and groundwater contamination is 
present in the area. JPPHA and the contractor would coordinate with EPA and CDPHE 
throughout final design and construction.  

4.2.6.2 Mitigation 

Implementation of the following suggested mitigation would result in the minimization of 
environmental impacts related to the disturbance of sites with recognized environmental 
conditions or sites of concern.  

Right-of-Way Acquisition. The suggested right-of-way acquisition process for sites with 
potential and recognized environmental conditions includes:  

 Site reconnaissance, historical land use review, and database search  
 Investigation performed on properties with potential environmental conditions 
 Detailed, comprehensive investigation that further delineates the magnitude of 

contamination on a property 

It is important to note that a PSI or Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study (RI/FS) may be 
recommended based on the findings of an ISA. Sites where a PSI or RI/FS are expected to be 
required have been identified on Table 4-8.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 198Packet Page     286



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-49 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Contaminated Soil and Groundwater Management. Several direct and indirect impacts from 
soil and groundwater contamination were identified in the study area. Prior to construction, 
additional assessments may be conducted at sites with known soil or groundwater 
contamination to determine the presence of direct or indirect impacts to the alternative 
footprints.  

Areas with known soil contamination may require hazardous waste and solid waste 
management. A materials handling plan for contaminated media should be prepared prior to 
construction. Any required permitting, waste profiling, and manifesting for off-site disposal of 
contaminated soil should be described in the materials handling plan.  

Water collected in excavations due to seepage of groundwater or collection of surface water 
runoff typically requires a construction dewatering permit regardless of the water quality. The 
permit is issued by the CDPHE Water Quality Control Division in accordance with Section 402 
of the Clean Water Act/Colorado Discharge Permit System. Discharge of groundwater to a 
municipal storm sewer may also require a discharge permit from the respective municipality. For 
sites where groundwater treatment is necessary to improve water quality, routine operation, 
maintenance, monitoring, and regulatory reporting requirements are usually needed to meet 
compliance standards.  

Sites with existing remedial measures such as environmental media monitoring stations (i.e., 
sediment, surface water, groundwater, and air) and engineered controls (i.e., capped waste 
facilities) may require coordination with applicable regulatory agencies to avoid, minimize, or 
mitigate impacts from the project.  

Regulated Materials Clearance. Environmentally regulated materials may be present in 
buildings and structures that may be demolished as part of the project. Prior to demolition of any 
structures, an asbestos, lead-based paint, and miscellaneous hazardous materials survey 
should be conducted at each parcel where applicable. Regulated materials abatement should 
be conducted and in accordance with relevant Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(OSHA) regulatory details. Basic regulatory requirements for the type of materials that may be 
encountered in the study area are summarized in this section.  

AST and UST Management. AST and UST sites will be acquired for right-of-way in the 
Ultimate Project. A detailed review of Office of Public Safety (OPS) files related to these 
properties should identify the results of any site investigations conducted, remedial systems or 
actions installed at the properties, and quarterly monitoring requirements. In the event that any 
of these sites are identified as having active leaking tanks, coordination with OPS may be 
required prior to parcel acquisition. If site characterization and/or remediation have not been 
completed, it may be required by OPS to complete these activities after acquisition. The OPS 
requirements may include:  

 Removal of any underground storage tanks 
 Excavation and management of petroleum contaminated soil 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 199Packet Page     287



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-50 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

 Modifications to or redesign of remediation systems 
 Replacement of any monitoring wells destroyed during construction 
 Long-term groundwater monitoring 

During the right-of-way acquisition process, additional properties may require similar actions 
depending on the results of the Initial Site Assessments.  

Asbestos and Materials Containing Lead-Based Paint. By law, all friable asbestos-
containing materials (ACM) must be removed from structures, including bridges, prior to 
demolition and soils if encountered in excavated landfill or building debris, buried utilities, or 
other ACM. The contractor performing the asbestos abatement is required to be licensed to 
perform such work and obtain permits from the CDPHE. Improper abatement can lead to 
release of asbestos in soils and the need for soil remediation.  

Third party certification is required to document that the abatement was completed in 
accordance with regulatory requirements. The certification is needed to obtain the demolition 
permits for the structures. All ACM must be bagged and labeled for transport and disposal at a 
facility permitted to accept ACM.  

Lead-based paint may need to be removed prior to demolition if the lead is leachable at 
concentrations greater than regulatory levels. Where lead-based painted surfaces would be 
removed via torching, additional health and safety monitoring requirements are applicable.  

Other Regulated Materials. Prior to demolition, regulated materials must be removed from any 
structures and appropriately recycled or disposed. Bills of lading or waste manifests may be 
completed to document proper management of these materials. Typical materials include PCB-
containing ballasts, fluorescent bulbs, mercury-containing equipment (i.e., switches, meters), 
electronic equipment, containerized regulated liquids such as paints, solvents, oil, grease, 
chemicals, pesticides, and herbicides, and CFC-containing equipment (equipment must be 
emptied before equipment is removed).  

Health and Safety Plans. Prior to construction activities, health and safety plans for hazardous 
materials should be developed. In addition, some site-specific requirements may be applicable 
as discussed in this section.  

Landfill/Mine Gas Management. Because construction may occur overlying and within 1,000 
feet of abandoned landfills or coal mines within the study area, the health and safety plan may 
need to include assessing and monitoring air quality at all utility trenches, drainage structures, 
and similar underground construction (i.e., caissons) areas prior to and during intrusive activities 
to assure worker safety. Under 29 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 1926.651(g) 
Specific Excavation Requirements, Hazardous Atmosphere, OSHA requires testing the 
atmosphere of excavations greater than four feet in depth before employees enter the 
excavation where oxygen deficient (less than 19.5 percent oxygen) environments exist or could 
reasonably be expected to exist. OSHA also requires that precautions be taken to prevent 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 200Packet Page     288



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-51 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

employee exposure to atmospheres containing less than 19.5 percent oxygen and other 
hazardous atmospheres.  

Monitoring equipment should be capable of meeting the set standards of one percent of the 
lower explosives limit for flammable gas with an instrument measurement increment of one 
percent and 19 percent oxygen with an instrument measurement increment of 0.1 percent.  

Rocky Flats Environmental Technology Site (RFETS). A site-specific risk assessment may 
be needed to document that the project would not pose an unacceptable risk to human health 
and the environment during and after construction. In addition, a site-specific materials 
management plan and health and safety plan may be required for construction in the RFETS 
area where impacted surface water and sediment may be present in Woman Creek and Walnut 
Creek crossings and where soils contain 
low concentrations of actinides. Such plans 
typically include a description of 
engineering controls needed to prevent 
contaminant mobilization and cross contamination within and outside the alternative footprint 
during construction, personnel protective equipment and protocols needed for worker health and 
safety, and monitoring requirements needed to demonstrate that activities are protective of 
human health and the environment.  

4.2.7 Parks and Recreation Areas 

4.2.7.1 Impacts 

Concerns were heard from municipalities relative to the consideration of impacts to a larger 
“system” of parks in addition to assessing impacts to each park individually. Larger parks and 
open space systems have been intentionally developed or planned in a number of locations 
throughout the study area. These locations consist of linear parks, trails, and open space 
parcels that follow primary drainages, as well as other public and private open space parcels 
and easements to preserve open space 
and habitats. There is a potential impact to 
the larger park system but the Ultimate 
Project has been designed in an effort to 
maintain continuity and connectivity to 
these larger systems of parks through 
maintaining and enhancing the current 
system of trails. There is potential for the 
Ultimate Project to affect the visual quality of the parks and open space lands. Another concern 
is access to and from the parks, recreation areas, or open space parcels. In addition, wildlife 
movement between some open space parcels may be modified due to the proposed roadway 
improvements. However, wildlife crossings and habitat connectivity have been incorporated in 
the Ultimate Project. 

A site-specific risk assessment may be needed to 
document that the project would not pose an 
unacceptable risk to human health and the environment 
during and after construction at RFETS. 

6.48 acres of direct impacts to parks, recreation areas, 
open space and trails. The following resources will be 
impacted by the Ultimate Project: 
 Omni Interlocken Golf Course  
 StorageTek Drive Trail  
 Interlocken Loop Bike Trails  
 Little Dry Creek-SH 72 Trails  
 Big Dry Creek-Upper Twin Lakes Trails  
 Leyden Gulch Trail 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 201Packet Page     289



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-52 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Indirect effects were approximated for parcels that were located within 300 feet of the footprint 
for effects to parks and recreational areas may consist of an increase in traffic that could affect 
safety, access, and noise levels at the facility; loss of vegetation serving as a visual buffer due 
to clearing and grubbing; change of access; and an increase in emissions from vehicles.  

The Ultimate Project impacts approximately 6.48 acres of parks and recreational resources. The 
impacts of this alternative are primarily associated with constructing a roadway on a new 
alignment, constructing retaining walls or cut and fill slopes associated with roadway widening, 
and improving existing intersections.  

Facilities or activities likely to be affected and the extent of impacts by section are described 
below:  

Northern Section 

The Omni Interlocken Golf Course would experience a 2.69-acre impact associated with the 
new interchange at SH 128. No impacts to the functional features of the golf course are 
anticipated with this alternative.  

The StorageTek Drive Trail would experience a 0.57-acre impact due to widening of the 
roadway between the US 36 interchange and Tape Drive.  

The Interlocken Loop Bike Trails would experience a 2.66-acre impact for the at-grade 
widening of Interlocken Loop. This would require a relocation of most of the Interlocken Loop 
Bike Trails and other intersecting trail linkages. Approximately 2.66 acres of trail would be 
relocated onto a new, nearby easement due to roadway widening and retaining wall 
construction. 

Central Section 

The Little Dry Creek-SH 72 Trails would experience a 0.3-acre impact associated with 
roadway widening. The Little Dry Creek-SH 72 Trail is a 6-mile long existing and planned off-
street, hard surface trail. This trail is owned and managed by the City of Arvada and is located in 
Arvada, where it will follow along the Little Dry Creek drainage and SH 72 from near SH 93, east 
to Indiana Street. Portions of this trail have already been constructed between Indiana Street 
and Alkire Street as a detached hard surface trail parallel to 86th Parkway. The trail west of 
Indiana Street follows the SH 72 planned trail alignment. The city has proposed an underpass at 
Indiana Street to accommodate pedestrian and bicyclist traffic between the east and west 
segments of the Upper Twin Lake Trail, Little Dry Creek Trail, and other local trails but currently 
has no dedicated funding. This trail network is cited in the Arvada Parks, Open Space and Trails 
Master Plan (2001) as one of four important east-west trail system linkages providing regional 
connections for the purpose of recreation.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 202Packet Page     290



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-53 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

The Big Dry Creek-Upper Twin Lakes Trails impacts would eliminate a short piece of trail 
where it intersects Indiana Street. Approximately 0.05 acres of trail would be lost to roadway 
widening.  

The Leyden Gulch Trail would experience a 0.21-acre impact. The Leyden Gulch Trail is a 
planned and existing 8-mile long off-street, soft surface trail. The existing trail is owned and 
managed by the City of Arvada. The proposed trail runs east/west, starting west of SH 93 on the 
west and running east to connect with trails within the Leyden Lake Open Space. A fork of the 
trail at SH 93 runs south along the SH 93 alignment to just north of Arvada Blunn Reservoir, 
where it turns northwest and runs up to the north side of Ralston Reservoir, terminating just 
west of it. This publicly owned trail is designated for recreation and is primarily used by 
equestrians. A trailhead and parking lot are in place and Arvada proposes to replace the soft 
surface with a hard surface trail in the future. Approximately 0.21 acres of trail would be affected 
by right-of-way needs under new bridges associated with this alternative. However, the bridge 
right-of-way acquisition would not affect the alignment, function, or activities associated with the 
trail. 

4.2.7.2 Mitigation 

Northern Section 

Omni Interlocken Golf Course mitigation should include landscaping of nearby unaffected 
portions of the existing golf course to accommodate new course layout and cart path 
connectivity.  

StorageTek Drive Trail mitigation should include preservation of the existing cross culvert used 
as a pedestrian crossing or a new grade-separated crossing under StorageTek Drive should be 
constructed to maintain pedestrian access. StorageTek Drive Trail should be replaced with a 
paved trail in a similar location with comparable function and attributes.  

Interlocken Loop Bike Trails affected area of the trails should be replaced with a paved trail in 
a similar location with comparable function and attributes. Landscaping and irrigation systems 
affected by construction activities should be repaired and/or replaced.  

Central Section 

Little Dry Creek-SH 72 Trails impacted areas should be replaced with a paved trail in a similar 
location with comparable function and attributes. Additionally, accommodations should be made 
for future trail continuity and connectivity.  

Big Dry Creek-Upper Twin Lakes Trails affected trail system should be replaced with a paved 
trail in a similar location with comparable function and attributes. Additionally, accommodations 
should be made for future trail continuity and connectivity.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 203Packet Page     291



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-54 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Leyden Gulch Trail. Construction of permanent structures would not impair the proposed trail 
alignment; the right-of-way under the bridge and adjacent to the trail should remain in a natural 
state.  

4.2.8 Historic Properties 

4.2.8.1 Impacts 

Two historic properties, both in the Central Section, will be affected by the Ultimate Project and 
each is described below.  

Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad (5JF2346.6). 
One segment of this historic railroad located west of 
Indiana Street and just south of SH 72 would be subject to 
direct impacts from the Ultimate Project. The proposed 
new tollway would cross the railroad via an underpass. 
Approximately 1,000 feet of the railroad would be temporarily realigned south of the existing 
railroad alignment to allow construction of the underpass structure while maintaining the 
operability of the rail line. Once construction is completed, the temporary realignment would be 
removed, and the historic (current) railroad alignment would be maintained. Construction of the 
new underpass structure would require a permanent easement for a 280-foot-long by 150-foot-
wide (0.96 acre) swath of railroad right-of-way to accommodate the underpass and railroad 
bridge structure. Construction of the new underpass would also alter the segment visually. 
Since the railroad is a linear facility that must be crossed by the new tollway, avoidance of 
impacts is impossible. The Ultimate Project will affect a very small portion of the overall rail line, 
and will not substantially diminish the characteristics that render the site eligible for the NRHP. 
The SHPO has concurred on a determination of no adverse effect to the resource. 

Church/McKay Ranch – 9600 Indiana Street (5JF2779). The Ultimate Project will leave 
existing Indiana Street in place in the vicinity of the Church/McKay Ranch, but the new 4-lane 
divided tollway will be built directly west of and parallel to Indiana Street. The new tollway will be 
depressed approximately 10 feet below the existing grade, necessitating installation of retaining 
walls along the margins of the facility, including one closely following the western edge of 
existing Indiana Street. There will be no direct impacts to the historic property. In terms of 
indirect impacts, depression of the new tollway will limit the visual impact. Additionally, existing 
Indiana Street serves as an existing visual buffer between the site and the proposed new 
transportation facility. With respect to noise impacts, a modest increase is expected to occur as 
a result of the project. Existing AM and PM noise levels are 62.1 dB and 63.5 dB respectively, 
and computer modeling indicates that the Ultimate Project will yield slightly higher AM and PM 
noise levels of 68.1 dB (net increases of 6.0 dB for AM and 4.6 dB for PM.). These impacts are 
insufficient to diminish the qualities that render the property eligible for the NRHP, and the 
SHPO has concurred on a determination of no adverse effect to the resource.  

Two  historic properties will be 
affected by the Ultimate Project. 
The SHPO has concurred with 
findings of No Adverse Effect for 
both of the properties. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 204Packet Page     292



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-55 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Brookes Stone Circle Site (5JF3195). The Ultimate Project was designed to stay as far away 
from the site as possible. There will be no direct impacts to the site, and it is far enough from the 
proposed tollway that no substantial changes in visual character or noise would occur. The 
SHPO has concurred that there will result in no historic properties affected with respect to site 
5JF3195.  

4.2.8.2 Mitigation 

The SHPO has concurred with findings of No Adverse Effect for both of the historic properties.  
(A finding of No Historic Property Affected was made for the Brookes Stone Circle Site.)  These 
determinations will need to be reviewed and additional coordination with the SHPO may be 
required if design changes are made to the Ultimate Project, the passage of time requires that 
the resources be re-examined, and/or the definition of the federal undertaking changes. No 
mitigation is required. 

4.2.9 Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge  

All Impacts to the Refuge are associated with the Jefferson Parkway (Central Section). The US 
Fish and Wildlife Service, Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge Final Comprehensive 
Conservation Plan & EIS, (September 2004, CCP/EIS) and Record of Decision (February 2005) 
included a general analysis of impacts to the Refuge from the potential transportation 
improvements associated with the up to 300 feet of right-of-way made available along the west 
edge of Indiana Street by the Department of Energy and identified in the Refuge Act (Rocky 
Flats National Wildlife Refuge Act of 2001 S. 1438). The conclusion of the USFWS studies was 
that:  

“Based on this analysis, and the need for future coordination and consultation 
associated with any transportation improvement along Indiana Street, the 
Service finds that transfer of a corridor up to 300 feet wide would not adversely 
affect the management of the Refuge.” 

4.2.9.1 Impacts 

Further refinement of right-of-way requirements and project footprint will be made during design.  
Coordination with USFWS will determine extent of impacts. The USFWS Final CCP/EIS 
summarizes impacts based on potential transfer width of right-of-way for the entire eastern edge 
of the Refuge. The impact summary shown below in Table 4-9 is based on a 300-foot right-of-
way the length of the Refuge or 98.7 acres. The CDOT TEPS identifies a smaller right-of-way 
need based on the Combined Alternative (Recommended Alternative) which is similar to the 
current Ultimate Project at 80 acres.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 205Packet Page     293



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-56 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

TABLE 4-9. ROCKY FLATS WILDLIFE REFUGE 
 POTENTIAL RESOURCE IMPACTS WITHIN 300-FOOT RIGHT-OF-WAY WIDTH 

Resource Transferred Width (300 feet) 

Area (acres) 98.7 
Soils Loss of soil productivity of paved area 
Water Resources 
(length of stream/ditches - feet) 

5,133 

Vegetation (acres) 
Wetlands 
Mesic mixed grassland 
Reclaimed mixed grassland 
Riparian shrubland/woodland 
Xeric tallgrass grassland 
Xeric needle and thread grassland 
Other 

 
3.5 
61.0 
17.5 
0.7 
4.0 
9.2 
2.8 

Wildlife (acres) 
Prairie dog suitable habitat  
Prairie dog active colony  

 
76.6 
1.9 

Threatened, Endangered, and 
Candidate Species 
 Preble’s habitat (acres) 

 
8.5 

Cultural Resources 
(number of sites) 

 
1 

Public Use/Recreation 
Trails (feet) 
Trail connections 
Parking areas 

 
2,000 
2 
1 

Visual Easterly views from portions of the 
Refuge may be affected, depending on 
road grade and viewer location 

Noise Increased noise levels may affect 
wildlife use and visitor use in portions of 
the Refuge 

Air Quality May affect air quality in the eastern 
portion of the Refuge from increased 
concentrations of gaseous pollutants 

             Source: USFWS, Final Comprehensive Conservation Plan & EIS, Chapter 4  

              Environmental Consequences, Page 192. 

4.2.9.2 Mitigation 

Mitigation details will be determined through coordination and consultation with the USFWS 
should right-of-way be acquired.  The following types of mitigation have been identified in the 
CCP/EIS. 

Water Quality - Identify and implement storm water runoff best management practices. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 206Packet Page     294



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-57 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Noxious Weeds - Identify and implement construction best management practices and develop 
and implement a Noxious Weed Management Plan. 

Wildlife Corridors - Work with USFWS to design and construct small animal crossings with a 
focus on stream corridor and possibly upland locations and fencing to prevent large animal 
crossings (deer and elk) into developed areas east of the Refuge. 

Noise and Aesthetics - To the extent practicable, work with the USFWS to include noise-
reducing techniques and light emission reduction to minimize effects to wildlife and Refuge 
aesthetics. 

Public Use Facilities - Coordinate with the USFWS on the location of refuge trail heads, trail 
crossings, parking areas and other facilities to maximize safe and reasonable Refuge access. 

Natural Resource Issues - Update site specific studies and identify minimization of harm and 
avoidance approaches for these resources: 

 Water resources 
 Wetlands 
 Vegetation (including xeric tall grass) 
 Prairie dog habitat and colonies 
 Preble’s meadow jumping mouse habitat 

 

4.2.10 Cumulative Impact Summary 

The TEPS includes an in-depth cumulative impact assessment of implementation of the entire 
project connection between the Northwest Parkway and C-470.  That assessment includes the 
following definitions: 

The TEPS identified the following boundaries for the Northwest Corridor Cumulative Impact 
Study Area: the Dakota Hogback on the west, Sheridan Boulevard on the east, Baseline Road 
on the north, and US 285 and Morrison Road on the south. The past 35 years (starting 1970) 
and present to future extending to 2030 were also identified in the TEPS.  A detailed historical 
setting and list of reasonably foreseeable future projects in the study area were described. 
Conclusions on environmental consequences from the TEPS study are summarized as follows: 

The reasonably foreseeable future projects would have the same cumulative impacts regardless 
of the implementation of a Northwest Corridor build alternative.  Many area jurisdictions 
anticipate full buildout within the next 20 to 30 years. 

4.2.10.1 Land Use (Growth) 

The cumulative land use impacts would be a result of growth and development already 
expected to occur in specific areas identified by the cities and counties in the Northwest Corridor 
Cumulative Impact Study Area.  For additional land use discussion see Chapter 3 of the current 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 207Packet Page     295



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-58 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

document.  To the extent that undeveloped land remains available for development in the entire 
Northwest Corridor or the Ultimate Project portion, development is expected to occur under the 
No Build, but not as quickly or at the same high density as under the Build.  Subsequent to the 
publication of the TEPS, additional development projects are underway adjacent to the 
proposed Ultimate Project. 

4.2.10.2 Air Quality 

Since the Ultimate Project as represented by the Combined Alternative (Recommended 
Alternative) in the TEPS was found not to cause violations of the NAAQS and the emissions of 
most pollutants are expected to be lower in the future, the cumulative impacts to air quality as a 
result of the Ultimate Project would be minimal.  Mitigation measures for air quality are not 
required.  The regional conformity analysis must still be completed for the Ultimate Project. 

4.2.10.3 Noise 

As the total amount of vehicle travel in the Northwest Corridor Cumulative Impact Study Area 
increases and the region’s population increases, noise levels will continue to increase.  From a 
cumulative standpoint, as the study area continues to grow, noise levels can be expected to 
increase in the foreseeable future regardless of the implementation of the Ultimate Project. 
Project specific noise mitigation is recommended as appropriate. 

4.2.10.4 Water Quality 

Cumulative water quality impacts are primarily dependent on future changes in the hydrologic 
conditions adjacent to the roadway for the Ultimate Project.  The most significant changes to the 
hydrologic conditions are associated with changes in impervious surfaces in the watershed.  It is 
difficult to accurately predict future changes.   

Diminishing quality and quantities of water that recharge water supplies, and increases in the 
amount of pollution in receiving waters are both possible cumulative effects that can have even 
further impact on the environment.  Impacts to water resource can result in adverse effects on 
wildlife from diminished water quality and on human water consumption due to both limits of 
water availability and impacts to water quality. As the population continues to grow, a decrease 
in water levels due to extraction for domestic use could occur. 

Implementation of appropriate water quality best management practices in association with the 
Ultimate Project, are within the jurisdiction of the JPPHA.  No other mitigation measures are 
applicable. 

4.2.10.5 Wetlands 

Under the No Build, wetland degradation and loss is anticipated to continue as growth and 
development continue to occur in undeveloped areas.  Within the Northwest Corridor 
Cumulative Impact Study Area, a total of 244 acres of wetlands are located on land that is 
considered developable, and impacts to these wetland habitats can be expected. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 208Packet Page     296



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-59 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Given the large amount of wetlands in protected areas (approximately half of those in the 
Northwest Corridor Cumulative Impact Study Area) and that the impact of the Ultimate Project 
represents less than 1 percent of wetlands in the entire area, the incremental impact of the 
Ultimate Project would not cause unacceptable deterioration of wetlands or wetland function.  
Project level mitigation of wetlands impacts can result in zero net loss. 

4.2.10.6 Vegetation, Wildlife and Threatened or Endangered Species 

The No Build would have not direct loss of wildlife habitat or vegetation.  Current traffic patterns 
and congestion would continue to increase due to foreseeable residential and commercial 
development.  Increases in traffic volumes would likes increase the number of wildlife/vehicle 
conflicts in the Northwest Corridor Cumulative Impact Study Area. 

The Ultimate Project would result in the disturbance, degradation, or elimination of Preble’s 
meadow jumping mouse habitat as well as general wildlife habitat.  Regardless, the reasonably 
foreseeable future projects, residential and commercial as well as transportation projects, would 
contribute to loss and degradation of wildlife habitat.  The developable lands within the 
Northwest Corridor Cumulative Impact Study Area contain approximately 15 percent of the 
overall wildlife habitat. Overall impacts to wildlife habitat from the Ultimate Project would result 
in less than 3 percent of the overall habitat in the Cumulative Impact Study Area.  As mentioned 
previously, 65 percent of the habitat within the Study Area falls within protected lands.  Project 
level mitigation is expected to minimize the impacts noted above. 

4.2.10.7 Impacts to the Southern Section 

Project improvements to the Southern Section of the Northwest Corridor Study Area are not 
committed to due to lack of community support and available funding.  Chapter 3 describes the 
No Build and Build impacts to the transportation network adjacent to the 2015 Phased Project 
and the 2035 Ultimate Project, including to the Southern Section. As discussed throughout the 
cumulative impact analysis above, the No Build will not eliminate impacts associated with 
development and traffic congestion that is not tied to the Ultimate Project. There are two levels 
of transportation impact associated with the Build.  One is the attraction to the Ultimate Project 
corridor of regional trips that can result in decreases in travel demand on major facilities such as 
I-25.  The second is the refocus of trips within the locale near the Ultimate Project resulting in 
reduction of travel demand on some facilities and increases on others.  Some of theses 
refocused trips will impact the Southern Section.  

The elimination of project improvements to the Southern Section does result in the elimination of 
all direct project level impacts associated with new or improved highway facilities between the 
Jefferson Parkway terminus on SH 93 and C-470 to the south.  The Ultimate Project as defined 
will not result in any direct environmental impacts to the Southern Section.   

Agenda Item 5B     Page 209Packet Page     297



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-60 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

4.2.11 Ultimate Project Summary of Impacts and Mitigation  

Based on the detailed resources analyses provided in the CDOT TEPS for the eight key 
resources described in the current chapter, the following table summarizes the worse case 
impacts associated with the Ultimate Project (Northern and Central Portion Corridors).  
Mitigation is also summarized (Table 4-10).  After application of standard construction best 
management practices or BMPs, there are few impacts that will require mitigation. 

TABLE 4-10. ULTIMATE PROJECT IMPACT AND MITIGATION SUMMARY 

Resource Impact Mitigation 

Air Quality 

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

Not expected to exceed 
standards 

None required 

Jefferson Parkway (Central) Not expected to exceed 
standards 

None required 

Noise 

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

One apartment (Camden 
Interlocken) 

Noise barrier recommended 

Jefferson Parkway (Central) One apartment and one 
residential Property  

None recommended 

Water Quality 

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

Increased impervious surface 
and construction impacts to 
adjacent water resources 

BMPs and coordination with local, 
county and state jurisdictions MS4 
permit requirements for storm water 
management mitigation  

Jefferson Parkway (Central) Increased impervious surface 
and construction impacts to 
adjacent water resources 

BMPs and coordination with local, 
county and state jurisdictions MS4 
permit requirements for storm water 
management mitigation  

Wetlands 

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

.113 acres total impacts, .002 
acres of jurisdictional wetlands 

Avoidance and minimization during 
design and construction and 
compensatory mitigation are required 
by the USACE and CDOT.  
Appropriate 404 Permits will be 
acquired. 

Jefferson Parkway (Central) 2.34 acres total impacts 
1.13 acres of jurisdictional 
wetlands 

Avoidance and minimization during 
design and construction and 
compensatory mitigation are required 
by the USACE and CDOT.  
Appropriate 404 Permits will be 
acquired.  

Vegetation, Wildlife and T&E 

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

Common vegetation and wildlife 
habitat loss 

Noxious weed management will be 
necessary. Re-seed as appropriate, 
noxious weed management plan.   
MBTA compliance and appropriate 
nest survey 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 210Packet Page     298



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-61 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Resource Impact Mitigation 

Jefferson Parkway (Central) Common vegetation and wildlife 
habitat loss 
Xeric tallgrass prairie 
Deer and elk crossings 
Bald eagle winter range 
Preble’s meadow jumping 
mouse habitat (15 acres) 
Prairie Dog habitat (116 acres, 
including 12 acres of Broomfield 
relocation area) 
 

Noxious weed management will be 
necessary. Re-seed as appropriate, 
noxious weed management plan   
MBTA compliance and appropriate 
nest survey 
Avoidance and minimization of harm, 
then coordination of mitigation with 
Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge, City and 
County of Broomfield and 
appropriate agencies  
Minimization of bald eagle activity 
disruption will be coordinated with 
CDOW  
Mitigation to include improved 
crossing for small mammals, fencing 
and/or controlled crossings for deer 
and elk when desired 
Prairie dog mitigation as appropriate. 
Ute ladies’-tresses orchid and 
burrowing owl surveys as needed 
Loss of riparian habitat (SB 40) will 
be identified during design and 
associated mitigation coordinated 
with CDOW. 
 

Hazardous Materials 

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

7 sites of concern 
1 recognized condition 

Additional studies, remediation, 
health and safety plans based on site 

Jefferson Parkway (Central) 16 sites of concern  
3 recognized conditions 
RFETS 

Additional studies, remediation, 
health and safety plans based on site 

Park and Recreation Areas 

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

Omni Interlocken Golf Course 
(2.69 acres) 
StorageTek Drive Trail (0.57 
acres) 
Interlocken Loop Bike Trails 
(2.66 acres) 

Coordination with owner agencies 
regarding minimization of resource 
disruptions and mitigation will occur. 
Landscaping as appropriate, 
preserve trail crossings, replace 
paved trails in similar location 
 

Jefferson Parkway (Central) Little Dry Creek - SH 72 Trails 
(0.3 acres) 
Big Dry Creek-Upper Twin Lakes 
Trails (0.05 acres) 
Leyden Gulch Trail (0.21 CRES) 
Rocky Flats Wildlife Refuge 
Interface (See Section 4.2.9) 

Coordination with owner agencies 
regarding minimization of resource 
disruptions and mitigation will occur.  
Landscaping as appropriate, 
preserve trail crossings, replace 
paved trails in similar location 
Coordinate mitigation with USFWS 

Historic Properties 

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

None Identified None required 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 211Packet Page     299



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study                                                                                   4-62 
4.0 Affected Environmental, Environmental Consequences and Mitigation 

Resource Impact Mitigation 

Jefferson Parkway (Central) 3 Identified - No Adverse Effect 
(2) or No Historic Property 
Affected (1) 

Update SHPO as project progress to 
ensure continued status of no 
impacts 

Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge   

NW Parkway Corridor Extension 
(Northern) 

None Identified None required 

Jefferson Parkway (Central) To be clarified during design To be coordinated with USFWS as 
appropriate. 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 212Packet Page     300



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 5-1 
5.0 Funding and Phasing 

5.0 FUNDING AND PHASING  

5.1 PROJECT COST AND PHASING 

Due to potential funding constraints, the Jefferson Parkway has been preliminarily planned as 
improvements plus new construction that will provide basic links to the existing State Highway 
system and arterial roadways, but will be expanded and improved over time to accommodate 
larger traffic volumes and achieve better efficiency. The initial construction cost estimate shown 
in Table 5-1 is $204 million (year of expenditure dollar terms (YOE)). This cost includes 
construction of the mainline facility, half interchanges leading to and from the north at SH 72 
and Cimarron Parkway, access to Indiana Street, and intersection improvements to SH 128 and 
SH 93, totaling $128 million. Adding soft costs, utility work, right of way, and tolling equipment 
costs, brings the total to approximately $204 million.  

Table 5-1.  INITIAL CONSTRUCTION COST  
(YOE, YEAR OF EXPENDITURE DOLLAR TERMS) 

Items  Percentage Dollar Total 

Construction Bid Items NA $127,694,700 

 Contingencies 10.00% $  12,769,500 
 ITS 1.00% $    1,404,600 
  Drainage 2.00% $    2,809,300 
  Signing and Striping 2.00% $    2,893,600 
  Construction Signing & Traffic  Control 4.00 % $    5,902,900 
  Mobilization 4.00% $    6,139,000 
Total Construction Bid Items  $159,613,600 
  Utilities 4.00% $    6,384,500 
Subtotal Construction Costs  $165,998,100 

  Construction Engineering 4.00% $    6,639,900 
  Materials Testing 4.00% $    6,639,900 
  Design Engineering 5.00% $    8,299,900 
  Right-of-Way NA $    6,000,000 
  Tolling Equipment  $  10,000,000 
TOTAL PROJECT COST  $203,577,800 

Source: PB Americas, April 2009 

The initial construction is expected to take place under a design-build contract beginning at the 
end of 2010 and lasting approximately three years. Enhancements to the facility totaling 
approximately $354 million will take place over time between 2020 and 2050. Table 5-2 lists 
these items which are expected to be paid from ongoing toll revenues.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 213Packet Page     301



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway Tollway System Level Study 5-2 
5.0 Funding and Phasing 

Based on system needs analyses performed by comparing the 2035 DRCOG land use with the 
2015 transportation network, the trigger for improvement would be a policy to maintain LOS D or 
better at each state highway intersection. If the area develops at the rate expected by DRCOG, 
some improvements may be required prior to 2035.  Tentative dates and congestion related 
improvements are shown on in Chapter 3 on Table 3-3. These dates are tentative and will be 
adjusted based on economic conditions, land use changes, and other transportation network 
improvements within the corridor that would generate traffic operational needs that support the 
implementation of the interchange improvements. 

Table 5-2. JEFFERSON PARKWAY  

EXPECTED CAPACITY ENHANCEMENT PROJECTS (YOE) 

Year YOE Cost Improvement 

2020  $    2,959,000 Finish Indiana Blvd Connection 

2027 $  39,966,000 SH 93/Jefferson Parkway Interchange 

2030 $  34,431,000 SH 128/Jefferson Parkway Interchange 

2033 $    3,708,000 Finish SH 72 Interchange 

2035 $  48,695,000 Capacity Expansion 

2040 $  77,131,000 Upgrade SH 128 Interchange 

2045 $  62,334,000 Capacity Expansion 

2050 $  84,630,000 Capacity Expansion 

TOTAL $353,854,000  

Source: PB Americas, April 2009 

 

5.2 PROJECT FUNDING 

The project is expected to be procured in a design-build / concession format. The Jefferson 
Parkway Public Highway Authority (JPPHA) expects to enter into an agreement with a private 
entity which will develop, finance, design, build, operate and maintain the project for a 
predetermined time period allowing a fair return 
prior to handing the asset back to the JPPHA. 
Ownership of the facility will remain with the 
JPPHA. The agreement will provide all 
requirements for initial construction as well as 
ongoing operations and maintenance. No public 
funding (state or federal) is currently anticipated to be dedicated for the construction, operation, 
or maintenance of the facility during the development or concession periods. Concession 
returns and debt repayment will be provided through toll revenue collection on the Parkway.   

Several alternative land use scenarios were evaluated ranging from the DRCOG forecast which 
was developed assuming no parkway development to the Jefferson Economic Development 

The Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority 

expects to enter into an agreement with a private 

entity which will develop, finance, design, build, 

operate and maintain the project. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 214Packet Page     302



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority - PB Americas - Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 5-3 
5.0 Funding and Phasing 

study (JEC, 2007) which assumed commercial development approximately twice as intense as 
the DRCOG data. One of the scenarios analyzed (the Revised 2009 Scenario) was selected to 
be input to the traffic and revenue forecasting model, and the resulting revenue forecast was 
used to develop the preliminary project financial plan.  This scenario represents the most 
current local perspectives on land use forecasts for the study area, however, it does not attempt 
to quantify what actual land use changes in the study area could be if the Jefferson Parkway 
were built.1   

The Revised 2009 Scenario presents a reasonable revision to the previous DRCOG forecast 
but is considered conservative by the team, relative to a Jefferson Parkway ‘build’ scenario.  It 
was developed using the DRCOG 2008-C2 data as a starting point and infusing this forecast 
with current data from jurisdictions within the study area.  The team met with planners from the 
City and County of Broomfield, the City of Arvada, and Jefferson County to discuss the DRCOG 
data in light of the most recent development trends in Arvada, Broomfield, and Jefferson 
County. The planning staffs provided TAZ-level revisions for household and employment data to 
the areas of the JPPHA study area within their jurisdiction that resulted in changes to over 150 
TAZs, both upward and downward. In summary, household numbers did not change 
significantly (less than 3 percent); however, 2035 employment estimates increased by 13 
percent. Table 5-3 summarizes the results of the Revised 2009 Scenario.  

Table 5-3. 2009 SMALL AREA UPDATES 

Households Jobs JPPHA 
Study 
Area 

2015 2035 

Annual 
Growth 

Annual 
Growth 

Rate 
2015 2035 

Annual 
Growth 

Annual 
Growth 

Rate 

2008-C2 
Data 

112,300 148,200 1,800 1.4% 192,800 242,400 2,480 1.2% 

Revised 
2009 

115,300 151,100 1,790 1.4% 193,300 273,800 4,030 1.8% 

Difference 3,000 2,900 -- -- 500 31,400 -- -- 
% 
Difference 

2.7% 2.0% -- -- 0.3% 13.0% -- -- 

        Source: Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield, City of Arvada, Prepared by PB Americas, April 2009 

Land use information adjustments by local government were as follows: 

City and County of Broomfield. For 2015, Broomfield subtracted 1,000 jobs. No other 
revisions were made for 2015 or 2035. 

City of Arvada. For 2015, Arvada added 2,200 households and 1,200 jobs. For 2035, Arvada 
added 2,200 households and 9,000 jobs (near the Parkway and SH 72, and north of I-70 near 
Wheat Ridge). 

                                                 
1 A third party report prepared for the Jefferson County Economic Council states that a significantly higher 
proportion of regional jobs would be located in the corridor if the Jefferson Parkway were constructed, 
due to enhanced access to underdeveloped, commercially zoned land (JEC, 2007).   

Agenda Item 5B     Page 215Packet Page     303



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway Tollway System Level Study 5-4 
5.0 Funding and Phasing 

Jefferson County. For 2035, Jefferson County added 22,000 jobs in three areas (near the 
Parkway and SH 72, south of SH 58 near Golden, and in the Airport area). No other revisions 
were made for 2015 or 2035. 

Using the Refined 2009 land use scenario, a 
preliminary toll revenue forecast was developed for 
use in structuring concession options.  The resulting 
revenue forecast is shown in Table 5-4. 

The gross revenue forecast shown in Table 5-4 was 
used as a starting point to calculate Net Revenues 
available for debt service and equity contribution 
amounts. A preliminary funding plan was developed 
using this revenue stream, considering annual 
operations and maintenance expenses, periodic 
major rehabilitation, and expansion costs.  

The preliminary financial plan consists of about 70% 
of taxable debt and 30% equity contribution. Standard 
market based assumptions for debt issuance 
including interest rates, issuance costs, debt service 
coverage ratios, and reserve accounts are 
incorporated into the analysis. Given a stable political 
environment and financial markets, an investment 
grade traffic and revenue study, and a feasible 
construction approach, the project is considered 
financially feasible in that the project revenues are 
expected to cover all initial and ongoing project costs 
while generating a reasonable return to the private 
partner.  

 

Table 5-4. JEFFERSON PARKWAY 
TOLL REVENUE FORECAST 

Year Annual  

Transactions 

Annual 
Revenue 

2013   3,861,000 $   7,444,000 
2014   4,542,000 $   9,339,000 
2015   5,263,000 $ 11,496,000 
2016   5,735,000 $ 13,098,000 
2017   5,931,000 $ 14,135,000 
2018   6,127,000 $ 15,211,000 
2019   6,323,000 $ 16,327,000 
2020   6,519,000 $ 17,481,000 
2021   6,715,000 $ 18,676,000 
2022   6,910,000 $ 19,910,000 
2023   7,106,000 $ 21,183,000 
2024   7,302,000 $ 22,495,000 
2025   7,498,000 $ 23,847,000 
2026   7,694,000 $ 25,239,000 
2027   7,890,000 $ 26,670,000 
2028   8,086,000 $ 28,140,000 
2029   8,281,000 $ 29,650,000 
2030 17,141,000 $ 62,528,000 
2031 19,065,000 $ 71,691,000 
2032 21,059,000 $ 81,517,000 
2033 22,302,000 $ 88,611,000 
2034 22,748,000 $ 92,547,000 
2035 23,203,000 $ 96,605,000 
2036 23,667,000 $ 99,522,000 
2037 24,141,000 $102,498,000 
2038 24,623,000 $105,564,000 
2039 25,116,000 $108,721,000 
2040 25,618,000 $111,974,000 

Source: Stantec, March 2009 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 216Packet Page     304



Jefferson Parkway Public Highway Authority – PB Americas – Stantec Consulting 
July 20, 2009 

 
 

Jefferson Parkway System Level Study 6-1 
6.0 Summary and Conclusions 
 

6.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

This System Level Study analyzes the need, impacts, and benefits of proposed improvements 
and requests approval for connections to state facilities, through Colorado Department of 
Transportation (CDOT) 1601 Policy and Procedure, so the project may be included in the 
fiscally constrained Regional Transportation Plan (RTP).  This is the first of a multi-step effort. 
Upon approval of this document by the CDOT Chief Engineer and review by the Colorado 
Transportation Commission, the project will be submitted to the Denver Regional Council of 
Governments (DRCOG) for inclusion in the RTP and for air quality conformity analysis. 
Subsequent analyses will include appropriate detailed environmental studies and public 
involvement opportunities for state highway access at SH 128, SH 72 and SH 93 for the 
Ultimate Project. 

The JPPHA project offers a significant transportation infrastructure public-private funding 
opportunity of as much as $400 million to the Northwest Corridor Study area with very few 
community and environmental impacts.  In addition to funding and minimal impacts, the 
following opportunities are associated with this project: 

 Complete an additional portion of the beltway around the Denver metro area, leading to 
future attraction of trips from interstate facilities (I-25, I-70, I-76) upon completion of the 
entire beltway. 

 Improve local and regional transportation system connectivity and functionality providing an 
improved connection between Northwest Parkway in Broomfield County and SH93 in 
Jefferson County. 

 Expand capacity to support land use planning and meet population and employment growth 
forecasts for Jefferson County, City and County of Broomfield, and City of Arvada. 

 Specifically to provide transportation links for the Interlocken and Candelas Urban Centers 
and other existing and new development. 

 Provide opportunities to reduce travel time and improve reliability of travel in a corridor  
 Support opportunities for transit mode choices by providing space within the project cross-

section for future options. 
 Utilize CDOT identified route location based on five years of public and agency input with 

minimal impacts to community and natural environment 
 Improve safety at connections and by providing a reliable travel route in a corridor where 

heavy congestion is forecasted. 
 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 217Packet Page     305



Additional information submitted: Model assumptions 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 218Packet Page     306



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

10101 42 21 6 13 2 0 0 0 0
10102 760 361 60 221 80 223 135 78 10
10103 498 238 57 154 27 7 6 0 1
10104 148 71 11 44 16 65 14 30 21
10105 65 30 4 20 6 0 0 0 0
10106 2615 1212 145 765 302 240 112 43 85
10107 546 232 8 145 79 335 63 34 238
10108 352 148 5 92 51 268 117 29 122
10109 2863 1346 122 860 364 233 75 25 133
10110 800 374 28 235 111 265 24 87 154
10111 2974 1390 105 874 411 154 14 50 90
10112 1638 766 57 479 230 56 32 0 24
10113 1701 795 60 500 235 503 46 165 292
10201 30 14 1 10 3 1 0 1 0
10202 983 430 37 284 109 121 26 25 70
10203 700 286 30 181 75 121 34 15 72
10204 356 145 14 92 39 81 10 9 62
10205 714 339 36 214 89 224 102 40 82
10206 497 218 18 144 56 64 10 22 32
10207 457 217 19 142 56 33 16 2 15
10208 576 256 27 161 68 58 37 9 12
10209 1196 498 33 294 171 351 62 3 286
10210 627 254 9 149 96 33 20 1 12
10211 535 224 9 131 84 813 652 12 149
10212 115 47 2 30 15 2 2 0 0
10213 797 319 7 199 113 394 340 3 51
10214 901 368 23 220 125 374 197 82 95
10215 179 73 7 39 27 70 60 9 1
10216 436 175 17 93 65 133 6 0 127
10217 217 87 8 46 33 20 18 0 2
10218 1598 642 61 345 236 379 18 102 259
10219 605 249 17 146 86 1060 527 5 528
10220 18 7 1 4 2 5251 0 66 5185
10221 35 14 0 7 7 0 0 0 0
10222 882 373 10 198 165 104 13 37 54
10223 59 25 0 13 12 56 29 2 25
10224 16 6 0 3 3 0 0 0 0
10225 56 26 0 17 9 46 0 0 46
10226 13 6 1 3 2 685 206 57 422
10227 590 258 2 142 114 1185 835 86 264
10228 832 334 15 211 108 57 14 0 43
10229 32 12 1 6 5 13 5 0 8
10230 5640 2061 56 1281 724 131 46 20 65
10231 483 176 5 111 60 16 14 0 2
10232 615 234 7 145 82 123 10 0 113
10233 429 168 4 104 60 27 14 0 13
10234 1443 580 12 365 203 191 68 2 121
10235 1413 585 46 337 202 31 9 0 22
10236 865 414 35 236 143 250 11 5 234
10237 1906 1038 98 800 140 1930 393 367 1170
10238 0 0 0 0 0 1191 155 18 1018
10239 127 58 0 48 10 1965 1442 34 489
10240 268 146 6 107 33 350 321 19 10
10241 102 47 2 25 20 7 2 0 5
10242 786 336 8 186 142 194 24 93 77

Households Employment

Agenda Item 5B     Page 219Packet Page     307



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

10244 156 69 3 50 16 43 5 0 38
10245 2430 1130 52 823 255 65 11 0 54
10246 443 213 18 165 30 878 467 21 390
10247 794 380 43 239 98 52 25 1 26
10248 1102 444 44 246 154 46 11 0 35
10249 236 107 12 67 28 21 0 18 3
10250 21 8 0 6 2 10 9 1 0
10251 256 97 4 60 33 13 12 1 0
10252 132 47 0 27 20 16 15 0 1
10253 1200 431 22 245 164 24 18 4 2
10254 114 41 2 25 14 4 4 0 0
10255 5543 2002 54 1244 704 231 82 58 91
10256 535 193 6 119 68 22 12 0 10
10257 3752 1355 39 836 480 71 41 17 13
10258 160 64 0 42 22 28 0 0 28
10259 54 21 3 13 5 68 13 0 55
10260 91 37 5 25 7 203 118 9 76
10261 54 22 3 14 5 88 1 0 87
10262 126 51 8 31 12 4 1 0 3
10263 82 38 5 25 8 6 1 0 5
10264 727 310 42 164 104 436 339 71 26
10265 2227 901 35 549 317 41 10 3 28
10266 588 248 11 153 84 13 1 0 12
10267 1134 514 59 365 90 182 5 5 172
10268 185 85 32 29 24 1295 480 18 797
10269 42 17 2 12 3 66 56 0 10
10270 380 175 28 107 40 454 182 45 227
10271 64 26 4 16 6 197 132 5 60
10272 115 46 0 30 16 3 1 1 1
10273 257 106 2 67 37 14 12 0 2
10274 72 29 1 18 10 0 0 0 0
10275 229 88 0 49 39 61 12 29 20
10276 31 11 0 6 5 2 2 0 0
10277 3552 1282 28 731 523 35 6 8 21
10278 3777 1364 0 677 687 348 1 64 283
10279 177 64 2 35 27 4 4 0 0
10280 3114 1124 24 637 463 50 9 7 34
10281 186 67 2 37 28 189 13 130 46
10282 135 49 0 27 22 30 23 0 7
10283 3106 1186 0 668 518 69 10 6 53
10284 196 81 1 52 28 17 0 8 9
10285 256 104 2 66 36 8 2 0 6
10286 10 4 1 2 1 388 241 63 84
10287 0 0 0 0 0 129 129 0 0
10288 2 1 0 1 0 2963 1344 58 1561
10289 136 62 0 36 26 1785 816 423 546
10301 224 91 6 57 28 36 0 18 18
10302 732 299 17 190 92 95 79 3 13
10303 445 170 9 109 52 40 7 0 33
10304 316 123 6 79 38 80 76 2 2
10305 95 38 5 22 11 981 249 236 496
10306 3373 1353 84 852 417 1463 919 318 226
10307 490 194 11 124 59 36 3 0 33
10308 1836 761 205 477 79 485 51 169 265
10309 2696 1149 57 714 378 65 17 13 35

Agenda Item 5B     Page 220Packet Page     308



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

10310 2524 994 56 695 243 126 12 29 85
10311 889 326 0 235 91 5 1 1 3
10312 715 262 16 176 70 87 24 27 36
10313 1803 660 39 455 166 316 12 148 156
10314 1470 567 19 356 192 123 12 3 108
10315 1832 726 141 520 65 70 4 15 51
10316 1169 488 115 340 33 532 29 318 185
10317 2017 843 181 614 48 442 52 108 282
10318 1671 620 131 452 37 13 7 0 6
10319 1933 712 33 465 214 268 72 156 40
10320 3142 1123 52 731 340 66 9 5 52
10321 2078 775 83 527 165 400 11 22 367
10322 678 265 35 193 37 51 0 2 49
10323 1177 503 92 364 47 350 118 94 138
10324 701 289 63 205 21 232 5 54 173
10325 419 183 50 123 10 1177 52 238 887
10326 2058 849 177 598 74 148 19 29 100
10327 2226 842 82 576 184 142 13 17 112
10328 2259 807 74 560 173 309 234 0 75
10329 949 339 12 227 100 108 20 1 87
10330 3012 1050 0 756 294 140 10 36 94
10331 946 327 25 210 92 257 6 65 186
10332 362 136 0 93 43 90 62 24 4
10333 35 13 4 8 1 229 134 33 62
10334 222 86 0 50 36 181 46 45 90
10335 478 197 59 129 9 41 7 13 21
10336 228 100 30 65 5 1285 1028 148 109
10337 53 21 5 15 1 282 66 126 90
10338 67 25 2 14 9 242 82 66 94
10339 1037 368 0 213 155 516 213 139 164
10340 616 239 30 131 78 3 1 1 1
10341 115 43 5 24 14 258 5 201 52
10342 24 9 0 6 3 2 0 0 2
10343 2127 768 110 486 172 205 21 58 126
10344 2490 958 14 517 427 345 9 12 324
10345 135 52 6 29 17 5 4 0 1
10346 1525 550 52 309 189 57 18 26 13
10347 202 73 8 41 24 40 40 0 0
10348 392 145 18 81 46 11 9 0 2
10349 155 58 8 33 17 8 7 0 1
10350 327 126 15 71 40 33 27 0 6
10351 114 44 5 24 15 9 4 0 5
10352 38 14 0 8 6 0 0 0 0
10353 344 126 14 72 40 98 58 13 27
10354 48 18 2 10 6 694 524 147 23
10401 205 83 7 50 26 11 9 0 2
10402 3799 1498 100 913 485 92 40 6 46
10403 988 414 33 255 126 130 5 46 79
10404 3119 1248 72 860 316 134 65 4 65
10405 1792 756 20 540 196 67 15 27 25
10406 1662 661 131 431 99 251 7 0 244
10407 398 165 33 107 25 700 40 371 289
10408 2087 898 98 655 145 942 60 289 593
10409 2137 1001 208 668 125 546 30 75 441
10410 1581 740 100 542 98 1700 12 16 1672

Agenda Item 5B     Page 221Packet Page     309



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

10411 57 26 3 20 3 418 23 139 256
10412 1795 772 144 459 169 77 0 33 44
10413 1844 775 74 518 183 234 33 28 173
10414 401 167 8 118 41 45 5 9 31
10415 2915 1260 91 785 384 161 28 46 87
10416 1920 875 183 570 122 996 5 259 732
10417 1594 744 148 505 91 669 94 147 428
10418 311 144 29 90 25 1606 72 254 1280
10419 1909 891 160 568 163 339 30 42 267
10420 1393 619 84 410 125 57 5 22 30
10421 675 297 11 211 75 17 0 4 13
10422 439 183 7 128 48 51 24 14 13
10423 394 160 10 108 42 933 195 250 488
10424 285 116 0 67 49 2038 593 211 1234
10425 1075 447 28 315 104 1236 28 303 905
10426 438 178 16 125 37 1190 463 402 325
10427 10 4 1 2 1 682 464 28 190
10428 1567 636 97 437 102 20 10 0 10
10429 346 161 27 105 29 125 79 20 26
10430 116 54 9 36 9 255 134 46 75
10431 200 80 13 58 9 647 344 193 110
10432 232 93 9 66 18 1491 262 447 782
10433 1461 516 45 376 95 414 37 194 183
10434 1685 608 66 414 128 179 95 62 22
10435 1104 398 38 275 85 848 209 78 561
10436 6 2 0 2 0 1465 177 1077 211
10437 3 1 0 1 0 1733 618 321 794
10438 1145 476 29 319 128 2064 1058 556 450
10439 2005 833 52 553 228 115 21 8 86
10440 4888 1985 76 1403 506 126 22 7 97
10441 2196 892 58 620 214 95 16 22 57
10442 4870 1988 46 1211 731 722 107 79 536
10443 4720 1967 0 314 1653 1713 4 1097 612
10444 657 266 12 188 66 42 31 2 9
10445 231 94 0 64 30 31 13 8 10
10501 444 197 16 122 59 149 6 75 68
10502 819 366 31 226 109 35 7 0 28
10503 311 126 10 78 38 647 11 50 586
10504 578 233 20 144 69 57 29 1 27
10505 289 118 11 74 33 102 13 39 50
10506 124 51 4 35 12 7 7 0 0
10507 440 181 11 129 41 79 3 12 64
10508 983 410 23 295 92 70 19 15 36
10509 136 56 5 27 24 126 18 0 108
10510 548 216 13 109 94 511 41 145 325
10511 2800 1148 73 585 490 157 17 26 114
10512 1697 672 41 341 290 373 71 63 239
10513 2544 978 80 668 230 213 4 42 167
10514 3024 1135 55 790 290 110 22 7 81
10515 339 127 6 89 32 24 0 0 24
10516 173 65 3 47 15 85 5 13 67
10517 37 14 3 9 2 14 11 3 0
10518 48 19 3 13 3 19 19 0 0
10519 2054 816 175 511 130 348 67 54 227
10520 2514 1033 144 769 120 1060 353 178 529

Agenda Item 5B     Page 222Packet Page     310



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

10521 1650 662 177 400 85 368 169 68 131
10522 824 333 50 220 63 740 78 471 191
10523 1979 794 23 600 171 239 15 128 96
10524 1491 593 23 380 190 145 19 45 81
10525 1169 473 18 303 152 694 53 288 353
10526 284 115 9 75 31 171 95 25 51
10527 2481 1035 82 674 279 1473 9 170 1294
10528 411 160 6 97 57 115 3 5 107
10529 569 233 8 141 84 63 4 1 58
10530 209 84 1 48 35 16 1 0 15
10531 146 65 4 40 21 89 11 0 78
10532 95 41 0 24 17 54 3 0 51
10533 135 55 0 32 23 10 10 0 0
10534 552 215 1 123 91 19 12 0 7
10535 390 157 2 89 66 2414 385 494 1535
10536 2083 818 25 480 313 467 50 62 355
10537 2594 1058 33 731 294 288 24 43 221
10538 968 387 29 249 109 51 7 4 40
10539 2120 850 38 584 228 196 19 2 175
10540 1635 698 83 527 88 915 236 238 441
10541 1222 525 10 343 172 56 13 7 36
10542 1444 628 93 381 154 456 49 135 272
10543 28 12 3 7 2 206 134 31 41
10544 2631 1106 121 789 196 763 120 18 625
10545 1695 705 78 476 151 213 18 3 192
10546 181 75 0 75 0 913 74 154 685
10547 1880 801 127 574 100 822 345 120 357
10548 6 2 0 2 0 645 447 69 129
10549 123 46 9 27 10 485 420 32 33
10550 153 58 10 37 11 11 4 0 7
10551 12 5 1 3 1 0 0 0 0
10552 3 1 0 1 0 1237 42 3 1192
10553 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 19
10554 3 1 0 1 0 30 18 0 12
10555 1257 519 0 302 217 488 307 103 78
10556 6 2 0 1 1 14 14 0 0
10557 109 46 0 30 16 1070 831 4 235
10558 401 171 0 109 62 1440 866 118 456
10559 5442 2244 149 1359 736 1647 154 520 973
10560 79 79 11 41 27 346 11 270 65
10561 0 0 0 0 0 120 0 60 60
10562 17 17 2 9 6 242 0 238 4
10563 22 9 0 6 3 63 29 8 26
10601 347 153 4 111 38 5 4 0 1
10602 247 102 5 71 26 6 6 0 0
10603 8 3 0 2 1 929 0 729 200
10604 1218 1218 167 642 409 1496 368 268 860
10605 447 185 10 106 69 750 49 267 434
10606 433 184 0 118 66 1526 0 208 1318
10608 8 3 0 2 1 0 0 0 0
10609 5 2 0 2 0 1 0 0 1
10610 179 71 10 37 24 40 5 26 9
10617 8 3 0 2 1 147 0 147 0
10619 0 0 0 0 0 6087 5588 419 80
10620 142 57 0 33 24 1000 4 35 961

Agenda Item 5B     Page 223Packet Page     311



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

10621 1048 435 14 306 115 243 38 65 140
10622 1090 492 15 354 123 376 110 69 197
10623 1109 459 41 282 136 183 1 45 137
10624 1420 588 3 348 237 586 45 219 322
10625 1467 607 6 359 242 338 26 122 190
10626 3991 1652 151 1018 483 15 5 0 10
10627 17 17 2 9 6 2442 2099 21 322
10642 2680 1109 42 659 408 284 7 61 216
10643 586 242 9 144 89 48 0 34 14
10644 49 20 3 10 7 0 0 0 0
10645 50 22 0 16 6 0 0 0 0
10701 4484 2225 1165 959 101 1670 187 745 738
10702 1484 793 322 452 19 588 3 53 532
10703 1041 522 298 224 0 10432 23 460 9949
10704 930 489 172 277 40 497 4 183 310
10705 2 1 0 1 0 524 12 85 427
10706 10 5 0 5 0 404 22 40 342
10707 2516 1275 106 815 354 680 21 154 505
10708 945 479 29 306 144 39 6 6 27
10709 537 268 39 185 44 15 7 0 8
10710 467 237 33 164 40 180 6 0 174
10711 1015 535 75 370 90 103 2 0 101
10712 466 226 94 129 3 0 0 0 0
10713 1461 770 235 456 79 3 0 0 3
10714 4692 2401 1256 1110 35 516 2 86 428
10715 3162 1489 471 814 204 589 25 51 513
10716 1861 838 84 539 215 291 18 134 139
10717 13 6 1 4 1 0 0 0 0
10718 276 128 10 79 39 1368 0 0 1368
10719 13 6 0 3 3 1069 0 20 1049
10720 427 192 48 117 27 744 0 392 352
10721 1366 663 167 400 96 129 9 19 101
10722 0 0 0 0 0 357 10 275 72
10723 1014 486 0 486 0 2 2 0 0
10724 1628 822 63 541 218 170 19 10 141
10725 2427 1185 329 690 166 1305 22 319 964
10726 1326 651 63 437 151 173 114 34 25
10727 1578 705 67 467 171 136 6 0 130
10728 140 61 12 32 17 4 0 0 4
10729 2 1 0 1 0 371 57 20 294
10730 486 225 40 154 31 157 43 25 89
10731 1515 685 110 424 151 98 5 1 92
10732 1177 517 99 316 102 139 12 2 125
10733 2075 922 67 565 290 80 23 4 53
10734 166 75 5 47 23 71 1 0 70
10735 1165 540 29 348 163 109 28 3 78
10736 272 125 16 81 28 16 1 0 15
10737 640 290 38 184 68 33 11 10 12
10738 2414 1087 101 672 314 112 18 0 94
10739 29 13 1 9 3 278 0 191 87
10740 593 268 16 172 80 96 2 0 94
10741 857 380 60 235 85 452 3 180 269
10742 1216 550 91 374 85 239 24 42 173
10743 481 221 28 144 49 20 0 0 20
10744 538 243 12 162 69 11 0 0 11

Agenda Item 5B     Page 224Packet Page     312



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

10745 57 26 2 16 8 326 0 0 326
10746 2014 911 31 567 313 90 25 0 65
10747 63 29 3 19 7 0 0 0 0
10748 203 91 11 58 22 59 47 8 4
10801 2328 989 29 597 363 481 147 87 247
10802 2278 967 221 650 96 296 68 70 158
10803 618 262 61 176 25 29 9 0 20
10804 493 213 6 125 82 110 1 0 109
10805 269 112 12 70 30 34 14 0 20
10806 568 245 7 142 96 65 34 0 31
10807 1230 511 27 323 161 212 44 86 82
10808 560 245 3 150 92 48 0 0 48
10809 639 281 6 166 109 167 15 0 152
10810 1220 528 45 329 154 59 6 33 20
10811 121 54 4 35 15 1605 0 0 1605
10812 1034 447 29 243 175 100 10 0 90
10813 1066 470 42 334 94 179 0 79 100
10814 1428 653 24 377 252 87 26 4 57
10815 817 417 28 270 119 187 19 1 167
10816 1866 891 108 551 232 342 18 24 300
10817 1285 573 55 382 136 152 15 0 137
10818 1392 637 146 439 52 524 13 355 156
10819 591 271 67 189 15 705 0 346 359
10820 793 399 99 278 22 501 47 194 260
10821 3592 1650 406 1152 92 698 10 5 683
10822 288 153 23 100 30 386 0 27 359
10823 78 34 5 18 11 343 5 8 330
10824 1378 732 101 477 154 195 31 25 139
10825 638 339 47 220 72 0 0 0 0
10826 79 36 5 19 12 1067 641 13 413
10827 28 15 0 15 0 1136 601 298 237
10828 34 18 2 10 6 1762 490 253 1019
10829 4829 2573 352 1357 864 525 166 184 175
10830 30 16 2 9 5 646 69 160 417
10831 652 344 80 236 28 358 5 54 299
10832 923 440 48 287 105 180 44 0 136
10833 861 442 72 265 105 94 6 1 87
10834 136 68 12 48 8 2353 4 258 2091
10835 1220 623 115 438 70 442 33 56 353
10836 969 471 33 275 163 731 7 29 695
10837 1127 536 34 331 171 55 17 0 38
10838 906 431 90 261 80 885 145 121 619
10839 209 107 12 74 21 131 25 5 101
10840 65 33 12 16 5 2859 49 1610 1200
10841 384 197 22 136 39 679 9 370 300
10842 11 6 1 3 2 3235 666 1142 1427
10843 80 44 16 21 7 653 13 237 403
10844 1594 856 107 603 146 608 65 201 342
10845 2055 1178 364 728 86 634 15 188 431
10846 253 134 36 83 15 394 23 186 185
10847 338 200 54 125 21 1258 0 504 754
10848 16 9 1 5 3 982 11 597 374
10849 589 328 45 173 110 737 69 542 126
10850 21 11 2 5 4 845 300 199 346
10851 17 9 1 5 3 394 391 1 2

Agenda Item 5B     Page 225Packet Page     313



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

10852 4 2 0 1 1 323 12 21 290
10853 85 39 5 21 13 1048 454 4 590
10854 87 47 6 25 16 2833 2126 71 636
10855 218 116 16 61 39 863 119 12 732
10856 4 2 0 1 1 795 102 10 683
10857 13 7 1 4 2 56 21 5 30
10858 56 30 4 16 10 1231 586 128 517
10859 577 308 42 163 103 1761 45 520 1196
10860 21 12 2 6 4 1165 32 816 317
10861 1599 917 322 554 41 214 4 116 94
10862 153 85 41 33 11 640 43 254 343
10863 28 15 7 6 2 507 0 15 492
10864 365 174 36 107 31 569 1 0 568
10865 863 463 88 286 89 143 10 24 109
10866 212 98 20 40 38 43 0 43 0
10867 1873 941 146 486 309 265 37 98 130
10868 1250 670 305 349 16 154 53 70 31
10869 84 47 21 25 1 464 15 78 371
10870 23 12 2 6 4 361 11 285 65
10871 517 271 72 171 28 413 0 182 231
10872 991 437 36 310 91 131 20 1 110
20101 2822 1254 50 732 472 272 45 19 208
20102 505 230 0 114 116 50 16 11 23
20103 3539 1485 66 832 587 1140 867 172 101
20104 652 290 11 165 114 100 11 2 87
20105 590 264 11 139 114 39 29 0 10
20106 895 399 16 211 172 175 15 5 155
20107 1177 521 103 328 90 221 40 46 135
20108 795 363 77 229 57 691 16 90 585
20201 212 97 13 51 33 928 6 115 807
20202 43 19 3 10 6 320 6 57 257
20204 3340 1469 201 775 493 17616 15878 1473 265
20205 34 16 2 9 5 89 26 10 53
20206 59 28 4 15 9 4780 3420 420 940
20212 5342 1972 45 1283 644 553 79 190 284
20213 2878 1028 8 667 353 377 203 22 152
20214 403 162 8 111 43 5277 27 1293 3957
20215 1491 589 19 453 117 265 175 13 77
20216 31 13 2 7 4 1225 553 60 612
20217 30 12 2 6 4 1686 273 71 1342
20219 67 27 0 20 7 14 8 2 4
20220 491 195 0 133 62 73 62 8 3
20221 3214 1257 27 879 351 97 52 4 41
20222 1304 480 0 337 143 61 37 3 21
20223 3224 1261 59 857 345 128 39 14 75
20224 2465 908 47 624 237 364 61 43 260
20225 558 228 9 174 45 25 10 3 12
20226 850 341 7 232 102 1107 248 392 467
20227 23 8 1 4 3 131 32 17 82
20228 1028 373 30 261 82 1341 2 250 1089
20229 454 161 0 161 0 926 0 186 740
20230 568 208 4 140 64 187 61 38 88
20231 1959 892 24 553 315 1108 176 401 531
20232 1381 551 21 417 113 415 16 117 282
20233 402 162 11 111 40 250 30 70 150

Agenda Item 5B     Page 226Packet Page     314



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

20234 78 41 0 41 0 191 0 91 100
20235 1783 695 0 470 225 298 34 36 228
20236 2334 910 59 605 246 292 16 81 195
20237 2279 995 52 698 245 186 18 1 167
20238 1853 741 18 503 220 35 13 6 16
20239 1220 521 0 346 175 306 85 71 150
20240 0 0 0 0 0 306 0 0 306
20241 8000 3600 0 3600 0 9000 4200 1700 3100
20242 883 339 46 179 114 150 37 27 86
20243 2573 1212 108 893 211 892 31 350 511
20244 123 123 17 65 41 539 2 495 42
20245 2594 1231 83 936 212 133 5 30 98
20246 5663 2400 55 1726 619 203 52 18 133
20247 84 30 0 18 12 1391 203 788 400
20249 291 116 0 83 33 3492 52 1429 2011
20250 207 88 0 69 19 1402 234 433 735
20251 64 23 0 23 0 1616 161 710 745
20252 864 360 16 263 81 74 1 0 73
20253 1092 572 36 384 152 114 13 17 84
20254 2698 1304 147 950 207 350 8 212 130
20255 3930 1791 112 1342 337 600 112 223 265
20256 1599 700 54 391 255 250 59 74 117
20257 1787 751 35 443 273 200 16 14 170
20258 710 303 9 211 83 600 5 329 266
20259 190 81 3 54 24 250 2 177 71
20260 437 181 8 120 53 181 93 42 46
20261 721 301 11 193 97 145 45 23 77
20262 1500 622 58 464 100 100 2 57 41
20301 2564 1012 53 632 327 390 77 11 302
20302 1694 690 89 486 115 1500 94 769 637
20303 881 361 24 262 75 400 20 61 319
20304 3682 1519 173 1097 249 400 22 170 208
20305 1522 715 82 474 159 210 91 40 79
20306 923 375 4 277 94 61 15 6 40
20307 1361 540 47 379 114 215 11 1 203
20308 456 187 27 108 52 60 35 1 24
20309 1435 593 46 394 153 100 34 5 61
20310 1200 504 132 283 89 390 12 0 378
20311 3000 1225 164 788 273 500 88 125 287
20312 2378 934 56 745 133 325 40 16 269
20313 1705 730 42 532 156 550 79 240 231
20314 2564 1094 310 634 150 900 94 165 641
20315 1695 762 83 513 166 250 44 12 194
20316 2185 897 85 581 231 1651 1226 167 258
20317 1356 591 58 440 93 149 103 21 25
20318 2800 1200 300 600 300 400 182 141 77
20401 437 181 17 101 63 3600 2478 810 312
20402 212 75 8 43 24 5 5 0 0
20403 170 64 9 35 20 131 0 0 131
20404 2142 865 15 514 336 75 43 0 32
20405 200 80 20 50 10 9 2 0 7
20406 2668 1036 82 632 322 250 44 12 194
20407 2303 922 63 543 316 225 95 3 127
20408 530 205 2 123 80 150 49 0 101
20409 1520 597 43 334 220 200 87 24 89

Agenda Item 5B     Page 227Packet Page     315



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

20410 2000 775 100 600 75 89 71 2 16
20411 1882 679 68 403 208 400 121 20 259
20412 1679 587 42 304 241 200 68 9 123
20413 769 265 14 163 88 37 20 5 12
20414 144 56 3 33 20 23 0 23 0
20415 96 38 5 22 11 16 0 0 16
20416 519 185 11 111 63 79 57 7 15
20417 1848 705 10 389 306 286 14 0 272
20418 2494 902 35 540 327 1050 578 171 301
20419 2369 883 8 542 333 2500 1758 566 176
20420 3987 1507 96 995 416 760 50 52 658
20421 1185 483 21 338 124 37 10 0 27
20422 979 401 18 270 113 400 9 88 303
20423 1446 582 46 420 116 60 30 11 19
20424 2121 894 88 613 193 300 47 59 194
20425 1862 777 83 529 165 151 92 3 56
20501 1645 657 15 461 181 80 58 7 15
20502 1623 668 39 344 285 300 214 26 60
20503 1136 432 13 275 144 700 342 220 138
20504 2699 1089 54 696 339 722 80 272 370
20505 711 285 10 170 105 137 20 31 86
20506 1377 553 20 337 196 350 225 13 112
20507 1051 424 21 221 182 28 22 0 6
20508 3044 1327 91 827 409 159 81 25 53
20509 1296 546 62 287 197 1196 816 43 337
20510 1054 409 13 269 127 525 317 29 179
20511 457 200 6 132 62 455 217 4 234
20512 90 38 0 6 32 1836 830 177 829
20513 475 188 7 122 59 1588 1387 70 131
20514 3210 1420 98 938 384 131 51 17 63
20515 164 72 11 49 12 2463 758 380 1325
20516 1224 529 14 315 200 2652 55 1197 1400
20517 1745 776 38 490 248 124 12 0 112
20518 1015 465 12 276 177 182 24 0 158
20519 979 481 63 323 95 259 37 64 158
20520 8 4 0 4 0 3591 3159 73 359
20521 243 113 19 76 18 1331 1025 61 245
20522 600 295 106 165 24 1423 539 358 526
20523 528 262 94 147 21 865 93 336 436
20524 499 231 75 136 20 981 0 104 877
20525 1040 496 82 338 76 328 8 64 256
20526 99 47 0 47 0 2862 51 37 2774
20527 547 262 45 181 36 569 24 190 355
20528 1795 877 147 567 163 474 60 282 132
20529 619 300 32 208 60 250 118 57 75
20530 257 118 12 82 24 613 320 163 130
20531 540 247 34 130 83 1695 45 8 1642
20532 5 2 0 1 1 135 0 12 123
20533 562 251 27 173 51 441 265 51 125
20534 661 313 43 165 105 1746 17 143 1586
20535 59 30 4 16 10 11 3 2 6
20536 118 57 6 40 11 4 2 0 2
20537 1264 570 75 438 57 681 173 472 36
20538 978 444 73 330 41 2041 444 705 892
20539 1347 659 122 480 57 245 109 77 59

Agenda Item 5B     Page 228Packet Page     316



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

20601 1872 762 98 518 146 478 51 291 136
20602 807 342 37 246 59 268 14 7 247
20603 2788 1199 104 919 176 182 24 66 92
20604 1015 426 28 314 84 32 11 6 15
20605 1724 755 111 523 121 412 4 145 263
20606 2083 916 119 683 114 250 9 35 206
20607 2400 1030 200 700 130 1103 139 148 816
20608 671 317 75 229 13 925 106 319 500
20609 546 258 22 205 31 200 21 3 176
20610 1281 553 47 418 88 405 57 205 143
20611 4048 1754 515 1099 140 604 58 358 188
20612 844 378 52 199 127 52 18 10 24
20613 145 63 9 33 21 5 5 0 0
20614 1753 765 37 532 196 1318 403 139 776
20615 450 194 0 147 47 18 6 5 7
20616 1487 641 88 338 215 93 27 24 42
20617 1845 889 71 662 156 67 34 3 30
20618 3029 1459 363 1041 55 1775 307 1030 438
20619 42 21 2 16 3 1092 18 405 669
20620 1400 700 104 513 83 640 392 56 192
20621 1031 460 93 353 14 2092 1422 138 532
20622 549 249 50 192 7 109 38 17 54
20623 74 37 7 29 1 356 290 10 56
20624 162 80 20 57 3 1583 353 535 695
20625 366 187 47 133 7 397 0 211 186
20626 2288 1102 305 710 87 150 41 21 88
20627 1071 547 68 396 83 500 375 10 115
20628 1992 933 262 617 54 1422 452 353 617
20629 570 570 217 300 53 1500 1130 185 185
20630 728 318 121 180 17 1753 771 315 667
20701 3132 1411 272 996 143 1022 178 291 553
20702 1717 849 125 618 106 1055 112 127 816
20703 1176 573 80 399 94 371 56 153 162
20704 1173 579 98 401 80 274 82 56 136
20705 1306 648 104 458 86 285 52 57 176
20706 10 5 1 4 0 980 4 272 704
20707 1276 624 110 437 77 426 18 255 153
20708 1544 791 169 525 97 503 46 34 423
20709 1385 695 102 521 72 1284 113 574 597
20710 1671 854 124 570 160 728 36 154 538
20711 502 240 30 175 35 228 22 63 143
20712 911 428 53 283 92 87 21 33 33
20713 1610 746 139 516 91 1017 364 199 454
20714 1541 723 66 519 138 689 155 113 421
20715 181 81 4 53 24 1076 8 853 215
20716 1679 749 76 504 169 145 13 1 131
20717 1345 600 96 425 79 361 11 162 188
20718 1241 567 82 386 99 278 40 14 224
20719 1357 688 134 473 81 3529 31 151 3347
20720 2873 1449 414 885 150 464 17 101 346
20721 2082 1048 234 719 95 421 61 50 310
20722 3331 1657 230 1285 142 300 22 27 251
20723 1419 699 49 523 127 229 13 4 212
20724 54 26 6 16 4 95 0 0 95
20801 1164 533 66 321 146 925 24 126 775

Agenda Item 5B     Page 229Packet Page     317



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

20802 1757 801 78 490 233 102 15 48 39
20803 1025 495 108 291 96 110 13 11 86
20804 827 394 39 253 102 207 73 32 102
20805 1714 822 81 527 214 258 65 33 160
20806 1952 914 107 646 161 388 109 27 252
20807 997 479 101 302 76 342 45 21 276
20808 995 490 137 332 21 244 33 33 178
20809 1659 801 130 556 115 224 17 18 189
20810 2350 1146 227 819 100 514 63 266 185
20811 1781 834 204 583 47 813 55 328 430
20812 2740 1347 240 1024 83 1451 125 434 892
20813 1745 849 200 603 46 1641 165 761 715
20814 1076 523 115 327 81 778 40 279 459
20815 1038 494 84 323 87 649 39 181 429
20816 772 399 43 316 40 392 91 120 181
20817 3741 1795 212 1370 213 1736 34 809 893
20818 946 450 41 303 106 946 24 108 814
20819 752 344 36 218 90 233 17 55 161
20820 2 1 0 1 0 5090 208 171 4711
20821 245 245 33 130 82 1026 0 956 70
20822 862 368 0 214 154 2023 15 1828 180
20823 3846 1690 234 1086 370 667 171 32 464
20824 1232 585 92 418 75 244 19 159 66
20825 722 346 69 239 38 726 314 237 175
20826 93 44 8 31 5 2811 1943 118 750
20827 881 446 94 287 65 455 96 249 110
20828 608 297 23 190 84 293 37 97 159
20829 2153 1046 225 749 72 1482 195 405 882
20830 2424 1196 378 716 102 926 94 153 679
20831 1466 647 150 431 66 696 438 135 123
20832 2429 945 234 610 101 977 499 46 432
20833 1696 748 126 510 112 463 164 22 277
20834 2220 1096 224 736 136 814 81 132 601
20835 2020 996 210 716 70 468 26 48 394
20836 1815 895 39 715 141 1002 88 82 832
20837 892 410 48 277 85 294 203 19 72
20838 661 315 24 202 89 1587 150 108 1329
20839 1910 949 182 671 96 846 59 218 569
20840 77 55 10 41 4 1452 119 280 1053
20841 1336 670 137 444 89 349 11 218 120
20842 721 349 20 273 56 147 0 30 117
20901 509 314 48 195 71 562 19 39 504
20902 969 445 8 292 145 117 13 39 65
20903 566 255 24 175 56 339 14 30 295
20904 1133 500 58 330 112 274 13 130 131
20905 937 365 57 241 67 147 35 0 112
20906 1484 600 138 404 58 531 228 98 205
20907 1210 489 52 371 66 415 8 231 176
20908 1421 620 89 457 74 594 104 260 230
20909 2307 1007 159 692 156 989 31 580 378
20910 1759 781 72 539 170 680 6 144 530
20911 2076 947 154 662 131 557 16 53 488
20912 1932 898 48 600 250 145 27 26 92
20913 2837 1341 263 940 138 1725 36 77 1612
20914 494 243 57 168 18 737 10 593 134

Agenda Item 5B     Page 230Packet Page     318



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

20915 1362 632 69 474 89 2145 30 1010 1105
20916 6448 3280 365 2467 448 688 49 223 416
20917 2003 894 112 599 183 945 69 20 856
20918 2830 1099 350 687 62 557 75 35 447
20919 3359 1473 129 1074 270 385 48 55 282
20920 2548 1163 213 823 127 147 21 34 92
20921 1476 650 31 525 94 529 62 127 340
20922 1111 468 62 336 70 392 1 7 384
20923 992 459 23 320 116 549 45 156 348
20924 1614 750 14 576 160 86 6 1 79
20925 1662 771 75 462 234 133 70 1 62
20926 3558 1523 163 1130 230 92 7 25 60
20927 1304 580 22 429 129 430 3 34 393
20928 1615 679 61 488 130 560 14 240 306
20929 1622 700 89 514 97 179 22 69 88
20930 2083 840 94 563 183 440 49 216 175
20931 3788 1646 97 1132 417 142 41 23 78
20932 994 431 32 282 117 305 0 84 221
20933 1414 605 38 401 166 800 100 364 336
20934 1093 481 36 306 139 238 23 13 202
20935 1229 546 18 369 159 155 24 51 80
20936 1001 480 36 325 119 59 17 12 30
20937 1294 605 43 393 169 413 139 0 274
20938 1812 911 102 695 114 221 6 24 191
20939 1047 523 22 399 102 108 5 47 56
20940 2783 1412 216 1079 117 250 54 35 161
20941 2216 1113 75 840 198 79 24 5 50
20942 577 299 33 229 37 1027 42 304 681
20943 1035 499 76 351 72 626 23 218 385
20944 1253 597 71 472 54 2067 373 189 1505
20945 677 321 37 247 37 1635 264 40 1331
21001 2538 1087 37 600 450 1694 1015 143 536
21002 2725 1166 44 777 345 775 112 179 484
21003 8 4 0 2 2 209 34 2 173
21004 4786 2313 201 1873 239 1381 48 86 1247
21005 2777 1974 0 1974 0 2161 432 375 1354
21006 3019 3019 413 1592 1014 8606 0 869 7737
21007 2765 2765 378 1458 929 4597 315 0 4282
21008 1995 1063 0 914 149 5803 380 716 4707
21009 1940 1085 64 819 202 1079 61 57 961
21010 1610 941 91 655 195 380 81 33 266
21011 1896 850 66 579 205 160 67 31 62
21012 2525 1170 170 842 158 212 34 52 126
21013 1022 493 87 352 54 2548 155 664 1729
21014 3253 1507 264 1092 151 1649 329 30 1290
21015 1080 500 15 299 186 101 35 1 65
21016 1354 610 35 371 204 53 14 2 37
21017 260 100 4 51 45 17 1 0 16
21018 90 36 0 26 10 500 166 167 167
21019 1611 720 48 461 211 206 11 6 189
21020 1813 824 68 592 164 186 24 73 89
21021 2175 955 66 678 211 288 18 211 59
21022 1519 652 19 475 158 110 6 6 98
21023 3038 1199 52 791 356 464 108 55 301
21024 1250 554 37 380 137 423 39 78 306

Agenda Item 5B     Page 231Packet Page     319



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

21025 2367 999 14 572 413 340 60 161 119
21026 1892 721 14 487 220 123 10 0 113
21027 2851 1150 15 664 471 77 23 4 50
21028 4466 1658 33 953 672 864 219 196 449
21029 402 168 0 108 60 486 0 86 400
21030 765 265 0 154 111 300 28 57 215
21031 392 164 0 89 75 61 18 16 27
21032 1253 499 1 283 215 218 27 56 135
21033 1962 869 13 499 357 411 205 129 77
21034 2315 1151 64 892 195 25 11 6 8
21035 3031 1325 71 1028 226 288 41 14 233
21036 466 180 10 139 31 71 7 41 23
21037 229 94 0 55 39 28 5 14 9
21101 834 361 5 237 119 28 16 1 11
21102 1216 542 9 355 178 227 8 16 203
21103 2213 988 118 547 323 247 57 98 92
21104 2697 1247 132 699 416 182 85 0 97
21105 1184 535 51 296 188 488 45 185 258
21106 2824 1346 337 889 120 858 317 98 443
21107 50 22 12 10 0 2203 850 469 884
21108 51 22 5 15 2 108 45 57 6
21109 66 28 0 5 23 152 33 34 85
21110 192 85 9 59 17 273 14 167 92
21111 3571 1536 125 917 494 222 79 28 115
21112 1695 722 17 378 327 1048 135 177 736
21113 1553 663 57 397 209 538 106 295 137
21114 853 379 34 224 121 75 48 6 21
21115 1041 434 142 181 111 402 25 105 272
21116 2007 837 62 445 330 683 72 51 560
21117 1980 826 46 530 250 500 42 91 367
21118 3418 1458 63 790 605 922 98 345 479
21119 1636 708 42 400 266 1933 518 633 782
21120 2210 918 52 626 240 306 56 73 177
21121 176 73 3 52 18 10 9 0 1
21122 1768 723 101 453 169 637 97 145 395
21123 1306 537 35 331 171 87 25 0 62
21124 2414 1011 73 706 232 354 76 142 136
21125 2352 987 66 608 313 576 62 165 349
21126 1474 608 132 279 197 1534 206 389 939
21127 2022 835 96 494 245 85 30 20 35
21128 3623 1497 72 994 431 762 182 100 480
21129 3604 1491 98 903 490 314 63 4 247
21130 3741 1523 83 920 520 276 63 22 191
21131 2692 1076 49 683 344 93 46 5 42
21201 992 382 18 218 146 149 22 26 101
21202 4844 1756 65 971 720 619 147 126 346
21203 905 368 25 217 126 60 17 0 43
21204 2025 853 83 509 261 213 40 4 169
21205 1713 642 0 392 250 171 60 8 103
21206 1616 611 14 314 283 24 3 0 21
21207 2228 801 21 423 357 132 41 5 86
21208 2941 1044 28 545 471 190 23 3 164
21209 570 208 7 107 94 1737 1265 144 328
21210 2710 1038 21 619 398 75 41 8 26
21211 1233 499 32 295 172 758 88 196 474

Agenda Item 5B     Page 232Packet Page     320



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

21212 1184 479 0 269 210 610 31 131 448
21213 5723 2323 61 1455 807 747 109 311 327
21214 3514 1495 170 976 349 676 206 193 277
21215 7250 2996 153 1957 886 292 117 37 138
21216 1660 696 14 432 250 90 56 12 22
21217 706 274 9 155 110 17 2 3 12
21218 2668 1021 9 587 425 100 59 0 41
21219 1991 799 77 569 153 188 19 54 115
21220 15 6 0 4 2 5826 4515 329 982
21221 451 190 17 135 38 4 1 1 2
21222 349 148 16 99 33 20 3 3 14
21301 1721 767 0 539 228 4754 2717 1029 1008
21302 274 113 0 78 35 343 89 79 175
21303 276 127 10 91 26 346 8 23 315
21304 1918 926 89 660 177 523 17 212 294
21305 1470 595 16 422 157 43 10 12 21
21306 1120 440 11 313 116 68 38 4 26
21307 3209 1212 32 769 411 328 18 130 180
21308 1621 641 40 410 191 69 32 10 27
21309 3640 1350 109 818 423 176 54 49 73
21310 3487 1382 53 948 381 611 213 144 254
21311 1977 702 0 407 295 1045 277 220 548
21312 135 51 0 30 21 1335 42 284 1009
21313 0 0 0 0 0 1238 360 181 697
21314 4389 1589 26 944 619 275 137 50 88
21315 1782 654 11 431 212 419 107 110 202
21316 2109 776 38 496 242 314 61 134 119
21317 1778 658 17 425 216 299 33 62 204
21318 5700 2111 49 1396 666 192 68 39 85
21319 1770 662 7 392 263 1051 365 188 498
21320 1597 603 29 322 252 169 111 20 38
21321 2411 902 51 594 257 3209 58 981 2170
21322 264 98 7 72 19 0 0 0 0
21323 3444 1289 86 927 276 1118 98 377 643
21324 5116 1874 38 1029 807 449 106 119 224
21325 1720 643 24 403 216 469 85 77 307
21326 2404 887 24 515 348 96 29 0 67
21327 1236 451 44 281 126 5796 885 1239 3672
21328 28 11 2 5 4 3143 916 642 1585
21329 860 313 32 193 88 3478 1743 610 1125
21330 184 67 11 32 24 1173 308 295 570
21401 3232 1187 34 699 454 644 42 356 246
21402 1382 614 62 350 202 419 21 254 144
21403 1393 619 56 389 174 1502 14 1201 287
21404 235 103 3 54 46 14 0 4 10
21405 2018 806 56 503 247 528 24 241 263
21406 17 7 1 4 2 968 0 652 316
21407 20 8 1 4 3 4619 93 2418 2108
21408 660 245 35 149 61 428 34 45 349
21409 1835 681 19 471 191 764 49 301 414
21410 563 223 7 144 72 2092 43 685 1364
21411 2880 1147 28 740 379 298 28 23 247
21412 1128 426 0 272 154 88 9 53 26
21413 1259 471 12 285 174 66 9 10 47
21414 1198 464 12 298 154 115 51 22 42

Agenda Item 5B     Page 233Packet Page     321



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

21415 1362 516 16 340 160 147 15 5 127
21416 1701 643 34 410 199 279 100 32 147
21417 1868 702 28 548 126 250 2 7 241
21418 3961 1484 30 1030 424 435 56 27 352
21419 3542 1342 33 901 408 206 75 49 82
21420 1915 728 16 530 182 438 56 8 374
21421 1284 488 32 307 149 791 54 336 401
21422 2016 792 45 497 250 167 78 0 89
21423 3594 1432 51 961 420 847 314 65 468
21424 2038 782 16 463 303 423 67 249 107
21425 2665 1030 20 615 395 133 35 0 98
21426 2026 750 39 504 207 255 81 64 110
21427 2666 1000 61 715 224 37 20 6 11
21428 2577 982 49 667 266 1103 5 732 366
21429 1938 757 14 529 214 182 79 0 103
21430 1519 609 26 401 182 133 48 0 85
21431 832 324 14 218 92 1089 648 187 254
21432 32 15 0 10 5 2 0 1 1
30106 51 18 0 10 8 14293 4237 1994 8062
30107 457 161 0 99 62 15116 4269 2599 8248
30108 3135 1108 0 709 399 1005 266 206 533
30109 1793 633 0 398 235 100 26 20 54
30110 4357 1540 0 1022 518 136 37 30 69
30111 1748 616 0 409 207 203 52 38 113
30112 323 115 0 83 32 62 21 10 31
30113 2492 879 0 584 295 1735 508 221 1006
30114 67 24 3 13 8 1420 436 131 853
30124 640 226 6 130 90 35 26 3 6
30125 1136 401 11 230 160 63 36 1 26
30126 77 27 0 17 10 15 0 3 12
30127 2025 719 98 379 242 3620 1074 427 2119
30128 259 92 0 66 26 767 227 93 447
30129 527 187 0 30 157 1557 450 268 839
30130 4040 1430 0 876 554 193 52 39 102
30131 1700 602 0 433 169 78 30 14 34
30132 1153 408 0 260 148 347 253 58 36
30133 1112 395 0 284 111 316 89 58 169
30134 2763 977 0 607 370 584 152 134 298
30135 63 22 0 3 19 2308 637 419 1252
30136 16 6 0 4 2 2479 653 545 1281
30137 2666 941 28 629 284 210 71 105 34
30145 2206 777 23 523 231 44 14 8 22
30146 5786 2154 178 1488 488 364 15 171 178
30147 28 11 2 5 4 3707 1073 518 2116
30148 197 86 12 45 29 179 0 35 144
30149 2498 1093 128 848 117 479 60 220 199
30150 999 434 0 233 201 545 61 24 460
30151 55 24 3 13 8 3382 1164 548 1670
30152 36 15 0 7 8 2328 884 676 768
30155 1764 715 0 415 300 183 49 41 93
30201 1112 398 0 287 111 13 2 2 9
30202 491 180 34 70 76 8 0 2 6
30203 895 327 28 180 119 9 2 1 6
30204 967 335 32 186 117 28 24 3 1
30205 568 204 19 115 70 26 14 2 10

Agenda Item 5B     Page 234Packet Page     322



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

30206 1011 370 33 204 133 51 15 7 29
30207 1920 703 63 376 264 19 13 5 1
30208 1395 513 0 369 144 72 17 15 40
30209 716 257 49 100 108 18 5 4 9
30210 949 343 47 181 115 98 23 29 46
30211 1917 689 0 400 289 65 15 22 28
30212 3735 1376 0 220 1156 174 40 58 76
30213 1547 566 47 322 197 43 24 6 13
30214 219 80 7 45 28 11 2 3 6
30215 2642 939 0 151 788 715 0 19 696
30216 623 228 19 124 85 5 1 2 2
30217 4348 1593 0 924 669 141 33 49 59
30218 3408 1188 193 567 428 76 23 26 27
30219 3786 1283 0 205 1078 298 29 201 68
30220 2093 719 0 417 302 104 20 0 84
30221 1978 692 0 110 582 88 5 0 83
30222 1275 458 52 230 176 121 30 30 61
30223 231 83 13 40 30 486 146 70 270
30224 675 240 0 139 101 793 219 149 425
30225 1819 696 3 365 328 599 26 127 446
30226 2806 1023 8 570 445 205 87 4 114
30227 2168 867 21 628 218 132 12 0 120
30228 814 306 10 187 109 44 35 0 9
30229 3437 1199 19 727 453 302 51 2 249
30230 2446 883 41 560 282 47 36 1 10
30231 3405 1131 16 790 325 410 42 1 367
30232 2944 1019 32 685 302 45 25 3 17
30233 4805 1681 0 975 706 75 16 26 33
30234 4620 1641 312 640 689 91 20 32 39
30301 315 109 21 81 7 159 87 58 14
30302 527 173 31 131 11 695 205 156 334
30303 754 242 17 177 48 57 33 1 23
30304 1048 366 23 270 73 119 62 1 56
30305 1725 583 111 433 39 726 41 50 635
30306 2107 748 51 572 125 514 34 246 234
30307 6249 2184 115 1475 594 258 144 7 107
30308 3936 1537 0 891 646 63 25 17 21
30309 7068 2668 0 427 2241 111 47 22 42
30310 1540 581 31 395 155 178 8 10 160
30311 2228 873 0 139 734 32 0 6 26
30312 634 248 0 40 208 86 11 1 74
30313 3826 1450 276 968 206 403 61 77 265
30314 1773 672 88 498 86 844 1 100 743
30315 2130 760 101 547 112 888 161 90 637
30316 475 169 33 122 14 453 169 124 160
30317 1625 577 127 406 44 464 117 312 35
30318 1319 462 102 324 36 14 2 1 11
30319 1462 525 38 402 85 262 21 36 205
30320 2202 823 50 514 259 302 102 2 198
30321 2257 843 20 558 265 37 12 4 21
30322 570 215 9 143 63 12 10 1 1
30323 1231 463 0 74 389 336 267 14 55
30401 3044 1105 82 770 253 321 215 29 77
30402 1730 638 48 442 148 114 93 11 10
30403 698 257 17 180 60 27 5 1 21

Agenda Item 5B     Page 235Packet Page     323



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

30404 512 186 14 128 44 47 22 4 21
30405 477 173 15 117 41 276 6 1 269
30406 467 174 24 91 59 2324 488 231 1605
30407 3229 1147 0 1147 0 176 47 37 92
30408 2397 851 0 672 179 27 6 8 13
30409 1169 440 0 348 92 39 18 10 11
30410 1844 702 0 555 147 16 5 4 7
30411 756 288 0 207 81 6 1 2 3
30412 1108 394 75 209 110 14 2 3 9
30413 2442 896 113 574 209 407 1 300 106
30414 555 197 0 114 83 344 306 18 20
30415 552 196 37 104 55 12 4 4 4
30416 2837 1037 79 726 232 858 215 604 39
30417 1116 400 41 269 90 176 88 62 26
30418 282 103 10 71 22 171 60 32 79
30419 6793 2463 270 1636 557 292 75 68 149
30420 31 11 2 7 2 500 115 180 205
30421 33 13 0 8 5 378 103 72 203
30422 2121 772 98 514 160 705 477 184 44
30423 312 113 15 74 24 187 165 6 16
30424 532 193 25 131 37 253 199 45 9
30425 300 108 15 70 23 157 131 7 19
30426 5086 1848 211 1171 466 1136 311 255 570
30427 4484 1619 231 1133 255 633 199 169 265
30428 1174 426 61 276 89 163 89 24 50
30429 370 138 0 99 39 9 2 2 5
30430 229 86 0 50 36 395 191 121 83
30431 160 57 5 39 13 110 19 29 62
30432 820 296 31 197 68 166 119 21 26
30433 92 33 0 27 6 35 23 6 6
30434 74 31 0 22 9 29 8 6 15
30435 17 7 1 4 2 5 0 1 4
30436 3591 1286 98 886 302 3945 1142 807 1996
30437 2454 1035 79 724 232 3037 2206 599 232
30438 386 137 19 72 46 1634 443 317 874
30439 209 75 0 54 21 102 38 14 50
30440 10577 3790 393 2529 868 398 102 87 209
30441 7877 2822 124 2014 684 196 43 35 118
30442 1611 576 73 342 161 77 15 18 44
30443 6123 2163 0 1644 519 240 42 72 126
30444 4308 1544 87 1072 385 961 620 188 153
30445 1232 435 55 258 122 1490 1025 338 127
30446 2240 791 43 552 196 371 211 77 83
30447 2525 892 0 642 250 2609 2247 276 86
30448 5658 1973 119 1368 486 561 432 33 96
30449 2283 818 58 545 215 647 196 146 305
30450 907 325 15 230 80 358 166 53 139
30451 670 233 18 156 59 177 154 21 2
30452 1661 592 56 391 145 209 127 29 53
30453 1308 466 0 354 112 2267 1999 123 145
30454 4382 1550 126 1052 372 200 64 46 90
30455 4594 1623 168 1083 372 67 17 18 32
30456 4305 1520 0 1201 319 75 3 1 71
30457 6097 2153 295 1135 723 140 54 33 53
30458 2208 784 0 784 0 961 158 493 310

Agenda Item 5B     Page 236Packet Page     324



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

30459 409 145 20 76 49 1152 72 227 853
30460 3047 1623 222 856 545 1154 284 210 660
30461 944 338 46 179 113 55 14 14 27
30501 1734 677 23 469 185 191 75 55 61
30502 218 83 8 58 17 68 55 6 7
30503 922 361 39 250 72 202 110 33 59
30504 8495 3330 367 2311 652 567 118 93 356
30505 300 115 14 81 20 53 0 10 43
30506 18343 7080 536 5158 1386 1832 435 309 1088
30507 401 147 6 101 40 46 36 2 8
30508 138 57 0 45 12 0 0 0 0
30509 53 20 0 13 7 425 149 70 206
30510 381 139 4 97 38 36 11 8 17
30511 18 7 0 4 3 2014 565 341 1108
30512 11 4 1 2 1 0 0 0 0
30513 456 171 5 119 47 1715 436 429 850
30601 183 81 0 81 0 1216 773 189 254
30602 487 201 0 201 0 3118 698 555 1865
30603 1537 584 0 584 0 2700 84 1206 1410
30604 3046 1123 44 968 111 1493 998 346 149
30605 2371 884 9 547 328 726 374 202 150
30606 5751 2121 117 1504 500 828 56 508 264
30607 4668 1666 109 1212 345 502 19 36 447
30608 5058 1772 85 1242 445 372 39 171 162
30609 8216 2879 78 1893 908 161 53 16 92
30610 962 342 31 210 101 136 30 29 77
30611 460 163 0 26 137 28 8 6 14
30612 574 200 21 118 61 116 42 26 48
30613 2150 716 56 449 211 92 58 21 13
30614 2701 900 25 602 273 197 32 13 152
30615 3106 1049 63 727 259 85 35 0 50
30616 1937 699 58 478 163 463 10 263 190
30617 5363 1992 118 1300 574 200 40 36 124
30618 3033 1126 93 773 260 206 34 18 154
30619 3415 1343 83 920 340 363 32 154 177
30620 5391 2192 343 1663 186 1214 211 273 730
30621 405 164 51 92 21 1111 19 100 992
30622 438 165 56 86 23 403 16 101 286
30623 2942 1184 126 890 168 293 7 49 237
30624 3706 1438 126 1087 225 693 338 53 302
30625 745 275 38 145 92 866 708 64 94
30626 2369 895 433 394 68 228 0 0 228
30627 4616 1743 36 1147 560 143 50 21 72
30628 1692 616 11 416 189 192 16 100 76
30629 2959 986 26 685 275 73 45 13 15
30630 1422 496 32 330 134 121 38 12 71
30701 1394 507 0 315 192 1190 125 565 500
30702 1140 442 0 275 167 215 2 129 84
30703 494 186 0 121 65 89 20 18 51
30704 1709 690 0 446 244 757 16 0 741
30705 2190 877 54 548 275 98 32 0 66
30706 3165 1348 86 842 420 367 57 40 270
30707 127 55 8 28 19 3145 2704 229 212
30708 567 247 6 194 47 378 60 161 157
30709 1442 622 63 480 79 482 143 71 268

Agenda Item 5B     Page 237Packet Page     325



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

30710 1919 805 101 630 74 837 11 34 792
30711 1018 384 39 258 87 312 61 10 241
30712 2579 1082 74 754 254 152 49 8 95
30713 3122 1279 12 809 458 348 42 218 88
30714 1263 465 6 321 138 525 39 125 361
30715 2646 941 0 636 305 140 26 12 102
30716 1832 681 10 471 200 46 6 5 35
30717 2180 841 22 600 219 81 38 10 33
30718 2162 874 61 630 183 291 37 90 164
30719 870 348 58 279 11 1984 82 1430 472
30720 2046 837 93 558 186 1995 232 654 1109
30721 1189 457 26 394 37 489 10 69 410
30722 2871 1111 107 839 165 539 77 207 255
30723 2059 810 62 616 132 257 58 66 133
30724 1985 846 116 632 98 417 11 356 50
30725 2350 974 207 693 74 47 8 2 37
30726 2131 905 210 628 67 216 5 17 194
30727 1946 810 88 630 92 518 24 407 87
30728 1997 825 191 564 70 40 9 10 21
30729 1960 819 91 645 83 294 89 91 114
30730 3735 1455 74 866 515 746 37 399 310
30731 2123 794 52 577 165 105 14 34 57
30732 3623 1335 49 771 515 282 86 40 156
30733 3213 1151 125 789 237 71 21 3 47
30734 17 17 2 9 6 580 0 490 90
30801 78 26 2 17 7 1451 6 230 1215
30802 2787 975 53 696 226 604 133 112 359
30803 2009 804 77 611 116 80 9 38 33
30804 3340 1348 318 928 102 344 54 171 119
30805 559 251 32 208 11 266 118 13 135
30806 2577 990 216 669 105 209 7 20 182
30807 555 201 13 154 34 931 192 324 415
30808 3403 1273 322 857 94 659 5 185 469
30809 2207 904 112 750 42 1155 142 42 971
30810 2057 878 155 714 9 979 1 157 821
30811 948 505 0 505 0 16 4 4 8
30812 775 286 26 222 38 63 11 2 50
30813 2180 782 58 569 155 1089 109 103 877
30814 1195 475 44 381 50 49 28 5 16
30815 839 324 34 251 39 63 2 2 59
30816 2616 1039 139 756 144 291 88 75 128
30817 2361 908 125 664 119 627 75 238 314
30818 2170 777 89 592 96 203 36 26 141
30819 1591 569 47 391 131 373 36 65 272
30820 3409 1296 144 959 193 1156 8 353 795
30821 2022 723 59 559 105 76 35 4 37
30822 2129 759 87 615 57 1306 457 200 649
30823 3066 1129 215 794 120 162 31 18 113
30824 1636 623 101 444 78 365 15 95 255
30825 767 306 32 237 37 28 9 9 10
30901 80 32 4 17 11 2444 3 1378 1063
30902 1125 439 42 383 14 4489 2 1186 3301
30903 2961 1093 262 792 39 641 28 490 123
30904 3106 1106 34 753 319 395 32 259 104
30905 1858 656 41 548 67 78 31 29 18

Agenda Item 5B     Page 238Packet Page     326



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

30906 1803 648 69 513 66 662 372 161 129
30907 252 98 14 78 6 19 7 4 8
30908 2517 945 82 712 151 96 37 5 54
30909 2313 868 75 653 140 46 6 7 33
30910 4585 1581 64 1163 354 116 52 34 30
30911 1035 358 2 248 108 9 8 1 0
30912 2555 951 56 670 225 37 21 6 10
30913 371 154 0 122 32 30 0 3 27
30914 2238 883 141 682 60 3162 11 438 2713
30915 2012 747 91 625 31 3839 767 841 2231
30916 2076 774 77 596 101 434 166 42 226
30917 2288 835 140 581 114 1072 313 289 470
30918 2545 867 122 595 150 207 6 1 200
30919 2066 716 75 547 94 220 1 25 194
30920 5254 1932 194 1587 151 209 106 22 81
30921 4517 1737 350 1185 202 1059 319 104 636
30922 1921 758 96 554 108 100 14 34 52
30923 1645 599 182 364 53 266 70 104 92
30924 430 157 47 95 15 2203 25 548 1630
30925 136 50 14 33 3 2037 380 883 774
30926 930 397 29 307 61 1811 15 103 1693
30927 3815 1626 226 1184 216 193 36 36 121
30928 2111 900 191 604 105 64 13 12 39
30929 755 295 62 205 28 789 614 9 166
30930 1941 841 243 528 70 2118 1761 208 149
30931 74 32 9 20 3 262 189 40 33
30932 130 54 18 33 3 792 492 67 233
31001 3760 1460 131 1034 295 817 43 171 603
31002 2609 1039 131 754 154 501 16 91 394
31003 1816 734 156 521 57 390 12 193 185
31004 1596 681 152 466 63 426 144 68 214
31005 1487 564 129 378 57 2434 79 591 1764
31006 2923 1100 191 772 137 795 57 279 459
31007 2187 774 156 526 92 1237 503 247 487
31008 0 0 0 0 0 1525 527 45 953
31009 9 5 0 5 0 2103 479 308 1316
31010 36 15 3 11 1 792 525 55 212
31011 159 65 16 47 2 3067 2896 37 134
31012 23 10 3 7 0 247 110 15 122
31013 65 25 6 18 1 520 208 8 304
31014 103 40 10 29 1 1715 1431 45 239
31015 112 49 12 34 3 1347 1099 61 187
31016 59 20 5 14 1 1669 1279 106 284
31017 257 89 20 66 3 2568 1579 278 711
31018 28 10 4 3 3 2511 1928 419 164
31019 26 10 2 7 1 3352 2720 304 328
31020 55 20 3 15 2 599 418 29 152
31021 2947 1041 165 742 134 2110 1390 361 359
31022 2882 1048 137 763 148 823 30 109 684
31023 3183 1131 322 690 119 1069 580 364 125
31024 954 348 115 208 25 518 190 108 220
31025 818 314 70 217 27 888 276 193 419
31026 2049 748 142 529 77 380 179 40 161
31027 5767 2184 339 1444 401 943 261 50 632
31028 3094 1162 76 815 271 985 142 276 567

Agenda Item 5B     Page 239Packet Page     327



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

31029 1611 588 79 338 171 131 102 22 7
31030 2165 791 107 578 106 467 211 94 162
31031 3215 1188 388 711 89 1045 792 206 47
31032 2704 2704 370 1426 908 879 636 139 104
31033 138 49 0 49 0 851 724 92 35
31034 2828 1048 251 645 152 1709 370 221 1118
31035 4001 1523 347 1048 128 578 406 115 57
31036 1341 524 87 378 59 287 59 45 183
31037 396 148 24 106 18 2185 1862 190 133
31038 1873 829 117 654 58 614 515 78 21
31101 266 98 31 57 10 211 109 4 98
31102 18 8 1 6 1 2541 1803 83 655
31103 2833 2833 388 1493 952 788 560 132 96
31104 387 251 59 176 16 878 542 127 209
31105 1757 600 108 444 48 497 449 12 36
31106 6 6 3 2 1 360 314 37 9
31107 111 111 36 62 13 190 111 9 70
31108 216 74 25 42 7 1138 631 75 432
31109 1377 470 79 342 49 504 412 10 82
31110 162 55 17 32 6 455 425 8 22
31111 2750 1204 231 870 103 574 330 69 175
31112 1094 479 149 289 41 588 153 263 172
31113 2896 1282 274 869 139 248 50 6 192
31114 3130 1040 163 736 141 285 57 56 172
31115 644 219 38 166 15 282 177 80 25
31116 1024 350 88 249 13 126 6 18 102
31117 1080 373 81 273 19 1032 472 27 533
31118 1799 610 136 427 47 1099 728 13 358
31119 731 280 66 204 10 1176 1001 19 156
31120 41 15 0 15 0 597 490 49 58
31121 404 137 43 84 10 898 10 330 558
31122 2236 1505 349 1020 136 305 43 63 199
31123 633 443 113 313 17 323 75 61 187
31124 420 142 19 75 48 1245 970 31 244
31125 734 246 49 168 29 1489 794 414 281
31126 322 150 33 115 2 1382 1095 164 123
31127 505 170 37 131 2 1103 806 0 297
31128 74 25 7 18 0 909 658 181 70
31129 124 51 14 37 0 5066 4652 145 269
31130 166 53 15 38 0 805 527 68 210
31131 6 2 0 1 1 447 346 23 78
31132 30 10 0 10 0 1330 1043 121 166
31201 3 3 0 2 1 3878 2160 604 1114
31202 0 0 0 0 0 1603 690 95 818
31203 1 1 0 1 0 913 777 116 20
31204 65 22 3 12 7 2237 1863 86 288
31205 84 31 4 17 10 2660 1902 234 524
31206 169 60 8 32 20 2344 1071 726 547
31207 132 50 12 29 9 1087 703 35 349
31208 18 7 0 7 0 1517 890 397 230
31209 3157 1178 161 621 396 17366 5235 1814 10317
31210 6 2 0 1 1 1506 415 328 763
31211 6 2 0 1 1 1869 1678 128 63
31212 3 1 0 1 0 1308 1071 105 132
31213 8 3 0 3 0 1876 1675 194 7

Agenda Item 5B     Page 240Packet Page     328



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

31214 13 5 0 5 0 2976 2374 288 314
31215 29 11 4 4 3 4297 2635 454 1208
31216 669 257 16 203 38 1111 981 62 68
31217 1680 596 74 447 75 499 360 26 113
31218 2883 1036 106 758 172 435 270 35 130
31219 2360 922 218 629 75 664 375 71 218
31220 4574 1568 176 1185 207 303 1 4 298
31221 0 0 0 0 0 8613 2486 1231 4896
31223 0 0 0 0 0 1100 369 0 731
31224 0 0 0 0 0 2814 768 198 1848
31225 450 162 35 117 10 1118 341 0 777
31226 3047 1154 322 741 91 129 31 38 60
31227 4252 1465 252 1079 134 51 3 18 30
31228 3760 1294 431 848 15 1627 223 216 1188
31229 6811 2494 930 1458 106 412 20 310 82
31230 12 4 0 4 0 1963 0 140 1823
31231 1030 391 84 285 22 7533 319 1016 6198
31232 0 0 0 0 0 4567 0 575 3992
31233 2631 1021 368 610 43 208 40 97 71
31234 2469 954 104 742 108 583 16 278 289
31235 1866 716 179 463 74 3130 2109 360 661
31236 1696 644 107 474 63 191 77 27 87
31301 36 15 2 8 5 1000 229 330 441
31302 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0
31303 86 36 5 19 12 0 0 0 0
31304 51 32 4 17 11 335 0 41 294
31305 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0
31306 6 2 0 1 1 0 0 0 0
31307 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
31308 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
31309 2754 978 134 515 329 512 134 111 267
31310 48 17 2 9 6 650 218 0 432
31311 42 15 2 8 5 0 0 0 0
31312 8609 3069 420 1618 1031 443 34 298 111
31313 2133 769 105 406 258 73 20 14 39
31314 3343 1188 0 190 998 1507 433 222 852
31315 3198 1136 155 599 382 380 110 56 214
31316 5500 1987 272 1047 668 502 132 109 261
31317 6 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0
31318 3 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
31319 84 31 0 18 13 0 0 0 0
31320 131 48 7 25 16 0 0 0 0
31321 3 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
31322 28 10 0 2 8 0 0 0 0
31323 9454 3383 0 542 2841 33 10 6 17
31324 6541 2324 0 372 1952 699 201 103 395
31325 339 120 0 19 101 2437 1870 358 209
31326 628 225 31 118 76 2686 1726 462 498
31327 76 27 0 16 11 0 0 0 0
31328 42 15 0 11 4 0 0 0 0
31329 17 6 0 1 5 0 0 0 0
31330 3 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
31331 42 15 2 8 5 0 0 0 0
31332 103 38 0 6 32 6 6 0 0
31333 3236 1198 0 893 305 329 230 65 34

Agenda Item 5B     Page 241Packet Page     329



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

31334 2596 954 131 502 321 116 42 24 50
31335 6 2 0 0 2 78 20 22 36
31336 591 214 0 35 179 1645 449 312 884
31337 25 9 1 5 3 332 86 77 169
31338 123 44 0 26 18 1684 1272 341 71
31339 94 34 5 18 11 694 565 100 29
31340 16 6 1 3 2 635 359 47 229
31341 2642 982 35 773 174 1100 47 275 778
31342 6439 2377 124 1746 507 2094 809 431 854
31343 28 10 1 6 3 2340 850 282 1208
31344 43 16 2 9 5 601 170 95 336
31345 1059 394 54 208 132 909 310 108 491
31346 70 25 0 4 21 104 25 29 50
40101 1089 524 116 331 77 169 97 14 58
40102 81 36 3 29 4 40 0 26 14
40103 1827 793 88 583 122 45 5 17 23
40104 103 103 14 54 35 1687 0 203 1484
40105 807 341 59 257 25 198 10 136 52
40106 1877 758 208 486 64 328 25 145 158
40107 2046 767 185 511 71 117 51 41 25
40108 205 69 18 45 6 1824 1575 216 33
40109 956 300 174 125 1 1409 960 118 331
40110 1693 593 157 381 55 291 137 15 139
40111 1868 766 130 557 79 104 1 54 49
40112 1010 421 63 313 45 151 31 76 44
40113 1461 677 120 478 79 289 22 13 254
40114 968 451 59 321 71 110 5 58 47
40115 2087 1008 182 722 104 281 35 101 145
40116 1616 775 202 469 104 590 25 204 361
40117 1777 794 117 563 114 543 90 156 297
40118 3620 1400 318 895 187 290 20 59 211
40119 1243 397 89 277 31 335 16 34 285
40120 3213 995 387 566 42 785 424 111 250
40121 4428 1498 358 1008 132 1178 585 127 466
40122 4098 1630 424 1006 200 472 53 128 291
40123 3703 1639 287 1120 232 502 27 279 196
40124 2713 1347 195 957 195 298 93 47 158
40125 1410 686 92 455 139 262 13 15 234
40126 1591 654 145 427 82 461 12 274 175
40127 6 2 0 1 1 147 0 19 128
40128 3057 1086 423 569 94 1658 156 241 1261
40129 2888 982 134 518 330 169 0 0 169
40130 837 333 127 159 47 1477 67 385 1025
40131 1133 410 86 275 49 816 140 116 560
40132 3111 1192 380 682 130 163 2 22 139
40133 1448 691 111 457 123 201 45 7 149
40134 1133 540 60 396 84 49 9 13 27
40136 1738 630 191 387 52 1640 77 110 1453
40137 69 24 3 13 8 465 23 52 390
40138 687 221 69 134 18 384 115 134 135
40139 4636 1717 287 1189 241 415 63 64 288
40140 45 45 6 24 15 692 189 130 373
40201 12 4 1 2 1 2264 1334 264 666
40202 1967 572 159 364 49 1219 587 141 491
40203 110 36 8 25 3 822 653 86 83

Agenda Item 5B     Page 242Packet Page     330



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

40204 111 31 6 20 5 1593 1037 203 353
40205 1099 298 67 188 43 1315 904 77 334
40206 45 12 3 8 1 637 621 13 3
40207 2695 817 174 579 64 1566 971 225 370
40208 0 0 0 0 0 2395 1560 157 678
40209 2145 674 284 387 3 1977 1612 200 165
40210 1716 494 195 273 26 1514 407 128 979
40211 4434 1277 291 771 215 3240 2765 429 46
40212 591 591 81 311 199 2631 2120 401 110
40213 26 7 0 7 0 1081 1014 58 9
40214 1090 306 96 190 20 647 446 90 111
40215 1655 482 150 303 29 1274 737 130 407
40216 26 9 1 5 3 123 30 55 38
40217 164 50 0 50 0 1504 1472 0 32
40218 120 39 11 26 2 411 266 30 115
40219 3642 1187 356 761 70 2418 1457 484 477
40220 2622 795 242 505 48 2671 2209 357 105
40221 202 62 18 40 4 385 165 61 159
40222 882 301 85 195 21 464 311 21 132
40223 1359 500 169 292 39 416 28 31 357
40224 2148 773 232 488 53 102 7 5 90
40225 3553 1227 390 736 101 532 18 81 433
40226 774 291 97 178 16 187 45 63 79
40227 3253 1031 329 643 59 2086 1530 352 204
40228 5783 1966 269 1036 661 2772 1603 397 772
40229 2060 840 115 443 282 699 121 83 495
40230 1041 425 105 268 52 2492 442 349 1701
40231 781 336 143 182 11 213 18 25 170
40232 922 424 183 222 19 246 11 8 227
40233 731 274 115 146 13 42 2 4 36
40234 4199 1515 444 874 197 387 19 85 283
40235 1868 814 235 489 90 142 16 6 120
40236 1790 675 183 432 60 350 6 61 283
40237 23 23 3 12 8 58 0 38 20
40238 1544 716 166 465 85 120 3 4 113
40239 342 146 59 78 9 160 7 9 144
40240 1837 802 281 436 85 464 49 140 275
40241 1817 836 426 375 35 121 47 10 64
40242 424 193 101 84 8 65 5 11 49
40243 1011 436 191 231 14 439 74 49 316
40244 160 102 55 39 8 470 26 105 339
40245 1223 695 354 288 53 451 299 84 68
40246 1535 989 338 558 93 596 30 67 499
40247 820 494 188 247 59 3181 4 4 3173
40248 1301 758 223 443 92 3811 44 284 3483
40249 68 36 0 36 0 864 0 290 574
40250 1187 728 95 507 126 442 14 129 299
40251 1557 984 300 639 45 757 13 83 661
40252 770 449 214 207 28 2513 18 381 2114
40253 530 300 144 138 18 4500 80 90 4330
40254 1495 1066 389 615 62 2815 124 266 2425
40255 1460 1060 358 605 97 1670 93 350 1227
40301 31 10 1 6 3 2386 2170 140 76
40302 8 3 0 2 1 1108 1057 38 13
40303 0 0 0 0 0 2180 1428 185 567

Agenda Item 5B     Page 243Packet Page     331



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

40304 0 0 0 0 0 590 472 52 66
40305 167 167 23 88 56 1603 1548 0 55
40306 6 2 0 1 1 489 450 34 5
40307 7 2 0 1 1 596 596 0 0
40308 3403 1088 149 573 366 349 85 51 213
40309 42 15 2 8 5 2311 1518 119 674
40310 70 70 10 37 23 1143 681 25 437
40311 48 26 0 26 0 557 173 215 169
40312 1398 632 154 421 57 1272 244 477 551
40313 2906 1014 222 705 87 130 3 53 74
40314 2502 917 322 540 55 166 86 18 62
40315 898 340 123 191 26 118 2 104 12
40316 3582 1416 270 945 201 121 18 13 90
40317 2377 948 168 604 176 97 7 7 83
40318 2350 1031 209 710 112 25 12 2 11
40319 1442 597 170 371 56 464 12 78 374
40320 1503 696 32 416 248 108 8 14 86
40321 1802 771 60 492 219 208 3 60 145
40322 1421 702 25 454 223 398 9 6 383
40323 1163 575 34 342 199 177 5 0 172
40324 1337 749 103 476 170 593 42 160 391
40325 651 302 18 202 82 212 6 100 106
40326 688 290 35 191 64 90 1 47 42
40401 954 954 130 504 320 106 29 21 56
40402 16 16 2 9 5 26 7 5 14
40403 4854 3497 478 1844 1175 2979 2293 663 23
40404 129 100 14 52 34 2509 1781 106 622
40405 173 173 24 91 58 494 455 19 20
40406 0 0 0 0 0 1561 1424 137 0
40407 0 0 0 0 0 4520 3362 115 1043
40408 3455 958 140 659 159 117 34 1 82
40409 2533 968 140 711 117 27 16 1 10
40410 4859 1450 133 1094 223 283 5 128 150
40411 3244 1188 57 891 240 309 7 51 251
40412 1773 649 35 484 130 150 25 14 111
40413 831 307 42 162 103 181 51 30 100
40414 1431 541 74 285 182 98 36 13 49
40415 2154 868 0 868 0 495 45 218 232
40416 4325 1589 0 921 668 271 1 42 228
40417 4192 1536 69 1165 302 129 6 7 116
40418 1924 707 27 571 109 29 17 5 7
40419 2829 1039 10 701 328 26 7 2 17
40420 3252 1229 68 940 221 189 9 43 137
40421 2853 1049 7 699 343 110 9 5 96
40422 758 287 39 152 96 53 15 8 30
40423 1429 530 72 280 178 631 185 88 358
40424 763 288 19 223 46 114 16 48 50
40425 1862 703 40 539 124 486 16 258 212
40426 3318 1080 78 811 191 207 36 3 168
40427 3347 1203 125 874 204 168 34 111 23
40428 3792 1416 199 1022 195 1073 679 217 177
40429 6535 1922 205 1367 350 183 8 0 175
40430 0 0 0 0 0 4313 2959 149 1205
40431 0 0 0 0 0 6758 4938 234 1586
40432 542 542 74 286 182 361 203 158 0

Agenda Item 5B     Page 244Packet Page     332



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

40433 0 0 0 0 0 634 278 81 275
40434 61 48 7 25 16 1165 976 112 77
40435 50 39 5 21 13 965 269 598 98
40436 3188 2498 342 1317 839 9676 6368 1992 1316
40437 877 398 54 210 134 2190 1909 275 6
40438 0 0 0 0 0 59 18 5 36
40439 26 20 3 10 7 483 375 46 62
40440 15 6 0 3 3 2576 2184 215 177
40441 86 35 0 35 0 2449 1929 101 419
40442 188 88 12 46 30 783 0 14 769
40443 1878 760 104 401 255 179 52 23 104
40444 2469 997 136 526 335 88 26 9 53
40445 6363 2888 395 1522 971 1933 1263 541 129
40446 769 397 54 210 133 333 47 13 273
40447 885 402 55 212 135 128 28 16 84
40448 461 197 27 104 66 527 131 63 333
40501 916 431 170 231 30 134 6 67 61
40502 4260 1679 654 903 122 2864 1 103 2760
40503 3519 1343 367 895 81 613 14 121 478
40504 1 1 0 1 0 1156 294 130 732
40505 832 296 40 157 99 479 360 64 55
40506 2385 847 116 446 285 1055 674 122 259
40507 1200 500 251 240 9 896 431 149 316
40508 1732 1189 410 632 147 902 153 100 649
40509 687 470 122 303 45 1449 363 198 888
40510 1287 545 268 257 20 969 427 146 396
40511 3 3 0 2 1 2690 2423 203 64
40512 1 1 0 1 0 69 30 37 2
40513 22 8 5 3 0 1650 1265 137 248
40514 1809 643 643 0 0 434 195 87 152
40515 2886 958 688 270 0 2504 633 58 1813
40516 39 13 9 4 0 1087 758 124 205
40517 5371 1735 725 946 64 592 74 180 338
40518 4149 1327 232 956 139 460 152 79 229
40519 4646 1734 289 1286 159 380 10 176 194
40520 5322 2093 706 1220 167 315 65 68 182
40521 2850 1029 189 764 76 242 30 47 165
40522 2728 850 140 618 92 335 62 85 188
40523 390 124 68 53 3 337 256 17 64
40524 1 1 0 1 0 1289 465 197 627
40525 64 23 13 8 2 2316 2019 67 230
40526 669 400 102 260 38 4451 75 130 4246
40527 3041 1558 385 1024 149 2164 804 333 1027
40528 2069 1109 419 577 113 1485 736 151 598
40529 382 139 48 85 6 1281 650 84 547
40530 900 288 149 131 8 1978 948 351 679
40531 2403 775 163 545 67 832 134 116 582
40532 3585 1111 226 779 106 372 29 105 238
40533 2375 899 195 650 54 160 22 50 88
40534 3973 1531 316 1089 126 243 26 75 142
40535 4019 1203 298 824 81 323 68 120 135
40536 2759 884 182 594 108 455 65 216 174
40537 1800 608 85 467 56 479 275 108 96
40538 230 87 30 51 6 2623 1809 287 527
40539 393 393 54 207 132 476 273 137 66

Agenda Item 5B     Page 245Packet Page     333



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

40540 1478 1478 202 780 496 3437 960 1072 1405
40541 4322 4322 591 2279 1452 3534 1109 782 1643
40542 1945 689 163 453 73 92 30 41 21
40543 2394 808 108 623 77 206 63 40 103
40544 3506 1132 368 710 54 403 8 100 295
40545 2233 795 259 502 34 75 12 24 39
40601 1287 1091 360 653 78 402 0 200 202
40602 2299 1596 421 1010 165 419 3 121 295
40603 1238 838 303 488 47 521 3 168 350
40604 2548 1564 435 999 130 240 11 132 97
40605 1230 865 214 582 69 1386 11 42 1333
40606 1646 1045 174 650 221 234 9 50 175
40607 2555 1434 233 919 282 118 19 49 50
40608 2126 1321 163 954 204 252 12 10 230
40609 2707 2140 312 1443 385 412 24 89 299
40610 3337 2722 804 1719 199 380 5 263 112
40611 2138 1800 530 1136 134 4963 19 404 4540
40612 3354 2065 616 1226 223 489 58 207 224
40613 1202 693 55 423 215 84 14 15 55
40614 1045 664 55 401 208 286 11 159 116
40615 2659 1485 167 855 463 1391 96 319 976
40616 1781 929 132 540 257 1147 178 503 466
40617 323 212 0 153 59 3165 39 1142 1984
40618 1 1 0 1 0 2506 95 1496 915
40619 963 580 25 347 208 96 21 38 37
40620 1502 820 17 474 329 1588 659 458 471
40621 634 376 47 265 64 73 3 39 31
40622 1606 950 117 617 216 530 85 283 162
40623 477 318 68 220 30 1604 72 139 1393
40624 460 306 64 213 29 195 1 102 92
40625 69 37 10 24 3 833 19 178 636
40626 1438 958 261 623 74 1278 18 84 1176
40627 3388 1957 622 1160 175 705 70 408 227
40628 5803 3440 544 2456 440 451 30 122 299
40629 65 65 9 34 22 186 0 1 185
40630 127 68 24 34 10 3542 22 3040 480
40631 3428 1995 303 1234 458 2361 189 150 2022
40701 3042 1303 267 933 103 140 17 18 105
40702 1904 796 207 515 74 239 14 175 50
40703 5859 2665 743 1744 178 371 133 139 99
40704 1036 547 57 339 151 314 13 98 203
40705 1628 805 125 547 133 667 67 385 215
40706 2074 1128 137 719 272 264 5 132 127
40707 2728 1607 405 925 277 551 51 198 302
40708 4085 2488 800 1598 90 7547 2 40 7505
40709 1180 718 139 457 122 684 9 264 411
40710 860 544 98 327 119 31 0 4 27
40711 2013 1056 85 713 258 152 25 33 94
40712 1518 715 53 492 170 121 26 59 36
40713 1084 511 103 362 46 218 4 73 141
40714 506 193 147 46 0 909 0 0 909
40715 1139 505 99 362 44 1967 193 276 1498
40716 2644 1240 117 878 245 244 6 54 184
40717 2108 985 103 570 312 146 8 28 110
40718 1267 683 28 407 248 158 6 63 89

Agenda Item 5B     Page 246Packet Page     334



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

40719 944 548 33 297 218 182 3 6 173
40720 650 336 32 171 133 356 4 72 280
40721 777 328 15 181 132 94 3 0 91
40722 2454 1589 165 1182 242 2608 159 566 1883
40723 1915 849 44 508 297 99 1 1 97
40724 918 557 453 104 0 64 2 2 60
40725 3306 1713 1302 411 0 2215 0 472 1743
40726 3711 2121 404 1483 234 1323 10 113 1200
40727 4715 3216 1056 2023 137 175 0 128 47
40728 2139 1559 96 1048 415 67 22 14 31
40729 1739 1057 266 683 108 16 0 2 14
40730 281 176 30 130 16 157 7 16 134
40731 2615 1654 205 1051 398 722 25 322 375
40732 556 320 57 208 55 487 17 60 410
40733 273 169 2 127 40 573 20 91 462
40734 1117 699 98 488 113 362 53 63 246
40735 1327 826 127 558 141 757 33 152 572
40736 769 581 120 402 59 1411 14 283 1114
40737 1543 1179 127 826 226 234 31 39 164
40738 6978 3983 387 2876 720 402 74 67 261
40739 7 7 1 4 2 434 191 8 235
40740 1891 1510 339 1020 151 1461 61 216 1184
40801 2544 1010 242 697 71 526 250 169 107
40802 3803 1359 367 880 112 463 16 159 288
40803 2427 866 282 500 84 167 4 108 55
40804 3648 1317 308 881 128 362 150 90 122
40805 50 18 5 11 2 3329 1495 225 1609
40806 314 107 26 74 7 170 124 45 1
40807 1651 562 101 421 40 66 7 2 57
40808 2545 895 219 587 89 132 18 62 52
40809 3149 1170 153 893 124 292 26 105 161
40810 2666 1038 100 742 196 238 23 32 183
40811 1739 748 226 505 17 545 12 358 175
40812 2493 1072 114 769 189 142 19 8 115
40813 3495 1352 191 1043 118 572 59 225 288
40814 1440 524 180 298 46 651 83 311 257
40815 264 94 33 58 3 649 481 90 78
40816 23 9 3 6 0 2191 1522 138 531
40817 842 296 38 221 37 847 155 191 501
40818 1907 768 110 570 88 30 19 0 11
40819 1515 649 49 440 160 171 7 0 164
40820 2049 985 70 726 189 582 185 127 270
40821 3231 1373 122 938 313 703 14 50 639
40822 2118 905 76 656 173 1228 43 513 672
40823 1016 417 14 291 112 9 7 0 2
40824 3801 1568 379 1063 126 310 5 43 262
40825 3319 1261 223 956 82 198 39 65 94
40826 1206 494 9 346 139 19 11 4 4
40827 695 268 13 205 50 6 1 1 4
40828 47 20 1 16 3 1319 0 421 898
40829 5513 2542 262 1644 636 594 26 163 405
40831 483 217 25 148 44 271 6 1 264
40832 1191 526 58 364 104 2458 6 0 2452
40833 4060 1707 147 1184 376 327 26 1 300
40834 873 351 25 265 61 6 3 1 2

Agenda Item 5B     Page 247Packet Page     335



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

40835 3155 1490 62 983 445 677 34 264 379
40836 1981 881 91 598 192 1004 2 954 48
40837 7624 3040 208 2060 772 282 55 127 100
40838 1084 537 28 360 149 130 15 29 86
40839 1220 548 29 368 151 1742 19 903 820
40901 1781 1094 149 766 179 833 26 456 351
40902 1545 897 62 578 257 363 260 61 42
40903 830 488 8 300 180 158 16 41 101
40904 832 458 34 265 159 122 4 16 102
40905 438 247 34 130 83 2395 70 365 1960
40906 489 279 17 164 98 729 26 61 642
40907 726 377 23 220 134 47 7 6 34
40908 2 2 0 1 1 147 0 0 147
40909 1833 1018 69 624 325 147 16 11 120
40910 2875 1548 149 1014 385 307 33 43 231
40911 1001 548 86 346 116 401 207 53 141
40912 494 494 68 260 166 2588 2014 512 62
40913 163 67 6 56 5 2602 1634 616 352
40914 1887 995 91 727 177 686 147 177 362
40915 1365 743 148 455 140 759 51 337 371
40916 2114 1152 142 762 248 290 50 39 201
40917 1251 699 108 455 136 617 61 147 409
40918 918 505 39 341 125 581 58 92 431
40919 3229 1732 83 1053 596 873 80 474 319
40920 1383 739 43 424 272 141 9 77 55
40921 794 448 35 257 156 1066 40 537 489
40922 926 517 45 360 112 2877 32 451 2394
40923 1378 735 72 465 198 131 54 12 65
40924 807 440 42 310 88 115 13 7 95
40925 526 294 33 191 70 2995 196 598 2201
40926 1826 998 181 667 150 605 132 73 400
40927 1683 935 251 569 115 330 7 152 171
40928 1562 896 258 592 46 1442 109 376 957
40929 1695 872 112 595 165 567 16 124 427
40930 2889 1526 261 968 297 313 71 52 190
40931 2101 1124 413 630 81 3710 14 183 3513
40932 2018 1078 153 738 187 749 55 417 277
40933 913 497 69 342 86 491 38 80 373
40934 1200 597 42 451 104 848 212 186 450
40935 169 84 9 69 6 2367 537 156 1674
40936 419 155 16 128 11 599 5 79 515
40937 496 199 23 160 16 512 374 41 97
40938 1494 728 89 575 64 1312 810 250 252
40939 1090 573 50 429 94 429 65 140 224
40940 672 359 70 249 40 2326 24 99 2203
40941 1237 645 73 377 195 68 7 8 53
40942 2127 1065 36 684 345 234 11 19 204
40943 834 385 22 248 115 132 27 76 29
41001 1667 935 189 700 46 2556 1531 446 579
41002 2284 1361 323 932 106 57 4 4 49
41003 1776 1000 98 693 209 119 9 57 53
41004 574 302 17 230 55 75 5 0 70
41005 660 406 16 244 146 553 5 94 454
41006 1632 787 70 510 207 947 247 430 270
41007 2097 1048 100 754 194 558 107 97 354

Agenda Item 5B     Page 248Packet Page     336



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

41008 1771 938 229 610 99 666 26 154 486
41009 1898 995 280 606 109 3022 442 384 2196
41010 738 738 101 389 248 2089 328 194 1567
41011 588 298 50 206 42 1558 129 595 834
41012 1192 599 101 413 85 2098 97 90 1911
41013 4951 2485 438 1754 293 3698 851 622 2225
41014 2383 1274 187 900 187 778 49 159 570
41015 41 19 2 14 3 1020 55 637 328
41016 1837 904 93 615 196 41 15 6 20
41017 1343 675 49 504 122 135 24 17 94
41018 1648 736 70 527 139 38 11 4 23
41019 574 323 38 222 63 488 51 203 234
41020 466 260 29 179 52 68 18 0 50
41021 2139 1249 199 865 185 1773 311 367 1095
41022 2202 1177 35 709 433 48 21 5 22
41023 2893 1582 189 1183 210 1014 45 433 536
41024 1019 554 36 359 159 179 3 0 176
41025 1116 607 114 433 60 418 143 37 238
41026 853 419 71 290 58 83 4 20 59
41027 4405 2450 343 1637 470 165 24 30 111
41028 1790 1096 184 804 108 906 15 122 769
41029 2660 1510 266 1044 200 673 19 345 309
41030 39 21 8 7 6 1055 148 96 811
41031 5302 2639 617 1747 275 1910 4 462 1444
41101 504 225 18 138 69 40 0 6 34
41102 2084 1009 80 676 253 594 73 229 292
41103 2651 1389 31 895 463 1221 103 344 774
41104 793 438 11 277 150 1657 89 30 1538
41105 499 276 8 174 94 447 6 219 222
41106 2111 1141 116 814 211 900 294 230 376
41107 2386 1123 87 874 162 1392 238 315 839
41108 1733 925 81 637 207 163 45 25 93
41109 1242 646 30 394 222 43 3 2 38
41110 3191 1702 320 1200 182 683 82 195 406
41111 1138 597 143 395 59 76 3 4 69
41112 4048 2310 160 1689 461 2350 401 272 1677
41113 27 15 2 8 5 9805 410 961 8434
41114 19 10 1 6 3 9914 1570 770 7574
41115 1013 483 48 298 137 63 8 4 51
41116 711 329 22 223 84 672 283 242 147
41117 1539 864 60 586 218 2177 75 424 1678
41118 58 31 4 17 10 6969 2258 546 4165
41119 1540 1540 211 811 518 5534 33 948 4553
41201 3295 1481 241 973 267 269 79 10 180
41202 84 34 3 23 8 507 0 210 297
41202 282 115 12 78 25 1713 2 709 1002
41203 200 82 8 56 18 57 5 19 33
41203 210 86 8 59 19 61 6 20 35
41203 205 84 8 57 19 59 5 20 34
41203 201 82 8 56 18 57 5 19 33
41203 203 83 8 57 18 58 5 19 34
41203 195 79 7 54 18 56 5 19 32
41203 202 82 8 56 18 58 5 19 34
41203 200 82 8 56 18 57 5 19 33
41203 204 83 8 57 18 58 5 19 34

Agenda Item 5B     Page 249Packet Page     337



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

41204 199 86 11 57 18 145 44 9 92
41204 111 48 6 32 10 81 25 5 51
41204 189 82 10 55 17 138 42 9 87
41204 199 86 11 57 18 145 44 9 92
41204 184 79 10 53 16 135 41 9 85
41204 189 82 10 55 17 138 42 9 87
41204 193 83 10 56 17 141 43 9 89
41204 203 88 11 59 18 149 45 10 94
41204 257 111 14 74 23 187 57 12 118
41205 23 13 13 0 0 1502 118 52 1332
41205 24 14 14 0 0 1581 124 54 1403
41205 15 9 9 0 0 1014 79 35 900
41205 23 13 13 0 0 1511 118 52 1341
41205 24 13 13 0 0 1566 123 54 1389
41205 24 14 14 0 0 1572 123 54 1395
41206 246 132 63 57 12 1002 141 139 722
41206 249 134 64 57 13 1016 143 141 732
41206 248 134 64 57 13 1013 143 140 730
41206 244 131 63 56 12 996 140 138 718
41206 247 133 63 57 13 1007 142 139 726
41206 247 133 63 57 13 1008 142 140 726
41207 201 121 56 47 18 608 87 144 377
41207 184 110 51 43 16 556 80 131 345
41207 185 110 51 43 16 559 80 132 347
41207 191 115 53 45 17 577 83 136 358
41207 186 110 51 43 16 563 81 133 349
41207 189 113 52 44 17 573 82 135 356
41208 103 56 7 34 15 669 38 142 489
41208 53 28 3 17 8 343 19 73 251
41208 64 34 4 21 9 417 24 88 305
41208 52 27 3 17 7 335 19 71 245
41208 52 27 3 17 7 337 19 71 247
41209 2541 1161 176 660 325 10023 2956 1652 5415
41210 1759 790 108 417 265 1526 509 272 745
41211 2782 1183 162 623 398 3782 125 734 2923
41212 223 172 20 103 49 1445 169 361 915
41212 108 84 10 50 24 700 82 175 443
41212 105 80 9 48 23 681 80 170 431
41212 107 82 10 49 23 695 81 174 440
41212 105 80 9 48 23 679 79 170 430
41214 2 2 0 1 1 1491 64 206 1221
41214 2 2 0 1 1 1512 65 209 1238
41214 2 2 0 1 1 1570 68 217 1285
41214 2 2 0 1 1 1549 67 214 1268
41214 2 2 0 1 1 1481 64 204 1213
41214 2 2 0 1 1 1544 67 213 1264
41215 79 63 31 26 6 1613 135 158 1320
41215 80 63 31 26 6 1649 138 161 1350
41215 82 65 32 27 6 1684 141 165 1378
41215 76 59 29 25 5 1551 130 152 1269
41215 76 59 29 25 5 1554 130 152 1272
41215 76 60 30 25 5 1560 130 153 1277
41216 47 43 43 0 0 1778 254 211 1313
41216 13 12 12 0 0 486 69 58 359
41216 60 55 55 0 0 2280 326 270 1684

Agenda Item 5B     Page 250Packet Page     338



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

41216 57 52 52 0 0 2158 308 256 1594
41216 29 26 26 0 0 1078 154 128 796
41216 58 53 53 0 0 2172 310 257 1605
41216 59 54 54 0 0 2241 320 266 1655
41216 62 57 57 0 0 2347 335 278 1734
41216 47 43 43 0 0 1782 255 211 1316
41217 193 123 72 49 2 732 138 110 484
41217 196 126 74 50 2 745 140 112 493
41217 195 125 73 50 2 741 139 111 491
41217 188 121 71 48 2 714 134 107 473
41217 197 126 74 50 2 748 141 112 495
41217 193 124 73 49 2 734 138 110 486
41218 1005 742 428 299 15 898 118 118 662
41219 1496 1496 710 716 70 2769 57 578 2134
41220 33 33 16 15 2 1894 149 136 1609
41220 33 33 16 15 2 1902 150 137 1615
41220 34 34 16 16 2 1935 152 139 1644
41220 35 35 17 16 2 1981 156 143 1682
41220 33 33 16 15 2 1864 147 134 1583
41220 33 33 16 15 2 1882 148 136 1598
41220 35 35 17 16 2 2033 160 146 1727
41220 34 34 16 16 2 1960 154 141 1665
41220 34 34 16 16 2 1927 152 139 1636
41221 30 27 0 27 0 1491 29 277 1185
41221 29 27 0 27 0 1466 29 272 1165
41221 35 32 0 32 0 1757 34 326 1397
41221 30 27 0 27 0 1497 29 278 1190
41221 38 34 0 34 0 1872 37 347 1488
41222 48 37 0 37 0 1116 501 323 292
41222 48 36 0 36 0 1107 497 320 290
41222 50 38 0 38 0 1158 520 335 303
41222 49 37 0 37 0 1142 513 330 299
41223 237 187 32 116 39 530 19 116 395
41223 242 191 33 118 40 541 20 118 403
41223 241 191 33 118 40 540 20 118 402
41223 240 190 33 117 40 537 20 117 400
41223 237 187 32 116 39 529 19 116 394
41223 242 191 33 118 40 542 20 118 404
41224 121 96 17 59 20 1230 71 202 957
41224 119 93 16 58 19 1206 69 198 939
41224 122 97 17 60 20 1242 71 204 967
41224 121 96 17 59 20 1226 70 201 955
41224 121 96 17 59 20 1233 71 202 960
41224 119 94 16 59 19 1217 70 200 947
41225 96 53 25 20 8 637 16 198 423
41225 94 53 25 20 8 620 15 193 412
41225 98 55 26 21 8 648 16 202 430
41225 108 61 29 23 9 716 18 223 475
41225 143 80 38 30 12 946 23 295 628
41225 96 53 25 20 8 637 16 198 423
41225 80 44 21 17 6 529 13 165 351
41226 102 78 9 47 22 341 87 84 170
41226 110 85 10 51 24 367 94 90 183
41226 106 81 9 49 23 353 90 87 176
41226 107 81 9 49 23 355 91 87 177

Agenda Item 5B     Page 251Packet Page     339



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

41226 111 85 10 51 24 367 94 90 183
41226 108 83 10 50 23 359 92 88 179
41227 38 16 2 9 5 1618 5 77 1536
41228 446 217 0 137 80 1862 22 684 1156
41229 83 45 2 26 17 2921 99 298 2524
41230 14 12 2 7 3 440 5 74 361
41230 9 7 1 4 2 285 3 48 234
41230 9 7 1 4 2 290 3 49 238
41230 23 18 3 11 4 735 8 124 603
41231 5 2 0 1 1 227 2 112 113
41231 10 6 1 3 2 473 3 234 236
41232 69 62 13 35 14 124 3 14 107
41232 69 62 13 35 14 125 3 14 108
41232 88 78 16 44 18 158 3 18 137
41232 159 143 30 80 33 287 6 33 248
41233 761 761 362 380 19 2031 98 248 1685
41234 187 187 90 93 4 1875 0 95 1780
41235 720 695 256 317 122 1251 90 222 939
41236 1440 990 339 485 166 6191 340 237 5614
41237 1900 1805 520 1197 88 543 12 155 376
41238 1306 1164 335 773 56 3958 287 761 2910
41239 1331 988 360 451 177 1548 29 547 972
41240 6 2 0 1 1 418 285 52 81
41241 11 4 1 2 1 324 229 50 45
41242 84 65 32 24 9 978 212 109 657
41242 82 64 31 24 9 957 207 107 643
41242 87 68 33 25 10 1016 220 114 682
41242 87 68 33 25 10 1003 217 112 674
41242 85 65 32 24 9 985 213 110 662
41242 87 68 33 25 10 1007 218 113 676
41301 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
41302 0 0 0 0 0 579 316 104 159
41303 0 0 0 0 0 4644 1383 775 2486
41304 0 0 0 0 0 277 1 50 226
41305 0 0 0 0 0 6673 5206 1201 266
41306 0 0 0 0 0 22922 17046 4095 1781
41307 0 0 0 0 0 72 59 13 0
41308 0 0 0 0 0 1179 42 212 925
41309 0 0 0 0 0 1040 662 187 191
41310 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
41311 14 6 1 3 2 4 1 1 2
41312 8 4 1 2 1 149 40 31 78
41313 18 9 1 5 3 0 0 0 0
41314 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
41315 0 0 0 0 0 1724 438 418 868
41316 39 39 5 21 13 9 2 2 5
41317 2 1 0 1 0 274 0 202 72
41318 2757 1469 0 1469 0 1038 231 354 453
41319 1148 489 67 258 164 2151 571 454 1126
41320 2409 980 134 517 329 241 38 128 75
41321 4409 1879 257 991 631 355 103 49 203
41322 8 3 0 2 1 14 3 3 8
50101 1670 977 228 659 90 3838 86 1224 2528
50102 3142 1947 544 1227 176 6665 154 1609 4902
50103 266 135 3 86 46 40 1 6 33

Agenda Item 5B     Page 252Packet Page     340



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

50104 2062 1036 42 712 282 454 68 45 341
50105 3872 2487 165 1585 737 2611 1096 475 1040
50106 2948 1755 317 1205 233 223 31 67 125
50107 781 519 39 332 148 160 1 19 140
50108 3438 1968 314 1414 240 1107 14 750 343
50109 2793 1297 160 1029 108 530 7 427 96
50110 2982 1443 279 1042 122 902 2 374 526
50111 2166 1275 216 889 170 539 79 76 384
50112 1743 937 55 640 242 1195 332 202 661
50113 4161 2327 225 1803 299 2338 556 298 1484
50114 966 538 48 388 102 572 15 15 542
50115 39 39 5 21 13 130 13 43 74
50201 1069 392 72 297 23 471 13 91 367
50202 950 349 109 226 14 671 4 209 458
50203 2860 1065 373 650 42 1139 171 309 659
50204 6475 2470 550 1805 115 499 4 109 386
50205 1672 683 124 504 55 2310 0 3 2307
50206 2911 1165 256 792 117 403 110 99 194
50207 2393 883 111 618 154 140 41 5 94
50208 1657 601 86 450 65 341 1 0 340
50209 1607 612 51 498 63 388 4 214 170
50210 1591 626 72 484 70 105 22 25 58
50211 957 351 75 247 29 304 4 16 284
50212 1815 666 183 420 63 65 8 9 48
50213 2054 807 70 665 72 24 0 18 6
50214 62 24 3 13 8 33 0 3 30
50215 2805 1257 282 862 113 1428 12 201 1215
50216 1532 707 42 542 123 132 41 8 83
50217 2253 1029 151 771 107 1818 541 476 801
50218 1284 587 72 463 52 1 0 0 1
50219 3434 1510 171 1176 163 199 6 36 157
50220 2897 1252 151 870 231 438 23 32 383
50221 790 329 68 218 43 385 10 47 328
50222 91 41 9 27 5 605 3 34 568
50301 1248 495 123 345 27 614 539 63 12
50302 2275 909 69 666 174 647 0 337 310
50303 1482 692 49 508 135 406 105 29 272
50304 898 410 104 284 22 782 120 79 583
50305 3648 1743 300 1187 256 466 53 136 277
50306 1333 529 31 432 66 444 12 56 376
50307 1328 592 33 454 105 36 33 0 3
50308 139 62 9 46 7 3924 1709 386 1829
50309 1018 598 69 491 38 5571 813 1045 3713
50310 768 431 61 316 54 85 1 47 37
50311 1815 895 129 662 104 520 232 59 229
50312 70 32 0 32 0 623 25 72 526
50313 2017 1085 200 863 22 1963 0 318 1645
50314 1649 778 145 619 14 1430 2 1074 354
50315 1051 585 105 444 36 220 0 9 211
50316 1491 732 97 585 50 136 2 49 85
50317 839 395 50 319 26 1298 299 79 920
50318 1277 534 70 399 65 1522 50 387 1085
50319 1260 569 68 449 52 1226 188 259 779
50320 924 401 2 263 136 91 61 11 19
50321 2907 1302 74 1074 154 1522 409 337 776

Agenda Item 5B     Page 253Packet Page     341



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

50322 2851 1190 180 839 171 60 16 7 37
50323 2244 960 41 674 245 126 9 11 106
50324 2974 1244 150 980 114 382 3 203 176
50325 853 433 59 229 145 1600 0 2 1598
50326 2254 1063 145 561 357 2013 406 230 1377
50327 1772 944 129 498 317 2048 0 352 1696
50328 2156 1034 141 546 347 2574 0 422 2152
50329 3368 1502 218 1099 185 451 4 289 158
50330 292 132 18 70 44 2204 6 1388 810
50331 3970 2021 192 1626 203 962 0 227 735
50332 151 76 0 76 0 2637 0 1005 1632
50401 196 77 8 50 19 1041 207 190 644
50402 5 2 0 1 1 4185 1978 365 1842
50403 5 2 0 1 1 1458 374 306 778
50404 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
50405 5225 2088 0 1503 585 579 159 107 313
50406 2264 890 80 594 216 8 5 1 2
50407 4870 2076 284 1094 698 699 194 124 381
50408 4019 1428 195 753 480 1283 379 156 748
50409 2267 805 110 424 271 739 215 99 425
50410 5809 2322 318 1224 780 1580 800 255 525
50411 10 4 1 2 1 10 2 0 8
50412 4450 1687 160 1210 317 51 3 14 34
50413 19 7 1 5 1 0 0 0 0
50414 1236 494 68 260 166 0 0 0 0
50415 106 40 0 32 8 0 0 0 0
50416 110 42 0 30 12 21 20 0 1
50417 6108 2410 139 1703 568 282 133 68 81
50418 2664 1053 167 706 180 508 275 66 167
50419 2926 1161 123 745 293 260 146 72 42
50420 12869 5181 719 3597 865 569 210 135 224
50421 4530 1844 315 1249 280 174 9 33 132
50422 187 73 7 53 13 31 14 1 16
50423 64 25 3 16 6 4 1 0 3
50424 2056 876 0 876 0 15 4 4 7
50425 5 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0
50426 7726 2994 410 1578 1006 42 9 13 20
50427 3129 1191 0 858 333 1385 428 217 740
50428 918 360 31 237 92 64 41 14 9
50429 1073 416 0 241 175 616 51 99 466
50430 2965 1164 0 920 244 2598 752 470 1376
50431 77 30 3 19 8 4 0 0 4
50432 57 24 7 15 2 1614 101 253 1260
50433 5 2 0 1 1 1258 5 109 1144
50434 32 12 0 9 3 4 4 0 0
50435 7 2 0 1 1 0 0 0 0
50436 139 54 4 36 14 10 2 1 7
50437 180 71 7 46 18 4 4 0 0
50438 14 5 1 2 2 0 0 0 0
50439 8 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0
50440 13 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 0
50441 13 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 0
50442 7492 2994 0 2994 0 42 10 13 19
50443 8234 3134 429 1652 1053 68 18 16 34
50444 4324 1646 225 868 553 63 17 14 32

Agenda Item 5B     Page 254Packet Page     342



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

50445 3225 1375 188 725 462 5 1 1 3
50446 2342 832 0 832 0 389 103 76 210
50447 2984 1060 145 559 356 2352 688 307 1357
50448 8 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0
50449 6 2 0 1 1 0 0 0 0
50450 33 13 2 7 4 1398 0 309 1089
50451 738 262 36 138 88 407 107 94 206
50452 5217 2022 0 323 1699 24 6 6 12
50453 12640 4963 0 2879 2084 88 21 24 43
50454 13 5 0 1 4 0 0 0 0
50455 23213 9278 0 6680 2598 2460 684 507 1269
50456 3364 1325 131 952 242 627 12 37 578
50457 7462 2651 363 1397 891 703 191 145 367
50458 10 4 1 2 1 0 0 0 0
50459 10 4 1 2 1 0 0 0 0
50460 3 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0
50461 8 3 0 2 1 64 27 0 37
50462 891 329 0 216 113 9 2 3 4
50463 562 218 30 115 73 7 2 1 4
50464 786 314 43 165 106 50 14 10 26
50465 136 48 7 25 16 73 0 1 72
50466 62 24 3 13 8 0 0 0 0
50467 53 21 0 3 18 0 0 0 0
50468 13 5 1 2 2 0 0 0 0
50469 6500 2598 355 1370 873 83 21 23 39
50470 378 146 20 77 49 15 4 3 8
50471 3372 1241 0 824 417 238 52 152 34
50472 1209 430 59 227 144 69 20 13 36
50473 5282 1876 257 989 630 4364 2067 1222 1075
50474 4530 1609 220 848 541 555 54 378 123
50475 646 229 31 121 77 7 2 2 3
50476 998 355 49 187 119 71 17 20 34
50477 1202 427 58 226 143 20 5 6 9
50478 406 154 21 81 52 29 8 6 15
50479 3463 1230 168 649 413 30 8 7 15
50480 1974 701 96 369 236 40 10 10 20
50481 2001 853 117 449 287 0 0 0 0
50501 3182 1248 52 921 275 232 28 154 50
50502 3552 1402 9 1078 315 222 69 55 98
50503 6132 2388 114 1714 560 124 63 26 35
50504 1315 505 11 378 116 729 102 300 327
50505 4688 1761 21 1264 476 40 22 2 16
50506 5932 2294 0 1652 642 185 65 33 87
50507 1567 616 0 363 253 337 16 6 315
50508 2316 910 74 633 203 61 13 7 41
50509 1619 615 46 451 118 431 4 142 285
50510 1925 729 33 520 176 500 17 318 165
50511 4172 1624 69 1137 418 230 13 3 214
50512 3986 1541 45 968 528 532 5 434 93
50513 4400 1616 29 1030 557 520 38 209 273
50514 2372 850 1 598 251 39 16 1 22
50515 6065 2168 297 1143 728 10 1 2 7
50516 1750 658 90 347 221 26 3 2 21
50517 178 67 9 35 23 0 0 0 0
50518 2681 1010 138 533 339 3393 958 547 1888

Agenda Item 5B     Page 255Packet Page     343



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

50519 40 15 2 8 5 0 0 0 0
50520 36 13 2 7 4 0 0 0 0
50521 1415 531 9 376 146 3 2 0 1
50522 2197 798 9 570 219 136 38 19 79
50523 4660 1694 40 1141 513 174 1 18 155
50524 3589 1291 41 849 401 50 30 2 18
50525 3159 1166 58 848 260 186 29 34 123
50526 3753 1390 26 921 443 549 37 237 275
50527 4825 1797 95 1201 501 180 32 0 148
50528 4561 1713 39 1140 534 193 36 56 101
50529 2005 745 8 486 251 170 30 0 140
50530 2684 1026 86 748 192 221 6 122 93
50601 14 7 0 7 0 763 0 495 268
50602 1706 869 21 704 144 380 27 203 150
50603 528 251 27 202 22 158 19 82 57
50604 2798 1163 125 936 102 86 5 5 76
50605 2811 1197 163 785 249 588 7 245 336
50606 2401 1004 64 780 160 312 12 75 225
50607 3729 1511 107 1100 304 218 15 16 187
50608 1002 398 7 300 91 9 0 3 6
50609 1526 613 65 424 124 250 37 155 58
50610 3039 1245 97 978 170 365 45 163 157
50611 1366 538 26 357 155 499 49 147 303
50612 290 121 14 80 27 1399 193 337 869
50613 9 4 1 2 1 1531 276 403 852
50614 395 187 26 98 63 984 71 100 813
50615 1644 734 16 506 212 546 14 321 211
50616 2382 986 54 691 241 333 16 179 138
50617 2342 874 38 587 249 108 15 3 90
50618 2779 1120 41 819 260 204 36 84 84
50619 1523 712 110 490 112 768 20 60 688
50620 4923 2307 583 1505 219 311 2 27 282
50621 1 1 0 1 0 1255 97 0 1158
50622 325 165 40 104 21 682 1 0 681
50623 2977 1387 68 1002 317 517 7 244 266
50624 4359 1780 82 1216 482 449 62 113 274
50625 3059 1131 21 801 309 396 32 242 122
50626 3020 1385 166 991 228 406 11 4 391
50627 2219 1102 61 836 205 90 5 66 19
50701 2011 914 199 624 91 646 2 469 175
50702 1372 595 43 439 113 44 12 4 28
50703 1132 469 43 336 90 106 16 27 63
50704 2084 940 114 646 180 579 25 129 425
50705 575 257 22 186 49 357 33 36 288
50706 2059 866 187 577 102 264 6 163 95
50707 1999 866 81 694 91 139 8 56 75
50708 2223 1120 319 689 112 1684 98 469 1117
50709 90 49 7 26 16 684 0 464 220
50710 1028 434 63 265 106 217 5 164 48
50711 1061 452 67 292 93 159 10 23 126
50712 2112 930 187 635 108 328 14 166 148
50713 593 280 46 206 28 1413 17 271 1125
50714 17 17 2 9 6 353 0 25 328
50715 2033 1014 112 697 205 491 5 0 486
50716 1177 529 26 341 162 24 13 6 5

Agenda Item 5B     Page 256Packet Page     344



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

50717 2205 901 44 633 224 220 12 38 170
50718 2330 1060 29 703 328 287 13 126 148
50719 2124 1064 94 736 234 220 25 67 128
50720 1961 1152 135 916 101 530 34 275 221
50721 1551 704 102 543 59 425 71 27 327
50722 3483 1785 169 1154 462 1954 26 111 1817
50723 1693 840 64 528 248 272 12 4 256
50724 1102 580 25 366 189 2554 33 288 2233
50725 4 2 0 2 0 5289 542 742 4005
50726 1685 870 50 616 204 4085 348 984 2753
50727 2304 1094 40 771 283 678 68 225 385
50728 849 500 55 353 92 13 2 0 11
50801 691 300 83 195 22 547 319 64 164
50802 952 414 119 267 28 904 588 56 260
50803 1120 397 86 262 49 4479 3486 133 860
50804 237 105 30 67 8 1883 1119 165 599
50805 1415 642 130 447 65 478 213 58 207
50806 343 132 33 84 15 736 474 55 207
50807 2830 1379 290 939 150 975 468 223 284
50808 2368 1310 137 959 214 185 12 70 103
50809 1504 664 79 446 139 164 52 32 80
50810 2723 1295 155 913 227 41 6 14 21
50811 2006 1133 246 739 148 302 20 79 203
50812 1940 953 291 595 67 4175 30 130 4015
50813 1126 596 240 315 41 957 90 339 528
50814 946 499 99 350 50 571 46 85 440
50815 453 238 0 238 0 1895 121 569 1205
50816 1098 543 177 301 65 2273 38 664 1571
50817 1777 768 133 546 89 389 15 3 371
50818 1511 741 130 528 83 424 28 119 277
50819 1795 903 297 600 6 2438 469 328 1641
50820 1753 870 151 597 122 554 129 32 393
50821 1022 496 145 332 19 1610 1367 72 171
50822 174 84 28 55 1 695 336 140 219
50823 650 293 94 181 18 2333 1009 107 1217
50824 2147 953 264 633 56 576 199 56 321
50825 1504 623 91 436 96 219 75 18 126
50826 475 204 20 160 24 444 310 35 99
50827 74 32 3 22 7 1544 1016 167 361
50828 1155 533 55 375 103 1063 962 20 81
50829 1973 938 155 671 112 348 53 95 200
50830 1492 689 102 480 107 415 32 181 202
50831 1458 638 42 512 84 23 21 0 2
50832 2453 1133 238 792 103 356 40 153 163
50833 615 311 44 223 44 773 224 9 540
50834 20 11 2 7 2 1140 813 80 247
50835 1401 674 76 497 101 937 146 320 471
50901 1791 788 33 517 238 153 16 0 137
50902 902 386 14 248 124 61 2 6 53
50903 1963 801 85 583 133 472 37 162 273
50904 3345 1711 252 1297 162 996 13 516 467
50905 81 48 17 29 2 1362 362 162 838
50906 802 481 170 292 19 2288 195 305 1788
50907 876 476 96 332 48 251 12 11 228
50908 1926 890 136 729 25 167 3 130 34

Agenda Item 5B     Page 257Packet Page     345



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

50909 1595 801 127 562 112 61 16 3 42
50910 1081 569 92 396 81 668 40 277 351
50911 905 437 117 296 24 1220 633 290 297
50912 1992 899 104 640 155 371 11 214 146
50913 2875 1408 322 884 202 536 55 144 337
50914 2135 1059 167 745 147 937 71 72 794
50915 553 376 133 227 16 1442 230 168 1044
50916 4 4 1 2 1 22 0 7 15
50917 188 89 31 53 5 306 91 125 90
50918 1732 770 50 435 285 454 66 49 339
50919 1984 812 32 497 283 182 42 5 135
50920 591 242 21 136 85 148 9 7 132
50921 607 249 15 142 92 64 9 19 36
50922 734 361 23 230 108 945 65 828 52
50923 2885 1267 60 795 412 476 59 2 415
50924 1400 571 22 412 137 66 34 6 26
50925 1919 840 127 553 160 472 27 191 254
50926 1293 504 32 306 166 1095 198 76 821
50927 798 326 20 197 109 287 8 0 279
50928 3073 1267 94 762 411 785 57 207 521
50929 3 1 0 1 0 856 110 423 323
50930 2 1 0 1 0 2612 466 8 2138
50931 543 241 23 165 53 1119 530 16 573
50932 2180 940 87 645 208 2417 67 631 1719
50933 244 108 9 75 24 315 67 116 132
50934 1601 684 59 457 168 373 159 53 161
50935 688 293 17 167 109 74 9 0 65
51001 524 231 13 120 98 267 13 10 244
51002 1266 516 3 255 258 256 0 0 256
51003 1901 813 13 465 335 81 12 4 65
51004 771 327 19 165 143 317 1 0 316
51005 1514 575 0 306 269 484 7 26 451
51006 1428 592 16 327 249 262 13 8 241
51007 1388 631 71 484 76 688 50 392 246
51008 459 209 24 160 25 1125 27 798 300
51009 2054 859 33 468 358 121 13 21 87
51010 686 278 19 144 115 24 0 1 23
51011 1306 539 20 259 260 234 16 0 218
51012 2522 1014 38 591 385 351 22 11 318
51013 2117 862 37 544 281 605 6 7 592
51014 3020 1249 42 864 343 924 115 411 398
51015 1215 505 14 333 158 285 24 78 183
51016 1994 861 48 603 210 553 98 21 434
51017 1918 808 81 512 215 824 51 479 294
51018 2809 1152 93 762 297 639 101 144 394
51019 2230 999 123 594 282 384 60 1 323
51020 17 17 2 9 6 1272 18 925 329
51021 1327 573 74 403 96 44 12 10 22
51022 1690 731 32 479 220 433 26 143 264
51023 2932 1253 48 826 379 351 30 209 112
51024 3088 1296 93 921 282 757 45 277 435
51025 2511 1038 33 700 305 297 22 91 184
51026 1998 775 17 408 350 985 64 6 915
51027 316 127 5 68 54 383 12 280 91
51028 2864 1193 54 710 429 130 63 14 53

Agenda Item 5B     Page 258Packet Page     346



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

51029 4113 1704 103 1107 494 748 13 378 357
51030 1707 698 19 438 241 517 23 219 275
51031 1852 698 6 420 272 205 78 27 100
51032 2120 803 20 485 298 205 35 27 143
51033 408 159 2 84 73 1698 57 110 1531
51034 436 171 3 90 78 1233 173 558 502
51101 812 327 13 179 135 211 24 26 161
51102 648 310 17 170 123 3374 635 472 2267
51103 380 380 52 200 128 5757 786 754 4217
51104 45 45 6 24 15 3926 100 182 3644
51105 0 0 0 0 0 2298 504 288 1506
51106 53 53 7 28 18 4707 1416 392 2899
51107 81 81 11 43 27 3939 226 216 3497
51108 86 86 12 45 29 4173 251 203 3719
51109 965 411 12 239 160 1042 271 42 729
51110 918 351 7 227 117 616 15 415 186
51111 828 336 17 184 135 16 7 2 7
51112 1518 619 12 352 255 183 15 8 160
51113 1404 599 49 413 137 973 240 50 683
51114 35 35 5 18 12 1079 75 5 999
51115 0 0 0 0 0 3393 161 357 2875
51116 15 15 2 8 5 591 34 271 286
51117 1767 941 0 941 0 2671 356 613 1702
51118 30 30 4 16 10 672 4 377 291
51119 240 103 8 71 24 461 13 243 205
51120 1929 836 35 512 289 796 78 0 718
51121 1072 461 19 316 126 2581 169 134 2278
51122 0 0 0 0 0 1841 541 191 1109
51123 0 0 0 0 0 969 62 54 853
51124 0 0 0 0 0 2944 1128 239 1577
51125 2476 1002 37 647 318 217 50 60 107
51126 1860 779 39 507 233 124 6 4 114
51127 2850 1282 72 826 384 353 244 12 97
51128 988 399 11 230 158 41 1 9 31
51129 1432 573 12 313 248 111 27 1 83
51130 1125 474 22 317 135 222 57 21 144
51131 3433 1417 47 829 541 326 73 23 230
51132 0 0 0 0 0 899 29 0 870
51133 79 28 0 5 23 2817 70 268 2479
51134 0 0 0 0 0 1919 8 6 1905
51135 0 0 0 0 0 2641 552 205 1884
51136 0 0 0 0 0 2059 272 254 1533
51137 0 0 0 0 0 678 0 588 90
51138 2147 866 24 488 354 596 17 256 323
51139 1516 626 62 384 180 323 21 206 96
51140 1451 573 41 336 196 660 47 257 356
51201 130 63 9 33 21 2326 209 31 2086
51202 161 82 11 43 28 2336 131 414 1791
51203 176 90 12 48 30 2989 330 96 2563
51204 559 258 9 153 96 910 38 240 632
51205 2472 1047 32 629 386 234 17 15 202
51206 642 300 9 180 111 2366 62 23 2281
51207 434 202 28 106 68 351 12 134 205
51208 262 122 17 64 41 3327 479 253 2595
51209 489 229 31 121 77 1395 128 4 1263

Agenda Item 5B     Page 259Packet Page     347



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

51210 271 131 18 69 44 4277 256 101 3920
51211 21 10 1 6 3 997 105 120 772
51212 580 272 30 179 63 2694 41 157 2496
51213 1550 724 16 448 260 187 92 29 66
51214 4899 1895 105 1191 599 328 48 7 273
51215 671 273 25 196 52 528 41 380 107
51216 754 353 40 233 80 323 1 21 301
51217 612 286 32 188 66 149 2 24 123
51218 506 506 69 267 170 637 13 57 567
51219 71 38 0 38 0 2183 151 823 1209
51220 5 2 0 1 1 1061 12 802 247
51221 5 2 0 1 1 2493 323 813 1357
51222 245 87 12 46 29 799 270 125 404
51223 16 6 1 3 2 932 104 135 693
51224 19 7 0 4 3 789 150 86 553
51301 1238 587 21 358 208 420 27 45 348
51302 1885 911 125 480 306 758 0 527 231
51303 1227 506 20 310 176 266 0 0 266
51304 1820 703 27 427 249 1471 9 290 1172
51305 1906 743 7 398 338 123 45 16 62
51306 3046 1089 26 602 461 184 70 16 98
51307 321 114 16 60 38 13 0 2 11
51308 1035 368 13 196 159 290 64 47 179
51309 1181 416 16 230 170 735 24 47 664
51310 168 58 0 9 49 2239 816 253 1170
51311 2700 987 2 553 432 158 13 6 139
51312 1876 716 0 404 312 2383 993 396 994
51313 191 73 10 38 25 4875 1392 489 2994
51314 57 20 3 10 7 1078 0 8 1070
51315 147 52 0 8 44 6594 1850 478 4266
51316 266 94 13 49 32 1723 931 71 721
51317 1283 445 61 234 150 1645 976 31 638
51318 496 175 24 92 59 1316 736 181 399
51319 1495 528 72 279 177 3493 263 86 3144
51320 1658 585 0 94 491 2095 1143 240 712
51321 86 33 5 17 11 11340 3246 990 7104
51322 36 14 2 7 5 3304 121 308 2875
51323 49 17 2 9 6 4798 2057 386 2355
51324 176 62 8 33 21 935 818 5 112
51325 2581 946 0 151 795 104 30 14 60
51326 435 156 21 83 52 24 9 2 13
51401 1096 520 21 335 164 1356 96 247 1013
51402 5590 2589 191 1753 645 418 59 68 291
51403 1201 420 7 217 196 126 25 24 77
51404 2216 718 16 396 306 620 8 188 424
51405 2107 796 92 492 212 651 25 149 477
51406 3323 1178 5 630 543 1258 60 946 252
51407 6992 2298 42 1404 852 327 162 43 122
51408 3869 1299 3 731 565 224 31 1 192
51409 1044 355 9 197 149 27 4 19 4
51410 593 199 0 125 74 28 5 0 23
51411 1115 380 15 203 162 170 33 0 137
51412 1292 463 12 248 203 1440 15 873 552
51413 1010 375 0 207 168 111 5 19 87
51414 1191 411 0 238 173 677 372 95 210

Agenda Item 5B     Page 260Packet Page     348



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

51415 1786 609 14 334 261 274 48 40 186
51416 2475 845 17 466 362 150 26 26 98
51417 1165 394 18 211 165 115 36 0 79
51418 2937 987 26 548 413 206 33 1 172
51419 749 255 0 129 126 34 22 5 7
51420 4954 1707 0 858 849 553 233 153 167
51421 4250 1448 198 763 487 117 32 22 63
51422 4993 1711 0 993 718 153 40 48 65
51423 5704 1956 0 861 1095 137 7 4 126
51424 1384 473 65 249 159 32 8 9 15
51425 1259 431 59 227 145 230 0 224 6
51426 8723 2976 82 1478 1416 928 111 284 533
51427 5943 2028 52 1029 947 640 5 0 635
51428 977 335 8 184 143 87 52 12 23
51429 592 213 0 153 60 25 7 5 13
51430 4434 1563 0 863 700 197 6 149 42
51431 2532 892 0 497 395 15 10 5 0
51432 715 246 0 91 155 251 64 59 128
51433 4913 1732 0 762 970 690 17 108 565
51434 287 98 0 54 44 2 1 0 1
51435 3669 1293 0 721 572 169 43 79 47
51501 997 427 14 301 112 38 1 15 22
51502 3419 1279 82 955 242 488 15 0 473
51503 1618 587 29 423 135 557 55 314 188
51504 6377 2281 128 1798 355 510 29 247 234
51505 37 14 2 7 5 0 0 0 0
51506 1771 671 13 488 170 46 19 9 18
51507 974 360 8 226 126 51 1 19 31
51508 2628 998 28 661 309 48 17 1 30
51509 1362 520 18 354 148 16 4 0 12
51510 3556 1306 53 783 470 36 21 11 4
51511 6609 2323 59 1440 824 245 0 76 169
51512 290 102 5 60 37 315 0 0 315
51513 5710 1974 45 1235 694 518 44 2 472
51514 6478 2195 0 1494 701 307 32 118 157
51515 6197 2116 51 1357 708 550 72 184 294
51516 4063 1407 17 810 580 886 57 437 392
51517 983 343 11 207 125 184 6 23 155
60101 4823 1877 172 1324 381 1729 841 305 583
60102 8171 3200 327 2218 655 1241 572 229 440
60103 6821 2656 242 1611 803 3278 985 654 1639
60104 36 13 2 7 4 444 344 14 86
60105 296 109 12 66 31 140 134 0 6
60106 70 26 3 16 7 0 0 0 0
60107 1232 483 55 306 122 9 9 0 0
60108 455 179 0 104 75 369 193 79 97
60109 4281 1676 32 1057 587 351 54 161 136
60110 887 366 25 191 150 14 9 0 5
60111 1740 712 46 366 300 155 28 0 127
60112 25 10 0 6 4 169 46 37 86
60113 116 43 4 26 13 15 10 0 5
60114 986 386 44 233 109 62 33 1 28
60115 735 270 50 117 103 24 18 1 5
60116 272 108 19 48 41 43 2 0 41
60117 224 92 16 41 35 2 0 0 2

Agenda Item 5B     Page 261Packet Page     349



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

60118 1831 751 214 375 162 190 96 73 21
60201 1327 512 0 360 152 2604 1816 542 246
60202 3881 1708 0 1389 319 76 19 0 57
60203 767 339 16 262 61 1933 98 23 1812
60204 3 1 0 0 1 745 0 630 115
60205 3695 1329 38 752 539 354 56 0 298
60206 3478 1287 14 690 583 363 40 182 141
60207 5271 1804 12 1095 697 302 20 6 276
60208 8 3 0 2 1 2244 16 556 1672
60209 6 2 0 2 0 2521 813 66 1642
60210 7195 2625 0 2074 551 1200 327 73 800
60211 2781 1013 0 729 284 411 120 152 139
60212 71 26 0 19 7 2820 1973 250 597
60213 1637 581 8 349 224 172 43 101 28
60214 3311 1221 26 740 455 368 82 0 286
60215 1843 704 15 466 223 60 31 5 24
60216 3507 1245 40 724 481 196 50 0 146
60217 1499 517 6 287 224 137 12 0 125
60218 8256 3008 40 1817 1151 785 96 235 454
60219 3332 1243 170 655 418 2372 7 1457 908
60220 5976 2178 67 1277 834 252 54 14 184
60221 6042 2111 21 1219 871 423 95 1 327
60222 7121 2566 116 1635 815 676 31 173 472
60223 1411 515 26 320 169 56 41 2 13
60224 910 323 15 206 102 115 64 0 51
60225 29 11 0 2 9 377 182 38 157
60226 171 63 0 42 21 975 689 74 212
60227 280 97 0 56 41 38 9 6 23
60228 507 182 16 107 59 0 0 0 0
60229 1023 365 14 235 116 439 149 25 265
60230 27 10 0 7 3 0 0 0 0
60231 1136 409 21 247 141 88 15 16 57
60232 593 219 9 141 69 592 443 46 103
60233 437 160 18 102 40 178 172 1 5
60301 3140 1241 101 824 316 349 3 250 96
60302 240 98 7 62 29 857 37 336 484
60303 4395 1697 81 1189 427 1134 35 793 306
60304 4211 1713 79 996 638 1042 70 348 624
60305 2897 1077 45 581 451 416 26 50 340
60306 3865 1489 44 861 584 462 28 8 426
60307 2756 1038 19 568 451 164 15 74 75
60308 3650 1339 16 723 600 277 98 5 174
60309 8525 3294 74 2100 1120 1440 76 842 522
60310 1931 705 0 451 254 13 6 1 6
60311 1575 566 6 301 259 288 20 18 250
60401 0 0 0 0 0 1664 59 1375 230
60402 289 111 15 59 37 6136 0 5124 1012
60403 779 296 9 169 118 1502 55 588 859
60404 189 76 3 53 20 3323 141 2552 630
60405 2718 1051 42 716 293 1026 262 304 460
60406 4753 1780 49 1069 662 634 154 17 463
60407 2794 1059 33 597 429 730 53 392 285
60408 5908 2142 136 1106 900 7422 642 529 6251
60409 4226 1597 0 792 805 9085 2176 1720 5189
60410 3472 1300 41 717 542 156 51 3 102

Agenda Item 5B     Page 262Packet Page     350



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

60411 1950 720 18 411 291 143 29 2 112
60412 1153 423 11 226 186 428 361 67 0
60413 1457 525 12 303 210 21 16 0 5
60414 2848 1027 20 598 409 94 32 14 48
60415 5039 1812 22 1064 726 249 42 2 205
60416 4403 1654 0 837 817 458 30 1 427
60417 4189 1518 0 782 736 226 70 78 78
60418 2671 977 0 504 473 615 104 352 159
60419 558 221 0 112 109 6 1 0 5
60501 73 26 4 13 9 1550 522 28 1000
60502 320 116 16 61 39 3899 1024 59 2816
60503 2645 949 130 500 319 2992 2547 105 340
60504 251 90 12 48 30 3875 115 15 3745
60505 148 53 7 28 18 1628 1549 0 79
60506 181 66 0 49 17 1794 789 26 979
60507 164 59 4 39 16 992 138 580 274
60508 3861 1413 53 1000 360 51 19 0 32
60509 945 340 20 230 90 534 171 26 337
60510 741 265 9 187 69 17 10 0 7
60511 3514 1245 41 874 330 307 102 32 173
60512 1087 404 27 326 51 755 40 443 272
60513 846 311 0 154 157 868 363 172 333
60514 3211 1124 154 593 377 500 11 327 162
60515 5088 1781 84 1081 616 1805 115 237 1453
60516 1271 458 27 293 138 1116 421 30 665
60517 2247 801 183 484 134 5328 109 123 5096
60518 106 36 5 19 12 621 1 11 609
60519 909 324 66 201 57 3246 253 20 2973
60520 249 85 12 44 29 3689 351 0 3338
60521 478 172 24 90 58 6438 3950 40 2448
60522 789 280 0 280 0 1479 309 177 993
60523 135 48 7 25 16 990 435 75 480
60524 3780 1411 0 226 1185 17798 4686 3889 9223
60525 3481 1241 0 198 1043 357 47 123 187
60526 6588 2340 0 1357 983 65 7 46 12
60527 4339 1482 29 779 674 665 218 172 275
60528 4575 1590 81 949 560 45 13 12 20
60529 7980 2870 66 1677 1127 377 64 44 269
60530 6738 2394 0 383 2011 560 156 98 306
60531 1722 634 0 368 266 5101 1524 566 3011
60532 9016 3363 0 1480 1883 330 97 42 191
60533 5982 2125 0 1233 892 225 35 99 91
60534 2971 1055 0 760 295 200 16 69 115
60535 2677 983 23 602 358 47 13 19 15
60536 6320 2218 112 1319 787 498 55 133 310
60537 376 134 0 96 38 234 30 5 199
60538 1435 510 70 269 171 404 3 0 401
60539 4406 1635 224 862 549 27 6 10 11
60540 2003 745 0 120 625 11 7 0 4
60541 4679 1737 0 278 1459 28 10 0 18
60542 186 69 0 11 58 0 0 0 0
60543 72 27 4 14 9 0 0 0 0
60544 309 115 0 67 48 48 15 7 26
60545 2272 846 0 458 388 66 17 22 27
60546 4475 1662 0 1064 598 32 2 19 11

Agenda Item 5B     Page 263Packet Page     351



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

60547 10386 3799 271 2132 1396 455 0 59 396
60548 3882 1497 190 888 419 92 33 10 49
60549 4549 1693 0 903 790 117 4 67 46
60550 211 79 0 43 36 11 3 0 8
60551 1112 452 16 285 151 151 34 3 114
60552 2604 1040 44 649 347 784 28 524 232
60553 6406 2429 154 1368 907 152 32 100 20
60554 629 224 12 129 83 54 18 10 26
60555 114 41 0 24 17 0 0 0 0
60601 1403 523 24 253 246 1803 304 443 1056
60602 2012 729 100 384 245 17 0 1 16
60603 1103 388 53 205 130 0 0 0 0
60604 2617 921 40 450 431 72 52 16 4
60605 3397 1231 107 769 355 56 39 0 17
60606 1710 634 54 399 181 173 44 91 38
60607 1940 739 66 399 274 55 22 0 33
60608 1014 387 19 184 184 1590 291 314 985
60609 613 222 17 155 50 346 99 29 218
60610 4875 1770 78 1241 451 442 20 149 273
60611 1724 663 81 473 109 887 132 307 448
60612 958 349 0 276 73 2516 798 1071 647
60613 1624 592 81 312 199 1099 131 318 650
60614 3881 1446 95 806 545 263 105 36 122
60615 611 221 19 120 82 9 5 0 4
60616 4471 1615 28 1086 501 296 29 1 266
60617 2844 1036 14 629 393 86 58 0 28
60618 3005 1118 45 637 436 396 89 12 295
60619 1640 605 124 409 72 587 65 219 303
60620 410 150 0 150 0 975 113 517 345
60621 579 206 28 109 69 526 0 488 38
60622 716 250 7 166 77 170 3 129 38
60623 1822 666 0 371 295 816 125 358 333
60624 3767 1379 29 818 532 201 43 0 158
60625 1983 712 0 413 299 3 1 0 2
60626 6138 2226 37 1362 827 183 65 11 107
60627 2277 820 49 449 322 53 38 0 15
60628 627 225 13 122 90 11 5 0 6
60629 976 351 0 197 154 22 5 0 17
60630 1075 390 0 221 169 21 15 3 3
60631 1292 471 0 258 213 185 79 76 30
60632 5171 1844 142 1240 462 259 70 82 107
60633 464 170 0 84 86 28 6 7 15
60634 2466 885 11 507 367 243 69 1 173
60635 2896 1041 5 578 458 177 41 73 63
60636 350 126 4 91 31 108 4 0 104
60637 2418 869 40 420 409 565 115 14 436
60638 1609 578 9 320 249 159 25 12 122
60639 1847 667 0 387 280 83 30 8 45
60640 316 116 0 67 49 52 17 8 27
60641 83 30 0 18 12 683 588 56 39
60642 2885 1074 17 674 383 441 252 59 130
60643 538 194 9 94 91 23 15 0 8
60644 864 322 15 229 78 47 15 0 32
60701 2138 789 0 503 286 129 116 1 12
60702 5005 1804 11 1113 680 151 73 6 72

Agenda Item 5B     Page 264Packet Page     352



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

60703 1736 648 0 331 317 306 3 97 206
60704 5252 2068 126 1623 319 1900 111 1624 165
60705 46 17 0 10 7 119 59 8 52
60706 131 45 6 24 15 455 150 5 300
60707 603 207 3 121 83 241 55 65 121
60708 2173 744 9 449 286 144 36 11 97
60709 1832 628 9 375 244 55 33 2 20
60710 3365 1158 0 672 486 33 5 0 28
60711 1597 548 8 310 230 228 28 156 44
60712 2510 858 117 453 288 0 0 0 0
60713 3522 1203 165 634 404 0 0 0 0
60714 1581 536 73 283 180 10 0 0 10
60715 3085 1057 145 557 355 0 0 0 0
60716 4332 1487 0 821 666 408 84 233 91
60717 149 51 0 37 14 1051 737 137 177
60718 159 64 9 33 22 1461 288 262 911
60719 225 90 0 14 76 995 14 875 106
60720 2647 1057 0 169 888 32 9 8 15
60721 4053 1747 67 1125 555 42 9 0 33
60722 84 34 0 20 14 544 143 92 309
60723 1133 388 5 218 165 320 44 5 271
60724 578 212 29 112 71 69 3 66 0
60725 1867 746 31 474 241 197 21 107 69
60726 1826 760 116 500 144 651 42 23 586
60727 282 117 31 75 11 950 6 93 851
60728 190 74 3 43 28 275 67 148 60
60729 1574 577 41 293 243 1070 822 67 181
60730 1111 410 16 230 164 80 57 7 16
60731 508 187 8 107 72 39 26 1 12
60732 952 360 17 204 139 76 29 7 40
60733 1784 744 57 395 292 384 295 65 24
60734 759 314 0 155 159 1104 307 192 605
60735 100 42 3 23 16 733 2 354 377
60736 3161 1253 0 785 468 177 24 124 29
60737 33 14 0 10 4 1128 60 761 307
60738 282 119 36 72 11 1141 169 385 587
60739 247 99 31 59 9 640 27 102 511
60740 446 180 55 109 16 162 30 2 130
60741 1281 533 0 382 151 156 12 26 118
60742 1586 626 62 430 134 50 30 0 20
60743 2105 780 17 534 229 133 61 53 19
60744 3888 1388 12 885 491 92 27 0 65
60745 639 233 0 139 94 83 3 19 61
60746 3798 1374 111 805 458 280 146 27 107
60747 99 36 3 20 13 8 8 0 0
60748 845 327 0 201 126 53 6 0 47
60749 4435 1519 11 953 555 75 26 8 41
60750 1720 674 9 454 211 119 22 0 97
60751 2042 800 28 558 214 35 28 0 7
60752 1863 788 81 542 165 59 2 1 56
60753 1014 428 132 258 38 276 148 47 81
60754 909 384 14 266 104 1036 26 229 781
60755 1760 783 31 543 209 120 32 1 87
60756 1370 610 27 425 158 35 5 0 30
60757 1293 577 21 389 167 28 23 1 4

Agenda Item 5B     Page 265Packet Page     353



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

60758 69 27 0 18 9 0 0 0 0
60759 307 119 0 75 44 0 0 0 0
60760 458 177 0 111 66 5 5 0 0
60761 72 26 2 15 9 1 0 0 1
60762 239 92 7 54 31 7 0 0 7
60763 58 24 2 13 9 5 2 1 2
60764 323 125 6 77 42 39 6 2 31
60765 348 135 0 83 52 207 33 1 173
60766 1249 483 0 309 174 1 0 0 1
60767 7893 3516 0 2532 984 57 12 20 25
60768 1817 810 0 504 306 250 108 34 108
60769 3756 1587 151 769 667 3389 2764 581 44
60770 623 249 9 142 98 57 51 0 6
60771 335 133 8 81 44 39 0 29 10
60772 173 69 5 42 22 8 4 0 4
60773 245 102 6 62 34 1 1 0 0
60774 3643 1453 91 882 480 185 70 11 104
60775 149 63 4 36 23 2 2 0 0
60776 2283 957 68 512 377 258 1 48 209
60777 216 91 0 56 35 1 0 0 1
60778 101 45 0 29 16 0 0 0 0
60779 160 67 0 39 28 0 0 0 0
60780 254 105 7 62 36 0 0 0 0
60781 857 351 0 233 118 0 0 0 0
60782 122 47 4 27 16 23 0 0 23
60783 225 86 7 50 29 12 6 0 6
60784 95 39 3 23 13 6 2 0 4
60785 795 329 12 206 111 21 17 0 4
60786 645 263 10 165 88 19 14 1 4
60787 132 55 4 31 20 356 99 81 176
60788 90 38 5 21 12 0 0 0 0
60789 1043 439 26 261 152 129 20 8 101
60790 1935 815 48 487 280 335 183 63 89
60791 532 213 13 127 73 165 24 44 97
60792 544 218 13 131 74 212 78 0 134
60793 662 264 17 156 91 22 20 0 2
70101 5054 2339 278 1631 430 806 261 133 412
70102 2271 1060 134 728 198 72 1 17 54
70103 96 45 6 31 8 26 0 6 20
70104 67 31 4 21 6 3493 44 811 2638
70105 1938 905 114 622 169 1450 18 337 1095
70201 1761 829 132 569 128 14 1 9 4
70202 1585 745 118 512 115 261 24 165 72
70203 3112 1439 92 939 408 811 165 135 511
70204 3744 1638 112 1044 482 693 118 94 481
70205 1353 641 56 430 155 182 10 13 159
70206 944 447 71 318 58 195 37 45 113
70207 973 456 72 327 57 826 696 81 49
70208 1065 505 80 359 66 948 181 219 548
70209 1377 648 103 445 100 527 48 333 146
70210 940 442 70 304 68 14 1 9 4
70301 371 158 0 114 44 374 112 40 222
70302 807 359 0 57 302 1162 226 170 766
70303 244 108 5 62 41 1204 463 189 552
70304 876 365 14 216 135 2148 0 12 2136

Agenda Item 5B     Page 266Packet Page     354



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

70305 1244 517 26 293 198 2858 7 1091 1760
70306 1184 491 67 259 165 4394 51 3107 1236
70307 2 2 0 1 1 15 0 2 13
70308 924 363 46 249 68 2526 717 397 1412
70309 6 2 0 1 1 0 0 0 0
70310 1761 626 0 626 0 3914 0 533 3381
70311 280 280 38 148 94 1995 0 1123 872
70312 53 53 7 28 18 1774 71 82 1621
70313 63 63 9 33 21 2008 615 480 913
70314 0 0 0 0 0 9414 1186 408 7820
70315 82 82 11 44 27 1875 33 169 1673
70316 1237 565 0 90 475 2155 1073 148 934
70317 3712 1582 0 1582 0 6333 1791 1140 3402
70401 1863 728 60 510 158 564 254 87 223
70402 74 29 2 22 5 1026 832 5 189
70403 904 353 32 250 71 2697 2208 211 278
70404 0 0 0 0 0 2429 1881 153 395
70405 586 229 3 123 103 65 12 5 48
70406 1831 715 31 480 204 174 78 7 89
70407 1090 439 19 293 127 339 7 226 106
70408 1343 548 60 390 98 492 38 31 423
70409 1013 419 33 273 113 190 9 12 169
70410 2049 813 117 605 91 614 109 246 259
70411 1575 625 61 453 111 341 12 62 267
70412 693 280 0 247 33 1420 1199 155 66
70413 403 150 0 126 24 1873 911 226 736
70414 1311 521 8 278 235 108 60 0 48
70415 663 256 0 148 108 85 17 14 54
70416 1182 473 18 257 198 398 74 61 263
70417 2137 834 25 539 270 137 11 8 118
70418 72 29 4 18 7 2 1 0 1
70419 1994 779 188 476 115 227 4 9 214
70420 1199 470 13 303 154 95 29 10 56
70421 504 198 9 120 69 1382 104 315 963
70422 946 368 8 245 115 788 25 609 154
70423 1593 574 12 405 157 260 9 178 73
70501 35 35 5 18 12 4 1 1 2
70502 1350 517 71 272 174 61 17 8 36
70503 161 59 0 9 50 48 10 7 31
70504 48 17 2 9 6 7 0 1 6
70505 363 132 3 73 56 107 62 19 26
70506 600 218 6 126 86 101 12 18 71
70507 3919 1491 56 940 495 218 74 2 142
70508 2722 991 136 522 333 29 4 0 25
70509 2285 832 0 483 349 83 10 4 69
70510 1563 571 0 92 479 446 263 84 99
70511 1401 537 31 314 192 187 22 0 165
70512 2651 951 55 627 269 78 21 15 42
70513 1279 461 16 342 103 348 4 0 344
70514 2571 973 58 700 215 116 7 24 85
70515 1812 715 25 453 237 468 110 206 152
70516 3145 1261 44 797 420 264 18 78 168
70517 719 289 13 181 95 170 8 31 131
70518 1829 702 29 440 233 38 12 5 21
70601 4303 1570 215 828 527 49 14 7 28

Agenda Item 5B     Page 267Packet Page     355



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

70602 1005 357 49 188 120 114 32 17 65
70603 5700 2065 0 1198 867 164 49 20 95
70604 647 238 33 125 80 132 0 13 119
70605 6474 2346 0 1164 1182 2561 0 393 2168
70606 42 15 0 2 13 24 7 3 14
70607 56 20 3 10 7 4 1 0 3
70608 50 18 0 3 15 216 49 43 124
70609 75 27 0 17 10 704 177 112 415
70610 33 12 0 9 3 327 133 39 155
70611 2213 786 0 456 330 4743 1668 600 2475
70612 1898 699 0 406 293 3315 1136 474 1705
70613 533 194 27 102 65 237 64 35 138
70614 4895 1783 0 285 1498 687 299 89 299
70615 1114 406 0 65 341 4758 1402 786 2570
70616 611 217 0 217 0 2791 768 378 1645
70617 3376 1199 342 605 252 1208 0 166 1042
70618 5019 1783 0 1783 0 443 124 70 249
70619 513 187 0 30 157 902 246 163 493
70620 1078 393 32 219 142 330 86 64 180
70621 505 184 35 72 77 695 214 139 342
70622 715 715 98 377 240 1103 289 199 615
70623 8 3 1 1 1 664 286 127 251
70624 199 72 0 52 20 92 18 18 56
70625 0 0 0 0 0 496 149 99 248
70626 10 4 0 4 0 236 76 40 120
70627 3 1 0 1 0 680 181 136 363
70628 17 6 0 3 3 381 99 64 218
80201 3343 1165 65 765 335 531 147 76 308
80201 13591 4843 565 3241 1037 7105 1910 2727 2468
80201 4410 1811 103 1156 552 3203 1924 590 689
80202 4435 1441 73 925 443 2257 1478 170 609
80202 773 305 50 218 37 103 39 21 43
80202 836 307 42 162 103 86 19 18 49
80203 2467 939 100 666 173 317 72 66 179
80203 3167 1183 119 830 234 206 55 37 114
80203 892 502 33 335 134 156 37 31 88
80203 698 286 33 181 72 96 22 20 54
80203 3916 1789 194 1166 429 444 101 90 253
80203 1571 575 55 414 106 687 308 47 332
80204 3335 1144 137 805 202 1775 851 220 704
80205 4703 1764 156 1229 379 2190 1060 343 787
80206 5391 2100 184 1482 434 1722 763 254 705
80207 1844 706 57 465 184 596 197 123 276
80208 1788 953 0 953 0 735 158 181 396
80209 12191 4487 408 3159 920 1041 266 196 579
80210 908 370 23 221 126 154 53 24 77
80211 2521 988 87 639 262 745 234 53 458
80212 1356 536 38 319 179 310 122 37 151
80213 810 324 44 171 109 459 222 23 214
80214 734 288 39 152 97 83 25 17 41
80215 777 337 28 192 117 115 36 17 62
80216 952 303 35 166 102 94 23 18 53
80217 762 381 29 224 128 738 168 150 420
80218 1907 742 102 391 249 117 26 24 67
80219 718 291 30 172 89 103 23 21 59

Agenda Item 5B     Page 268Packet Page     356



2035 Population

TAZ
Total 

Population
Total 

Households
Low Income 
Households

Mid-Income 
Households

High Income 
Households

Total 
Employment

ProDist 
Employment

Retail 
Employment

Service 
Employment

Households Employment

80219 502 268 0 268 0 581 171 99 311
80219 1472 495 94 332 69 1522 394 327 801
80219 2240 863 123 559 181 427 118 71 238
80220 1731 692 79 439 174 268 91 48 129
80221 2909 1077 73 646 358 510 222 35 253
80222 712 380 0 221 159 139 54 21 64
80223 654 279 38 147 94 140 42 22 76
80224 1612 715 0 475 240 124 30 24 70
80225 1037 368 0 213 155 149 43 23 83
80226 1162 352 35 189 128 143 41 21 81
80227 1314 479 50 264 165 197 65 26 106
80228 1008 412 34 236 142 123 34 22 67
80229 1520 586 95 386 105 476 98 80 298
80230 3771 1450 207 939 304 777 165 126 486
80231 7422 2873 470 1820 583 771 206 129 436
80232 9138 3257 328 2022 907 1367 419 164 784
80232 1956 694 110 482 102 253 81 42 130
80232 2798 1208 160 857 191 4889 1462 1864 1563
80233 2598 820 144 500 176 832 553 50 229
80234 2465 766 61 502 203 938 500 45 393
80235 854 297 23 208 66 260 158 10 92
80236 2430 870 73 570 227 2386 1107 106 1173
80237 10777 3537 575 2443 519 2507 1118 175 1214
80238 6407 2177 162 1506 509 1147 628 111 408
80239 4817 1696 237 1196 263 1132 444 159 529
80240 571 187 22 131 34 184 69 46 69
80241 5719 1947 234 1363 350 1830 686 458 686
80242 5887 1987 238 1391 358 1883 706 471 706
80243 9377 3182 382 2227 573 3000 1125 750 1125
80244 13417 4530 544 3171 815 4293 1610 1073 1610
80244 6640 2161 259 1513 389 2125 797 531 797
80245 12510 4068 488 2848 732 4003 1501 1001 1501
80245 2812 916 110 641 165 899 337 225 337
80245 3849 1316 158 921 237 1232 462 308 462
80246 1455 507 28 333 146 231 64 33 134
80247 7723 2689 149 1767 773 1228 340 176 712
80248 522 186 22 124 40 273 73 105 95
80249 377 135 16 90 29 198 53 76 69
80250 1268 452 53 302 97 663 178 255 230
80250 153 54 6 36 12 80 21 31 28
80251 530 188 22 126 40 276 74 106 96
80252 445 164 15 115 34 38 10 7 21
80253 2801 1031 94 726 211 239 61 45 133
80254 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
80255 4464 1590 160 987 443 667 204 80 383
80304 7183 2560 258 1589 713 1074 329 129 616
80305 720 277 39 180 58 138 38 23 77
80306 560 216 31 140 45 108 30 18 60
80307 204 79 13 50 16 22 6 4 12
80308 1920 669 52 468 149 583 355 21 207
80309 505 170 31 119 20 136 51 34 51
80310 998 334 60 234 40 269 101 67 101
80311 7419 2600 447 1780 373 1943 551 295 1097
80312 640 216 39 151 26 173 65 43 65

Agenda Item 5B     Page 269Packet Page     357



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 270Packet Page     358



 

                   
 
 
TO:  Members of Council 
FROM: Dianne Marshall, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE: April 16, 2014 
SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 
 

1. Call Ups 
A. Vacation of a 2,838 square foot portion of a twenty-foot utility easement bisecting the 

property at 825 Circle Drive (ADR2014-00041). 
B. Landmark Alteration Certificate to build a fence in the front yard at 1116 Maxwell 

Avenue per Section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-00049).  
This Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call up no later than 
April 16, 2014. 

C. 1215 Cedar Avenue (Washington Village) ( (LUR2014-00003); Request to amend the 
existing Site and Use Review approvals of the Washington Village project, to permit 
the addition of three dwelling units, roughly 5,000 square feet of floor area (77% 
below grade), changes to the Use Review in light of a 300 square foot reduction of 
commercial floor area and an 11% parking reduction. 

D. Use Review application, no. LUR2013-00065, for approval of an 11-space parking lot 
as a second principal use in addition to a proposed 3-unit residential townhome 
development at 2360 Grove Street in the RH-2 zone district (see LUR2013-00051 for 
associated Site Review). 

E. Use Review application, no. LUR2012-00101, for expansion of the Family Learning 
Center located at 3164 34th Street in the Residential Medium-One (RM-1) zone 
district.  The proposal includes a new 2,427 square foot classroom addition as well as 
site, landscaping and parking lot improvements. 

F. Expansion to the Mapleton Hill, Whittier and East Ridge Neighborhood Parking 
Permit Zones. 
 

2. Information Items 
A. Update on Envision East Arapahoe – East Arapahoe Plan and Sustainable Streets & 

Centers 
B. 2014 Emerald Ash Borer Work Plan 

 
3. Boards and Commissions 

None. 
 

  

Packet Page     359



4. Declarations 
A. Arbor Day Declaration – April 18, 2014 
B. National Kids to Parks Day Declaration – May 17, 2014 
C. Sakura Day Declaration – May 10, 2014 
D. 2014 Sister City Volunteer of the Year “Kate Hennessey”  

 

Packet Page     360



 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
 Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
 Sloane Walbert, Planner I 
 
Date:   April 7, 2014 
 
Subject: Call-Up Item:  Vacation of a 2,838 square foot portion of a twenty-foot utility 

easement bisecting the property at 825 Circle Drive (ADR2014-00041). 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The applicant requests vacation of a 2,838 square foot portion of an existing twenty-foot utility 
easement at 825 Circle Drive (refer to Attachment D for exact location) in order to construct a 
new single-family home to replace the existing structure. The easement was originally dedicated 
on the Flatirons Park Subdivision plat, recorded March 14, 1951. There is no public need for the 
portion of easement because the overhead power lines previously located in the easement have 
been under-grounded and a private easement has been granted for the relocated power lines.  
 
The proposed vacation was approved by staff on March 24, 2014. There is one scheduled City 
Council meeting on April 16, 2014 within the 30 day call-up period. 
 
CODE REQUIREMENTS:  
Pursuant to the procedures for easement vacations set forth in subsection 8-6-10(b), B.R.C. 1981, 
the city manager has approved the vacation of a 2,838 square foot portion of the existing utility 
easement. The date of final staff approval of the easement vacation was March 24, 2014 (refer to 
Attachment E, Notice of Disposition). This vacation does not require approval through ordinance 
based on the following criteria:  
 

 It has never been open to the public; and 
 It has never carried regular vehicular or pedestrian traffic.  

 
The vacation will be effective 30 days later on April 23, 2014 unless the approval is called up by 
City Council.  
 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 1Packet Page     361



FISCAL IMPACTS: 
None identified. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS:  
 Economic: No economic impact is anticipated. 

 
 Environmental: No impacts are anticipated through this utility easement vacation.  
 
 Social: None identified.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The subject property is a 45,420 square foot lot located in a Residential - Estate (RE) zone district 
(refer to Attachment A, Vicinity Map). The property is encumbered by a twenty-foot utility 
easement that bisects the property in a north-south direction (refer to Attachment B, Site Plan). 
The applicant is interested in constructing a single-family home in the current easement area. The 
easement unnecessarily limits the building envelope for the new home. 
 
The portion of easement to be vacated was originally dedicated for electric and telephone services 
in 1951. The power lines have recently been placed underground on the property and a ten-foot 
private utility easement has been granted to Public Service Company of Colorado (Xcel) for the 
relocated power lines. There are no public or private utilities or structural encroachments located in 
the easement to be vacated. 
 
Given that there is no public need for the portion of easement for which it was intended, failure to 
vacate the requested portion of easement would cause hardship to the property owner by limiting 
the development potential of the property.    
 
ANALYSIS:  
Staff finds the proposed vacation of an a 2,838 square foot portion of an existing twenty-foot 
utility easement consistent with the standard set forth in subsection (b) of section 8-6-10, 
“Vacation of Public Easements”, B.R.C. 1981. Specifically, staff has determined that no public 
need exists for the portion of easement to be vacated because all public utilities are located in 
public right-of-way or other easements. 
 
No vacation of a public easement shall be approved unless the approving agency finds that: 
 
    1. Change is not contrary to the public interest. 
    2. All agencies having a conceivable interest have indicated that no need exists, either 

in the present or conceivable future, for its original purpose or other public purpose. 
    3. Consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations. 
    a. Failure to vacate the easement would cause a substantial hardship to the use of the 

property consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations; or 
   The easement is no longer necessary because the overhead power lines previously 

located in the easement have been under-grounded and a private easement has 
been dedicated to Public Service Company of Colorado. The applicant is interested 
in constructing a single-family home to replace the existing structure. The building 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 2Packet Page     362



site on this lot is currently unnecessarily limited by the subject easement since there 
is no public need for the easement. 

 N/A  b. Would provide a greater public benefit than retaining the property in its present 
status. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS:  
Notice of the vacation will be advertised in the Daily Camera within the 30 day call up period. 
Staff has received no written or verbal comments adverse to the vacation.  
 
NEXT STEPS:  
If the requested vacation is not called up by City Council then the Deed of Vacation (Attachment  
C) will be recorded. If the requested vacation is called up, and subsequently denied, the applicant 
will be limited to development on the property outside of the easement area. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A:   Vicinity Map 
Attachment B:   Site Plan 
Attachment C:   Deed of Vacation 
Attachment D:  Exhibit A 
Attachment E:  Notice of Disposition 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 3Packet Page     363



 

Packet Page     364



 

825 Circle Dr 

  C
IR

C
LE

 D
R

 

 
FLA

G
STA

FF R
D

 

  CHRISTMAS TREE DR 

Attachment A - Vicinity Map

Call Up Item 1A     Page 4Packet Page     365



 

Packet Page     366



 

Subject 
Easement 

Attachment B - Site Plan

Call Up Item 1A     Page 5Packet Page     367



 

Packet Page     368



 
 
 
 

 
 

Attachment C - Deed of Vacation

Call Up Item 1A     Page 6Packet Page     369



 

Packet Page     370



 

Attachment D - Exhibit A

Call Up Item 1A     Page 7Packet Page     371



 

Attachment D - Exhibit A

Call Up Item 1A     Page 8Packet Page     372



 
 

Attachment E - Notice of Disposition

Call Up Item 1A     Page 9Packet Page     373



 

Packet Page     374



 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
 James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
 Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
  
Date:   April 16, 2014 
 
Call-up Item: Landmark Alteration Certificate to build a fence in the front yard at 1116 
Maxwell Ave. per Section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-00049).  This 
Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than April 16, 2014.  
  
 
Executive Summary 
The proposal to build a fence in the front yard at 1116 Maxwell Ave., ensuring that the 
development shall be constructed in compliance with approved plans dated 02/28/14, was 
approved with conditions by the Landmarks Board (3-0, K. Remley absent) at the April 2, 2014 
meeting. The decision was based upon the board’s consideration that with the proposed stated 
conditions, the proposal meets the requirements in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981.  
 
The board’s approval is subject to a 14-day call-up period by City Council. The approval of this 
Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than April 16, 2014. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Notice of Disposition dated April 2, 2014 
B. Photographs and Drawings of 1116 Maxwell Ave. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Call Up Item 1B     Page 1Packet Page     375



 
Notice of Disposition 

 
 
You are hereby advised that on April 2, 2014 the following action was taken: 
 
ACTION:     Approved by a vote of 3-0 (K. Remley absent) 
 
APPLICATION: Public hearing and consideration of a Landmark Alteration 

Certificate to build a fence in the front yard at 1116 Maxwell Ave. 
per Section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-
00049). 

 
LOCATION:   1116 Maxwell Ave. 
 
ZONING:   RL-1 (Residential Low-1) 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER: Michael Wussow, Alina Nisenzon 
      
This decision was arrived at based on the purposes and intent of the Historic Preservation Code as set 
forth in 9-11-18, B.R.C., 1981, as applied to the Landmark Alteration Certificate application.  
 
Public Hearing   
Karen Thibodea, 1104 Maxwell Avenue, neighbor, spoke in support of the proposal.  
 
Motion: 
On a motion by K. Snobeck, seconded by M. Gerwing, the Landmarks Board approved (3-0, K. 
Remley absent) the construction of a front fence and gates at 1116 Maxwell Ave., as shown on 
plans dated February 28th, 2014, finding that they generally meet the standards for issuance of a 
Landmark Alteration Certificate in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, subject to the conditions 
below, and adopts the staff memorandum dated April 2, 2014 as findings of the board with the 
following conditions:  
 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for ensuring that the development will be constructed 
in compliance with the application dated 02.28.2014 on file in the City of Boulder 
Community Planning and Sustainability Department, except as modified by these 
conditions of approval. 

 
2. Prior building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark Alteration 

Certificate, the applicant shall submit revised plans for the proposed fence and gates to 
the Landmarks design review committee showing a reduction it its height to no more than 
30”, widening space between pickets to at least 2 ½” and reducing the dimensions of 
posts and caps to make the fence more open and transparent in a manner consistent with 
General Design Guidelines for Boulder’s Historic Districts and Individual Landmarks 
and the Mapleton Hill Design Guidelines. 
 

3. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit the following, which shall be subject to 

Attachment A 
Notice of Disposition dated April 2, 2014

Call Up Item 1B     Page 2Packet Page     376



the final review and approval of the Landmarks design review committee: final details 
regarding height, configuration, materials and finish of the proposed fence. These design 
details shall be reviewed and approved by the Landmarks design review committee, prior 
to the issuance of a building permit. The applicant shall demonstrate that the design 
details are in compliance with the intent of this approval and the General Design 
Guidelines and the Mapleton Hill Historic District Design Guidelines. 

Attachment A 
Notice of Disposition dated April 2, 2014

Call Up Item 1B     Page 3Packet Page     377



 

Packet Page     378



 

 
Figure 1. 1116 Maxwell Ave. March, 2014 

 

  
Figure 2. 1116 Maxwell Ave. c.1949 

 

 
 

 

Attachment B 
Photographs and Drawings of 1116 Maxwell Ave.

Call Up Item 1B     Page 4Packet Page     379



   
Figure 4. South side of 1100 block of Maxwell Ave. March, 2014 (arrow indicates 1116 

Maxwell Avenue). 
 
 

 
Figure 5. Type of fence proposed to be constructed to height of 3’. 

Example from 1104 Maxwell Avenue. 
 

 

Attachment B 
Photographs and Drawings of 1116 Maxwell Ave.

Call Up Item 1B     Page 5Packet Page     380



 
  Figure 7. Proposed site plan. Not to scale. 

 
 
 

Fence will be not 
more than 30”, with 
at least 2 ½” 
spacing between 
pickets; gate at 
front entrance 

Existing historic 
retaining wall 

Attachment B 
Photographs and Drawings of 1116 Maxwell Ave.

Call Up Item 1B     Page 6Packet Page     381



 

Packet Page     382



 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
 Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
 Karl Guiler, Senior Planner/Zoning Code Amendment Specialist 
 
Date:   April 16, 2014 
 
Subject: Call-Up Item:  1215 Cedar Avenue (Washington Village) (LUR2014-00003); 

Request to amend the existing Site and Use Review approvals of the Washington 
Village project, to permit the addition of three dwelling units, roughly 5,000 
square feet of floor area (77% below grade), changes to the Use Review in light of 
a 300 square foot reduction of commercial floor area and an 11% parking 
reduction. 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On April 3, 2014, the Planning Board approved the request to amend the existing Washington 
Village II project with a vote of 4 to 1 (Payton opposed, Gray absent, B. Bowen abstained). The 
approval is reflected in the conditions of approval in Attachment A, which in large part contains 
the same conditions as those originally approved with the project in 2009. 
 
The staff memorandum to Planning Board, its attachments, audio from the meeting and other 
related background materials including the original approved plans are available on the city 
website at the following link:  
 
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/Browse.aspx?startid=47549&row=1&dbid=0 
 
Overall, all Planning Board members found the amendments would continue to be consistent with 
the code criteria and felt the changes improved the project. The board approved the amendment on 
a 4 to 1 vote with the one dissenting member not being agreeable to one condition of approval 
proposed by another board member’s motion related to the placement and configuration of a 
pedestrian path entering the site. This is discussed further in the ‘Analysis’ section of this 
memorandum.  The Planning Board decision is subject to City Council call-up within 30-days.  
There is one City Council meeting within this time period for call-up consideration on April 16, 
2014. 

Call Up Item 1C     Page 1Packet Page     383



 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Staff time: The Land Use Review application has been processed through the provisions of a 
standard review process and is within normal staff work plans. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
Economic: None identified. 
Environmental: None identified. 
Social: None identified. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

 
Figure 1- Development context around 1215 Cedar (outlined) 

 
The 1215 Cedar Avenue property is bounded by Broadway to the west, Cedar Avenue to the south, 
13th Street to the east, and a mix of multi-family and single-family development to the north as 
shown above.  It consists of three acres and is currently occupied by the vacant Washington 
Elementary School, which was closed in 2003 by the Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) due 
to school consolidation.  Its closure prompted a comprehensive process to consider how the site 

Call Up Item 1C     Page 2Packet Page     384



should be developed.  While there was initial interest from several groups to develop the site, the 
applicant, Wonderland Hill Development Company, was the only group that proceeded with a site 
design for city consideration. 
 
The Washington School property was the subject of two Concept Plans and two Site and Use 
Review applications during the years 2007 through 2009.  Site and Use Review application 
LUR2008-00083 was ultimately approved with conditions by City Council on Feb. 25, 2009 after 
a referendum on the property on the previous Site Review and two call-up hearings by City 
Council. The original Notice of Disposition is found in Attachment E. 
 
The Site Review approval permitted redevelopment of the site with a total of 33 dwelling units (27 
attached, some within the school building and others in new buildings on the west side of the site, 
and six detached on the east side of the site) and 2,950 square feet of office/commercial space on 
the ground floor of a new building along Broadway.  
 
Since the approval, the applicant has submitted construction drawings related to landscaping, 
drainage and utilities for the entire site as well as building permits for all of the single-family 
homes, two of the carriage homes and the two duplex structures. Most of these building have been 
built or are under construction. The only remaining structures to be constructed are the North 
Building and the Broadway Building. The applicant also submitted a final plat application in 2012, 
which was approved by Planning Board. Parks and Recreation staff and the city attorney’s office 
has also been working with the applicant to finalize the agreement outlot on the corner being 
deeded to the city to become a pocket park. While not explicitly required by the Site Review, 
dedication of the land for a park was something that was important for the neighborhood and the 
applicant expressed their willingness to design the project independent of the space for these 
purposes. Staff expects to have the land dedicated to the Department of Parks and Recreation 
within the coming months.  
 
REQUEST 
Proposal to amend the previously approved Washington Village project (Site and Use Review 
application  LUR2008-00083) as follows: 

 Request to allow new partition walls within the Broadway Building resulting in three 
additional dwelling units increasing the total unit count from 27 to 30 on the RH-2 portion of 
the development.  

 Request to add floor area in areas that would not change the massing of buildings, as follows:  
o 1,096 square feet within the confines of the Broadway Building and 471 square feet in 

subterranean storage space; 
o  3,436 square feet in a new basement under the North Building and 56 square feet above 

grade as basement access.  
o A total of 5,059 square feet is proposed. Roughly 30% of the floor area would be storage 

space and roughly 20% would be above grade. 
 Request for Use Review approval to change a previous condition of approval, which required 

nine (9) parking spaces for commercial based on the square footage. The applicant requests 
eight (8) parking spaces as the land use code requires eight spaces based on the 300 square foot 
reduction to the commercial spaces from 2,950 square feet to 2,650 square feet.  

 Request for approval of a parking reduction of 11%. Effectively, 49 parking spaces are 
provided where RH-2 zoning code parking standards require 55 parking spaces. 

Call Up Item 1C     Page 3Packet Page     385



 
The applicant’s request and written statement are found in Attachment B and the project plans are 
included in Attachment C. 
 
Planning Board review and action was required for the amendment because any density on the site 
over 23 dwelling units (by-right) requires Planning Board approval (46 dwelling units would be 
the maximum density permitted on-site per code).  Planning Board is also required to act on Use 
Reviews for non-residential uses are within residential zoning districts. The board’s consent was 
required on the change to one of the Use Review conditions on the square footage of the 
commercial and parking referenced above. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The following key issues were identified for the project: 
 
1. Parking reduction: Does the proposed parking reduction meet the criteria of section 9-2-

14(h)(2)(K), B.R.C. 1981? 
 
2. Site Review compliance: With the addition of dwelling units and floor area, will the project 

continue to meet the Site Review criteria? 
 
3. Use Review update: With the reduction of one commercial parking space, will the project 

continue to meet the Use Review criteria? 
 
Staff’s analysis of the project was that the modifications would meet the criteria within the Land 
Use Code as affirmed by the attached response to criteria in Attachment D and as summarized 
below: 
 
Parking reduction: The shortfall of six parking spaces (6) meets the criteria based on the 
following factors: 
 

• The site is immediate adjacent to the Broadway multi-modal corridor with frequent bus 
service; 

• On-street parking  exists on both Cedar & 13th ; 
• The project is approved with a car share program with one designated space and bike 

parking in excess of that required (i.e., 45 spaces where 6 are required); 
• The site has easy walkabilty to destinations like Ideal Market, Community Plaza and 

downtown; 
• Parking requirements count rooms that may not be occupied as bedrooms (e.g., studies and 

offices) and thus, would not contribute to the parking needs on the property; 
• The bedroom count (as compared to the previous approval) would only increase by two 

bedrooms (with a maximum increase of four bedrooms), and 
• The Parking Study affirmed that the parking needs of the project would be accommodated 

on the site with 47 peak parking spaces needed where 49 parking spaces would be 
available. 

 
Site Review compliance: The additional three units and floor area would continue to meet the Site 
Review criteria of Section 9-2-14(h), B.R.C. 1981, because: 
 

Call Up Item 1C     Page 4Packet Page     386



• The density would continue to meet the allowable density range of 14 to 46 units permitted 
in RH-2 (Residential High – 2) zoning district with a total of 30 dwelling units within that 
zone. 

• The project would continue to further the goals of BVCP policies, including but not limited 
to preservation of an historic structure, enhancing the diversity of housing types on the site 
by adding three new smaller units as opposed to previous approval which included more 
expensive larger units, providing on-site affordable housing in excess of the 20 percent and 
providing mixed-use and higher density housing along multi-modal corridors. 

• While there is an addition of floor area, there would be no perceivable increase in building 
mass as almost 80% of the floor area would be within basements or within the existing 
approved footprints and massing of buildings. 

• There would be negligible changes to the elevations. The only noticeable changes from the 
previously approved plans would be two new doors entering the North Building on the 
south elevation and the required 5-foot reduction in height of the Broadway Building (the 
applicant was able to retain the hip roof of the building while also complying with the 
approved 41-foot height.) 

 
Use Review update: The criteria of Section 9-2-15(e), B.R.C. 1981 for the previously approved 
commercial space would continue to be met considering the 300 square foot reduction. 
Reconsideration of the Use Review was required as one condition of approval had to be updated to 
reduce the square footage of the commercial as requested by the applicant. Staff finds that this 
change does not alter the previous analysis. 
 
Planning Board review 
Planning Board conducted a public hearing on the item and heard testimony from the applicant, 
new residents of the Washington Village project and neighbors abutting the project. One neighbor, 
a resident of the Red Arrow Townhomes to the north, reasserted her objection to the project based 
on the shadow impacts and privacy concerns regarding the pedestrian pathway that would enter the 
northeast corner of the site.  Another neighbor expressed concern about drawn out construction.  
Both were opposed to allowing additional density and potential parking impacts that could result. 
 
The board agreed with the staff analysis and felt that the changes would improve the project. 
Following a vote of 4 to 1 (C. Gray absent, B. Bowen abstained, and L. Payton opposed), Planning 
Board approved the amendment of the Washington Village project with the conditions within the 
Notice of Disposition (Attachment A).  The one dissenting board member expressed that the 
project appeared to meet all of the criteria, but did not agree with a change to Site Review 
condition no. 3(b) proposed by another board member related to the configuration of a pedestrian 
pathway entering the site in the project’s northwest corner. The condition was originally drafted by 
staff to require the path to enter the site from Broadway in the same configuration as previously 
approved to achieve a level of permeability into the site from Broadway. This was a discussion 
topic during the original Site Review. The applicant had altered the configuration to discourage 
passersby from entering the site – partly in response to the Red Arrow neighbors concern regarding 
privacy. The condition was modified by the board to allow more flexibility in where and how the 
path is configured in efforts to enable the applicant to work with neighbors on an agreeable 
configuration and not be bound by a specific condition of approval. 
 
 
 

Call Up Item 1C     Page 5Packet Page     387



ATTACHMENTS: 
 
A. Planning Board Notice of Disposition dated April 3, 2014 
B. Applicant’s written statement 
C. Project plans  
D.  Staff responses to the Site and Use Review criteria 
E.  City Council Notice of Disposition dated Feb. 25, 2009 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Call Up Item 1C     Page 6Packet Page     388



Attachment A - Planning Board Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Item 1C     Page 7Packet Page     389



Attachment A - Planning Board Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Item 1C     Page 8Packet Page     390



Attachment A - Planning Board Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Item 1C     Page 9Packet Page     391



Attachment A - Planning Board Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Item 1C     Page 10Packet Page     392



Attachment A - Planning Board Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Item 1C     Page 11Packet Page     393



 

Packet Page     394



MEMORANDUM

 To:!             ! ! Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manger, CITY OF BOULDER
                  ! ! ! Karl Guiler, Case Manager
From:          ! ! Adrian Sopher, SOPHER ARCHITECTS, LLC
Project:       !! WASHINGTON VILLAGE II – Site Plan Review Amendment
Date:           ! ! 6 January 2014

Re:!            ! ! SPR AMENDMENT SUBMITTAL & USE REVIEW – WRITTEN STATEMENT

SUMMARY

Brief description of approved Site Plan Review Disposition – basis for proposed amendment
Washington Village II was approved by City Council on 25 February 2009.  The approval was for the construction 
of a residential co-housing community on the site of the 3-acre Washington School property.  The project 
incorporated:
• The landmarking of the original school structure and its subsequent renovation 
• The construction of 27 multi-family residences on the western 57% of the site, which is zoned RH-2
• The construction of 6 single-family residences on the eastern 43% of the site, which is zone RL-1
• The creation of a pocket park on the far eastern portion of the site, to be dedicated to the city for public use.

For a detailed description of the project, please refer to the project Disposition dated 25 February 2009.

the RH-2 zone & Washington Village
The approval of the Washington Village project was a long, arduous, and contentious process.  This is a matter of 
public record and public memory.  The reasons for this are long and varied.  But upon completion of that process, 
it was apparent to city staff, the planning board, and to council, that some of that contention could be ascribed to 
confusion created by the nature of the RH-2 zone itself.

The history of the zone and its evolution under many names, was originally established in the Goss-Grove 
neighborhood to minimize the impact of many students sharing small residences with insufficient off-street parking 
to support them.  The zone as then defined, also strictly limited the amount of units, the size of units, and the 
overall Floor Area Ratio on any RH-2 site.

For reasons that are not obvious, the zone designation was applied to a few areas around town, some of which 
had no relationship  to the issues for which the zone was originally created, and in particular, along a portion of the 
Broadway corridor adjacent to Washington School.  

Consequently, when sites were redeveloped in this area, a Site Review process became an ordinary occurrence, 
simply to get relief from: 
• extremely limited allowable floor areas (a maximum of .25, or .5 with Site Review)
WV-II SPR Amdmt w-Stmt 140106 1 of 5     

S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING � ARCHITECTURE � DESIGN
w w w. s o p h e r a r c h i t e c t s .c o m
O: 303 444-6902   asopher@sopherarchitects.com 
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610    BOULDER, CO  80302

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 12Packet Page     395



• extremely high parking requirement (4 cars for a 1400 square foot residence, which could be reduced 
significantly with Site Review)

• limits on the amount of total allowable units on site.  

Please note that even with Site Review approval, the increased limit from .25 to .5 FAR for a high density multi-
family residential zone is very low, particularly when we consider that a .5 FAR is what single-family residential 
zone was reduced to in the RL-1 zone under Compatible Development.  And likewise, to meet the parking 
standards which apply to all other high density residential zones in the city, required a 52% parking reduction for 
this project.  

Requesting and receiving reasonable relief from these requirements added confusion to a project that already had 
a high degree of neighborhood scrutiny, because of the school board’s decision to remove the school and its 
grounds from the public realm.

Subsequent code changes to the RH-2 zone and its affect on Washington village
Before Washington Village, the RH-2 zone had already been identified as being an extremely difficult zone.  The 
unnecessary added confusion it created in such a visible project made its review and revision a higher priority.  
Within three years of Washington Village II’s approval, the RH-2 provisions were revised to become more in 
keeping with the requirements of other high density residential zones in the city.

The code changes adopted include:
• the standard parking requirements as they apply to all other high density residential zones
• the removal of FAR limits, replaced by requirements for open space minimums
• a far less stringent limit on total number of units on the site.

Differences between approved Site Plan Review Disposition and the project today
Since Washington Village originally went through a discretionary review and public hearing, staff determined that 
with the changes to the RH-2 zone, some aspects of the project could be modified under the Minor Modification 
provisions and staff review process.  But these were limited to those items that did not affect the outlines of the 
original approval.

Therefore, by means of three separate applications and staff reviews, we were able to increase the total floor area 
of the multi-family portion of the site by up  to 10%, as long as we did not appreciably modify the SPR approved 
scale, character, general footprint and setbacks, etc. of the original approval.

In the process of applying for these changes, we also reduced by five feet, the overall height and mass of the 
Broadway Building on the western part of the site.  In doing so, we likewise reduced the impact of the solar 
shadow on our neighbors to the north, while maintaining the overall look and feel of the structure as a whole.  

This was done by:
• lowering the below-grade garage slab elevation by one foot
• changing the structural system of the garage deck to a post-tensioned concrete slab, and thereby reducing its 

structural depth
• because of the change in the above-mentioned deck, we were able to reduce the spans of the wood framing, 

thereby reducing the depth of its construction at each framed floor level.
• These changes were all incorporated into the minor modification applications and approved by staff.

Differences between approved project and Proposed Amendment
The current application requests the following:
• an additional 5059 square feet in total area on the multi-family portion of the site, with 77% of this addition being 

underground (basement) and 31% being storage space. Only 1152 square feet will be above ground (1096 on 
the second floor of the Broadway Building and 56 square feet on the first level entries of the North Building 
end unit townhomes.)

• a change from a total of 27 units to 30 units in the multi-family portion of the site, to be accomplished by 
WV-II SPR Amdmt w-Stmt 140106.pages 2 of 5

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 13Packet Page     396



reducing the size of currently approved units
• a reduction of 300 square feet in the amount of previously approved office use
• because of the reduction in commercial/office square footage we are also reducing the amount of parking 

dedicated to the commercial/office use from 9 to 8 (requires a reconsideration of the  previously approved Use 
Review.)

• a reduction in the overall size of individual residential units.
• a parking reduction of 11%

Impacts of the proposal:
• all of the additional area being proposed in the Broadway building will be within the existing footprint and 

massing of the previously approved Broadway Building, and therefore has no impact on any neighboring 
property (1096 square feet will be within the approved structure on the second floor, and 471 square feet of 
storage in the underground garage.)

• most (99%) of the additional area being proposed in the North building will be underground,  within the existing 
footprint and massing of the previously approved North Building, and therefore has no impact on any 
neighboring property. (3436 square feet will be within the approved crawl space underground, changing the 
originally approved crawl space to a finished basement and storage area. 56 square feet will be at the entries 
to the end unit townhomes.)

• the parking reduction of 11% is well within reason for a site that is on a major bus route, within one block of a 
retail plaza, includes a car share/bike share program, and will participate in Neighborhood and Commercial 
EcoPass programs. (The previous approval LUR 2008-00083 was granted a 55% parking reduction through 
the previous code.)

• all changes proposed have no impact on the building perimeters, have no impact on the street, and have no 
impact on neighboring properties.

• with a total of 33 units, now increasing to 36, we already exceed our 20% Inclusionary Zoning requirement, with 
existing provision of 9 affordable units, all on-site.

• the addition of units within the already approved massing of the Broadway Building enables smaller and more 
affordable market rate units, better serving the needs of Boulder residents (empty nesters interested in 
downsizing and younger singles and couples) that are interested in living in a walkable urban location.

additional information – Boulder valley comprehensive plan policy conformance
In addition to what has already been incorporated into the approved Washington Village II project, the current 
SPR Amendment application is in keeping with the following BVCP policy goals...

Local Support for Community Housing Needs 
Housing Choices
Growth and Community Housing Goals
Social Equity
Consistent with BVCP Policy...
7.01 Local Solutions to Affordable Housing 
7.06 Mixture of Housing Types
7.09 Housing for a Full Range of Households
7.13 Integration of Permanently Affordable Housing
8.03 Equitable Distribution of Resources
8.04 Addressing Community Deficiencies
WV is committed to providing a long-term solution to the many and diverse issues surrounding the construction of 
mixed income housing options, here specifically based on a community oriented co-housing model, with on-site 
low and moderate rate affordable units.  The goal is to accommodate housing options to a broad cross section of 
its constituents, in fostering community.  

Energy and climate
Consistent with BVCP Policy...
4.04 Energy-Efficient Land Use

WV-II SPR Amdmt w-Stmt 140106.pages 3 of 5

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 14Packet Page     397



4.05 Energy-Efficient Building Design
The Washington Village project has consistently endeavored to use the most energy efficient materials and 
practices throughout the project’s construction, including high-performance glazing, exceeding the requirements 
for building insulation, geo-thermal heating and PV panels throughout the project.

Transportation
Consistent with BVCP Policy...
6.02 Reduction of Single Occupancy Auto Trips 
The Washington Village project has consistently attempted to create a community with minimal requirements for 
SOV usage, that shares resources and imminently suited, by population and intention, towards minimizing auto 
dependency.  The co-housing model is well-suited to sharing resources on a daily basis, simply by virtue of its 
lifestyle model.  The community is also incorporating a car share program to further decrease the demand of cars/
parking on site.  

zoning
Community Identity/Land Use Pattern
Neighboring structures
Mixed Use and Higher Density Development
Urban Design Linkages
Consistent with BVCP Policy...
2.03 Compact Development Pattern 
2.09 Neighborhoods as Building Blocks
2.15 Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses
2.16 Mixed Use and Higher Density Development
2.21 Commitment to a Walkable and Accessible City
The Washington School site is located on one of the most highly traveled corridors on the city.  Consequently 
maximizing the the scale and density of use along that corridor, minimizes the impacts on adjacent single family 
residences.  Likewise by increasing the intensity of use along those corridors highly serviced by multiple modes of 
transit, we are able to minimize the necessity for single vehicle use.  Further, the immediate access within a 10-
minute walk to all essential services to residents of the site make this a key location to maximize density in the 
city.  And we have done so here, without significant long-term impact to the adjacent single family neighborhoods, 
while at the same, buffering the adjacent neighborhood from the Broadway activity.

Community Conservation
2.24 Preservation of Historic and Cultural Resources
2.27 Eligible Historic Districts and Landmarks
The preservation, landmarking, and renovation of the Washington School Building has always been at the center 
of the Washington Village project, and it remains the identifying heart and center of the co-housing community.

Design Quality
Consistent with BVCP Policy...
2.30 Sensitive Infill and Redevelopment
2.32 Physical Design for People
2.37 Enhanced Design for Private Sector Projects
Altogether, we have endeavored to create a pocket neighborhood on a co-housing model, that fully integrates the 
existing Washington School site into one that meets the possibilities of a heavily traffic multi-modal corridor, and is 
sensitive to the adjacent single-family residential neighborhood

additional information – Site Design

• The proposed SPR amendment makes no change to the approved site design because all of the changes are 
within the existing building footprint, massing and roof area.  Therefore…

• Open Space – there are no changes to the open space areas on site
WV-II SPR Amdmt w-Stmt 140106.pages 4 of 5

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 15Packet Page     398



• Landscape – there are no changes to the landscape design on site
• Circulation – there are no changes to the circulation layout on site
• Parking –  the proposed amendment is requesting a minimal 11% parking reduction which is well within reason 

for this particular location.
• Building Design, Livability, and Relationship to Existing Surrounding Area – the proposed amendment has no 

impact on the surrounding area or other issues related to this topic
• Solar Siting – the proposed amendment has no impact on solar shadows 
• Placement of Open Space & Streets – proposed amendment has no impact
• Lot Layout – proposed amendment has no impact
• Building Form – proposed amendment has no impact, because the entire proposal fits within the existing 

building mass

WV-II SPR Amdmt w-Stmt 140106.pages 5 of 5

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 16Packet Page     399



MEMORANDUM

 To:!             ! ! Karl Guiler
                  ! ! !
From:          ! ! Erin Bagnall, SOPHER ARCHITECTS, LLC
Project:       !! WASHINGTON VILLAGE II – Site Plan Review Amendment
Date:           ! ! 14 MAR 2014

Re:!            ! ! SPR AMENDMENT RE-SUBMITTAL – PARKING REDUCTION CRITERIA 2014.03.14

(K) Additional Criteria for Parking Reductions: The off-street parking requirements of section 9-9-6, "Parking 
Standards," B.R.C. 1981, may be modified as follows:

(i) Process: The city manager may grant a parking reduction not to exceed fifty percent of the required 
parking. The planning board or city council may grant a reduction exceeding fifty percent.

(ii) Criteria: Upon submission of documentation by the applicant of how the project meets the following 
criteria, the approving agency may approve proposed modifications to the parking requirements of section 
9-9-6, "Parking Standards," B.R.C. 1981 (see tables 9-1, 9-2, 9-3 and 9-4), if it finds that:

a. For residential uses, the probable number of motor vehicles to be owned by occupants of and 
visitors to dwellings in the project will be adequately accommodated;

b. The parking needs of any nonresidential uses will be adequately accommodated through on-street 
parking or off-street parking;

c. A mix of residential with either office or retail uses is proposed, and the parking needs of all uses will 
be accommodated through shared parking;

d. If joint use of common parking areas is proposed, varying time periods of use will accommodate 
proposed parking needs; and

e. If the number of off-street parking spaces is reduced because of the nature of the occupancy, the 
applicant provides assurances that the nature of the occupancy will not change.

On February 25, 2009 the Washington Village project was granted a 55% parking reduction by City Council.  
In the years since, the project was able to add an additional 2 spaces on site (the total count on site went from 
59 to 61).  The Land Use Code has changed as well. When the project was initially approved the RH-2 
parking standards were based on 1 space being provided for the first 800 square feet of a unit and one 
additional parking space for every 300 square feet (or portion thereof afterwards) in the unit.  The current 
code calculates according to bedroom and is outlined below. (It is worth noting that the new code is based on 
bedroom count, where the City’s definition of ‘bedroom’ means a room that is not a garage, kitchen, 
bathroom, dining area, or living room, that has over seventy square feet of floor area, and that is used for 
sleeping or capable of being used for sleeping.)

WV-II SPR AMENDMENT parking criteria response 1 of 4     

S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING � ARCHITECTURE � DESIGN
w w w. s o p h e r a r c h i t e c t s .c o m
O: 303 444-6902   asopher@sopherarchitects.com 
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610    BOULDER, CO  80302

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 17Packet Page     400

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6


1 bedroom unit 1 parking space

2 bedroom unit 1.5 parking spaces

3 bedroom unit 2 parking spaces

4 or more bedroom units 3 parking spaces

When applied to Washington Village, the following number of residential spaces are required:
RH-2 PARKING REQUIRED UNDER SITE REVIEW AMENDMENT REQUESTS

PRIVATE RESIDENTIAL AREAS (count toward total required spaces)
HISTORIC SCHOOL

BASEMENT LEVEL
S1-NE AFFORDABLE (NORTH EAST) 2 1.5 1 1.5
S2-SE AFFORDABLE (SOUTH EAST) 2 1.5 1 1.5

MAIN LEVEL
S3 MARKET FLAT SOUTHWEST AND SOUTHEAST 1 1 2 2
S4 MARKET FLAT NORTH 3 2 1 2

UPPER LEVEL
S5-SE MARKET FLAT SOUTH (SOUTHEAST) 1 1 1 1
S5-SW MARKET FLAT SOUTH (SOUTHWEST) 1 1 1 1

S6 MARKET FLAT NORTH 3 2 1 2
BROADWAY BUILDING

MAIN LEVEL
B1 AFFORDABLE CENTRAL UNITS 1 1 2 2
B2 AFFORDABLE END UNITS 2 1.5 2 3

SECOND LEVEL
B3-S MARKET FLAT SOUTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
B3-N MARKET FLAT NORTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT  (1-BED) 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT (1-BED) 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT  (1-BED) 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT  (1-BED) 2 1.5 1 1.5

THIRD  LEVEL
B6-N PENTHOUSE FLAT 3 2 1 2
B6-S PENTHOUSE FLAT 3 2 1 2

NORTH BUILDING
MAIN LEVEL

N1 MARKET TOWN HOMES EAST AND WEST 4 3 2 6
N2 AFFORDABLE MODERATE LOWER 2 1.5 1 1.5
N3 AFFORDABLE MODERATE UPPER 2 1.5 1 1.5

DUPLEX
E1 MARKET TOWN HOMES 2 1.5 4 6

CARRIAGE
C1 AFFORDABLE INCL. NORTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
C2 AFFORDABLE MODERATE SOUTH 2 1.5 1 1.5

TOTAL CARS IN RH-2 ZONE 47
62

OFFICE USE OFFICES SF/CAR

OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIRED (typically 1 car/ 300 sf of office use) 2646 300 8.82
RH-2 ZONE TOTAL OFFICE PARKING REQUIRED 8

TOTAL CARS REQUIRED IN RH-2 ZONE 55

TOTAL CARS PROVIDED IN RH-2 ZONE 49

PARKING REDUCTION REQUESTED 11%
NUMBER OF UNITS 30

RESIDENTIAL ACCESIBLE SPACES REQ'D 3.29
NON-RESIDENTIAL ACCESIBLE SPACES REQ'D 1

TOTAL HANDICAP SPACES REQ'D 4

number of bedrooms (includes potential for owners of N1-E 
and N1-W to add a bedroom to the unfinished basement) 

BEDROOMS 
PER UNIT

CARS 
PER UNIT

NUMBER 
OF UNITS

TOTAL 
CARS

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 18Packet Page     401



The resulting parking reduction with the new code and the additional units requested with 
this Site Review Amendment is now 11%. 

PARKING SUMMARY
RH-2 ZONE -- ON SITE

BELOW BUILDING STRUCTURED PARKING
BROADWAY BUILDING

STANDARD 16
COMPACT 11
HANDICAP 2

ON-GRADE  PARKING
COMPACT (NORTH OF NORTHERN DUPLEX) 4
HANDICAP (NORTH OF NORTHERN DUPLEX) 1
HANDICAP VAN  (NORTH OF NORTHERN CARRIAGE HOUSE) 1

TUCK-UNDER PARKING
STANDARD (DUPLEXES) 8
STANDARD (CARRIAGE UNITS) 6

TOTAL STANDARD CARS 30
TOTAL COMPACT CARS PERCENTAGE OF COMPACT 31% 15
TOTAL HANDICAP CARS 4

TOTAL CARS PROVIDED FOR RH-2 ZONE ON-SITE 49

RL-1 ZONE -- ON SITE

ON-GRADE INTERIOR GARAGE PARKING
SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES 12
(presumed as 2 cars for each single family detached unit)

TOTAL CARS PROVIDED FOR RL-1 ZONE ON-SITE 12

TOTAL AMOUNT OF PARKING SPACES PROVIDED ON SITE 61

ON STREET PARKING
CEDAR AVENUE 13
13th STREET 11

TOTAL AMOUNT OF PARKING SPACES AVAILABLE ON STREET 24

*11% PARKING REDUCTION REQUESTED WITH SPR AMENDMENT REQUESTS

RESPONSE TO PARKING CRITERIA:

a. For residential uses, the probable number of motor vehicles to be owned by occupants of and 
visitors to dwellings in the project will be adequately accommodated;

There are two zones on this site.  The parking for the RH-2 (multifamily) portion of the site amounts to 41 
spaces for 30 units.  According to the parking study compiled by LSC Transportation Consultants, INC. the 
peak demand (between the hours of 10 PM and 7 AM) for these units will be 1.38 spaces per dwelling unit.  
That amounts to a demand during night time hours (peak time) of 42 spaces.  Since the 8 office designated 
spaces will be shared with the residential units during the night time hours, there will be more than 42 spaces 
available to the residential units during this peak demand time.

The parking for the RL-1 portion of the site (6 single family homes) will be provided by way of 6 double car 
garages, one for each home, amounting to 12 total spaces.

b. The parking needs of any nonresidential uses will be adequately accommodated through on-street 
parking or off-street parking;

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 19Packet Page     402



The RH-2 portion of the site will include 2,646 square feet of office space, parking for which will be assigned 
to 8 spaces (one handicap) in the underground garage in the Broadway Building. According to the parking 
study compiled by LSC Transportation Consultants, INC. the peak demand (between the hours of 8 AM and 5 
PM)  for the office use will be 8 cars, already provided for on site.  The office spaces will have a demand of 5 
spaces at night, 8 during mid-day, and 2 in the evening.  

c. A mix of residential with either office or retail uses is proposed, and the parking needs of all uses will 
be accommodated through shared parking;

The RH-2 portion of the site will have 30 residential units and 2,646 square feet of office space, as stated 
previously.  There will be a total of 49 spaces on site to accommodate these uses.  During the peak office 
hours (daytime) the 8 spaces designated for the office use will only be available to the office use. All other 
hours of the day the office spaces will be shared with the residential use.  According to the parking study 
compiled by LSC Transportation Consultants, INC. the peak demand on site will be during the hours between 
10 PM and 7 AM where the residential units will need 42 spaces and the office use will need 5.  This amounts 
to a peak demand during the night of 47 spaces, the site is providing 49.

d. If joint use of common parking areas is proposed, varying time periods of use will accommodate 
proposed parking needs; and

The 8 parking spaces reserved for the office uses are designated for ONLY office use between the hours of 8 
AM and 4 PM.  After 4 PM these spaces will be available for the residential use as well. This shared parking 
will help to meet the peak demand hours for residential which are opposite the peak demand for office use 
(peak demand for residential use is between 10 PM and 7 AM and peak office use is between 8 AM and 5 
PM.)  This shared parking strategy should allow for plenty of parking provided on site.  In addition there are 24 
street parking spaces available if needed.

e. If the number of off-street parking spaces is reduced because of the nature of the occupancy, the 
applicant provides assurances that the nature of the occupancy will not change.

Any change to the occupancy that would require more parking would require a reconsideration of the Site 
Review.  The applicant does not anticipate any change to the co-housing/office/single family uses on site.

Washington Village Co-housing is a planned community of active adults who are interested in living in a 
community that shares work and property.  We have asked for a parking reduction because this is common in 
co-housing communities.  (Nomad Co-housing in North Boulder has 11 units on site and there are 19 parking 
spaces designated for the co-housing.)  With an implemented TDM plan and a traveler friendly site (the site is 
located on a multi-modal corridor with immediate access to shopping, hospital/doctors offices, bike path, 
Recreation Center, on site park, and major bus route access) the applicant feels that the small parking 
reduction being requested is sustainable and justified given the circumstances of the site.

Washington Village has a TDM plan in place that is providing the following:

• Neighborhood EcoPasses are being provided to residents when they move in

• EcoPasses will be provided to the office tenants (for 3 years after occupancy)

• Car Share program managed within the Co-housing community through an info center in the common 
house

• On site bicycle storage greatly exceeds the amount required by code (45 bikes throughout the site)

• Bike share program managed within the Co-housing community through an info center in the common 
house

Attachment B - Applicant's Written Statement

Call Up Item 1C     Page 20Packet Page     403



 

Packet Page     404



S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING  ARCHITECTURE  DESIGN
O:  303 444-6902  as@arch-inc.com  M: 303 949-4056
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610  BOULDER, CO  80302

w  w  w  .  a  r  c  h  -  i  n  c  .  c  o  m

1

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
, S

ET
BA

C
K

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N

BY: SOPHER
JOB:

0.0_R

W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 L

L
C

BO
U

LD
ER

, C
O

LO
R

AD
O

WV II

SITE REVIEW
SUBMITTAL

SITE REVIEW
RESUBMITTAL

12 SEPT
2008

17 NOV
2008

12
15

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
E

SITE REVIEW
AMENDMENT

6 JAN
2014

4'-0" 8'-0"

8'-0" 8'-0"

192'-81/2"

7
'-

1
1

3
/

4
"

4
'-

0
"

1
8

8
'-

0
1

/
2

"

70'-0"

3
0

'-
9

"

2
5

'-
3

"
3

6
'-

0
"

8
'-

0
"

3
6

'-
0

"
1

6
'-

9
3

/
4

"
8

'-
5

1
/

2
"

4
4

'-
8

"
1

1
7

'-
0

1
/

4
"

37'-0"

24'-0"

41'-2"

2
1

'-
9

"

2
5

'-0
"

2
5

'-0
"

30'-11"

24'-0"

4
5

'-
2

1
/

2
"

2
5

'-
0

"

17'-2"

21'-0"

2
5

'-
2

1
/

4
"

2
5

'-
2

"

7
1

'-
5

3
/

4
"

25'-0"

2
5

'-0
"

2
5

'-0
"

4'
-0
"

25'-0"

5393.67'

5392.2'

5392.7'

5394.5'

5391'

5389.25'

EXISTING ON-
STREET PARKING

EXIST
STRE

EXISTING ON-
STREET PARKING

ZONE BOUNDARY LINE

LANDMARK BOUNDARY

LANDMARK
BOUNDARY

LANDMARK
BOUNDARY

BUS SHELTER

BICYCLE PARKING

N
E

W
S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

T
R

E
E

 L
A

W
N

SIDEWALK
TREE
LAWN

SIDEWALKTREE LAWN

EXISTING ZONE
LINE LOCATION

& PROPERTY
LINE

LANDMARK
BOUNDARY

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

1
10

10

11

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

1112
2

13
34789

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

56

SHARED PRIVATE
ACCESS DRIVE

SINGLE FAMILY
BUILDING AREA

SINGLE FAMILY
BUILDING AREA

SINGLE FAMILY
BUILDING AREA

SH
AR

ED
 P

R
IV

AT
E

AC
C

ES
S 

D
R

IV
E

SINGLE FAMILY
BUILDING AREA

SINGLE FAMILY
BUILDING AREA

SINGLE FAMILY
BUILDING AREA

E2-N

E1-N

OPEN SPACE

53
90

5390

53
88

5391

53
89

5392

53
89

5396

53
97

5390

53
95

53
98

5395

53
96

5395

5387

5393

5391

5394

5386

5395

5394

5394

5393
5392

5388

53
91

5385

5387

53
95

5393

53
91

53
97

53
93

5394

5396

53
96

5396

EXTERIOR
STAIR

VESTIBULE

PORTICO

B2-S

B2-N

E2-S

E1-S

B1-N

B1-S

N1-W N1-EN2-L

RH-2 RL-1

RH-2
ZONE

RL-1
ZONE

CEDAR AVENUE

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

NORTH BALCONY

EAST
BALC.

WASHINGTON
SCHOOL

RENOVATION

WEST
BALC.

TRASH

DOWN

PEDESTRIAN

PE
D

ES
TR

IA
N

AUTO &
BIKE

ADA ACCESS

AU
TO

 &
BI

KE

PE
D

ES
TR

IA
N

EXISTING
PEDESTRIAN

ACCESS

PE
D

ES
TR

IA
N

PE
D

ES
TR

IA
N

PE
D

ES
TR

IA
N

AD
A 

AC
C

ES
S

AUTO &
BIKE

PO
R

C
H

TE
R

R
AC

E
TE

R
R

AC
E

EL
EV

DOWN

D
O

W
N

UP

UP

UP

7'-11"

7
0

'-
4

"
5

8
'-

8
1

/
2

"
3

6
'-

2
1

/
2

"

NORTH
BUILDING

S3-SES3-SW

S4-N

1229 & 1231
CEDAR AVE.

SOUTH
DUPLEX

4 
C

O
M

PA
C

T
S

PA
C

E
S

, 1
H

A
N

D
IC

A
P

HISTORIC
SCHOOL

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

1225 CEDAR AVE.

SOUTH
CARRIAGE

1227 CEDAR AVE.

NORTH
CARRIAGE

1233 & 1235
CEDAR AVE.

NORTH
DUPLEX

1 
H

C
 V

A
N

BUILDING PLACEMENT & SETBACKS

NOTE: ALL HEIGHTS ARE MEASURED TO EXISTING GRADE AT  A 25' RADIUS FROM
THE LOWEST POINT ON THE STRUCTURE (TYPICALLY, THE SOUTH EASTERN
CORNER OF THE BUILDING)

RH-2 ZONE
9/08 1/13

BROADWAY MIXED USE STRUCTURE
SETBACK FOR PORCHES & SINGLE STORY MASSES 17.0' SAME
SETBACK FOR TWO STORY BUILDING MASSES 21.0' SAME
SETBACK FOR THIRD STORY BUILDING MASSES 26.0' SAME
BUILDING HEIGHT (for Broadway Building) 47.5 41'

CEDAR AVENUE CARRIAGE HOUSE
SETBACK FOR PORCHES 25.0' SAME
SETBACK FOR PRINCIPAL BUILDING 25.0' SAME

NORTH PROPERTY LINE NORTH BUILDING & DUPLEX
SETBACK FOR STOOPS & PORCHES & SINGLE STORY MASSES 25.0' SAME
SETBACK FOR TWO STORY BUILDING MASSES 25.0' SAME
SETBACK FOR THIRD STORY BUILDING MASSES (for Broadway Building) ±60' 56'
SETBACK FOR ACCESSORY STRUCTURES n/a SAME
BUILDING HEIGHT (for North Building) 30' max SAME

20' PRIVATE ACCESS DRIVE EAST BUILDINGS
SETBACK FOR SINGLE STORY MASSES & BALCONIES ABOVE 0.0' SAME
SETBACK FOR TWO & THREE STORY BUILDING MASSES 6.0' N/A
SETBACK FOR ACCESSORY USES 0.0' SAME
BUILDING HEIGHT (for Duplexes) ±31' N/A
BUILDING HEIGHT (for Carriage Houses) ±28' N/A

EXISTING HISTORIC SCHOOL
EXISTING BUILDING HEIGHT (excluding tower) 47.0' SAME

RL-1 ZONE

CEDAR AVENUE SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES
SIDEYARD SETBACK ADJACENT TO STREET 25.0' SAME

13TH STREET SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES
FRONTYARD SETBACK ADJACENT TO STREET FOR PORCHES & ONE STORY MASSES 20.0' SAME
FRONTYARD SETBACK ADJACENT TO STREET FOR TWO STORY MASSES 25.0' SAME

PRIVATE ACCESS DRIVE SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES & ACCESSORY BLDGS
DISTANCE TO A ONE OR TWO STORY ACCESSORY STRUCTURE 4.0' SAME
DISTANCE TO A ONE STORY PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE ELEMENT 4.0' SAME
DISTANCE TO A TWO STORY PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE ELEMENT 10.0' SAME

ADJACENT SINGLE FAMILY BUILDING MASSES
DISTANCE FROM A ONE STORY MASS TO NEIGHBORING BUILDING ELEMENTS 10.0' SAME
DISTANCE FROM A TWO STORY MASS TO NEIGHBORING BUILDING ELEMENTS 15.0' SAME
DISTANCE BETWEEN PRINCIPAL & ACCESSORY STRUCTURE (under single ownership) 5.0' SAME
MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT 35.0' SAME

SUBMITTAL

1

1

1

1

SCALE: 1"   = 20'

SITE PLAN
1

300 SF
REDUCTION TO
FIRST FLOOR
OFFICE/
COMMERCIAL

28 SF (IN EACH N1 UNIT, 56
TOTAL) INCREASE AT ENTRY

DRAWING KEY

GARAGE / PARKING / STORAGE SPACE

COMMERCIAL / OFFICE SPACE

CO-HOUSING COMMONS SPACE

RESIDENTIAL SPACE

N

RH-2 ZONE TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE 74,398

REQUIRED OPEN SPACE FOR RH-2 ZONE ( 600 SF X # OF DWELLING UNITS)
18,000

RH-2 ZONE PROPOSED OPEN SPACE (NOT INCLUDING PRIVATE DECKS OR
PEDESTRIAN WAYS)

PERCENTAGE OF PROPOSED OPEN SPACE FOR RH-2 ZONE 55%

OPEN SPACE CALCULATIONS

 600 SF x 30 =

34,637

REQUIRED OPEN SPACE FOR BUILDINGS 35'-45' (15% OF SITE AREA) 11,159

RH-2 ZONE PRIVATE OPEN SPACE (DECKS AND PORCHES) 6,445

RH-2 ZONE PRIVATE OPEN SPACE ALLOWABLE IN CALCULATIONS
(no greater than 18000 X .25, or 25% of req'd open space)

4,500

RH-2 ZONE TOTAL OPEN SPACE 40,994

RH-2 ZONE PEDESTRIAN WAY (EAST SIDE OF BROADWAY BLDG) 1,857

RH-2 ZONE PEDESTRIAN WAY OPEN SPACE ALLOWABLE IN
CALCULATIONS ( no greater than 18000 X .25, or 25% of req'd open
space)

1,857

Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 21Packet Page     405



P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
  G

R
A

D
IN

G
A

N
D

 D
R

A
IN

A
G

E
 P

LA
N

N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

S
TR

U
C

TI
O

N

C1.0_R

12
15

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
E

B
O

U
LD

E
R

, C
O

LO
R

A
D

O

JOB:

SITE REVIEW
SUBMITTAL

1413c

12 SEPT
2008

17 FEB 09 1

REVISIONS

20 DEC 13 2

06 JAN 14 3

W
A

S
H

IN
TO

N
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T 
LL

C

SITE REVIEW
RESUBMITTAL

17 NOV
2008

Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 22Packet Page     406



Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 23Packet Page     407



S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING  ARCHITECTURE  DESIGN
O:  303 444-6902  as@arch-inc.com  M: 303 949-4056
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610  BOULDER, CO  80302

w  w  w  .  a  r  c  h  -  i  n  c  .  c  o  m

1

BA
SE

M
EN

T 
LE

VE
L/

PA
R

KI
N

G
PL

AN

BY: SOPHER
JOB:

1.0_R

W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 L

L
C

BO
U

LD
ER

, C
O

LO
R

AD
O

WV II

SITE REVIEW
SUBMITTAL

SITE REVIEW
RESUBMITTAL

12 SEPT
2008

17 NOV
2008

12
15

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
E

SITE REVIEW
AMENDMENT

6 JAN
2014

7'
-9

"

15'-0"

35'-1"

15'-2"

9'
-0

"

9'
-0

"

19'-2"

24'-0"
24'-0"

24'-0"

24'-0"

24'-0"

9'
-0

"

19'-2"

9'
-0

"

15'-2"

10
'-1

1"

8'
-0

"
5'

-0
"

19'-2"

HISTORIC SCHOOL

TYPICAL

PA
R

K
IN

G
 G

A
R

A
G

E

REQUIRED BACKING
DISTANCE

TYPICAL
TYPICAL

S17

C15

C14

C13

10111213
789 6

2-WAY VEHICULAR ACCESS
2-WAY VEHICULAR ACCESS

HANDICAP ACCESS
AND DROP-OFF

REQUIRED BACKING
DISTANCE

S25

REQUIRED BACKING
DISTANCE

S26

S27

T
Y

P
IC

A
L

REQUIRED BACKING
DISTANCE REQUIRED BACKING

DISTANCE

S24

TYPICAL

REQUIRED BACKING
DISTANCE

TYPICAL

TYPICAL

T
Y

P
IC

A
L

S22

S23

2CARS PER
BUILDING AREA

2CARS PER
BUILDING AREA

2CARS PER
BUILDING AREA

2CARS
BUILDING

N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

R
IA

G
E

 H
O

U
S

E
S

O
U

T
H

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
 H

O
U

S
E

S
O

U
T

H
D

U
P

L
E

X
N

O
R

T
H

D
U

P
L

E
X

NORTH BUILDING

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

T
Y

P
IC

A
L

T
Y

P
IC

A
L

S18

S19

S20

S21

S28

S29

H4_VAN

H3

S30

BICYCLE/
SMART CAR

PARKING

BICYCLE/
SMART CAR

PARKING

BICYCLE/
SMART CAR

PARKING

BICYCLE/
SMART CAR

PARKING

BICYCLE/
SMART CAR

PARKING

BICYCLE/
SMART CAR

PARKING

TYPICAL

CAR SHARE

UP

UP
S1-NE

LIN
EN

LINEN

ELEV POWER UNIT

BATH

BEDROOM

MASTER
BEDROOM

STORAGE

SHOP

OFFICE

MECH./
STORAGE

KITC
HEN

LIVING/DINING

LOBBY

BEDROOM

BEDROOM

STOR.

LIBRARY
CRAFTS ROOM

PWDR
RM.

LAUNDRY

PWDR.

MECH/
STOR

PWDR.

MECH/
STOR

PWDR.

MECH/
STOR

PWDR.

MECH/
STOR

FINISHED
BASEMENT

STORAGE
FOR

AFFOR.
UNITS

FINISHED
BASEMENT

C2

S13

C6

H1

S1

S2

S3

C9

C8

S5

S6

S7

C11

C7

S12

C5

C4

C3

S4

S8

S9

S10 S11

C10

C1

UP

UP

UP

EXHAUST FAN

18 BIKES

T
R

A
S

H

STAIR
VESTIBULE

(RAMP ABOVE)

M
A

C
H

.
R

M

DESIGNATED OFFICE PARKING
DURING BUSINESS HOURS TYP. 8

SPACES
INCLUDING 1 ACCESSIBLE

TURNAROUND
SPACE

SIGNAGE CONSISTENT
WITH

SECTION 9-9-6(d)(3)(B)
B.R.C. 1981

MECH VAULT

RAMP

S14

S15

H2

S16

STORAGE

PARKING

C12

S2-SE

LIVING

KITCHEN/DINING

MEDIA

MEDIA

MEDIA

MEDIA

PARKING ANALYSIS BASED ON RH-2 REQUIREMENTS
1 BEDROOM = 1 CAR, 2 BEDROOM = 1.5 CARS, 3 BEDROOM = 2 CARS, 4+ BEDROOM = 3 CARS

PARKING APPROVED UNDER LUR 2008-00083

PRIVATE RESIDENTIAL AREAS (count toward total required spaces)
HISTORIC SCHOOL

BASEMENT LEVEL
S1 AFFORDABLE (NORTH EAST) 2 1.5 1 1.5
S2 AFFORDABLE (SOUTH EAST) 2 1.5 1 1.5

MAIN LEVEL
S3 MARKET FLAT SOUTHWEST AND SOUTHEAST 1 1 2 2
S4 MARKET FLAT NORTH 2 1.5 1 1.5

UPPER LEVEL

S5 MARKET FLAT SOUTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
S6 MARKET FLAT NORTH 2 1.5 1 1.5

BROADWAY BUILDING
MAIN LEVEL

B1 AFFORDABLE CENTRAL UNITS 1 1 2 2
B2 AFFORDABLE END UNITS 2 1.5 2 3

UPPER LEVEL
B3 MARKET FLAT SOUTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT NORTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
B5 MARKET SOUTH TOWNHOUSE 2 1.5 1 1.5
B6 MARKET NORTH TOWNHOUSE 2 1.5 1 1.5
B7 MARKET FLAT WITH HIGH LIVING 1 1 2 2

NORTH BUILDING
MAIN LEVEL

N1 MARKET TOWN HOMES EAST AND WEST 2 1.5 2 3
N2 AFFORDABLE MODERATE LOWER 2 1.5 1 1.5
N3 AFFORDABLE MODERATE UPPER 2 1.5 1 1.5

DUPLEX
E1 MARKET TOWN HOMES 2 1.5 4 6

CARRIAGE
C1 AFFORDABLE INCL. NORTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
C2 AFFORDABLE MODERATE SOUTH 2 1.5 1 1.5

TOTAL CARS IN RH-2 ZONE 38

OFFICE USE OFFICES SF/CAR
OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIRED (typically 1 car/ 300 sf of office use) 2,946 300 9.82

RH-2 ZONE TOTAL OFFICE PARKING REQUIRED 9

TOTAL CARS REQUIRED IN RH-2 ZONE 47

NUMBER OF UNITS 27
RESIDENTIAL ACCESIBLE SPACES REQ'D 2.86

NON-RESIDENTIAL ACCESIBLE SPACES REQ'D 1

TOTAL HANDICAP SPACES 3

CARS 
PER 
UNIT

BEDROOMS 
PER UNIT

NUMBER 
OF UNITS

TOTAL 
CARS

RH-2 PARKING REQUIRED UNDER SITE REVIEW AMENDMENT REQUESTS

PRIVATE RESIDENTIAL AREAS (count toward total required spaces)
HISTORIC SCHOOL

BASEMENT LEVEL
S1-NE AFFORDABLE (NORTH EAST) 2 1.5 1 1.5
S2-SE AFFORDABLE (SOUTH EAST) 2 1.5 1 1.5

MAIN LEVEL
S3 MARKET FLAT SOUTHWEST AND SOUTHEAST 1 1 2 2
S4 MARKET FLAT NORTH 3 2 1 2

UPPER LEVEL
S5-SE MARKET FLAT SOUTH (SOUTHEAST) 1 1 1 1
S5-SW MARKET FLAT SOUTH (SOUTHWEST) 1 1 1 1

S6 MARKET FLAT NORTH 3 2 1 2
BROADWAY BUILDING

MAIN LEVEL
B1 AFFORDABLE CENTRAL UNITS 1 1 2 2
B2 AFFORDABLE END UNITS 2 1.5 2 3

SECOND LEVEL
B3-S MARKET FLAT SOUTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
B3-N MARKET FLAT NORTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT  (1-BED) 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT (1-BED) 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT  (1-BED) 2 1.5 1 1.5
B4 MARKET FLAT  (1-BED) 2 1.5 1 1.5

THIRD  LEVEL
B6-N PENTHOUSE FLAT 3 2 1 2
B6-S PENTHOUSE FLAT 3 2 1 2

NORTH BUILDING
MAIN LEVEL

N1 MARKET TOWN HOMES EAST AND WEST 4 3 2 6
N2 AFFORDABLE MODERATE LOWER 2 1.5 1 1.5
N3 AFFORDABLE MODERATE UPPER 2 1.5 1 1.5

DUPLEX
E1 MARKET TOWN HOMES 2 1.5 4 6

CARRIAGE
C1 AFFORDABLE INCL. NORTH 2 1.5 1 1.5
C2 AFFORDABLE MODERATE SOUTH 2 1.5 1 1.5

TOTAL CARS IN RH-2 ZONE 47

62

OFFICE USE OFFICES SF/CAR

OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIRED (typically 1 car/ 300 sf of office use) 2646 300 8.82
RH-2 ZONE TOTAL OFFICE PARKING REQUIRED 8

TOTAL CARS REQUIRED IN RH-2 ZONE 55

TOTAL CARS PROVIDED IN RH-2 ZONE 49

PARKING REDUCTION REQUESTED 11%
NUMBER OF UNITS 30

RESIDENTIAL ACCESIBLE SPACES REQ'D 3.29
NON-RESIDENTIAL ACCESIBLE SPACES REQ'D 1

TOTAL HANDICAP SPACES REQ'D 4

number of bedrooms (includes potential for owners of N1-E 
and N1-W to add a bedroom to the unfinished basement) 

BEDROOMS 
PER UNIT

CARS 
PER UNIT

NUMBER 
OF UNITS

TOTAL 
CARS

PARKING SUMMARY

RH-2 ZONE -- ON SITE

BELOW BUILDING STRUCTURED PARKING
BROADWAY BUILDING

STANDARD 16
COMPACT 11
HANDICAP 2

ON-GRADE  PARKING
COMPACT (NORTH OF NORTHERN DUPLEX) 4
HANDICAP (NORTH OF NORTHERN DUPLEX) 1
HANDICAP VAN  (NORTH OF NORTHERN CARRIAGE HOUSE) 1

TUCK-UNDER PARKING
STANDARD (DUPLEXES) 8
STANDARD (CARRIAGE UNITS) 6

TOTAL STANDARD CARS 30
TOTAL COMPACT CARS PERCENTAGE OF COMPACT 31% 15
TOTAL HANDICAP CARS 4

TOTAL CARS PROVIDED FOR RH-2 ZONE ON-SITE 49

RL-1 ZONE -- ON SITE

ON-GRADE INTERIOR GARAGE PARKING
SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES 12
(presumed as 2 cars for each single family detached unit)

TOTAL CARS PROVIDED FOR RL-1 ZONE ON-SITE 12

TOTAL AMOUNT OF PARKING SPACES PROVIDED ON SITE 61

ON STREET PARKING
CEDAR AVENUE 13
13th STREET 11

TOTAL AMOUNT OF PARKING SPACES AVAILABLE ON STREET 24

*11% PARKING REDUCTION REQUESTED WITH SPR AMENDMENT REQUESTS

1

SCALE: 1/16" =    1'-0"

LOWER LEVEL PLANS
1

INCREASE IN BASEMENT CLG HT FROM
6' TO 8'.  END UNITS (N1-E & N1-W )

WILL HAVE A FINISHED BASEMENT AND
MIDDLE PORTION WILL BE USED FOR
AFFORDABLE & MARKET RATE UNIT

STORAGE (req'd B.R.C. 9-13-8 (b)(1) THE
TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE OF THIS

AREA IS 3436 (1064 SF OF THAT TOTAL
IS STORAGE)

 471 SF OF STORAGE
AVAILABLE BENEATH

PREVIOUSLY
LOWERED OFFICE

AREA

P
R

E
V

IO
U

S
 S

P
R

 A
P

P
R

O
VA

L

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 F

O
R

 S
IT

E
 R

E
V

IE
W

A
M

E
N

D
M

E
N

T
( A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
PA

R
K

IN
G

 A
L

R
E

A
D

Y
 A

P
P

R
O

V
E

D
 T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 M
IN

O
R

 M
O

D
)

Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 24Packet Page     408



S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING  ARCHITECTURE  DESIGN
O:  303 444-6902  as@arch-inc.com  M: 303 949-4056
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610  BOULDER, CO  80302

w  w  w  .  a  r  c  h  -  i  n  c  .  c  o  m

1

FI
R

ST
 L

EV
EL

 P
LA

N

BY: SOPHER
JOB:

1.1_R

W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 L

L
C

BO
U

LD
ER

, C
O

LO
R

AD
O

WV II

SITE REVIEW
SUBMITTAL

SITE REVIEW
RESUBMITTAL

12 SEPT
2008

17 NOV
2008

12
15

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
E

SITE REVIEW
AMENDMENT

6 JAN
2014

GARAGE
#3

GARAGE
#2

GARAGE
#1

STOR

STOR

STOR

GARAGE
#3

GARAGE
#2

GARAGE
#1

STOR

STOR

STOR

LC

W
A

S
H

W
A

S
H

D
R

Y
E

R
D

R
Y

E
R

LANDMARK BOUNDARY

LANDMARK
BOUNDARY

MARK
DARY

EXISTING ZONE
LINE LOCATION

& PROPERTY
LINE

LANDMARK
BOUNDARY

10111213
789

E1-S

E1-N

SLOPE

SLOPE

SLOPE

SLOPE

SLOPE

SLOPE

E1-S

E1-N

DOWN

N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

R
IA

G
E

 H
O

U
S

E
S

O
U

T
H

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
 H

O
U

S
E

S
O

U
T

H
D

U
P

L
E

X
N

O
R

T
H

D
U

P
L

E
X

NORTH BUILDING

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

HISTORIC SCHOOL

DOWN

DN

DECK

DECKDECK

DOWN

D
N

SHOWER

S3-SE

S4-N

SHOWER

UP

D
O

W
N

S
H

E
L

F
 A

B
V

S3-SW

UP

STORAGE

KITCHEN

LIVINGLIVING STUDYSTUDY

MASTER
BATH

M. BATH

ENTRY

BATH

BEDROOM

LIVING

M. CLOSET

ENTRY

M. BEDROOM

ENTRY

BATH

MASTER
BEDROOM

STORAGE

LOBBY

M. CLOSET

M. BATH

MASTER
BEDROOM

KITCHEN

UP

UP

KITCHEN
STOR.

KITCHEN
STOR.

KITCHEN
STOR.

KITCHEN
STOR.

B1-S

B2-S

B2-N

B1-N

B
U

S
 S

H
E

LT
E

R

TEEN LAUNDRY

MEDITATION,
YOGA, EXERCISE

PORCH

EXTERIOR
WALKWAY

OFFICE

OFFICE

EXTERIOR
WALKWAY

CRAFTS

EXTERIOR
WALKWAY

DOWN

D
O

W
N

PLANTER

OFFICE

B
IK

E
S

R
A

M
P

DN

ELEV

RAMP

EXTERIOR
WALKWAY

PORTICO

SITTING

KITCHEN

DOWN

D
O

W
N

UP

UP

UP

N1-W

N2-L

N1-E

KITCHEN KITCHEN

KITCHEN

M. CLOSET

OFFICE/
CARETAKER 2

ENTRY

CARETAKER

DINING

LAUNDRY

DINING

DINING

KITCHEN

LIVING/DINING

PORCH

LIVING/DINING

PORCH

LIVING/DINING

PORCH

LIVING/DINING

PORCH

DINING

OUTDOOR
DINING

DINING

DECK

DECK

LIVING ROOM
MASTER

BEDROOM BEDROOM
#2

KITCHEN /
DINING

MASTER
BATH

BATH

LIVING ROOMMASTER
BEDROOM

BEDROOM
#2

KITCHEN /
DINING

MASTER
BATH

BATH

LIVING
ROOM

BATH

KITCHEN /
DINING

MASTER
BEDROOM

LIVING
ROOM

BATH

KITCHEN /
DINING

MASTER
BEDROOM

MASTER
BEDROOM

TERRACE

PORCH

DINING

STUDY

LIVING

MASTER
BEDROOM

TERRACE

PORCH

DINING

STUDY

LIVING

MASTER
BEDROOMLIVING

DEN / BED

TERRACE

PORCH

DINING

TOTAL SITE AREA 130,710
RH-2 ZONE 74,398
RL-1 ZONE 56,312

RH-2 ZONE RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING BROADWAY BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 3050 FIRST FLOOR 2998
SECOND FLOOR 7570 SECOND FLOOR 6684
THIRD FLOOR 2014 THIRD FLOOR 4474

TOTAL 12634 TOTAL 14156

NORTH BUILDING NORTH BUILDING
FIRST FLOOR 3235
SECOND FLOOR 2344 FIRST FLOOR 3235

TOTAL 5579 SECOND FLOOR 2344
TOTAL 5579

EAST BUILDINGS
FIRST FLOOR 2210 EAST BUILDINGS
LIVING ROOM 1440 LOWER LEVEL/BASEMENT 1796
SECOND FLOOR 2910 FIRST FLOOR 2012

TOTAL 6560 LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

SCHOOL BUILDING TOTAL 8752
BASEMENT 1669
FIRST FLOOR 4474 SCHOOL BUILDING
SECOND FLOOR 4481 BASEMENT 1806

TOTAL 10624 FIRST FLOOR 4496
CARRIAGE HOUSES SECOND FLOOR 5029

FIRST FLOOR 1802 TOTAL 11331
TOTAL 1802 CARRIAGE HOUSES

FIRST FLOOR 1808
TOTAL UNITS SF 37199 TOTAL 1808

TOTAL UNITS SF 41626

TOTAL SF 37199

*TOTAL SF 40919

RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING

GARAGE 10363
FIRST FLOOR COMMERCIAL 2946
FIRST FLOOR COMMONS 2647

15956

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT COMMONS 2217
BASEMENT OTHER (MECH / STOR) 1538

3755

TOTAL SF 19711

RH-2 ZONE:

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 27
AREA OF SITE (RH-2) 74,398
TOTAL SITE AREA PER DWELLING 
UNIT 2,755

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 475
FIRST FLOOR 8720
SECOND FLOOR 8413
THIRD FLOOR 2015

TOTAL 19623

NORTH BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 3379
SECOND FLOOR 2221

TOTAL 5600

EAST BUILDINGS

FIRST FLOOR 4234
LIVING ROOM 1440
SECOND FLOOR 2910

TOTAL 8584

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 6142
FIRST FLOOR 6072
SECOND FLOOR 6084

TOTAL 18298
CARRIAGE HOUSES

GARAGE LEVEL 2452
FIRST FLOOR 1972

TOTAL 4424

TOTAL SF 56529

TOTAL SF 56529

*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*Below grade parking areas are NOT  included in the 
floor area totals per the definition of 'uninhabitable 
space.' (stairs, trash enclosure area, storage, and 
elevator on the parking level ARE  included in these 
calculations)                                                             
*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*UP TO 46 DWELLING UNITS CAN 
BE REQUESTED PER SECTION     

9-8-3 (b), B.R.C. 1981

NON-RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                         

(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)

3,000 SF OF SITE AREA REQUIRED PER DWELLING 
UNIT, PLANNING BOARD CAN APPROVE A 
REDUCTION TO 1,600 SF/UNIT.

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                  

(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)                

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                       

(APPROVED THROUGH MINOR 
MODIFICATION TO LUR 2008-00083)         

*non-contributing additions to residential SF in the 
existing school (707 SF) are excluded from this SF

DENSITY                                  
(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)

RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 2998
SECOND FLOOR 7780
THIRD FLOOR 4474

TOTAL 15252

NORTH BUILDING
BASEMENT 2370
FIRST FLOOR 3291
SECOND FLOOR 2344

TOTAL 8005

EAST BUILDINGS
LOWER LEVEL/BASEMENT 1796
FIRST FLOOR 2012
LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

TOTAL 8752

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 1806
FIRST FLOOR 4496
SECOND FLOOR 5029

TOTAL 11331
CARRIAGE HOUSES

FIRST FLOOR 1808
TOTAL 1808

TOTAL UNITS SF 45148

*+TOTAL SF 44441

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 10363
FIRST FLOOR COMMERCIAL 2646
FIRST FLOOR COMMONS 2947

15956

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT COMMONS 2217
BASEMENT OTHER (MECH / STOR) 1538

3755

TOTAL SF 19711

RH-2 ZONE:

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 30
AREA OF SITE (RH-2) 74,398
TOTAL SITE AREA PER DWELLING 
UNIT 2,480

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 995
FIRST FLOOR 8632
SECOND FLOOR 8506
THIRD FLOOR 4771

TOTAL 22904

NORTH BUILDING
BASEMENT/STOR 3436
FIRST FLOOR 3435
SECOND FLOOR 2221

TOTAL 9092

EAST BUILDINGS
BASEMENT 2120
FIRST FLOOR 4050
LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

TOTAL 11114

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 6142
FIRST FLOOR 6072
SECOND FLOOR 6084

TOTAL 18298
CARRIAGE HOUSES

GARAGE LEVEL 2476
FIRST FLOOR 1948

TOTAL 4424

TOTAL SF 65832

TOTAL SF 65832

DENSITY                                 
(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT)

*Below grade parking areas are NOT  included in the 
floor area totals per the definition of 'uninhabitable 
space.' (stairs, trash enclosure area, storage, and 
elevator on the parking level ARE  included in these 
calculations)                                                             
*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*UP TO 46 DWELLING UNITS CAN 
BE REQUESTED PER SECTION     

9-8-3 (b), B.R.C. 1981

3,000 SF OF SITE AREA REQUIRED PER DWELLING 
UNIT, PLANNING BOARD CAN APPROVE A 
REDUCTION TO 1,600 SF/UNIT.

NON-RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                       

(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT)

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                 

(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT) 

*non-contributing additions to residential SF in the 
existing school (707 SF) are excluded from this SF 
+REQUESTED SF IS 16 % ADDITIONAL SF FROM 
ALREADY APPROVED RESIDENTIAL SF

1

SCALE: 1/16" =    1'-0"

FIRST LEVEL PLANS
1

300 SF
REDUCTION TO

FIRST FLOOR
OFFICE/

COMMERCIAL

300 SF
REDUCTION TO

FIRST FLOOR
OFFICE/

COMMERCIAL

300 SF REDUCTION TO
FIRST FLOOR OFFICE/

COMMERCIAL

FINISHED BASEMENT
UNDER END UNITS (N1-

E & N1-W) AND
STORAGE FOR

AFFORDABLE UNITS
UNDER INTERNAL UNIT

(N2)

28 SF (IN EACH N1 UNIT, 56 TOTAL)
INCREASE AT ENTRY

N

P
R

E
V

IO
U

S
 C

O
D

E

APPROVED LUR 2008-00083
 APPROVED THROUGH
MINOR MODIFICATIONS

REQUESTED THROUGH
SPR AMENDMENT

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 C

O
D

E

Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 25Packet Page     409



S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING  ARCHITECTURE  DESIGN
O:  303 444-6902  as@arch-inc.com  M: 303 949-4056
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610  BOULDER, CO  80302

w  w  w  .  a  r  c  h  -  i  n  c  .  c  o  m

1

SE
C

O
N

D
 L

EV
EL

 P
LA

N

BY: SOPHER
JOB:

1.2_R

W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 L

L
C

BO
U

LD
ER

, C
O

LO
R

AD
O

WV II

SITE REVIEW
SUBMITTAL

SITE REVIEW
RESUBMITTAL

12 SEPT
2008

17 NOV
2008

12
15

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
E

SITE REVIEW
AMENDMENT

6 JAN
2014

WASHER/DRYER

WASHER/DRYER

D
N

D
N

E1-S

E1-N

E1-S

E1-N

C1-N

C2-S

RH-2
ZONE

RL-1
ZONE

N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

R
IA

G
E

 H
O

U
S

E
S

O
U

T
H

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
 H

O
U

S
E

S
O

U
T

H
D

U
P

L
E

X
N

O
R

T
H

D
U

P
L

E
X

NORTH BUILDING

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

HISTORIC SCHOOL

D
N

D
N

D
N

SHOWER

SHOWER

SHOWER

SHOWER

S5-SE

S6-N

SHOWER

S5-SW

K
IT

C
H

E
N

K
IT

C
H

E
N

LINEN

BENCH

MASTER
BATHROOM

MASTER
BEDROOM

LIVING

STUDY

STORAGE

LIVINGLIVING

M. CLOSET

BATH

STORAGE

BATH

MASTER
BEDROOM

MASTER
BEDROOM

M.
BATH

BATH

BEDROOM

ENTRY

LAUNDRY

HALL

STORAGE

M. CLOSET

LOBBY

LAUNDRY

LAUNDRY

KITCHEN

MASTER
CLOSET

B3-N

B3-S

B4-S

B4-N

EXTERIOR
WALKWAY

EXTERIOR
WALKWAY

ELEV

EXTERIOR
WALKWAY

DN

DN

B5-S

B5-N

UP

UP

KITCHEN

KITCHEN

N3-U

N1-W N1-E

KITCHEN

REF

REF

KITCHEN/
DINING

BED #2 MASTER
BED

DECK

M
.

B
A

T
H

BATH
HALL

LIVING
ROOM

DECK

W
IN

E

S
H

E
L

V
E

S

L
IN

E
N

SHELVES

DINING

STUDY

DININGDINING

MEDIA
MEDIA

MASTER
BATHROOM

KITCHEN/
DINING

BED #2 MASTER
BED

DECK

M
.

B
A

T
H

BATH
HALL

LIVING
ROOM

LIVING

DECK

LIVING

DECK

LIVING

DECK

LIVING

DECK

DECK

DECK

DECK

DECK

FLAT
ROOF

FLAT
ROOF

MASTER
BEDROOM

LIVING

DINING

BEDROOM
#2

BATH
#2

MASTER
BATH

MASTER
BEDROOM

LIVING

DINING

BEDROOM
#2

BATH
#2

MASTER
BATH

MASTER
BEDROOMDECK

LIVING
ROOM DINING

ROOM

KITCHEN

STUDYMASTER
BATH

DECK MASTER
BEDROOM STUDY

KITCHEN
DINING
ROOM

LIVING
ROOM

MASTER
BATH

MASTER
BEDROOMDECK

LIVING
ROOM

DINING
ROOM

KITCHEN

STUDY

MASTER
BATH

DECK MASTER
BEDROOM

STUDY

KITCHEN

DINING
ROOMLIVING

ROOM

MASTER
BATH

OPEN TO
BELOW

OFFICE

MASTER
BEDROOM

DECK

OPEN TO
BELOW

OFFICE

MASTER
BEDROOM

DECK

MASTER
BEDROOMLIVING

DEN / BED
DINING

DECK

DECK

RH-2 ZONE RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING BROADWAY BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 3050 FIRST FLOOR 2998
SECOND FLOOR 7570 SECOND FLOOR 6684
THIRD FLOOR 2014 THIRD FLOOR 4474

TOTAL 12634 TOTAL 14156

NORTH BUILDING NORTH BUILDING
FIRST FLOOR 3235
SECOND FLOOR 2344 FIRST FLOOR 3235

TOTAL 5579 SECOND FLOOR 2344
TOTAL 5579

EAST BUILDINGS
FIRST FLOOR 2210 EAST BUILDINGS
LIVING ROOM 1440 LOWER LEVEL/BASEMENT 1796
SECOND FLOOR 2910 FIRST FLOOR 2012

TOTAL 6560 LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

SCHOOL BUILDING TOTAL 8752
BASEMENT 1669
FIRST FLOOR 4474 SCHOOL BUILDING
SECOND FLOOR 4481 BASEMENT 1806

TOTAL 10624 FIRST FLOOR 4496
CARRIAGE HOUSES SECOND FLOOR 5029

FIRST FLOOR 1802 TOTAL 11331
TOTAL 1802 CARRIAGE HOUSES

FIRST FLOOR 1808
TOTAL UNITS SF 37199 TOTAL 1808

TOTAL UNITS SF 41626

TOTAL SF 37199

*TOTAL SF 40919

RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING

GARAGE 10363
FIRST FLOOR COMMERCIAL 2946
FIRST FLOOR COMMONS 2647

15956

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT COMMONS 2217
BASEMENT OTHER (MECH / STOR) 1538

3755

TOTAL SF 19711

RH-2 ZONE:

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 27
AREA OF SITE (RH-2) 74,398
TOTAL SITE AREA PER DWELLING 
UNIT 2,755

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 475
FIRST FLOOR 8720
SECOND FLOOR 8413
THIRD FLOOR 2015

TOTAL 19623

NORTH BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 3379
SECOND FLOOR 2221

TOTAL 5600

EAST BUILDINGS

FIRST FLOOR 4234
LIVING ROOM 1440
SECOND FLOOR 2910

TOTAL 8584

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 6142
FIRST FLOOR 6072
SECOND FLOOR 6084

TOTAL 18298
CARRIAGE HOUSES

GARAGE LEVEL 2452
FIRST FLOOR 1972

TOTAL 4424

TOTAL SF 56529

TOTAL SF 56529

*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*Below grade parking areas are NOT  included in the 
floor area totals per the definition of 'uninhabitable 
space.' (stairs, trash enclosure area, storage, and 
elevator on the parking level ARE  included in these 
calculations)                                                             
*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*UP TO 46 DWELLING UNITS CAN 
BE REQUESTED PER SECTION     

9-8-3 (b), B.R.C. 1981

NON-RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                         

(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)

3,000 SF OF SITE AREA REQUIRED PER DWELLING 
UNIT, PLANNING BOARD CAN APPROVE A 
REDUCTION TO 1,600 SF/UNIT.

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                  

(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)                

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                       

(APPROVED THROUGH MINOR 
MODIFICATION TO LUR 2008-00083)         

*non-contributing additions to residential SF in the 
existing school (707 SF) are excluded from this SF

DENSITY                                  
(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)

RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 2998
SECOND FLOOR 7780
THIRD FLOOR 4474

TOTAL 15252

NORTH BUILDING
BASEMENT 2370
FIRST FLOOR 3291
SECOND FLOOR 2344

TOTAL 8005

EAST BUILDINGS
LOWER LEVEL/BASEMENT 1796
FIRST FLOOR 2012
LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

TOTAL 8752

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 1806
FIRST FLOOR 4496
SECOND FLOOR 5029

TOTAL 11331
CARRIAGE HOUSES

FIRST FLOOR 1808
TOTAL 1808

TOTAL UNITS SF 45148

*+TOTAL SF 44441

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 10363
FIRST FLOOR COMMERCIAL 2646
FIRST FLOOR COMMONS 2947

15956

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT COMMONS 2217
BASEMENT OTHER (MECH / STOR) 1538

3755

TOTAL SF 19711

RH-2 ZONE:

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 30
AREA OF SITE (RH-2) 74,398
TOTAL SITE AREA PER DWELLING 
UNIT 2,480

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 995
FIRST FLOOR 8632
SECOND FLOOR 8506
THIRD FLOOR 4771

TOTAL 22904

NORTH BUILDING
BASEMENT/STOR 3436
FIRST FLOOR 3435
SECOND FLOOR 2221

TOTAL 9092

EAST BUILDINGS
BASEMENT 2120
FIRST FLOOR 4050
LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

TOTAL 11114

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 6142
FIRST FLOOR 6072
SECOND FLOOR 6084

TOTAL 18298
CARRIAGE HOUSES

GARAGE LEVEL 2476
FIRST FLOOR 1948

TOTAL 4424

TOTAL SF 65832

TOTAL SF 65832

DENSITY                                 
(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT)

*Below grade parking areas are NOT  included in the 
floor area totals per the definition of 'uninhabitable 
space.' (stairs, trash enclosure area, storage, and 
elevator on the parking level ARE  included in these 
calculations)                                                             
*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*UP TO 46 DWELLING UNITS CAN 
BE REQUESTED PER SECTION     

9-8-3 (b), B.R.C. 1981

3,000 SF OF SITE AREA REQUIRED PER DWELLING 
UNIT, PLANNING BOARD CAN APPROVE A 
REDUCTION TO 1,600 SF/UNIT.

NON-RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                       

(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT)

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                 

(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT) 

*non-contributing additions to residential SF in the 
existing school (707 SF) are excluded from this SF 
+REQUESTED SF IS 16 % ADDITIONAL SF FROM 
ALREADY APPROVED RESIDENTIAL SF

1

1

1

SCALE: 1/16" =    1'-0"

SECOND LEVEL PLANS
1

1096 SF ADDITIONAL SF IN
SECOND FLOOR OF
BROADWAY BUILDING

300 SF REDUCTION TO
FIRST FLOOR OFFICE/

COMMERCIAL

FINISHED BASEMENT
UNDER END UNITS (N1-

E & N1-W) AND
STORAGE FOR

AFFORDABLE UNITS
UNDER INTERNAL UNIT

(N2)

N

P
R

E
V

IO
U

S
 C

O
D

E

APPROVED LUR 2008-00083
 APPROVED THROUGH
MINOR MODIFICATIONS

REQUESTED THROUGH
SPR AMENDMENT

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 C

O
D

E

Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 26Packet Page     410



S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING  ARCHITECTURE  DESIGN
O:  303 444-6902  as@arch-inc.com  M: 303 949-4056
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610  BOULDER, CO  80302

w  w  w  .  a  r  c  h  -  i  n  c  .  c  o  m

1

TH
IR

D
 L

EV
EL

 P
LA

N

BY: SOPHER
JOB:

1.3_R

W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 L

L
C

BO
U

LD
ER

, C
O

LO
R

AD
O

WV II

SITE REVIEW
SUBMITTAL

SITE REVIEW
RESUBMITTAL

12 SEPT
2008

17 NOV
2008

12
15

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
E

SITE REVIEW
AMENDMENT

6 JAN
2014

S
H

O
W

E
R

S
H

O
W

E
R

S
H

O
W

E
R

S
H

O
W

E
R

CD W

CD W

E1-S

E1-N

E1-S

E1-N

RH 2
ZONE

RL 1
ZONE

MECH

FLAT ROOF
BELOW

FLAT ROOF
BELOW

FLAT ROOF
BELOW

N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

R
IA

G
E

 H
O

U
S

E
S

O
U

T
H

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
 H

O
U

S
E

S
O

U
T

H
D

U
P

L
E

X
N

O
R

T
H

D
U

P
L

E
X

NORTH BUILDING

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

HISTORIC SCHOOL

BATH

MASTER
BATH

BATH

MASTER
BATH

BATH

MASTER
BATH

BATH

MASTER
BATH

B6-S

FLAT
ROOF

FLAT
ROOF

DECK

DN

B6-N

DECK

DN

PWDR.

L.

PWDR.

L.

FLAT
ROOF

DECK
BLW

FLAT
ROOF

FLAT
ROOF

FLAT
ROOF

FLAT
ROOF

DECK
BLW

FLAT
ROOF

FLAT
ROOF

MASTER
SUITE

BEDROOM

DECK

MASTER
SUITE

BEDROOM

DECK

MASTER
SUITE

BEDROOM

DECK

MASTER
SUITE

BEDROOM

DECK

DECK

MASTER
BEDROOM

MASTER
BATH

LIVING ROOM

OFFICE

SUNROOM

KITCHEN

D
IN

IN
G

E
N

T
R

Y

S
TO

R
A

G
E

B
.

M
. C

L
.

BEDROOM
#2

DEN

DECK

MASTER
BEDROOM

MASTER
BATH

LIVING ROOM

OFFICE

SUNROOM

KITCHEN

D
IN

IN
G

E
N

T
R

Y

S
TO

R
A

G
E

B
.

M
. C

L
.

BEDROOM
#2

DEN

RH-2 ZONE RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING BROADWAY BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 3050 FIRST FLOOR 2998
SECOND FLOOR 7570 SECOND FLOOR 6684
THIRD FLOOR 2014 THIRD FLOOR 4474

TOTAL 12634 TOTAL 14156

NORTH BUILDING NORTH BUILDING
FIRST FLOOR 3235
SECOND FLOOR 2344 FIRST FLOOR 3235

TOTAL 5579 SECOND FLOOR 2344
TOTAL 5579

EAST BUILDINGS
FIRST FLOOR 2210 EAST BUILDINGS
LIVING ROOM 1440 LOWER LEVEL/BASEMENT 1796
SECOND FLOOR 2910 FIRST FLOOR 2012

TOTAL 6560 LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

SCHOOL BUILDING TOTAL 8752
BASEMENT 1669
FIRST FLOOR 4474 SCHOOL BUILDING
SECOND FLOOR 4481 BASEMENT 1806

TOTAL 10624 FIRST FLOOR 4496
CARRIAGE HOUSES SECOND FLOOR 5029

FIRST FLOOR 1802 TOTAL 11331
TOTAL 1802 CARRIAGE HOUSES

FIRST FLOOR 1808
TOTAL UNITS SF 37199 TOTAL 1808

TOTAL UNITS SF 41626

TOTAL SF 37199

*TOTAL SF 40919

RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING

GARAGE 10363
FIRST FLOOR COMMERCIAL 2946
FIRST FLOOR COMMONS 2647

15956

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT COMMONS 2217
BASEMENT OTHER (MECH / STOR) 1538

3755

TOTAL SF 19711

RH-2 ZONE:

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 27
AREA OF SITE (RH-2) 74,398
TOTAL SITE AREA PER DWELLING 
UNIT 2,755

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 475
FIRST FLOOR 8720
SECOND FLOOR 8413
THIRD FLOOR 2015

TOTAL 19623

NORTH BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 3379
SECOND FLOOR 2221

TOTAL 5600

EAST BUILDINGS

FIRST FLOOR 4234
LIVING ROOM 1440
SECOND FLOOR 2910

TOTAL 8584

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 6142
FIRST FLOOR 6072
SECOND FLOOR 6084

TOTAL 18298
CARRIAGE HOUSES

GARAGE LEVEL 2452
FIRST FLOOR 1972

TOTAL 4424

TOTAL SF 56529

TOTAL SF 56529

*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*Below grade parking areas are NOT  included in the 
floor area totals per the definition of 'uninhabitable 
space.' (stairs, trash enclosure area, storage, and 
elevator on the parking level ARE  included in these 
calculations)                                                             
*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*UP TO 46 DWELLING UNITS CAN 
BE REQUESTED PER SECTION     

9-8-3 (b), B.R.C. 1981

NON-RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                         

(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)

3,000 SF OF SITE AREA REQUIRED PER DWELLING 
UNIT, PLANNING BOARD CAN APPROVE A 
REDUCTION TO 1,600 SF/UNIT.

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                  

(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)                

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                       

(APPROVED THROUGH MINOR 
MODIFICATION TO LUR 2008-00083)         

*non-contributing additions to residential SF in the 
existing school (707 SF) are excluded from this SF

DENSITY                                  
(APPROVED LUR 2008-00083)

RH-2 ZONE
BROADWAY BUILDING

FIRST FLOOR 2998
SECOND FLOOR 7780
THIRD FLOOR 4474

TOTAL 15252

NORTH BUILDING
BASEMENT 2370
FIRST FLOOR 3291
SECOND FLOOR 2344

TOTAL 8005

EAST BUILDINGS
LOWER LEVEL/BASEMENT 1796
FIRST FLOOR 2012
LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

TOTAL 8752

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 1806
FIRST FLOOR 4496
SECOND FLOOR 5029

TOTAL 11331
CARRIAGE HOUSES

FIRST FLOOR 1808
TOTAL 1808

TOTAL UNITS SF 45148

*+TOTAL SF 44441

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 10363
FIRST FLOOR COMMERCIAL 2646
FIRST FLOOR COMMONS 2947

15956

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT COMMONS 2217
BASEMENT OTHER (MECH / STOR) 1538

3755

TOTAL SF 19711

RH-2 ZONE:

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 30
AREA OF SITE (RH-2) 74,398
TOTAL SITE AREA PER DWELLING 
UNIT 2,480

BROADWAY BUILDING
GARAGE 995
FIRST FLOOR 8632
SECOND FLOOR 8506
THIRD FLOOR 4771

TOTAL 22904

NORTH BUILDING
BASEMENT/STOR 3436
FIRST FLOOR 3435
SECOND FLOOR 2221

TOTAL 9092

EAST BUILDINGS
BASEMENT 2120
FIRST FLOOR 4050
LIVING ROOM 1788
SECOND FLOOR 3156

TOTAL 11114

SCHOOL BUILDING
BASEMENT 6142
FIRST FLOOR 6072
SECOND FLOOR 6084

TOTAL 18298
CARRIAGE HOUSES

GARAGE LEVEL 2476
FIRST FLOOR 1948

TOTAL 4424

TOTAL SF 65832

TOTAL SF 65832

DENSITY                                 
(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT)

*Below grade parking areas are NOT  included in the 
floor area totals per the definition of 'uninhabitable 
space.' (stairs, trash enclosure area, storage, and 
elevator on the parking level ARE  included in these 
calculations)                                                             
*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*exterior elevated above grade corridors necessary 
for egress ARE included in the floor area calculations

*UP TO 46 DWELLING UNITS CAN 
BE REQUESTED PER SECTION     

9-8-3 (b), B.R.C. 1981

3,000 SF OF SITE AREA REQUIRED PER DWELLING 
UNIT, PLANNING BOARD CAN APPROVE A 
REDUCTION TO 1,600 SF/UNIT.

NON-RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                       

(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT)

RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA 
CALCULATIONS                 

(REQUESTED THROUGH SPR_AMENDMENT) 

*non-contributing additions to residential SF in the 
existing school (707 SF) are excluded from this SF 
+REQUESTED SF IS 16 % ADDITIONAL SF FROM 
ALREADY APPROVED RESIDENTIAL SF

1

SCALE: 1/16" =    1'-0"

THIRD LEVEL PLANS
1

300 SF REDUCTION TO
FIRST FLOOR OFFICE/

COMMERCIAL

FINISHED BASEMENT
UNDER END UNITS (N1-

E & N1-W) AND
STORAGE FOR

AFFORDABLE UNITS
UNDER INTERNAL UNIT

(N2)

N

P
R

E
V

IO
U

S
 C

O
D

E

APPROVED LUR 2008-00083
 APPROVED THROUGH
MINOR MODIFICATIONS

REQUESTED THROUGH
SPR AMENDMENT

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 C

O
D

E

Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 27Packet Page     411



S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING  ARCHITECTURE  DESIGN
O:  303 444-6902  as@arch-inc.com  M: 303 949-4056
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610  BOULDER, CO  80302

w  w  w  .  a  r  c  h  -  i  n  c  .  c  o  m

1

BR
O

AD
W

AY
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

S

BY: SOPHER
JOB:

A2.2_R

W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 L

L
C

BO
U

LD
ER

, C
O

LO
R

AD
O

WV II

SITE REVIEW
SUBMITTAL

SITE REVIEW
RESUBMITTAL

12 SEPT
2008

17 NOV
2008

12
15

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
E

SITE REVIEW
AMENDMENT

6 JAN
2014

40
'-

71/
4"

5'
-0

"

10
'-

4"
10

'-
0"

10
'-

0"
8'

-0
"

3'-6" HEIGHT WALL

BRICK VENEER

STUCCO,TYP.

ASPHALT SHINGLE
ROOF

VINYL WINDOWS (TYP)
@ RESIDENTIAL

FABRIC
AWNING

TRELLIS
TYP

PTD RAILING TYP

SIDING,TYP.

NATURAL GRADE
EL. 5393.67'

EL. 5397.27'

EL. 5386.93'

EL. 5407.27'

EL. 5417.27'

EL. 5426.27'

outline of building at Disposition, approval based on 5'-0" reduction in height

HIGH POINT
EL. 5434.27'

GARAGE LEVEL GARAGE LEVEL

FIRST FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR SECOND FLOOR

THIRD FLOOR THIRD FLOOR

ROOF PLATE ROOF PLATE

MASONRY PLANTERPTD WOOD OR
MTL COLUMN

PAINTED RAILING

PTD WOOD OR
MTL COLUMN PTD WOOD OR

MTL LATTICE

10
'-

4"
10

'-
0"

10
'-

0"
8'

-0
"

40
'-

71/
4"

5'
-0

"

VINYL WINDOWS (TYP)
@ RESIDENTIAL

3'-6" HEIGHT WALL

BRICK VENEER

MTL GUARDRAIL

ASPHALT SHINGLE
ROOF

BRICK VENEER

NATURAL GRADE
EL. 5393.67'

EL. 5397.27'

EL. 5386.93'

EL. 5407.27'

EL. 5417.27'

EL. 5426.27'

outline of building at Disposition, approval based on 5'-0" reduction in height

HIGH POINT
EL. 5434.27'

GARAGE LEVEL GARAGE LEVEL

FIRST FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR SECOND FLOOR

THIRD FLOOR THIRD FLOOR

ROOF PLATE ROOF PLATE

40
'-

71/
4"

5'
-0

"

5'
-1

0"

12
'-

0"

9'
-7

"

10
'-

4"
10

'-
0"

10
'-

0"
17

'-
0"

EL. 5397.27'

EL. 5386.93'

EL. 5407.27'

EL. 5417.27'

HEIGHT OF PROPOSED
BROADWAY

P
R

O
P.

 L
IN

E

REVISED SOLAR SHADOW (per ADR2013-000192 and as req'd by LUR2008-00083 condition no. (5)(a)(ii)

25' ALLOWABLE

SOLAR FENCE

(SOLAR ACCESS AREA II)

WESTERN
RED ARROW

SOLAR SHADOW @ PREVIOUS SITE REVIEW

12' SOLAR FENCE

HEIGHT OF PREVIOUS
BROADWAY BUILDING

NATURAL GRADE EL. 5393.67'

EX SCHOOL ELEV 100.00'

PROPOSED BROAD ELEV 97.27'WESTERN RED ARROW ELEV 97.17'

SCALE: 1/8"   =    1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION
1

SCALE: 1/8"   =    1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION
2SCALE: 1/8"   =    1'-0"

RED ARROW SOLAR_BROADWAY
3

Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 28Packet Page     412



S  O  P  H  E  R
A R C H I T E C T S  L L C

PLANNING  ARCHITECTURE  DESIGN
O:  303 444-6902  as@arch-inc.com  M: 303 949-4056
1919 14th STREET, SUITE 610  BOULDER, CO  80302

w  w  w  .  a  r  c  h  -  i  n  c  .  c  o  m

1

BR
O

AD
W

AY
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

S

BY: SOPHER
JOB:

A2.3_R

W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 L

L
C

BO
U

LD
ER

, C
O

LO
R

AD
O

WV II

SITE REVIEW
SUBMITTAL

SITE REVIEW
RESUBMITTAL

12 SEPT
2008

17 NOV
2008

12
15

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
E

SITE REVIEW
AMENDMENT

6 JAN
2014

10
'-

4"
10

'-
0"

10
'-

0"
8'

-0
"

40
'-

71/
4"

5'
-0

"

3'-6" HEIGHT WALL

BRICK VENEER

PTD RAILING,TYP.

ASPHALT SHINGLE
ROOF

VINYL WINDOWS (TYP)
@ RESIDENTIAL

TRELLIS
TYP

PTD RAILING TYP

SIDING,TYP.

NATURAL GRADE
EL. 5393.67'

EL. 5397.27'

EL. 5386.93'

EL. 5407.27'

EL. 5417.27'

EL. 5426.27'

outline of building at Disposition, approval based on 5'-0" reduction in height

HIGH POINT
EL. 5434.27'

GARAGE LEVEL GARAGE LEVEL

FIRST FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR SECOND FLOOR

THIRD FLOOR THIRD FLOOR

ROOF PLATE ROOF PLATE

PTD WOOD OR
MTL COLUMN PTD WOOD OR

MTL COLUMNPTD WOOD OR
MTL LATTICE

10
'-

4"
10

'-
0"

10
'-

0"
8'

-0
"

40
'-

71/
4"

5'
-0

"

VINYL WINDOWS (TYP)
@ RESIDENTIAL

3'-6" HEIGHT WALL

BRICK VENEER

MTL GUARDRAIL

ASPHALT SHINGLE
ROOF

BRICK VENEER

NATURAL GRADE
EL. 5393.67'

EL. 5397.27'

EL. 5386.93'

EL. 5407.27'

EL. 5417.27'

EL. 5426.27'

outline of building at Disposition, approval based on 5'-0" reduction in height

HIGH POINT
EL. 5434.27'

GARAGE LEVEL GARAGE LEVEL

FIRST FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR SECOND FLOOR

THIRD FLOOR THIRD FLOOR

ROOF PLATE ROOF PLATE

SCALE: 1/8"   =    1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION
1

SCALE: 1/8"   =    1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION
2

Attachment C - Project Plans

Call Up Item 1C     Page 29Packet Page     413



 

Packet Page     414



 
 
 

SITE REVIEW 
 

(h) Criteria for Review: No site review application shall be approved unless the approving agency finds that: 

(1) Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan: 

(A) The proposed site plan is consistent with the land use map and the service area map and, on balance, 
the policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 

The Washington Village project has been found to be compatible with the policies of the comprehensive plan, 
including but not limited to, policies related to compact land use pattern, infill development, mixed-use, affordable 
housing, mixture of housing types, historic preservation, and sensitive infill and development. 
 
(B) The proposed development shall not exceed the maximum density associated with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan residential land use designation. Additionally, if the density of existing residential 
development within a three-hundred-foot area surrounding the site is at or exceeds the density permitted in 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, then the maximum density permitted on the site shall not exceed 
the lesser of: 

(i) The density permitted in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, or 

The density permitted in the BVCP for the western portion of the site is 14 units or greater.  The subject project 
would be approximately 17.6 dwelling units per acre (du/ac) on that side- an increase from the previous 
approval which was for 15.8 du/ac.  The applicant has requested additional density pursuant to Section 9-8-
3(d), B.R.C. 1981.  Based on the ability of the project to meet the other aspects of these criteria, the amount of 
density is appropriate on the Broadway multi-modal corridor.  On the eastern portion where low density 
residential development is intended, the density would be approximately 4.6 dwelling units per acre, which is 
within the 2 to 6 units per acre range for Low Density Residential. 
 

(ii) The maximum number of units that could be placed on the site without waiving or varying any of the 
requirements of chapter 9-8, "Intensity Standards," B.R.C. 1981. 

(C) The proposed development's success in meeting the broad range of BVCP policies considers the 
economic feasibility of implementation techniques required to meet other site review criteria. 

The development would not be rendered infeasible in meeting the BVCP policies or the Site Review criteria. 
 

(2) Site Design: Projects should preserve and enhance the community's unique sense of place through 
creative design that respects historic character, relationship to the natural environment, multi-modal 
transportation connectivity and its physical setting. Projects should utilize site design techniques which 
are consistent with the purpose of site review in subsection (a) of this section and enhance the quality of 
the project. In determining whether this subsection is met, the approving agency will consider the following 
factors: 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 30Packet Page     415

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-6.htm


(A) Open Space: Open space, including, without limitation, parks, recreation areas, and playgrounds: 

(i) Useable open space is arranged to be accessible and functional and incorporates quality 
landscaping, a mixture of sun and shade and places to gather; 

The project provides nearly three times the amount of open space as required (i.e., 55% where 20% required) 
on the RH-2 portion.  In addition, 23% of the RL-1 portion is allocated as an open space in process to be 
dedicated to the city as a pocket park at the corner of Cedar Avenue and 13th Street.  The space is set aside as 
a result of community requests for a publicly accessible open space similar to the function it now serves.  All of 
the open spaces on the property would be accessible and functional and would contain quality landscaping and 
appropriate plantings to achieve a mix of sun and shade. 
 
 (ii) Private open space is provided for each detached residential unit; 

With the exception of several units proposed within the historic school building, most units, attached and 
detached, would have private open space, which exceeds the intent of the criterion and the requirements of the 
RH-2 zone. This requirement does not require private open space for attached units; nevertheless, most 
attached units would have the benefit of private open space and those that do not, would benefit from the 
ample common open space provided on the site.   
 
(iii) The project provides for the preservation of or mitigation of adverse impacts to natural features, 
including, without limitation, healthy long-lived trees, significant plant communities, ground and 
surface water, wetlands, riparian areas, drainage areas and species on the federal Endangered Species 
List, "Species of Special Concern in Boulder County" designated by Boulder County, or prairie dogs 
(Cynomys ludiovicianus), which is a species of local concern, and their habitat; 

There are no significant plant communities, wetland or riparian areas that are of environmental concern on the 
property.  There are, however, a good number of mature trees.  A previously recorded covenant has required 
the preservation of matures within 50 feet of 13th Street right-of-way on the east side of the site.  The applicant 
has submitted a tree preservation plan and a report from an arborist assessing the health of all trees.  The plan 
has been reviewed by the city and has been found to be accurate and appropriate in its depiction of trees that 
are proposed for preservation.  For instance, large trees are proposed in the southeastern green space area, 
along the north property line (those that are healthy), a Maple tree in the courtyard space, and in the 
southwestern view shed area.  To avoid the removal of trees along the north lot line of the development, a 
condition of approval requires the relocation of a proposed water main into the Cedar Avenue right-of-way. 
 
(iv) The open space provides a relief to the density, both within the project and from surrounding 
development; 

Aside from the Broadway Building’s closer location to Broadway where relief to density is provided in the 
articulated building (as discussed in Section 9-2-14(h)(2)(F)(i), B.R.C. 1981 below) more than in open space, 
the perimeter of the site on the majority of all other sides would have landscaped setbacks that would exceed 
code requirements providing a relief from the density to surrounding development. Further, the proposed 
southeastern open space would also provide such relief to the neighborhood. Within the development, 
landscape pathways, greenspace in front of the school, and the interior courtyard would provide appropriate 
relief to the density. 
 
One area along the perimeter that does not appear to be appropriately buffered to surrounding development is 
the location of the access drive along the existing fence line between the three single-family homes locations to 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 31Packet Page     416



the existing single family home to the north. Although the drive increases the level of separation between the 
buildings in that area than what could occur, the impacts of vehicular noise and activity along the lot line would 
not be appropriate relief.  A condition of approval has been applied to the project that would require a minimum 
landscape buffer of no less than 5 feet from the existing fence line to be appropriately planted with bushes and 
trees to increase compatibility between the properties.  Further, a wood fence would be required to replace the 
existing chain link fence in that location providing additional screening above the new landscape strip and 
existing vegetation.  This condition would not permit the building sites from reducing the size of the proposed 
southeastern open space. 
 
 (v) Open space designed for active recreational purposes is of a size that it will be functionally useable 
and located in a safe and convenient proximity to the uses to which it is meant to serve; 

Most of the spaces for open space are located in close proximity to residential uses and thus, are of a more 
passive character.  However, the 0.3 acre green space located in the site’s southwest corner would be of 
adequate size to accommodate more active recreational uses. Removal of the stormwater facilities on the 
green space has been required to make the space functionally useable consistent with this criterion. This is 
space is in process to be dedicated by the applicant to the city as public park. 
 
(vi) The open space provides a buffer to protect sensitive environmental features and natural areas; 
and 

The site is an infill site where there are no sensitive natural areas are to be buffered. 
 
(vii) If possible, open space is linked to an area- or city-wide system. 

The site is located in a developed location where connections to the sidewalk system are provided along the 
perimeter of the development.  Community Park, three blocks to the west, is easily accessed by walking or 
biking. 
 

(B) Open Space in Mixed Use Developments (Developments That Contain a Mix of Residential and 
Nonresidential Uses): 

(i) The open space provides for a balance of private and shared areas for the residential uses and 
common open space that is available for use by both the residential and nonresidential uses that will 
meet the needs of the anticipated residents, occupants, tenants, and visitors of the property; and 

Most residential units have private open space for their use.  A majority of the development, as a mixed-use co-
housing development, contains ample open space for use of the residents and the greater neighborhood.  This 
results in an appropriate balance for residents and visitors to the property. 
 
(ii) The open space provides active areas and passive areas that will meet the needs of the anticipated 
residents, occupants, tenants, and visitors of the property and are compatible with the surrounding 
area or an adopted plan for the area. 

As noted above, the project is an infill project that is mostly residential.  The project provides more open space 
than is required and has a greater diversity of private and shared areas than typical projects. However, in line 
with the discussion in (A)(iii) above, this criterion requires active open spaces open to anticipated residents, 
occupants, tenants, and visitors of the property.  The elimination of the drainage detention area would increase 
the functionality of the space for more active recreational purposes like small scale football and/or Frisbee and 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 32Packet Page     417



would enable the project to have an appropriate balance of passive and active recreational spaces. 
 

(C) Landscaping: 

(i) The project provides for aesthetic enhancement and a variety of plant and hard surface materials, 
and the selection of materials provides for a variety of colors and contrasts and the preservation or use 
of local native vegetation where appropriate; 

The project includes a large assortment of plantings filling landscape areas, as well as green spaces and hard 
surface areas that will be attractive and inviting to residents and visitors. 
 
(ii) Landscape design attempts to avoid, minimize or mitigate impacts on and off site to important 
native species, healthy, long lived trees, plant communities of special concern, threatened and 
endangered species and habitat by integrating the existing natural environment into the project; 

The project has historically been used as a school and thus, its development is infill and would not impact any 
native flora or fauna.   
 
(iii) The project provides significant amounts of plant material sized in excess of the landscaping 
requirements of sections 9-9-12, "Landscaping and Screening Standards," and 9-9-13, "Streetscape 
Design Standards," B.R.C. 1981; and 

With the ample amount of open space and variety of plants, the project would exceed the standards of the 
landscaping regulations. 
 
(iv) The setbacks, yards and useable open space along public rights of way are landscaped to provide 
attractive streetscapes, to enhance architectural features and to contribute to the development of an 
attractive site plan. 

All three streetscapes of the property would include landscaping and tree plantings that would improve the 
attractiveness of the site plan. The applicant has agreed to move utilities along Broadway to allow for the 
installation of street trees per City requirements.  New street trees are proposed and several street trees are 
proposed to remain along both Broadway and Cedar, which will contribute to an attractive streetscape. 
 

(D) Circulation: Circulation, including, without limitation, the transportation system that serves the 
property, whether public or private and whether constructed by the developer or not: 

(i) High speeds are discouraged or a physical separation between streets and the project is provided; 

The site is primarily accessed by a shared access drive and a vehicular entry to the Broadway Building.  The 
access drive is narrow (roughly 24 feet wide), lined by garages and residences, crossed by pedestrian 
crosswalks, and takes a 90 degree turn, and furthermore, the vehicular entry to the Broadway Building is 
interrupted by a landscape island – all of these aspects will discourage high speed travel. 
 
 (ii) Potential conflicts with vehicles are minimized; 

The site would be served by three access points which channel vehicles into the site and off of the street 
system.  All single-family residences would be rear loaded and thus, the need for driveways for each unit is 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 33Packet Page     418

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_12
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_13


eliminated, which reduce potential conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians.  Based on the designed pathway 
system within the project, it is possible to cross through the entire site with only one interface between 
sidewalks and the proposed shared access drive.  The basic site design adequately reduces potential conflict 
with vehicles. 
 
(iii) Safe and convenient connections are provided that support multi-modal mobility through and 
between properties, accessible to the public within the project and between the project and the existing 
and proposed transportation systems, including, without limitation, streets, bikeways, pedestrianways 
and trails; 

The project has various pedestrian access points that connect to the existing sidewalk system.  The project is 
also conveniently located adjacent to an established bike route on 13th Street. 
 
(iv) Alternatives to the automobile are promoted by incorporating site design techniques, land use 
patterns, and supporting infrastructure that supports and encourages walking, biking, and other 
alternatives to the single-occupant vehicle; 

The co-housing nature of the project is expected to generate less traffic. Beyond that aspect, the project has 
bicycle parking to encourage use of the bike (considering the nearby bike route) and a car share program to 
discourage vehicle ownership.  Further, a new bus stop will be provided along Broadway encouraging 
convenient transit usage.   
 
(v) Where practical and beneficial, a significant shift away from single-occupant vehicle use to alternate 
modes is promoted through the use of travel demand management techniques; 

The applicant has agreed to implement TDM strategies to minimize the necessity of automobile use within the 
development.  Such strategies are provided bicycle parking in excess of requirements and participation a 
vehicle sharing program among other incentives to encourage residents to not own vehicles. 
 
(vi) On-site facilities for external linkage are provided with other modes of transportation, where 
applicable; 

As noted above, the applicant has provided adequate bike storage and a new bus stop to encourage alternative 
modes of travel. 
 
(vii) The amount of land devoted to the street system is minimized; and 

The site is accessed by one shared access drive and one car entry point to the Broadway Building leaving most 
of the site allocated to buildings and open space. A majority of parking is subterranean.   
 
(viii) The project is designed for the types of traffic expected, including, without limitation, automobiles, 
bicycles, and pedestrians, and provides safety, separation from living areas, and control of noise and 
exhaust. 

Automobile areas are confined to the access to the Broadway Building and the shared access drive.  
Otherwise, the majority of the site contains pedestrian paths and living areas, which are appropriately 
separated from the externalities of automobiles. 
 

(E) Parking: 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 34Packet Page     419



(i) The project incorporates into the design of parking areas measures to provide safety, convenience, 
and separation of pedestrian movements from vehicular movements; 

The parking areas provided in the development are linear in nature, which minimize the amount pedestrians 
must interface with automobiles.  Where there is interaction, raised crosswalks and convenient access to 
stairways are provided. 
 
(ii) The design of parking areas makes efficient use of the land and uses the minimum amount of land 
necessary to meet the parking needs of the project; 

Most of the parking areas are proposed in subterranean parking garages under the Broadway Building and in 
garages under the carriage houses and duplexes.  With only six surface parking spaces (potentially 9 per 
condition), the visual impact and areas dedicated to parking would be minimal. 
 
(iii) Parking areas and lighting are designed to reduce the visual impact on the project, adjacent 
properties, and adjacent streets; and 

As noted above, most of the parking areas are subterranean and would not significantly affect the aesthetics of 
the site.  Lighting would be internal, also minimizing any externalities of parking areas. 
 
(iv) Parking areas utilize landscaping materials to provide shade in excess of the requirements in 
subsection 9-9-6(d), and section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981. 

Most parking is within buildings; however, the vehicle turnaround and drop off area in the southwest corner of 
the site would be the most visible area of vehicular activity. The applicant has proposed ample landscaping, 
including a raised planter, in that area to minimize any adverse aesthetic effects. 
 

(F) Building Design, Livability, and Relationship to the Existing or Proposed Surrounding Area: 

(i) The building height, mass, scale, orientation, architecture and configuration are compatible with the 
existing character of the area or the character established by adopted design guidelines or plans for 
the area; 

This factor is met as follows: 
 

• The height of the majority of the proposed buildings on the site would conform to the 35-foot height 
limitation for the RH-2 and RL-1 districts.  In fact, most of the multi-family buildings would not exceed 
30 feet.  The Broadway Building would be built at 41 feet (per previous condition of approval). 

• The mass of the interior buildings would be appropriate, since they are all well articulated and would 
not appear imposing, since most are only two stories and those over two stories are of similar stature to 
large single family homes, which exist in the neighborhood.   

• Additional floor area proposed for the development would be within the massing, footprints and 
basements of buildings and would not contribute to any additional perceivable bulk. While additional 
floor area is proposed, the massing of buildings would actually decrease as a result of design changes 
to the Broadway Building.  For instance, the Broadway Building has been reduced in height by 5 feet 
per the previous condition of approval. The massing is less, because the reduced height was achieved 
by sinking the building and subterranean parking deeper into the ground. This design enables the 
retention of the hip roof as opposed to what may have been a perceivably taller building with a flat roof. 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 35Packet Page     420

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_14


• Aside from the historic school, the Broadway Building would be the most massive on the site.  Its size 
would be noticeable by virtue of its length along Broadway at 194 feet.  This compares to a roughly 170 
foot length of the Broadway Brownstones project to the south.  The length is not considered out of 
context since it is mostly two story massing along the streetscape with relief provided by upper floor 
setbacks.  Where the first story is at 17 feet at its closest point to the Broadway lot line (this correlates 
to setbacks of buildings across the street), the second story would be set back 22 feet (which matches 
the setbacks of the Broadway Brownstones one block down) and the third floor would be set back 34 
feet, which is 9 feet more than the required setback on that side.  The entire length of the building is 
well articulated and will not present any more mass than the Broadway Brownstones building along 
Broadway.  Concentrating massing along Broadway is considered a more practical way of 
accommodating the density on the site, as the alternative could present greater impacts to the single-
family neighborhood on the project’s east side. 

• The orientation and configuration of buildings on the site are found compatible, in that all would orient 
to the three streetscapes (a condition is proposed that would require this) and the configuration of the 
buildings are appropriate to the different contexts on each side of the site. For example, buildings on 
the RH-2 side have larger footprints similar to other multi-family projects along the high density 
residential Broadway corridor, whereas moving eastward on the sites, the form and footprints of 
buildings decrease to match the RL-1 single-family character on the east side. 
 

(ii) The height of buildings is in general proportion to the height of existing buildings and the proposed 
or projected heights of approved buildings or approved plans or design guidelines for the immediate 
area; 

The heights of the buildings, as noted above, have been found to be compatible with the height of existing for 
the immediate area and other buildings proposed for the site.  The existing Washington School building is over 
the height limit at nearly 50-feet and would continue to be the most prominent building on the site. The next 
tallest building would be the Broadway Building, which has been limited to no taller than 41 feet per previous 
condition of approval.  The applicant has already adjusted the design of the building to meet this height 
limitation while also retraining a hip roof design lending to more consistency in form to adjacent buildings on 
and around the site. The proposed building at that height will be in general proportion to the height of existing 
buildings considering the school building the height of Broadway Brownstones and the BHP building at 3120 
Broadway, which were both built to a height of 41-feet. 

 
 (iii) The orientation of buildings minimizes shadows on and blocking of views from adjacent 
properties; 

• Although there are views of the Flatirons and mountains from the site, they are considered marginal and 
not significant.  Most views are block by existing foliage. If the marginal views were considered of 
significant value, it would necessitate a severe restriction on building locations on the site – especially 
portions designated for high density residential.  Nevertheless, some views of the mountains to the west 
would be preserved, since the lowest portions of the Broadway Building roof would not block the views.  
Therefore, minimization of view blockage from the site is considered appropriate for the context of the 
project. 

• The RH-2 portion of the project is subject to the Solar Access area II standards which do not permit 
buildings to cast a shadow greater than what a 25-foot fence along the property lines would.  The applicant 
has located the buildings more than double (in some cases over triple) the required distance from the north 
property line in order to have the buildings not exceed a 12-foot solar fence, which is applied to single 
family neighborhoods.  Sunlight during the day of the lowest sun angle (Dec. 21st) would still be able to 
reach into dwelling units (i.e., Red Arrow Townhomes) at noon north of the property line. This is a 
significant minimization of shadowing beyond what the code allows.  Furthermore, considering the 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 36Packet Page     421



reduction in height of the Broadway Building, the solar shadow during worst case scenario (Dec. 21st), 
shadows cast would be equivalent to if a 6 foot fence were installed on the property. This is half the single-
family (Solar Access Area I) requirement where RH-2 requirements permit situations where a 25-foot solar 
fence would be code compliant.  
 

 (iv) If the character of the area is identifiable, the project is made compatible by the appropriate use of 
color, materials, landscaping, signs, and lighting; 

To match context, the project must be found compatible with the general character of the neighborhood, as well 
as the historic school.  The historic school is an iconic building, whereas away from Broadway, most of the 
neighborhood is of a single-family character that contains a variety of architectural styles from the early 1900s 
up to more current neo-traditional designs.  The project is found compatible as follows: 
 

• Most buildings on the site incorporate similar brickwork as the school and similar window and roof 
designs to match that of the school.  However, no incorporation of the school design aspects reaches 
the level of imitation, which is not preferred.  

• The proposed colors are subdued and generally, earth tone and would not compete with the school 
and/or look out of character with the neighborhood. 

• The proposed designs for the single-family homes, as ascertained from the applicant’s submitted 
design guidelines and pictures of example homes, is an appropriate design direction with the use of 
gable roofs, front porches and general forms that would not be overly massive and would be 
compatible with the neighborhood. Homes sizes are also be limited by condition to ensure scale 
compatibility. 
 

 (v) Projects are designed to a human scale and promote a safe and vibrant pedestrian experience 
through the location of building frontages along public streets, plazas, sidewalks and paths, and 
through the use of building elements, design details and landscape materials that include, without 
limitation, the location of entrances and windows, and the creation of transparency and activity at the 
pedestrian level; 

• The Broadway Building is designed with notable pedestrian interest with the building situated closer to 
the street as in similar urban situations, ample fenestration along the street and on upper floors, 
interesting articulation and wall details, and a large porch entryway to the Broadway Building in the 
center part of its frontage. The emphasis of two-story massing of the building along Broadway would 
also be appropriate to the pedestrian scale.  This area is also proposed to be well landscaped. 

• Visual interest along Cedar Avenue would be provided by the southwest viewshed and open space in 
front of the school where landscaping and preserved trees would be within the space.  Aside from the 
entryway into the Broadway Building, the entirety of the Cedar Avenue frontage would be landscaped 
open space.   

• A condition of approval would require single family buildings to present attractive street faces along 13th 
and onto the proposed greenspace consistent with this criterion. The 13th Street streetscape is, 
otherwise, found consistent with this criterion with the preserved greenspace. 
 

(vi) To the extent practical, the project provides public amenities and planned public facilities; 

Following the public process and review of this project, the applicant has provided a 13,160 square foot open 
space area intended to be a pocket park.  It is in process to be dedicated to the city as a public park. This 
dedication is above and beyond a typical development review project. 
 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 37Packet Page     422



(vii) For residential projects, the project assists the community in producing a variety of housing types, 
such as multifamily, townhouses and detached single family units, as well as mixed lot sizes, number 
of bedrooms and sizes of units; 

The project provides a range of smaller one-bedroom affordable units up to larger market-rate units of two or 
three bedrooms, as well as single-family residences.   
 
(viii) For residential projects, noise is minimized between units, between buildings, and from either on-
site or off-site external sources through spacing, landscaping, and building materials; 

The Broadway Building serves as the largest buffer of noise, by blocking vehicular traffic noise from Broadway 
and created a more sedate internal open space framed by the interior buildings.  The duplexes and carriage 
houses would serve as buffers from interior automotive noise.  The construction of the on-site buildings would 
otherwise follow standard building code practices for minimizing noise between units.   
 
(ix) A lighting plan is provided which augments security, energy conservation, safety, and aesthetics; 

Lighting has been evaluated through the Technical Documents process and meets the Outdoor Lighting code 
and the intent of this criterion. 

 (x) The project incorporates the natural environment into the design and avoids, minimizes, or 
mitigates impacts to natural systems; 

The site has been developed with a school for over 100 years. The recent development of the site will 
therefore, not impact any natural systems and incorporates mature trees in its preservation plan. 

 (xi) Buildings minimize or mitigate energy use; support on-site renewable energy generation and/or 
energy management systems; construction wastes are minimized; the project mitigates urban heat 
island effects; and the project reasonably mitigates or minimizes water use and impacts on water 
quality. 

The applicant has committed to doing energy efficient homes and this is demonstrated by Home Energy Rating 
System (HERS) scores that are close to net zero on the homes that have already been issued building permits. 
This has been achieved through installation of geothermal energy systems and structural insulated panel wall 
systems. The applicant also intends to make upgrades to the existing school to make the building more energy 
efficient. 

(xii) Exteriors or buildings present a sense of permanence through the use of authentic materials such 
as stone, brick, wood, metal or similar products and building material detailing; 

The entirety of the project includes a mix of brick, wood and stucco. While stucco is used within the 
development, brick to match the historic school will be used on almost all buildings in efforts to tie the 
architecture of the site together with the historic school. The Broadway Building will be almost entirely brick and 
will provide a high quality and visible presence on Broadway. Most buildings with a public face include brick. In 
whole, the materials appropriately tie the historic architecture with more contemporary designs and present a 
sense of permanence. 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 38Packet Page     423



(xiii) Cut and fill are minimized on the site, the design of buildings conforms to the natural contours of 
the land, and the site design minimizes erosion, slope instability, landslide, mudflow or subsidence, 
and minimizes the potential threat to property caused by geological hazards; 

The project is on a largely level site, but does require some grading to level out intended open spaces and to 
create the subterranean parking underneath the Broadway Building.  Some contouring is necessary to facilitate 
appropriate drainage, but is not excessive, nor would it create any impact to natural systems or create any 
potential geological threat. 
 
(xiv) In the urbanizing areas along the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan boundaries between Area II 
and Area III, the building and site design provide for a well-defined urban edge; and 

The site is within Area I and therefore, this criterion is inapplicable. 

(xv) In the urbanizing areas located on the major streets shown on the map in Appendix A of this title 
near the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan boundaries between Area II and Area III, the buildings and 
site design establish a sense of entry and arrival to the City by creating a defined urban edge and a 
transition between rural and urban areas. 

The site is within Area I and therefore, this criterion is inapplicable. 

(G) Solar Siting and Construction: For the purpose of ensuring the maximum potential for utilization of 
solar energy in the City, all applicants for residential site reviews shall place streets, lots, open spaces, and 
buildings so as to maximize the potential for the use of solar energy in accordance with the following solar 
siting criteria: 

(i) Placement of Open Space and Streets: Open space areas are located wherever practical to protect 
buildings from shading by other buildings within the development or from buildings on adjacent 
properties. Topography and other natural features and constraints may justify deviations from this 
criterion. 

The applicant has been working on an optimal layout of buildings considering the location of the existing school, 
where higher densities are intended, and the required viewshed of no development in the site’s southwest 
corner.  Under these conditions, the applicant has positioned the buildings such that shadowing of the on-site 
open space and onto properties to the north would occur.  Nevertheless, the project would conform to the solar 
regulations and considering the applicant’s attempts at minimizing impact on solar access to the north and the 
above mentioned constraining factors, the placement of open space is considered the most practical. 
 
(ii) Lot Layout and Building Siting: Lots are oriented and buildings are sited in a way which maximizes 
the solar potential of each principal building. Lots are designed to facilitate siting a structure which is 
unshaded by other nearby structures. Wherever practical, buildings are sited close to the north lot line 
to increase yard space to the south for better owner control of shading. 

As stated above, buildings are sited in a practical way to deal with a number of constraints on the site, as well 
as considering these criteria.  Buildings are located to the north as much as possible to increase yard space to 
the south while also ensuring a minimal shadowing impact to Red Arrow Townhomes. Reduced impacts on Red 
Arrow also are achieved by the additional lowering of the Broadway Building’s height.  Nevertheless, it is 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 39Packet Page     424



expected that some shading from the historic school upon the north building and courtyard would occur during 
winter months, but not to an extent found unacceptable.  Other buildings on the site, otherwise, are sited such 
that shading from historic school would not preclude the use of solar systems. 
  
(iii) Building Form: The shapes of buildings are designed to maximize utilization of solar energy. 
Buildings shall meet the solar access protection and solar siting requirements of section 9-9-17, "Solar 
Access," B.R.C. 1981. 

Most buildings on the site would have gable and hip roof forms and would have surfaces conducive to the 
installation of solar energy systems. 
 
(iv) Landscaping: The shading effects of proposed landscaping on adjacent buildings are minimized. 

Most of the mature trees on the site on concentrated along the south lot line and furthest from the majority of 
new buildings on the site. 
 
(H) Additional Criteria for Poles Above the Permitted Height: No site review application for a pole above 
the permitted height will be approved unless the approving agency finds all of the following: 

Not applicable to this project. 
 
(i) The light pole is required for nighttime recreation activities which are compatible with the 
surrounding neighborhood, light or traffic signal pole is required for safety, or the electrical utility pole 
is required to serve the needs of the City; and 

(ii) The pole is at the minimum height appropriate to accomplish the purposes for which the pole was 
erected and is designed and constructed so as to minimize light and electromagnetic pollution. 

(I) Land Use Intensity Modifications: 

Not applicable and not requested. 
 

(i) Potential Land Use Intensity Modifications: 

a. The density of a project may be increased in the BR-1 district through a reduction of the lot area 
requirement or in the Downtown (DT), BR-2, or MU-3 districts through a reduction in the open space 
requirements. 

b. The open space requirements in all Downtown (DT) districts may be reduced by up to one 
hundred percent. 

c. The open space per lot requirements for the total amount of open space required on the lot in the 
BR-2 district may be reduced by up to fifty percent. 

d. Land use intensity may be increased up to twenty-five percent in the BR-1 district through a 
reduction of the lot area requirement. 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 40Packet Page     425

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_17


(ii) Additional Criteria for Land Use Intensity Modifications: A land use intensity increase will be 
permitted up to the maximum amount set forth below if the approving agency finds that the criteria in 
paragraph (h)(1) through subparagraph (h)(2)(H) of this section and following criteria have been met: 

a. Open Space Needs Met: The needs of the project's occupants and visitors for high quality and 
functional useable open space can be met adequately; 

b. Character of Project and Area: The open space reduction does not adversely affect the character 
of the development or the character of the surrounding area; and 

c. Open Space and Lot Area Reductions: The specific percentage reduction in open space or lot 
area requested by the applicant is justified by any one or combination of the following site design 
features not to exceed the maximum reduction set forth above:  

1. Close proximity to a public mall or park for which the development is specially assessed or to 
which the project contributes funding of capital improvements beyond that required by the 
parks and recreation component of the development excise tax set forth in chapter 3-8, 
"Development Excise Tax," B.R.C. 1981: maximum one hundred percent reduction in all 
Downtown (DT) districts and ten percent in the BR-1 district; 

2. Architectural treatment that results in reducing the apparent bulk and mass of the structure 
or structures and site planning which increases the openness of the site: maximum five percent 
reduction; 

3. A common park, recreation, or playground area functionally useable and accessible by the 
development's occupants for active recreational purposes and sized for the number of 
inhabitants of the development, maximum five percent reduction; or developed facilities within 
the project designed to meet the active recreational needs of the occupants: maximum five 
percent reduction; 

4. Permanent dedication of the development to use by a unique residential population whose 
needs for conventional open space are reduced: maximum five percent reduction; 

5. The reduction in open space is part of a development with a mix of residential and 
nonresidential uses within a BR-2 zoning district that, due to the ratio of residential to 
nonresidential uses and because of the size, type, and mix of dwelling units, the need for open 
space is reduced: maximum fifteen percent reduction; and 

6. The reduction in open space is part of a development with a mix of residential and 
nonresidential uses within a BR-2 zoning district that provides high quality urban design 
elements that will meet the needs of anticipated residents, occupants, tenants, and visitors of 
the property or will accommodate public gatherings, important activities, or events in the life of 
the community and its people, that may include, without limitation, recreational or cultural 
amenities, intimate spaces that foster social interaction, street furniture, landscaping, and hard 
surface treatments for the open space: maximum twenty-five percent reduction. 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 41Packet Page     426

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter3-8.htm


(J) Additional Criteria for Floor Area Ratio Increase for Buildings in the BR-1 District: 

Not applicable and not requested. 
 

 (i) Process: For buildings in the BR-1 district, the floor area ratio ("FAR") permitted under table 8-2, 
section 9-8-2, "Floor Area Ratio Requirements," B.R.C. 1981, may be increased by the city manager 
under the criteria set forth in this subparagraph. 

(ii) Maximum FAR Increase: The maximum FAR increase allowed for buildings thirty-five feet and over 
in height in the BR-1 district shall be from 2:1 to 4:1. 

(iii) Criteria for the BR-1 District: The FAR may be increased in the BR-1 district to the extent allowed in 
subparagraph (h)(2)(J)(ii) of this section if the approving agency finds that the following criteria are 
met: 

a. Site and building design provide open space exceeding the required useable open space by at 
least ten percent: an increase in FAR not to exceed 0.25:1. 

b. Site and building design provide private outdoor space for each office unit equal to at least ten 
percent of the lot area for buildings twenty-five feet and under and at least twenty percent of the lot 
area for buildings above twenty-five feet: an increase in FAR not to exceed 0.25:1. 

c. Site and building design provide a street front facade and an alley facade at a pedestrian scale, 
including, without limitation, features such as awnings and windows, well-defined building 
entrances, and other building details: an increase in FAR not to exceed 0.25:1. 

d. For a building containing residential and nonresidential uses in which neither use comprises less 
than twenty-five percent of the total square footage: an increase in FAR not to exceed 1:1. 

e. The unused portion of the allowed FAR of historic buildings designated as landmarks under 
chapter 9-11, "Historic Preservation," B.R.C. 1981, may be transferred to other sites in the same 
zoning district. However, the increase in FAR of a proposed building to which FAR is transferred 
under this subparagraph may not exceed an increase of 0.5:1. 

f. For a building which provides one full level of parking below grade, an increase in FAR not to 
exceed 0.5:1 may be granted. 

(K) Additional Criteria for Parking Reductions: The off-street parking requirements of section 9-9-6, 
"Parking Standards," B.R.C. 1981, may be modified as follows: 

(i) Process: The city manager may grant a parking reduction not to exceed fifty percent of the required 
parking. The planning board or city council may grant a reduction exceeding fifty percent. 

When the project was originally approved, the previous RH-2 parking standards applied 
whereby one parking space was required for the first 800 square feet of a unit and one 
additional parking space was required for every 300 square feet (or portion thereof) 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 42Packet Page     427

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-8.htm#section9_8_2
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-11.htm
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6


afterwards. This was one of the highest parking requirements in the city and was generally 
meant to apply to RH-2 areas in proximity to the university where there were instances of 
students doubling up within rooms. This restrictive standard often resulted in requests for 
parking reductions. For the Washington Village II project, a parking reduction of over 50 
percent was required and was approved in 2009. 
 
This parking standard was amended in 2012 to be more synonymous with other RH zones 
with calculations based on bedroom counts. The current requirement is outlined below: 
 

1-bedroom units 1 parking space 
2-bedroom units 1.5 parking spaces 
3-bedroom units 2 parking spaces 
4 or more bedroom units 3 parking spaces 

 
When applied to the Washington Village project, the following number of residential spaces is 
required: 
 

Unit type Unit count Requirement Total 
1-bedroom units 6 units 1 parking space 6 spaces 
2-bedroom units 18 units 1.5 parking spaces 27 spaces 
3-bedroom units 6 units 2 parking spaces 12 spaces 

Total Residential parking 30 units NA 45 spaces 
Extra spaces for additional 
future bedrooms 

NA NA 2 spaces 

Total Commercial parking
  

NA 1 space per 300 sf 8 spaces 

Total required spaces  30 units & 
2,650 sf of 
commercial 

See above 55 spaces 

Total spaces provided  49 spaces 
 
The current requirement is for a total of 55 parking spaces on the RH-2 side.  Previous 
requirements required 105 spaces for both residential and non-residential. The applicant is 
proposing 49 on-site parking spaces. This amounts to an 11 percent parking reduction. 
 

 (ii) Criteria: Upon submission of documentation by the applicant of how the project meets the following 
criteria, the approving agency may approve proposed modifications to the parking requirements of 
section 9-9-6, "Parking Standards," B.R.C. 1981 (see tables 9-1, 9-2, 9-3 and 9-4), if it finds that: 

a. For residential uses, the probable number of motor vehicles to be owned by occupants of and 
visitors to dwellings in the project will be adequately accommodated; 

The submitted parking study dated March 13, 2014 indicates that peak residential need during the peak 
time (i.e., night time) would be 42 parking spaces where 49 spaces would be available. During the day, the 
peak need would be 35 parking spaces, where 41 spaces would be available to residential (8 spaces would 
be allotted to commercial until 4pm by condition of approval). Based on these conclusions, the probable 
number of motor vehicles to be owned by occupants of and visitors will be adequately accommodated. 
 
In addition, the applicant is required to employ TDM strategies to encourage residents to own less or have 
no cars.  The TDM prepared by the applicant has been reviewed and found to be appropriate in its 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 43Packet Page     428

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6


provision of on-site bicycle parking (which exceeds requirements), a bike pool and car share program.  The 
TDM also indicates that incentives, such as the provision of transit passes, would be allotted to residents 
that do not have a car as an incentive to free up parking spaces on the site and to reduce vehicles trips 
from the site, which is the principal goal of TDM strategies. 
 

b. The parking needs of any nonresidential uses will be adequately accommodated through on-
street parking or off-street parking; 

Eight (8) off-street parking spaces would be allotted to the non-residential uses on the site.  They would be 
restricted to non-residential uses for the majority of the day (8am to 4pm).  Eight spaces meet the required 
number of spaces for the proposed office use. Further, office spaces would be required to close at 6pm to 
ensure spaces are available during times of peak need for residential. 
 
c. A mix of residential with either office or retail uses is proposed, and the parking needs of all uses 
will be accommodated through shared parking; 

The submitted parking study prepared by Transportation Consultants, Inc. and dated March 13, 2014 
indicates a peak need of 47 parking spaces for residential and office uses on the site.  With 49 on-site 
parking spaces available and considering the conditions of approval referenced below, the parking needs of 
both uses, which would rely on shared parking, would be met on the site. 
 
-A condition of approval requires that the 8 spaces allotted to office uses during daytime hours be open for 
residential use after 4pm. 

 
-A condition of approval restricts the office use to 8am and 6pm, thus eliminating any office need between 
10pm and 8am. 
 
 
d. If joint use of common parking areas is proposed, varying time periods of use will accommodate 
proposed parking needs; and 

Parking for office uses would be reserved during the hours of 8am and 4pm.  After 4pm, the parking spaces 
would be available for residential uses, which enable the project to better meet the peak demand during 
evening hours. Office spaces would be required to close at 6pm to ensure spaces are available during 
times of peak need for residential. 
 
 
e. If the number of off-street parking spaces is reduced because of the nature of the occupancy, the 
applicant provides assurances that the nature of the occupancy will not change. 

Should the occupancy of the development change such that its occupancy would require more parking than 
a standard residential development, a reconsideration of the Site Review and parking reduction would be 
required. The applicant is aware of this condition. 
 

 (L) Additional Criteria for Off-Site Parking: The parking required under section 9-9-6, "Parking Standards," 
B.R.C. 1981, may be located on a separate lot if the following conditions are met: 

Not applicable and not requested. 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 44Packet Page     429

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6


 
 (i) The lots are held in common ownership; 

(ii) The separate lot is in the same zoning district and located within three hundred feet of the lot that it 
serves; and 

(iii) The property used for off-site parking under this subparagraph continues under common 
ownership or control. 

USE REVIEW 
 
The responses to the following criteria reflect the previously approved criteria as part of application LUR2008-00083 and 
have been updated to reflect the numbers associated with the reduction of 300 square feet of office space. 

(e) Criteria for Review: No use review application will be approved unless the approving agency finds all of the 
following: 

(1) Consistency With Zoning and Nonconformity: The use is consistent with the purpose of the zoning district 
as set forth in section 9-5-2, "Zoning Districts," B.R.C. 1981, except in the case of a nonconforming use; 

The RH-2 zoning districts are high density residential areas primarily used for a variety of types of attached residential 
units, including, without limitation, apartment buildings, and where complementary uses may be allowed.  The proposed 
project includes 30 attached residential units concentrated along Broadway as intended by the zoning code and the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan for development along multi-model corridors.  Commercial uses (i.e., professional 
and technical offices) and community facilities have been found complementary, as there are examples of office along 
Broadway in similar or greater square footages and also since the site will accommodate parking needed for those 
uses.   

(2) Rationale: The use either: 

(A) Provides direct service or convenience to or reduces adverse impacts to the surrounding uses or 
neighborhood; 

The proposed uses would be concentrated on the high density portion of the site nearest to Broadway where higher 
intensities are expected to occur and where policies encourage mixed-use.  By locating the commercial uses at 
ground level on that side, they serve as a buffer to the residential uses on the interior of the site from the noise and 
traffic associated with Broadway.  The project itself, in how it is arranged, is done to reflect a transition of the higher 
intensities of the RH (High Density Residential) district down to the lower intensities of the RL (Low Density) portion 
of the site where the density and scale decrease.  The commercial uses would encourage more pedestrian activity 
on this northern stretch of Broadway, but would be appropriately buffered from the single-family character to the 
east. 

(B) Provides a compatible transition between higher intensity and lower intensity uses; 

(C) Is necessary to foster a specific city policy, as expressed in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, 
including, without limitation, historic preservation, moderate income housing, residential and 
nonresidential mixed uses in appropriate locations, and group living arrangements for special populations; 
or 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 45Packet Page     430

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-5.htm#section9_5_2


(D) Is an existing legal nonconforming use or a change thereto that is permitted under subsection (f) of this 
section; 

(3) Compatibility: The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed development or 
change to an existing development are such that the use will be reasonably compatible with and have minimal 
negative impact on the use of nearby properties or for residential uses in industrial zoning districts, the 
proposed development reasonably mitigates the potential negative impacts from nearby properties; 

As noted above, the office use would be concentrated on a portion of the site expected to have a greater intensity of 
use and scale, but would be appropriately buffered from the single-family character on the east side of the site.  The 
size of the office use is comparable to several office buildings that exist on this stretch of Broadway.  Some 
examples are the North Broadway Building at the corner of Elder Avenue and Broadway that is entirely commercial 
with 6,745 square feet and 3093 Broadway, which is also entirely commercial with 3,799 square feet.  Another 
mixed-use example is the Newland Court project at 3011 Broadway that contains condominiums and a 4,200 
square foot office building in an old Victorian building. All of these projects have compliant parking for commercial 
uses.  The subject proposal is for 2,654 square feet of commercial uses. The applicant has targeted professional 
and technical offices that would generate a lower incidence of customers coming to the site.  By having compliant 
parking and being concentrated directly on Broadway, the use reasonably mitigates the potential negative impacts 
on neighboring properties.  Therefore, the proposed office use is found to be compatible with the immediate 
neighborhood. Based on the square footage above, eight (8) commercial spaces would be required for the uses. 
This would be supplied on site per the updated condition of approval. 
 

(4) Infrastructure: As compared to development permitted under section 9-6-1, "Schedule of Permitted Land 
Uses," B.R.C. 1981, in the zone, or as compared to the existing level of impact of a nonconforming use, the 
proposed development will not significantly adversely affect the infrastructure of the surrounding area, 
including, without limitation, water, wastewater, and storm drainage utilities and streets; 

There is no evidence that the introduction of commercial uses and residential common facilities on the site would 
create an adverse impact to City infrastructure above what would be permitted by-right on the property or as 
compared to other commercial uses that already exist along Broadway. 

(5) Character of Area: The use will not change the predominant character of the surrounding area or the 
character established by adopted design guidelines or plans for the area; and 

The predominant character of this portion of Broadway is largely residential.  However, there are a number of 
commercial establishments that are comparable in size and location to the subject proposal.  This project would 
introduce a new development that incorporates a majority of residential with a smaller non-residential component, 
which is in line with the emerging mixed-use, more urban corridor occurring along Broadway.   

(6) Conversion of Dwelling Units to Nonresidential Uses: There shall be a presumption against approving the 
con-version of dwelling units in the residential zoning districts to nonresidential uses that are allowed pursuant 
to a use review, or through the change of one nonconforming use to another nonconforming use. The 
presumption against such a conversion may be overcome by a finding that the use to be approved serves 
another compel-ling social, human services, governmental or recreational need in the community, including, 
without limitation, a use for a daycare center, park, religious assembly, social service use, benevolent 
organization use, art or craft studio space, museum or an educational use. 

The project will result in 36 new dwelling units on the Washington Village site.  No conversions from residential to 
non-residential would occur. 

 

Attachment D - Staff Responses to Site and Use Review Criteria

Call Up Item 1C     Page 46Packet Page     431

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-6.htm#section9_6_1


 

Packet Page     432



Attachment E - City Council Notice of Disposition Feb. 25, 2009

Call Up Item 1C     Page 47Packet Page     433



Attachment E - City Council Notice of Disposition Feb. 25, 2009

Call Up Item 1C     Page 48Packet Page     434



Attachment E - City Council Notice of Disposition Feb. 25, 2009

Call Up Item 1C     Page 49Packet Page     435



Attachment E - City Council Notice of Disposition Feb. 25, 2009

Call Up Item 1C     Page 50Packet Page     436



Attachment E - City Council Notice of Disposition Feb. 25, 2009

Call Up Item 1C     Page 51Packet Page     437



 

Packet Page     438



 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 

      Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
 Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
 Chandler Van Schaack, Planner I  
 
Date:   April 16, 2014 
 
Subject:  Call-Up Item:  Use Review application, no. LUR2013-00065, for approval of an 11-
space parking lot as a second principal use in addition to a proposed 3-unit residential townhome 
development at 2360 Grove St. in the RH-2 zone district (see LUR2013-00051 for associated 
Site Review). 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On April 3, 2014, Planning 
Board unanimously approved 
(6-0, C. Gray absent) the 
subject application with the 
conditions found in the 
disposition of approval, 
provided as Attachment A.   
 
This Use Review request is to 
allow for a new residential 
townhome development 
project at 2360 Grove St. to 
include a second principal use 
consisting of 11 shared 
parking spaces for use by the 
neighboring commercial property to the east (1575 Folsom).  Please see Figure 1 for a vicinity map. 
A separate administrative Site Review application (for additional information please follow the 
links: www.bouldercolorado.gov  A to Z Planning Boardsearch for past meeting materials 
planning board201403.06.2014 PB Packet.) was required for the new residential townhome 
development due to requested setback modifications however, the proposed 3-unit townhome 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map 

PPPrrrooojjjeeecccttt    SSSiii ttteee:::    
222333666000   GGGrrrooovvveee   

111555777555   FFFooolllsssooommm   

Call Up Item 1D    Page 1Packet Page     439



development was not called up by Planning Board and is therefore not subject to call up by Council.  
The shared parking is considered a separate principal use because it is intended to serve a separate 
property not included in the residential development proposal. Per section 9-6-1, “Use Standards,” 
B.R.C. 1981, “automobile parking lots, garages, or car pool lots as a principal use” are permitted in 
the RH-2 zone only if approved through a Use Review process.  Pursuant to section 9-2-15, “Use 
Review,” B.R.C. 1981, the city manager shall review and submit a recommendation to the Planning 
Board for any application for a Use Review of a nonresidential use in a residential zone. It should be 
noted that while the residential development is not included in this Use Review request, approval of 
the Site Review application is conditioned on the applicant receiving approval of the shared parking 
through this Use Review application. Please see Attachment B for the applicant’s proposed plans. 
 
The Planning Board’s approval is subject to a 30-day call-up period by City Council which 
expires on May 5, 2014.  City Council is scheduled to consider this application for call-up at its 
April 16, 2014 public meeting. 
 
The staff memorandum of recommendation to Planning Board and other related background 
materials are available on the city website. Follow the links: www.bouldercolorado.gov  A to Z 
Planning Boardsearch for past meeting materials planning board201404.03.2014 PB 
Packet. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Staff time: The Use Review application has been processed through the provisions of a standard 
review process and is within normal staff work plans. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
Economic: No impacts.  
 
Environmental:  No impacts.  
 
Social:  No impacts. 
  
BACKGROUND 
 
Project Site. 
Currently, the 10,990 square foot site contains a surface parking lot which serves the existing 
restaurant uses located on the neighboring property to the east (1575 Folsom St.). The existing 
restaurant uses located at 1575 Folsom St. were approved in 1985 through a Special Review 
(SR-85-32), which required that the development provide 13 parking spaces on site and also 
maintain a valid lease for an additional 11 parking spaces within 500 feet of the property. At the 
time of the original approval for 1575 Folsom in 1985, the parcel that is now 2360 Grove St. was 
part of a larger parcel under common ownership that included the 2333 Arapahoe property to the 
south (former Dairy Queen site) and had frontages on both Arapahoe Ave. and Grove St., with 
an additional access point off of Folsom St. just south of the 1575 Folsom property. The original 
site plan approval for 1575 Folsom showed the 11 parking spaces located just south of the 
property, on what is now 2333 Arapahoe; however, at some point following the closure of the 
Dairy Queen a new parking agreement was created and the spaces were relocated to the 2360 

Call Up Item 1D    Page 2Packet Page     440



Grove property, which contained the northern portion of the former Dairy Queen parking lot. 
Currently, there is a shared parking and access agreement between the owners of 1575 Folsom 
and 2360 Grove requiring that 11 parking spaces be reserved on the subject site for use by 
patrons of 1575 Folsom.    
 
Site Context. 
The areas to the north and northwest of the subject site are a mix of one to three-story mixed 
density residential buildings, and include the RMX-1 (Residential –Mixed 1)-zoned Goss-Grove 
residential neighborhood. The properties immediately to the south and east of the subject site 
contain primarily retail and service uses and are zoned BT-2 (Business- Transitional 2), with BR-
1 (Business- Regional 1) zoning extending further to the south and east across Arapahoe Ave. 
and Folsom St., respectively. As such, redevelopment of the subject site as attached residential 
housing while maintaining the existing parking agreement with the adjacent commercial property 
is in keeping with the character of both the existing residential uses to the north and northwest as 
well as the existing commercial uses to the south and east.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The application was found to be consistent with the Use Review criteria of subsection 9-2-15(e), 
“Criteria for Review,” B.R.C. 1981. Specifically, the proposed shared parking would provide a 
direct service to the adjacent commercial use by allowing the owners of that property to maintain 
their existing shared parking agreement with the owners of 2360 Grove, thereby providing them 
with a close and convenient area for customers to park. Maintaining the existing shared parking 
agreement will also help to reduce adverse impacts to the surrounding neighborhood by 
preventing parking spillover from the adjacent commercial uses. Overall, the proposal to 
maintain a shared parking area while redeveloping the site for residential uses will  be more 
compatible with the surrounding residential areas than it is currently, while in terms of impacts to 
nearby properties, the site will maintain its existing compatibility. Refer to Attachment C for the 
complete analysis of the Use Review criteria. 
   
Planning Board Hearing.  At their April 3, 2014 public hearing, the Planning Board 
unanimously approved the subject Use Review request in one motion with a vote of 6-0 (C. Gray 
absent). There were no public comments regarding the proposal. 
 
If the City Council disagrees with this decision, it may call up the applications within the 30-day 
call up period which expires on May 5, 2014.  City Council is scheduled to consider these 
applications for call-up at its April 16, 2014 public meeting. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
A. Notice of Disposition dated April 3, 2014 
B. Applicant’s Proposed Plan 
C. Use Review Criteria Analysis  

Call Up Item 1D    Page 3Packet Page     441



 

Packet Page     442



 

 
 
 

 
CITY OF BOULDER PLANNING BOARD 

NOTICE OF DISPOSITION 
 
You are hereby advised that on April 3, 2014 the following action was taken by the Planning Board based 
on the standards and criteria of the Land Use Regulations as set forth in Chapter 9-2, B.R.C. 1981, as 
applied to the proposed development. 
 
DECISION:      APPROVED WITH CONDITIONS  
PROJECT NAME:    2360 GROVE STREET TOWNHOMES  
DESCRIPTION:    USE REVIEW for shared parking area associated with triplex development 

(see Site Review #LUR2013-00051).  
LOCATION:     2360 GROVE ST  
COOR:       N03W05  
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lot 3, except the east 1.00 foot thereof, and all of Lot 4, Block 20, Culver’s 

Subdivision, County of Boulder, State of Colorado. 
APPLICANT:     Peter Stewart  
OWNER:      GROVE 3, LLC 
APPLICATION:     Use Review, LUR2013-00065 
ZONING:      RH-2   
CASE MANAGER:   Chandler Van Schaack 

  VESTED PROPERTY RIGHT: NO; the owner has waived the opportunity to create such right under 
Section 9-2-19, B.R.C. 1981. 

 
This decision may be called up before the City Council on or before May 3, 2014.  If no call-up occurs, the 
decision is deemed final thirty days after the Planning Board's decision. 
 
FOR CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL, SEE THE FOLLOWING PAGES OF THIS DISPOSITION. 
 
IN ORDER FOR A BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION TO BE PROCESSED FOR THIS PROJECT, A 
SIGNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND SIGNED FINAL PLANS MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT WITH DISPOSITION CONDITIONS AS APPROVED SHOWN ON THE 
FINAL PLANS, IF THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT IS NOT SIGNED WITHIN NINETY (90) DAYS OF 
THE FINAL DECISION DATE, THE PLANNING BOARD APPROVAL AUTOMATICALLY EXPIRES. 
 
Pursuant to Section 9-2-12 of the Land Use Regulations (Boulder Revised Code, 1981), the applicant 
must begin and substantially complete the approved development within three years from the date of final 
approval.  Failure to "substantially complete" (as defined in Section 9-2-12, Boulder Revised Code 1981) 
the development within three years shall cause this development approval to expire. 
 
At its public hearing on April 3, 2014 the Planning Board approved the request with the following motion: 
 

On a motion by J. Putnam, seconded by L.Payton, the Planning Board voted 6-0 (C. Gray absent) to approve Site 
Review No. LUR2013-00065 incorporating the staff memorandum and the attached Site Review Criteria Checklist as 
findings of fact and subject to the recommended conditions of approval which are conditions 1 and 2 in the memo. 

 
 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
Community Planning & Sustainability 
1739 Broadway, Third Floor  •  P.O. Box 791, Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
phone  303-441-1880  •  fax  303-441-3241  •  web  www.bouldercolorado.gov 

Attachment A - Planning Board Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Item 1D    Page 4Packet Page     443



CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
 
1. The Applicant shall ensure that the development shall be in compliance with all approved plans dated 

January 3, 2014 on file in the City of Boulder Planning Department, except to the extent that the development 
may be modified by the conditions of this approval.  Further, the Applicant shall ensure that the approved use 
is operated in compliance with the following restrictions:   

  
a. Size of the approved use shall be limited to eleven (11) parking spaces for the use of the neighboring 

property at 1575 Folsom Street, including five (5) standard stalls and four (4) compact stalls located along 
the south side of the site as well as two (2) parallel compact stalls located along the east side of the 
subject property. 

 
2. The Applicant shall not expand or modify the approved use, except pursuant to subsection 9-2-15(h), 

B.R.C. 1981. 
 

 

 

Attachment A - Planning Board Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Item 1D    Page 5Packet Page     444



On-street parallel parking

Tree Inventory (existing)
Mark Species Caliper (inch) Remarks

A Elm 12 Fair condition

B Elm 24 Poor Condition

C Maple 30

grade soem years ago

Topped off at 8 to 10 feet above 

D Black Locust 18 Poor Condition

E Pine 10 Good Condition

PAN GUTTER (E)

(SITE DRAINAGE)

La
nd

sc
ap

e

1" = 10'-0"

0 10 20 FT

GROVE STREET

Commercial Building (E)
1575 Folsom

1
4

'-
0

"

18'-0"

Landscape

ba
ck

-u
p

5' PUBLIC WALK

8' TREE LAWN

4' PUBLIC WALK (E)

9' x 19'
back-up

area (5) 9' x 19'
Spaces (4) 8' x 15'

Spaces

1
1

'-
0

"

Existing one-way 
drive to remain

Sight Triangle

2

SITE PLAN

LOT 4 LOT 3

Drive
(parking and access shared

with 1575 Folsom)

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
 S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D

Large street trees 
(Qty-3)

Small upright trees 
(Qty-7)

Large shrubs landscape 
screening (cross hatched area)

Existing Pine 
tree

Large shrubs and landscape screening (Shrubs 
planted at sufficient density to form a 
significant screen per city standards)

15'

15
'

D
R

A
IN

A
G

E
 S

W
A

IL

DRAINAGE SWAIL

LOT 5

93.99'

11
6.

93
'

11
6.

93
'

93.99'

5'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 21'-0" 8'-0"

4' PUBLIC WALK (E)

A

B C D

Ex
is

tin
g

on
ew

ay
 d

ri
ve

Adjacent Property
(Zoning: BT-2)

Adjacent Property
(Zoning: RH-2 & BT-2)

Trash collection in 
garages

600 sf
(Typ. finish
main floor)

Site Development Plan

LOT 2 LOT 1

D
ri

ve
(p

ar
ki

ng
 a

nd
 a

cc
es

s 
sh

ar
ed

w
ith

 1
57

5 
Fo

ls
om

)

(2
) 8

' x
 2

2'
 S

m
al

l
C

ar
 S

pa
ce

s

5299.2'
(low point

within 25')

2-Car
garage

2-Car
garage

2-Car
garage

420 sf
(Typical garage)

Unit-1 Unit-2 Unit-3

1
4

'-
0

"

Fenced trash 
enclosure

1-foot public access easement

This property is located in the 100-year flood plain of 
Boulder Creek
Base Flood Elevation (BFE):

Zone: AO
Depth: 1-foot  

Flood Protection Elevation 
(FPE): 2-feet

Flood  Zone Information 

(Shrubs planted at sufficient 
density to form a significant 
screen per city standards)

Curb and gutter bordering landscape 
areas (slotted for drainbage as 
indicated)

Curb bordering 
landscape areas

 Flood Zone information based on FIRM map 08013C0394J 
dated: Dec 18, 2012

Fenced 
(3-side) bike 
parking

Adjacent Property
(Zoning: BT-2)

Remove existing wood framed 
garage

Existing angled parking

La
nd

sc
ap

eCovered
Porch

Covered
Porch

1
0

'-
0

" 
(E

)

1-foot public access easement

Landscape

2
4

'-
0

"
1

9
'-

0
"

8
'-

0
"

E

Sheet Title

Sheet No.

Sh
ee

t 
Is

su
e:

D
at

e
C

om
m

en
ts

In
it.

SE
PT

. 1
6,

 2
01

3
Su

bm
itt

al
PS

A
  
 R

  
 C

  
 H

  
 I

  
 T

  
 E

  
 C

  
 T

  
 U

  
  
R

  
  

Est
ew

ar
t

A 
  R

   
C

   
H

   
I  

 T
   

E 
  C

   
T 

  U
   

 R
   

 E

11
32

  J
ef

fe
rs

on
 A

ve
.  

Lo
ui

sv
ille

, C
O

  8
00

27
 

30
3.

 6
65

. 6
66

8 
(te

l) 
  3

03
.6

65
.6

70
2 

(fa
x)

Si
te

 &
 U

se
 R

ev
ie

w
23

60
 G

ro
ve

 S
tr

ee
t, 

Bo
ul

de
r

Lo
t 

3 
&

 4
, B

lo
ck

 2
0 

C
ul

ve
rs

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

, C
ity

 o
f B

ou
ld

er
, C

ou
nt

y 
of

 B
ou

ld
er

G
ro

ve
 3

, L
LC

22
91

 A
ra

pa
ho

e,
 B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o 

 8
03

02
C

on
ta

ct
: G

ar
y 

C
al

de
ro

n 
  3

03
-4

49
-2

90
0

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r:

 L
U

R
20

13
-0

00
51

 L
U

R
20

13
-0

00
65

D
ec

. 2
, 2

01
3

R
es

ub
m

itt
al

-1
PS

Ja
n.

 3
, 2

01
3

R
es

ub
m

itt
al

-2
PS

Attachment B - Applicant's Proposed Plans

Call Up Item 1D    Page 6Packet Page     445



0 10 20 FT

LANDSCAPE PLAN
SCALE:  1" = 10'-0"

On-street parallel parking

La
nd

sc
ap

e
LK (E)

Existing 
one-way 
drive to 
remain

Sight Triangle

LOT 4 LOT 3

Existing Pine 
tree

15
'

D
R

AI
N

AG
E 

SW
AI

L

DRAINAGE SWAIL

93.99'

11
6.

93
'

11
6.

93
'

93.99'

A

Dr
ive

(pa
rki

ng
 an

d a
cc

es
s s

ha
red

wit
h 1

57
5 

Fo
lso

m)

2-Car
garage

2-Car
garage

2-Car
garage

420 sf
(Typical garage)

Existing 
angled 
parking

Covered
Porch

Covered
Porch

3'
-0

"
7'-

4"
3'

-0
"

5'-0"

Fenced trash 
enclosure

5301'

5301'

DR
AI

NA
GE

DR
AI

NA
GE

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

electric 
meters

gas 
meters

FS

water 
meter

F

W

valve

S

W

29" RCP Storm (E)

15" VCP Sewer (E)

8" DIP Water (E)

G

3-CBBB
3-PBB 2-CBBB

2-MSB
3-MBSB

4-NWR

5-RKOR

2-NWR
2-RKOR

21-CWSC

12-HBJ

1-BO

5-ABP

1-RBC

2-CKM

G R O V E     S T R E E T

6'-
0"

5'-0"

TURF TURF TURF TURF

RO
CK

 M
UL

CH
 IN

 SW
AL

E

PARALLEL BIKE RACKS (4 BIKES)

TRASH COLLECTION IN GARAGES

8'-
0"

5'-
0"

Sheet Title

Sheet No.

Sh
ee

t 
Is

su
e:

D
at

e
C

om
m

en
ts

In
it.

SE
PT

. 1
6,

 2
01

3
Su

bm
itt

al
PS

A 
  R

   
C

   
H

   
I  

 T
   

E 
  C

   
T 

  U
   

 R
   

 E
st

ew
ar

t
A 

  R
   

C
   

H
   

I  
 T

   
E 

  C
   

T 
  U

   
 R

   
 E

11
32

  J
ef

fe
rs

on
 A

ve
.  

Lo
ui

sv
ille

, C
O

  8
00

27
 

30
3.

 6
65

. 6
66

8 
(te

l) 
  3

03
.6

65
.6

70
2 

(fa
x)

Si
te

 &
  U

se
 R

ev
ie

w
23

60
 G

ro
ve

 S
tr

ee
t, 

Bo
ul

de
r

Lo
t 

3 
&

 4
, B

lo
ck

 2
0 

C
ul

ve
rs

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

, C
ity

 o
f B

ou
ld

er
, C

ou
nt

y 
of

 B
ou

ld
er

G
ro

ve
 3

, L
LC

22
91

 A
ra

pa
ho

e,
 B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o 

 8
03

02
C

on
ta

ct
: G

ar
y 

C
al

de
ro

n 
  3

03
-4

49
-2

90
0

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r:

 L
U

R
20

13
-0

00
51

LU
R

20
13

-0
00

65
D

ec
. 2

, 2
01

3
R

es
ub

m
itt

al
-1

PS
Ja

n.
 3

, 2
01

4
R

es
ub

m
itt

al
-2

SG
Ja

n.
 3

1,
 2

01
4

R
es

ub
m

itt
al

-3
SG

L1

Landscape Plan

DECIDUOUS TREE

OPPOSITE SIDE SAMEOPPOSITE SIDE SAME

LC

LC

DRAWN BY:  

CHECKED BY:
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO REVISED:

ISSUED:

DRAWING NO.

JULY 2, 1998

DECIDUOUS    EVERGREEN
SHRUB      SHRUB

SPECIFICATIONS

MULCHED, 
SOD-FREE
BASE AROUND

BALL 
BALL

EVERGREEN TREE

TRUNK PLUMB AND

8" GREEN STEEL
TEE POSTS WITH
BLADE ON TREE
SIDE

NOTES:

RUN DOUBLE STRAND 12 GAUGE
WIRE THROUGH GROMMETS IN 2''
NYLON STRAP. RUN WIRE TO

2. SEE SPECS FOR PLANTING OF

PLANT PIT 
TWO TIMES
LARGER
THAN BALL
DIAMETER.
ROOT BALL

PLANT PIT
TWO TIMES
LARGER
THAN BALL
DIAMETER

BACKFILL

FINISH GRADE WITH
SOD OR MULCH,

BACKFILL

REMOVE ALL FOREIGN MATERIALS FROM TRUNK AND BALL
FOLD BACK TOP HALF OF UNTREATED BURLAP

UNDISTURBED SUBGRADE

SRW

TREES AND SHRUBS
PLANTING DETAIL 3.02DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS

APPROVED BY:

STRAIGHT 

TREES PER

POST AND TWIST FOR SLIGHT

VINES AND GROUND COVERS.
3. DETAIL IS TYPICAL IN INTENT ONLY.

TO BE 1''

SEE PLAN

JSH

ROOT BALL TO BE
2'' ABOVE
FINISHED
GRADE

ABOVE
FINISHED
GRADE

TENSION

1. WRAP TRUNK WITH 4'' TREE
WRAP PER SPECIFICATIONS.

NW NW 120

TREES UNDER
3'' CLP

TREES 3''
CLP AND UP

STAKING PLAN

PROTECTIVE CAP
SECURED TO STAKE

OCT. 17, 2000 CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

BICYCLE PARKINGDIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS

RJH

JSH

APPROVED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:  

DRAWING NO.

ISSUED:

REVISED:

JULY 2, 1998

2.53

OCT. 17, 2000

2'-4"

2'-0"
4'-0"

6" CONCRETE PAD

INVERTED-U RACK

6'-0"

2'-0"

1'-4"

13'-4"
1'-4"

2'-4"

6'-0"
1'-4"

2'-0"

3'-0"

*
7'-0"

2'-4"

6" CONCRETE PAD

2'-4"

2'-0"

INVERTED-U RACK

ADD 3'-0" FOR EACH ADDITIONAL RACK 
ON A MULTIPLE RACK INSTALLATION. 
RACK SPACING IS 3'-0" ON CENTER.

NOTES:

EXPOSED CONCRETE SURFACE TO BE BROOM FINISHED.
PAD SIZE MAY VARY AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER.
PAD IS TO BE CONSTRUCTED WITH CLASS B CONCRETE.
EXCAVATION AND/OR EMBANKMENT REQUIRED FOR PAD CONSTRUCTION WILL 
NOT BE PAID FOR SEPERATELY, BUT SHALL BE INCLUDED IN THE COST OF THE 
PAD.  CONCRETE SHALL BE SLOPED AT 2% TO DRAIN.

*

SIDE-BY-SIDE

END-TO-END

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS: 01/29/14

OVERALL SITE REQUIRED PROVIDED/COMMENTS
 LANDSCAPING TOTAL SITE:  10,990 SF

Zone:  RN-2

STREETSCAPE:
     Detached Sidewalk  - Grove Stree 1 tree/30' - 64 LF = 3 trees 3 trees provided due to driveway and utility conflicts

MIMINUM PLANT SIZES: 1 tree & 5 shrubs/1500 sf - 2,087 sf = 2 trees & 10 shrubs
     Deciduous Trees 2" cal. 3
     Evergreen Trees 6' ht. 0
     Ornamental Trees 1.5" cal. 6
     Shrubs 5 gallon container 51  5-gallon shrubs 

PARKING LOT SCREENING:
FROM THE STREET:
     Height & Opacity Landscape Material 42" ht. N/A  parking lot in in rear of property
     Width 6' Buffer 6' along south edge, only 4'-6"provided along west side
     Trees 1 tree/25- 78 LF = 5 trees 5 provided

          
INTERIOR PARKING LOT 
LANDSCAPING: 12 spaces, 5% landscape required 4,917 sf = 246 sf required

     Amount: 1 tree/200 sf of landscape area

Parking area over sized due to agreement to share parking with 
adjacent property.  164 sf provided with shrubs.  Islands are 
minimal due to shared agreement.  1 tree provided in entry island 
with larger perimeter screening

PLANT LIST:  1/29/14
KEY QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING
SHADE TREES:
BO 1 Quercus macrocarpa Burr Oak 2" cal. as shown
CKM 2 Acer platanoides 'Crimson King' Crimson King Norway Maple 2" cal. as shown
TOTAL: 3

ORNAMENTAL TREES:
ABP 5 Pyrus calleryana 'Autumn Blaze' Autumn Blaze Pear 1.5" cal as shown
RBC 1 Malus 'Red Barron' Red Barron Crabapple 1.5" cal as shown
TOTAL: 6

SHRUBS:
CBBB 5 Buddleia davidii 'Nanho Blue' Compact Blue Butterflybush 5 gal. 5.5' o.c.
CWSC 21 Prunus besseyi Pawnee Buttes Creeping Western Sand Cherry 5 gal. 6' o.c.
MBSB 3 Symphoricarpos x doorenbosii 'Magic Berry' Magic Berry Coralberry 5 gal. 30" o.c.
MSB 2 Symphoricarpos x doorenbosii Marlene Marleen Coralberry 5 gal. 30" o.c.
NWR 8 Rosa x 'Nearly Wild' Nearly Wild Rose (Floribunda) 5 gal. 3.5' o.c.
PBB 3 Buddleja davidii nanhoensis `Petite Plum` Compact Purple Butterfly Bush 5 gal. 5.5' o.c.
RKOR 9 Rosa x 'Radcor' Rainbow Knock Out Rose 5 gal. 3' o.c.
TOTAL: 51

PERENNIALS:
HBJ 12 Persicaria affnis Himalayan Border Jewel 4" pots 18" o.c.

PLANT NOTES:

1. All plant material shall meet specifications of the American Association of Nurserymen 
(AAN) for number one grade.  All trees shall be balled and burlapped or equivalent.  All 
plant materials shall have all wire, twine or other containment materials, except for 
burlap, removed from trunk and root ball of the plant prior to planting.

2. Trees shall not be planted closer 10 feet to any sewer or water line.  Tree planting 
shall be coordinated with all utilities - locations of all utilities shall be verified in the field 
prior to planting.

3. All shrubs shall be planted no less than 3’ from any sidewalk or curb.

4. Grades shall be set to allow for proper drainage away from structures.  Grades shall 
maintain smooth profiles and be free of surface debris, bumps, and depressions.

5. Developers shall ensure that the landscape plan is coordinated with the plans done by 
other consultants so that the proposed grading, storm drainage, or other constructions 
does not conflict nor preclude installation and maintenance of landscape elements on 
this plan.

6. All shrub beds adjacent to turf areas shall be edged with a perforated Ryerson or 
approved equivalent steel edger.

7. All shrub bed areas shall be mulched with a 4” layer of wood mulch.  Install 3" of 
2"-4" cobble to bed adjacent to structure.  No fabric to be installed below perennials, 
groundcovers or ornamental grasses.  

8. Prior to installation of plant materials, areas that have been compacted or disturbed 
by construction activity shall be thoroughly loosened; organic soil amendments shall be 
incorporated at the rate of at least three (3) cubic yards per 1000 square feet of 
landscape area.

9. All landscape plant materials and grass will be irrigated with an automatic system.  
See Irrigation Plan for details.

11. Contractor shall verify all material quantities prior to installation.  Actual number of 
plant symbols shall have priority over the quantity designated.

12. Refer to the City of BoulderDesign and Construction Streetscaping Standards for 
all work within public areas.  

Attachment B - Applicant's Proposed Plans

Call Up Item 1D    Page 7Packet Page     446



 
ANALYSIS OF USE REVIEW CRITERIA 
Applications for Use Review are reviewed for consistency with the criteria set forth in subsection 9-2-15(e), 
“Criteria for Review,” B.R.C. 1981.   

 
1. Is the proposed use consistent with the Use Review criteria set forth in subsection 9-2-

15(e), “Criteria for Review,” B.R.C. 1981? 
 
Criteria for Review: No use review application will be approved unless the approving agency finds 
all of the following: 
 
 (1) Consistency with Zoning and Non-Conformity: The use is consistent with the purpose 
of the zoning district as set forth in section 9-5-2(c), "Zoning Districts Purposes," B.R.C. 
1981, except in the case of a non-conforming use; 

 
The project site is located within the RH-2 (Residential -High 2) zone district, which is defined in 
section 9-5-2(c)(1)(F) of the land use code as “High density residential areas primarily used for a 
variety of types of attached residential units, including without limitation, apartment buildings, and 
where complementary uses may be allowed.”   
 
The proposed shared parking is considered a separate principal use because it is intended to 
serve a separate property not included in the residential development proposal. Per section 9-6-1, 
“Use Standards,” B.R.C. 1981, “automobile parking lots, garages, or car pool lots as a principal 
use” are permitted in the RH-2 zone only if approved through a Use Review process. 

 
   (2)  Rationale: The use either: 

 
   (A)  Provides direct service or convenience to or reduces adverse impacts to the 

surrounding uses or neighborhood; 
 
 The proposed shared parking would provide a direct service to the adjacent commercial 

use by allowing the owners of that property to maintain their existing shared parking 
agreement with the owners of 2360 Grove, thereby providing them with a close and 
convenient area for customers to park. The existing restaurant uses located at 1575 
Folsom St. were approved in 1985 through a Special Review (SR-85-32), which required 
that the development provide 13 parking spaces on site and also maintain a valid lease for 
an additional 11 parking spaces within 500 feet of the property.  

 
 Maintaining the existing shared parking agreement will also help to reduce adverse 

impacts to the surrounding neighborhood by preventing parking spillover from the adjacent 
commercial uses. The subject site is located immediately adjacent to the residential Goss-
Grove neighborhood, which can be impacted by overflow parking from Naropa University, 
Boulder High and other nearby commercial development. Given that the existing site has 
absorbed the parking impacts of the adjacent commercial uses for nearly 30 years, the 
proposal to maintain the shared parking as a second principal use while also redeveloping 
the underutilized site for residential represents an optimal way to increase intensity without 
increasing the impacts of the existing uses.  

Attachment C - Use Review Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1D    Page 8Packet Page     447



 
N/A (B) Provides a compatible transition between higher intensity and lower intensity uses; 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
N/A (C) Is necessary to foster a specific city policy, as expressed in the Boulder Valley 

Comprehensive Plan, including, without limitation, historic preservation, moderate 
income housing, residential and non-residential mixed uses in appropriate 
locations, and group living arrangements for special populations; or 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
N/A (D) Is an existing legal non-conforming use or a change thereto that is permitted under 

subsection (e) of this section; 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
    (3)  Compatibility: The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 

proposed development or change to an existing development are such that the use 
will be reasonably compatible with and have minimal negative impact on the use of 
nearby properties or for residential uses in industrial zoning districts, the proposed 
development reasonably mitigates the potential negative impacts from nearby 
properties; 

 
As discussed above, the 2360 Grove site has been used as a parking lot for adjacent 
commercial uses for over 30 years. During that time, the site has helped to alleviate the 
impacts of the nearby commercial development on the adjacent residential neighborhood 
to the north and west. Formerly part of the Dairy Queen parking area and later serving the 
“Siamese Plate” restaurant to the east at 1575 Folsom, the site has continuously helped to 
create a buffer between the higher intensity uses of the Boulder Valley Regional Center 
(BVRC) to the east and the mixed density residential uses to the west. Under the current 
proposal, the site will be redeveloped in a manner consistent with the nearby residential 
areas while also maintaining its historic function as a parking buffer between the 
commercial and residential uses it lies between. Therefore, visually, the proposed 
development will be more compatible with the surrounding residential areas than it is 
currently, while in terms of impacts to nearby properties, the site will maintain its existing 
compatibility.   

  
   (4)  Infrastructure: As compared to development permitted under section 9-6-1, 

"Schedule of Permitted Uses of Land," B.R.C. 1981, in the zone, or as compared to 
the existing level of impact of a non-conforming use, the proposed development will 
not significantly adversely affect the infrastructure of the surrounding area, 
including, without limitation, water, wastewater, and storm drainage utilities and 
streets; 

 

Attachment C - Use Review Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1D    Page 9Packet Page     448



The proposed parking use does not require any infrastructure improvements, as the site is 
already developed as a parking lot. The associated residential development meets the use 
and intensity standards for the RH-2 zone district. 

 
    (5)  Character of Area: The use will not change the predominant character of the 

surrounding area; and 
 

The areas to the north and northwest of the subject site are a mix of one to three-story 
mixed density residential buildings, and include the RMX-1 (Residential –Mixed 1)-zoned 
Goss-Grove residential neighborhood. The properties immediately to the south and east of 
the subject site contain primarily retail and service uses and are zoned BT-2 (Business- 
Transitional 2), with BR-1 (Business- Regional 1) zoning extending further to the south and 
east across Arapahoe Ave. and Folsom St., respectively. As such, redevelopment of the 
subject site as attached residential housing while maintaining the existing parking 
agreement with the adjacent commercial property is in keeping with the character of both 
the existing residential uses to the north and northwest as well as the existing commercial 
uses to the south and east.   

 
N/A (6)  Conversion of Dwelling Units to Non-Residential Uses: There shall be a presumption 

against approving the conversion of dwelling units in the residential zoning districts 
set forth in subsection 9-5-2(c)(1)(a), B.R.C. 1981, to non-residential uses that are 
allowed pursuant to a use review, or through the change of one non-conforming use 
to another non-conforming use. The presumption against such a conversion may be 
overcome by a finding that the use to be approved serves another compelling 
social, human services, governmental, or recreational need in the community 
including, without limitation, a use for a day care center, park, religious assembly, 
social service use, benevolent organization use, art or craft studio space, museum, 
or an educational use. 

 
Not Applicable, as there are no existing residential uses located on the subject site. 

 

Attachment C - Use Review Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1D    Page 10Packet Page     449



 

Packet Page     450



 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 

      Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
 Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
 Chandler Van Schaack, Planner I  
 
Date:   April 16, 2014 
 
Subject:  Call-Up Item:  Use Review application, no. LUR2012-00101, for expansion of the 
Family Learning Center located at 3164 34th St. in the Residential Medium-One (RM-1) zone 
district.  The proposal includes a new, 2,427 square foot classroom addition as well as site, 
landscaping and parking lot improvements.  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On April 3, 2014, Planning 
Board unanimously approved 
(6-0, C. Gray absent) the 
subject application with the 
conditions found in the 
disposition of approval, 
provided as Attachment A.   
 
The Family Learning Center 
is a private, non-profit 
organization that provides 
comprehensive services to 
low-income, minority and 
non-English speaking 
children and families within 
Boulder County.  The 
existing facility has been in 
its current location north of 
the San Juan del Centro 
affordable housing apartment complex since 1981. In 1993, planning board approved a Use 

PPPrrrooojjjeeecccttt    SSSiii ttteee:::    
333111666444   333444 ttt hhh    SSSttt ...    

SSSaaannn   JJJuuuaaannn   dddeeelll    CCCeeennnttt rrrooo   

OOOrrrccchhhaaarrrddd   GGGrrrooovvveee      
MMMooobbbiii llleee    HHHooommmeee   PPPaaarrrkkk    

Figure 1: Vicinity Map 

Call Up Items 1E     Page 1Packet Page     451



Review to allow for the Family Learning Center to construct a 1,864 square foot building 
addition to increase service offerings and to add new services for existing clients. Since 1993, the 
Family Learning Center has continued to provide a variety of services, including daycare and 
early childhood development programs, after-school and summer educational programs for 
elementary, middle and high school students, adult and family educational and support services 
and assistance with various community outreach programs.  
 
This proposal is to construct a 2,427 square foot classroom addition to the existing Family 
Learning Center daycare center and adult educational facility at 3164 34th St. in the RM-1 
(Residential- Medium 1) zone district.  The purpose of the proposed expansion is to better 
support existing services and operations of the facility and to expand the services available to 
existing clients. In addition to increasing the space available for existing daycare, educational 
and counseling services, the proposed addition will provide room for multicultural and bilingual 
exercise and dance classes, cultural and art programs, clothing donations, food share programs 
and nutritional cooking classes.  No increase in employees or clients is proposed as part of this 
project.  In addition to the new classroom addition, which will be constructed off of the south 
side of the existing 5,137 square foot building over a portion of what is currently a playground 
area, the proposal also includes removal of an existing shed, minor site improvements and 
reconfiguration of the existing parking lot to provide 19 parking spaces where currently there are 
14 parking spaces (refer to Attachment B for Applicant’s Proposed Plans).  Please refer to 
Figure 1 above for a vicinity map.  
 
The Planning Board’s approval is subject to a 30-day call-up period by City Council which 
expires on May 5, 2014.  City Council is scheduled to consider this application for call-up at its 
April 16, 2014 public meeting. 
 
The staff memorandum of recommendation to Planning Board and other related background 
materials are available on the city website. Follow the links: www.bouldercolorado.gov  A to Z 
Planning Boardsearch for past meeting materials planning board201404.03.2014 PB 
Packet. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Staff time: The Use Review application has been processed through the provisions of a standard 
review process and is within normal staff work plans. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
Economic: No impacts.  
 
Environmental:  No impacts.  
 
Social:  No impacts. 
  
BACKGROUND 
 
Project Site. 

Call Up Items 1E     Page 2Packet Page     452



The 1.85-acre subject site is located at the terminus of 34th Street, just northwest of the 
intersection of Valmont Rd. and Foothills Parkway in the RM-1 (Residential-Medium 1) zone 
district, which is defined in section 9-5-2(c)(1)(C), B.R.C. 1981, as “Medium density residential 
areas which have been or are to be primarily used for attached residential development, where 
each unit generally has direct access to ground level, and where complementary uses may be 
permitted under certain conditions.” 
 
Currently, the primary uses occurring at the Family Learning Center are daycare services, after-
school programs for elementary and middle-school children, and evening tutoring services. Each 
weekday, on average, the Family Learning Center provides daycare services for 60 Pre-K 
students (two separate groups of 30 students) and after school care for 45 elementary and middle 
school students, with tutoring on Wednesday nights for up to 30 students of all ages. The hours 
of operation for each program are staggered so that there are never more than two groups 
occupying the facility at the same time and pick-up and drop-off times are spread throughout the 
day.  Based on a Parking Study provided by the applicant (see Attachment C), roughly half of 
all students walk, bike or take one of three facility shuttle vans to and from the site, with the 
other half of pick-ups and drop-offs occurring by car.  Per the previous approval as well as 
information included with this application, at least 50 percent of the facility users live in the 
adjacent San Juan del Centro development, with roughly 80 percent of the total users living 
within walking distance of the facility. There are 18 total employees with varying shifts and 
work schedules so that on average, there are no more than three employee vehicles on-site at a 
time. 
 
Site Context. 
The area surrounding the subject site is predominantly residential in character. As mentioned 
above, the site is immediately adjacent to San Juan del Centro, a 150-unit affordable housing 
apartment complex constructed in 1971 that serves primarily low- to very-low income 
households. To the west of the subject site across 34th Street is the Orchard Grove Mobile Home 
Park, and to the north of the site across the White Rock ditch and Howard Hueston Park are the 
high- density residential developments of Northgate and Meadow Wood.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The application was found to be consistent with the Use Review criteria of subsection 9-2-15(e), 
“Criteria for Review,” B.R.C. 1981. Specifically, the proposed changes to the existing use will 
provide a direct service to the surrounding uses by increasing the variety of services offered to 
residents of the nearby housing developments. The proposed changes will also remain 
compatible with surrounding uses and will not change the predominant residential character of 
the area.  Refer to Attachment D for the complete analysis of the Use Review criteria. 
   
Planning Board Hearing.  At their April 3, 2014 public hearing, the Planning Board 
unanimously approved the subject Use Review request in one motion with a vote of 6-0 (C. Gray 
absent). There were no public comments regarding the proposal. 
 
If the City Council disagrees with this decision, it may call up the applications within the 30-day 
call up period which expires on May 5, 2014.  City Council is scheduled to consider these 
applications for call-up at its April 16, 2014 public meeting. 
 

Call Up Items 1E     Page 3Packet Page     453



ATTACHMENTS: 
 
A. Notice of Disposition dated April 3, 2014 
B. Applicant’s Proposed Plan 
C. Applicant’s Parking Study 
D. Use Review Criteria Analysis  

Call Up Items 1E     Page 4Packet Page     454



 

 
 
 

 
CITY OF BOULDER PLANNING BOARD 

NOTICE OF DISPOSITION 
 
You are hereby advised that on April 3, 2014 the following action was taken by the Planning Board based 
on the standards and criteria of the Land Use Regulations as set forth in Chapter 9-2, B.R.C. 1981, as 
applied to the proposed development. 
 
DECISION:      APPROVED WITH CONDITIONS  
PROJECT NAME:    FAMILY LEARNING CENTER EXPANSION  
DESCRIPTION:    USE REVIEW to expand the existing Family Learning Center through the 

construction of 2,427 sq.ft. of floor area to house additional programs.  Site 
and parking lot improvements are also included in this project.  

LOCATION:     3164 34TH ST  
COOR:       N05W03  
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: See Exhibit A Attached 
APPLICANT:     BRENDA LYLE  
OWNER:      FAMILY LEARNING CENTER, INC. 
APPLICATION:     Use Review, LUR2012-00101 
ZONING:      RM-1  
CASE MANAGER:   Chandler Van Schaack 

  VESTED PROPERTY RIGHT: NO; the owner has waived the opportunity to create such right under 
Section 9-2-19, B.R.C. 1981. 

This decision may be called up before the City Council on or before May 5, 2014.  If no call-up occurs, the 
decision is deemed final thirty days after the Planning Board's decision. 
 
FOR CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL, SEE THE FOLLOWING PAGES OF THIS DISPOSITION. 
 
IN ORDER FOR A BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION TO BE PROCESSED FOR THIS PROJECT, A 
SIGNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND SIGNED FINAL PLANS MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT WITH DISPOSITION CONDITIONS AS APPROVED SHOWN ON THE 
FINAL PLANS, IF THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT IS NOT SIGNED WITHIN NINETY (90) DAYS OF 
THE FINAL DECISION DATE, THE PLANNING BOARD APPROVAL AUTOMATICALLY EXPIRES. 
 
Pursuant to Section 9-2-12 of the Land Use Regulations (Boulder Revised Code, 1981), the applicant 
must begin and substantially complete the approved development within three years from the date of final 
approval.  Failure to "substantially complete" (as defined in Section 9-2-12, Boulder Revised Code 1981) 
the development within three years shall cause this development approval to expire. 
 
At its public hearing on April 3, 2014 the Planning Board approved the request with the following motion: 
 
On a motion by J. Putnam, seconded by J. Gerstle, the Planning Board voted 6-0 (C. Gray absent) to approve 
Use Review application No. LUR2012-00101 incorporating the staff memorandum and the attached Site Review 
Criteria Checklist as findings of fact and subject to the recommended conditions of approval 1, 2 and 3. 
  

CITY OF BOULDER 
Community Planning & Sustainability 
1739 Broadway, Third Floor  •  P.O. Box 791, Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
phone  303-441-1880  •  fax  303-441-3241  •  web  www.bouldercolorado.gov 

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Items 1E     Page 5Packet Page     455



 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
1. The Applicant shall ensure that the development shall be in compliance with all approved plans dated 

February 14, 2014 on file in the City of Boulder Planning Department, except to the extent that the 
development may be modified by the conditions of this approval.  Further, the Applicant shall ensure that the 
approved use is operated in compliance with the following restrictions:   

  
a. The hours of operation for the approved use shall be limited to: 7:30 a.m. to 8:00 p.m., Monday through 

Saturday, and 11:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Sundays. 
 

b. Size of the approved use shall be limited to 7,564 square feet. 
 

c. The Applicant shall have an arrangement for and maintain ten off-site parking spaces within 500 feet of 
the property.  The off-site parking spaces may be shared with other uses provided the parking needs of 
the approved use are adequately accommodated.  The Applicant shall provide evidence of an 
arrangement for the required off-site parking spaces promptly upon request by the City Manager, and any 
such arrangement is subject to review and approval by the City Manager. 

 
2. The Applicant shall not expand or modify the approved use, except pursuant to subsection 9-2-15(h), 

B.R.C. 1981. 
 

3. The Applicant shall comply with all previous conditions contained in any previous approvals, except to the 
extent that any previous conditions may be modified by this approval, including, but not limited to, the 
following: 
 
a. The Development Agreement recorded at Reception No. 01326689 on August 17, 1993 in the records of 

the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Items 1E     Page 6Packet Page     456



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A: Attached Legal Description 
 
A portion of the Southeast 114 of Section 20, Township 1 North, Range 70 West of the 6th P.M., described as Follows: 
 
Commencing at the Northeast comer of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of said Section 20; thence South 0°06'35" East, along 
the East line of the said Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 20,81.30 feet to the centerline of the Boulder & White Rock 
Ditch, the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; thence, along the centerline of the said Boulder & White Rock Ditch as follows; South 
56°32'40" East, 47.91 feet; South 70°l3'30" East, 54.09 feet; South 86°36'30" East, 319.56 feet; North 75°55'00" East, 27.12 feet; 
North 64°56'00" East, 76.95 feet; North 51°44'40" East, 55.40 feet; North 29°03'30" East, 67.74 feet to the North line of the Southeast 
1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of said Section 20; thence North 89°47'05" East, along the said North line of the Southeast ¼ of the Southeast 
1/4 of said Section 20,47.51 feet to the West line of the Colorado & Southern Railroad right-of- way; thence along the said West line 
of the railroad right-of-way, the arc of a curve 4l3.49 feet, said curve being subtended by a chord bearing South 24°44'15" West, 
413.49 feet; thence North 65°21 '00" West, 110.09 feet; thence North 51°13'25" West, 250.30 feet; thence North 83°19'00" West, 
127.28 feet;. thence North 77°19'20" West, 61.95 feet; thence North 59°40'10" West, 55.04 feet; thence North 48°26'50" West, 69.64 
feet; thence North 54°29'30" West, 39.87 feet; thence North 89°52'00" West, 59.72 feet to a point on the East line of an undesignated 
20 foot wide roadway; thence North 2°44'05" West along the East line of the said 20 foot wide roadway, 32.47 feet to the centerline of 
the Boulder & White Rock Ditch; thence along the said centerline of the Boulder & White Rock Ditch as follows; North 88°42'45" 
East, 73.13 feet; South 62°46'40" East, 46.78 feet; South 42°47'40" East, 67.30 feet to the True point of Beginning, EXCEPTING 
THEREFROM any portion of the above described property within the right-of-way of the Boulder & White Rock Ditch. County of 
Boulder, State of Colorado. 

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition April 3, 2014

Call Up Items 1E     Page 7Packet Page     457



 

Packet Page     458



Attachment B - Applicant's Proposed Plans

Call Up Items 1E     Page 8Packet Page     459



Attachment B - Applicant's Proposed Plans

Call Up Items 1E     Page 9Packet Page     460



Attachment B - Applicant's Proposed Plans

Call Up Items 1E     Page 10Packet Page     461



 

Packet Page     462



LSC TRANSPORTATION CONSULTANTS, INC.

1889 York Street
Denver, CO 80206

(303) 333-1105
FAX (303) 333-1107

E-mail: lsc@lscdenver.com

March 18, 2014

Mr. Mike Crase 
Gilmore 
4949 Ironton Street
Denver, CO 80239

Re: Family Learning Center 
Boulder County, CO
(LSC #130080)

Dear Mr. Crase:

In response to your request, LSC Transportation Consultants, Inc. has prepared this parking
analysis for the Family Learning Center. As shown on Figure 1, the site is located at 3164 34th

Street in Boulder, Colorado.

REPORT CONTENTS

The report contains the following: a description of the current and planned land use, a survey
of the existing parking utilization, the number of shared parking spaces that would likely be
needed at peak times on a typical weekday, and recommendations to improve existing parking
conditions.

LAND USE AND ACCESS

Figure 1 shows how 34th Street connects the site to Valmont Road. There is on-street public
parking available on 34th Street north of Valmont Road. Figure 2 shows the conceptual site
plan. The proposed improvements will include 18 standard parking spaces and one ADA
parking space - a slight increase from existing conditions (13 standard spaces and one ADA
space). The existing building is about 5,137 square feet with 18 full- or part-time employees.
The intent of the 2,427 square-foot expansion is to better support existing services and
operations of the Family Learning Center with no significant increase in staff size, traffic
generation, or parking demand. The Family Learning Center has indicated there is a verbal
understanding between the San Juan Del Centro apartment complex owner/ operator and the
Family Learning Center to share the apartment complex parking spaces nearest to the Family
Learning Center.

EXISTING PARKING SPACE UTILIZATION

There are 53 available parking spaces (including 2 ADA spaces) on or in the vicinity of the site
as shown in Figure 3. An inventory was taken of these parking spaces between 7:45 AM and

Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 11Packet Page     463



Mr. Mike Crase Page 2 March 18, 2014
Family Learning Center Parking Evaluation

6:15 PM on Tuesday through Thursday (March 5-7, 2013) to determine the existing parking
space utilization. The results are summarized in Table 1 and show a maximum utilization of
66.0% on Tuesday, 88.7% on Wednesday, and 79.2% on Thursday. The parking spaces on the
Family Learning Center site were occasionally fully occupied with some spillover parking in
the San Juan Del Centro spaces which supports the need for some parking sharing with the
San Juan Del Centro apartment complex.

ESTIMATE OF OVERFLOW PARKING DURING PEAK CONDITIONS

Two separate methods were used to estimate the parking space demand during peak
operations. One method is based on data from the ITE Parking Generation Manual and the
other is based on operational information from the Family Learning Center.

ITE Parking Generation Manual

The manual estimates the 85th percentile parking demand for a Day Care Center as 3.70
spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area. This would relate to a demand of about 28
parking spaces. It is estimated this could be reduced about 20 percent due to many of the trips
to/from the site being made by bus/shuttle or by pedestrians and cyclists from the
surrounding neighborhood(s). Based on this method the estimated parking demand would be
about 23 parking spaces which could be served by the 18 on-site standard parking spaces and
five shared parking spaces from San Juan Del Centro.

Based on Operational Information

The Center typically has about three employee vehicles and three shuttle buses parked on or
near the site. There are three main activities that generate weekday parking demand: daily
pre-K, daily after school care for middle school students, and Wednesday night tutoring for
high school students.

Pre-K (Weekdays):

About 15 of the 30 Pre-K students typically arrive/depart by passenger vehicle. During peak
times the likely parking demand would be about 21 vehicles (15 for Pre-K, 3 for employees,
and 3 for shuttle buses).

Typically vans drop off at 8:00 AM and parents drop off between 7:50 and 8:15 AM. Vans pick
up at 11:30 AM and parents pick up between 11:30 and 11:40 AM. Vans drop off at 12:30 PM
and parents drop off between 12:30 and 12:40 PM. Vans and parents pick up around 4:00 PM.
The vans drop off after school students prior to picking up preschool students.

After School Care (Weekdays):

About 20 of the 45 after school care students depart by passenger vehicle - most arrive by van
or are dropped of by bus and walk to the site. There is no defined pick-up time so it is expected
only about 80 percent of the 20 vehicles would be on-site at any given time. During peak times
the likely parking demand would be about 22 vehicles (16 for after school care, 3 for em-
ployees, and 3 for shuttle buses).

Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 12Packet Page     464



Mr. Mike Crase Page 3 March 18, 2014
Family Learning Center Parking Evaluation

Elementary and middle school students are dropped off by bus around 3:00 PM on 34th Street
and they walk to the Family Learning Center. Vans drop off students from Creekside
Elementary and Centennial Middle School at 4:00 PM and pick up afternoon preschool
students. Students typically walk home or are picked up between 5:30 and 6:00 PM.

Tutoring (Wednesday nights):

Students typically arrive at 6:00 PM and leave at 8:00 PM. Many walk to/from San Juan Del
Centro and/or carpool. To be conservative it is assumed about 15 of the 30 tutored students
arrive/depart by vehicle with very few parking spaces utilized for drop-off. Most of the spaces
utilized for tutoring would be during pick-up when a parent or guardian is waiting for a
student. During peak times the likely parking demand would be about 21 vehicles (15 for
tutoring, 3 for employees, and 3 for shuttle buses).

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

1. There is on-street public parking on 34th Street north of Valmont Road.

2. The Family Learning Center site is proposing to expand by adding a 2,427 square-foot
building to supplement the existing 5,137 square-foot building. The intent of the 2,427
square-foot expansion is to better support existing services and operations with no
significant increase in staff size, traffic generation, or parking demand.

3. The Family Learning Center has indicated there is a verbal understanding between the
San Juan Del Centro owner/operator and the Family Learning Center to share the apart-
ment complex parking spaces nearest to the Family Learning Center.

4. The data collected shows the existing parking lot on site is occasional fully utilized with
parking spillover into the adjacent apartment complex spaces. The data also shows there
is capacity in the apartment complex to accommodate this overflow parking.

5. It is expected about five San Juan Del Centro parking spaces will typically be used by
Family Learning Center vehicles during peak weekday times.

RECOMMENDATIONS

6. The City of Boulder has asked the Family Learning Center to formalize the parking
sharing agreement with San Juan Del Centro apartment complex. It is recommended the
agreement be for five shared parking spaces on a typical weekday with up to ten spaces
allowed on a short-term basis - for example if a few spaces are utilized on Wednesday
nights (6:00 PM) for high school student drop-off.

7. It is recommended that the Family Learning Center direct staff and volunteers to park in
the shared parking spaces in the San Juan Del Centro apartment complex, particularly
during times of peak parking demand.

8. It is recommended that the Family Learning Center park their shuttle vans in the shared
parking spaces in the San Juan Del Centro apartment complex, particularly during times

Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 13Packet Page     465



Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 14Packet Page     466



Table 1
Parking Utilization

Family Learning Center
(LSC #130080; March, 2014)

Number of Vehicles Parked (1)

ThursdayWednesdayTuesday
03/07/201303/06/201303/05/2013

% parked# parked% parked# parked% parked# parkedTime

43.4%2347.2%2550.9%2707:45 AM
41.5%2247.2%2549.1%2608:00 AM
56.6%3056.6%3054.7%2908:15 AM
56.6%3050.9%2760.4%3209:45 AM
56.6%3045.3%2460.4%3211:15 AM
56.6%3045.3%2466.0%3511:30 AM
54.7%2939.6%2162.3%3311:45 AM
52.8%2854.7%2962.3%3301:15 PM
52.8%2858.5%3162.3%3302:45 PM
52.8%2858.5%3162.3%3303:00 PM
54.7%2966.0%3558.5%3103:15 PM
67.9%3667.9%3658.5%3103:45 PM
79.2%4283.0%4460.4%3204:00 PM
64.2%3488.7%4754.7%2904:15 PM
43.4%2369.8%3760.4%3205:00 PM
49.1%2654.7%2952.8%2805:45 PM
47.2%2552.8%2839.6%2106:00 PM
50.9%2760.4%3243.4%2306:15 PM

(1) There are 53 total available parking spaces on or in the vicinity of the site in the area shown
    in Figure 3.

Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 15Packet Page     467



Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 16Packet Page     468



Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 17Packet Page     469



Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 18Packet Page     470



Attachment C - Applicant's Parking Study

Call Up Items 1E     Page 19Packet Page     471



 

Packet Page     472



 
ANALYSIS OF USE REVIEW CRITERIA 
Applications for Use Review are reviewed for consistency with the criteria set forth in subsection 9-2-15(e), 
“Criteria for Review,” B.R.C. 1981.   

 
1. Is the proposed use consistent with the Use Review criteria set forth in subsection 9-2-

15(e), “Criteria for Review,” B.R.C. 1981? 
 
Criteria for Review: No use review application will be approved unless the approving agency finds 
all of the following: 
 
 (1) Consistency with Zoning and Non-Conformity: The use is consistent with the purpose 
of the zoning district as set forth in section 9-5-2(c), "Zoning Districts Purposes," B.R.C. 
1981, except in the case of a non-conforming use; 

 
The project site is located within the Residential Medium-1 (RM-1) zone district, which is defined in 
section 9-5-2(c)(1)(C), B.R.C. 1981, as “Medium density residential areas which have been or are 
to be primarily used for attached residential development, where each unit generally has direct 
access to ground level, and where complementary uses may be permitted under certain 
conditions.” 
 
Based on information provided by the applicant, the Family Learning Center is comprised of two 
principal uses, including a daycare center with more than 50 children and an adult education facility 
with less than 20,000 square feet of floor area.  Both uses are permitted pursuant to the Use 
Review process pursuant to section 9-6-1, “Use Standards,” B.R.C. 1981. 

 
  Previous approval was granted for a daycare and adult education facility (SR-93-7). 
 

   (2)  Rationale: The use either: 
 

   (A)  Provides direct service or convenience to or reduces adverse impacts to the 
surrounding uses or neighborhood; 

 
The Family Learning Center is a private, non-profit organization which provides 
comprehensive services to low-income, minority and non-English speaking children and 
families within Boulder County.  The existing facility has been in its current location north of 
the San Juan del Centro affordable housing apartment complex since 1981, and directly 
serves many low-income residents of that development on a daily basis. Since 1993, when 
the facility underwent an expansion, the Family Learning Center has continued to provide 
a variety of services, including daycare and early childhood development programs, after-
school and summer educational programs for elementary, middle and high school 
students, adult and family educational and support services and assistance with various 
community outreach programs. The purpose of the proposed expansion is to better 
support existing services and operations of the facility and to expand the services available 
to existing clients. In addition to increasing the space available for existing daycare, 
educational and counseling services, the proposed addition will provide room for 
multicultural and bilingual medical screenings and health services, exercise and dance 

Attachment D - Use Review Criteria Analysis

Call Up Items 1E     Page 20Packet Page     473



classes, cultural and art programs, clothing donations, food share programs and nutritional 
cooking classes.  As indicated in the previous approval, approximately 50 percent of the 
facility’s clients are residents of the nearby San Juan del Centro development, and 
approximately 80 percent of clients live within walking distance of the facility. 

 
N/A (B) Provides a compatible transition between higher intensity and lower intensity uses; 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
N/A (C) Is necessary to foster a specific city policy, as expressed in the Boulder Valley 

Comprehensive Plan, including, without limitation, historic preservation, moderate 
income housing, residential and non-residential mixed uses in appropriate 
locations, and group living arrangements for special populations; or 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
N/A (D) Is an existing legal non-conforming use or a change thereto that is permitted under 

subsection (e) of this section; 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
    (3)  Compatibility: The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 

proposed development or change to an existing development are such that the use 
will be reasonably compatible with and have minimal negative impact on the use of 
nearby properties or for residential uses in industrial zoning districts, the proposed 
development reasonably mitigates the potential negative impacts from nearby 
properties; 

 
The existing facility was donated to the Family Learning Center by the City of Boulder in 
1981. In 1993, planning board approved a Use Review to allow for the Family Learning 
Center to expand the facility to increase service offerings and to add new services for 
existing clients. Since 1993, the Family Learning Center has continued to provide a variety 
of services to low-income, minority and non-English speaking children and families within 
Boulder County, including daycare and early childhood development programs, after-
school and summer educational programs for elementary, middle and high school 
students, adult and family educational and support services and assistance with various 
community outreach programs. With the Family Learning Center having been adjacent to 
the 150-unit San Juan del Centro since 1981 when the facility was founded, approximately 
50 percent of Family Learning Center users have been and continue to be San Juan del 
Centro residents. In that regard, the Family Learning Center is not only compatible with the 
surrounding residential uses, but a key component of the services available to nearby low- 
and very low-income residents.  

 
The applicant is proposing to expand the existing Family Learning Center (FLC) facility by 
2,427 square feet in order to better support existing services and operations and to allow 
for additional services for the existing clients. The proposal includes replacing a portion of 
the existing playground with a new addition on the south side of the building as well as site 

Attachment D - Use Review Criteria Analysis

Call Up Items 1E     Page 21Packet Page     474



and parking lot improvements. There are no proposed changes to the existing number of 
employees or customers at this time. The existing principal uses include daycare services, 
after school care for elementary and middle school students and evening tutoring classes 
for students. 

 
Currently, the FLC provides daycare services for 30 Pre-K students, after school care for 
45 elementary and middle school students and tutoring for 30 students of all ages. There 
are 18 total employees with varying shifts and work schedules, with three employee 
vehicles and three facility shuttle vans on-site at any given time. The chart below outlines 
the existing hours of operation and operating characteristics for the different educational 
services: 

 
Service Days # of 

Students 
Arrival 
Time 

Departure 
Time 

Drop-Off 
Mode 

Pick-Up 
Mode 

 

Daycare Weekdays 30 

7:50-8:15 
a.m.  (group 

1); 
12:30-12:40 
p.m. (Group 

2) 

11:30-11:40 
a.m. (group 

1); 
3:50-4:00 p.m. 

(Group 2) 

50% car 
 

50% van 
or walk 

50% car 
 

50% van 
or walk 

After 
School 
Care 

Weekdays 45 
3:00 – 4:00 

p.m. 
5:30-6:00 p.m. 

Mostly 
van, bus 
or walk 

45% car 
(20 total) 

55% 
walk or 

bus 

Tutoring Wednesdays 30 6:00 p.m. 8:00 p.m. 

50% car 
 

50% 
walk or 

bus 

50% car 
 

50% 
walk or 

bus 
 

   
With regards to the existing and future parking impacts of the proposed expansion, as 
discussed above there are no changes to the number of employees or clients proposed as 
part of the expansion; therefore, it is unlikely that the proposed expansion will create any 
additional parking impacts. The existing use has demonstrated over the last 30 years that 
it has no negative impacts on the surrounding residential uses; however, in order to better 
accommodate their employees and serve their existing customers, the FLC is proposing to 
reconfigure the existing parking lot to provide 19 parking spaces where currently there are 
only 14 parking spaces. In addition, in terms of existing off-site parking, the San Juan del 
Centro development currently provides 297 parking spaces where 285 are required by the 
land use regulations, and there is also on-street parking available along 34th Street just 
west of the site.  An informal parking arrangement has existed between the Family 
Learning Center and the neighboring San Juan Del Centro apartment complex since the 
use began in 1981. Under this arrangement, the FLC is allowed to use parking spaces in 
the San Juan Del Centro parking area for overflow parking as needed, and San Juan Del 
Centro residents are allowed to use FLC parking spaces for overflow parking on weekends 
and during the evenings as needed. 

 

Attachment D - Use Review Criteria Analysis

Call Up Items 1E     Page 22Packet Page     475



Including the 19 proposed on-site parking spaces, the available on-street parking on 34th 
Street and the parking arrangement with San Juan del Centro, the parking study (see 
Attachment B) provided by the applicant indicates that there are 53 total available parking 
spaces in the immediate vicinity of the FLC. With the different user groups arriving and 
departing from the FLC site at successive times throughout the day and approximately 
50% of the students in each activity group using shuttle vans or walking from the bus stop 
or the adjacent San Juan Del Centro development, the proposed parking configuration will 
continue to adequately serve the parking demand generated by the use and will not impact 
the surrounding residential properties. 

 
   (4)  Infrastructure: As compared to development permitted under section 9-6-1, 

"Schedule of Permitted Uses of Land," B.R.C. 1981, in the zone, or as compared to 
the existing level of impact of a non-conforming use, the proposed development will 
not significantly adversely affect the infrastructure of the surrounding area, 
including, without limitation, water, wastewater, and storm drainage utilities and 
streets; 

 
The infrastructure required to serve the facility is existing. 

 
    (5)  Character of Area: The use will not change the predominant character of the 

surrounding area; and 
 

The character of the area is predominantly attached residential with the permanently 
affordable housing apartment development, San Juan del Centro located immediately 
adjacent to the project site.  The Orchard Grove Mobile Home Park is also located in 
proximity to the site, although it is not adjacent and is separated by a fence running the 
length of the property. The site is bordered on the north by the White Rock Ditch, with the 
Howard Hueston Park lying further to the north. Surrounding development is comprised of 
one and two stories and includes residential and daycare uses.  

 
The development proposal to expand the Family Learning Center is generally consistent 
with the character of the area. The site’s relative seclusion at the end of 34th Street and 
adjacent to a ditch and a city park makes it so that the site is not really visible to anyone 
other than residents of immediately adjacent properties. Considering that the existing use 
has served residents of the adjacent development for over 30 years, the proposal to 
expand the existing building and increase parking while maintaining the same level of 
service and overall intensity of the use will not change the predominant character of the 
surrounding area. 

 
N/A (6)  Conversion of Dwelling Units to Non-Residential Uses: There shall be a presumption 

against approving the conversion of dwelling units in the residential zoning districts 
set forth in subsection 9-5-2(c)(1)(a), B.R.C. 1981, to non-residential uses that are 
allowed pursuant to a use review, or through the change of one non-conforming use 
to another non-conforming use. The presumption against such a conversion may be 
overcome by a finding that the use to be approved serves another compelling 
social, human services, governmental, or recreational need in the community 
including, without limitation, a use for a day care center, park, religious assembly, 

Attachment D - Use Review Criteria Analysis

Call Up Items 1E     Page 23Packet Page     476



social service use, benevolent organization use, art or craft studio space, museum, 
or an educational use. 

 
Not Applicable, as there are no existing residential uses associated with the Family 
Learning Center. 

   
 

Attachment D - Use Review Criteria Analysis

Call Up Items 1E     Page 24Packet Page     477



 

Packet Page     478



 

  
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Molly Winter, Director, DUHMD/PS 
 Eric Guenther, Assistant Parking Manager, DUHMD/PS 
 
Date:   April 16, 2014 
 
Subject: Call Up Item: Expansion to the Mapleton Hill, Whittier and East Ridge 

Neighborhood Parking Permit Zones 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The purpose of this WIP is to present to City Council the expansion of the Neighborhood 
Parking Permit (NPP) program in the Mapleton Hill, Whittier and East Ridge zones (See 
Attachments A, B & C) The blocks meet all of the requirements, there is a majority of residents 
who support the NPP, and the Transportation Advisory Board supported the staff 
recommendation 5-0 at their meeting on February 10, 2014. 
 
The City Council meeting on April 15, 2014 is within the 30 day call-up period. This NPP 
expansion will be effective on May 15, 2014 unless the approval is called up by City Council. 
 
BOULDER REVISED CODE REQUIREMENTS 
Pursuant to section 2-2-15 BRC 1981, Neighborhood Parking Permit zones may be created 
restricting parking in residentially zoned area to promote traffic safety, protect areas from 
pollution, noise and trash, and protect the welfare and convenience of the inhabitants of the city.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
The cost to implement the zones is estimated at $8,748.00.  Funds are available in the budget to 
cover the costs.   
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 

 Economic: NPP zones create balanced parking access to residential neighborhoods 
adjacent to business districts or other major traffic generators.  The program provides free 

Call Up Item 1F     Page Packet Page     479



 

parking for clients and customers for either two or three hours and also provides 
commuter parking permits for commuters.   

 Environmental: The NPP provides limited parking restrictions by charging for parking in 
the public right-of-way which can influence driving habits.  

 Social: The purpose of the NPP program is to enhance the livability and quality of life in 
residential neighborhoods by providing balanced access to parking for residents, 
commuters and the general public.  

 
BACKGROUND: 
The NPP program was created in 1996 as a modification of the original Residential Parking 
Program (RPP).  The purpose of the program is to promote neighborhood livability while 
providing balanced access to city right-of-way. The program works by creating limited access to 
city streets in neighborhood areas through permit restrictions.  Between 1996 and 2002, eight 
zones were established: Columbine, Fairview, Goss/Grove, High/Sunset, Mapleton Hill, 
Whittier, University Hill and University Heights.  In 2008, two new zones – West Pearl and East 
Ridge/Pennsylvania - were created. Please see Attachment D for a background description of the 
program. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
Acting on the petitions for expansion of the NPP received from residents in the affected blocks in 
the Mapleton Hill, Whittier and East Ridge neighborhoods, staff surveyed, on several occasions, 
and found the blocks met the requirements of being contiguous to an existing NPP and 60% 
parking occupancy for at least three hours between 9am and 5pm during the week.   
 
Initial proposals and maps were sent to the all the effected zone addresses as well as to 
residences in the surrounding neighborhood for Mapleton Hill, Whittier and East Ridge areas.  
The flyer included information about an open house and the TAB public hearing in February. 
The open house was held on January 24, 2014 and four residents from Mapleton Hill attended.   
At the Transportation Advisory Board (TAB) public hearing on February 10, 2014 the advisory 
board voted 5 to 0 to support the staff recommendation.   
 
Staff recommends NPP designation for the following blocks in the Mapleton Hill, Whittier and 
East Ridge zones. (See also Attachment A, B & C).  All blocks met the criteria for expansion of 
the zone and the majority of feedback was in support. 
 
Mapleton Hill NPP 
East & West sides of the 2300 block of 7th St. 
North & South sides of the 600 block of Mapleton St. 
North & South sides of the 700 block of Mapleton St. 
North & South sides of the 600 block of Highland St. 
 
Whittier NPP 
East side of the 2000 block of 18th St. 
 
 

Call Up Item 1F     Page Packet Page     480



 

East Ridge NPP 
North side of the 2800 block of Pennsylvania Ave.  
 
Fairview NPP 
A petition was submitted to remove the South side of 3600 to the 3700 block of Longwood Ave. 
but the residents of this NPP reconsidered and this proposed removal was withdrawn.  
 
Impacts to Administration and Enforcement 
Administration 
The expansions would result in an addition of approximately ten block faces to the existing 
inventory of NPP’s and would have a negligible impact on the NPP administration and budget.  
 
Enforcement 
Enforcement is an important component to effectiveness of the NPP program.  Currently, the 
NPP zones are generally enforced two to three times per week.  The addition of the expansions 
would marginally impact enforcement.  
 
Staff is currently using license plate recognition technology to enforce the NPP zones. This 
technology has been found to be very effective and has paid for the cost of the system within the 
six months of operation.   
 
All net parking enforcement revenues go into the general fund.  The cost to provide enforcement 
within the NPP zones is more than the citation revenues generated from the NPP zones.   
 
NEXT STEPS: 
Unless called up by City Council, the expansion will go into effect on May 8, 2014.  An 
implementation schedule will be determined with Public Works.  A two week warning period 
will follow before enforcement begins. 
 
 
Attachments: A - Mapleton Hill NPP Expansion 
   B - Whittier NPP Expansion 
   C - East Ridge NPP Expansion    
   D - NPP Background 
 

Call Up Item 1F     Page Packet Page     481



 

Packet Page     482



8th 
St

5th 
St

Portland Pl

6t
h 

S
t

7t
h 

St

Maxwell Av

7t
h 

St

Maxwell Av

Dewey Av

7th 
St

11th 
St

8th 
St

10
th 

St

10th 
St

Mapleton Av

Portland Pl

Mountain View Rd

Highland Av

Morrison Ay

10
th 

StConcord Av

Broadw
ay

Pine St

High St

Spruce St

Mapleton Av

Pearl St

9th 
St

Mapleton Proposed Expansion
Neighborhood Parking Permit (NPP) Zone City     of         Boulder1 inch = 325 feet

01.16.14

Legend
Proposed Mapleton Zones

NPP Hours of operation: 
Monday - Friday, 8 am - 6 pm;
3 hour maximum without a permit.  

Existing Mapleton Zones

Attachment A:  Mapleton Proposal

Call Up Item 1F     Page Packet Page     483



 

Packet Page     484



Pine St

16th 
St

14th 
St

Walnut St

19th 
St

Spruce St

20th St

19
th 

St

Alpine Av

18th 
St

19th 
St

High St

15th 
St

15th 
St

Mesa Dr

17th 
St

13th 
St

North St

18th 
St

1 9
th 

S
t

Sunset Bv

14th 
St

16th 
St

Pine St

20th 
St

Mapleton Av

Mapleton Av

Mapleton Av

Bluff St

Bluff St

Bluff St

Whittier Proposed Expansion
Neighborhood Parking Permit (NPP) Zone City     of         Boulder1 inch = 350 feet

08.07.13

Legend
Proposed Whittier Zones

Existing Whittier Zones

NPP Hours of operation: 
Monday - Friday, 8 am - 8 pm;
3 hour maximum without a permit.  

Attachment B:  Whittier NPP Expansion

Call Up Item 1F     Page Packet Page     485



 

Packet Page     486



Ea
st

 R
id

ge
 P

en
ns

yl
va

ni
a

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Pa

rk
in

g 
Pe

rm
it 

(N
PP

) Z
on

e
Ci

ty
    

 of
    

    
 Bo

uld
er

1 
in

ch
 =

 1
50

 fe
et

08
.0

6.
13

Le
ge

nd NP
P 

ho
urs

 M
on

da
y -

 Fr
ida

y
8a

m-
6p

m 
/ 2

 ho
ur 

ma
x l

im
it w

ith
ou

t a
 pe

rm
it

Ea
st

 R
id

ge
 N

P
P 

Zo
ne

Ea
st

 R
id

ge
 N

P
P 

Zo
ne

 P
ro

po
se

d

Attachment C: East Ridge NPP Expansion

Call Up Item 1F     Page Packet Page     487



 

Packet Page     488



Attachment D – NPP Background  

 

 NEIGHBORHOOD PARKING PERMIT PROGRAM BACKGROUND 
 
In 1986, the Boulder City Council adopted the Residential Permit Parking (RPP) program as a 
mechanism to relieve spillover parking in residential areas. The RPP program was designed to 
give preference in the use of on-street parking spaces to residents or businesses located within a 
designated zone, by restricting long and short-term non-resident parking on neighborhood streets. 
The program was first implemented in 1993 when RPP zones were established in the Mapleton 
Hill and University Hill neighborhoods. The RPP program restricted nonresident parking on 
neighborhood streets to two hours, Monday-Friday, 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. Concerns about the impacts 
associated with RPP implementation led Council to request an evaluation of the RPP program 
before proceeding with further zone implementation. 
 
The Neighborhood Permit Parking (NPP) program was adopted by the City Council in May 1997 
as an improved version of the RPP program. The NPP was designed to improve the balance 
between preserving neighborhood character and providing public access to community facilities. 
The new program provided for greater flexibility and new features not available under the RPP 
program, including: 

• The availability of commuter permits within permit parking zones; 

• The ability to tailor the time and duration of restrictions to meet the needs of the  
   neighborhood; and, 
• The one time only, per day, short-term parking component. 

 
NPP parking restrictions limit on-street parking for vehicles without a parking permit.  Vehicles 
without an NPP permit may park one time only, per day, per zone for the posted time limit and 
may not re-park in that zone again on the same day. Vehicles with a valid permit are exempt from 
the posted parking restrictions. Residents who live within an NPP zone may purchase up to two 
resident permits and receive up to two visitor passes per residence per year for $17/year. 
Businesses located within a zone may purchase up to three permits for use by employees and may 
apply for additional employee parking permits if necessary at $75/year. 
 
The following are the existing NPP zones: Columbine, Fairview, Goss/Grove, High/Sunset, 
Mapleton Hill, University Hill, Whittier, University Heights, West Pearl, and East 
Ridge/Pennsylvania.   
 
The NPP ordinance stipulates that up to four commuter permits may be issued per block face 
within an NPP zone to nonresidents. In November, 2012 Council authorized to change the 
ordinance making the commuter permit program a permanent part of the NPP ordinance.  
Commuter permits are issued on block faces where the average daily percentage of unoccupied 
parking spaces (“White Space”) exceeds 25 percent (15% in Goss/Grove). The maximum number 
of commuter permits issued on any one block face, within an NPP zone, is four. The current fee 
for commuter permits is $82 per quarter or $328 per year.  

Call Up Item 1F     Page Packet Page     489



 

Packet Page     490



 
 

 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

 
To:   Members of City Council 
 
From:   Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager, CP&S 
Kathleen Bracke, Go Boulder Manager, Public Works Transportation  
Micki Kaplan, Senior Transportation Planner, Public Works Transportation 
Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer, CP&S 
 

Date:   April 16, 2014 
 
Subject:   Information Item: Update on Envision East Arapahoe—East Arapahoe 

Plan and Sustainable Streets & Centers 
 
 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this item is to provide an update to City Council on the Envision East Arapahoe 
project, including the scope of work and timeline for 2014, the project issues and opportunities, 
and the approach and ideas for developing the project vision. Council will have a study session 
on this topic on May 27, 2014. 
 
During the work plan discussion in January 2013, City Council indicated a desire to conduct a 
planning effort in the East Arapahoe area, primarily precipitated by the expansion of Boulder 
Community Hospital, desire to improve the urban form and land use mix, and strategies noted in 
the Economic Sustainability Strategy (ESS). Additionally, in 2013 the city completed an existing 
conditions inventory for this corridor, including analysis of the street network and site design 
characteristics through the Sustainable Streets and Centers (SS&C) project.  SS&C focuses on 
the urban design aspect of the streets and centers/districts to implement the community 
design/sustainable urban form policy section to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP). The next stage of SS&C has been integrated with the East Arapahoe planning effort and 
proposed to be called “Envision East Arapahoe.”   

This effort will define a vision for the corridor’s future, support Arapahoe Avenue’s role as a 
major transit corridor, lead to appropriate tools to help shape urban form, improve the quality of 

Information Item 2A     Page 1Packet Page     491



 
 

the street and its centers and adjacent land uses, and lead to specific near and long term 
implementation tools such as guidelines or a “pattern book” to be used during project review.  It 
also may lead to other possible changes to the land use code.  

BACKGROUND 

Study Area 
The initial project study area consists of length of East Arapahoe Avenue from Folsom 
Street to 75th Street and quarter mile wide on the south side and half a mile wide on the 
north side, incorporating the adjacent industrial areas and enclaves.  While it is important 
to have a larger study area to start particularly for transportation improvements, the area 
is over 4.5 miles in length, covers 3,000 acres, and includes approximately 1,900 parcels.  
Therefore, early in the project it will be important to narrow the focus on particular 
centers and locations to address design, land use, and mobility “hub” issues.  Staff will 
discuss this topic with council at the study session in May. 

Figure 1:  Initial Study Area  

APPROACH 
Envision East Arapahoe will model the focused and action-oriented planning approach 
described by City Council and Planning Board with the term “Area Plan Lite.”  For the 
remainder of 2014, staff will work with the community to produce a visionary, data-
driven plan, and set of actions.  The plan will demonstrate cross-cutting goals, near-

Information Item 2A     Page 2Packet Page     492



 
 

term solutions and longer term actions. The plan will not contain the full level of detail 
that a typical area plan would include.   

A vision and scenario development process should demonstrate how the city can 
effectively and quickly identify potential redevelopment areas and weigh choices about 
policy options, services, infrastructure investments, and feasibility.  Scenario 
development uses indicators or evaluation criteria as the basis for creating and evaluating 
choices and will allow the community to collaboratively discuss and adjust future 
scenarios.  Indicators might address factors such as:  

 redevelopment potential 
 carbon emissions 
 building energy use  
 transportation, multi-modal connectivity, bicycle, pedestrian, and transit access 
 housing mix and affordability  
 urban design 
 water consumption  
 parks (or other services or amenities) per capita  
 impervious surface 
 infrastructure costs and return on investment  
 jobs-to-housing ratio  

 
The city has issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) to hire a firm (or firms) that will 
support the scenario building, analysis, and visualization aspects of the project.   

Inventory, Issues and Opportunities  
A description of issues and opportunities and maps are included as Attachment A.  
Additionally, draft maps illustrating zoning and land use, transportation, natural 
resources, facilities, and other existing conditions are available here. (The SS&C Phase 1 
Inventory work is located here.)  Staff also is completing resource inventory work, such 
as a more thorough understanding of ownership patterns, current development proposals, 
redevelopment potential, existing zoning and standards (i.e., parking, use standards), 
service patterns and areas lacking services, and other factors.  This information will be 
available on the project website:  EnvisionEastArapahoe.com and for the council study 
session in May.    

Some of the opportunities identified are listed below.  The final plan will include 
recommendations for some or many of these topics, whereas some items may be addressed later 
in the BVCP update.  The early stages of the process and engagement and outreach will help 
further refine the scope of work.   

1. Establish a vision for the street (i.e., what type of “complete street”?) and the use and 
form of the built environment along it (i.e., uses, location of “centers” and their 
connection?  How do people interact and get access?) 

2. Retrofit parts of the corridor into more healthy, vertical and horizontal mixed-use, 
compact and connected place(s) and brand these places.  

Information Item 2A     Page 3Packet Page     493

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Combined_Maps_121313-1-201312131113.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/sustainable-streets-centers-phase-one-inventory-report-1-201403140950.pdf
http://www.envisioneastarapahoe.com/


 
 

3. Improve multi-modal transportation including local/regional transit, Bus Rapid Transit 
(BRT), mobility hub, auto, pedestrian and bicycle connections (especially across 
Arapahoe Avenue), and align transportation and land use goals.  

4. Connect this part of the city more strongly with downtown and other areas (i.e., 
University of Colorado (CU) and Boulder Junction) and expand sustainable 
transportation options for employees and residents, through changes to the street and with 
tools such as EcoPass. 

5. Identify places for workforce housing and healthy, walkable, and complete 
neighborhoods, helping to alleviate Boulder’s in-commuter pressure.  

6. Identify locations for hospital growth and adjust to accommodate changes in land use. 
7. Address annexation of unincorporated industrial and residential properties. 
8. Incorporate CU’s new vision for East Campus and connections to Arapahoe. 
9. Integrate this project with follow up to the Primary Employer Study and Economic 

Sustainability Strategy. 
10. Coordinate with flood mitigation planning south of Arapahoe Avenue and on the 

Flatirons Golf Course. 
11. Identify potential for pocket parks, urban agriculture, increased tree canopy, reduced heat 

island effect, cultural amenities, food carts, art, etc., and recognize cultural and 
community assets already present.  

12. Reduce carbon emissions, increase energy efficiency and reduce operating costs. 
13. Incorporate low impact development stormwater techniques, improve water 

conservation and address green infrastructure.  

Timeline 
Staff has been developing a scope of work and timeline for the project.  (See Attachment B.) 
The project is envisioned as having three major phases:  (1) Inventory (currently underway),  
(2) Vision and Scenarios (April through August), and (3) Action Planning and Implementation 
(September through December).  

ENGAGEMENT PROCESS AND STAKEHOLDERS INTERVIEWS 
The project encompasses a large and varied area of the City of Boulder with many segmented 
and complex stakeholders.  Communication and engagement will be important to the success of 
a plan.  Therefore, engagement for Envision East Arapahoe will be broad-based, inclusive, 
transparent, and accessible for all, using some of the successful techniques employed during the 
Civic Area project, for instance.  It also will be targeted to the specific businesses and 
employees, property owners and residents along the street.  Parts of the outreach may revolve 
around day-time events and online/social media techniques.   

The stakeholders proposed for interviews are located in Attachment D. 

The first major workshop for the public will be in June.  It will include design visualization and 
character preferences.  The scenario building workshop will occur later in the summer or early 
fall.   (Attachment B contains additional information about community engagement.)  

Information Item 2A     Page 4Packet Page     494



 
 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

Joint Board Feedback – December 2013  
In late December of last year, the Planning Board, Transportation Advisory Board, and the 
Boulder Design Advisory Board met together to review the first phase of the SS&C Inventory 
and the approach to the East Arapahoe Project. The proposed combined scope of work, timeline, 
and visioning approach reflects input received.  

Planning Board Feedback, March 2014 
The Planning Board reviewed this material on March 20, 2014.  This memo has been modified to 
reflect input given.  Planning Board also suggested the following ideas in response to the 
questions in the memo. 

The scope of work and timeline for 2014:   
 The approach generally makes sense.   
 It makes sense to make the study area asymmetrical with focus to the north.  Also 

consider the two major riparian corridors and their influence on the study area.  It might 
be more of a triangle than strictly a linear corridor. 

 Include some sort of site review tools as part of the outcomes.  May need two (or more) 
sets of guidelines – one more street-facing (along Arapahoe) and one for the interior 
properties and around riparian areas.   

 Early code changes might be part of “early wins”. 
 Board members will send additional stakeholder contacts.  

 
Project issues/opportunities and constraints 

 Identify what cultural heritage is there and opportunities to identify the authenticity of the 
area and tie to the history of Boulder. 

 Very little of the development is reflective of the riparian corridors; that’s a missed 
opportunity.  

 Improving the connections and bicycle network is a priority outcome.  Make the area 
more permeable for bicycles. 

 Tired buildings are also an opportunity. 
 Avoid sterile street improvements; make sure north and south are not further divided with 

any RTD improvements.  Urban design and landscape are really important to the quality 
of the street.  

 Work with property owners to identify good opportunity projects and stimulate positive 
change.   

 
Approach and ideas for developing the project vision 

 The 3D visualization and visual preference approach will be helpful in crafting the vision. 
 The stronger the vision, the more likely it will happen.   
 Be clear about the role of Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) along the corridor.  A corridor with it 

(or without) will be very different in nature.  Encourage BRT as a catalyst.   

Information Item 2A     Page 5Packet Page     495



 
 

Additional Feedback from Boards in April 2014 
The project team will meet with the Boulder Design Advisory Board (BDAB) on April 9 and the 
Transportation Advisory Board (TAB) on April 14.  A summary of the input from those 
discussions will be included as part of the council study session packet for May 27, 2014.   

ESTABLISHING THE VISION 
Staff has begun the discussion with boards and commissions and will ask stakeholders what type 
of inspired vision and type of street and centers East Arapahoe should become.  Attachment C 
contains some questions and draft vision ideas for the discussion.   

PROJECT NEXT STEPS 
April and May Stakeholder interviews 
May 27, 2014 City Council study session regarding issues, draft scope, feedback 

from workshop, vision  
Early June 2014 Launch public workshop with speakers and focus on 

vision/visualization 
Summer 2014   Return to Boards and Commissions to work on scenarios 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Issues and Opportunities and Inventory Maps and Analysis Maps 
B. Draft Scope of Work and 2014 Timeline 
C. Draft vision ideas 
D. Stakeholder list  
E. Integrated Time Line for Housing, Planning, Transportation, Access Management and 

Parking Strategy, and Climate 
 

Information Item 2A     Page 6Packet Page     496



 
 
 
 

Attachment A:  Envision East Arapahoe – Issues and Opportunities  
Work in Progress – 03/28/14 

 

INTRODUCTION 

Map Inventory 

A link to all maps can be found here.  
 
Map 1:  Subcommunity and Area I, II and III Boundaries  
Map 2:  Land Use  
Map 3:  Schools, Parks, and Open Space  
Map 4:  East Arapahoe Area Transportation Network  
Map 5:  Transit  
Map 6:  Zoning Districts 
Map 7:  City 100 Year Floodplain and Regulatory Wetlands 
Map 8:  Recent Annexation History 
Map 9:  Transportation Travel Time and Traffic 
 
Other Maps to be added:   

 Current Development Activity and Proposals 
 Cultural Assets   
 Property ownership  
 Redevelopment potential 
 Walk Score/Neighborhood access maps 

  

ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES 
The plan scope may be based on some or all of the following issues and opportunities:  
 

1. Area has the Highest Potential for Growth and Change in the City 

Issue:  Based on existing zoning, East Boulder (north of Arapahoe Avenue) has the highest 

potential in the city for adding a significant number of new jobs (14,000+) and new residential 

units in Boulder Junction (1,300+).  During the 2010 BVCP update, participants identified this 

part of East Boulder as the highest priority area to plan for future change.    The single‐family 

neighborhoods on the south side of East Arapahoe Avenue less likely to change.(See Map 6:  

Zoning Districts) 

Opportunities:  The plan process will  allow exploration of the land use mix along the corridor to 

provide for a range of business and housing opportunities, and higher intensities in certain 

redevelopment locations along Arapahoe Avenue may be appropriate.  New neighborhood 

centers could evolve out of transformative redevelopment plans along or near the corridor.  For 

instance, the commercial center on the north side of 55th Street and Arapahoe Avenue could 

evolve into a better functioning neighborhood center with a mix of uses and improved access 

for residents and employees (i.e., improvements to the pedestrian, bike and transit networks 

Attachment A - Issues and Opportunities; Inventory and Analysis Maps

Information Item 2A     Page 7Packet Page     497



 
 
 

with “main street” nodes off of Arapahoe Ave.).  The plan may identify new smaller centers as 

well. 

2. Area has Potential for Transformational Change to Meet Community Goals for Complete 

Streets and Walkable Districts/Neighborhoods 

Issue:  East Boulder was mostly built post‐WWII, when streets and sites were designed primarily 

around the automobile and planning and zoning promoted superblocks and low density.  

Consequently, buildings are set back from streets behind large parking lots; and sidewalks, bus 

stops, and bicycle lanes are secondary both within the right‐of‐way and on private adjacent 

lands and do not meet the overall BVCP values and sustainability framework.  Designated 

neighborhood commercial centers (shown at 2‐mile+ intervals along the corridor as designated 

in the BVCP) are not truly mixed use or walkable.   

Opportunities:  East Boulder, or parts of the corridor along East Arapahoe Avenue, could 

transform into more healthy, mixed‐use, connected place(s) better served by a multi‐modal 

transportation to improve livability and economic vitality while also lowering GHG emissions and 

achieving other sustainability framework goals. The SS&C analysis identified some of the specific 

opportunities.     

3. Major Primary Employment Center, but with “Tired” Buildings and Lacking Amenities   

Issue:  The 2012 Primary Employer Study identified the East Arapahoe area as one of three 

centers for primary employers, accounting for 44 percent of the city’s existing primary 

employers and more than 21,000 jobs.1  Much of the land along the north side of East Arapahoe 

is planned and zoned for industrial uses.  Preserving land for job centers will be important as the 

city considers needs for housing and other uses.  The study also notes that many of the 

employers and workers believe the area lacks day‐time amenities, such as restaurants, walking 

trails, and daily retail services.  This encourages Single Occupancy Vehicle (SOV) travel both for 

the work commute and trips during the day to meet these needs.  Service Industrial, a critically 

needed land use in the city, is also located throughout the area.   

Opportunities:  Incorporate strategies established in the city’s Economic Sustainability Strategy 

into Envision East Arapahoe where appropriate along the corridor.    

4. The Foothills Campus Hospital will Spur Medical‐Related Growth 

Issue:  In 2014, Boulder Community Hospital (BCH) Foothills campus is opening new primary and 

acute care facilities along East Arapahoe Ave. BCH anticipates this will spur relocations of 

medical and dental offices from the North Broadway area.  The city does not know how much 

demand for space will occur over time but anticipates that initial demand can be absorbed into 

office parks near the hospital with potential medical office rezoning or redevelopment in the 

future.   The project webpage includes additional background information. 

                                                            
 
 
1 Primary employers are primary drivers of the city’s economic health.  They bring new money into the local 
economy and export goods and services and they support secondary employers, such as restaurants and banks.   

Attachment A - Issues and Opportunities; Inventory and Analysis Maps

Information Item 2A     Page 8Packet Page     498



 
 
 
 

Opportunity:  The plan could identify locations for hospital‐related facility growth and necessary 

adjustments to the land use code. 

5. Area Could Address Housing Needs and Provide New Neighborhoods 

Issue:  The Comprehensive Housing Strategy may identify new locations that are appropriate for 

housing; however, the plan must account for the balance of industrial/employment needs and 

market demands while creating livable, vital places for residents.   

Opportunity:  Address possible redevelopment opportunities for new workforce housing and 

walkable, healthy, complete neighborhoods to alleviate Boulder’s in‐commuter pressure and 

provide more places for Boulder’s workforce to live in closer proximity to work. 

6. CU Expansion Plans:  Transportation Master Plan | University of Colorado East Campus Vision 

and North Boulder Creek Master Plan 

Issue:  The University has established a new East Campus Vision to eventually integrate with the 

main campus through similar densities, facility design, housing, and connections through 

walking, biking and transit as the primary transportation modes.  Additionally, the city and CU 

are working together on the CU East Campus Connections project to advance “complete streets” 

and integrate connections between East Campus, Main Campus and Williams Village as well as 

with adjoining areas of the city. These efforts may identify new and enhanced connections 

needed for near‐ and long‐term east campus expansion and are included as part of the 

Transportation Master Plan Update.  Funding and expansion will be incremental over a multi‐

decade horizon.  Also, in November 2013, CU began a new master plan for the North Boulder 

Creek area (45 acre site located south of Arapahoe, between Folsom and 17th Streets).   

Opportunity:  Incorporate the new vision for East Campus and North Boulder Creek area into the 

city’s planning efforts, and ensure the university’s work supports the evolving vision of adjacent 

city neighborhoods and districts.  The city will expand its SS&C work in 4th Quarter 2014 to focus 

on Colorado Boulevard and 30th Street. 

7. Area Lacks Connectivity and has Mobility Barriers between  Existing Neighborhoods and 

Housing, Businesses, Parks, and Other Facilities 

Issue:  The street and trail network in the area is based on large blocks and major arterial 

streets, and is not as well connected or gridded as the west side of Boulder.  This is in part due 

to a number of natural features and built barriers (e.g., Boulder Creek, Railroad, etc.).  East 

Arapahoe Avenue is a state highway and has high speeds, is noisy, and in many places 

particularly inhospitable to pedestrians and bicyclists to cross or travel along the road.  The 

implementation and funding of new and improved connections will be challenging due to 

private property issues and existing development.   Additionally, neighborhoods south of 

Arapahoe Avenue are not well connected to the street network, neighborhood centers, or 

facilities or trails to the north.   

Opportunities:  The plan can explore and identify improvements and implementation for all 

modes of travel (i.e., bike, walk, bus, and auto) and modal priority, enhance local and regional 

transit, support regional Bus Rapid Transit (BRT), and implement access and parking 

management strategies.  The plan should focus on improving mobility options to, through, and 

Attachment A - Issues and Opportunities; Inventory and Analysis Maps

Information Item 2A     Page 9Packet Page     499



 
 
 

across Arapahoe at frequent intervals while providing safe and convenient connections to key 

destinations such as Boulder Junction, CU East Campus, Boulder Community Hospital, 

downtown, 29th Street retail, area and Boulder County areas to the east.  Where natural 

features exist, they represent an opportunity to evaluate whether these should be integrated 

into the urban design, avoided to protect ecological values as plant and wildlife habitat, or 

enhanced to improved ecological health.  

8. Arapahoe Avenue is a Primary Commuting Corridor to/from East Boulder County  

Issue:  The Arapahoe corridor is an important east/west transportation corridor for employees 

working in Boulder and living in adjacent, growing communities like Erie and Lafayette.  The vast 

majority (more than 80 percent) commute via single‐occupant vehicles.   

Opportunities:  The plan can identify how to expand sustainable transportation options or make 

them more attractive to in‐commuters (e.g., bus, bike).  Additionally, the plan can consider 

opportunities such as EcoPass expansion for employees and residents in the area.  There is 

potential for East Arapahoe Avenue to be designated as a future Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 

corridor, pending the outcome of the Northwest Area Mobility Study (NAMS) and/or the TMP 

Update in summer 2014. 

9. Area is within Boulder and South Boulder Creek 100‐Year Floodplain and has Flood Hazards 

and Community Valued Wetlands   

Issue:  Many properties in the area lie within the Boulder and South Boulder Creek 100‐year 

floodplain. The city’s interest in prohibiting development in areas of flood hazard and in 

protecting the community and ecological values of wetlands limits the degree land can be 

developed for other uses.  A number of properties and businesses were affected during the 

September 2013 floods, and the city is working on floodplain mitigation for South Boulder 

Creek.  Wetlands are a natural resource that lend open space and other community values to 

the project area. 

Opportunities:  Understand the constraints and resource opportunities of the area and 

coordinate with flood mitigation planning, which may include flood mitigation south of 

Arapahoe Road and coordination with the golf course.  (See Map 7:  100 Year Floodplain and 

Regulatory Wetlands.) 

10. The Area has a Patchwork of Unincorporated Properties  
Issue:  On the eastern edge of the study area, properties are a patchwork of incorporated and 

unincorporated lands.  Along East Arapahoe, approximately 40 non‐residential properties in 

Area II are unincorporated and are currently provided city water and sewer service through out‐

of‐city utility agreements.  (Note:  The East Arapahoe Area II Study completed in 2013 provides 

technical analysis on these properties that the county asked the city to evaluate.)  Several 

properties eligible for annexation and redevelopment have been in contact with the city or have 

a formal application in review.  Additionally, the rural residential properties along Cherryvale 

Road and Old Tale Road are also a blend of unincorporated/incorporated lands, and many are 

located in the floodplain.  Some have out‐of‐city utility service, while others have septic and well 

systems that were damaged substantially during the floods and need replacement, and the city 

Attachment A - Issues and Opportunities; Inventory and Analysis Maps

Information Item 2A     Page 10Packet Page     500



 
 
 
 

has been exploring annexation packages with property owners.    

Opportunities:  The plan may address annexation of developed but unincorporated industrial 

properties and may address annexation issues related to the residential properties.  (See Map 8: 

Recent Annexation History) 

11. Area Facilities and Services 

A. Limited Parks, Open Space, Trails and Golf  

Issues:  Boulder’s only public 18‐hole golf course lies along East Arapahoe Avenue.  It is a 

recreation destination along with the adjacent special event center. The event center is 

aging and was damaged during the 2013 flood, and some desire to see the facility replaced.  

The East Arapahoe Area also contains the Stazio athletic fields and Valmont Butte, and is in 

close proximity to Valmont Community Park, however these facilities are not particularly 

well connected to neighborhoods or business parks.   Although there is not a large amount 

of OSMP lands in the corridor, much of the open space in the area provides facilities for 

visitor access and enjoyment (e.g., Boulder Creek and South Boulder Creek Paths).  Some 

other areas are set aside to protect natural resources (Cottonwood Grove, Hospital 

wetlands/riparian area).  (See Map 3:  Schools, Parks, and Open Space.) 

Opportunities:  There may be potential for smaller neighborhood or pocket parks to serve 

employment areas and opportunities for connections between parks and other 

designations. 

B. Water and Sewer Service – The area has a mix of public water and sewer, out of city sewer, 

as well as some properties with wells and septic systems.  More work is necessary to 

understand the utilities issues in relation to annexation.  

C. Public Safety – Service provision for fire, public safety and EMS are addressed through 

mutual aid agreements in the area.  These issues and services should be further analyzed to 

determine if the current level of service is adequate and whether any underlying issues 

exist.    

D. No Schools in East Boulder – There are no schools north of Arapahoe Avenue and east of 

Foothills Parkway.  This should be considered if new housing is added to the area.  (See Map 

3:  Schools, Parks, and Open Space.) 

E. Other Issues and Opportunities for Possible Analysis – Energy use, communications, other 

green infrastructure such as green streets, urban agriculture, eco‐districts and other 

districts, defining gateways and visual character, etc.       

 
 

Attachment A - Issues and Opportunities; Inventory and Analysis Maps

Information Item 2A     Page 11Packet Page     501



Information Item 2A     Page 12Packet Page     502



Information Item 2A     Page 13Packet Page     503



 

Packet Page     504



Information Item 2A     Page 14Packet Page     505



Attachment B1:  Envision East Arapahoe – Scope of Work 

A	Place	for	People	
 ( indicates possible need for consultant support) 

1—Inventory (through April)  

1.1—Project Definition, and ongoing project management and coordination (Mar. 2014) 

1.2—Community Engagement Plan (Mar. 2014) Community engagement and events will be ongoing 

throughout the project.  (See detailed list below.) 

1.3—Existing Conditions. Complete mapping inventory and other project inventory work (Mar. 

2014) 

1.4—Issues/Needs, Opportunities, and Constraints  (April/May 2014) 

o  (with GIS staff) Establish base model and input GIS data  

o  Identify map‐based opportunities and constraints  

o Begin to identify opportunities for scenarios  

o Market study?  

o Stakeholder Interviews 

Phase 1 Deliverables:  Project goals, Community Engagement Plan, Project Inventory, Opportunities and 

Constraints 

2—Vision and Scenarios (through August) 

2.1—Written/Illustrative Vision and Goals – How Bold Should the Vision Be? (Mar – May 2014) 

o Develop written and graphic project vision and identify character areas (Note:  Some of 

the graphics may be developed in task 6 below.)     

o  Identify criteria or indicators for comparing scenarios (e.g., carbon emissions, building 

energy use, connectivity, housing mix and affordability, water consumption, parks per 

capita, impervious surface, redevelopment potential, return on investment, 

infrastructure costs, transit access, jobs to housing ratio, and others)  

o Develop Goal or Guiding Principles 

2.2—Corridor and Centers/Districts Visualization and Design Prototypes     

o  Develop character areas and library of prototypes (i.e., early model to test design and 

learn from) that include 2D and 3D graphics 

o  Workshop #1—Speakers, Co‐Design and Visualization (June 2014) 

2.3—Future Scenario Development (scenarios including land use, transportation features, urban 

design and other considerations) 

Attachment B - Draft Scope of Work and 2014 Timeline

Information Item 2A     Page 15Packet Page     506



o Develop 3‐4 scenario concepts (e.g., bubble diagrams, images, 3D graphics, and 

descriptions) 

o Work with boards and commissions and stakeholders to generate ideas for scenario 

concepts  

o  Develop detailed scenarios based on scenario concepts (including GIS‐based model, 

maps, written description, 3D graphics, assumptions, etc.)  

o  Present 3D visualization for each scenario, including street and design prototypes 

2.4—Scenario Analysis    

o  Analyze scenarios using criteria and indicators developed during the previous task. 
o  Present scenario outcomes using indicators  

o  Workshop #2—Scenarios (August/September2014) 

2.5—Preferred Scenario Directions, and Prototypes    

o Illustrate and describe character and function for preferred scenario 

o Apply preferred prototypes 

 

Phase 2 Deliverables:  Vision and Goals, Criteria or Indicators for comparing Scenarios, Visualization and 

Design Prototypes… Visualization and Scenarios  

3—Action Plan and Implementation (through December) 

3.1—Draft strategies to achieve preferred scenario action plan (what it will it take, funding, 

partnerships, etc.)  

o Identify and implement near‐term actions (i.e., pilot projects, living laboratory, “easy” 

code changes). 

o Open House #3 (fall 2014) 

3.2—Draft plan 

3.3—Draft Design Implementation tools / Form based guide 

Plan and guidelines adoption 

Phase 3 Deliverables:  Draft strategies, near‐term actions, design implementation tools, plan synthesized  

Note:  Scoping for 30th Street and Colorado Boulevard SS&C design work will follow the initial workshop 

for East Arapahoe Avenue.   

Community	Engagement:	
Goals for engagement:  Broad‐based, inclusive, transparent, and accessible for all.  Also targeted to 

businesses and employees and property owners and residents.    

Attachment B - Draft Scope of Work and 2014 Timeline

Information Item 2A     Page 16Packet Page     507



Types of Engagement:   

o Stakeholder interviews Staff will interview business, institutions, and neighborhood 

representatives (March and April 2014). 

o Idea Inspiration about Retrofiting Suburban Corridors ‐ Victor Dover presentation on 

streets in 3/26 will help inform some ideas.  Staff will identify other possible speakers 

for June.  

o Workshops ‐ A co‐design/visualization workshop with speakers, a scenario building 

workshop, and an open house will allow the community to roll up sleeves and engage. 

o Boards and Commissions – Staff will seek guidance at periodic advisory board meetings 

(i.e., Planning Board, Transportation Advisory Board, and Design Advisory Board, and 

others depending on issues).  Planning Board provides plan approval. 

o City Council – Staff will seek direction and plan approval with council (i.e., May 27 study 

session, July or August agenda item (tbd), and Sept. 23 study session).  

o Inspire Boulder and web‐based engagement will occur at major milestones when 

workshops occur.  

o Storefront / Dine‐in – The planning team will go to places with people (e.g., Ozo coffee 

meetings, lunch or breakfast at big businesses or institutions, etc.)  

o Bicycle or Walk Tours – Walk audits are resuming and may be planned for the area for 

employees. 

o Student Studios ‐ Work with students at CU College of Environmental Design and 

younger Growing Up Boulder students and youth as appropriate. 

o Technical Committee – Staff may work with a small team of agencies (e.g., CDOT, RTD, 

county, etc.)  

 

Attachment B - Draft Scope of Work and 2014 Timeline

Information Item 2A     Page 17Packet Page     508



Attachment C:  Envision East Arapahoe – Transformative Vision Ideas 

How do you Envision East Arapahoe?  What would make it a great place in 20 

years?  What would you like to see change in the next few years?   

1 ‐ How bold or inspired should East Arapahoe’s vision be?  For instance:   

A. STATUS QUO+:  Arapahoe Avenue continues as a suburban corridor with an important 

economic vitality function.   The corridor is served by a variety of RTD transit routes with the 

Jump as the primary route on Arapahoe with good transit ridership.  TDM programs (such as 

ECO pass) are also available to employers in the area.  People mostly drive between work and 

home.   Change over time will be shaped by the market.  Investment focuses on response to the 

market and maintenance, not transformation.  

B. MODERATE:  The corridor and districts for people to work, eat, and live transform around a 

more complete street with transit that is improved in look and function to connect places and 

attract higher transit ridership.  Moderate investment in infrastructure, transit and TDM 

programs at selected areas that are most in need of change and improvements.  It will take 

some partnerships and focused planning for selected locations within the area.  

C. BOLD:  Over time, Arapahoe Avenue transforms to a transit‐oriented corridor with amenities for 

workers and neighborhoods, a mix of land uses, and vibrant people‐oriented places.  People 

walk a lot, and live, work, eat, and recreate in complete neighborhoods and districts.  A high 

level of investment occurs in the street and block transformation, BRT boulevard/complete 

street, mobility hub, expanded TDM programs and infrastructure occurs to support the desired 

transformation.  This approach will require partnerships, programming, comprehensive planning 

approach and multiple sources of funding. 

2 – What kind of transformation is desired – where and for what aim?   

A. What type of “complete” street should East Arapahoe Avenue become?   

a. How do people move travel along it?  Why?  

b. Is it designed with distinct characteristics according to the desired function as a 

“through” street or a place people are going “to”?  

c. Does it have separated bus lanes, bicycle lanes, etc?  (BRT?) 

d. Does it have a lot of landscaping, street trees, and separated medians?   

e. Is there a mobility hub and where? 

f. Does it have fiberoptics and other utilities built in?  Does it treat stormwater or 

generate energy?   

g. Does it have bridges or connections from north to south or are there certain 

intersections?  

B. What kinds of people‐oriented places flank Arapahoe Avenue?  Where? 

a. Where should there be “centers” or destinations along the corridor and what types? 

Attachment C - Draft Vision Ideas

Information Item 2A     Page 18Packet Page     509



b. What types of work places, housing, commercial services, institutions are located along 

the corridor?  

c. What types of public outdoor spaces? 

d. What other activities are people doing here (e.g., recreating, dining, learning, providing 

child care, viewing art, accessing nature or parks, etc.)?  

C. How does it look overall? 

a. How do buildings relate to the street?  

b. What type of place, unified theme(s), height, mix of activities?   

c. How suburban vs. urban?  

d. How much public art, culture, and design?  

 (for instance/Some ideas we’ve heard….)  

A people‐oriented place ‐‐ to live, work, learn, play, that: 

‐ continues to be an economic engine supporting business investment, ingenuity, and 

invention… 

‐ attracts people to spend time in and walk in vibrant  districts…  

‐ includes great neighborhoods with choices in housing and nearby parks, open space, services, 

and jobs that are within short walk radius… 

‐ allows people to move east and west along a boulevard with multiple transportation options, 

including excellent transit service (BRT?)… 

‐ connects easily to downtown and the west side of Boulder… 

‐ boasts beautiful architecture and public spaces… 

‐ provides safe and welcoming places for pedestrians and bicycles… 

‐ has nearby high quality amenities and facilities for businesses and neighborhoods such as 

restaurants and parks…  

‐ has reliable utilities and services…  

‐ includes exciting cultural resources and public art… 

SUGGEST IDEAS!! 

What are the key character areas (districts/corridors) and how should they take shape?   

‐ Overall character and identity and livability 

‐ land use patterns and types (type, mix, density/intensity) 

‐ transportation and mobility factors (street function, bicycle, pedestrian and sidewalks, transit 

service, street connections) 

‐ housing and neighborhoods 

‐ commercial and industrial development and jobs 

‐ parks, open space, and cultural facilities or resources (location, access, amount, type) 

‐ urban services and utilities 

‐ design features 

‐ etc. 

Attachment C - Draft Vision Ideas

Information Item 2A     Page 19Packet Page     510



Envision East Arapahoe Stakeholders
Draft ‐ 04/01/14

Commercial/Industrial ‐ Employers
Company Contact

Ball Aerospace Guy Fromme

Boulder Chamber  John Tayer

Small Business Bureau Sharon King

Premier Members Credit Union Branda Abbot

Flatirons Suburu/Acura Scott Crouch

Flatirons Suburu/Acura Ann Morris

Fisher Honda/Kia Craig Fisher

Avery Brewing Adam Avery

Boulder Valley Credit Union Michael Shepard

Boulder Dinner Theater Michael Duran

Daily Camera Al Manzi

EcoCycle Marti Matsch

ReSource  Jared D'Arcey

EVOL Foods Christian Robbilard

Viewpoint Office Park Brian Shrifrin

Elevations Credit Union Dennis Paul

Boulder Community Hospital Ron Secrist

Boulder Community Hospital Kai Abelkis

Naropa (East Campus) Todd Kilburn

Boulder Valley School District Briggs Gamblin

Western Disposal Frank Bruno

EcoCycle Allyn Feinburg and Randy Moorman

Residential / Property Managers
The Peloton (Housing) Regan

Arapahoe East (Boulder Housing Partners)

Canterwood Apartments

Fairway Apts. (Thistle Comm. Housing)

East Foothills Neighborhood Assn.  Shelly Schlender

BHP Stuart or Betsey?

Peleton Anne Bueche

Institutions/Agencies ‐ Possible Technical Team 
CU ‐ East Campus / Faciliteis Planning Phil Simpson

CU ‐ Acting Vice Chancellor? Steve Thweat

CU ‐ Transportaiton and Parking Management Dave Cook 

CU ‐ Transportaiton and Parking Management David Lieb

RTD Bill Van Meter

RTD Chris Quinn

CDOT ‐ Transportation Operations Manager David Averill

Boulder County ‐ Land use Planning Dale or Denise

Boulder County ‐ Transportation Jared Hall (or Scott or George?)

Attachment D - Stakeholder List

Information Item 2A     Page 20Packet Page     511



 

Packet Page     512



Attachment E - Integrated Timeline

Information Item 2A     Page 21Packet Page     513



 

Packet Page     514



 

 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 Jeff Dillon, Parks and Recreation Director 
 Kathleen Alexander, City Forester 
 Susan Richstone, Community Planning and Sustainability Deputy Director 
 Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Division Manager 
 Rella Abernathy, City Integrated Pest Management Coordinator 
 
Date: April 16, 2014  
 
Subject: Information Item: 2014 Emerald Ash Borer Workplan  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this memo is to update City Council on the 2014 workplan for the federally 
quarantined ash tree pest, emerald ash borer (EAB), including: 

 The potential impacts and scope of the issue; 
 Action items completed to date;  
 Analysis of the major issues associated with EAB including pesticide usage; and  
 2014 EAB Workplan.  

 
The 2014 EAB Workplan includes:  

 The formation of an Interdepartmental EAB Working Group;  
 Community outreach;  
 Collaborative research projects;  
 Ongoing monitoring; and  
 Tree removals, replacements and limited pesticide treatments.   

 
In late September 2013, City of Boulder Parks and Recreation Forestry staff discovered an EAB 
infestation within the city. The subsequent delimitation survey showed EAB is well established 
within a corridor in central Boulder. Over the next 15 years, EAB management, including tree 
removal, tree replacement, wood disposal and pesticide treatments will have a significant direct 
budgetary impact to the City of Boulder and private residents. The loss of tree canopy will have 
considerable economic, social, and environmental impacts for decades. 
 

Information Item 2B     Page 1Packet Page     515



Staff has collaborated with leading EAB experts from across the United States and Canada to 
develop an emergency 2014 response to EAB. An Interdepartmental EAB Working Group has 
been formed and will meet over the next year to discuss EAB management on a city wide scale 
and to ensure consistency across departments. This group will develop a series of 
recommendations which will be presented to council during the first quarter of 2015. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The 2013 US Forest Service (USFS) Metro Denver Urban Forest Assessment Report estimates 
there are 656,000 trees in the city of Boulder with an appraised value of $1.2 billion. There are 
approximately 38,000 total city park and public street rights-of-way trees under the jurisdiction 
of the Parks and Recreation Forestry Division; 4,808 (12.6 percent) are either green or white ash 
trees with an appraised value of $15.4 million. The estimated number of public, private and 
naturalized ash in Boulder is 98,000 trees.  
 
Current non-personnel budget for the Forestry Division is $280,000 for tree pruning, removals, 
planting, replacement, wood disposal, integrated pest management (IPM) and the commercial 
tree program. Once EAB populations increase, management costs for EAB alone will exceed 
existing Forestry funding levels on an annual basis and additional staffing will also be required. 
A PCA code was created to track EAB related costs and an adjustment to base will be requested 
in the third quarter of 2014 to cover the costs of the 2014 response. A variety of funding sources, 
both public and private, will be required for EAB management over the next ten years. The 
impacts to public funding will be to both the existing Forestry operating budget and Parks and 
Recreation Capital Improvement Program.   
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic: Ash trees are found in commercial areas throughout the city and two blocks of the 

Pearl Street Mall are predominantly green ash. Research has consistently shown that 
shoppers are more willing to pay for parking, goods, and services in business districts with 
trees. Trees increase residential and business property values and the tax base; attract visitors, 
businesses, and new residents to an area and increase occupancy and rental rates of 
apartments and offices. Shading from trees can defer maintenance longer for materials that 
are degraded by heat such as asphalt and pavement.  
 

 Environmental: Boulder’s urban tree canopy provides many environmental benefits to the 
community. Urban trees help mitigate climate change by contributing to reductions in carbon 
dioxide and other pollutants, improving water quality, reducing stormwater runoff and saving 
energy through shading surfaces and reduced cooling demand. Although ash trees comprise 
approximately 15 percent of the total tree population, they are large maturing, long lived 
trees and therefore contribute more environmental benefits than expected by their percentage 
in the urban tree canopy.  
 
If left untreated, ash trees in infested areas will die from EAB causing high tree canopy 
losses and subsequent loss of environmental, economic and social benefits. Pesticides are an 
important component in EAB management programs and are effective in the prevention and 
spread of EAB. However, pesticide treatments, whether public or private, can have impacts 
to non-target organisms and the environment. Decisions about which pesticide products to 
apply and which trees to treat must be carefully balanced to provide the least overall harm to 
the environment.  

Information Item 2B     Page 2Packet Page     516



 
 Social: Social scientists have shown trees and green spaces within cities provide social and 

psychological benefits and improve the quality of life for residents. Connection to trees and 
nature affects moods, activities and emotional health. Exposure to trees and green spaces can 
reduce stress and mental fatigue, enhance mental health, enhance recuperation rates in 
hospitals, reduce psychological precursors to crime, and increase recreational opportunities. 
A community's urban forest is usually the first impression a community projects to its 
visitors and is an extension of its pride and community spirit. 

 
BACKGROUND 
On September 23, 2013, city of Boulder Forestry staff found EAB, an invasive pest of ash trees, 
in a dead ash tree in the public right-of-way in northeast Boulder. The beetles were detected by 
staff when sampling the ash tree prior to removal. This was the first detection of this insect in 
Colorado and is the western-most occurrence of this invasive pest in North America. 
 
After the initial EAB detection in Boulder, Forestry staff completed or collaborated with other 
agencies to complete the following work items: 
 EAB Research Advisory Group: To assist staff with EAB monitoring and management, an 

advisory group was formed including two of the leading EAB researchers and local experts 
in entomology and tree pest management: 

o Dr. Whitney Cranshaw, Colorado State University 
o Dr. Deb McCullough, Michigan State University 
o Dr. Krista Ryall, Canadian Forest Service 
o Dr. Sky Stephens, US Forest Service 

 Quarantine:  EAB is a federally quarantined pest. There are federal and state quarantines in 
effect that prohibit the movement of firewood and other ash wood materials outside the 
quarantined area. The quarantine area includes all of Boulder County and small portions of 
Jefferson, Weld and Larimer Counties to include landfills to facilitate movement of flood 
debris and EAB-infested material.   

 Detection Surveys:  City Forestry staff collaborated with the Canadian Forest Service, 
Colorado Department of Agriculture (CDA), United State Department of Agriculture 
Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS), Colorado State University (CSU) 
Extension and forestry staff from nine nearby cities to complete an EAB delimitation survey 
within the city. EAB was detected in five of the thirty-eight square mile grids. Due to the 
flight ability of the insect and rate of spread, other parts of Boulder are likely infested at low 
pest populations.  

 Public Tree Inventory: A tree inventory and asset management vendor was chosen and ash 
tree inventory updates were completed at the end of 2013. Information on the current 
condition class, tree diameter and recommended maintenance action was collected for green 
and white ash trees on public property under the jurisdiction of the Parks and Recreation 
Forestry Division. 

 Education/Outreach: Education and outreach is a critical component of a municipal EAB 
response. Efforts were undertaken through city, county, state and federal agencies but many 
more are planned for 2014. Efforts since the pest discovery include:  

o News Releases: The CDA and city of Boulder have distributed four news releases since 
the initial detection. 

Information Item 2B     Page 3Packet Page     517



o Websites: CDA has posted educational material about EAB on their website: 
www.EABColorado.com; a website was also created for Boulder specific EAB 
information at: www.EABBoulder.org. 

o  Tree Dissections: City Forestry hosted a series of EAB “tree dissections” to train over 
175 foresters and arborists on EAB symptoms and branch peeling techniques.  

 Prohibition of imidacloprid: The analysis of EAB pesticide options indicated that 
imidacloprid, a neonicotinoid commonly used for the control of EAB, posed a high risk to 
pollinators and other non-target organisms. Other products are available for EAB control 
that are significantly more effective over a longer duration and have fewer known 
environmental and non-target impacts. For these reasons, staff from the Urban Forestry and 
Integrated Pest Management programs recommended, and the city manager concurred, that 
the use of imidacloprid be prohibited for EAB control on city properties, including public 
street rights-of-way.  A city manager rule was not required to support the prohibition as 
B.R.C. 6-6-5 (a) requires property owners gain permission from the city manager 
(designated to city forester) prior to applying pesticides to trees on public property. The city 
will also recommend to the public that imidacloprid products not be used for control of EAB 
on private property.    

 
ANALYSIS 
An analysis of the ash inventory updates, existing Forestry Division workload and the available 
EAB management options were completed for development of the 2014 EAB workplan.  
 
Public Tree Inventory 
Inventory information for ash trees in public street rights-of-way and in city parks was updated 
after the discovery of EAB in Boulder.  
 
Number of public ash trees: The current tree inventory has 4,808 ash trees total with an appraised 
value of $15.4 million; 1,267 trees in city parks and 3,541 in public street rights-of-way. While 
the Forestry Division has not planted ash trees since 2003, ash is naturalized and many have 
seeded into natural areas in city parks or have been planted by adjacent property owners into 
street rights-of-way. Inventory data from 2002 indicated 5,615 ash trees in city parks and in 
street rights-of-way. Forestry staff has actively phased ash out of many locations and reduced the 
overall percent ash from 15.8% down to 12.6% over the past 12 years. 
 
Tree diameter: Ash trees range in size from one to 48 inches in diameter with an average 
diameter of 12 inches.  
 
Tree Condition: Tree inventory data indicated 80% of public ash trees were in good or fair 
condition while 20% were in poor condition. EAB has not yet impacted many public trees so the 
poor condition rating is due to other factors (i.e. environmental factors, other insect problems, 
etc.)  
 
Maintenance Need: Ash tree maintenance need data was divided into three categories:  
 Remove/Replace in 2014: 455 trees (9%);  
 Phase Out as Trees are Infested: 3,150 trees (66%);  
 Preserve Long Term (Treat): 1,203 (25%). The average diameter of ash trees in the Preserve 

Long Term/Treat category is 16 inches diameter. 
 

Information Item 2B     Page 4Packet Page     518



Existing Forestry Division Workload 
The Parks and Recreation Forestry Division manages approximately 38,000 trees in city parks 
and in street rights-of-way and administers the following programs: tree planting, tree safety 
inspections, commercial tree program, rotational pruning for trees in city parks and in public 
street rights-of-way, tree removal, integrated pest management, arborist licensing, emergency 
response, enforcement for tree protection codes and development review for park, transportation 
and private projects. Discussions with staff from cities in the Midwest indicate EAB is a high 
priority due to the large number of trees that will be impacted over the next decade, the 
documented rate at which EAB populations build and kill trees and the potential liability from 
the large number of standing dead ash trees. City Forestry services will be impacted and deferred 
maintenance will become an issue as staff time is diverted toward EAB as insect populations 
build over the next decade.  
 
Control Options 
Biocontrols 
In Asia where EAB is native there are several important natural controls at work. Most important 
are defenses produced by trees which protect them from invading organisms common to the 
region, such as EAB. In addition, there are numerous natural enemies, notably various species of 
parasitic wasps. Together, the inherent resistance of Asian species of ash combined with the 
natural enemies very effectively limit EAB so that it rarely causes serious damage. 
 
Host plant resistance is largely absent from the native North American species of ash which 
greatly undermines the potential of natural controls. However, there is research being conducted 
by federal agencies to identify parasites of the EAB present in Asia. Some of these have been 
found suitable for introduction and release into North America. Three of these introduced natural 
enemies have been released in EAB outbreak areas of the Midwest and in some cases they seem 
to have proved capable of establishing and reproducing. 
 
This work with natural enemies is ongoing. The long term goal for natural enemies is to suppress 
EAB populations in the post-outbreak phase. If effective, they may allow for reduction in the 
need for pesticide treatments in the future and, possibly, allow some of the remaining native ash 
in the Midwest to survive without treatment.  
 
The USDA Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) rears the EAB biocontrols at 
their Michigan facility. The local APHIS staff has applied for the permits necessary to release 
two biocontrols, both parasitic wasps, in Boulder later in 2014. APHIS considers Boulder to be a 
good candidate for introduction because it is still in the early stages of the infestation. 
 
Pesticides 
Since ash trees cannot survive an EAB infestation, the only option available to save the life of a 
tree is pesticide application. Research has shown that specific pesticide products are effective 
against EAB if used before trees are compromised by the pest and applied per label 
requirements. As local EAB populations decline due to death of untreated ash trees, it is likely 
that application frequency may be reduced in 12-15 years   
 
The city of Boulder has an Integrated Pest Management Policy and any proposed action will be 
in compliance with the policy. Staff assessed four of the commonly used products using 

Information Item 2B     Page 5Packet Page     519



documentation from the EPA, leading experts in EAB management and other regulatory 
agencies and open literature.  

 TREE-äge (emamectin benzoate) – a “semi-synthetic” product derived from a soil 
bacterium that is a restricted use pesticide (may only be applied by a certified pesticide 
applicator). This product is only applied via tree injection.  

 TreeAzin (azadirachtin) – a natural product derived from the seeds of the neem tree – 
certified for use under the USDA’s National Organic Program. This product is only 
applied via tree injection. 

 Safari (dinotefuran) – a neonicotinoid insecticide applied as a low pressure, lower bark 
spray 

 Merit (imidacloprid) – a neonicotinoid insecticide that is commonly used for EAB 
treatments by injection or soil treatments. The city manager prohibited the use of this 
product on public property for EAB control. 

 
Only two of the products that were evaluated will be used during the 2014 season - TREE-äge 
and TreeAzin. There are knowledge gaps about each of these products. The non-target impacts 
are well-studied for TreeAzin with favorable results, but information about its efficacy is limited. 
Forestry staff will test TreeAzin to determine if it is effective and the duration of its effectiveness 
(1 vs. 2 year control) for EAB control in the local climate. TREE-äge has demonstrated excellent 
efficacy in multiple studies. However, studies for impacts to non-target organisms are lacking. 
Staff is seeking partnerships and research opportunities to explore potential environmental 
impacts from TREE-äge. For 2014, TREE-äge will be applied to a limited number of trees with a 
targeted strategy. This product will continue to be evaluated as more information becomes 
available.  
 
Pesticides are an important component of EAB management programs to preserve ash trees long 
term, spread the tree removal and replacement costs over a longer time period and to help reduce 
community wide EAB populations. EAB researchers used simulation models of EAB dispersal 
and population dynamics developed from numerous field studies in the Midwest to evaluate the 
effects of treating varying proportions of ash trees with the pesticide TREE-äge in residential 
neighborhoods. The simulation showed that if 20% of trees were treated annually, 90% of the 
trees (including untreated trees) would remain after ten years because of an area-wide reduction 
in EAB population growth. Results showed however, that without any insecticide treatment, all 
ash trees would be dead within ten years of the initial EAB introduction, a pattern consistent with 
mortality rates observed in many communities in southern Michigan and northern Ohio.  
 
Criteria to determine whether ash trees are candidates for long term preservation include: 

 Tree health and condition: Because the EAB larvae feed under the bark, the most 
effective pesticides are systemic insecticides. Systemic insectides are transported 
throughout the tree within its vascular tissues. Feeding by EAB larvae damages the tree’s 
vascular system, as does damage from wounds and other pests. If the vascular system has 
been compromised the pesticide will not translocate and be effective.  

 Tree defects: Ash trees in the Tree Safety Inspection program with poor structure or 
defects are not good candidates for preservation and will be phased out. 

 Tree Size: The pesticides used are trunk injected. The injection process requires drilling 
small holes into the lower trunk to inject the product. Large, healthy ash trees have a 
better chance to close off wounds long term. Generally, ash trees less than 10” diameter 
will not be injected and will be phased out as they are infested due to reduced ability to 

Information Item 2B     Page 6Packet Page     520



close wounds and the economics favor planting a replacement tree over treatment with 
pesticides long term.   

 Location: If a tree has a poor location ((i.e. under power lines, causing hardscape damage, 
etc) it would not be considered for long term preservation.  

 Irrigation: All systemic pesticides require water to be taken up internally within the tree. 
Ash trees must be in an irrigated site or the site requires easy access for tank watering 
prior to the application. 

 
SLAM (SLow Ash Mortality)  
Dr. Deb McCullough, a leading EAB researcher and member of the city EAB Research Advisory 
Group, developed protocols to lower overall EAB populations during early infestation utilizing a 
SLAM (SLow Ash Mortality) approach .The rate at which ash tree mortality advances during an 
EAB infestation is related to EAB density. Therefore, an over-riding theme within the SLAM 
approach is to reduce EAB numbers and the growth of EAB populations by concentrating and 
eliminating adult beetles and their progeny.  
 
As outlier EAB populations build and coalesce, the area encompassing dead, dying and declining 
ash trees increases dramatically. A do-nothing approach means that EAB populations will build 
and advance unchecked. Under that scenario, extensive local tree mortality is likely to occur 
much sooner than under a SLAM management scenario. Applying a SLAM approach will not 
eradicate EAB, nor will it eliminate tree mortality. The goal of this management strategy is to 
slow the local invasion process and allow a more proactive approach rather than simply reacting 
to overwhelming numbers of dead, often hazardous trees.1 
 
Enforcement 
Existing city code allows city Forestry staff to enforce on private property owners with infested 
or diseased and/or dangerous trees (B.R.C. 6-6-2). City Forestry has enforced in past years for 
trees infected with Dutch elm disease and Thousand Cankers Disease of Walnut and for 
dangerous trees on private property that directly threaten public property. For EAB however, 
research from the Midwest indicates that active enforcement for infested trees does not 
substantially slow the progression of the pest due to the inability to keep up with progressively 
larger numbers of dying ash trees as the EAB population grows. Due to this research and the 
number of potential infested ash trees moving forward, city Forestry staff will not enforce on 
private property owners for infested trees.  
 
Research also indicates that ash trees killed by EAB dry out and start to fail within a few years 
after tree mortality. City Forestry staff will enforce as needed for dead ash trees that threaten 
public property. It is anticipated that current staffing levels will not be sufficient to keep up with 
the enforcement of dangerous trees as the EAB population reaches the peak. The methodology 
for handling long term enforcement of dead ash trees on private property will be a topic for the 
EAB Interdepartmental Working Group.     
 
NEXT STEPS  
Staff used the results from both the updated public ash tree inventory and the delimitation survey 
in collaboration with the city EAB Research Advisory group to develop a city EAB 2014 Work 

                                                           
1 Additional information on the SLAM protocols can be found at http://www.slameab.info/ 

Information Item 2B     Page 7Packet Page     521



Plan to respond to the infestation within the city and potentially slow the spread throughout 
Boulder and to nearby communities. Work items below will occur simultaneously. 
 
EAB Interdepartmental Working Group 
The EAB Interdepartmental working group has been formed and will meet over the next nine 
months with the goal of providing City Council with long term recommendations to manage 
EAB. Recommendations will be presented to City Council in a study Session in first quarter, 
2015. 
Focus areas for the workgroup include: 
 Ensure consistent EAB management for ash trees in developed areas (streets rights-of-way, 

around public buildings and recreation facilities, in city parks);  
 Management of EAB infested ash trees in natural areas; 
 Research and coordinate with Community Planning and Sustainability’s Development 

Review staff for possible code changes to facilitate EAB management;  
 Long term wood debris plan; 
 Assistance to private property owners; 
 Downtown Sub-Area plan for phased removal/replacement of ash trees on Pearl St Mall and 

in Downtown area; 
 Methodology for long term enforcement of dead ash trees on private property; and 
 Discussion of impacts from loss of urban tree canopy. 

 
Tree Removals / Tree Replacements 
Seventy-five ash trees will be removed and replaced in spring 2014. An additional estimated 150 
ash trees will be removed in fall 2014 and replaced in 2015. Planning for the eventual loss of ash 
tree canopy in the infested areas over the next several years, proactive tree planting will occur 
this spring in the ten city parks and facilities within the known infested area. Letters were mailed 
to property owners within portions of the known infested areas with good tree planting sites in 
the public street rights-of-way. The letter educated residents on the Forestry tree replacement 
program, the services provided by the urban tree canopy and offered to plant a tree into the right-
of-way adjacent to their home. Ash trees will be replaced with a variety of tree species to ensure 
diversity in the urban tree population. 
 
Education / Community Outreach 
Extensive education and community outreach is planned for spring and summer, 2014. There 
will be a series of EAB open houses to inform the public on ash tree identification, EAB 
symptoms, approved pesticide treatment options for trees on public property, and assistance in 
determination of whether ash trees should and can be preserved.  
 
The city website will be updated to reflect the most up-to-date information on EAB pesticide 
treatment options and Forestry staff will reach out to homeowner associations in the known 
infested areas to ensure access to information that will facilitate informed management decisions.  
 
Forestry staff is continuing the collaborative partnerships with both the statewide EPIC 
(Emerging Pests in Colorado) workgroup and EAB Incident Command Team to develop and 
provide EAB educational material and trainings statewide. 
 
Several stores and garden centers within Boulder sell (a) trees that can be planted as ash 
replacements; and (b) imidacloprid - one of the pesticide options. These stores are often a 

Information Item 2B     Page 8Packet Page     522



primary source of information to residents about landscaping products and plant options for their 
yards. Staff will make contact with the stores within Boulder and provide information to 
distribute to the public about EAB, appropriate pesticide choices and ash tree replacement 
options. Information will also be provided about the prohibition of imidacloprid for EAB control 
on public property.  
 
Pesticide Treatment 
Parameters for TREE-äge and TreeAzin use will be reviewed by the IPM Program and the EAB 
Interdepartmental Working Group. The focus for pesticide applications in 2014 will be limited to 
those areas known to be infested with a goal to slow the spread of EAB within the city. TREE-
äge and TreeAzin trunk injected products will be used to treat an estimated 270 ash trees. 
Pesticides will also be used to treat ash trees at Columbia Cemetery as part of a collaborative 
research project. 
 
Trap Trees 
Dr. Deb McCullough has recommended utilizing “trap trees” in Boulder. The methodology 
includes girdling lower value ash trees in May, 2014 within each of the known infested grid and 
treating public ash trees in the immediate vicinity with the pesticide, TREE-äge. Beetles will be 
attracted to the stressed (girdled) trees. Those trees will be removed and chipped in fall, 2014 to 
prevent those beetles from completing their life cycle. Additional beetles attracted to the area 
will be killed while feeding on ash trees treated with Tree-age.2   
 
Collaborative Research 
Colorado is the westernmost state with EAB. The weather patterns and ash tree growth differ 
from the Midwest where most EAB research has occurred to date. Several research projects are 
planned in Boulder over the next several years. Some initiated by city Forestry staff while others 
are in collaboration with CSU, USDA APHIS and the Canadian Forest Service (CFS).  
 
2014 projects include:  
 Testing a new EAB pheromone; initiated by Canadian Forest Service 
 Testing new EAB trapping protocols; initiated by USDA APHIS 
 Testing viability of degree day models to predict emergence of EAB in Colorado; Forestry 

staff in collaboration with CDA 
 Research into effects of wounding from trunk injected pesticides on ash trees in Colorado 

(ash trees grow more slowly in Colorado and receive less rainfall than in Midwest so 
wounding may have bigger impact than elsewhere in US); Forestry staff in collaboration 
with CSU 

 Research to determine feasibility of multi-year control with TreeAzin; Forestry staff in 
collaboration with CSU 

 Measure amounts of certain pesticide products in ash leaves and pollen to determine 
potential impacts to non-target organisms; Forestry staff in collaboration with CSU. 
 

Asset Management 

                                                           
2 Additional information on trap trees  can be found at  http://www.slameab.info/wp-
content/uploads/2010/05/SLAM_general.pdf 
 

Information Item 2B     Page 9Packet Page     523



Forestry staff is working with Davey Resource Group to configure the TreeKeeper tree inventory 
and asset management software to manage public trees in Boulder. The software will be used 
long term to track not only EAB related maintenance but all tree maintenance for public trees in 
city parks and in street rights-of-way.  
 
On-Going Monitoring  
Because EAB was detected in only 5 of the 38 grids during the delimitation survey, on-going 
monitoring over the next several years is needed to track EAB progression through the city of 
Boulder.  
 Forestry Annual Tree Health Survey: The focus of the 2014 survey will be to locate ash 

trees exhibiting symptoms of EAB throughout the city.  
 Public Service Requests: Forestry staff will inspect symptomatic public ash trees at the 

request of adjacent property owners. Requests to look at private property ash will be directed 
to city of Boulder licensed certified arborists.  

 Destructive sampling: All declining public ash trees removed in EAB non-detect grids will 
be sampled for the presence of EAB life stages. 

 Branch sampling: Additional branch sampling will be conducted in fall, 2014 in EAB non-
detect grids. 

 Trapping: Several types of EAB detection traps will be deployed throughout Boulder in an 
attempt to detect its presence. Detection traps have not shown high success rates in the 
Midwest due to the absence of an insect pheromone lure but both the CFS and USDA 
APHIS want to conduct trapping experiments in Boulder as a leading edge of an EAB 
infestation.  

 Rotational pruning: Tree care contractors conducting pruning on city Forestry contracts 
within the city will be looking for signs of EAB infestation when working in ash trees. 

 
Research Additional Funding Opportunities 
Staff is working with state and federal agencies to identify potential funding sources to assist 
with some of the anticipated funding impacts of the EAB management efforts, as well as the 
development of a comprehensive Urban Forest Master Plan that would help guide the long-term 
management of both the EAB outbreak and the city’s larger community forestry program.   

Information Item 2B     Page 10Packet Page     524



ARBOR DAY
April 18,2014

WHEREAS, in 1872, J. Sterling Morton proposed to the Nebraska Board of
Agriculture that a special day be set aside for the planting of trees; and

WHEREAS, this holiday called Arbor Day was hrst observed with the
planting of more than a million trees in Nebraska and Arbor Day is now
observed throughout the nation and the world; and

wrrEREAS, trees reduce the erosion of our precious topsoil by wind and
water, cut heating and cooling costs, moderate the temperature, clean
the air, produce oxygen and provide habitat for wildlife; and

WHEREAS, trees are a renewable resource giving us paper, wood for our
homes, fuel for our fires and countless other wood products; and

WHEREAS, trees in our city increase property values, enhance the economic
vitality of business areas, and beautify our coÍtmunity; and

\ryHEREAS, trees, wherever they are planted, are a source ofjoy and spiritual
renewal; and

WHEREAS, Boulder has been recognized as a Tree City USA by The
National Arbor Day Foundation for 30 consecutive years and desires to
continue its commitment to community forestry;

NOw, THEREFORE, BE rr DECLARED by the city council of the city
of Boulder, Colorado, that April 18, 2014 is

ARBOR DAY

and urge all citizens to celebrate Arbor Day and to support efforts to sustain
our trees and woodlands. Further, arl citizens are urged to plant trees to
brighten the spirit and promote the well-being of this and future generations.

Packet Page     525



 

Packet Page     526



National Kids to Parks Day
Saturday, M.ay 17,2014

WHEREAS, May I7Th,20I4 is the fourth National Kids to parks Day
organized and launched by the National Park Trust; and

WHEREAS, National Kids to Parks Day empowers kids and
encourages families to get outdoors and visit America,s parks;
and

WHEREAS, it is important to introduce a new generation to our
nation's parks because of the decline in Park attendance over
the last decades; and

WHEREAS, we should encourage children to lead a more active
lifestyle to combat the issues of childhood obesity, diabetes
mellitus, hypertension and hypercholesterolemia; and

WHEREAS, National Kids to Parks Day is open to all children and
adults across the country to encourage a large and diverse group
of participants; and

WHEREAS, National Kids to Parks Day will broaden children's
appreciation for nature and the outdoors; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT DECLARED by Ciry Council of the
City of Boulder, Colorado, that May 17 ,2014 is declared

National Kids to Parks Day

We urge residents of Boulder to make time to take children in their
lives to a neighborhood, state or national park.

I:)

Ãppéllorárlm, Mayor

Packet Page     527



 

Packet Page     528



SAKURA DAY
May 10,2014

WHEREAS, sakura is Japanese for cherry tree, is the national flower of Japan and the
Japanese people have treasured sakura not only for their beauty but for cultural and
spiritual values; and

WHEREAS, Yamagata, Japan, has been a sister cþ of Boulder, colorado, since 1994; and

WHEREAS, the planting of sakura in Boulder was started in 2006 by the Boulder Yamagata
Sakura Project, who wished to bring the beauty of sakura blossoms to Boulder; and

WHEREAS, the Boulder Yamagata Sakura Project has supported the tree planting in Boulder
by donating over 240 sakura trees; and

WHEREAS, Yamagata, Japan sent delegations in2007 andn20l4 to help plant the sakura
trees with Cþ of Boulder staff and residents; and

WHEREAS, Yamagata invited a City of Boulder forestry staffperson to Yamagata in 2009 to
leam about the care ofsakura trees; and

WHEREAS, the planting of sakura trees has become a significant annual event in Boulder,
which includes both resident and city involvement; and

WHEREAS, the planting of sakura has contributed to Boulder by enhancing the natural
beauty, providing a greater diversity oftrees, providing positive benefits to our
natural environment and uniting people, both residents and offrcials, both local and
international; and

WHEREAS, the planting of sakura has been a long-term, collaborative project between the
residents of Boulder and Yamagata advancing the development of a prosperous Sister
City relationship and promoting our mission of building cultural understanding and
awareness; and

WHEREAS,2014 is the 20tr anniversary of the Boulder and yamagata Sister city
relationship.

Now, THEREFORE, BE rr DECLARED by city council ofrhe ciry of Boulder,
Colorado, that May 10, 2014 is

SAKI]RA DAY

Packet Page     529



 

Packet Page     530



Recognizing Kate Hennessey
2014 Volunteer of the Year

WHEREAS, Kate Hennessey seryes as the current Vice President and was an early
member of the Boulder-Cuba sister city organization, and has worked harder and more
effectively over the years of our organization than any other member; and

WHEREAS, she has served the Boulder-Cuba sister city organization as President,
co-President or Vice-President for the past decade and has been the inspiration and
shaker and mover for bringing cuban artists and art historians to Boulder; and

WHEREAS, she has filled out the U.S. Treasury Department license application (a 36
page document) on several occasions that has made the 12 sister city humanitarian
trips to Cuba possible; and

WHEREAS, she has edited or co-authored over 14 books in Spanish and English that
are made available to Cuban counterparts over the years. The books include topics on
environmental education for Cuban school children, major works on Cuban art and
artists in eastern Cuba, Cuban cuisine, Cuban ornithology, and a forthcoming
documentary on rural life in our sister city province of Guantanamo; and

WHEREAS, in addition to being a quiet, effective leader and volunteer behind all
that the organization accomplishes, Kate has worked thoughtfully with the Boulder
Sister City Alliance (as secretary) and with several other Cuban sister city
organizations including those in St. Augustine, Florida and Ohio; and

WHEREAS, Kate Hennessey has truly lived out the mission of sister city friendship
by fostering lasting relationships with many people in Cuba.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT DECLARED that the City Council of the Ciry of
Boulder, Colorado and the Boulder Sister City Alliance, hereby recognizes

KATE IIENNESSEY

as2014 VOLUNTEER OF THE YEAR for her dedicated international service in
developing relationships and projects between Boulder and Yateras, Cuba and urge all
citizens of Boulder to recognize and celebrate the varied programs and activities of the
seven Boulder Sister City committees in the City of Boulder as exemplified by the
volunteer service of their many committed members.

Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor

Packet Page     531



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     532



Reference Materials     Page  1Packet Page     533



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Reference Materials     Page  2Packet Page     534



Reference Materials     Page  3Packet Page     535



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Reference Materials     Page  4Packet Page     536



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council
Briefing - with other related 

efforts, workplan

SS - objectives, recommended 

early action items
Briefing

Direction on policy 

options

Adopt strategy and 

action plan

Staff Activities

Housing choice analysis; needs 

assessment; best practices; 

trends data; workplan

Opportunity site inventory; 

potential tools with "bang for 

buck" analysis

Develop policy options and 

recommendations; 

stakeholder engagement

Council
IP - update and preliminary 

policy choices
Briefing - options and feedback Update and direction

Staff Activities Public meeting with options
Preferred options and refined 

action plan
Action plan

Council
Briefing - issues, scope, and 

feedback

SS - preferred scenarios, draft 

plan, and action plan

Plan "Lite" - council 

action

Next Corridor - 30th 

St or Colorado

Staff Activities
Joint East Arapahoe workshop 

to "test" planning workshop

East Arapahoe scope of work, 

public workshop, scenario 

modeling, character definition

Scenario refinement ad 

recommendations

Develop East Arapahoe 

action plan

Council Briefing - scope agenda SS - scoping session SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Agenda setting workshop 4/28
Hire Asst. City Manager, begin 

strategy development
Scope strategy components Scoping Resilience work

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis 

and development

Council SS - scoping session SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities
Scoping analysis and 

partner outreach
Issues identification

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis 

and development

Annexation Strategy - 

Direction (options and 

feedback)

Usable open space - Code 

Change 

Economic Sustainability 

Strategy implementation - 

Code Change 

Density/ROW Dedication 

Calculations - Code Change

Parking generation and 

reduction - Code Change

County Assessor valuations for 

landscape and lighting 

upgrades - Code Change

Renewable energy sources - 

Code Change

Annexation Strategy - analyze 

costs and options

Planning Board for above code 

changes

Planning Board for above 

code changes

Planning Board for above code 

changes

2014 2015

North Boulder

East Arapahoe/Sustainable 

Streets and Centers

Boulder Valley Comprehensive 

Plan

Other

Council

Staff Activities

H
O

U
SI

N
G

/L
A

N
D

 U
SE

/P
LA

N
N

IN
G

Resilience

Comprehensive Housing 

Strategy

Reference Materials     Page  5Packet Page     537



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council IP (includes scope for AMPs) SS (includes AMPS)
Acceptance - establish work 

program and coordination

Continue 

implementing pilots

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Staff Activities
Scenario and sensitivity 

analysis
Joint board workshop, TAB

Develop final update for 

board recommendation and 

council acceptance

Implement and 

coordination with 

BVCP and Resilience

Council
Feasibility Study - joint release 

with County
Rolls into TMP update

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing Briefing Briefing Briefing

Staff Activities

Council Council agenda SS IP IP IP IP

Staff Activities

Council Scope

SS - Guiding principles, work 

program and process (includes 

TMP update)

Round 1 Code Changes - Auto 

and parking planning, zoning 

regs, EV charging stations

Update - Work plan 

and policy issues

Long Term Round 2 - 

Parking code 

changes and other 

policy issues

Council endorsement 

of ongoing work plan

Finalize work program
Short term parking code 

regulation changes

Long term parking code 

changes

Long term parking 

code changes

Additional 

workplan items and 

public process tbd

Finalize document

TDM tool kit development for 

TMP integration

Long term parking code 

regulation changes
Additional workplan items tbd

Additional workplan 

items and public 

process tbd
Short term parking code 

ordinance changes

Public outreach and joint board 

meeting

Research/best practices Additional workplan items tbd

Develop communications 

strategy

Council Direction SS SS - finalize ballot? Ballot?

Staff

Cap. Bond 1 Implement. Staff Construction 85% complete 100% Complete

Flood Recovery Staff
Repairs and FEMA 

Reimbursement
FHWA/FEMA work FHWA/FEMA work

Building Better 

Boulder

Building Better 

Boulder

Boulder Junction Phase 1 

Implementation
Staff South side of Pearl opens

Ongoing 

redevelopment 

coordination

Goose Creek Bridge 

opens

Depot Square 

opens

Boulder Junction Phase 2 - City 

owned site
Staff Coordination Coordination Coordination

Yards mobilized to move for 

Pollard option
Staff Grading, prairie dogs, moving Final prep Yards moves continue

Safe Routes to School Staff
Public process to prioritize 

projects
Application

Implement Transpo.Tax Staff Expand maintenance, hire

Comp. Financial 

Strategy/Capital Bond

A
D

D
'L

 H
O

U
S/

P
LA

N
/T

R
A

N
SP

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

2014 2015

Transportation Master Plan

Access Management and 

Parking Strategies

Community EcoPass

Staff Activities

Regional Transportation

Electric Vehicle Parking 

Ordinance/Energy Services

Reference Materials     Page  6Packet Page     538



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Shelter/ Funding: Update on  

position and relationship 

with Boulder Shelter; Shelter 

funding and issues update 

and other funders.

SS - Human Services Strategy 

Update and Homeless Action 

Plan (including funding 

priorities and partnerships )

IP - Homelessness Issues

SS - Human Services 

Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action 

Plan (including 

funding and service 

priorities )

Regional Planning 

update/services and housing

2014 Point in Time Report

SS - Services and Regional 

coordination update

IP - Services and 

Regional coordination 

update

IP - Services and 

Regional 

coordination 

SS - Services and 

Regional coordination 

update

SS - Services and 

Regional 

coordination update

IP - Services and 

Regional 

coordination Facilitate monthly Boulder 

Homeless Planning Group re: 

Service Coordination

HS Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action Plan Update

HS Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action Plan - 

research and analysis, key 
Convene regional meeting 

with Denver/Boulder/MDHI

County Ten Year Plan meeting 

with focus on meeting housing 

goals for homelessness

County Ten Year Plan meeting 

with focus on meeting housing 

goals for homelessness
GOCO grant application GOCO grant acceptance

SS - Special Events with 

Street Closures and 

Block Party Permitting

Review current PR permits and 

developm pilot program

Conduct pilot neighborhood 

event (link with Hill and GOCO 

school yard grant)

Conduct pilot neighborhood 

event

Review neighborhood 

park planning and 

event pilot success and 

plan schedule for 2015

Finalize 

njeighborhood 

event schedule for 

2015

Conduct neighborhood 

events

Conduct 

neighborhood 

events

Review pilot 

program and 

propose permit 

changes required to 

make 

improvements
Link with park planning 

outreach

Summer recreation programs - 

arts, music, health, wellness

Continue summer art series 

and volunteer events

GOCO school yard grant Submit GOCO grant
GOCO grant award - start civic 

area community park 

planning design and outreachReview and analysis of existing 

special event permitting
Develop recommendations

Council Items
SS - Library & Arts, including 

Community Cultural Plan

Adoption of 

Community Cultural 

Plan

Staff Activities Work with new director

Arts

LI
V
A
B
IL
IT
Y

Homelessness/Human Services

Council Items

Staff Activities

Council Items

Neighborhood/Park Events and 

Other Events

Staff Activities

2014 2015

Reference Materials     Page  7Packet Page     539



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items SS 
SS  (includes Social Issues 

Strategy information)

Staff Activities

IP - 14th St Public/Private 

Partnership

Update - 14th St Public/Private 

Partnership

Update - 14th St 

Public/Private Partnership

Bears/Trash 

SS - Hill Reinvestment Strategy 
Update - Hill Reinvestment 

Strategy

14th St - Hill Alt. Mode survey

 14th St - Finalize analysis and 

develop recommendation to 

proceed with the Global 

Agreement
14th St - Finalize LOI

14th St - Financial Analysis

14th St - Additional access 

analysis
14th St - Board outreach

Pilot Parklet Competition Parklet Implementation

Outreach to CU and 

stakeholders for support of 

Reinvestment Strategy

Fox Theatre mural by CU 

students

start pilot RSD program (to 

run through 2016)

Recommendation for staffing 

Strategy implementation and 

prelim. analysis of future org 

structure options

Hire a fixed term Hill 

Coordinator

Council Items
SS - Park Program 

and Improvements

Civic Activity Team established Coordinate music in park series

Review summer series 

success and revise for 

2015

Prepare first phase 

of park 

improvements for 

2015

Conduct adult fitness 

and health classes

Conduct visitor 

event at civic area 

around art 

installations

Hire Civic Area staff for P&R

Add seasonal park staff for 

outdoor education and 

orientation

Expand Ready to Work 

crew

Revise summer 

programs and plan 

for 2015

Install temporary adult 

fitness playground

Coordinate 

horticulture gardens 

with Farmers' 

Market event

Prepare GOCO grant for nature 

play and park planning

Conduct volunteer event 

around upgrades to Peace 

Garden and edible plant exhibit

Complete park 

planning outreach

Conduct art 

competition for 

summer installation

Install south side 

nature play area

Work with Park Foundation to 

develop plan for art and 

entertainment

Coodinate with CU for 

partnership with GUB and Civic 

Area park plan

Develop 1% for Arts 

demonstration project 

in partnership with 

foundations and non-

profits

Expand seasonal 

staffing and 

horticulture/edible 

garden displays

Council Items

Staff Activities

Staff Activities

LI
V
A
B
IL
IT
Y

2014 2015

Code Enforcement

University Hill

Civic Area

Reference Materials     Page  8Packet Page     540



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items
IP - update on 

implementation
SS - catalyst projects

Staff Activities

Council Items IP Acceptance

Staff Activities

Council Items

CU/BVSD partnerhip for 

neighborhood garden
Form cross-dept team 

Develop work plan to 

achieve council vision

Burk Park/Horizon School 

playground

Housing links with YSI programs 

and local gardening pilot

Design guidelines for edible 

landscape in local parks

Council Items IP SS - options and feedback
Acceptance and 

action plan

Implementation - 

commercial focus

Staff Activities

Stakeholder input on options 

and rulemaking on curbside 

compost

Public feedback on 

strategies

Draft plan and 

action plan for 

public review

Implementation - 

program 

enhancements and 

ordinance 

development

SS - workplan

SS - energy services

Staff Activities
Xcel/city task force; refine 

recommendations

Council Items

Briefing - framework, 

preliminary goals/targets, 

strategy development

SS - goals/targets, feedback 

on strategy scenarios, draft 

document

Approval

Staff Activities Working groups meet
Scenario development; GHG 

inventory complete

Strategy formulation; city 

organization initiative 

launched

Launch action plan

Council Items SS

Staff Activities

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Valmont Butte

C
LI

M
A

TE
 A

N
D

 E
N

ER
G

Y

Municipalization

Climate Commitment

Council Items

Zero Waste Master Plan

Briefing - energy services
Briefing - energy 

services

2014 2015
LO

C
A

L 
FO

O
D

Civic Area

Ag Plan

Other or not categorized
Staff Activities

Reference Materials     Page  9Packet Page     541



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items

Address disposition process 

and use of Realization 

Point for pro bike race

Staff Activities

Council Items

Staff Activities In process

Council Items

Staff Activities

City/County review of 

contractor proposals for 

potential mountain bike 

connection

Routes - weather dependent

Council Items

Staff Activities

City/County requirement 

complete and await railroad to 

replace bridge

Council Items

Staff Activities status update

Council Items

Staff Activities additional signage

O
P

EN
 S

P
A

C
E

2014 2015

Charter Issues

Highway 93 Underpass

Eldo to Walker Ranch

IBM Connector

Trailhead as part of 

transportation system

Other or not categorized

Reference Materials     Page  10Packet Page     542



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

IP

Develop preliminary 

management plan
Implement pilot plan Monitoring

Evaluate long term 

forest management 

plan and EAB strategy

Management plan 

and response
Response EAB EAB

Civic Use Pad Council SS - Public/private partnership
Approval of MOU with St. Julien 

Partners

Update on negotiations with 

St. Julien Partners

Human Services Strategy Council SS SS Public hearing

IGA with CDOT/County for US 

36 bikeway maintenance

Pilot dog waste composting 

project - Valmont and OSMP 

possible site

Transportation code changes 

for AMPS

Smoking ban - public 

hearing

IGA for bikeway maintenance/ 

US 36 enhancements

CEAP call up for Baseline 

Underpass east of Broadway

Comprehensive Annual 

Finanical Report 

Old Pearl Street ROW vacation
DRCOG TIP Priorities for city 

applications

Appointment of independent 

auditor

Transportation code changes - 

bike parking, TDM, etc.

Mobile food vehicles - 

ordinance change to expand 

podding in downtown

Update on investment 

policies - action

NPP - zone expansions and 

removal

Modification of construction 

use tax filing - IP then action

Pearl Street Mall regulations - 

code changes

Emerald Ash Borer (EAB) Council

Council

O
TH

ER
2014 2015

Various

Reference Materials     Page  11Packet Page     543



Reference Materials     Page  12Packet Page     544



1/23/2013 
 

                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew 
Appelbaum 

 Mayor 

George Karakehian  Mayor Pro Tem 
Macon Cowles  Council Member 
Suzanne Jones  Council Member 

Lisa Morzel  Council Member 
Tim Plass  Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 
Sam Weaver  Council Member 
Mary Young  Council Member 

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Bob Eichem  Chief Financial Officer 
Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 

Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 
David Driskell  Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 

Paul J. Fetherston  Deputy City Manager 
Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 

Director 
Heather Bailey  Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Executive Director 

Larry Donner  Fire Chief 
Mary Ann Weideman  Acting Human Resources Director 

Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 
Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 

Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

Lynne C. Reynolds  Municipal Court Administrator 
Michael Patton  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Jeff Dillon  Acting Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Acting Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Public Works - Executive Director  
Tracy Winfree  Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
 

Reference Materials     Page  13Packet Page     545



1/30/13     Approved   01-22-2013 

2013 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Morzel, Young 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Karakehian 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board Shoemaker, Weaver, Young 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Retreat Committee Jones, Morzel 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Plass 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver, Young 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Cowles, Karakehian 
 

Reference Materials     Page  14Packet Page     546


	00_Agenda
	3A_Ordinance Light and Power Utility
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Background
	Analysis
	Options
	Attachment A - Light & Power Utility

	3B_Ordinance related to Marijuana Regulation
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Public Feedback Requests
	Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

	3C_Ordinance regarding Mobile Food Vending
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Analysis
	Recommendations
	ATTACHMENT A - Proposed Ordinance Change Regarding Mobile Food Vehicle Sales
	Attachment B - Map
	ATTACHMENT C - Mobile Food Truck Vendor Survey Summary
	Attachment D - Operational Hours of Downtown and Hill Restaurants

	5A_Ordinance Voice and Sight
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Council Direction from April 1
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - Original Recommendations
	Attachment C - Revised Recommendations

	5B_Ordinance related to Financial Disclosure
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Background and Impacts
	Financial Disclosure Statement
	Filing Dates and Disclosure Periods
	First Reading Questions
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - Possible Amendments

	8B_Response to Jefferson County
	Executive Summary 
	Recommendation and Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A  IGA  Final Signed IGA_Section 16
	Attachment B JeffCO Letter re MVIC Concerns
	Attachment B JeffCO Letter re MVIC Concerns

	Attachment C Proposed Boulder Response to JeffCo
	Attachment D  JPPA application to DRCOG to be in the RTP
	DRCOG 2035 Metro Vision Fiscally Constrained Plan Amendment_Final_081309.pdf
	Appendix C
	JeffersonParkway1601
	Cover_Sheet_and_Table_of_Contents
	Executive Summary
	Introduction-Purpose and Need
	Alternatives
	Transportation
	Affected Environment, Environmental Consequences 
	Funding and Phasing
	Summary and Conclusions

	ModelAssumptions_cover.pdf
	JeffersonParkwayModelAssumptions.pdf


	88_Information Packet
	Cover Sheet
	1A  Call Up   825 Circle Drive
	1B  Call Up 1116 Maxwell
	1C  Call-up  1215 Cedar
	All attachments.pdf
	signed dispo
	IP ATTACHMENT B_A
	IP ATTACHMENT B_B
	IP ATTACHMENT C_B
	IP ATTACHMENT D
	IP ATTACHMENT E


	1D  Call Up  2360 Grove Drive
	1E  Call Up  3164 34 th Street
	Call-up Use Review at 3164 34th - Final
	Attachment A_Planning Board Disposition of Approval
	Attachment B_Applicant's Proposed Plans (3)
	Attachment C_Parking Study
	Attachment D_Analysis of Use Review Criteria

	1F  Call Up  NPP Expansion
	2A  Envision East Arapahoe
	2B  EAB
	4A  Arbor Day Declaration
	4B  National Kids to Park Day Declaration
	4C  Sakura Day
	4D  Sister City  Volunteer of the Year

	99_Reference Materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2014-2015 Work Plan
	3. Council and Key Staff
	4. Council Committee Assignments
	Blank Page



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




